COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS

REPORT ON THE FIFTY-SEVENTH SESSION

(19 March - 27 April 2001)

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

OFFICIAL RECORDS, 2001

SUPPLEMENT No. 3



UNITED NATIONS

COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS

REPORT ON THE FIFTY-SEVENTH SESSION

(19 March - 27 April 2001)

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

OFFICIAL RECORDS, 2001

SUPPLEMENT No. 3



UNITED NATIONS New York and Geneva, 2001

NOTE

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.

A State not member of the Commission may submit proposals in accordance with rule 69, paragraph 3, of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council. The list of participants is contained in annex II to the present report.

E/2001/23 E/CN.4/2001/167

CONTENTS

Chapter			Page
I.		ft decisions recommended for adoption by the nomic and Social Council	18
	1.	The use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination	18
	2.	Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance	18
	3.	Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine	19
	4.	The right to development	19
	5.	Human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel	20
	6.	Situation of human rights in parts of South-Eastern Europe	21
	7.	Situation of human rights in Afghanistan	21
	8.	Situation of human rights in Iraq	22
	9.	Situation of human rights in Myanmar	22
	10.	Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran	23
	11.	Situation of human rights in the Sudan	23
	12.	Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo	24
	13.	Situation of human rights in Sierra Leone	24
	14.	Situation of human rights in Burundi	25
	15.	Situation in Equatorial Guinea and assistance in the field of human rights	25

Chapter			Page
	16.	Situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation	26
	17.	The right to food	26
	18.	Effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights	27
	19.	The right to education	27
	20.	Question of the realization in all countries of the economic, social and cultural rights contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and study of special problems which the developing countries face in their efforts to achieve these human rights	28
	21.	Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights	28
	22.	Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy	28
	23.	Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance	29
	24.	Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment	29
	25.	Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions	30
	26.	Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances	30
	27.	Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system	31
	28.	The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)	31

Chapter			Page
	29.	Internally displaced persons	31
	30.	Human rights and indigenous issues	31
	31.	Working Group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration in accordance with paragraph 5 of General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994	33
	32.	Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People	33
	33.	Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment	34
	34.	Human rights and bioethics	34
	35.	Rights of the child	34
	36.	Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies	35
	37.	National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights	35
	38.	Assistance to Somalia in the field of human rights	36
	39.	Situation of human rights in Cambodia	36
	40.	Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms	36
	41.	Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child	37
	42.	Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices	37
	43.	Report of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	37

Chapter				Page
	44.	_	Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission omotion and Protection of Human Rights	38
	45.	Science a	and the environment	38
	46.	Human ri	ights and human responsibilities	38
	47.		the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on tights	39
	48.	_	tion of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the sion on Human Rights	39
	49.	~	of resources for the Office of the United Nations mmissioner for Human Rights	39
	50.	Situation	of human rights in East Timor	40
	51.	Technica	l cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti	40
II.			nd decisions adopted by the Commission enth session	41
	A.	Resolution	D.S	
		2001/1.	Question of Western Sahara	41
		2001/2.	Situation in occupied Palestine	43
		2001/3.	The use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination	45
		2001/4.	Combating defamation of religions as a means to promote human rights, social harmony and religious and cultural diversity	47
		2001/5.	Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance	49

Chapter				Page
II.	A.	Resolution	as (continued)	
		2001/6.	Human rights in the occupied Syrian Golan	60
		2001/7.	Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine	62
		2001/8.	Israeli settlements in the occupied Arab territories	66
		2001/9.	The right to development	68
		2001/10.	Human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel	73
		2001/11.	Cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies	75
		2001/12.	Situation of human rights in parts of South-Eastern Europe	76
		2001/13.	Situation of human rights in Afghanistan	83
		2001/14.	Situation of human rights in Iraq	90
		2001/15.	Situation of human rights in Myanmar	95
		2001/16.	Situation of human rights in Cuba	101
		2001/17.	Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran	103
		2001/18.	Situation of human rights in the Sudan	106
		2001/19.	Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo	114
		2001/20.	Situation of human rights in Sierra Leone	121
		2001/21.	Situation of human rights in Burundi	128
		2001/22.	Situation in Equatorial Guinea and assistance in the field of human rights	132

Chapter				Page
II.	A.	Resolution	es (continued)	
		2001/23.	Situation of human rights in Rwanda	136
		2001/24.	Situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation	137
		2001/25.	The right to food	141
		2001/26.	Human rights and unilateral coercive measures	145
		2001/27.	Effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights	147
		2001/28.	Adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living	151
		2001/29.	The right to education	154
		2001/30.	Question of the realization in all countries of the economic, social and cultural rights contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and study of special problems which the developing countries face in their efforts to achieve these human rights	156
		2001/31.	Human rights and extreme poverty	162
		2001/32.	Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights	166
		2001/33.	Access to medication in the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS	169
		2001/34.	Women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing	172
		2001/35.	Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights	175

Chapter				Page
II.	A.	Resolution	es (continued)	
		2001/36.	Strengthening of popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination as essential foundations of democracy	179
		2001/37.	Human rights and terrorism	182
		2001/38.	Hostage-taking	186
		2001/39.	Independence and impartiality of the judiciary, jurors and assessors and the independence of lawyers	187
		2001/40.	Question of arbitrary detention	189
		2001/41.	Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy	192
		2001/42.	Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance	194
		2001/43.	The incompatibility between democracy and racism	198
		2001/44.	Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment	199
		2001/45.	Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions	200
		2001/46.	Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances	205
		2001/47.	The right to freedom of opinion and expression	209
		2001/48.	Traffic in women and girls	215
		2001/49.	Elimination of violence against women	218
		2001/50.	Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system	224

Chapter				Page
II.	A.	Resolution	as (continued)	
		2001/51.	The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)	230
		2001/52.	Human rights of migrants	233
		2001/53.	International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families	238
		2001/54.	Internally displaced persons	240
		2001/55.	Rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities	244
		2001/56.	Protection of migrants and their families	247
		2001/57.	Human rights and indigenous issues	249
		2001/58.	Working group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration in accordance with paragraph 5 of General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994	252
		2001/59.	Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People	254
		2001/60.	Work of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	258
		2001/61.	United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (1995-2004)	261
		2001/62.	Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment	268

Chapter				Page
II.	A.	Resolution	s (continued)	
		2001/63.	Development of public information activities in the field of human rights, including the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights	275
		2001/64.	Human rights defenders	278
		2001/65.	Promotion of a democratic and equitable international order	280
		2001/66.	Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide	284
		2001/67.	Enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights	285
		2001/68.	The question of the death penalty	287
		2001/69.	Promotion of the right of peoples to peace	290
		2001/70.	Impunity	292
		2001/71.	Human rights and bioethics	295
		2001/72.	The role of good governance in the promotion of human rights	298
		2001/73.	Human rights and international solidarity	299
		2001/74.	Abduction of children from northern Uganda	301
		2001/75.	Rights of the child	303
		2001/76.	Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies	315

Chapter				Page
II.	A.	Resolution	s (continued)	
		2001/77.	Regional cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region	316
		2001/78.	Composition of the staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights	319
		2001/79.	Regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights	323
		2001/80.	National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights	326
		2001/81.	Assistance to Somalia in the field of human rights	329
		2001/82.	Situation of human rights in Cambodia	334
	B.	Decisions		
		2001/101.	Organization of work	341
		2001/102.	Question of human rights in Cyprus	344
		2001/103.	The Social Forum	344
		2001/104.	Promotion of the realization of the right to drinking water and sanitation	345
		2001/105.	Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms	345
		2001/106.	Creation of a pre-sessional working group on the administration of justice of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	345

Chapter		
II.	B. Decisions (continued)
	2001/107.	Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child
	2001/108.	Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices
	2001/109.	Report of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights
	2001/110.	Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights
	2001/111.	Science and the environment
	2001/112.	Fundamental standards of humanity
	2001/113.	Reservations to human rights treaties
	2001/114.	Observance of the human rights and fundamental freedoms contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights by States which are not parties to the International Covenants on Human Rights
	2001/115.	Human rights and human responsibilities
	2001/116.	Postponement of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91 and the proposed amendments thereto (E/CN.4/2001/L.104)
	2001/117.	Dates of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights
	2001/118.	Organization of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights
	2001/119.	Question of resources for the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

Chapter		Paragraphs	Page
III.	Organization of the work of the session	1 - 54	351
	A. Opening and duration of the session	1 - 3	351
	B. Attendance	4	351
	C. Election of officers	5	351
	D. Agenda	6 - 7	351
	E. Organization of work	8 - 41	352
	F. Meetings, resolutions and documentation	42 - 46	356
	G. Visits	47	357
	H. Organization of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission	48 - 51	360
	I. Concluding remarks	52 - 53	360
	Chairperson's statement Situation of human rights in Colombia	54	361
IV.	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and follow-up to the World Conference on Human Rights	55 - 58	367
V.	The right of peoples to self-determination and its application to peoples under colonial or alien domination or foreign occupation	59 - 76	368
VI.	Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of discrimination	77 - 93	371
VII.	The right to development	94 - 108	374
VIII.	Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine	109 - 131	377

Chapter		Paragraphs	Page
IX.	Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world, including:		
	(a) Question of human rights in Cyprus;		
	(b) Procedure established in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolution 1503 (XLVIII) and 2000/3	132 - 238	381
	Chairperson's statement Situation of human rights in East Timor	239	400
X.	Economic, social and cultural rights	240 - 301	403
XI.	Civil and political rights, including the question of:		
	(a) Torture and detention;		
	(b) Disappearances and summary executions;		
	(c) Freedom of expression;		
	(d) Independence of the judiciary, administration of justice, impunity;		
	(e) Religious intolerance;		
	(f) States of emergency;		
	(g) Conscientious objection to military service	302 - 398	414
XII.	Integration of the human rights of women and the gender perspective:		
	(a) Violence against women	399 - 415	430
XIII.	Rights of the child	416 - 434	433

Chapter		Paragraphs	Page
XIV.	Specific groups and individuals:		
	(a) Migrant workers;		
	(b) Minorities;		
	(c) Mass exoduses and displaced persons;		
	(d) Other vulnerable groups and individuals	435 - 461	435
XV.	Indigenous issues	462 - 483	439
XVI.	Report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights:		
	(a) Report and draft decisions;		
	(b) Election of members	484 - 490	442
XVII.	Promotion and protection of human rights:		
	(a) Status of the International Covenants on Human Rights		
	(b) Human rights defenders;		
	(c) Information and education;		
	(d) Science and environment	491 - 565	443
XVIII.	Effective functioning of human rights mechanisms:		
	(a) Treaty bodies;		
	(b) National institutions and regional arrangements;		
	(c) Adaptation and strengthening of the United Nations machinery for human rights	566 - 592	454

Chapter		Paragraphs	Page
XIX.	Advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights	593 - 603	463
	Chairperson's statement Technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti	604	464
XX.	Rationalization of the work of the Commission	605 - 607	467
XXI.	(a) Draft provisional agenda for the fifty-eighth session of the Commission	608 - 610	468
	(b) Report of the Commission to the Economic and Social Council on its fifty-seventh session	611	480
	Annexes		
I.	Agenda		481
II.	Attendance		484
III.	General debate		501
IV.	Administrative and programme budget implications of resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session		522
V.	Resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission on Human Rights and statements made by the Chairperson on behalf of the Commission at its fifty-seventh session		523
VI.	List of documents issued for the fifty-seventh session of the Commission		533
	Index of topics considered by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session		577

I. Draft decisions recommended for adoption by the Economic and Social Council

1. The use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/3 of 6 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision, in accordance with General Assembly resolution 55/86 of 4 December 2000, to renew for a period of three years the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/3, and chap. V.]

2. Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/5 of 18 April 2001, approves the Commission's recommendation that the General Assembly request the Secretary-General to assign high priority to the activities of the Programme of Action for the Third Decade to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination and to earmark adequate resources to finance the activities of the Programme.

The Council also approves the Commission's requests to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights:

- (a) To continue to undertake research and consultations on the use of the Internet for the purposes of incitement to racial hatred, racist propaganda and xenophobia, to study ways of promoting international cooperation in this area, and to draw up a programme of human rights education and exchanges over the Internet on experience in the struggle against racism, xenophobia and anti-Semitism;
- (b) To provide, insofar as possible, non-governmental organizations with technical assistance for the holding of a forum before and partly during the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance;
- (c) To explore ways and means of effectively involving all parliaments to participate actively in the preparation of the World Conference through the relevant international organizations.

The Council further approves the Commission's recommendations that:

(a) The issue of universal ratification of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, as well as the reservations thereto, and the

question of recognition of the competence of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination to receive individual complaints be considered at the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance;

- (b) A gender-based approach be systematically adopted throughout the preparations for and in the outcome of the World Conference;
- (c) The particular situation of children and young people receive special attention during the preparations for and during the World Conference itself, and especially in its outcome;
- (d) The particular situation of indigenous people receive special attention during the preparations for and during the World Conference, and especially in its outcome;
- (e) Special attention be accorded during the preparations for and during the World Conference, and especially in its outcome, to the particular situation of migrants.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/5, and chap. VI.]

3. Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/7 of 18 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied by Israel since 1967, acting as a monitoring mechanism, to follow up on the implementation of the recommendations contained in the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (E/CN.4/2001/114) and those contained in the report of the Human Rights Inquiry Commission (E/CN.4/2001/121), and to submit reports thereon to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/7, and chap. VIII.]

4. The right to development

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/9 of 18 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decisions, in view of the urgent need to make further progress towards the realization of the right to development as elaborated in the Declaration on the Right to Development, and based on the established practice of the Commission:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Open-ended working group established to monitor and review progress made in the promotion and implementation of the right to development for a further year;
- (b) To extend the mandate of the independent expert on the right to development for three years.

The Council also approves the Commission's requests to:

- (a) The independent expert to prepare, in consultation with all relevant United Nations agencies and the Bretton Woods institutions, a preliminary study on the impact of the international economic and financial issues on the enjoyment of human rights, starting by analysing the existing efforts and means of assessing and evaluating such an impact, for consideration by the Working Group on the Right to Development at its future sessions;
- (b) The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the United Nations specialized agencies, United Nations funds and programmes, the international financial institutions and other relevant actors to collaborate with the independent expert in the fulfilment of his mandate:
- (c) The Working Group on the Right to Development as well as the independent expert, to consider, as appropriate, the relevant economic and developmental outcomes of the international conferences, *inter alia*, the South Summit of the Group of Seventy-Seven and the follow-up thereto, in elaborating their recommendations for the implementation of the right to development.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/9, and chap. VII.]

5. Human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/10 of 18 April 2001, approves the Commission's requests to the Secretary-General:

- (a) To bring Commission resolution 2001/10 to the attention of the Government of Israel and to call upon it to comply with its provisions;
- (b) To report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the results of his efforts in this regard.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/10, and chap. IX.]

6. Situation of human rights in parts of South-Eastern Europe

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/12 of 18 April 2001, approves the decisions of the Commission:

- (a) To request the Chairperson of the Commission to appoint for one year a special representative of the Commission with a mandate to examine the situation of human rights in Bosnia and Herzegovina and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia; in reporting on the human rights situation in Kosovo, the Special Representative should:
 - (i) Consult closely with the international civilian presence, particularly representatives of the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe;
 - (ii) Closely monitor the situation, paying particular attention to those areas that remain a source of concern, including cooperation with the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, the release of unjustly detained prisoners, including Kosovar Albanians, the identification of persons missing as a result of conflict, the protection of minorities, trafficking in persons and the right of return of refugees and internally displaced persons;
 - (iii) Cooperate closely with the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights offices in Belgrade and Sarajevo and with her Special Envoy on persons deprived of liberty in connection with the Kosovo crisis in the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to avoid duplication of effort;
- (b) To request the Special Representative to submit an interim report on his/her findings to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/12, and chap. IX.]

7. Situation of human rights in Afghanistan

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/13 of 18 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan for a further year, and approves its request to the Special Rapporteur to report on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

The Council also approves the Commission's requests to:

- (a) The Special Rapporteur to continue to pay special attention to the human rights of women and children and incorporate fully a gender perspective in his report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- (b) The Secretary-General to give all necessary assistance to the Special Rapporteur and to give due consideration to his recommendations in the formulation of United Nations activities in Afghanistan;
- (c) The United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to ensure a human rights presence in the context of the United Nations activities in Afghanistan in order to provide advice and training in the field of human rights to all the Afghan parties, as well as to the intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations in the field.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/13, and chap. IX.]

8. Situation of human rights in Iraq

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/14 of 18 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decisions:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Iraq, as contained in Commission resolution 1991/74 of 6 March 1991 and subsequent resolutions, for a further year, and to request the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report on the situation of human rights in Iraq to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session and also to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information;
- (b) To request the Secretary-General to continue to give all necessary assistance to the Special Rapporteur to enable him to discharge his mandate fully, and to approve the allocation of sufficient human and material resources for the sending of human rights monitors to such locations as would facilitate improved information flow and assessment and help in the independent verification of reports on the situation of human rights in Iraq.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/14, and chap. IX.]

9. Situation of human rights in Myanmar

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/15 of 18 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decisions:

(a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Myanmar, as contained in Commission resolution 1992/58 of 3 March 1992, for a further year,

and to request the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, and to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information;

- (b) To request the Secretary-General to continue his discussions with the Government on the situation of human rights and the restoration of democracy and with anyone he may consider appropriate in order to assist in the implementation of General Assembly resolution 55/112 and of Commission resolution 2001/15;
- (c) To request the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to cooperate with the Director-General of the International Labour Office with a view to identifying ways in which their offices might usefully collaborate for the improvement of the human rights situation in Myanmar.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/15, and chap. IX.]

10. Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/17 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran, as contained in Commission resolution 1984/54 of 14 March 1984, for a further year, and its request to the Special Representative to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, and also to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/17, and chap. IX.]

11. Situation of human rights in the Sudan

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/18 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Sudan for a further year, and to request the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the situation of human rights in the Sudan and to continue to keep a gender perspective in mind in the reporting process.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/18, and chap. IX.]

12. Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/19 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decisions:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo for a further year and to request him to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and on the possibilities for the international community to assist with local capacity-building, and also to request the Special Rapporteur to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information;
- (b) To request the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and a member of the Working Group on Enforced and Involuntary Disappearances to carry out, as soon as security considerations permit and, where appropriate, in cooperation with the National Commission of Inquiry to investigate alleged human rights violations and breaches of international humanitarian law in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (formerly Zaire) between 1996 and 1997, a joint mission to investigate all massacres carried out in the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, including those in the province of South Kivu and other atrocities referred to in the most recent and in previous reports by the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, with a view to bringing to justice those responsible, and to report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/19, and chap. IX.]

13. Situation of human rights in Sierra Leone

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/20 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decisions:

- (a) To reiterate its request that the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the international community continue to assist the Government of Sierra Leone to establish and maintain an effectively functioning Truth and Reconciliation Commission as soon as possible as an important healing process to contribute to peace and reconciliation in the country;
- (b) To request the High Commissioner and the international community to make relevant technical assistance available to personnel of the Special Court for Sierra Leone, in particular to judicial, prosecutorial and protection personnel;

- (c) To request the Secretary-General, the High Commissioner and the international community to give all necessary assistance to the Human Rights Section of the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone, including ensuring that the Section is fully integrated into the work of the Mission, to enable it to fulfil its mandate to report on violations of international humanitarian law and human rights in Sierra Leone and, in consultation with the relevant United Nations agencies, assist the Government of Sierra Leone in its efforts to address the country's human rights needs, including:
 - (i) To strengthen its involvement in programmes of technical cooperation, advisory services and human rights advocacy programmes;
 - (ii) To strengthen its support for, and to continue and expand its cooperation with, human rights non-governmental organizations and other groups doing human rights work in Sierra Leone, including within the framework of the National Forum on Human Rights;
- (d) To request the High Commissioner to report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the human rights situation in Sierra Leone, including with reference to reports from the Mission.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/20, and chap. IX.]

14. Situation of human rights in Burundi

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/21 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Burundi for a further year and to request her to submit an interim report on the human rights situation in Burundi to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, giving her work a gender-specific dimension.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/21, and chap. IX.]

15. Situation in Equatorial Guinea and assistance in the field of human rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/22 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the Special Representative of the Commission to monitor the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea for a further year in order to examine the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea, to hold a dialogue with the Government of Equatorial Guinea and, in

particular, to assist the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Government to establish a comprehensive programme of technical assistance for Equatorial Guinea in the field of human rights, to verify on behalf of the Commission that technical assistance provided to Equatorial Guinea supports its national plan of action on human rights, and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

The Council also approves the Commission's request to the Secretary-General to provide the Special Representative with such financial assistance as he may require to discharge his mandate.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/22, and chap. IX.]

16. Situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/24 of 20 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the implementation of Commission resolution 2001/24 and to keep the General Assembly informed of further developments as appropriate.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/24, and chap. IX.]

17. The right to food

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/25 of 20 April 2001, approves the Commission's requests to the Special Rapporteur on the right to food:

- (a) To pay attention, in discharging his mandate, to the issue of drinking water, taking into account the interdependence of this issue and the right to food;
- (b) To contribute effectively to the medium-term review of the implementation of the Rome Declaration on World Food Security and the Plan of Action of the World Food Summit by submitting to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights his recommendations on all aspects of the right to food;
 - (c) To mainstream a gender perspective in the activities relating to his mandate;

(d) To submit a preliminary report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and a final report on the implementation of resolution 2001/25 to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

The Council also endorses the Commission's recommendation that the High Commissioner organize a fourth expert consultation on the right to food, with focus on the realization of this right as part of strategies and policies for the eradication of poverty, inviting experts from all regions.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/25, and chap. X.]

18. Effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/27 of 20 April 2001, authorizes the Open-ended working group established to elaborate policy guidelines on structural adjustment programmes and economic, social and cultural rights to meet for two weeks well in advance of, and at least four weeks prior to, the fifty-eighth session of the Commission with the mandate to: (a) continue working on the elaboration of basic policy guidelines on structural adjustment programmes and economic, social and cultural rights which could serve as a basis for a continued dialogue between human rights bodies and international financial institutions; and (b) report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/27, and chap. X.]

19. The right to education

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/29 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to renew, for a period of three years the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the right to education, and the request of the Commission to the Secretary-General to provide the Special Rapporteur with all the assistance necessary for the execution of her mandate.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/29, and chap. X.]

20. Question of the realization in all countries of the economic, social and cultural rights contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and study of special problems which the developing countries face in their efforts to achieve these human rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/30 of 20 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to appoint an independent expert to examine the question of a draft optional protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in the light, *inter alia*, of the report of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights to the Commission on a draft optional protocol for the consideration of communications in relation to the Covenant (E/1997/22-E/C.12/1996/6, annex IV), the comments made in that regard by States, intergovernmental organizations and non-governmental organizations, as well as the report of the workshop on the justiciability of economic, social and cultural rights, with particular reference to the draft optional protocol to the Covenant, and to submit a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session with a view to its consideration of possible follow-up and future actions, including the establishment of an open-ended working group of the Commission to examine the question of a draft optional protocol to the Covenant.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/30, and chap. X.]

21. Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/35 of 23 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to renew the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights for a further period of three years.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/35, and chap. X.]

22. Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/41 of 23 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to organize an expert seminar to examine the interdependence between democracy and human rights, to be funded by voluntary

contributions, and to include observers from interested Governments, experts of the United Nations specialized agencies, funds and programmes, other relevant intergovernmental organizations and interested non-governmental organizations.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/41, and chap. XI.]

23. Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/42 of 23 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decisions:

- (a) To extend for three years the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance, with the new title of Special Rapporteur on freedom of religion or belief;
- (b) To request the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/42, and chap. XI.]

24. Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/44 of 23 April 2001:

- (a) Authorizes the Open-ended working group of the Commission on a draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment to meet for a period of two weeks, prior to the fifty-eighth session of the Commission, in order to continue or conclude the elaboration of a draft optional protocol to the Convention;
- (b) Encourages the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the working group to conduct informal inter-sessional consultations with all interested parties in order to facilitate the completion of a consolidated text.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/44, and chap. XI.]

25. Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/45 of 23 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions for three years, and approves the Commission's request to the Secretary-General to provide the Special Rapporteur with an adequate and stable level of human, financial and material resources in order to enable her to continue to carry out her mandate effectively, including through country visits.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/45, and chap. XI.]

26. Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/46 of 23 April 2001, endorses the decision of the Commission:

- (a) To renew, for a three-year period, the mandate of the Working Group of five independent experts entrusted with the task of investigating enforced or involuntary disappearances;
- (b) To request the Chairperson of the fifty-seventh session of the Commission, after consultations with the Bureau and the regional groups, to appoint an independent expert to examine the existing international criminal and human rights framework for the protection of persons from enforced or involuntary disappearance, taking into account relevant legal instruments at the international and regional levels, intergovernmental arrangements on judicial cooperation, the draft international convention on the protection of all persons from enforced disappearance (E/CN.4/Sub.2/1998/19, annex) transmitted by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights in its resolution 1998/25 of 26 August 1998 and also comments of States and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, with a view to identifying any gaps in order to ensure full protection from enforced or involuntary disappearance and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session and to the working group established under paragraph 12 of Commission resolution 2001/46 at its first session;
- (c) To establish, at its fifty-eighth session, an inter-sessional open-ended working group of the Commission, with the mandate to elaborate, in the light of the findings of the independent expert, a draft legally binding normative instrument for the protection of all persons from enforced disappearance, taking into account, *inter alia*, the draft international convention on the protection of all persons from enforced disappearance transmitted by the Sub-Commission in its resolution 1998/25 for consideration and adoption by the General Assembly.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/46, and chap. XI.]

27. Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/50 of 24 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to all special procedures and other human rights mechanisms of the Commission and the Sub-Commission for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights regularly and systematically to take a gender perspective into account in the implementation of their mandates.

The Council also endorses the Commission's decision to integrate a gender perspective into all agenda items of the Commission.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/50, and chap. XII.]

28. The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/51 of 24 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to all special representatives, special rapporteurs and working groups of the Commission to integrate the protection of HIV-related human rights within their respective mandates.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/51, and chap. XIV.]

29. Internally displaced persons

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/54 of 24 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons for a further three years, and approves the Commission's request that the Representative of the Secretary-General continue to report on his activities to the General Assembly and to the Commission.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/54, and chap. XIV.]

30. Human rights and indigenous issues

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/57 of 24 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decisions:

- (a) To appoint, for a three-year period, a special rapporteur on the situation of human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people, with the following functions:
 - (i) To gather, request, receive and exchange information and communications from all relevant sources, including Governments, indigenous people themselves and their communities and organizations, on violations of their human rights and fundamental freedoms;
 - (ii) To formulate recommendations and proposals on appropriate measures and activities to prevent and remedy violations of the human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people;
 - (iii) To work in close relation with other special rapporteurs, special representatives, working groups and independent experts of the Commission and of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, taking into account the request of the Commission contained in its resolution 1993/30 of 5 March 1993;
 - (b) To invite the Special Rapporteur:
 - (i) To take into account a gender perspective while in carrying out her/his mandate, paying special attention to discrimination against indigenous women;
 - (ii) To pay special attention to violations of the human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous children;
 - (iii) To take into account, in carrying out his/her task, all the recommendations of the Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and of the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues relevant to her/his mandate;
 - (iv) To consider, in performing his/her work, the recommendations of the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance on matters concerning his/her mandate;
- (c) To request the Chairperson of the Commission, following formal consultations with the Bureau and the regional groups through the regional coordinators, to appoint as special rapporteur an individual of recognized international standing and experience;
- (d) To request the Special Rapporteur to submit annual reports on his/her activities to the Commission, starting at its fifty-eighth session;

(e) To request the Secretary-General and the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to provide all the necessary human, technical and financial assistance to the Special Rapporteur for the fulfilment of her/his mandate.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/57, and chap. XV.]

31. Working group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration in accordance with paragraph 5 of General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/58 of 24 April 2001, authorizes the working group established in accordance with Commission resolution 1995/32 of 3 March 1995 to meet for a period of ten working days prior to the fifty-eighth session of the Commission, the costs of the meeting to be met from within existing resources.

The Council endorses the Commission's decision to invite the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the working group and all interested parties to conduct broad informal inter-sessional consultations with a view to facilitating progress in drafting a declaration on the rights of indigenous people at the next session of the working group.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/58, and chap. XV.]

32. Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/59 of 24 April 2001, authorizes the Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights to meet for five working days prior to the fifty-third session of the Sub-Commission.

The Council approves the Commission's request to the Secretary-General to provide adequate resources and assistance to the Working Group in the discharge of its tasks.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/59, and chap. XV.]

33. Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/62 of 25 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to renew for a period of three years the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture.

The Council also approves the Commission's request to the Special Rapporteur to present an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session on the overall trends and developments with regard to his mandate and a full report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/62, and chap. XI.]

34. Human rights and bioethics

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/71 of 25 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to the Secretary-General to draw up proposals, on the basis of contributions from the organizations and specialized agencies of the United Nations and for consideration by the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session, concerning ways to ensure proper coordination of activities and thinking on bioethics throughout the United Nations system and to consider establishing a working group of independent experts from, *inter alia*, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, the World Health Organization and the World Intellectual Property Organization, which would reflect, in particular, on the possible follow-up to the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights and report to the Secretary-General within a period to be determined by him.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/71, and chap. XVII.]

35. Rights of the child

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/75 of 25 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, United Nations mechanisms, all relevant organs of the United Nations system, in particular special representatives, special rapporteurs and working groups regularly and systematically to include a child rights perspective in the fulfilment of their mandates.

The Council also endorses the Commission's decision to renew the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography for a further three years, and to request the Special Rapporteur to submit a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/75, and chap. XIII.]

36. Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/76 of 25 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to recommend that the General Assembly encourage States parties to the United Nations human rights instruments to establish quota distribution systems by geographical region for the election of the members of the treaty bodies.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/76, and chap. XVIII.]

37. National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/80 of 25 April 2001, approves the Commission's requests to the Secretary-General:

- (a) To continue to provide, from within existing resources, the necessary assistance for holding meetings of the International Coordinating Committee during the sessions of the Commission, under the auspices of, and in cooperation with, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights;
- (b) To continue to provide, from within existing resources and from the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Technical Cooperation in the field of Human Rights, the necessary assistance for international and regional meetings of national institutions.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/80, and chap. XVIII.]

38. Assistance to Somalia in the field of human rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/81 of 25 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend the mandate of the independent expert on the situation of human rights in Somalia for a further year and to request the future independent expert to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

The Council also approves the Commission's request to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to provide for the translation of Commission resolution 2001/81, accompanied by an appropriate background explanatory note, into the Somali language and for its wide dissemination within the country through the human rights officer for Somalia based in Nairobi.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/81, and chap. XIX.]

39. Situation of human rights in Cambodia

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/82 of 25 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to the Secretary-General, through his Special Representative for human rights in Cambodia, in collaboration with the office in Cambodia of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, to assist the Government of Cambodia in ensuring the protection of the human rights of all people in Cambodia and to ensure adequate resources for the continued functioning of the operational presence in Cambodia of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and to enable the Special Representative to continue to fulfil his tasks expeditiously.

[See chap. II, sect. A, resolution 2001/82, and chap. XIX.]

40. Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/105 of 23 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to request the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to hold a consultative meeting in Geneva for all interested Governments, international organizations and non-governmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council, using available resources, with a view to finalizing the "Basic principles and guidelines on the right to a remedy and reparation for victims of violations of international human rights and humanitarian law" annexed to the final

report of the independent expert on the right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms (E/CN.4/2000/62), on the basis of the comments submitted, and to transmit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session the final outcome of the consultative meeting for its consideration.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/105, and chap. XI.]

41. Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/107 of 24 April 2001, endorses the decision of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child, Ms. Halima Embarek Warzazi, for two more years and to request the Special Rapporteur to submit updated reports to the Sub-Commission at its fifty-third and fifty-fourth sessions.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/107, and chap. XII.]

42. Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/108 of 24 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to request the Secretary-General to publish, in all official languages, the report and updated report of the Special Rapporteur of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights on systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices during armed conflicts, including internal armed conflict (E/CN.4/Sub.2/1998/13 and E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/21), and to transmit them to Governments, competent bodies of the United Nations, specialized agencies, regional intergovernmental organizations, the established international tribunals and to the Assembly of States Parties to the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9), in order to ensure that they receive wide distribution.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/108, and chap. XIV.]

43. Report of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/109 of 24 April 2001 and noting that the *Report on Slavery* (E/4168/Rev.1) prepared by its Special Rapporteur in 1966 was most recently updated in 1984, that is, more than fifteen years ago, decides that the updated report submitted to the Sub-Commission on the

Promotion and Protection of Human Rights as documents E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/3 and Add.1 should be compiled, without financial implications, into a single report, printed in all official languages and given the widest possible distribution.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/109, and chap. XIV.]

44. Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/110 of 24 April 2001, authorizes the former Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group, Ms. Erica-Irene Daes, to continue to participate in all meetings in preparation for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance and in the World Conference itself, and also authorizes the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the eighteenth session of the Working Group, Mr. Miguel Alfonso Martínez, to participate in the World Conference.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/110, and chap. XV.]

45. Science and the environment

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/111 of 25 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to invite the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Executive Director of the United Nations Environment Programme to consider, taking into account their respective approved work programmes and budgets, the organization of a joint seminar, to be funded through voluntary contributions, to review and assess progress achieved since the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development held in Rio de Janeiro in June 1992 in promoting and protecting human rights in relation to environmental questions and in the framework of Agenda 21 (A/CONF.151/26/Rev.1, Vol. 1 and Corr.1, resolution 1, annex II), in collaboration with the concerned international institutions and agencies and taking into account the views of concerned States.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/111, and chap. XVII.]

46. Human rights and human responsibilities

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/115 of 25 April 2001, decides to authorize the Sub-Commission on the Promotion

and Protection of Human Rights to appoint Mr. Miguel Alfonso Martínez to undertake a study on the issue of human rights and human responsibilities and to submit a preliminary report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session and a final report at its fifty-ninth session.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/115, and chap. XVII.]

47. Dates of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/117 of 27 April 2001, approves the Commission's recommendations, bearing in mind Council decision 1997/291 of 22 July 1997, that the fifty-eighth session of the Commission should be scheduled to take place from 18 March to 26 April 2002.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/117, and chap. III.]

48. Organization of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/118 of 27 April 2001, authorizes, for the Commission's fifty-eighth session, if possible from within existing financial resources, 35 fully serviced additional meetings, including summary records, in accordance with rules 29 and 31 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council.

The Council approves the Commission's request to the Chairperson of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission to make every effort to organize the work of the session within the times normally allotted, so that the additional meetings that the Council might authorize would be utilized only if they proved to be absolutely necessary.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/118, and chap. III.]

49. Question of resources for the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights decision 2001/119 of 27 April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to renew its appeal to

the Council and the General Assembly that additional resources be allocated to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in order to ensure that the Office receives the necessary financial, material and personnel resources commensurate with its increasing tasks.

[See chap. II, sect. B, decision 2001/119, and chap. III.]

50. Situation of human rights in East Timor

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of the statement agreed on by consensus by the Commission on Human Rights, made by the Chairperson of the Commission at its 68th meeting, on 20 April 2001, approves the Commission's request to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. IX.]

51. Technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti

The Economic and Social Council, taking note of the statement agreed on by consensus by the Commission on Human Rights, made by the Chairperson of the Commission at its 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001, approves the Commission's request that a new independent expert report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on developments in the situation of human rights and technical cooperation for human rights in Haiti.

[See chap. XIX.]

II. Resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session

A. Resolutions

2001/1. Question of Western Sahara

The Commission on Human Rights,

Having considered in depth the question of Western Sahara,

Reaffirming the inalienable right of all peoples to self-determination and independence, in accordance with the principles set forth in the Charter of the United Nations and in General Assembly resolution 1514 (XV) of 14 December 1960, containing the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples,

Taking note of General Assembly resolution 55/141 of 8 December 2000,

Recalling its resolution 2000/2 of 7 April 2000,

Recalling also the agreement in principle given on 30 August 1988 by the Kingdom of Morocco and the Frente Popular para la Liberación de Saguia el-Hamra y de Río de Oro to the proposals of the Secretary-General of the United Nations and the Chairman of the Assembly of Heads of State and Government of the Organization of African Unity in the context of their joint mission of good offices,

Recalling further Security Council resolutions 658 (1990) of 27 June 1990 and 690 (1991) of 29 April 1991, in which the Council approved a settlement plan for Western Sahara,

Recalling all the Security Council, General Assembly and Commission on Human Rights resolutions relating to the question of Western Sahara,

Reaffirming the responsibility of the United Nations towards the people of Western Sahara, as provided for in the settlement plan,

Noting with satisfaction the entry into force of the ceasefire in accordance with the proposal of the Secretary-General, and stressing the importance it attaches to the maintenance of the ceasefire as an integral part of the settlement plan,

Noting also with satisfaction the agreements reached by the two parties regarding the implementation of the settlement plan during their private direct talks and stressing the importance it attaches to a full, fair and faithful implementation of the settlement plan and the agreements aimed at its implementation,

Noting that, despite the progress achieved, difficulties remain in the implementation of the settlement plan which must be overcome,

Recalling Security Council resolutions 1198 (1998) of 18 September 1998, 1204 (1998) of 30 October 1998, 1215 (1998) of 17 December 1998, 1224 (1999) of 28 January 1999, 1228 (1999) of 11 February 1999, 1232 (1999) of 30 March 1999 and 1235 (1999) of 30 April 1999,

Welcoming the acceptance by the two parties of the detailed modalities for the implementation of the Secretary-General's package of measures relating to the identification of voters and the appeals process,

Recalling that the General Assembly has examined the relevant chapter of the report of the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples,

Recalling also that the General Assembly has examined the report of the Secretary-General (A/55/303),

- 1. *Takes note* of the report of the Secretary-General;
- 2. Recalls the agreements reached between the Kingdom of Morocco and the Frente Popular para la Liberación de Saguia el-Hamra y de Río de Oro for the implementation of the settlement plan during their private and direct talks under the auspices of Mr. James Baker III, the Personal Envoy of the Secretary-General, and urges the two parties to implement those agreements fully and in good faith;
- 3. *Commends* the Secretary-General and his Personal Envoy for their outstanding efforts and the two parties for the spirit of cooperation they have shown in the support they provided for those efforts;
- 4. *Urges* the two parties to continue their cooperation with the Secretary-General and his Personal Envoy, as well as with his Special Representative, and to refrain from undertaking anything that would undermine the implementation of the settlement plan and the agreements reached for its implementation as well as the continued efforts of the Secretary-General and his Personal Envoy;
- 5. Calls upon the two parties to cooperate fully with the Secretary-General, his Personal Envoy and his Special Representative in implementing the various phases of the settlement plan and in overcoming the difficulties that remain despite the progress so far achieved:
- 6. *Urges* the two parties to implement faithfully and loyally the Secretary-General's package of measures relating to the identification of voters and the appeals process;

- 7. *Reaffirms* the responsibility of the United Nations towards the people of Western Sahara, as provided for in the settlement plan;
- 8. Also reaffirms its support for further efforts of the Secretary-General for the organization and the supervision by the United Nations, in cooperation with the Organization of African Unity, of a referendum on self-determination of the people of Western Sahara that is impartial and free of all constraints, in conformity with Security Council resolutions 658 (1990) and 690 (1991), in which the Council approved the settlement plan for Western Sahara;
- 9. Recalls the relevant Security Council resolutions, including resolutions 1131 (1997) of 29 September 1997, 1238 (1999) of 14 May 1999, 1263 (1999) of 13 September 1999 and 1292 (2000) of 29 February 2000, and takes note of Council resolutions 1301 (2000) of 31 May 2000, 1309 (2000) of 25 July 2000, 1324 (2000) of 30 October 2000 and 1342 (2001) of 27 February 2001;
- 10. Notes that the General Assembly has requested the Special Committee on the Situation with regard to the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples to continue to consider the situation in Western Sahara, bearing in mind the positive ongoing implementation of the settlement plan, and to report thereon to the Assembly at its fifty-sixth session;
- 11. *Also notes* that the General Assembly has invited the Secretary-General to submit to it, at its fifty-sixth session, a report on the implementation of Assembly resolution 55/141.

43rd meeting 6 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. V.]

2001/2. Situation in occupied Palestine

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations, in particular the provisions of Articles 1 and 55 thereof, which affirm the right of peoples to self-determination, and reaffirming the need for scrupulous respect of the principle of refraining in international relations from the threat or use of force, as specified in the Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Cooperation among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 2625 (XXV) of 24 October 1970,

Guided also by the provisions of article 1 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and article 1 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, which affirm that all peoples have the right to self-determination,

Guided further by the provisions of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), and in particular Part I, paragraphs 2 and 3, relating to the right of self-determination of all peoples and especially those subject to foreign occupation,

Recalling General Assembly resolutions 181 A and B (II) of 29 November 1947 and 194 (III) of 11 December 1948, as well as all other resolutions which confirm and define the inalienable rights of the Palestinian people, particularly their right to self-determination,

Recalling also its previous resolutions in this regard, the latest of which is its resolution 2000/4 of 7 April 2000,

Reaffirming the right of the Palestinian people to self-determination in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, the relevant United Nations resolutions and declarations, and the provisions of international covenants and instruments relating to the right to self-determination as an international principle and as a right of all peoples in the world, as it is a *jus cogens* in international law, and a basic condition for achieving a just, lasting and comprehensive peace in the region of the Middle East,

- 1. Reaffirms the inalienable, permanent and unqualified right of the Palestinian people to self-determination, including its right to establish its sovereign and independent Palestinian State, and looks forward to the early fulfilment of this right;
- 2. Requests the Secretary-General to transmit the present resolution to the Government of Israel and all other Governments, to disseminate it on the widest possible scale and to make available to the Commission, prior to the convening of its fifty-eighth session, all information pertaining to the implementation of the present resolution by the Government of Israel;
- 3. Decides to include in the provisional agenda of its fifty-eighth session the item entitled "The right of peoples to self-determination and its application to peoples under colonial or alien domination or foreign occupation" and to consider the situation in occupied Palestine under that agenda item, as a matter of high priority.

43rd meeting 6 April 2001
[Adopted by a roll-call vote of 48 votes to 2, with 2 abstentions. See chap. V.]

2001/3. The use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination

The Commission on Human Rights,

Taking note of General Assembly resolution 55/86 of 4 December 2000 and recalling its own resolution 2000/3 of 7 April 2000,

Recalling all of its relevant resolutions, in which, *inter alia*, it condemned any State that permitted or tolerated the recruitment, financing, training, assembly, transit and use of mercenaries with the objective of overthrowing the Governments of States Members of the United Nations, especially those of developing countries, or of fighting against national liberation movements, and recalling also the relevant resolutions and international instruments adopted by the General Assembly, the Security Council, the Economic and Social Council and the Organization of African Unity, *inter alia* the Convention of the Organization of African Unity on the Elimination of Mercenarism in Africa,

Reaffirming the purposes and principles enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations concerning the strict observance of the principles of sovereign equality, political independence, territorial integrity of States, self-determination of peoples, the non-use of force or threat of use of force in international relations and non-interference in affairs within the domestic jurisdiction of States,

Reaffirming also that by virtue of the principle of self-determination, all peoples have the right to determine freely their political status and to pursue freely their economic, social and cultural development,

Reaffirming further the Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Cooperation among States in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations,

Alarmed and concerned about the danger which the activities of mercenaries constitute to peace and security in developing countries, particularly in Africa and in small States,

Deeply concerned about the loss of life, the substantial damage to property and the negative effects on the policy and economies of affected countries resulting from mercenary international criminal activities,

Convinced that, notwithstanding the way in which mercenaries or mercenary-related activities are used or the form they take to acquire some semblance of legitimacy, they are a threat to peace, security and the self-determination of peoples and an obstacle to the enjoyment of human rights by peoples,

1. Welcomes the report of the Special Rapporteur on the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination (E/CN.4/2001/19);

- 2. Reaffirms that the use of mercenaries and their recruitment, financing and training are causes for grave concern to all States and violate the purposes and principles enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations;
- 3. *Recognizes* that armed conflicts, terrorism, arms trafficking and covert operations by third Powers, *inter alia*, encourage the demand for mercenaries on the global market;
- 4. Urges all States to take the necessary steps and to exercise the utmost vigilance against the menace posed by the activities of mercenaries, and to take legislative measures to ensure that their territories and other territories under their control, as well as their nationals, are not used for the recruitment, assembly, financing, training and transit of mercenaries for the planning of activities designed to impede the right to self-determination, to overthrow the Government of any State, or dismember or impair, totally or in part, the territorial integrity or political unity of sovereign and independent States conducting themselves in compliance with the right to self-determination of peoples;
- 5. *Calls upon* all States that have not yet done so to consider taking the necessary action to sign or ratify the International Convention against the Recruitment, Use, Financing and Training of Mercenaries;
- 6. *Welcomes* the cooperation extended by those countries that received a visit by the Special Rapporteur on mercenaries;
- 7. Also welcomes the adoption by some States of national legislation that restricts the recruitment, assembly, financing, training and transit of mercenaries;
- 8. *Invites* States to investigate the possibility of mercenary involvement whenever and wherever criminal acts of a terrorist nature occur;
- 9. Welcomes the convening by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights of a meeting of experts on the traditional and new forms of mercenary activities as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination;
- 10. *Takes note* of the report of the above-mentioned meeting of experts (E/CN.4/2001/18, annex), as a valuable contribution to the process of elaborating a clearer legal definition of mercenaries that would make for more efficient prevention and punishment of mercenary activities;
- 11. *Requests* the Office of the High Commissioner, as a matter of priority, to publicize the adverse effects of mercenary activities on the right of peoples to self-determination and, when requested and where necessary, to render advisory services to States that are affected by these activities;

- 12. *Decides,* in accordance with General Assembly resolution 55/86, to renew the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination for a period of three years;
- 13. Requests the Special Rapporteur to continue taking into account in the discharge of his mandate that mercenary activities are continuing to occur in many parts of the world and are taking on new forms, manifestations and modalities;
- 14. *Urges* all States to cooperate fully with the Special Rapporteur in the fulfilment of his mandate:
- 15. Requests the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to provide the Special Rapporteur with all the necessary assistance and support for the fulfilment of his mandate, including through the promotion of cooperation between the Special Rapporteur and other components of the United Nations system that deal with countering mercenary-related activities;
- 16. Requests the Special Rapporteur to consult States, intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations in the implementation of the present resolution and to report, with specific recommendations, his findings on the use of mercenaries to undermine the right to self-determination to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 17. Decides to consider at its fifty-eighth session the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination under the same agenda item;
- 18. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 1.]

43rd meeting 6 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 35 votes to 11, with 6 abstentions. See chap. V.]

2001/4. Combating defamation of religions as a means to promote human rights, social harmony and religious and cultural diversity

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling that all States have pledged themselves, under the Charter of the United Nations, to promote and encourage universal respect for and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Recalling also its resolutions 1999/82 of 30 April 1999 and 2000/84 of 26 April 2000,

Welcoming the designation by the General Assembly of the year 2001 as the United Nations Year of Dialogue among Civilizations,

Recalling the United Nations Millennium Declaration adopted by the General Assembly on 8 September 2000,

Considering the outcome of the four regional preparatory meetings for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, to be held in Durban, South Africa, in September 2001,

Noting with concern that defamation of religions is among the causes of social disharmony and leads to violations of the human rights of their adherents,

Alarmed at the serious instances of intolerance, discrimination and acts of violence based on religion or belief, including acts of violence, intimidation and coercion motivated by religious extremism, occurring in many parts of the world and threatening the enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms.

Underlining the importance of creating conditions to foster greater harmony and tolerance within and among societies and conscious of the importance of education in ensuring tolerance of and respect for religion and belief,

Emphasizing that States, non-governmental organizations and religious bodies have an important role to play in the promotion of tolerance and the protection of freedom of religion and belief,

- 1. Expresses deep concern at negative stereotyping of religions;
- 2. Also expresses deep concern that Islam is frequently and wrongly associated with human rights violations and with terrorism;
- 3. *Encourages* States, within their respective constitutional systems, to provide adequate protection against all human rights violations resulting from defamation of religions and to take all possible measures to promote tolerance and respect for all religions;
- 4. *Welcomes* the resolve expressed in the United Nations Millennium Declaration to take measures to eliminate the increasing acts of racism and xenophobia in many societies and to promote greater harmony and tolerance in all societies, and looks forward to its effective implementation at all levels;
- 5. *Emphasizes* that the realization of the dialogue among civilizations requires continuous and concerted efforts to promote a culture of tolerance based on respect for all human rights and respect for religious diversity, through cooperation and mutual enrichment in various fields of human endeavour and achievement;

- 6. *Calls upon* the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to promote and include human rights aspects in the dialogue among civilizations, *inter alia* through:
- (a) Integrating them into topical seminars and special debates on the positive contributions of cultures, as well as religious and cultural diversity;
- (b) Collaboration by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights with other international organizations in holding joint conferences designed to encourage this dialogue and promote understanding of the universality of human rights and their implementation at various levels;
- 7. *Requests* the High Commissioner to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the implementation of the present resolution;
- 8. *Decides* to consider this matter at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item.

61st meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 28 votes to 15, with 9 abstentions. See chap. VI.]

2001/5. Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Charter of the United Nations, the International Covenants on Human Rights and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination,

Reaffirming also its firm determination and its commitment to eradicate totally and unconditionally racism in all its forms and racial discrimination, and its conviction that racism and racial discrimination constitute a total negation of the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Reaffirming further its resolution 1998/26 of 17 April 1998, in which it recommended that the activities of the Programme of Action for the Third Decade to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination should be focused on the preparatory process for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance,

Taking note of the efforts of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination since its establishment in 1970 to promote the implementation of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination,

Taking note with satisfaction of the work of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance,

Recalling the recommendations of the two World Conferences to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination, held in Geneva in 1978 and 1983,

Bearing in mind the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), which call for the speedy and comprehensive elimination of all forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance.

Deeply concerned that, despite continuing efforts, contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, discrimination against, *inter alia*, Africans, people of African descent, Arabs and Muslims, and incidents of xenophobia, Negrophobia, anti-Semitism and related intolerance persist and are even growing in magnitude, incessantly adopting new forms, including tendencies to establish policies based on racial, religious, ethnic, cultural and national superiority or exclusivity,

Particularly alarmed at the rise of racist and xenophobic ideas in political circles, in the sphere of public opinion and in society at large,

Conscious of the fundamental difference between, on the one hand, racism and racial discrimination as an institutionalized governmental policy or resulting from official doctrines of racial superiority or exclusivity and, on the other hand, other manifestations of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance taking place in segments of many societies and perpetrated by individuals or groups, some of which are directed against migrant workers and their families,

Reaffirming, in this regard, the responsibility of Governments for safeguarding and protecting the rights of individuals within their jurisdiction against crimes perpetrated by racist or xenophobic individuals or groups,

Recognizing that Governments should implement and enforce appropriate and effective legislation to prevent acts of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, thereby contributing to the prevention of human rights violations,

Noting with concern that racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance may be aggravated by, *inter alia*, inequitable distribution of wealth, marginalization and social exclusion,

Deeply concerned that the phenomena of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance against migrant workers continue to increase, despite the efforts made by the international community to improve the protection of the human rights of migrant workers and members of their families,

Recalling the adoption by the General Assembly at its forty-fifth session of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families,

Taking note with satisfaction of the report of the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants (E/CN.4/2001/83 and Add.1),

Noting with grave concern that, despite the efforts of the international community, the principal objectives of the two Decades for Action to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination have not been attained and that millions of human beings continue to this day to be victims of varied forms of racism and racial discrimination,

Noting also with grave concern that, despite the efforts undertaken by the international community at various levels, racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, ethnic antagonism and acts of violence are showing signs of increase,

Alarmed that technological developments in the field of communications, including the Internet, continue to be utilized by various groups engaged in violent activity to promote racist and xenophobic propaganda aimed at inciting racial hatred and to collect funds to sustain violent campaigns against multi-ethnic societies throughout the world,

Aware that racism, being one of the exclusionist phenomena plaguing many societies, requires resolute action and cooperation for its eradication,

Calling for the promotion of tolerance and respect for cultural diversity as an important factor, among others, in eliminating racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 48/91 of 20 December 1993, in which the Assembly proclaimed the Third Decade to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination, beginning in 1993, and adopted the Programme of Action proposed for the Decade,

Welcoming the General Assembly's decision to declare the year 2001 the International Year of Mobilization against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance,

Having examined the report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance (E/CN.4/2001/21 and Corr.1),

Observing that the manifestations of contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance bode ill for the international community, that racist propaganda and incitement to racial hatred are spreading and that racism is taking increasingly violent forms,

Stressing the need to recognize that acts of violence motivated by racial discrimination and xenophobia are crimes punishable by law,

Stressing also the importance of urgently eliminating growing and violent trends of racism and racial discrimination, and conscious that any form of impunity for crimes motivated by racist and xenophobic attitudes plays a role in weakening the rule of law and democracy and tends to encourage the recurrence of such crimes, and requires resolute action and cooperation for its eradication,

Acknowledging that indigenous people and persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities are at times vulnerable to particular forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance,

Noting with concern the existence of multiple discrimination, in particular against women,

Recognizing that failure, especially by public authorities and politicians, to combat racial discrimination and xenophobia is a factor encouraging their perpetuation in society,

I. GENERAL

- 1. Expresses its profound concern at and unequivocal condemnation of all forms of racism and racial discrimination, including related acts of racially motivated violence, xenophobia and related intolerance, as well as all propaganda activities and organizations which attempt to justify or promote racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance in any form;
- 2. Reaffirms that racism and racial discrimination are among the most serious violations of human rights in the contemporary world, and expresses its firm determination and commitment to eradicate, by all available means, racism in all its forms and racial discrimination;
- 3. *Urges* all Governments to take all necessary measures to combat racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, including new and contemporary forms of racism, through specific measures and programmes, in particular in the legislative, judicial, administrative, educational and information fields;
- 4. Calls upon all States resolutely to bring to justice the perpetrators of crimes motivated by racism, and calls upon those that have not done so to consider including in their legislation racist motivation as an aggravating factor for the purposes of sentencing;
- 5. *Recognizes* the vulnerability of victims of acts of racial discrimination that violate their human rights and fundamental freedoms, as well as the difficulties they often face in

seeking legal remedies, and in this regard calls upon all States to provide, when needed, legal assistance, in order to facilitate access to justice, as well as to consider establishing appropriate policies and structures at the national level, *inter alia*, an ombudsman, to deal with these kinds of acts:

- 6. Calls upon all States to intensify their efforts in taking appropriate measures to prevent political parties from promoting and inciting racial discrimination in violation of human rights;
- 7. *Underlines* the importance of effective action to create conditions that foster greater harmony and tolerance within societies;
- 8. Expresses its deep concern at and condemnation of manifestations of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance against migrant workers and members of their families and other vulnerable groups in many societies;
- 9. Calls upon all States to review and, where necessary, revise their immigration policies which are inconsistent with international human rights instruments, with a view to eliminating all discriminatory policies and practices against migrants;
- 10. Condemns all forms of racial discrimination and xenophobia as regards access to employment, vocational training, housing, schooling, health services and social services, as well as services intended for use by the public;
- 11. *Categorically condemns* any role played by some print, audio-visual or electronic media in inciting acts of violence motivated by racial hatred;
- 12. *Urges* Governments to take all necessary measures against incitement to racial hatred, including through print, audio-visual and electronic media;
- 13. *Urges* all States to intensify their efforts for the implementation of the obligations they have accepted under article 4 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, with due regard to the principles of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and to article 5 of the Convention, with respect to:
- (a) Declaring an offence punishable by law all dissemination of ideas based on racial superiority or hatred, incitement to racial discrimination, as well as all acts of violence or incitement to such acts, against any race or group of persons of another colour or ethnic origin, and also the provision of any assistance to racist activities, including the financing thereof;
- (b) Declaring illegal and prohibiting organizations, and also organized and all other propaganda activities, which promote and incite racial discrimination, and recognizing participation in such organizations or activities as an offence punishable by law;
- (c) Not permitting public authorities or public institutions, national or local, to promote or incite racial discrimination;

- 14. Calls upon all States, where appropriate, to strengthen their national legislation and institutions for the promotion of racial harmony and notes the conclusions and recommendations of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance in this regard, including those on the importance of integration of vulnerable groups into mainstream societies;
- 15. *Invites* all States, in their efforts aimed at promoting racial harmony, to involve or, as necessary, to establish, national institutions and other appropriate organizations;
- 16. *Welcomes* the active role played by non-governmental organizations in combating racism and assisting individual victims of racist acts;
- 17. *Encourages* the mass media, through all appropriate means, such as codes of conduct, to promote ideas of tolerance and understanding among peoples and between different cultures, and to refrain from disseminating racist and xenophobic ideas;
- 18. Recalls with interest general recommendation XV (42) of 17 March 1993 of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination on article 4 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, in which the Committee concluded that the prohibition of the dissemination of all ideas based on racial superiority or racial hatred is compatible with the right to freedom of opinion and expression as embodied in article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and recalled in article 5 of the Convention;
 - II. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROGRAMME OF ACTION FOR THE THIRD DECADE TO COMBAT RACISM AND RACIAL DISCRIMINATION AND COORDINATION OF ACTIVITIES
- 19. *Regrets* that the activities scheduled to take place during the Third Decade, and the Programme of Action for the Decade have not been fully implemented owing to lack of interest, support and financial resources;
- 20. Strongly appeals to all Governments, intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations and individuals in a position to do so to contribute generously to the Trust Fund for the Programme of Action for the Third Decade to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination, and, to this end, requests the Secretary-General to continue to undertake appropriate contacts and initiatives to encourage contributions;
- 21. Recognizes the laudable and generous efforts by donors that have made contributions to the Trust Fund, but feels that these financial contributions have proved inadequate and that the General Assembly should consider all ways and means of financing the Programme of Action, including through the United Nations regular budget;
- 22. Recommends that the General Assembly, through the Economic and Social Council, request the Secretary-General to assign high priority to the activities of the Programme of Action and to earmark adequate resources to finance the activities of the Programme;

- 23. Calls upon all Governments, United Nations bodies, specialized agencies and intergovernmental organizations, as well as interested non-governmental organizations, to contribute fully to the effective implementation of the Programme of Action;
- 24. Affirms its determination to combat violence stemming from intolerance on the basis of ethnicity, which it considers to be as serious a problem as violence based on racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance;
- 25. Requests all States to encourage the reporting of all acts motivated by racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia or ethnic reasons in order to facilitate the necessary inquiries and bring the persons who commit such acts to trial;
- 26. Recommends that States give priority to education as a principal means of preventing and eradicating racism and racial discrimination and of creating awareness of the principles of human rights, particularly among young people, and to the training of law enforcement personnel, *inter alia* through the promotion of tolerance and respect for cultural diversity;
- 27. Calls upon all Member States to consider signing and ratifying or acceding to the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families as a matter of priority;
 - III. SPECIAL RAPPORTEUR ON CONTEMPORARY FORMS OF RACISM, RACIAL DISCRIMINATION, XENOPHOBIA AND RELATED INTOLERANCE AND FOLLOW-UP TO HIS VISITS
- 28. *Takes note with satisfaction* of the report of the Special Rapporteur (E/CN.4/2001/21 and Corr.1);
- 29. Expresses its full support and appreciation for the work of the Special Rapporteur and for its continuation;
- 30. Requests the Special Rapporteur to continue his exchange of views with Member States and relevant mechanisms and treaty bodies within the United Nations system in order to enhance further their effectiveness and mutual cooperation;
- 31. Also requests the Special Rapporteur to continue his examination of the issue of political platforms which promote or incite racial discrimination in violation of human rights and to submit recommendations thereon to the Preparatory Committee for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance at its second session;
- 32. Reiterates its call to all Governments, intergovernmental organizations and relevant organizations of the United Nations system, as well as non-governmental organizations, to supply all relevant information to the Special Rapporteur;

- 33. *Urges* all Governments to cooperate fully with the Special Rapporteur with a view to enabling him to fulfil his mandate to examine incidents of contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, any form of discrimination against, *inter alia*, Africans, people of African descent, Arabs and Muslims and incidents of xenophobia, Negrophobia, anti-Semitism and related intolerance;
- 34. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur to make the fullest use of all appropriate sources of information, including country visits and evaluation of the mass media, and to elicit responses from Governments with regard to allegations;
- 35. *Commends* those States that have so far invited and received the Special Rapporteur;
- 36. *Invites* the Governments of the States so far visited to consider ways to implement the recommendations contained in the reports of the Special Rapporteur and requests the Special Rapporteur to include in his report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item, information on measures to implement those recommendations, and to undertake follow-up visits, if necessary;
- 37. *Notes with concern* that new communications technologies, in particular the Internet, are increasingly being used to disseminate racist ideas and incite racial hatred;
- 38. *Notes* that the use of such technologies can contribute to combating racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance through, *inter alia*, the creation of Internet sites to disseminate anti-racist and anti-xenophobic messages;
- 39. Requests the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to continue to undertake research and consultations on the use of the Internet for the purposes of incitement to racial hatred, racist propaganda and xenophobia, to study ways of promoting international cooperation in this area, and to draw up a programme of human rights education and exchanges over the Internet on experience in the struggle against racism, xenophobia and anti-Semitism;
- 40. *Urges* the High Commissioner to provide those countries which were visited by the Special Rapporteur, at their request, with advisory services and technical assistance to enable them to implement fully the recommendations of the Special Rapporteur;

IV. INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION ON THE ELIMINATION OF ALL FORMS OF RACIAL DISCRIMINATION

41. *Appeals* to those States that have not yet done so to consider ratifying or acceding to the relevant international instruments, particularly the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination and the Convention against Discrimination in Education, and calls upon the States that have done so to implement them;

- 42. *Recommends* that the issue of universal ratification of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, as well as the reservations thereto, and the question of recognition of the competence of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination to receive individual complaints, be considered at the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance;
- 43. *Calls upon* States parties that have not submitted initial or periodic reports in accordance with article 9 of the Convention to do so;
- 44. *Urges* States to limit the extent of any reservations they lodge to the Convention and to formulate any reservation as precisely and as narrowly as possible, while ensuring that no reservation is incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention;
- 45. *Calls upon* States parties to the Convention, as appropriate, to adopt immediately positive measures aimed at the elimination of all forms of racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance;
- 46. *Requests* the States parties to the Convention that have not yet done so to consider the possibility of making the declaration provided for in article 14 of the Convention;
- 47. *Invites* the States parties to ratify the amendment to article 8 of the Convention on the financing of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination;
 - V. WORLD CONFERENCE AGAINST RACISM, RACIAL DISCRIMINATION, XENOPHOBIA AND RELATED INTOLERANCE
- 48. *Takes note* of the progress made in the preparatory process for the World Conference within the framework of the Preparatory Committee, and encourages the Committee to intensify its efforts in this regard;
- 49. Also takes note of the report of the Secretary-General on racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of racial discrimination concerning the implementation of Commission resolution 2000/14 of 17 April 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/20);
- 50. Encourages all States and other entities, including intergovernmental organizations and non-governmental organizations, to contribute generously to the host country trust fund established in the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to finance the activities of the World Conference, to be held in Durban, South Africa, from 31 August to 7 September 2001;
- 51. Requests the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, in her capacity as Secretary-General of the World Conference, to continue to intensify the activities already initiated within the framework of the world information campaign with a view to

mobilizing support for the objectives of the World Conference by all sectors of political, economic, social and cultural life, as well as other interested sectors, and welcomes the efforts she has made in this regard;

- 52. Welcomes the efforts by the High Commissioner to include in her strategy for informing international public opinion and raising awareness about the objectives of the World Conference the activities outlined in paragraph 51 (a) to (e) of Commission resolution 1999/78 of 28 April 1999, and encourages her to continue these efforts;
- 53. Also welcomes the efforts of the High Commissioner, in her capacity as Secretary-General of the World Conference, in initiating consultations with various international sporting and other organizations, to enable them to contribute to the struggle against racism and racial discrimination in the framework of the World Conference, as well as the appointment of goodwill ambassadors;
- 54. *Urges* all States, United Nations bodies, international, regional and subregional governmental organizations, non-governmental organizations and any interested body to continue to support the High Commissioner and the Department of Public Information and to give them full and complete cooperation for the coordination of information activities;
- 55. Encourages the participation of non-governmental organizations in the World Conference and in the sessions of the Preparatory Committee and welcomes the efforts of the Secretary-General of the World Conference to expedite arrangements for accreditation of non-governmental organizations, including those that are not in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council, in accordance with the arrangements for consultation with non-governmental organizations adopted by the Council in its resolution 1996/31 of 25 July 1996;
- 56. *Welcomes* the decision of non-governmental organizations, in consultation with the High Commissioner, to hold a forum before and partly during the World Conference, and requests the High Commissioner, insofar as possible, to provide them with technical assistance for that purpose;
- 57. *Expresses its appreciation* to the Governments of Senegal, the Islamic Republic of Iran and Chile, and to the Council of Europe, for hosting the regional preparatory meetings for the World Conference;
- 58. *Takes note* of the outcome of the regional preparatory meetings, and requests the Preparatory Committee, in its deliberations on the texts of the draft final documents of the World Conference, to take into account the recommendations of the regional meetings, and other inputs from States:
- 59. *Invites* Governments to promote the participation of national institutions and local non-governmental organizations in the preparations for and the process of the World Conference and to organize debates in national parliaments on the objectives of the World Conference;

- 60. *Encourages* all parliaments to participate actively in the preparation of the World Conference and requests the High Commissioner to explore ways and means of effectively involving parliaments through the relevant international organizations;
- 61. *Invites* United Nations bodies and mechanisms dealing with the question of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the special rapporteurs concerned to participate actively in the preparatory process with a view to ensuring the success of the World Conference and to coordinate their activities in this regard with the assistance of the High Commissioner;
- 62. Recommends that the World Conference adopt a declaration and programme of action containing concrete and practical recommendations to combat racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance;
- 63. *Stresses* the importance of systematically adopting a gender-based approach throughout the preparations for and in the outcome of the World Conference;
- 64. *Recommends* that the particular situation of children and young people receive special attention during the preparations for and during the World Conference itself, and especially in its outcome;
- 65. *Encourages* Governments, to that end, and to ensure further the engagement of young people on the broader issues of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, to consider including youth delegates in their official delegations to the World Conference and its preparatory processes;
- 66. *Recommends* that the particular situation of indigenous people receive special attention during the preparations for and during the World Conference, and especially in its outcome;
- 67. Also recommends that special attention be accorded during the preparations for and during the World Conference, and especially in its outcome, to the particular situation of migrants;
- 68. *Calls upon* all States, United Nations bodies, specialized agencies, regional organizations and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations to mobilize their efforts to realize the objectives of the International Year of Mobilization against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance;
- 69. *Emphasizes* that the activities to be implemented within the framework of the International Year should be directed towards the preparation of the World Conference;

- 70. Requests the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session a report on the implementation of the present resolution under the agenda item entitled "Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of discrimination";
- 71. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

61st meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. VI.]

2001/6. Human rights in the occupied Syrian Golan

The Commission on Human Rights,

Deeply concerned at the suffering of the Syrian citizens in the occupied Syrian Golan due to the violation of their fundamental and human rights since the Israeli military occupation of 1967,

Recalling Security Council resolution 497 (1981) of 17 December 1981,

Recalling also all relevant General Assembly resolutions, including the latest, resolution 55/51 of 1 December 2000, in which the Assembly declared that Israel had failed to comply with Security Council resolution 497 (1981) and demanded that Israel withdraw from all the occupied Syrian Golan,

Reaffirming once more the illegality of Israel's decision of 14 December 1981 to impose its laws, jurisdiction and administration on the occupied Syrian Golan, which has resulted in the effective annexation of that territory,

Reaffirming the principle of non-acquisition of territory by force in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and the principles of international law,

Taking note with deep concern of the report of the Special Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human Rights of the Palestinian People and Other Arabs of the Occupied Territories (A/55/453) and, in this connection, deploring the Israeli settlement in the occupied Arab territories and regretting Israel's constant refusal to cooperate with and to receive the Special Committee,

Guided by the relevant provisions of the Charter of the United Nations, international law and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and reaffirming the applicability of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War, of 12 August 1949, and the relevant provisions of the Hague Conventions of 1899 and 1907 to the occupied Syrian Golan,

Reaffirming the importance of the peace process which started in Madrid on the basis of Security Council resolutions 242 (1967) of 22 November 1967 and 338 (1973) of 22 October 1973 and the principle of land for peace, and expressing its concern at the stoppage of the peace process in the Middle East and its hope that peace talks will be resumed on the basis of the full implementation of Council resolutions 242 (1967) and 338 (1973) for the establishment of a just and comprehensive peace in the region,

Reaffirming also its previous relevant resolutions, the most recent being resolution 2000/7 of 17 April 2000,

- 1. Calls upon Israel, the occupying Power, to comply with the relevant resolutions of the General Assembly and of the Security Council, particularly resolution 497 (1981), in which the Council, *inter alia*, decided that the Israeli decision to impose its laws, jurisdiction and administration on the occupied Syrian Golan is null and void and without international legal effect, and demanded that Israel should rescind forthwith its decision;
- 2. Also calls upon Israel to desist from changing the physical character, demographic composition, institutional structure and legal status of the occupied Syrian Golan, and emphasizes that the displaced persons of the population of the occupied Syrian Golan must be allowed to return to their homes and to recover their properties;
- 3. Further calls upon Israel to desist from imposing Israeli citizenship and Israeli identity cards on the Syrian citizens in the occupied Syrian Golan and to desist from its repressive measures against them, and from all other practices mentioned in the report of the Special Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human Rights of the Palestinian People and Other Arabs of the Occupied Territories;
- 4. Determines that all legislative and administrative measures and actions taken or to be taken by Israel, the occupying Power, that purport to alter the character and legal status of the occupied Syrian Golan are null and void, constitute a flagrant violation of international law and of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War and have no legal effect;
- 5. Calls once again upon Member States not to recognize any of the legislative or administrative measures and actions referred to above;
- 6. Requests the Secretary-General to bring the present resolution to the attention of all Governments, the competent United Nations organs, the specialized agencies, regional intergovernmental organizations and international humanitarian organizations and to give it the widest possible publicity, and to report to the Commission on Human Rights at its fifty-eighth session;

7. Decides to include in the provisional agenda of its fifty-eighth session, as a matter of high priority, the item entitled "Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine".

61st meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 29 votes to 2, with 21 abstentions. See chap. VIII.]

2001/7. Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations as well as by the provisions of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Guided also by the provisions of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,

Taking into consideration the provisions of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War of 12 August 1949, the provisions of Additional Protocol I thereto, and the Hague Convention IV of 1907,

Recalling the resolutions of the Security Council, the General Assembly and the Commission on Human Rights relating to the applicability of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War to the occupied Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem,

Reaffirming the applicability of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War to the occupied Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem,

Recalling the General Assembly resolutions on Israeli violations of human rights in the occupied Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem, occupied since 1967,

Recalling also the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23),

Welcoming the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (E/CN.4/2001/114),

Welcoming also the report of the Special Rapporteur, Mr. Giorgio Giacomelli (E/CN.4/2001/30), and his report (E/CN.4/S-5/3) submitted to its fifth special session, held from 17 to 19 October 2000,

Welcoming further the report of the Human Rights Inquiry Commission established pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution S-5/1 of 19 October 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/121),

Expressing its deep concern at the failure of the Government of Israel to cooperate with the Human Rights Inquiry Commission and its failure to cooperate with other relevant rapporteurs,

Gravely concerned at the deterioration of the situation in the occupied Palestinian territories and by the gross violations of human rights and international humanitarian law, in particular extrajudicial killings, closures, collective punishments, settlements and arbitrary detentions,

Expressing its grave concern at the continuing violence and the resulting deaths and injuries, mostly among Palestinians,

Taking note of the reports of the Special Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the Human Rights of the Palestinian People and Other Arabs of the Occupied Territories submitted to the General Assembly since 1968,

Expressing its grave concern at the continued Israeli refusal to abide by the resolutions of the Security Council, the General Assembly and the Commission on Human Rights calling upon Israel to put an end to the violations of human rights and affirming the applicability of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War to the occupied Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem, occupied by Israel since 1967,

Convinced that the progress made on all major issues during the last negotiations should form the basis for future talks on permanent status, and that the basis of negotiations, and of a just and lasting peace, must be Security Council resolutions 242 (1967) of 22 November 1967 and 338 (1973) of 22 October 1973 and other relevant United Nations resolutions and include the inadmissibility of acquisition of territory by war, the need for every State in the area to be able to live in security and the principle of land for peace,

Recalling all its previous resolutions on the subject, including the latest, resolutions 2000/6 of 17 April 2000 and S-5/1 of 19 October 2000 adopted at its fifth special session,

- 1. Expresses its grave concern at the deterioration of the human rights and humanitarian situation in the occupied Palestinian territories;
- 2. Condemns the disproportionate and indiscriminate recourse to force, which cannot but aggravate the situation and increase an already high death toll, and urges the Government of Israel to make every effort to ensure that its security forces observe international standards regarding the use of force;

- 3. Strongly deplores the practice of so-called "eliminations", or extrajudicial killings, of certain Palestinians carried out by the Israeli security forces, which are not only a violation of human rights norms and contrary to the rule of law, but are also damaging for the relationship between the parties and therefore obstacles to peace, and urges the Government of Israel to respect international law and cease this practice;
- 4. *Expresses its grave concern* at the closures of and within the Palestinian territories, which contribute together with other factors to the unrest and violence that have been prevailing in the zone for several months, calls upon the Government of Israel immediately to put an end to the practice of closures and reiterates that collective punishment is prohibited under international law;
- 5. Expresses its concern at the large number of persons, including children, who have been detained during recent months and at the continued detention of some detainees without any criminal charges having been brought against them;
- 6. Expresses its grave concern at the Israeli settlement activities in the occupied territories, including Jerusalem, such as the construction of new settlements and the expansion of existing ones, the expropriation of land, the biased administration of water resources, the construction of roads and house demolitions, all of which violate human rights and international humanitarian law, besides being major obstacles to peace, urges the Government of Israel to implement the relevant United Nations resolutions as well as the recommendation of the Commission regarding the Israeli settlements, and calls on the Israeli security forces to ensure the protection of the population in the occupied territories, including preventing, investigating and prosecuting acts of violence committed by Israeli settlers;
- 7. Reaffirms that the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War is applicable to the Palestinian territory and other Arab territories occupied by Israel since 1967, including East Jerusalem, and considers any change in the geographical and demographic status of the city of East Jerusalem from its situation prior to the June 1967 war to be illegal and void;
- 8. Condemns the expropriation of Palestinian homes in Jerusalem, the revocation of identity cards of the citizens of the Palestinian city of Jerusalem, the imposition of fabricated and exorbitant taxes with the aim of forcing the Palestinian citizens of Jerusalem, who cannot afford to pay these high taxes, out of their homes and out of their city, preparing in this way the path for the Judaization of Jerusalem, and calls upon the Government of Israel to put an end immediately to these practices;
- 9. Also condemns the use of torture against Palestinians during interrogation, as it constitutes a grave breach of the principles of international humanitarian law and the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, and calls upon the Government of Israel to put an end immediately to such practices;

- 10. Welcomes the efforts of the Government of Switzerland, in its capacity as depositary of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War, to consult the High Contracting Parties to the Convention on the reconvening of the adjourned Conference of the High Contracting Parties to the Fourth Geneva Convention, and looks forward to their early conclusion on the basis of agreement by a large majority of the Parties and in accordance with the statement adopted on 15 July 1999 by the Conference upon adjournment, with a view to fulfilling the joint obligation of the High Contracting Parties to ensure respect for the Convention and to improve the deteriorating humanitarian situation on the ground;
- 11. Calls upon Israel, the occupying Power, to desist from all forms of violation of human rights in the occupied Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem, and other occupied Arab territories, and to respect the bases of international law, the principles of international humanitarian law, its international commitments and the agreements it signed with the Palestine Liberation Organization;
- 12. Also calls upon Israel to withdraw from the Palestinian territory, including East Jerusalem, occupied since 1967, in accordance with the relevant resolutions of the United Nations and the Commission on Human Rights, as a basic condition for achieving a just, lasting and comprehensive peace in the Middle East;
- 13. Calls upon the relevant United Nations organs urgently to consider the best ways to provide the necessary international protection for the Palestinian people until the cessation of the Israeli occupation of its territories;
- 14. Welcomes the recommendations contained in the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and those contained in the report of the Human Rights Inquiry Commission, urges the Government of Israel to implement them and requests the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied by Israel since 1967, acting as a monitoring mechanism, to follow up on the implementation of those recommendations and to submit reports thereon to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 15. Requests the Secretary-General to bring the present resolution to the attention of the Government of Israel and all other Governments, the competent United Nations organs, the specialized agencies, regional intergovernmental organizations and international humanitarian organizations, to disseminate it on the widest possible scale and to report on its implementation by the Government of Israel to the Commission on Human Rights at its fifty-eighth session;
- 16. Also requests the Secretary-General to provide the Commission on Human Rights with all United Nations reports issued between the sessions of the Commission that deal with the conditions in which the citizens of the Palestinian and other occupied Arab Territories are living under the Israeli occupation;

17. *Decides* to consider this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item, as a matter of high priority.

61st meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 28 votes to 2, with 22 abstentions. See chap. VIII.]

2001/8. Israeli settlements in the occupied Arab territories

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms as stated in the Charter of the United Nations and as elaborated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other applicable instruments,

Mindful that Israel is a party to the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War, of 12 August 1949, which is applicable to Palestinian and all Arab territories occupied by Israel since 1967, including East Jerusalem,

Recalling its previous resolutions, most recently resolution 2000/8 of 17 April 2000, in which, *inter alia*, it reaffirmed the illegality of the Israeli settlements in the occupied territories,

Expressing its concern regarding the security risks related to the presence of the settlements in the occupied territories,

1. Welcomes:

- (a) The reports of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied by Israel since 1967 (E/CN.4/S-5/3 and E/CN.4/2001/30) and calls upon the Government of Israel to cooperate with the Special Rapporteur to allow him fully to discharge his mandate;
- (b) The report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on her visit to the occupied Palestinian territories, Israel, Egypt and Jordan from 8 to 16 November 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/114);
- (c) The report of the Human Rights Inquiry Commission established pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution S-5/1 of 19 October 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/121);
 - 2. Expresses its grave concern:
- (a) At the continuing Israeli settlement activities, including the expansion of the settlements, the installation of settlers in the occupied territories, the expropriation of land, the

demolition of houses, the confiscation of property, the expulsion of Palestinians and the construction of bypass roads, which change the physical character and demographic composition of the occupied territories, including East Jerusalem, since all these actions are illegal, constitute a violation of the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War and are a major obstacle to peace;

- (b) At and strongly condemns all acts of terrorism and violence;
- (c) At the closures of and within the Palestinian territories which contribute, together with other factors, to the unrest and violence that have been prevailing in the zone for several months;
 - 3. *Urges* the Government of Israel:
- (a) To comply fully with the previous Commission resolutions on the subject, most recently resolution 2000/8 of 17 April 2000;
- (b) To take concrete actions to fulfil its obligations and cease completely its policy of expanding the settlements and related activities in the occupied territories, including East Jerusalem;
 - (c) To forgo and prevent any new installation of settlers in the occupied territories;
- (d) To implement the recommendations regarding the settlements made by the High Commissioner in her report, including to ensure that the Israeli security forces protect Palestinians from violence perpetrated by Israeli settlers;
- 4. *Urges* the parties to create the conditions which will allow the resumption of the peace process, building on the full implementation of previous agreements and the progress that was made on all major issues during the last negotiations between the Government of Israel and the Palestinian Authority, in order to find a just and lasting peace based on Security Council resolutions 242 (1967) of 22 November 1967 and 338 (1973) of 22 October 1973 and other relevant United Nations resolutions, including the inadmissibility of acquisition of territory by war, the need for every State in the area to be able to live in security, and the principle of land for peace;
 - 5. Decides to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session.

6lst meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 50 votes to 1, with 1 abstention. See chap. VIII.]

2001/9. The right to development

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, expressing in particular the determination to promote social progress and better standards of life in larger freedom as well as to employ international mechanisms for the promotion of the economic and social advancement of all peoples,

Recalling all its previous resolutions relating to the right to development, in particular resolutions 1996/15 of 11 April 1996, 1997/72 of 16 April 1997, 1998/72 of 22 April 1998, 1999/79 of 28 April 1999 and 2000/5 of 13 April 2000, as well as those of the General Assembly, and welcoming Assembly resolution 55/108 of 4 December 2000,

Recalling also that the Declaration on the Right to Development adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 41/128 of 4 December 1986 confirmed that the right to development is an inalienable human right and that equality of opportunity for development is a prerogative both of nations and of individuals, who make up nations,

Recalling further that the outcome of the World Conference on Human Rights, held in Vienna in 1993, the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23), reaffirmed the right to development as a universal and inalienable right and an integral part of all fundamental human rights,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 52/187 of 18 December 1997 on the implementation of the Programme of Action for the Least Developed Countries for the 1990s and noting that the European Union will host the Third United Nations Conference on Least Developed Countries in May 2001,

Welcoming General Assembly resolution 55/245 of 21 March 2001 on the substantive preparatory process and the high-level international intergovernmental event on financing for development, and the fact that Mexico will host the International Conference on Financing for Development in 2002,

Taking note of the three studies prepared by the independent expert on the right to development and his proposed possible approaches to the operationalization of the right to development,

Taking note also of the report of the Open-ended working group established to monitor and review progress made in the promotion and implementation of the right to development (E/CN.4/2001/26) and of the Chairperson's conclusions on the issue, as well as the comments submitted thereon.

Welcoming the commitment made by heads of State and Government in the United Nations Millennium Declaration to make the right to development a reality for everyone and their resolve to create an environment - at the national and global levels alike - which is

conducive to development and to the elimination of poverty, and their commitment to spare no effort to promote good governance and democracy and to strengthen the rule of law as well as respect for all universally recognized human rights and fundamental freedoms, including the right to development,

Underlining that meeting the objectives of good governance also depends on good governance at the international level and on transparency in the financial, monetary and trading systems and an open, equitable, rules-based, predictable and non-discriminatory multilateral trading and financial system,

Underlining also the fact that realization of the right to development requires effective development policies at the national level as well as equitable economic relations and a favourable economic environment at the international level,

Underlining further the important role of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in the promotion and protection of the right to development,

Recalling the need for coordination and cooperation throughout the United Nations system for a more effective promotion and realization of the right to development,

Noting the outcome of the South Summit of the Group of Seventy-seven held in Havana from 10 to 14 April 2000 (A/55/74, annexes) relating to the realization of the right to development,

- 1. Welcomes the holding of two sessions of the Working Group on the Right to Development (18-22 September 2000 and 29 January-2 February 2001) which focused on certain issues, as reflected in the report of the Working Group on the Right to Development, and emphasizes the need to continue deliberations on the right to development in all its aspects, inter alia on the basis of the report of the Working Group on the Right to Development and the Chairperson's conclusions, as well as comments submitted thereon;
- 2. *Emphasizes* that on the basis of the text of the Declaration on the Right to Development, several resolutions and declarations adopted by consensus at subsequent international conferences and the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, it should now be possible to reach consensus on the full implementation of the right to development;
- 3. Expresses its appreciation of the reports of the independent expert on the right to development and his additional work on and clarifications of the "development compact" proposal, which contributed to a better understanding of this proposal, while recognizing that further clarification is still needed;
- 4. Recognizes that any "development compact" would be of a voluntary nature for all parties involved and that its content would be defined on a case-by-case basis and be adapted to the priorities and realities of any country willing to conclude such a compact, which would need the adherence and the support of all international actors involved in its implementation;

- 5. Requests the independent expert to clarify further the proposed "development compact", taking into consideration views expressed during the two sessions of the Working Group on the Right to Development and in broad consultation with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and United Nations funds and programmes, as well as specialized agencies, relevant international and regional organizations, non-governmental organizations and, in particular, those actors and States interested in developing pilot projects in this regard, keeping in mind:
- (a) The ongoing bilateral, regional and multilateral development cooperation programmes;
 - (b) The formulation of an operational model for the "development compact";
- (c) The views of concerned international organizations and agencies and relevant regional institutions and actors;
- (d) The need to ensure the added value of the "development compact" to and complementarity with the relevant existing mechanisms;
- (e) The need to address and remedy the national and international dimensions of corruption;
- (f) The need for country-specific studies both from a national and an international perspective;
- 6. *Reaffirms* that States have the primary responsibility for the creation of national and international conditions favourable to the realization of the right to development and that they are committed to cooperating with each other to that end;
- 7. Also reaffirms that the realization of the right to development is essential to the implementation of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, which regards all human rights as universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated, and which also places the human person at the centre of development and recognizes that while development facilitates the enjoyment of all human rights, the lack of development may not be invoked to justify the abridgement of internationally recognized human rights;
- 8. Recognizes that, in order to realize the right to development, national action and international cooperation must reinforce each other in a manner that goes beyond the measures for realizing each individual right, and also recognizes that international cooperation for the realization of the right to development should be conducted in a spirit of a partnership, in full respect of all human rights, which are universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated;
- 9. Also recognizes that for many developing countries, the realization of the rights to, *inter alia*, food, health and education may be important development entry points to the realization of the right to development and that, in this context, the independent expert's concept

of a "development compact" intends to give expression to some basic tenets of the interdependence of all human rights and national ownership of development strategies and development programmes, as well as the importance of international cooperation;

- 10. Further recognizes the need for a discussion on a suitable permanent follow-up mechanism for the implementation of the right to development in the future, in the Working Group on the Right to Development;
- 11. Stresses the necessity of establishing, at the national level, an enabling legal, political, economic and social environment for the realization of the right to development and emphasizes the importance of democratic, participatory, transparent and accountable governance, as well as the need for efficient national mechanisms such as national human rights commissions, to ensure respect for civil, economic, cultural, political and social rights, without any distinction;
- 12. Also stresses the need to prevent, address and take effective action against corruption, at both the national and international levels, including by establishing a firm legal structure for eradicating corruption, and urges States to take all necessary measures to that end;
- 13. *Recognizes* the importance of the role of the State, civil society, free and independent media, national institutions, the private sector and other relevant institutions in the realization of the right to development, and also recognizes a need to continue discussion on this subject;
- 14. Affirms the role of women in the process of the realization of the right to development, including their role as active actors in and beneficiaries of development, and that further actions in this context are needed to ensure the participation of women on equal terms with men in all fields in the realization of the right to development;
- 15. Also affirms the promotion of gender equality and the empowerment of women as effective means to combat poverty, hunger and disease and to stimulate sustainable development, as well as the importance of equal rights and opportunities for women and men, including property rights for women and their access to bank loans, mortgages and other forms of financial credit, taking into account the best practices of micro-credit in different parts of the world;
- 16. Underlines that in the process of the realization of the right to development, special attention should be given to persons belonging to minorities, whether national, ethnic, religious or linguistic, as well as to persons belonging to vulnerable groups, for instance elderly people, indigenous people, persons facing discrimination on multiple grounds, Roma, migrants, persons with disabilities, children and persons infected with human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, and that this attention should have a gender perspective;
- 17. Affirms in this context that attention should also be given to the right to development of children, with special attention to the rights of the girl child;

- 18. *Acknowledges* the need to continue discussion on the role of civil society in the realization of the right to development and the role of national institutions in this respect;
- 19. *Reaffirms* the need for States to cooperate with each other in ensuring development and eliminating obstacles to development and recognizes the importance of the international community promoting effective international cooperation for the realization of the right to development, and also recognizes that lasting progress towards the implementation of the right to development requires effective development policies at the national level, as well as equitable economic relations and a favourable economic environment at the international level;
- 20. Reiterates that the gap between developed and developing countries remains unacceptably wide, that developing countries continue to face difficulties in participating in the globalization process and that many risk being marginalized and effectively excluded from its benefits:
- 21. *Recognizes*, while bearing in mind the existing efforts in this respect, that it is necessary to enhance efforts to consider and evaluate the impact of international economic and financial issues on the enjoyment of human rights, such as:
 - (a) International trade issues;
 - (b) Access to technology;
 - (c) Good governance and equity at the international level;
 - (*d*) Debt burden;
- 22. Requests the independent expert to prepare, in consultation with all relevant United Nations agencies and the Bretton Woods institutions, a preliminary study on the impact of these issues on the enjoyment of human rights, starting by analysing the existing efforts and means of assessing and evaluating such an impact, for consideration by the Working Group on the Right to Development at its future sessions;
- 23. *Requests* the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the United Nations specialized agencies, funds and programmes, the international financial institutions and other relevant actors to collaborate with the independent expert in the fulfilment of his mandate and encourages further cooperation;
- 24. Requests the Working Group on the Right to Development as well as the independent expert, to consider, as appropriate, the relevant economic and developmental outcomes of the international conferences, *inter alia* the South Summit of the Group of Seventy-seven and the follow-up thereto, in elaborating their recommendations for the implementation of the right to development;

25. Recommends, in view of the urgent need to make further progress towards the realization of the right to development as elaborated in the Declaration on the Right to Development, and based on the established practice of the Commission, the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 4.]

26. *Decides* to continue consideration of the issue of the right to development, as a matter of priority, at its fifty-eighth session.

62nd meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 48 votes to 2, with 3 abstentions. See chap. VII.]

2001/10. Human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel

The Commission on Human Rights,

Taking note of the report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of Security Council resolutions 425 (1978) and 426 (1978) of 19 March 1978 (S/2000/460), in particular paragraphs 7, 8, 12, 14, 16, 17, 21 and 48, endorsed by the Council (S/PRST/2000/18),

Gravely concerned at the persistent violation by Israel of the principles of international law regarding the protection of human rights, in particular those contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, as well as the grave violation of the relevant provisions of international humanitarian law contained in the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War, of 12 August 1949, and the Additional Protocols thereto,

Censuring breaches by Israel of the sovereignty and territorial integrity of Lebanon,

Hoping that the efforts to implement the Security Council resolutions on the occupied Arab territories, including resolutions 242 (1967) of 22 November 1967 and 338 (1973) of 22 October 1973, and to achieve peace in the Middle East will put an end to the violations of human rights being committed by Israel and that the peace negotiations will be resumed and conducted with a view to reaching a just and comprehensive peace in the region,

Gravely concerned about the tens of thousands of landmines left behind by Israel in southern Lebanon, which have so far caused dozens of deaths and injuries to civilians, including women and children,

Deploring the failure of the Government of Israel to submit all the maps showing the deployment of those landmines,

Condemning the persistent detention, ill-treatment and torture by Israel of many Lebanese civilians who were abducted and detained in Lebanon and subsequently transferred to prisons in Israel,

Expressing its indignation at the ruling handed down on 4 March 1998 by the Supreme Court of Israel permitting the Israeli authorities to retain Lebanese detainees in Israeli prisons without trial and to hold them as hostages and for bargaining purposes and the recent renewal of their incommunicado detention, which constitutes a flagrant violation of the principles of human rights,

Reaffirming its resolution 2000/16 of 18 April 2000, and expressing its deep regret at the failure of the Government of Israel to implement that resolution fully,

- 1. *Calls upon* the Government of Israel to comply with the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of victims of war, and the Additional Protocols thereto;
- 2. Also calls upon the Government of Israel to refrain from holding the detained Lebanese citizens incarcerated in its prisons as hostages for bargaining purposes and to release them immediately, in compliance with all the Geneva Conventions and other provisions of international law;
- 3. Affirms the obligation of Israel to commit itself to allowing the International Committee of the Red Cross to visit the detainees regularly, as well as to allowing other international humanitarian organizations to do so and to verify their sanitary and humanitarian conditions and, in particular, the circumstances of their detention;
- 4. Calls upon the Government of Israel to submit to the United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon all the maps of the landmine fields laid throughout the civilian villages, fields and farms, causing casualties among civilians, including children and women, and obstructing the resumption of normal life in the area;
 - 5. *Requests* the Secretary-General:
- (a) To bring the present resolution to the attention of the Government of Israel and to call upon it to comply with its provisions;
- (b) To report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the results of his efforts in this regard;
- 6. *Decides* to continue its consideration of the situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel at its fifty-eighth session.

62nd meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 33 votes to 1, with 19 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/11. Cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reiterating its concern at the continued reports of intimidation and reprisals against private individuals and groups who seek to cooperate with the United Nations and representatives of its human rights bodies,

Also concerned at reports about incidents where private individuals have been hampered in their efforts to avail themselves of procedures established under United Nations auspices for the protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Recalling its resolution 2000/22 of 18 April 2000 and taking note of the report of the Secretary-General on the question (E/CN.4/2001/34),

- 1. *Urges* Governments to refrain from all acts of intimidation or reprisal against:
- (a) Those who seek to cooperate or have cooperated with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies, or who have provided testimony or information to them;
- (b) Those who avail or have availed themselves of procedures established under United Nations auspices for the protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms and all those who have provided legal assistance to them for this purpose;
- (c) Those who submit or have submitted communications under procedures established by human rights instruments;
 - (d) Those who are relatives of victims of human rights violations;
- 2. Requests all representatives of United Nations human rights bodies, as well as treaty bodies monitoring the observance of human rights, to continue to take urgent steps, in conformity with their mandates, to help prevent the hampering of access to United Nations human rights procedures in any way;
- 3. Also requests all representatives of United Nations human rights bodies, as well as treaty bodies monitoring the observance of human rights, to continue to take urgent steps, in conformity with their mandates, to help prevent the occurrence of such intimidation and reprisals;
- 4. *Further requests* such representatives and treaty bodies to continue to include in their respective reports to the Commission on Human Rights, the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights or the General Assembly a reference to allegations of intimidation or reprisal and of hampering of access to United Nations human rights procedures, as well as an account of action taken by them in this regard;

- 5. *Requests* the Secretary-General to draw the attention of such representatives and treaty bodies to the present resolution;
- 6. *Invites* the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session a report containing a compilation and analysis of any available information, from all appropriate sources, on alleged reprisals against the persons referred to in paragraph 1 above;
 - 7. *Decides* to consider the question again at its fifty-eighth session.

63rd meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. IX.]

2001/12. Situation of human rights in parts of South-Eastern Europe

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights, the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and its Protocol, the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, the Declaration on the Elimination of All Forms of Intolerance and of Discrimination Based on Religion or Belief, the principles and commitments undertaken by participating States of the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, the Helsinki Final Act, and accepted humanitarian rules, as set out in the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of victims of war,

Recalling all relevant resolutions on this subject, in particular its resolution 2000/26 of 18 April 2000, General Assembly resolution 55/113 of 4 December 2000, as well as all Security Council resolutions and statements,

Expressing its full support for and encouraging efforts towards the full implementation of commitments contained in the General Framework Agreement for Peace in Bosnia and Herzegovina and the annexes thereto (collectively called the "Peace Agreement") which, inter alia, committed the parties in Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to respect fully human rights and, in particular, the right of return of refugees and internally displaced persons and to provide information through the tracing mechanisms of the International Committee of the Red Cross on all persons unaccounted for,

Welcoming the progress achieved on human rights and democratic principles in Croatia and encouraging Croatian authorities to continue to undertake special efforts in the field of implementing the return and accommodation of internally displaced persons and minority refugees, including by establishing a legal framework and mechanism for property restitution,

- 1. *Notes* new opportunities for democratic forces and non-governmental organizations to work effectively, and strongly supports their efforts to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms, and strengthen civil society, and notes in this regard the opportunities afforded by the Stability Pact for South-Eastern Europe;
- 2. Also notes the importance of respect for the human rights of all persons belonging to minorities;
- 3. Welcomes all contributions of the Office of the High Representative, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and other parts of the United Nations system, the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, the Council of Europe, the European Union Monitoring Mission, the International Committee of the Red Cross, Governments and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations in the area;
- 4. Recalls Security Council resolutions 1160 (1998) of 31 March 1998, 1199 (1998) of 23 September 1998, 1203 (1998) of 24 October 1998, 1239 (1999) of 14 May 1999 and 1244 (1999) of 10 June 1999 and the general principles annexed thereto, takes note of Council resolution 1345 (2001) of 21 March 2001, and General Assembly resolution 55/113 of 4 December 2000, and recalls previous relevant Assembly resolutions, the statement made on 24 March 1998 by the Chairman of the Commission at its fifty-fourth session, Commission resolutions 1998/79 of 22 April 1998, 1999/2 of 13 April 1999 and 2000/26 of 18 April 2000 and the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to the Bureau of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Kosovo (Federal Republic of Yugoslavia) of 27 September 1999;
- 5. *Notes* that varying degrees of progress have been made in the human rights situation in all States and by all parties to the Peace Agreement, but that additional efforts are required in several areas;
- 6. Stresses the crucial role of respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms in the successful implementation of the Peace Agreement and underlines the obligations of all parties under the Peace Agreement to act in accordance with international human rights law, international humanitarian law and refugee law, and to secure for all persons within their jurisdiction the highest level of protection for human rights and fundamental freedoms, including civil and political rights;
- 7. *Encourages* the international community to continue providing voluntary contributions to meet the region's pressing human rights and humanitarian needs;
- 8. *Stresses* the need for enhanced international efforts to foster and effect the prompt and voluntary return of displaced persons and refugees in safety and dignity;

- 9. *Condemns* all trafficking in persons, including women and children, and calls upon all authorities in the region, in cooperation with international authorities, to protect the human rights of the victims and to take all steps necessary to prevent and eliminate trafficking in order to combat actively this criminal practice;
- 10. Urges all States and parties to the Peace Agreement to meet their obligations to cooperate fully with the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, as required by Security Council resolution 827 (1993) of 25 May 1993 and all subsequent relevant resolutions, and in particular to comply with their obligations to arrest and transfer to the custody of the Tribunal all those indicted persons present in their territories or under their control;
- 11. *Urges* all States and the Secretary-General to support the Tribunal to the fullest extent possible, in particular by helping to ensure that victims and witnesses testifying against persons indicted by the Tribunal are given adequate protection;
- 12. Reiterates its call upon all States and parties to the Peace Agreement to ensure that the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms and effective, functioning democratic institutions will be central elements in developing civilian structures consistent with the territorial integrity of all States in the region, within their internationally recognized borders, taking fully into account all relevant Security Council resolutions;
- 13. *Encourages* all States and parties in the region to provide information through the tracing mechanisms of the International Committee of the Red Cross on all persons unaccounted for, and to cooperate fully with the International Committee in its efforts to determine their identities, whereabouts and fate;
- 14. *Welcomes* the establishment of the Missing Persons Institute on 15 August 2000 in Sarajevo by the International Commission on Missing Persons and supports the programmes put in place to resolve the continuing problem of missing persons;
- 15. Notes some progress by Bosnia and Herzegovina implementation of the Peace Agreement, welcomes the establishment of the state-level and Federation governments comprised of non-nationalist parties in Bosnia and Herzegovina for the first time since 1992, and strongly condemns both the attempt of Croatian Democratic Union of Bosnia and Herzegovina extremists to undermine legitimately elected and constitutional bodies, as well as recent violent attacks by Bosnian Croat extremists in Mostar and other places against representatives of the international community;
- 16. Also notes progress on refugee returns in Bosnia and Herzegovina, while calling upon all authorities to support actively the return process for minority refugees and internally displaced persons, especially in urban areas, *inter alia*, through the eviction of illegal occupants of housing intended for internally displaced persons and refugees, in particular in areas of the Republika Srpska with a majority population of Bosnian Serbs and areas of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina with a majority population of Bosnian Croats;

- 17. Condemns the continued harassment of returning minority refugees and internally displaced persons wherever it occurs in Bosnia and Herzegovina, including the destruction of their homes and other acts designed to discourage their voluntary return;
- 18. Also condemns recurrent instances of religious discrimination and the denial to persons belonging to religious minorities of their rights to practise their faiths and rebuild religious sites in Bosnia and Herzegovina and calls upon the authorities to promote freedom of religion;
- 19. Calls upon the authorities of Bosnia and Herzegovina to implement the decisions of the High Representative, the Commission on Human Rights for Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Office of the Human Rights Ombudsman and the Human Rights Chamber, the Constitutional Court of Bosnia and Herzegovina and the Commission for Real Property Claims of Refugees and Displaced Persons, as well as the recommendations of the High Representative and the International Labour Organization, to establish a fully staffed and funded judiciary which effectively protects the rights and fundamental freedoms of all citizens, to adopt an effective and fair election law in cooperation with the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, to cooperate fully with the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, in particular for the apprehension of former Republika Srpska President Radovan Karadzic and former Bosnian Serb General Ratko Mladic, to promote an independent media free from political influence, to work to expand and improve the State Border Service to stem the flow of illegal immigration and trafficking in human beings, including women and children, as well as enabling the Service to identify those persons in need of protection, such as asylum-seekers and trafficked persons, and to provide them with the protection they require, to support the work of the State institutions and to implement fully the actions mandated by the Peace Implementation Council at its ministerial meeting in Brussels on 23 and 24 May 2000;
- 20. Welcomes the political change undertaken by the democratically elected Government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, which shows the clear decision of the people to choose democracy, respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms and integration into the international community over dictatorship and isolation; notes legislation introduced in this area; and encourages the new authorities to continue to make progress in ensuring respect for the rule of law and for the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms, and processes of reconciliation and regional cooperation;
- 21. Also welcomes the admission of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to membership in the United Nations and other international organizations, the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe and the Stability Pact for South-Eastern Europe;
- 22. Further welcomes the commitment of, and encourages efforts by, the new democratic Government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to investigate past abuses of human rights, including violations of human rights of individuals belonging to ethnic groups in Kosovo; repression and harassment of peaceful political activists; illegal and/or hidden detentions; and other violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms;

- Welcomes the commitment by the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to implement fully, and in good faith, its obligations under the Peace Agreement and to abide by the terms of Security Council resolution 1244 (1999), and supports the cooperation of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the International Committee of the Red Cross and other humanitarian organizations to alleviate the suffering of refugees and internally displaced persons, to protect them and to assist their voluntary return to their homes in safety and with dignity;
- 24. *Calls upon* all authorities of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to respect the rights of all persons belonging to any of its national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities;
- 25. Welcomes the commitment of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to cooperate with the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, notes the first steps it has undertaken in this regard and urges all authorities of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to comply fully with their obligations to cooperate with the Tribunal, in particular concerning the apprehension and extradition of persons indicted for war crimes;
- 26. Expresses its concern at the continued detention in Serbia of political prisoners of Kosovar Albanian or other origins in violation of international human rights law and standards, and welcomes a recently passed amnesty law to release some prisoners, but notes that these first steps are insufficient in that they do not yet address the need to release all political prisoners;
- 27. Strongly condemns extremist violence in certain municipalities in southern Serbia and welcomes the plan of the Federal and Republic Governments to resolve the crisis in these municipalities peacefully, including political and economic reform designed to reintegrate the ethnic Albanian population as full members of civil society, and calls for a rapid implementation of the plan;
- 28. Welcomes the open and democratic approach of the Montenegrin and Serbian authorities regarding the negotiations on redefined constitutional relations between the two republics, within an overall federal framework, ensuring the democratic legitimacy of the outcome, while avoiding unilateral action which could jeopardize the negotiation process and could have an impact on the enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- 29. *Urges* the Montenegrin authorities fully to respect accepted democratic norms in connection with the parliamentary elections of 22 April 2001, including respect for free media and the granting of equal access to all relevant parties at public media outlets;
- 30. *Underlines* the obligation of the authorities of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia and all parties in Kosovo to cooperate fully in the implementation of Security Council resolution 1244 (1999) and the general principles on the political solution to the Kosovo crisis adopted on 6 May 1999 and annexed to that resolution;
- 31. *Reaffirms* that the human rights and humanitarian situation in Kosovo shall be addressed within the framework of a political solution based and built upon the general principles set out in the annex to Security Council resolution 1244 (1999);

- 32. Condemns all violations of human rights in Kosovo that have affected all ethnic groups there stresses the importance of the peaceful return, in safety and dignity, of refugees and of all displaced persons, condemns the perpetuation of violence and intimidation against ethnic minorities and other acts designed to discourage the voluntary return of displaced persons and calls upon the authorities of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, and all local Kosovo ethnic Serb and Albanian leaders, to provide information on the fate and the whereabouts of the high number of missing persons from Kosovo, including Serbs reported missing in Kosovo;
- 33. *Urges* all ethnic leaders in Kosovo to take concrete action at the community level to prevent ethnic violence, and to engage in and support efforts to create conditions for the safe, sustainable and dignified return of displaced minority communities;
- 34. Welcomes the efforts of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in Kosovo, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, the United Nations Interim Administration Mission in Kosovo, and the Kosovo Force, stresses the urgent need for all to recognize and cooperate with the Mission and the Force in building common institutions, especially an independent and impartial judicial system, and calls upon all parties in Kosovo and the authorities of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to cooperate fully with the Mission in the fulfilment of their respective mandates and to ensure full respect for all human rights and fundamental freedoms and democratic norms in Kosovo, including the right to freedom of opinion and non-violent expression for all points of view, inter alia through free, independent media, and the right to religious freedom;
- 35. Calls upon Kosovar Albanian political leaders and leaders of the Albanian community in southern Serbia publicly to condemn violence and ethnic intolerance and to use their influence to block support for extremists in southern Serbia and in The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia as a means to secure peace and the protection of human rights;
- 36. Notes with concern continued ethnic violence, particularly in Mitrovica, and calls for the support of the Mission strategy for Mitrovica, calls on all sides, working closely with international authorities, to end politically and ethnically related violence, urges the authorities of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to use their influence positively to help resolve the situation and calls for the establishment of freedom of movement in Mitrovica and enhanced security for minorities across the province;
- 37. Urges all parties in Kosovo to support and strengthen a multi-ethnic and democratic society that respects the rights of all persons belonging to minorities and that includes them in all provisional self-governing institutions in Kosovo, and to support fully the Mission in this regard, but notes with concern the ethnic Albanian violence that threatens to undermine international support for the establishment of Kosovo provisional self-government under Security Council resolution 1244 (1999);

- 38. Welcomes the progress concerning the establishment of provisional self-governing institutions and the rule of law in Kosovo, and encourages all authorities to pursue efforts aimed at the effective protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms, including the rights of persons belonging to national minorities, through the adoption and implementation of all appropriate measures;
- 39. *Thanks* the Special Rapporteur for his efforts to fulfil his mandate and takes note of his report (E/CN.4/2001/47 and Add.1);
- 40. *Requests* the Chairperson of the Commission to appoint for one year a special representative of the Commission with a mandate to examine the situation of human rights in Bosnia and Herzegovina and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia; in reporting on the human rights situation in Kosovo, the Special Representative should:
- (a) Consult closely with the international civilian presence, particularly representatives of the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe;
- (b) Closely monitor the situation, paying particular attention to those areas that remain a source of concern, including cooperation with the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, the release of unjustly detained prisoners, including Kosovar Albanians, the identification of persons missing as a result of conflict, the protection of minorities, trafficking in persons and the right of return of refugees and internally displaced persons;
- (c) Cooperate closely with the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights offices in Belgrade and Sarajevo and with her Special Envoy on persons deprived of liberty in connection with the Kosovo crisis in the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to avoid duplication of effort;
- 41. *Requests* the Special Representative to submit an interim report on his/her findings to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 42. *Calls upon* all Governments and all parties to cooperate fully with the Special Representative in carrying out his/her work;
 - 43. *Decides* to consider this matter further at its fifty-eighth session.

63rd meeting 18 April 2001
[Adopted by a roll-call vote of 41 votes to none, with 11 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/13. Situation of human rights in Afghanistan

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and accepted humanitarian rules, as set out in the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of victims of war and the Additional Protocols thereto of 1977,

Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to fulfil the obligations they have freely undertaken under the various international instruments,

Recalling that Afghanistan is a party to the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Geneva Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War, of 12 August 1949, and that it has signed the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women,

Recalling also its previous resolutions, the most recent being resolution 2000/18 of 18 April 2000, the relevant General Assembly resolutions, as well as the relevant resolutions and presidential statements of the Security Council, decisions of the Economic and Social Council and resolutions of the Commission on the Status of Women,

Affirming its sympathy and solidarity with the people of Afghanistan in the ongoing humanitarian crisis,

Expressing its grave concern at the failure of all Afghan parties, in particular the Taliban, to put an end to the conflict, which seriously threatens stability and peace in the region, and at the ethnic nature of the conflict,

Deploring the deteriorating economic and social conditions of women and girls in all areas of Afghanistan, in particular in areas under Taliban control, as documented by the continued and substantiated reports of grave violations of the human rights of women and girls, including all forms of discrimination against them, such as restrictions on access to health care, to many levels and types of education, to employment outside the home and, at times, to humanitarian aid, as well as restrictions on their freedom of movement,

Deeply concerned that, notwithstanding the desperate humanitarian situation in Afghanistan, which demands urgent action by the international community in terms of provision of relief assistance, serious difficulties relating to security and access impede the delivery of humanitarian relief to large sections of the population,

Recalling the agreement between the Taliban and the United Nations, signed on 23 October 1998, on the security of United Nations personnel in Afghanistan and urging its full implementation, and deeply disturbed by the continuing security threat to United Nations personnel and other humanitarian personnel, including locally engaged staff, and by the fact that the authorities continue to limit their access to affected populations in certain areas,

Convinced that the major contribution to improving the human rights situation in Afghanistan would be an immediate ceasefire followed by a negotiated settlement in line with the efforts aimed at the establishment of a broad-based, multi-ethnic and fully representative Government, and the effective participation of the people of Afghanistan in the governance of their country through freely chosen representatives,

Noting that in November 2000 both warring sides expressed their willingness to consider a negotiated solution to the conflict, and urging them to implement their stated commitment,

Recalling that the United Nations continues to play its central and impartial role in international initiatives towards a peaceful resolution of the Afghan conflict, and encouraging all efforts at the national, regional and international levels, in particular those of the "six plus two" group and the Organization of the Islamic Conference, the efforts by influential Afghan individuals and organizations, such as the "Rome process" launched by the former King, Zahir Shah, to convene a *loya jirgah* as a step in the process towards peace and a broad-based, multi-ethnic, fully representative government, all aimed at finding a comprehensive political solution to the continuing conflict through a broad-based dialogue involving all concerned actors,

Taking into account the report of the Special Adviser to the Secretary-General on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women on her visit to Afghanistan in November 1997,

Expressing deep concern at the lack of reconstruction in Afghanistan, at the serious deterioration of the situation of the country, in particular the grim situation in the health sector and the degradation of education standards, especially as far as women and girls are concerned, and at the deterioration of the situation with respect to agriculture and the food supply which threatens to lead to famine, caused by the continued conflict and the worst drought in three decades.

Taking note of General Assembly resolution 55/243 of 9 March 2001 and deeply concerned and appalled by the edict of 26 February 2001 issued by the Taliban, by the fact that the Taliban did not abide by its previous commitment to protect all of the Afghan cultural heritage and by the subsequent deliberate destruction of relics belonging to the common heritage of humankind, which is a grave violation of, *inter alia*, article 15, paragraph 2, of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and appreciating the efforts by various States and international organizations to prevent such destruction,

1. *Takes note* of the interim report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan (E/CN.4/2001/43 and Add.1) and the report of the Special

Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences (E/CN.4/2000/68/Add.4) and the conclusions and recommendations contained therein, and encourages both Special Rapporteurs to continue to fulfil their mandates;

- 2. Strongly condemns the mass killings and systematic human rights violations against civilians and persons deprived of their liberty for reasons related to the armed conflict, including in the areas of Mazar-e-Sharif, Bamian, Shiberghan and Maimana, as well as the reported massacre committed by the Taliban in January 2001 in Hazarajat, and notes with alarm the resumption by the Taliban of the wider conflict during the past summer, especially in the Taloqan area, resulting in the massive forced displacement of the civilian population, in particular women and children, in the Shamali Plains and north-eastern Afghanistan, and the indiscriminate destruction of their homes and agricultural land, thereby eliminating their source of income;
- 3. Condemns all interference with the delivery of humanitarian relief supplies and the substantial restrictions introduced by the Taliban on the operations of the United Nations and non-governmental organizations, and calls on all Afghan parties to ensure safe and unimpeded access for and to facilitate the delivery of humanitarian assistance, in particular the supply of food, medicines, shelter and health care, throughout Afghanistan;
 - 4. *Notes with deep concern:*
- (a) The continuing pattern of human rights violations in Afghanistan and that the country is therefore in a deep human rights crisis affecting every aspect of life;
- (b) The continuation of armed hostilities in Afghanistan and the complex nature of the conflict, including its ethnic, religious and political aspects, which have resulted in extensive human suffering and forced displacement, including on the grounds of ethnicity, and which hinder the return of the internally displaced to their homes;
- (c) The markedly increased flow and the continued displacement of millions of Afghan refugees to Pakistan, the Islamic Republic of Iran and other countries, while recognizing with appreciation efforts undertaken in host countries to ease the plight of Afghan refugees, inter alia in the fields of health and education, underlining the importance of the fulfilment of obligations under international human rights law with regard to asylum-seekers, and urging the international community to make funds available, recognizing the scale and severity of the problem and host countries to create conditions in which the existing and additional funding secured by relief agencies and non-governmental organizations can be disbursed to the most needy and newly arrived refugees, while continuing to provide assistance to internally displaced persons within Afghanistan;
- (d) The sharp deterioration of the humanitarian situation in Afghanistan, in particular in the Shamali Plains, the Panjshir Valley and the north-east of the country, and calls for the full implementation of the agreement on the security of United Nations personnel in Afghanistan;

(e) The recent reports, which have been denied by the Taliban, of summary executions of prisoners in areas held by the Taliban, in the north of Afghanistan and in Samangan Province, and calls upon the Taliban to cooperate with the Special Rapporteur in fully investigating these allegations;

5. Condemns:

- (a) The widespread violations and abuses of international human rights and humanitarian law, including the rights to life, liberty and security of person, freedom from torture and from other forms of cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, freedom of opinion, expression, religion, association and movement, and the conscription or enlistment of children or their use as participants in hostilities in violation of international standards;
- (b) The continuing grave violations of the human rights of women and girls, including all forms of discrimination against them, in all areas of Afghanistan, particularly in areas under the control of the Taliban where findings of further gross violations of the human rights of women and girls include abductions and kidnappings, as well as accounts of many instances of forced marriage and of trafficking;
- (c) The frequent practice of arbitrary arrest and detention and of summary trials, which have resulted in summary executions, throughout the country, and in particular the reported executions of civilians in Yakawlang by the Taliban forces;
- (d) The violations by the Taliban in Kandahar of United Nations immunity granted by the 23 October 1998 agreement, which compelled the United Nations to stop work in the area;
- (e) The delay in the trial of the alleged murderers of officials of the United Nations Special Mission to Afghanistan killed in Afghanistan in 1998 while on duty, and urges the Taliban promptly to set up the relevant legal proceedings;
- 6. Reiterates its condemnation of the killing of Iranian diplomats and the correspondent of the Islamic Republic News Agency by the Taliban, which constituted flagrant violations of established international law, as well as of the attacks on and killing of United Nations personnel in Taliban-held territories of Afghanistan, and calls upon the Taliban to fulfil its stated commitment to cooperate in urgent investigations of these heinous crimes and to bring those responsible to justice;

7. *Stresses*:

- (a) The need for national reconciliation and for the establishment of the rule of law, good governance and democracy in Afghanistan and, concurrently, the need for extensive rehabilitation and reconstruction;
- (b) In the same context, the need for humanitarian assistance from the international community as a means of averting further deterioration of the humanitarian situation;

8. *Urges* all States to respect the sovereignty, independence, territorial integrity and national unity of Afghanistan, to refrain from interfering in its internal affairs and to end immediately the supply of arms, ammunition, military equipment, fuel for military purposes, training or any other military support, including providing any foreign military personnel, to all parties to the conflict;

9. *Urges* all the Afghan parties:

- (a) To respect fully all human rights and fundamental freedoms of all, regardless of gender, ethnicity or religion, in accordance with international human rights instruments;
- (b) To cease hostilities immediately, to work and cooperate fully with the Personal Representative of the Secretary-General for Afghanistan and the Special Mission with a view to achieving a ceasefire and to implement the Tashkent Declaration on Fundamental Principles for a Peaceful Settlement of the Conflict in Afghanistan of 19 July 1999, thus laying the foundation for a comprehensive political solution leading to the voluntary return of displaced persons to their homes in safety and with dignity and to the establishment of a broad-based, multi-ethnic, fully representative government through the full exercise by the Afghan people of the right to self-determination;
- (c) To reaffirm publicly their commitment to international human rights and principles and to recognize, protect and promote all human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- (d) To respect fully international humanitarian law, to protect civilians, to halt the use of weapons against the civilian population, to refrain from the wanton destruction of food crops and civilian property, in particular homes, to stop the laying of landmines, especially anti-personnel mines, to fulfil their duty to cooperate with the United Nations mine action programme and to protect its personnel;
- (e) To prohibit the conscription or enlistment of children or their use as participants in hostilities in violation of international standards and to ensure the disarming, demobilization and reintegration into society of children;
- (f) To provide efficient and effective remedies to the victims of grave violations and abuses of human rights and of international humanitarian law and to bring the perpetrators to trial;
- (g) To fulfil their obligations and commitments regarding the safety of all personnel of diplomatic missions, the United Nations and other international organizations and non-governmental organizations, as well as of their premises in Afghanistan, and to cooperate, fully and without discrimination on grounds of gender, nationality or religion, with the United Nations and associated bodies, as well as with other humanitarian organizations, agencies and non-governmental organizations, in order to facilitate full resumption of their cooperation;

- (h) To treat all suspects and convicted or detained persons in accordance with relevant international instruments and to refrain from arbitrary detention of any person, including of civilian foreign nationals and non-criminal civilian and political prisoners, and urges their captors to release them;
- 10. *Urges* the Taliban to avoid any discrimination on the basis of ethnic origin against people wishing to leave the country and to seek asylum abroad;
- 11. *Urges* all the Afghan parties, and in particular the Taliban, to bring to an end without delay all violations of human rights of women and girls and to take urgent measures to ensure:
- (a) The repeal of all legislative and other measures which discriminate against women and girls and those which impede the realization of all their human rights;
- (b) The effective participation of women in civil, cultural, economic, political and social life throughout the country;
- (c) Respect for the equal right of women to work, and their reintegration in employment, including in the specialized agencies of the United Nations system and human rights organizations;
- (d) The equal right of women and girls to education without discrimination, the reopening of schools and the admission of women and girls to all levels of education;
- (e) Respect for the equal right of women and girls to security of person and that those responsible for physical attacks on women and girls be brought to justice;
 - (f) Respect for the freedom of movement of women and girls;
- (g) Respect for effective and equal access by women and girls to the facilities necessary to protect their right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health;
- 12. *Notes with appreciation* the activities carried out by the International Committee of the Red Cross and other humanitarian organizations throughout the territory of Afghanistan;
- 13. Recalls that it had invited the Secretary-General and the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to proceed without delay to investigate fully reports of mass killings of persons deprived of their liberty for reasons related to the armed conflict and of civilians, and of rape and cruel treatment in Afghanistan, expresses deep regret for the lack of cooperation by Afghan parties, calls upon the United Front and the Taliban to fulfil their stated commitment to cooperate with such investigations and, noting the summary of the report on the investigations, as a preliminary response, expresses its deep regret to all the parties for the unsatisfactory results;

14. *Welcomes* the deployment of the Civil Affairs Unit of the United Nations Special Mission to Afghanistan and its ongoing dialogue on political and human rights issues with high-ranking representatives of the local and regional authorities of both sides to the Afghan conflict;

15. *Invites*:

- (a) The Secretary-General to exert efforts to ensure a gender perspective in the selection of the staff of the Special Mission in order to enhance the role of women in preventive diplomacy, peacemaking and peacekeeping;
- (b) The Special Rapporteur to continue to pay special attention to the human rights of women and children and to incorporate fully a gender perspective in his report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- (c) The United Nations to offer, once national reconciliation is achieved and upon request of the governmental authorities, advisory services and technical assistance concerning, *inter alia*, the drafting of a constitution, which should embody internationally accepted human rights principles and provide for the holding of direct elections;
- 16. Appeals to Member States and to organizations and programmes of the United Nations system, specialized agencies and other international organizations, whenever the situation on the ground permits and as part of an overall effort to achieve peace:
- (a) To consider responding positively to the United Nations appeal for Afghanistan for 2001 and to provide, on a non-discriminatory basis, humanitarian assistance to the people of Afghanistan and to the Afghan refugees in the neighbouring countries, in a spirit of burden-sharing, and to take special care to ensure that this assistance is provided evenly throughout Afghan territory;
- (b) To intensify the programme for the removal of millions of anti-personnel mines laid in Afghanistan;
- (c) To ensure that all United Nations-assisted programmes in Afghanistan are formulated and coordinated in such a way as to promote and ensure the participation of women in those programmes, and that women benefit equally with men from such programmes;
- (d) To implement the recommendations of the inter-agency gender mission in Afghanistan under the leadership of the Special Adviser to the Secretary-General on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women;
- 17. Strongly calls upon the Taliban to abide by its previous commitments to protect Afghanistan's cultural heritage from all acts of vandalism, damage and theft, to withdraw its edict and to take immediate action to prevent the further destruction of the irreplaceable relics, monuments and artefacts of this heritage;

18. *Urges* all the Afghan parties to extend their cooperation to the Commission and its Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan and all those special rapporteurs who are seeking invitations, and to facilitate the access of the Special Rapporteur to all sectors of society and to all parts of the country;

19. *Requests*:

- (a) The Secretary-General to give all necessary assistance to the Special Rapporteur and to give due consideration to his recommendations in the formulation of United Nations activities in Afghanistan;
- (b) The High Commissioner to ensure a human rights presence in the context of the United Nations activities in Afghanistan in order to provide advice and training in the field of human rights to all the Afghan parties, as well as to the intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations active in the field;

20. Decides:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur for one year and requests the Special Rapporteur to report on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission on Human Rights at its fifty-eighth session;
- (b) To continue its consideration of the situation of human rights in Afghanistan, as a matter of high priority, at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

63rd meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. IX.]

2001/14. Situation of human rights in Iraq

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other human rights instruments,

Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to fulfil the obligations they have undertaken under the various international instruments in this field,

Mindful that Iraq is a party to the International Covenants on Human Rights, to other international human rights instruments and to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of victims of war,

Recalling:

- (a) Previous resolutions of the General Assembly and the Commission on the subject, most recently Assembly resolution 55/115 of 4 December 2000 and Commission resolution 2000/17 of 18 April 2000,
- Security Council resolution 686 (1991) of 2 March 1991, in which the Council called upon Iraq to release all Kuwaitis and nationals of other States who might still be held in detention, Council resolutions 687 (1991) of 3 April 1991, 688 (1991) of 5 April 1991, in which the Council demanded an end to repression of the Iraqi civilian population and insisted that Iraq cooperate with humanitarian organizations and that the human rights of all Iraqi citizens be respected, 986 (1995) of 14 April 1995, 1111 (1997) of 4 June 1997, 1129 (1997) of 12 September 1997, 1143 (1997) of 4 December 1997, 1153 (1998) of 20 February 1998, 1175 (1998) of 19 June 1998, 1210 (1998) of 24 November 1998, 1242 (1999) of 21 May 1999, 1266 (1999) of 4 October 1999, 1281 (1999) of 10 December 1999, 1302 (2000) of 8 June 2000 and 1330 (2000) of 5 December 2000, in which the Council authorized States to permit imports of Iragi oil in order to allow Irag to purchase humanitarian supplies, and 1284 (1999) of 17 December 1999, in which the Council, by means of a comprehensive approach to the situation in Iraq, *inter alia* removed the ceiling for the allowable import of Iraqi oil in order to increase the amount of revenue available for the purchase of humanitarian supplies, laid down new provisions and procedures designed to improve the implementation of the humanitarian programme and to further achievement in meeting the humanitarian needs of the Iraqi population and reiterated the obligation of Iraq to facilitate the repatriation of all Kuwaiti and third country nationals referred to in paragraph 30 of Council resolution 687 (1991),

Taking note of the concluding observations of the Human Rights Committee on its sixty-first to sixty-third sessions (A/53/40, Vol. I, paras. 90-111), the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination on its fifty-fourth and fifty-fifth sessions (A/54/18, paras. 337-361), the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights on its sixteenth and seventeenth sessions (E/1998/22-E/C.12/1997/10, paras. 245-283), the Committee on the Rights of the Child on its eighteenth to twenty-third sessions (A/55/41, paras. 304-333) and the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women on its twenty-second and twenty-third sessions (A/55/38, paras. 166-210) on the recent reports submitted to them by Iraq, in which these treaty monitoring bodies point to a wide range of human rights problems and express the view that the Government of Iraq remains bound by its treaty obligations, while pointing to the adverse effect of sanctions on the daily life of the population, in particular women and children.

Noting the observations of the Secretary-General in his first (S/2000/347 and Corr.1) and third (S/2000/1197) reports submitted pursuant to Security Council resolution 1284 (1999), in which the Secretary-General points out the continuing refusal of the Iraqi authorities to cooperate with his High-level Coordinator for Kuwaiti and third-country nationals and Kuwaiti property,

Reaffirming that it is the responsibility of the Government of Iraq to ensure the well-being of its entire population and the full enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms, concerned about the dire situation in Iraq, which affects the population, in particular

children, as stated in the reports of several United Nations human rights treaty bodies, and appealing to all concerned to fulfil their mutual obligations in the management of the humanitarian programme established by the Security Council in its resolution 986 (1995),

- 1. *Welcomes* the report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Iraq (E/CN.4/2001/42) and the observations on the general situation and the conclusions and recommendations contained therein;
- 2. *Notes with dismay* that there has been no improvement in the situation of human rights in the country;
 - 3. *Strongly condemns*:
- (a) The systematic, widespread and extremely grave violations of human rights and of international humanitarian law by the Government of Iraq, resulting in an all-pervasive repression and oppression sustained by broad-based discrimination and widespread terror;
- (b) The suppression of freedom of thought, expression, information, association, assembly and movement through fear of arrest, imprisonment, execution, expulsion, house demolition and other sanctions;
- (c) The repression faced by any kind of opposition, in particular the harassment and intimidation of and threats against Iraqi opponents living abroad and members of their families;
- (d) The widespread use of the death penalty in disregard of the provisions of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the United Nations safeguards;
- (e) Summary and arbitrary executions, including political killings and the continued so-called clean-out of prisons, the use of rape as a political tool, as well as enforced or involuntary disappearances, routinely practised arbitrary arrests and detention, and consistent and routine failure to respect due process and the rule of law;
- (f) Widespread, systematic torture and the maintaining of decrees prescribing cruel and inhuman punishment as a penalty for offences;
 - 4. *Calls upon* the Government of Iraq:
- (a) To abide by its freely undertaken obligations under international human rights treaties and international humanitarian law to respect and ensure the rights of all individuals, irrespective of their origin, ethnicity, gender or religion, within its territory and subject to its jurisdiction;
- (b) To put an end to all summary and arbitrary executions and to ensure that capital punishment will not be imposed for crimes other than the most serious and will not be pronounced in disregard of the obligations assumed under the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the provisions of United Nations safeguards;

- (c) To bring the actions of its military and security forces into conformity with the standards of international law, in particular those of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;
- (d) To cooperate with United Nations human rights mechanisms, in particular by inviting the Special Rapporteur to visit the country and allowing the stationing of human rights monitors throughout Iraq pursuant to the relevant resolutions of the General Assembly and the Commission;
- (e) To establish independence of the judiciary and abrogate all laws granting impunity to specified forces or persons killing or injuring individuals for any purpose beyond the administration of justice under the rule of law as prescribed by international standards;
- (f) To abrogate all decrees that prescribe cruel and inhuman punishment or treatment, including mutilation, and to ensure that torture and cruel punishment and treatment no longer occur;
- (g) To abrogate all laws and procedures, including Revolution Command Council Decree No. 840 of 4 November 1986, that penalize free expression, and to ensure that the genuine will of the people shall be the basis of authority of the State;
- (h) To ensure free exercise of political opposition and prevent intimidation and repression of political opponents and their families;
- (i) To respect the rights of all ethnic and religious groups and to cease immediately its continued repressive practices, including the practice of forced deportation and relocation, against the Iraqi Kurds, Assyrians and Turkmen, in particular their deportation from the regions of Kirkok and Khanaquin, and against the population of the southern marsh areas, where drainage projects have provoked environmental destruction and a deterioration of the situation of the civilian population, and to ensure the personal integrity and freedoms of all citizens, including the Shia population;
- establish the whereabouts and resolve the fate of the remaining several hundred missing persons, including prisoners of war, Kuwaiti nationals and third country nationals, victims of the illegal Iraqi occupation of Kuwait, to cooperate with the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances for that purpose, to cooperate with the High-level Coordinator of the Secretary-General for Kuwaiti and third-country nationals and Kuwaiti property, to pay compensation to the families of those who died or disappeared in the custody of the Iraqi authorities, through the mechanism established by the Security Council in resolution 692 (1991) of 20 May 1991, to release immediately all Kuwaitis and nationals of other States who may still be held in detention and inform families about the whereabouts of arrested persons, to provide information about death sentences imposed on prisoners of war and civilian detainees and to issue death certificates for deceased prisoners of war and civilian detainees;

- (k) To cooperate further with international aid agencies and non-governmental organizations to provide humanitarian assistance and monitoring in the northern and southern areas of the country;
- (*l*) To continue to cooperate in the implementation of Security Council resolutions 986 (1995), 1111 (1997), 1143 (1997), 1153 (1998), 1210 (1998), 1242 (1999), 1266 (1999), 1281 (1999), 1302 (2000) and 1330 (2000), as well as to cooperate, together with all concerned, in the implementation of the humanitarian sections of Council resolution 1284 (1999), to continue its efforts to ensure fully the timely and equitable distribution, without discrimination, to the Iraqi population, including in remote areas, of all humanitarian supplies purchased under the oil-for-food programme, in order to address effectively the needs of persons requiring special attention, such as children, pregnant women, the disabled, the elderly and the mentally ill, among others, further to facilitate the work of United Nations humanitarian personnel in Iraq by ensuring the free and unobstructed movement of observers throughout the country, as well as their free access, without any discrimination, to all the population, and to ensure that involuntarily displaced persons receive humanitarian assistance without the need to demonstrate that they have resided for six months at their places of temporary residence;
- (*m*) To cooperate in the identification of the minefields existing throughout Iraq, with a view to facilitating their marking and eventual clearing;

5. *Decides*:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur, as contained in Commission resolution 1991/74 of 6 March 1991 and subsequent resolutions, for a further year and requests the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report on the situation of human rights in Iraq to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, and also to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information;
- (b) To request the Secretary-General to continue to give all necessary assistance to the Special Rapporteur to enable him to discharge his mandate fully, and to approve the allocation of sufficient human and material resources for the sending of human rights monitors to such locations as would facilitate improved information flow and assessment and help in the independent verification of reports on the situation of human rights in Iraq;
- (c) To continue its consideration of the situation of human rights in Iraq at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

63rd meeting
18 April 2001
[Adopted by a roll-call vote of 30 votes to 3,
with 19 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/15. Situation of human rights in Myanmar

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms as stated in the Charter of the United Nations and as elaborated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other applicable human rights instruments,

Recognizing that the systematic violations of civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights by the Government of Myanmar have had a significant adverse effect on the health and welfare of the people of Myanmar,

Welcoming the cooperation extended to the Special Envoy of the Secretary-General as well as to the newly appointed Special Rapporteur during their respective recent visits to Myanmar, while regretting the failure of the Government of Myanmar to cooperate fully with some of the relevant United Nations mechanisms, in particular the former Special Rapporteur,

Aware that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that the will of the people shall be the basis of the authority of government and therefore gravely concerned that the Government of Myanmar still has not implemented its commitment to take all necessary steps towards democracy in the light of the results of the elections held in 1990,

Recalling the observation made by the former Special Rapporteur that the absence of respect for the rights pertaining to democratic governance is at the root of all the major violations of human rights in Myanmar,

Mindful that Myanmar is a party to the Convention on the Rights of the Child, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 on the protection of victims of war as well as the 1930 Convention concerning forced or compulsory labour (No. 29) and the 1948 Convention concerning freedom of association and protection of the right to organize (No. 87) of the International Labour Organization,

Recalling the resolution adopted by the International Labour Conference at its eighty-seventh session on the widespread use of forced labour in Myanmar, and also the resolution adopted by the Conference at its eighty-eighth session foreseeing a broad range of measures aimed at ensuring the observance by Myanmar of the recommendations of the Commission of Inquiry established to examine the application of the Convention concerning forced or compulsory labour, which came into effect on 30 November 2000,

Recalling previous resolutions of the General Assembly and the Commission on the subject, most recently Assembly resolution 55/112 of 4 December 2000 and Commission resolution 2000/23 of 18 April 2000,

1. Welcomes:

- (a) The interim report of the former Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Myanmar (A/55/359), the observations on the situation and the recommendations contained therein;
- (b) The initial observations presented to the Commission by the newly appointed Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Myanmar;
- (c) The assistance of the Government of Myanmar in facilitating the recent exploratory visit by the newly appointed Special Rapporteur to Myanmar, and hopes that the Special Rapporteur soon will be able to return to Myanmar in order to discharge his mandate fully;
- (*d*) The report of the Secretary-General on the visit of his Special Envoy to Myanmar (A/55/509), and endorses the appeal of the Special Envoy for the initiation of a process of dialogue that would lead to national reconciliation and supports his efforts to achieve such a dialogue;
- (e) The initiation of contacts between the Government and Aung San Suu Kyi, Secretary-General of the National League for Democracy, and hopes that such talks will be extended at an appropriate time to include, among others, representatives of ethnic minorities and thereby will facilitate broad-based and inclusive national reconciliation and the restoration of democracy;
 - (f) The release from detention of a number of democratic political activists;
- (g) The continued cooperation with the International Committee of the Red Cross, allowing the Committee to communicate with and visit detainees in accordance with its modalities of work, and hopes that the programme will be pursued further;
- (h) The reopening of some university courses, but remains concerned that the right to education continues to be a right that is exercised only by those willing to refrain from exercising their civil and political rights, and concerned at the reduction in the length of the academic year, the division and separation of the student population to distant campuses and inadequate allocation of resources;
- 2. *Notes* the establishment by the Government of Myanmar of a preparatory process for a human rights committee and encourages it to continue this process in conformity with the Principles relating to the status of national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights annexed to General Assembly resolution 48/134 of 20 December 1993;
 - 3. Expresses its grave concern:
- (a) At the systematic policy of the Government of Myanmar of persecuting the democratic opposition, National League for Democracy members and their families, as well as

ethnic opposition parties, and at the use by the Government of intimidatory methods such as arbitrary arrest and detention, abuse of the legal system, including harsh long-term prison sentences, which has forced many to refrain from exercising their legitimate political rights;

- (b) That the composition and working procedures of the National Convention do not permit either members of Parliament-elect or representatives of the ethnic minorities to express their views freely, and urges the Government of Myanmar to seek constructive means to promote national reconciliation and to restore democracy, including through the establishment of a time-frame for action;
- (c) That the Government of Myanmar has failed to cease its widespread and systematic use of forced labour of its own people and to meet all three recommendations of the International Labour Organization on that issue; this failure has compelled the International Labour Organization strictly to limit further cooperation with the Government and has prompted the International Labour Conference to adopt a resolution recommending that international organizations reconsider any cooperation with Myanmar and that Governments, employers and workers take appropriate measures to ensure that the Government of Myanmar cannot take advantage of such relations to perpetuate or extend the system of forced or compulsory labour referred to by the Commission of Inquiry established to examine the observance of the Convention concerning forced or compulsory labour (No. 29);

4. *Deplores*:

- (a) The deterioration of the human rights situation and the continuing pattern of gross and systematic violations of human rights in Myanmar, including extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, enforced disappearances, rape, torture, inhuman treatment, mass arrests, forced labour, forced relocation and denial of freedom of assembly, association, expression and movement;
- (b) The lack of independence of the judiciary from the executive and the wide disrespect of the rule of law, including of the basic guarantees of due process, especially in cases involving exercise of political and civil rights and freedoms, resulting in arbitrary arrests and detentions, non-existence of judicial control over detentions, sentences passed without trial, keeping the accused in ignorance of the legal basis of the charge brought against them, trials held in secrecy and without proper legal representation, want of knowledge by the family and counsel of the accused about the sentence and detentions beyond the end of prison sentences;
- (c) The continued violations of the human rights of, and widespread discriminatory practices against, persons belonging to minorities, including extrajudicial executions, rape, torture, ill-treatment and the systematic programmes of forced relocation directed against ethnic minorities, notably in Karen, Karenni, Rakhine, Chin and Shan States and in Tenasserim Division, use of anti-personnel landmines, destruction of crops and fields, and dispossession of land and property, which deprive these persons of all means of subsistence and result in large-scale displacement of persons and flows of refugees to neighbouring countries, and an increasing number of internally displaced persons;

- (d) The continuing violations of the human rights of women, in particular forced labour, trafficking, sexual violence and exploitation, often committed by military personnel, and especially directed towards women who are returning refugees, internally displaced or belong to ethnic minorities or the political opposition;
- (e) The continuing violations of the rights of children, in particular through the lack of conformity of the existing legal framework with the Convention on the Rights of the Child, through conscription of children into forced labour programmes, through their sexual exploitation and through recruitment and all other exploitation by the military, through discrimination against children belonging to ethnic and religious minority groups and elevated rates of infant and maternal mortality and malnutrition;
- (f) The severe restrictions on the freedoms of opinion, expression, assembly and association, the restrictions on citizens' access to information, including censorship controls on all forms of domestic media and many international publications, and the restrictions imposed on citizens wishing to travel within the country and abroad, including the denial of passports on political grounds, and gross interference in private life, family, home or correspondence;
 - 5. *Calls upon* the Government of Myanmar:
- (a) To develop further a constructive dialogue with the United Nations system, including the human rights mechanisms, for the effective promotion and protection of human rights in the country;
- (b) To continue to cooperate with the Secretary-General or his representative and to implement their recommendations;
- (c) To cooperate fully with all United Nations representatives, in particular to develop further the contacts established with the newly appointed Special Rapporteur, to allow him, without preconditions, to return to Myanmar in the near future and to conduct a field mission furthering his contacts with the Government and all other relevant sectors of society, and thus enable him fully to discharge his mandate;
- (d) To consider becoming a party to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination and the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and its Protocol;
 - 6. *Strongly urges* the Government of Myanmar:
 - (a) To implement fully the recommendations made by the Special Rapporteur;
- (b) To ensure full respect for all human rights and fundamental freedoms, including economic, social and cultural rights;

- (c) In particular to ensure full respect for the freedoms of expression, association, movement and assembly, the right to a fair trial by an independent and impartial judiciary and the protection of the rights of persons belonging to ethnic and religious minorities, and to put an end to violations of the right to life and integrity of the human being and to the practices of torture, abuse of women, forced labour and forced relocations and to enforced disappearances and summary executions;
- (d) To take urgent and concrete measures to ensure the establishment of democracy in accordance with the will of the people as expressed in the democratic elections held in 1990 and, to this end, to extend the talks initiated with Aung San Suu Kyi, Secretary-General of the National League for Democracy, to a genuine and substantive dialogue with all the leaders of political parties and of ethnic minorities, with the aim of achieving national reconciliation and the restoration of democracy, and to ensure that political parties and non-governmental organizations can function freely;
- (e) To take all appropriate measures to allow all citizens to participate freely in the political process, in accordance with the principles of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and to accelerate the process of transition to democracy, in particular through the transfer of power to democratically elected representatives, the prevention of intimidation and repression of political opponents and enabling the building up of a pluralistic civil society with the active participation of its members;
- (f) To release immediately and unconditionally those detained or imprisoned for political reasons, including those in "government guest houses", as well as journalists, and to ensure their physical integrity and to permit them to participate in a meaningful process of national reconciliation;
- (g) To improve conditions of detention, in particular in the field of health protection, and to eliminate unnecessary restrictions imposed on the detainees;
- (h) To ensure the safety and well-being and freedom of movement of all political leaders, including Aung San Suu Kyi, and to permit unrestricted communication with and physical access to Aung San Suu Kyi and other political leaders;
- (i) To fulfil its obligations under the Convention on the Rights of the Child and under the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women by bringing national legislation and practice into conformity with these conventions, and to consider signing and ratifying the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, as well as the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict;
- (*j*) To implement fully the recommendations made by the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, in particular the request to prosecute and punish those who violate the human rights of women and to carry out human rights education and gender-sensitization training, in particular for military personnel;

- (k) And all other parties to the hostilities in Myanmar to respect fully their obligations under international humanitarian law, including article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, to halt the use of weapons against the civilian population, to protect all civilians, including children, women and persons belonging to ethnic or religious minorities, from violations of humanitarian law, to end the use of children as soldiers and to avail themselves of services offered by impartial humanitarian bodies;
- (*l*) To implement fully concrete legislative, executive and administrative measures to eradicate the practice of forced labour, in conformity with the relevant recommendations of the Commission of Inquiry and to re-enter into a dialogue with the International Labour Organization and invite the organization to establish a presence in Myanmar in order to enable it to verify that such measures are taken;
- (*m*) To cease the laying of landmines, in particular as a means of ensuring forced relocation, and to desist from the forced conscription of civilians to serve as human minesweepers, as indicated in the report of the Commission of Inquiry;
- (n) To end the enforced displacement of persons and other causes of internal displacement and refugee flows to neighbouring countries and to create conditions conducive to their voluntary return and full reintegration in safety and dignity, including returnees who have not been granted rights of full citizenship, in close cooperation with the international community, through the United Nations system and its specialized agencies, governmental and intergovernmental organizations, as well as non-governmental organizations;
- (o) To fulfil its obligations to restore the independence of the judiciary and due process and to end impunity of and bring to justice any perpetrators of human rights violations, including members of the military, and to investigate and prosecute alleged breaches of international humanitarian and human rights law committed by government agents in all circumstances;

7. *Decides*:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur, as contained in Commission resolution 1992/58 of 3 March 1992, for a further year, and requests the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, and to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information;
- (b) To request the Secretary-General to continue to give all necessary assistance to the Special Rapporteur to enable him to discharge his mandate fully;
- (c) To request the Secretary-General to continue his discussions with the Government on the situation of human rights and the restoration of democracy and with anyone he may consider appropriate in order to assist in the implementation of General Assembly resolution 55/112 and of the present resolution;

- (d) To request the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to cooperate with the Director-General of the International Labour Office with a view to identifying ways in which their offices might usefully collaborate for the improvement of the human rights situation in Myanmar;
- (e) To request the Secretary-General to bring the present resolution to the attention of all relevant parts of the United Nations system;
 - (f) To continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session.

63rd meeting 18 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. IX.]

2001/16. Situation of human rights in Cuba

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolutions 1999/8 of 23 April 1999 and 2000/25 of 18 April 2000,

Reaffirming the obligation of all Member States to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms as stated in the Charter of the United Nations and in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Taking into account that no satisfactory improvements have been made thus far by the Government of Cuba in the field of human rights,

Mindful that Cuba is a party to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination,

Reasserting its obligation to promote and protect human rights on the basis of the universal nature of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, in all countries of the world, independently from other bilateral or regional issues affecting the country in question,

Stressing the need for a constructive and open dialogue on human rights between both the people and Government of Cuba and the international community as an essential precondition for emerging from the status quo towards a better future,

Convinced that there is a substantial link between political pluralism and good governance, on the one hand, and economic prosperity, on the other, because their common denominator is human freedom,

Recognizing that, in order to support human rights and economic well-being in Cuba, Member States should take steps to improve the economic condition of the Cuban people,

Recognizing also the need to respect and guarantee civil and political rights and to strive to bring about full enjoyment of economic, social and cultural rights,

Expressing its concern at the continued violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in Cuba, such as freedom of expression, association and assembly and the rights associated with the administration of justice, despite the expectations raised by some positive steps taken by the Government of Cuba in the past few years,

- 1. Calls once again upon the Government of Cuba to ensure respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms and to provide the appropriate framework to guarantee the rule of law through democratic institutions and the independence of the judicial system;
- 2. Calls upon the Government of Cuba to honour the commitment to democracy and respect for human rights it made at the Sixth Ibero-American Summit, held in Santiago and Viña del Mar, Chile, in November 1996, a commitment reiterated at the Ninth Ibero-American Summit in Havana in November 1999 and an identical commitment, made at the first Summit between Heads of State or Government of Latin America and the Caribbean and the European Union, held at Rio de Janeiro in June 1999, contained in the Rio Declaration adopted by the Summit;
- 3. *Expresses the hope* that further positive steps will be taken with regard to all human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- 4. *Notes* certain measures taken by Cuba to enhance freedom of religion and calls upon the Cuban authorities to continue taking appropriate measures in this regard;
- 5. *Calls upon* the Government of Cuba to consider acceding to human rights instruments to which it is not yet a party, in particular the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;
- 6. Expresses once again its concern about practical consequences of the adoption of the Law for the Protection of the National Independence and Economy of Cuba, and regrets the other steps taken by the Government of Cuba that are inconsistent with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and other relevant human rights instruments;
- 7. *Takes note* of the conditional release of three members of the Grupo de Trabajo de la Disidencia Interna;

- 8. Stresses, however, its deep concern about the continued repression of members of the political opposition and about the detention of dissidents and all other persons detained or imprisoned for peacefully expressing their political, religious and social views and for exercising their right to full and equal participation in public affairs, and calls upon the Government of Cuba to release all those persons;
- 9. *Calls upon* the Government of Cuba to open a dialogue with the political opposition, as already requested by several groups;
- 10. *Invites* the Government of Cuba to afford the country full and open contact with other countries, in order to ensure the enjoyment of all human rights for all Cuban people by utilizing international cooperation, by allowing a freer flow of people and ideas and by drawing on the experience and support of other nations;
- 11. *Recommends*, in this context, that the Government of Cuba take advantage of the technical cooperation programmes of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights;
- 12. Calls upon the Government of Cuba also to cooperate with other mechanisms of the Commission;
- 13. Also calls upon the Government of Cuba to grant invitations to thematic mechanisms of the Commission on Human Rights to visit Cuba, including the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the freedom of opinion and expression and the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture;
- 14. *Decides* to consider this matter further at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

63rd meeting
18 April 2001
[Adopted by a roll-call vote of 22 votes to 20,
with 10 abstentions. See chap, IX.]

2001/17. Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other human rights instruments,

Reaffirming that all States Members of the United Nations have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and fulfil the obligations they have undertaken under the various international instruments in this field,

Mindful that the Islamic Republic of Iran is a party to the International Covenants on Human Rights, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination and the Convention on the Rights of the Child,

Recalling previous resolutions of the General Assembly and its own resolutions on the subject, the most recent of which are Assembly resolution 55/114 of 4 December 2000 and Commission resolution 2000/28 of 18 April 2000,

- 1. *Welcomes* the report of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran (E/CN.4/2001/39);
- 2. *Notes with interest* the assessment of the Special Representative that certain foundational improvements have taken place in areas such as women's education, democracy, and health, and that the trend is now irreversible, and hopes that this trend will be further consolidated and also include other areas during the coming year;
- 3. Deeply regrets that, since 1996, no invitation has been extended by the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the Special Representative to visit the country and strongly urges the Government to invite the Special Representative and resume its full cooperation with him, in particular so that he can, through direct contacts with all sectors of society, observe the evolution of the human rights situation in the country and assess future needs, including in the area of technical cooperation in the field of human rights;
- 4. Welcomes improvements in the field of women's education, health and democratic participation in the Islamic Republic of Iran and the efforts made by the Sixth Majlis to improve the status of women and girls, in particular a bill to raise the age of marriage and a bill to remove the existing ban on unmarried women studying abroad, but is deeply concerned that many of these efforts have not yet been promulgated as law, which would be a step towards ending the systemic discrimination against women and girls in law and in practice and the obstacles to the full and equal enjoyment by women and girls of their human rights;
- 5. Warmly welcomes the positive developments regarding the situation of Iranian children in the fields of education, health and juvenile justice, as reported by the United Nations Children's Fund and the Special Representative, and strongly encourages the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to implement the recommendations made by the Committee on the Rights of the Child in its report on its twenty-fourth session (CRC/C/97, paras. 22-76) as a matter of priority, as well as to consider ratifying the 1999 Convention concerning the prohibition and immediate action for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour (No. 182) of the International Labour Organization;
- 6. *Also welcomes* the reports that religion will no longer be requested in the registration of births, marriages, divorces or deaths;
- 7. *Notes with interest* the announcement that the Office of the Public Prosecutor will be re-established, as well as the work of the so-called "Article 90 Commission" of the Iranian

Parliament which investigates, among other things, complaints against the judiciary, has taken the initiative in following up some cases with a political background and demands due process of law:

- 8. *Notes* that government agents accused of involvement in the suspicious deaths and killings of intellectuals and political activists have been convicted, while regretting that all the circumstances surrounding the killings have still not been fully clarified, and urges the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to continue the process of investigation and to bring alleged perpetrators to justice in accordance with due process of law;
- 9. Notes recent positive steps regarding the situation of the Baha'is, including the report that they will be allowed to re-establish their cemetery in Tehran, but expresses its concern at the still-existing discrimination against persons belonging to minorities, in particular against Baha'is, and calls upon the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to eliminate all forms of discrimination based on religious grounds or against persons belonging to minorities and to address this matter in an open manner with the full participation of the minorities themselves, as well as to implement fully the conclusions and recommendations of the Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance relating to the Baha'is and other minority groups until they are completely emancipated;
- 10. *Calls upon* the Islamic Republic of Iran to continue its efforts to consolidate respect for human rights and the rule of law and to abide by its freely undertaken obligations under the International Covenants on Human Rights and under other international instruments on human rights;
- 11. Recognizes the efforts made by the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to strengthen the respect for human rights in the country, but expresses its continuing concern at the violations of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran, in particular the recent deterioration of the situation with regard to freedom of opinion and expression, especially attacks against the freedom of the press, the harsh sentences imposed on those who participated in the conference held in Berlin in April 2000, the imprisonment of journalists and the harsh reactions to student demonstrations, including their imprisonment and mistreatment, and urges all Iranian authorities to ensure full respect for freedom of expression;
- 12. Deplores the continued executions in the apparent absence of respect for internationally recognized safeguards, in particular public and especially cruel executions, and urges the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to ensure that capital punishment will not be imposed for crimes other than the most serious and will not be pronounced in disregard of the obligations it has assumed under the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the provisions of United Nations safeguards, and to provide the Special Representative with relevant statistics on this matter;
- 13. Calls upon the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to take all necessary steps to end the use of torture and other forms of cruel, inhuman and degrading punishment, in particular the practice of amputation, and to carry out penitentiary reform;

- 14. Expresses its concern over the still unsatisfactory compliance with international standards in the administration of justice and the absence of due process of law and the use of national security laws to deny the rights of the individual, and strongly urges the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to expedite the judicial reform, to guarantee the dignity of the individual and to ensure the full application of due process of law and fair and transparent procedures by an independent and impartial judiciary and, in this context, to ensure respect for the rights of the defence and the equity of verdicts in all instances, including for members of religious minority groups; in this context the fate of the convicted in the Shiraz trial is still a matter of concern;
- 15. *Encourages* the Islamic Human Rights Commission to continue and increase its essential work to enhance the human rights situation in the Islamic Republic of Iran;
- 16. *Calls upon* the Government of the Islamic Republic of Iran to give effect, in the near future, to its invitation to the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances to visit the Islamic Republic of Iran, as well as to consider extending invitations to other relevant thematic mechanisms to visit the country;
- 17. Decides to extend the mandate of the Special Representative, as contained in Commission resolution 1984/54 of 14 March 1984, for a further year, and requests the Special Representative to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, and also to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information;
- 18. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to give all necessary assistance to the Special Representative to enable him to discharge his mandate fully;
- 19. Decides to continue its examination of the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran, paying particular attention to further developments, including the situation of the Baha'is and other minority groups, at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

68th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 21 votes to 17, with 15 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/18. Situation of human rights in the Sudan

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms as stated in the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal

Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other applicable human rights instruments, and the duty to fulfil the obligations that they have undertaken under the various international instruments in this field,

Mindful that the Sudan is a party to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention on the Rights of the Child, the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights and the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of victims of war,

Recalling previous resolutions of the General Assembly and the Commission on Human Rights on the situation of human rights in the Sudan, most recently Commission resolution 2000/27 of 18 April 2000, and taking note of Assembly resolution 55/116 of 4 December 2000,

Welcoming the Peace Agreement of 1997 for the Sudan, the acceptance of the Declaration of Principles as a basis for negotiations and the renewal of the declaration of a comprehensive ceasefire in January 2000, while deeply concerned at the breakdown of the ceasefire in June 2000, at the impact of the continuing conflict in the Sudan between the Government of the Sudan and the Sudanese People's Liberation Army/Movement on the situation of human rights, and at the disregard by all parties to the conflict of relevant rules of international humanitarian law,

Aware of the urgent need for the Government of the Sudan to implement effective additional measures in the field of human rights and humanitarian relief to protect the civilian population from the effects of armed conflict,

Expressing its firm belief that progress towards a peaceful settlement of the conflict in southern Sudan within the context of the peace initiative of the Intergovernmental Authority on Development will greatly contribute to the creation of a better environment for the respect of human rights in the Sudan, and taking note of the initiative by Egypt and the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya for achieving a negotiated and lasting peace in the country,

1. Welcomes:

- (a) The interim report of the former Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Sudan submitted to the General Assembly at its fifty-fifth session (A/55/374) and the recent appointment of a new Special Rapporteur;
- (b) The full cooperation extended by the Government of the Sudan to the former Special Rapporteur and to the new Special Rapporteur during his visit to the Sudan in March 2001, as well as the cooperation extended to other United Nations mandate holders in the field of human rights;

- (c) The technical cooperation agreement signed on 29 March 2000 by the Government of the Sudan and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, and the posting of an expert from the Office to the Sudan, with the task of advising the Government on the development of national capacity to promote and protect human rights;
- (d) The expressed commitment of the Government of the Sudan to respect and promote human rights and the rule of law and its expressed commitment to a process of democratization with a view to establishing a representative and accountable government, reflecting the aspirations of the people of the Sudan;
- (e) The stipulation of basic human rights and freedoms in the Constitution of the Sudan, and the establishment of the Constitutional Court, which has been in operation since April 1999;
- (f) The activities of the Committee for the Eradication of Abduction of Women and Children as a constructive response on the part of the Government of the Sudan, and the cooperation extended to the Committee by the local communities and the support of the international community and non-governmental organizations;
 - (g) The adoption of the Associations and Political Parties Act of 2000;
 - (h) The efforts to implement the right to education;
- (i) Leniency measures by the Government of the Sudan which led to the release of a large number of imprisoned women;
 - (*j*) The shelter given by the Sudan to refugees;
- (k) The repeated statements by the Government of the Sudan in favour of a global, lasting and effectively monitored ceasefire in southern Sudan;
- (*l*) The specific initiatives towards national reconciliation, including amnesty for soldiers of the National Democratic Alliance;
- (*m*) The measures taken by the Government of the Sudan which resulted in the return of opposition members;
- (n) The recent appointment of members of several political parties to the Cabinet of Ministers;
- (o) The cooperation extended by the Government of the Sudan and the Sudan People's Liberation Army/Movement to United Nations humanitarian agencies, including within the context of Operation Lifeline Sudan, to mitigate the effects of war on civilians, and emphasizes the need to strengthen further the support to United Nations humanitarian agencies;

- (p) The invitation to the Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons and the readiness of the Government of the Sudan to facilitate his planned visit, as well as the commitment to continue the efforts to address the problem of internally displaced persons;
- (q) The constructive dialogue on human rights issues between the Government of the Sudan and various concerned parties;

2. Expresses its deep concern:

- (a) At the impact of the ongoing armed conflict on the situation of human rights and its adverse effect on the civilian population, in particular women and children, and at continuing serious violations of human rights, fundamental freedoms and international humanitarian law by all parties to the conflict, in particular:
 - (i) The occurrence of cases of summary or arbitrary execution resulting from armed conflicts between members of the armed forces and their allies and armed insurgent groups within the country, including the Sudanese People's Liberation Army/Movement;
 - (ii) The occurrence, within the framework of the conflict in southern Sudan, of the use of children as soldiers and combatants, forced conscription by the Sudanese People's Liberation Army, forced displacement, arbitrary detention, torture and ill-treatment of civilians, and of still-unresolved cases of enforced or involuntary disappearances;
 - (iii) The increasing number of internally displaced persons, in particular women and children, and the alleged harassment of these vulnerable groups;
 - (iv) The abduction of women and children to be subjected to forced labour or similar conditions;
 - (v) The widespread and indiscriminate aerial bombardments by the Government of the Sudan, particularly bombings of schools and hospitals, which seriously and repeatedly affect the civilian population and civilian installations;
 - (vi) The use by the Sudanese People's Liberation Army of civilian premises for military purposes;
 - (vii) The use of weapons, including landmines, and indiscriminate artillery shelling against the civilian population;

- (viii) The forced displacements of populations, in particular in areas surrounding the oilfields, and notes the invitation extended by the Government of the Sudan to the Special Rapporteur to visit the oil-producing areas;
 - (ix) The conditions, in contravention of humanitarian principles, imposed by the Sudanese People's Liberation Army on humanitarian organizations working in southern Sudan, which have seriously affected their safety and led to the withdrawal of many of them, with grave consequences on the already endangered situation of thousands of people living in areas under its control;
 - (x) The difficulties encountered by United Nations and humanitarian staff in carrying out their mandate because of harassment, indiscriminate aerial bombings and the reopening of hostilities;
 - (xi) The attacks on and use of force against United Nations as well as humanitarian personnel, by the Sudanese People's Liberation Army;
- (b) At continuing violations of human rights in areas under the control of the Government of the Sudan, in particular:
 - (i) Restrictions on the freedom of religion, as well as restrictions on freedom of expression, association and peaceful assembly;
 - (ii) The arbitrary arrest and detention without trial, in particular of political opponents, human rights defenders and journalists, as well as acts of intimidation and harassment against the population by the security organs, and the provisional amendment, which came into force, in December 2000, of the National Security Forces Act, in which the period of detention without judicial review was extended to six months;
 - (iii) The detention in precarious conditions, use of torture, and violations of human rights by the security organs, intelligence agencies and the police, while encouraging the judiciary to exercise more control over such agencies;
 - (iv) The extent of the use of most cruel forms of corporal punishment in contravention of human rights norms and standards;
 - 3. *Urges* all parties to the continuing conflict in the Sudan:
- (a) To respect and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms, to respect fully international humanitarian law, thereby facilitating the voluntary return, repatriation and

reintegration of refugees and internally displaced persons to their homes, and to ensure that those responsible for violations of human rights and international humanitarian law are brought to justice;

- (b) To take immediate steps in order to put in place a global, lasting and effectively monitored ceasefire as a first step towards a negotiated settlement to the conflict;
- (c) To stop immediately the use of weapons, including landmines and indiscriminate artillery shelling, against the civilian population, which run counter to principles of international humanitarian law;
- (d) In particular the Government of the Sudan, to cease immediately all indiscriminate aerial bombardments of the civilian population and civilian installations, including schools and hospitals, which runs counter to fundamental principles of human rights and humanitarian law;
- (e) In particular the Sudanese People's Liberation Army, to abstain from using civilian premises for military purposes and misappropriating humanitarian assistance and diverting relief supplies, including food, from their civilian recipients;
- (f) To grant full, safe and unhindered access to all international agencies and humanitarian organizations in order to facilitate by all possible means the delivery of humanitarian assistance, in conformity with international humanitarian law, to all civilians in need of protection and assistance, in particular in the Western Upper Nile, the Blue Nile State, Bahr-el-Ghazal and the Nuba Mountains, to continue to cooperate with the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs and Operation Lifeline Sudan to deliver such assistance, and urges in particular the Sudanese People's Liberation Army to lift as soon as possible conditions it has imposed on the work of international agencies and humanitarian organizations;
- (g) To resume the peace talks immediately and to engage in accelerated and sustained peace negotiations under the auspices of the Intergovernmental Authority on Development;
- (h) Not to use or recruit children under the age of eighteen as soldiers, encourages the process of demobilization of child soldiers currently being undertaken by the Sudanese People's Liberation Army/Movement together with the United Nations Children's Fund, and urges the Sudanese People's Liberation Army/Movement not to use or recruit children under the age of eighteen as soldiers and to refrain from the practice of forced conscription;
- (i) To fulfil their commitments concerning the protection of children affected by war, such as to cease the use of anti-personnel landmines and attacks on sites where there is usually a significant presence of children, as well as the abduction and exploitation of children, to advance the demobilization and reintegration of child soldiers and to ensure access to displaced and unaccompanied minors and reunify them with their families;

- (*j*) To allow an independent investigation of the condemned murder of four Sudanese relief workers who were abducted on 18 February 1999 while travelling with a team from the International Committee of the Red Cross on a humanitarian mission and subsequently killed while in custody of the Sudanese People's Liberation Army/Movement, and urges the Sudanese People's Liberation Army/Movement to return their bodies to their families;
- (k) To continue to cooperate with the peace efforts of the Intergovernmental Authority on Development and, in this context, urges the Sudanese People's Liberation Army/Movement to commit itself to a permanent ceasefire;
 - 4. *Calls upon* the Government of the Sudan:
- (a) To comply fully with its obligations under international human rights instruments to which the Sudan is a party and to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms, as well as to respect its obligations under international humanitarian law;
- (b) To ratify the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment;
- (c) To undertake efforts towards signing and ratifying the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women;
- (d) To undertake efforts towards strengthening an environment which is more conducive to democratization and to improvements in the field of human rights by lifting the state of emergency;
- (e) To strengthen its efforts to ensure the rule of law by bringing legislation more into line with the Constitution and into conformity with the applicable international human rights instruments to which the Sudan is a party, and to ensure that all individuals in its territory enjoy fully the rights recognized in those instruments;
- (f) To liberalize the legal provisions on public order and to continue assimilation into a regular criminal justice system;
- (g) To ensure full respect for freedom of religion and, in this respect, consult fully with religious leaders and other parties concerned when considering any new legislation on religious activities, and to remove obstacles to permission for the construction of religious buildings;
- (h) To implement fully existing legislation, including the appeals procedures, that safeguards human rights and democracy, in particular the Associations and Political Parties Act;
- (i) To raise the age of the criminal responsibility for children in order to take into account the observations of the Committee on the Rights of the Child;

- (*j*) To implement the Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners and to continue to give special consideration to imprisoned women and juveniles;
- (k) To take all effective measures to end and to prevent all acts of torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment, to ensure that all accused persons are held in ordinary custody and receive prompt, just and fair trials under internationally recognized standards, and to investigate all reported human rights violations, including acts of torture, brought to its attention and to bring to justice those responsible for these violations;
- (*l*) To reinforce the action undertaken to prevent or stop abductions of women and children taking place within the framework of the conflict in southern Sudan, to bring to trial any persons suspected of supporting or participating in such activities and not cooperating with the efforts of the Committee for the Eradication of Abduction of Women and Children in addressing and preventing those activities, to facilitate the safe return of affected children to their families as a matter of priority and to take further measures to eradicate the practice, in particular through the Committee with which all concerned have the responsibility and the duty to cooperate;
- (m) To make further efforts effectively to address the problem of internally displaced persons, including ensuring their access to effective protection and assistance;
- (n) To ensure full respect for freedom of expression, opinion, thought, conscience and religion, as well as freedom of association and assembly, throughout the territory of the Sudan;
- (o) To implement fully its commitment to the democratization process and the rule of law and to create, in this context, conditions that would allow for a democratization process that is genuine and wholly reflects the aspirations of the people of the country and ensures their full participation;
- (p) To make further efforts to implement the commitment made to the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children not to recruit children under the age of eighteen as soldiers;
- 5. *Urges* the relevant authorities to take all necessary measures to avoid and limit the most cruel forms of corporal punishment in particular by applying alternative punishment and taking into account attenuating circumstances to the maximum extent possible provided for in national legislation and consistent with international human rights norms and standards;
- 6. Encourages the Government of the Sudan to continue its cooperation with the United Nations in the field of human rights, through the Special Rapporteur and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and its expert in Khartoum entrusted with the task of advising the Government on the development of national capacity to promote and protect human rights;

7. Calls upon the international community to expand its support for activities, in particular those of the Committee for the Eradication of Abduction of Women and Children, aimed at improving respect for human rights and humanitarian law;

8. *Decides*:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Sudan for a further year, and requests the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the situation of human rights in the Sudan and to continue to keep a gender perspective in mind in the reporting process;
- (b) To request the Secretary-General to continue to give all necessary assistance to the Special Rapporteur to enable him to discharge his mandate fully.

68th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 28 votes to none, with 25 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/19. Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms as stated in the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other applicable human rights instruments,

Mindful that the Democratic Republic of the Congo is a party to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of victims of war and Additional Protocol I of 1977 thereto, as well as to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights,

Noting General Assembly resolution 55/117 of 4 December 2000 and previous resolutions of the Assembly and the Commission on the subject, as well as Security Council resolutions 1304 (2000) of 16 June 2000, 1332 (2000) of 14 December 2000 and 1341 (2001) of 22 February 2001,

Recalling the Ceasefire Agreement signed at Lusaka, as well as the Kampala plan and Harare sub-plans for disengagement and redeployment,

Concerned at all violations of human rights and international humanitarian law in the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo by parties to the conflict, as mentioned in the reports of the Special Rapporteur, including acts of and incitement to ethnic hatred and violence,

Recognizing that promotion and protection of human rights for all are essential for achieving stability and security in the region and will contribute to the creation of the necessary environment for cooperation among States in the region,

Recalling its decision to request the Special Rapporteurs on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and a member of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances to carry out a joint mission to the Democratic Republic of the Congo, while regretting that the security situation in the country has not yet allowed such a mission,

Encouraging the Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo to fulfil its earlier commitments, including to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, to restore and reform its judicial system in accordance with relevant international conventions, and to put an end to the trying of civilians by the Military Court,

Welcoming the dialogue initiated between the authorities of the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Burundi, urging them to continue their efforts and emphasizing in this respect that the settlement of the crisis in Burundi would contribute positively to the settlement of the conflict in the Democratic Republic of the Congo,

1. Welcomes:

- (a) The commitments made by the parties in Lusaka on 15 February 2001, as well as at the meeting between members of the Political Committee of the Lusaka Ceasefire Agreement and the Security Council on 21 and 22 February 2001, and the recent progress made in achieving respect for the ceasefire, and urges all parties to respect their agreement to disengage and not to resume hostilities;
- (b) The report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (E/CN.4/2001/40 and Add.1);
- (c) The visit by the Special Rapporteur to the country from 13 to 25 August 2000 at the invitation of the Government and the cooperation of the Government in this regard, and the recent mission undertaken by the Special Rapporteur from 11 to 21 March 2001 in order to evaluate the current situation in the country;
 - (d) The visit by the High Commissioner from 1 to 3 October 2000;
- (e) The activities of the Human Rights Field Office in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, while encouraging the Government to work with and to strengthen further its cooperation with the Office;

- (f) The commitment by the Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo to cooperate with the United Nations agencies and non-governmental organizations in ensuring the demobilization and reintegration of child soldiers, and measures undertaken by the Government in this respect, and encourages other parties to the conflict to do the same;
- (g) The release and repatriation, carried out under the auspices of the International Committee of the Red Cross in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, in conformity with international humanitarian law, of persons at risk because of their ethnic origin, and of prisoners of war;
- (h) The continued presence and increased deployment of the United Nations Organization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo in support of the implementation of the Ceasefire Agreement signed at Lusaka;
- (i) The expressed willingness of the authorities of the Democratic Republic of the Congo to proceed with the National Dialogue under the aegis of Sir Ketumile Masire, as neutral Facilitator, provided for in the Ceasefire Agreement;
- (*j*) The work of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Chief of the Mission;
- (k) The announcement by President Kabila that the Military Court shall no longer deal with civilian cases and that all detention centres not under the control of the Public Prosecutor's Office shall be closed, and urges continued progress to implement these commitments in full;
- (*l*) The agreement reached between the leaders of the Hema and the Lendu communities in February 2001;
- (m) President Kabila's recently stated commitment for change, including his participation at the fifty-seventh session of the Commission, while hoping that the announced National Conference on Human Rights will have broad-based participation and will result in concrete improvements in the human rights situation, and encourages President Kabila to translate his commitment into concrete action;

2. Expresses its concern:

- (a) At the adverse impact of the conflict on the situation of human rights and its severe consequences for the security and well-being of the civilian population throughout the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, including the increase in the number of refugees and displaced persons, in particular in the eastern part of the country;
- (b) At the preoccupying situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, particularly in the eastern parts of the country, and at the continuing violations of human rights and international humanitarian law, including atrocities against civilian populations, committed, often with impunity, by all parties in the conflict throughout the

territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, while stressing in this context that occupying forces should be held responsible for human rights violations in territory under their control, and in particular condemns:

- (i) The continued perpetration of massacres and atrocities in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, which constitute indiscriminate and disproportionate use of force, in particular those occurring recently in Katogata, Kamanyola, Lurbarika, Luberezi, Cidaho, Uvira, Shabunda, Lusenda-Lubumba, Lulingu and Butembo;
- (ii) The occurrence of cases of summary and arbitrary execution, disappearance, torture, beating, harassment, arbitrary arrest and detention without trial, including of journalists, opposition politicians, human rights defenders and people who have cooperated with the United Nations mechanisms;
- (iii) The widespread use of sexual violence against women and children, including as a means of warfare;
- (iv) The continued recruitment and use of child soldiers by armed forces and groups including cross-border recruitment and abduction of children throughout the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, in particular in North and South Kivu and in the Orientale Province;
- (v) The trial of civilians and the imposition and execution of the death penalty by the Military Court in disregard of the obligations the Democratic Republic of the Congo has assumed under the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;
- (vi) The summary sentencing to death, and executions carried out by the Congolese Rally for Democracy (Goma);
- (vii) The indiscriminate attacks on civilian populations, including on hospitals;
- (viii) The fighting in Kisangani between Ugandan and Rwandan forces, most recently in May and June 2000, which resulted in many civilian victims;
- (c) The conflicts between the Hema and the Lendu ethnic groups in Orientale Province, where thousands of Congolese have already been killed and where Uganda, in de facto control of the area, is responsible for upholding respect for human rights;
- (d) The excessive accumulation and spread of small arms and light weapons and the illicit distribution, circulation and trafficking of arms in the region and their negative impact on human rights;

- (e) The violations of the freedoms of expression, opinion, association and assembly in the whole territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo;
- (f) The harassment and persecution of human rights defenders and other members of civil society;
- (g) Acts of intimidation and persecution of representatives of the Churches, as well as the killings of these persons in the eastern part of the country;
- (h) The severe insecurity which seriously affects the ability of humanitarian organizations to secure access to affected populations;
- (i) Reports of illegal exploitation of natural resources and other forms of wealth of the Democratic Republic of the Congo;
 - 3. *Urges* all parties to the conflict in the Democratic Republic of the Congo:
- (a) To facilitate the re-establishment, without delay, of the sovereignty and territorial integrity of the Democratic Republic of the Congo in accordance with the Ceasefire Agreement signed at Lusaka and relevant Security Council resolutions;
- (b) To implement fully the Ceasefire Agreement, including the plan and subplans agreed in Kampala and Harare, in accordance with the new timetable agreed by the parties at the meeting between Members of the Political Committee of the Ceasefire Agreement and the Security Council on 21 and 22 February 2001;
- (c) To protect human rights and to respect international humanitarian law, in particular as applicable to them, the Geneva Conventions, of 12 August 1949, for the protection of war victims and the Additional Protocols thereto of 1977, the Hague Convention of 18 October 1907 concerning the Laws and Customs of War on Land, the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide and other relevant provisions of international humanitarian, human rights and refugee law, and in particular to respect the rights of women and children and to ensure the safety of all civilians, including refugees and internally displaced persons within the territory of that country, regardless of their origin;
- (d) To ensure the safety, security and freedom of movement of United Nations and associated personnel and the unhindered access of humanitarian personnel to all affected populations throughout the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo;
- (e) To cease all military activity in the Democratic Republic of the Congo which is in breach of the Ceasefire Agreement;
- (f) To put an immediate end to the recruitment and use of child soldiers, which is in contravention of international human rights standards, and to extend full cooperation to the United Nations Organization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the

United Nations Children's Fund, the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children, and humanitarian organizations for the speedy demobilization, return and rehabilitation of such children;

- (g) To take and implement all necessary measures to create conditions for the voluntary return, in safety and dignity, of all refugees and displaced persons and to ensure their fair and lawful treatment;
- (h) To allow free and secure access to areas under their control in order to permit investigations of violations of human rights and international human rights law;
- (i) To cooperate fully with the National Commission of Inquiry on the alleged massacres of a large number of refugees and displaced persons in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and also with the Secretary-General and with the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in addressing these allegations, with a view to the submission of a further report by the National Commission of Inquiry to the Secretary-General on the progress of its investigations on this question;
 - 4. *Calls upon* the Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo:
- (a) To comply fully with its obligations under international human rights law and to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout its entire territory, to fulfil its responsibility to protect the human rights of the population on its territory, as well as to take a leading part in efforts to prevent conditions that might lead to further flows of internally displaced persons and refugees within the Democratic Republic of the Congo and across its border;
- (b) To fulfil its commitments to reform and restore the judicial system, including its declared intention progressively to abolish the death penalty, and to reform military justice, in conformity with the provisions of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;
- (c) To put an end to impunity and to fulfil its responsibility to ensure that those responsible for human rights violations and grave breaches of international humanitarian law are brought to justice;
- (d) To create conditions, in accordance with its commitments as stipulated in the Ceasefire Agreement signed at Lusaka, that would allow for a democratization process that is genuine and all-inclusive and that fully reflects the aspirations of all people in the country, and to complete the procedures required to permit the activities of political parties and to prepare for the holding of democratic, transparent, free and fair elections;
- (e) To ensure full respect for freedom of opinion and expression, including freedom of the press in relation to all types of mass media, as well as freedom of association and assembly, throughout the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo;

- (f) To remove the restrictions that still affect the work of non-governmental organizations and to promote human rights awareness, including by strengthening cooperation with civil society, including all human rights organizations;
- (g) To continue to facilitate and strengthen further its cooperation with the Human Rights Field Office in the Democratic Republic of the Congo;
- (h) To cooperate fully with the International Tribunal for Rwanda in ensuring that all responsible for the genocide, crimes against humanity and violations of article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and Additional Protocol II thereto are brought to justice in accordance with international principles of due process;
- (*i*) To continue to facilitate the conditions for the safe deployment of the United Nations Organization Mission in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and ensure the security and freedom of movement of its personnel and other associated personnel;

5. Decides:

- (a) To extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo for a further year, to request him to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and on the possibilities for the international community to assist with local capacity-building, and also to request the Special Rapporteur to continue to keep a gender perspective in mind when seeking and analysing information;
- (b) To request the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and a member of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances to carry out, as soon as security considerations permit and, where appropriate, in cooperation with the National Commission of Inquiry to investigate alleged human rights violations and breaches of international humanitarian law in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (formerly Zaire) between 1996 and 1997, a joint mission to investigate all massacres carried out on the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, including those in the province of South Kivu and other atrocities referred to in the most recent and in previous reports of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, with a view to bringing to justice those responsible, and to report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- (c) To request the Secretary-General to give all necessary assistance to the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and to the joint mission, to enable them to discharge their mandates fully;
- (d) To request the High Commissioner to provide appropriate technical expertise to enable the joint mission to fulfil its mandate;

- (e) To request the international community to support the Human Rights Field Office in the Democratic Republic of the Congo in order, in particular:
 - (i) To strengthen its involvement in programmes of technical cooperation, advisory services and human rights advocacy, including supporting efforts by the Government of the Democratic Republic of the Congo towards strengthening the judicial system;
 - (ii) To strengthen its support for, and to continue to expand cooperation with, human rights non-governmental organizations in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and to facilitate the activities of the joint mission, including through voluntary funding;
- 6. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 12.]

68th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. IX.]

2001/20. Situation of human rights in Sierra Leone

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms as stated in the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other applicable human rights instruments,

Mindful that Sierra Leone is a party to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, as well as to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights, and that Sierra Leone has ratified the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and signed its Optional Protocol, and has ratified the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court and signed the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment,

Recalling Security Council resolutions 1265 (1999) of 17 September 1999, 1270 (1999) of 22 October 1999, 1289 (2000) of 7 February 2000, and taking note of Council resolutions 1313 (2000) of 4 August 2000, 1315 (2000) of 14 August 2000 and 1346 (2001) of 30 March 2001, and recalling its own resolution 2000/24 of 18 April 2000,

Taking note of the Peace Agreement signed at Lomé on 7 July 1999 and recalling that the Special Representative of the Secretary-General entered a reservation, attached to his signature of the Peace Agreement, that the United Nations holds the understanding that the amnesty provisions of the Peace Agreement shall not apply to international crimes of genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes and other serious violations of international humanitarian law,

Expressing deep concern regarding the continuing violations of human rights and international humanitarian law perpetrated in Sierra Leone by the Revolutionary United Front and others, including other armed groups, particularly against civilians, including abducted women and children,

Expressing concern about the continuing fragile security and human rights situation in Sierra Leone and neighbouring States exacerbated by ongoing violence and tensions in border regions,

Taking into account the regional dimension of the human rights issues and stressing the importance of technical cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights,

Recognizing that promotion and protection of human rights for all are essential for achieving stability and security in the region and will contribute to the creation of the necessary environment for cooperation among States in the region,

1. Welcomes:

- (a) The report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to the General Assembly (A/55/36), the report of the High Commissioner to the Commission on the situation of human rights in Sierra Leone (E/CN.4/2001/35) and the fourth to ninth reports of the Secretary-General on the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone (S/2000/455, S/2000/751, S/2000/832 and Add.1, S/2000/1055, S/2000/1199 and S/2001/228), in particular those findings and recommendations related to the human rights and humanitarian situation in Sierra Leone, as well as in neighbouring countries;
- (b) The activities of the Mission, which was established by Security Council resolution 1270 (1999) and expanded by Council resolution 1299 (2000) of 19 May 2000 with the mandate, *inter alia*, to report on violations of international humanitarian law and human rights in Sierra Leone and, in consultation with the relevant United Nations agencies, to assist the Government of Sierra Leone in its efforts to address the country's human rights needs;
- (c) The Agreement on Ceasefire and Cessation of Hostilities signed between the Government of Sierra Leone and the Revolutionary United Front on 10 November 2000 in Abuja, including the responsibilities contained therein, which provides, *inter alia*, for the Mission to monitor the ceasefire declared under the Agreement and to have full liberty to deploy throughout the territory of Sierra Leone, and for the restoration of government authority and the unimpeded movement of humanitarian workers, goods and people throughout the entire territory of the country;

- (d) The work of the Human Rights Section of the Mission aimed at promoting a culture of human rights protection in Sierra Leone, including its activities with all forces that have been engaged in the conflict;
- (e) The initiatives being taken by the Government of Sierra Leone and Sierra Leonean civil society in concert with the international community to prepare for the early establishment of an effectively functioning truth and reconciliation commission, and reiterates the continued need for further efforts in this regard to promote peace, justice and national reconciliation and to foster accountability and respect for human rights;
- (f) The steps taken by the Government of Sierra Leone and Sierra Leonean civil society in concert with the international community to build the human rights infrastructure in the country, including the establishment of an independent statutory national human rights commission, and reiterates the continued need for greater capacity-building to further develop human rights institutions;
- (g) The renewed efforts of the High Commissioner to implement the preparatory phase of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission and, in this regard, notes the recommendations of the national workshop on the Truth and Reconciliation Commission held in Freetown on 16 and 17 November 2000;
- (h) The draft agreement between the Secretary-General and the Government of Sierra Leone for the creation of an independent Special Court, pursuant to Security Council resolution 1315 (2000), to bring to justice those persons who bear the greatest responsibility for the commission of crimes against humanity, war crimes and other serious violations of international humanitarian law, as well as crimes under relevant Sierra Leonean law committed within the territory of Sierra Leone since 30 November 1996, and stresses the need to ensure cooperation between the Special Court and the Truth and Reconciliation Commission, including with respect to the involvement of juvenile offenders and child witnesses in their processes, and to ensure that a gender perspective is integrated into the work of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission and the Special Court;
- (i) The appeal of the Secretary-General for contributions and pledges to the proposed United Nations Trust Fund for the Special Court;
- (*j*) The expert round table facilitated by the High Commissioner, to be held in Freetown to address the relationship between the proposed Special Court and the Truth and Reconciliation Commission;
- (k) The work done by the National Commission on Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration, together with participating agencies, in facilitating measures that will help end the conflict and bring about the processes of reintegration and reconciliation within Sierra Leonean society;

- (*l*) The continuing implementation of the Sierra Leone Human Rights Manifesto of June 1999 by the Government of Sierra Leone, the National Commission for Democracy and Human Rights, representatives of civil society, the Special Representative of the Secretary-General and the High Commissioner, recognizing that the Manifesto contains an important basic framework for the promotion of human rights;
- (m) The human rights training, including specialized gender and child rights training, provided to national human rights monitors, police officers and military personnel of the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone;
- (n) The continued deployment of child protection advisers within the Mission to help to ensure the protection of children's rights, which is a priority throughout the peacekeeping process and the consolidation of peace in Sierra Leone, as well as the efforts of the United Nations Children's Fund in responding to the protection and assistance needs of children, and notes with encouragement the recent release of children from detention;
- (*o*) The assistance provided by the High Commissioner, the Mission and the international community to the Government of Sierra Leone in addressing its human rights obligations;
- (p) The activities carried out by the International Committee of the Red Cross and humanitarian organizations, especially those in the field of medical assistance and relief activities focused on assistance to populations affected by the conflict, and efforts to rehabilitate the country's infrastructure to allow resettlement and reintegration of internally displaced persons and returning refugees;
- (q) The visits of the International Committee of the Red Cross, pursuant to an agreement with the Government of Sierra Leone, to detained persons, as well as its efforts in promoting respect for international humanitarian law with all parties involved, and encourages further development of cooperation in these areas;
- (r) The signature by the Government of Sierra Leone on 8 September 2000 of the Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on involvement of children in armed conflict, and on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, as well as the commitment by the army of Sierra Leone prohibiting the recruitment and use of child soldiers;

2. Expresses its grave concern:

(a) At abuses of human rights and international humanitarian law that have been committed in Sierra Leone, generally with impunity, in particular atrocities against civilians, including women and children, perpetrated by the Revolutionary United Front and others, including other armed groups, including summary and extrajudicial executions, mutilations, abductions, arbitrary detention, hostage-taking, forced recruitment, forced labour, forced displacement, harassment, looting, destruction of property, attacks on and killings of journalists, and the continued detention of abductees;

- (b) At the targeting and abuse of women and girls that have been committed in Sierra Leone by the Revolutionary United Front and others, including other armed groups, in particular murder, sexual violence, rape, including systematic rape, sexual slavery and forced marriages;
- (c) At the continued slow pace of the disarmament, demobilization and reintegration programme, and the continuing trafficking and illegal supply of small arms and related material in contravention of Security Council resolution 1171 (1998) of 5 June 1998, as well as the continued retention by certain ex-combatants of heavy weapons;
- (d) At the dire humanitarian situation affecting the population, including refugees and internally displaced persons in Sierra Leone and neighbouring States, caused by ongoing violence and tensions in border regions and resulting in very limited humanitarian access to the population, particularly in the most affected areas of the north and east of the country's border regions, as well as in border areas of neighbouring countries, and at impediments to the safe and voluntary return of affected populations to their homes;
- (e) At the failure of the Revolutionary United Front to meet its obligations under the Peace Agreement signed at Lomé and the Agreement on Ceasefire and Cessation of Hostilities signed at Abuja, in particular those that would ensure the free movement of persons and goods throughout Sierra Leone and allow the unimpeded movement of humanitarian agencies;
- 3. Deplores the detention of, and attacks on, the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone and humanitarian personnel by the Revolutionary United Front and other rebel forces, in particular the incidents of May 2000 which resulted in the deaths of United Nations peacekeepers;
- 4. *Expresses concern* at the recruitment and continuing victimization and use of child combatants, contrary to international standards, by the Revolutionary United Front and others, including other armed groups, as well as at obstacles to the disarming, demobilization and reintegration of child combatants, and reiterates its call for the cessation of the recruitment and use of children as combatants contrary to international standards;
- 5. Deplores the ongoing atrocities committed by the rebels, including murders, rape, abductions and detentions, calls for an end to all such acts and reiterates its call for the cessation of all attacks on civilians;
- 6. Takes note of recent developments aimed at facilitating the forward movement and subsequent deployment of the Mission, demands that the Revolutionary United Front fulfil all of its commitments under the Agreement on Ceasefire and Cessation of Hostilities and calls upon all the parties to the conflict in Sierra Leone to intensify their efforts towards the full and peaceful implementation of the Agreement on Ceasefire and Cessation of Hostilities and the resumption of the peace process;

- 7. *Urges* all parties to the conflict in Sierra Leone:
- (a) To respect human rights and international humanitarian law, including the human rights and welfare of women and children;
- (b) To provide full and unconditional cooperation with the Mission, including its Human Rights Section of the Mission and unconditional access for the Mission throughout the country;
- (c) To work together to ensure full and early disarming of combatants in all areas, and to give special attention to child combatants in the disarming, demobilization and reintegration process;
- (d) To ensure safe and unhindered access to all affected populations in accordance with international humanitarian law and that the status of the United Nations and associated personnel, including locally engaged staff, as well as humanitarian personnel, is fully respected by providing guarantees for their safety, security and freedom of movement;
 - (e) To cooperate with the Special Court for Sierra Leone, once established;
- 8. *Urges* all relevant parties in Sierra Leone and in the region to ensure full respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms in, and the civilian character of, refugee and internally displaced persons' camps, and to work towards the establishment of conditions which would permit the safe and voluntary return of affected populations to their homes;
- 9. *Calls upon* the Government of Sierra Leone to continue its efforts to meet its obligations to promote and protect human rights, including by:
- (a) Continuing to work closely and to strengthen its cooperation in the area of human rights with the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights;
- (b) Responding positively to the requests of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, and the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions to visit Sierra Leone;
- (c) Ensuring the effective functioning of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission in order to address the question of violations of human rights and international humanitarian law since the beginning of the conflict in Sierra Leone in 1991;
- (d) Giving priority attention to the special needs of all mutilated victims and of women and children in its care, in particular those sexually abused, gravely traumatized and displaced as a result of the conflict, in cooperation with the international community;
- (e) Working to restore civil authority by providing basic public and social services, including security and the administration of justice, in areas where the Mission is deployed;

- (f) Encouraging the cooperation of Sierra Leonean civil society in the establishment and functioning of the Special Court;
- 10. Reiterates its call upon the Government of Sierra Leone to investigate reports of human rights violations and abuses and to end impunity, and its requests that the Secretary-General and the High Commissioner respond favourably to any requests from the Government of Sierra Leone for assistance with its investigation of reports of human rights abuses;

11. Decides:

- (a) To reiterate its request that the High Commissioner and the international community continue to assist the Government of Sierra Leone to establish and maintain an effectively functioning Truth and Reconciliation Commission as soon as possible as an important healing process to contribute to peace and reconciliation in the country;
- (b) To request the international community to participate in the strengthening of the courts and judicial system, in particular the juvenile justice system, of Sierra Leone, as well as in the creation of a national human rights commission as soon as possible;
- (c) To request the international community to support the Secretary-General's appeal for funds, personnel, equipment and services for the establishment and maintenance of the Special Court so that it may bring to justice those who bear the greatest responsibility for the commission of crimes against humanity, war crimes and other serious violations of international humanitarian law, as well as crimes under relevant Sierra Leonean law, committed within the territory of Sierra Leone since 30 November 1996;
- (d) To request the High Commissioner and the international community to make relevant technical assistance available to personnel of the Special Court, in particular to judicial, prosecutorial and protection personnel;
- (e) To request the Secretary-General, the High Commissioner and the international community to give all necessary assistance to the Human Rights Section of the United Nations Mission in Sierra Leone, including ensuring that the Section is fully integrated into the work of the Mission, to enable it to fulfil its mandate to report on violations of international humanitarian law and human rights in Sierra Leone and, in consultation with the relevant United Nations agencies, assist the Government of Sierra Leone in its efforts to address the country's human rights needs, including:
 - (i) To strengthen its involvement in programmes of technical cooperation, advisory services and human rights advocacy programmes;
 - (ii) To strengthen its support for, and to continue and expand its cooperation with, human rights non-governmental organizations and other groups doing human rights work in Sierra Leone, including within the framework of the National Forum on Human Rights;

- (f) To request the High Commissioner to report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the human rights situation in Sierra Leone, including with reference to reports from the Mission;
- (g) To consider this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item, as a matter of high priority.

69th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. IX.]

2001/21. Situation of human rights in Burundi

The Commission on Human Rights,

Mindful of the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenants on Human Rights,

Reaffirming its commitment to respect for the principles of the rule of law, which involve democracy, pluralism and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Stressing that all States have the duty to promote and protect human rights and to fulfil their obligations under the various instruments to which they are parties,

Recalling its resolution 2000/20 of 18 April 2000,

Considering Security Council resolutions 1072 (1996) of 30 August 1996 and 1286 (2000) of 19 January 2000 as well as the statement by the President of the Security Council (S/PRST/1999/32) of 12 November 1999,

Recalling that the primary responsibility for peace lies with the Government and people of Burundi,

Acknowledging the efforts made by the United Nations, the Organization of African Unity and the European Union aimed at contributing to a peaceful settlement of the Burundi crisis,

Mindful of the need to ensure the safety of all humanitarian workers in accordance with the principles of international law,

Acclaiming the decision of the Government of Burundi to launch a comprehensive peace process and initiate nationwide political negotiations open to all parties, and the progress made in negotiations among the political forces, including the signature of a political compact as part of the internal peace process,

Acclaiming also the signing of the Arusha Agreement on peace and reconciliation in Burundi on 28 August 2000,

Taking note of the decision of the Organization of African Unity of July 2000 (CM/Dec.522 (LXXII) Rev.1), the statement by the President of the Security Council of 2 March 2001 (S/PRST/2001/6) and the statement issued by the Presidency of the European Union on 6 March 2001, all on Burundi,

Hailing the establishment of the Arusha Agreement Implementation Monitoring Committee and its ratification by the Burundian National Assembly,

Recognizing the personal contribution of the late Mr. Julius K. Nyerere to the Arusha negotiation process,

Taking into account the efforts made so far in the peace process by the Government of Burundi and other parties to the Arusha talks to bring about lasting peace,

Considering that effective action to prevent further violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms is essential to the stability and reconstruction of Burundi and the lasting restoration of the rule of law,

Recognizing the important role of women in the reconciliation process and the search for peace, and urging the Government of Burundi to ensure the equal participation of women in Burundian society and to improve their living conditions,

Welcoming the invitation extended by the Facilitator to Burundi women's representatives to participate as observers in the Arusha negotiation process,

- 1. *Takes note* of the report by the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Burundi (E/CN.4/2001/44);
- 2. Supports the political compact between the Government of Burundi and the National Assembly, and the dialogue among Burundians taking place under the Arusha peace process;
- 3. *Applauds* the facilitation work being performed by the former President of South Africa, Mr. Nelson Mandela, which has already yielded tangible results, including the signature of the Arusha Agreement on peace and reconciliation in Burundi;
 - 4. *Notes* the continuing need to make the negotiation process more inclusive;
- 5. Encourages the Government of Burundi to continue its actions aimed at associating all sectors of Burundian society in the work of national reconciliation and at the restoration of a safe, generally reassuring institutional order so as to bring back democracy and peace in the interest of the Burundian population;

- 6. *Remains concerned* at the ongoing violence and the security situation in parts of the country, forcing many people to leave their homes;
 - 7. *Condemns* the intensifying violence, especially against civilians;
- 8. Supports continuing dialogue among the signatories of the Arusha Agreement and invites those Burundian groups that have not yet signed the Arusha Agreement to join the peace process;
- 9. *Enjoins* all parties, including the Government of Burundi, to negotiate towards agreement on a ceasefire and a transitional government in order to complete the execution of the Arusha Agreement;
- 10. *Invites* all signatories and international guarantors of the Arusha Agreement to consider ways in which the armed groups could be induced to cease hostilities forthwith and join the peace process;
- 11. *Deplores* the unacceptable living conditions in the displaced persons sites, and recommends that the Government, United Nations agencies and non-governmental organizations provide humanitarian assistance;
 - 12. *Welcomes* the dismantling of the regroupment camps;
- 13. *Notes* the efforts by the Government of Burundi to ensure that established legal safeguards for human rights and international human rights standards are fully respected;
- 14. Requests the Government of Burundi to take more measures, including in the judicial sphere, to put an end to impunity, in particular by bringing to trial those responsible for violations of human rights and of international humanitarian law, in accordance with relevant international principles, and urges the Government to accelerate the specific procedures for investigations and prosecutions in case of such violations;
- 15. Welcomes the entry into force of the new code of penal procedure, exhorts the Government of Burundi to continue to carry out the government plan of legal reform better to protect individual freedoms and to make its judicial institutions more effective and transparent, and urges the authorities to address the questions of the length of provisional detention and conditions in detention; in this context, also emphasizes how important it is that the commission investigating the existence and release of political prisoners, conditions in detention and the status of those held in pre-trial detention should operate effectively;
- 16. Also welcomes the continuing cooperation between the Government of Burundi and the International Committee of the Red Cross with regard to access and visits to detainees held in central prisons;
- 17. *Urges* all parties to the conflict to end the cycle of violence and killings, especially blind violence against the civilian population;

- 18. *Notes* the efforts in the struggle against impunity and for the promotion of human rights on the part of the Government of Burundi, including the establishment of a government commission on human rights;
- 19. *Supports* the continuation by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights of the programme of assistance for members of the armed forces and the police in the field of human rights and legal assistance;
- 20. Expresses its deep concern at the continuing violations of human rights and international humanitarian law;
- 21. *Adjures* the parties to the conflict to abstain rigorously from any action liable to hamper operations by the International Committee of the Red Cross and other humanitarian assistance to those affected by the war;
 - 22. *Condemns* all rebel attacks on humanitarian workers;
- 23. *Adjures* all parties to the conflict in Burundi to work constructively with the international mediators in the search for a lasting peace;
- 24. Expresses its appreciation of the efforts by the mediators of the United Nations, the Organization of African Unity and the European Union in the search for a lasting solution to the problems of Burundi;
- 25. Encourages the Organization of African Unity in its efforts, particularly through its Mechanism for Conflict Prevention, Management and Resolution, to remain engaged in preventing any further deterioration of the situation;
- 26. Reaffirms that respect for human rights and international humanitarian law as well as development contribute to peace, and thus welcomes the call made by the Security Council in its resolution 1234 (1999) of 9 April 1999 for an international conference on peace, security and stability in the Great Lakes region;
- 27. *Commends* the Human Rights Observer Mission in Burundi for the activities it is conducting in the field, welcomes the cooperation afforded to it by the Government of Burundi, and calls for the strengthening of that observer mission through voluntary contributions;
- 28. *Condemns* the illegal sale and distribution of weapons and related materials which disturb peace and security in the region;
- 29. *Requests* States not to allow their territories to be used as bases for incursions or attacks against another State in violation of the principles of international law, including the Charter of the United Nations;

- 30. *Exhorts* States and international, governmental and non-governmental organizations to coordinate planning initiatives so as to promote sustainable development when the political and security situation permits;
- 31. *Welcomes* the display of solidarity given by the international community at the donors conference held in Paris in December 2000 at the initiative of former President of South Africa Mr. Mandela, backed by the President of France Mr. Chirac;
- 32. *Exhorts* donors to deliver promptly on the commitments made at that Conference when conditions permit;
- 33. *Calls upon* the Government of Burundi to take action to establish a security environment conducive to the work of aid organizations, and invites the United Nations and donors to augment the flow of humanitarian assistance to those in need;
- 34. *Decides* to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur by one year and to request her to submit an interim report on the human rights situation in Burundi to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, giving her work a gender-specific dimension.

69th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. IX.]

2001/22. Situation in Equatorial Guinea and assistance in the field of human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 2000/19 of 18 April 2000, in which it decided to renew the mandate of the Special Representative of the Commission to monitor the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea for one year,

Guided by the principles embodied in the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenants on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that all States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to fulfil the obligations they have undertaken under the various international instruments in this field,

Recalling that Equatorial Guinea is a party to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the Optional Protocols thereto, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights,

Recalling also Economic and Social Council decision 1993/277 of 28 July 1993 and previous resolutions of the Commission on the subject,

Recalling further that international cooperation in the field of human rights is one of the purposes of the Charter of the United Nations and welcoming the will of the Government of Equatorial Guinea to cooperate with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the appropriate United Nations agencies in this field,

Reaffirming that cooperation in the field of human rights, as one of the objectives of the Charter, should be guided by the principles of efficiency and transparency and of coordination of all activities for the promotion and protection of human rights within the United Nations system,

Recalling the recommendations made by the Special Representative in his previous report (E/CN.4/2000/40), especially concerning technical assistance to Equatorial Guinea,

Recognizing the political will repeatedly expressed by the Government of Equatorial Guinea to continue to make progress in the field of human rights and fundamental freedoms and its pledge to take definitive steps in this direction, as outlined in its national programme on good governance adopted in 2000, with the assistance of the United Nations Development Programme,

Encouraged that the Government of Equatorial Guinea, through a clemency decree issued on 30 December 2000, released fifty prisoners and considerably reduced the sentences of the remaining eighty-five prisoners held in its custody,

Noting with appreciation that the Government of Equatorial Guinea took steps to ensure the social and economic rights of its citizens through the ratification of numerous conventions of the International Labour Organization in the past year,

Noting that the Government of Equatorial Guinea held municipal elections on 28 May 2000,

Welcoming the steps taken by the Government of Equatorial Guinea to reinforce the independence of the Parliament and to strengthen the National Commission of Human Rights as an institution that has the capacity to protect and to defend human rights,

Taking note, however, that there continue to be deficiencies in technical support to Equatorial Guinea in the field of human rights,

- 1. Expresses its gratitude to the Special Representative of the Commission to monitor the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea for his efforts;
- 2. Encourages the Government of Equatorial Guinea to adopt further quick and effective measures in order to comply with the recommendations made previously by the Commission and the Special Representative, such as the following:

- (a) To guarantee full enjoyment of the freedoms of movement and association by introducing new laws, where appropriate, or amending existing ones, of the right to physical integrity and of the right to human dignity of detainees by ensuring adequate sanitary conditions for them and by ordering an end to any practice of detention without judicial warrant and by prosecuting those responsible for such violations;
- (b) To continue its cooperation with the International Committee of the Red Cross in the visits of its prison facilities and to follow up on its recommendations to improve the conditions of the detainees;
- (c) To ensure further full enjoyment of the freedom of information, the freedom of opinion and expression and the right to a free press;
- (d) To adhere to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination and to submit reports to the Human Rights Committee and to the Committee on the Rights of the Child;
- (e) To safeguard the right to justice, the independence of the judiciary with respect to the executive branch and the restriction of the military jurisdiction, which should be limited strictly to military offences committed by military personnel and should not have competence with respect to civilians, and urges the Government of Equatorial Guinea to introduce its proposed legal reforms to this effect as soon as possible;
- (f) To eliminate all forms of discrimination against women and to continue to promote the full enjoyment of their human rights, as proposed by the national plan to improve the status of women in Equatorial Guinea;
- (g) To make further efforts to broaden the dialogue with opposition parties and groups so as to guarantee political rights, democracy and pluralism;
- (h) To guarantee economic, social and cultural rights, including those of children and, especially, those that affect the population living in poverty, in order to realize the rights to education, to work and to a standard of living adequate for health and well-being, including food, clothing, housing and medical care;
- (*i*) To promote and protect the rights of the child by implementing the Convention on the Rights of the Child;
- 3. Welcomes the willingness of the Government of Equatorial Guinea to implement a national human rights action plan as a complement to its national programme of good governance submitted to the United Nations Development Programme and, for that purpose, encourages the Government to discuss and to agree on means for its early implementation, together with a comprehensive programme of technical assistance, with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights;

- 4. *Calls upon* the specialized bodies and agencies of the United Nations, as well as donor countries and any other international institutions present in the country, to assist the Government of Equatorial Guinea in strengthening the national institutions on human rights;
- 5. Welcomes the recent invitations by the Government of Equatorial Guinea to the Special Representative and to the thematic rapporteurs of the Commission and looks forward to their early visits and their recommendations contributing to the implementation of the national human rights action plan;
- 6. *Notes with interest* the continuing financial efforts and the political will of the Government of Equatorial Guinea in the establishment of the Centre for the Promotion of Human Rights and Democracy in Equatorial Guinea in order to strengthen the national capacity in this field; and encourages the Government of Equatorial Guinea in its efforts to support the functioning of the Centre, to seek the cooperation of international governmental and non-governmental organizations;
- 7. Calls upon the Government of Equatorial Guinea to continue to ensure the independence and effectiveness of the National Commission on Human Rights, in accordance with the Principles relating to the status of national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights, and to continue to authorize, without any undue restriction, the public registration and freedom of activity of non-governmental organizations in the field of human rights and social affairs;
- 8. Decides to renew the mandate of the Special Representative for one year and requests him to examine the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea, to hold a dialogue with the Government of Equatorial Guinea and, in particular, to assist the Office of the High Commissioner and the Government to establish a comprehensive programme of technical assistance for Equatorial Guinea in the field of human rights, to verify on behalf of the Commission that technical assistance provided to Equatorial Guinea supports its national human rights action plan and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 9. *Requests* the Secretary-General to give the Special Representative all necessary assistance to enable him to discharge his mandate fully;
- 10. *Decides* to continue its examination of the question of human rights in Equatorial Guinea at its fifty-eighth session;
- 11. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 15.]

69th meeting 20 April 2001

[Adopted without a vote. See chap. IX.]

2001/23. Situation of human rights in Rwanda

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide and other applicable human rights and humanitarian law standards,

Condemning strongly once again the crime of genocide and crimes against humanity committed in Rwanda in 1994,

Recalling its resolutions 1997/66 of 16 April 1997, in particular paragraph 20, and 2000/21 of 18 April 2000, as well as previous relevant resolutions,

Taking into consideration the establishment and effective functioning of the National Commission for Human Rights of Rwanda,

Expressing its appreciation to the Government of Rwanda for the progress made in restoring the rule of law and the actions taken to consolidate peace and stability and to promote national unity and reconciliation,

- 1. Takes note with great satisfaction of the report to the General Assembly of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Rwanda (A/55/269), and its updated report submitted to the Commission (E/CN.4/2001/45/Add.1 and Corr.1);
- 2. Expresses its profound appreciation to the Special Representative for the activities carried out within the framework of his mandate;
- 3. Takes note of the agreement signed by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the National Commission for Human Rights of Rwanda, and calls upon the Office of the High Commissioner to respond to any requests made by the Government of Rwanda for technical assistance and advisory services in the field of human rights to develop and further strengthen national human rights capacities, including the National Commission for Human Rights;
- 4. *Recommends* that the international community continue to provide assistance for the development of Rwanda in order to ensure, in the long term, its recovery and stability;
- 5. *Decides* to end the mandate of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Rwanda;
 - 6. Also decides to end its consideration of the situation of human rights in Rwanda.

69th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 28 votes to 16, with 9 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/24. Situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations, in particular its Articles 55 and 56, and the provisions of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Guided also by the provisions of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 in particular common article 3 thereof, and Additional Protocol II thereto, of 8 June 1977, as well as other instruments of international humanitarian law,

Recalling the provisions of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), in particular part I, paragraph 4, thereof,

Recalling also that the Russian Federation is a party to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and other regional human rights instruments, such as the European Convention on Human Rights,

Recalling further that the Russian Federation is a party to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and Additional Protocol II thereto,

Reaffirming its resolution 2000/58 of 25 April 2000, as well as earlier statements on the subject by the Chairperson of the Commission, of 27 February 1995 and 24 April 1996,

Deeply concerned at continued reports of widespread violence against civilians and at alleged violations of human rights and humanitarian law, in particular forced disappearances, extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, torture, arbitrary detentions, ad hoc detention locations and continued abuses and harassment at checkpoints by Russian State agents in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation,

Gravely concerned at the continued violence in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation, and in particular at reports indicating disproportionate and indiscriminate use of Russian military force, which has led to a serious humanitarian situation,

Gravely concerned also at reports of attacks against civilians, terrorist acts and serious breaches of international humanitarian law, crimes and abuses committed by Chechen fighters,

Deploring the large number of victims and displaced persons and the suffering inflicted on the civilian population by all parties, including the serious and systematic destruction of

installations and infrastructure, contrary to international humanitarian law, and expressing concern about the spillover effects of the conflict to other republics of the Russian Federation and neighbouring countries,

Concerned about the still unsatisfactory security situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation, which, *inter alia*, seriously hampers humanitarian relief efforts in the Republic and in the neighbouring republics of the Russian Federation by international, regional and national humanitarian organizations,

Welcoming the announced reduction of the United Army Group in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation and the number of checkpoints, and also welcoming the re-establishment of a judicial system with a supreme court, and regional and city courts in the Republic of Chechnya, the increased involvement of ethnic Chechens in the police forces as well as the mixed composition at checkpoints,

Welcoming also the cooperation and dialogue between the Russian Federation and the various bodies of the Council of Europe, including visits by the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights and by its Parliamentary Assembly rapporteurs,

Noting the readiness expressed by the Organization of the Islamic Conference to pursue contacts with the Government of the Russian Federation with a view to facilitating a peaceful solution of the crisis in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation,

Noting also the activities of the State Duma of the Russian Federation Commission on the normalization of the political and socio-economic situation and on the protection of human rights in the Republic of Chechnya,

Noting further the establishment of the National Public Commission for the investigation of offences and for the observance of human rights in the North Caucasus (the Krasheninnikov Commission),

Welcoming the extension of the memorandum of understanding between the Russian authorities and the Council of Europe on the provision of consultative experts to the Office of the Special Representative of the President of the Russian Federation for ensuring human and civil rights and freedoms in the Republic of Chechnya, Mr. Vladimir Kalamanov, and the fact that they can and are required to cooperate towards the implementation of all the tasks of the Office, including monitoring of inquiries by competent Russian authorities on human rights violations, as well as supporting the restoration of the rule of law in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation.

Welcoming also the cooperation between the Russian authorities and international and regional humanitarian organizations on access to detention centres in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation,

Having considered the reports of the Special Representative of the President of the Russian Federation for ensuring human and civil rights and freedoms in the Republic of Chechnya, Mr. Vladimir Kalamanov, the report of the National Public Commission for the investigation of offences and for the observance of human rights in the North Caucasus (the Krasheninnikov Commission) and the report of the Commissioner for Human Rights of the Council of Europe on his visit to the Russian Federation and the Republic of Chechnya from 25 February to 4 March 2001,

- 1. Welcomes the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation (E/CN.4/2001/36);
- 2. Calls upon all parties to the conflict to take immediate steps to halt the ongoing fighting and the indiscriminate use of force and to seek as a matter of urgency a political solution with the aim of achieving a peaceful outcome to the crisis which fully respects the sovereignty and territorial integrity of the Russian Federation;
- 3. Strongly condemns the continued use of disproportionate and indiscriminate force by Russian military forces, federal servicemen and State agents, including attacks against civilians and other breaches of international law as well as serious violations of human rights, such as forced disappearances, extrajudicial, summary and arbitrary executions, torture and other inhuman and degrading treatment, and calls upon the Government of the Russian Federation to comply with its international human rights and humanitarian law obligations in its operations against Chechen fighters and to take all measures to protect the civilian population;
- 4. Also strongly condemns all terrorist activities and attacks as well as breaches of international humanitarian law perpetrated by Chechen fighters such as hostage-taking, torture and the indiscriminate use of landmines, booby-traps and other explosive devices aimed at causing widespread civilian casualties, and calls for the immediate release of all hostages;
- 5. Welcomes the adoption of a comprehensive programme for the economic and social reconstruction of the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation and urges the Government of the Russian Federation to implement it without delay and to compensate affected persons for the destruction and loss of property;
- 6. *Notes* the actions carried out by the Office of the Special Representative of the President of the Russian Federation, in collaboration with experts from the Council of Europe, to promote human rights in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation through its processing of received complaints, which has resulted, *inter alia*, in the tracing of some missing persons, the release of some detained persons and an accelerated issuance of identity documents to internally displaced persons;
- 7. Reiterates its call upon the Russian Federation to establish, according to recognized international standards, a national broad-based and independent commission of inquiry to investigate promptly alleged violations of human rights and breaches of international

humanitarian law committed in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation in order to establish the truth and identify those responsible, with a view to bringing them to justice and preventing impunity;

- 8. Expresses serious concern over the slow pace of investigating alleged serious violations of human rights and international humanitarian law committed by federal forces, federal servicemen and the personnel of law enforcement agencies against civilians and notes with concern that very few such cases have reached the judicial system;
- 9. Calls upon the Russian Federation to ensure that both civilian and military prosecutor's offices undertake systematic, credible and exhaustive criminal investigations and prosecutions of all violations of international humanitarian law and human rights, in particular of those members of federal forces, federal servicemen and the personnel of law enforcement agencies allegedly implicated in war crimes and human rights violations against civilians and to pursue with rigour the cases which have been referred to them;
- 10. Also calls upon the Russian Federation to ensure that all necessary measures are taken to investigate and solve all cases of forced disappearance as recorded and reported, inter alia, by the Office of the Special Representative of the President of the Russian Federation, and to ensure where necessary that criminal prosecutions are undertaken;
- 11. Welcomes the commitment of the Government of the Russian Federation to cooperate with the special mechanisms of the Commission, and the invitations extended to the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, and the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children and requests them to carry out their missions promptly;
- 12. Reiterates its requests that the relevant special rapporteurs and the special mechanisms of the Commission undertake missions to the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation without delay and expresses serious concern that the thematic special rapporteurs or representatives on the question of torture, on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and on internally displaced persons, who have requested to undertake visits, have not yet received an answer and urges the Government of the Russian Federation to give favourable consideration to their requests as a matter of priority;
- 13. Calls upon the Government of the Russian Federation to ensure an immediate return of the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe Assistance Group to the Republic of Chechnya and to create the necessary conditions for the fulfilment of its mandate, and underlines that a political solution is essential and that the assistance of the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe would contribute to achieving that goal;
- 14. *Urges* the Russian Federation to take all necessary measures to ensure the protection of the internally displaced persons and to provide them with the basic necessities for daily subsistence, as well as to provide housing and restore public services as a matter of urgency;

- 15. Urges also the Government of the Russian Federation to ensure international, regional and national humanitarian organizations, notably those of the United Nations and their implementing partners as well as the International Committee of the Red Cross, free, unimpeded and secure access to the Republic of Chechnya and neighbouring republics of the Russian Federation, in accordance with international humanitarian law, and to facilitate their activities, including the delivery of humanitarian aid, inter alia by simplifying regulations, and their access to a radio communication network for the United Nations;
- 16. *Urges further* the Government of the Russian Federation to ensure international and national human rights organizations free, unimpeded and secure access to the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation;
- 17. Expresses its concern over the situation in detention centres and continued reports on ad hoc detention locations, "filtration camps", as well as the treatment of non-registered detainees and acts of torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment of these detainees;
- 18. Welcomes the cooperation by the Government of the Russian Federation, giving free and effective access in the Republic of Chechnya to international and regional organizations, in particular the International Committee of the Red Cross, to places of detention, and urges the Government to extend such access to all places of detention in order to ensure that all detainees are treated in conformity with international humanitarian law;
- 19. *Calls upon* the Government of the Russian Federation to disseminate and ensure that all organs of the State, including the military, at all levels, have knowledge of the basic principles of human rights and international humanitarian law, and to conduct a policy in accordance with international humanitarian law and human rights;
- 20. *Requests* the High Commissioner to report on the implementation of the present resolution at its fifty-eighth session and to keep the General Assembly informed of further developments as appropriate.

70th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 22 votes to 12, with 19 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/25. The right to food

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which provides that everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for her/his health and well-being, including food,

Recalling also the provisions of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in which the fundamental right of every person to be free from hunger is recognized,

Recalling further the Universal Declaration on the Eradication of Hunger and Malnutrition,

Bearing in mind the Rome Declaration on World Food Security and the Plan of Action of the World Food Summit, held in Rome from 13 to 17 November 1996,

Recalling all its previous resolutions in this regard, in particular resolution 2000/10 of 17 April 2000,

Reaffirming that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated.

Recognizing that the problem of hunger and food insecurity has global dimensions and that they are likely to persist and even to increase dramatically in some regions, unless urgent, determined and concerted action is taken, given the anticipated increase in the world's population and the stress on natural resources,

Reaffirming that a peaceful, stable and enabling political, social and economic environment, both at a national and an international level, is the essential foundation which will enable States to give adequate priority to food security and poverty eradication,

Reiterating, as did the Rome Declaration, that food should not be used as an instrument of political or economic pressure, and reaffirming in this regard the importance of international cooperation and solidarity, as well as the necessity of refraining from unilateral measures not in accordance with international law and the Charter of the United Nations which endanger food security,

Convinced that each State must adopt a strategy consistent with its resources and capacities to achieve its individual goals in implementing the recommendations contained in the Rome Declaration and Plan of Action of the World Food Summit and, at the same time, cooperate regionally and internationally in order to organize collective solutions to global issues of food security in a world of increasingly interlinked institutions, societies and economies, where coordinated efforts and shared responsibilities are essential,

Stressing the importance of reversing the continuing decline of official development assistance devoted to agriculture, both in real terms and as a share of total official development assistance,

1. *Reaffirms* that hunger constitutes an outrage and a violation of human dignity and, therefore, requires the adoption of urgent measures at the national, regional and international levels for its elimination;

- 2. Also reaffirms the right of everyone to have access to safe and nutritious food, consistent with the right to adequate food and the fundamental right of everyone to be free from hunger so as to be able fully to develop and maintain their physical and mental capacities;
- 3. Considers it intolerable that 826 million people, most of them women and children, throughout the world and particularly in developing countries, do not have enough food to meet their basic nutritional needs, which infringes their fundamental human rights and at the same time can generate additional pressures upon the environment in ecologically fragile areas;
- 4. *Stresses* the need to make efforts to mobilize and optimize the allocation and utilization of technical and financial resources from all sources, including external debt relief for developing countries, to reinforce national actions to implement sustainable food security policies;
- 5. Encourages all States to take steps with a view to achieving progressively the full realization of the right to food, including steps to promote the conditions for everyone to be free from hunger and as soon as possible enjoy fully the right to food, as well as to elaborate and adopt national plans to combat hunger;
- 6. Takes note of The State of the World's Children 2001 report on early childhood of the United Nations Children's Fund and, in this context, recalls that the nurturing of young children merits the highest priority;
- 7. Takes note with appreciation of the report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to food, submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/10 (E/CN.4/2001/53), and commends the Special Rapporteur for his valuable work in the promotion of the right to food;
- 8. Requests the Special Rapporteur, in the fulfilment of his mandate, to continue to carry out the following main activities:
- (a) To seek, receive and respond to information on all aspects of the realization of the right to food, including the urgent necessity of eradicating hunger;
- (b) To establish cooperation with Governments, intergovernmental organizations, in particular the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, and non-governmental organizations on the promotion and effective implementation of the right to food and to make appropriate recommendations on the realization thereof, taking into consideration the work already done in this field throughout the United Nations system;
 - (c) To identify emerging issues related to the right to food worldwide;
- 9. *Also requests* the Special Rapporteur, in discharging his mandate, to pay attention to the issue of drinking water, taking into account the interdependence of this issue and the right to food;

- 10. Further requests the Special Rapporteur to contribute effectively to the medium-term review of the implementation of the Rome Declaration on World Food Security and the Plan of Action of the World Food Summit by submitting to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights his recommendations on all aspects of the right to food;
- 11. *Encourages* the Special Rapporteur to mainstream a gender perspective in the activities relating to his mandate;
- 12. *Requests* the High Commissioner to provide all the necessary human and financial resources for the effective fulfilment of the mandate of the Special Rapporteur;
- 13. Welcomes the work already done by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in promoting the right to adequate food, in particular its General Comment No. 12 (1999) on the right to adequate food (art. 11 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights), in which the Committee affirmed, inter alia, that the right to adequate food is indivisibly linked to the inherent dignity of the human person and is indispensable for the fulfilment of other human rights enshrined in the International Bill of Human Rights and is also inseparable from social justice, requiring the adoption of appropriate economic, environmental and social policies, at both the national and international levels, oriented to the eradication of poverty and the fulfilment of all human rights for all;
- 14. *Also welcomes* the convening by the High Commissioner in Bonn, from 12 to 14 March 2001, of the Third Expert Consultation on the Right to Food, with a focus on implementation mechanisms at country level, hosted by the Government of Germany, and takes note with interest of the report of the Third Expert Consultation (E/CN.4/2001/148);
- 15. Recommends that the High Commissioner organize a fourth expert consultation on the right to food, with a focus on the realization of this right as part of strategies and policies for the eradication of poverty, inviting experts from all regions;
- 16. Requests the Special Rapporteur to submit a preliminary report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and a final report on the implementation of the present resolution to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 17. *Invites* Governments, relevant United Nations agencies, funds and programmes, treaty bodies and non-governmental organizations, to cooperate fully with the Special Rapporteur in the fulfilment of his mandate, *inter alia* through the submission of comments and suggestions on ways and means of realizing the right to food.

70th meeting 20 April 2001

[Adopted by a roll-call vote of 52 votes to 1. See chap. X.]

2001/26. Human rights and unilateral coercive measures

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling the purposes and the principles of the Charter of the United Nations,

Reaffirming the pertinent principles and provisions contained in the Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States proclaimed by the General Assembly in its resolution 3281 (XXIX) of 12 December 1974, in particular article 32, which declares that no State may use or encourage the use of economic, political or any type of measures to coerce another State in order to obtain from it the subordination of the exercise of its sovereign rights,

Recalling its resolution 2000/11 of 17 April 2000 and noting General Assembly resolution 55/110 of 4 December 2000,

Taking note with interest of the report of the Secretary-General on human rights and unilateral coercive measures (E/CN.4/2001/50),

Recognizing and reiterating the universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated character of all human rights and, in this regard, reaffirming the right to development as an integral part of all human rights,

Expressing its concern about the negative impact of unilateral coercive measures in the field of international relations, trade, investment and cooperation,

Recalling that the World Conference on Human Rights called upon States to refrain from any unilateral measure not in accordance with international law and the Charter of the United Nations that creates obstacles to trade relations among States and impedes the full realization of all human rights, and also severely threatens the freedom of trade,

Deeply concerned that, despite the recommendations adopted on this issue by the General Assembly and United Nations conferences and contrary to general international law and the Charter of the United Nations, unilateral coercive measures continue to be promulgated and implemented with all their negative implications for the social-humanitarian activities and economic and social development of developing countries, including their extraterritorial effects, thereby creating additional obstacles to the full enjoyment of all human rights by peoples and individuals under the jurisdiction of other States,

Reaffirming that unilateral coercive measures are one of the obstacles to the implementation of the Declaration on the Right to Development,

1. *Urges* all States to refrain from adopting or implementing unilateral measures not in accordance with international law and the Charter of the United Nations, in particular those of a coercive nature with extraterritorial effects, which create obstacles to trade relations among

States, thus impeding the full realization of the rights set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and other international human rights instruments, in particular the right of individuals and peoples to development;

- 2. Calls upon all Member States neither to recognize these measures nor apply them, as well as to consider adopting administrative or legislative measures, when necessary, to counteract the extraterritorial application or effects of unilateral coercive measures;
- 3. Rejects the application of such measures as tools for political or economic pressure against any country, particularly against developing countries, because of their negative effects on the realization of all human rights of vast sectors of their populations, *inter alia*, children, women, the elderly, disabled and ill people;
- 4. *Calls upon* Member States that have initiated such measures to abide by the principles of international law, the Charter of the United Nations, the declarations of the United Nations and world conferences and relevant resolutions and to commit themselves to their obligations and responsibilities arising from the international human rights instruments to which they are parties by revoking such measures at the earliest possible time;
- 5. *Reaffirms*, in this context, the right of all peoples to self-determination, by virtue of which they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development;
- 6. Also reaffirms that essential goods such as food and medicines should not be used as tools for political coercion and that under no circumstances should people be deprived of their own means of subsistence and development:
- 7. Underlines that unilateral coercive measures are one of the major obstacles to the implementation of the Declaration on the Right to Development and, in this regard, calls upon all States to avoid the unilateral imposition of economic coercive measures and the extraterritorial application of domestic laws which run counter to the principles of free trade and hamper the development of developing countries, as recognized by the Intergovernmental Group of Experts on the Right to Development in its report (E/CN.4/1998/29);
- 8. *Invites* the Open-ended working group established to monitor and review progress made in the promotion and implementation of the right to development, which will meet after the fifty-seventh session of the Commission on Human Rights, to give due consideration to the question of human rights and the negative impact of unilateral coercive measures;
- 9. *Invites* all special rapporteurs and existing thematic mechanisms of the Commission in the field of economic, social and cultural rights to pay due attention, within the scope of their respective mandates, to the negative impact and consequences of unilateral coercive measures;
- 10. *Decides* to give due consideration to the negative impact of unilateral coercive measures in its task concerning the implementation of the right to development;

11. *Requests*:

- (a) The United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, in discharging her functions in relation to the promotion, realization and protection of the right to development, to pay due attention and give urgent consideration to the present resolution;
- (b) The Secretary-General to bring the present resolution to the attention of all Member States and to seek their views and information on the implications and negative effects of unilateral coercive measures on their populations, and to submit a report thereon to the Commission on Human Rights at its fifty-eighth session;
- 12. *Decides* to examine this question, on a priority basis, at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

70th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 37 votes to 8, with 8 abstentions. See chap. X.]

2001/27. Effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling that the purpose of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights is the full promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Reaffirming the Declaration on the Right to Development, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 41/128 of 4 December 1986, and the resolutions and decisions adopted by the United Nations in connection with the problem of the foreign debt of the developing countries, particularly Commission resolution 2000/82 of 26 April 2000,

Deeply convinced of the need to create a new spirit of international cooperation based on the principle of achieving shared benefits, but also based on common but differentiated responsibilities, between the developing and industrialized countries,

Bearing in mind that the absolute amounts attained by the foreign debt and debt service of the developing nations indicate the persistent seriousness of this situation, that the episodes of financial crisis in Asia and other regions have caused this situation to deteriorate further and that the foreign debt burden is becoming increasingly unbearable for a considerable number of developing countries,

Aware that the serious problem of the foreign debt burden remains one of the most critical factors adversely affecting economic, social, scientific and technical development and living standards in many developing countries, with serious effects of a social nature,

Stressing that the benefits of globalization are very unevenly shared while its costs are unevenly distributed, and that it creates new challenges, risks and uncertainties for the implementation and consolidation of development strategies,

Expressing its concern that, despite repeated rescheduling of debt, developing countries continue to pay out more each year than the actual amount they receive in official development assistance,

Acknowledging that, in spite of the fact that debt reduction schemes have helped to reduce debt, many highly indebted poor countries are still left with the bulk of their debt,

Considering that the measures for alleviating the debt problem, of both official and private origin, have not achieved an effective, equitable, development-oriented and durable solution to the outstanding debt and debt service of a large number of developing countries, especially the poorest and heavily indebted countries,

Bearing in mind the relationship between the heavy foreign debt burden and the considerable increase in poverty which is apparent at the global level and is especially large in Africa.

Recognizing that foreign debt constitutes one of the main obstacles preventing the developing countries from fully enjoying their right to development,

- 1. Welcomes the report submitted by the independent expert on the effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights, to the Commission on Human Rights at its fifty-seventh session (E/CN.4/2001/56), commends the independent expert for his valuable work and encourages him to continue studying these issues further;
- 2. Stresses that structural adjustment policies have serious implications for the ability of the developing countries to abide by the Declaration on the Right to Development and to formulate national development policies that aim to improve the economic, social and cultural rights of their citizens;
- 3. Notes with concern the persistence of the external debt problem, that the vicious cycle of debt and underdevelopment has become further entrenched, that debt service has grown at a much greater rate than the debt itself and that the burden of payments has become heavier in many developing countries, including those with low and middle incomes, despite repeated rescheduling, and that the current debt and poverty reduction and growth initiatives lack sufficient funding and have several conditions attached;

- 4. *Recalls* the pledge, contained in the Political Declaration adopted by the General Assembly at its twenty-fourth special session, annexed to resolution S-24/2, of 1 July 2000 to find effective, equitable, development-oriented and durable solutions to the external debt and debt-servicing burdens of developing countries;
- 5. Reiterates that the permanent solution to the foreign debt problem lies in the establishment of a just and equitable international economic order based, *inter alia*, in open, equitable, secure, non-discriminatory, predictable, transparent and multilateral rule-based international financial and trading systems, which guarantees the developing countries, *inter alia*, better market conditions and commodity prices, stabilization of exchange rates and interest rates, easier access to financial and capital markets, adequate flows of new financial resources and easier access to the technology of the developed countries;
- 6. *Stresses* the need for the economic programmes arising from foreign debt to be country-driven and for their macroeconomic and financial policy issues to be integrated, on an equal footing and a consistent way, with the realization of the broader social development goals, taking into account the specific characteristics, conditions and needs of the debtor countries;
- 7. Affirms that the exercise of the basic rights of the people of debtor countries to food, housing, clothing, employment, education, health services and a healthy environment cannot be subordinated to the implementation of structural adjustment polices, growth programmes and economic reforms arising from the debt;
- 8. *Emphasizes* the important need for initiatives on foreign debt, in particular in the enhanced Heavily Indebted Poor Countries Initiative and the decision of the Paris Club to go beyond the Naples terms, to be extended, expedited, implemented completely and made more flexible, and at the same time notes with concern the rigidity of the eligibility criteria approved by the international creditor community in the context of those initiatives, which is becoming a source of greater concern in the light of the latest symptoms of the international financial crisis;
- 9. Also emphasizes the need for new financial flows to debtor developing countries from all sources, in addition to debt relief measures that include debt cancellation, and urges creditor countries and the international financial institutions to increase concessional financial assistance on favourable terms, as a means of supporting the implementation of the economic reforms, combating poverty and achieving sustained economic growth and sustainable development;
- 10. *Requests* the independent expert to present an analytical report to the Commission, on an annual basis, on the implementation of the present resolution, paying particular attention to:
- (a) The effects of the foreign debt and the policies adopted to face them on the full enjoyment of all human rights, in particular, economic, social and cultural rights in developing countries;

- (b) Measures taken by Governments, the private sector and international financial institutions to alleviate such effects in developing countries, especially the poorest and heavily indebted countries;
- (c) New developments, actions and initiatives being taken by international financial institutions, other United Nations bodies and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations with respect to structural adjustment policies and human rights;
- 11. Also requests the independent expert to provide an advance copy of his annual report to the Open-ended working group established to elaborate policy guidelines on structural adjustment programmes and economic, social and cultural rights in order to assist the group in the fulfilment of its mandate;
- 12. *Requests* the Secretary-General to provide the independent expert with all necessary assistance, in particular the staff and resources required to perform his functions;
- 13. *Urges* Governments, international organizations, international financial institutions, non-governmental organizations and the private sector to cooperate fully with the independent expert in the discharge of his mandate;
- 14. Calls upon Governments, international organizations and international financial institutions, as well as non-governmental organizations and the private sector, to take appropriate measures and action for the implementation of the commitments, agreements and decisions of the major United Nations conferences and summits organized since the beginning of the 1990s on developments related to the question of external debt;
- 15. Also calls upon Governments, international financial institutions and the private sector to consider the possibility of cancelling or reducing significantly the debt of the heavily indebted poor countries, giving priority to countries emerging from devastating civil wars or that have been devastated by natural disasters;
- 16. Urges States, international financial institutions and the private sector to take urgent measures to alleviate the debt problem of those developing countries particularly affected by the human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), so that more financial resources can be released and used for health care, research and treatment of the population in the affected countries;
- 17. *Recognizes* that there is a need for more transparency, participation by all States and consideration of the relevant resolutions of the Commission in the deliberations and activities of international and regional financial institutions;
- 18. Reiterates its view that, in order to find a durable solution to the debt problem, there is a need for a political dialogue between creditor and debtor countries and the multilateral financial institutions, within the United Nations system, based on the principle of shared interests and responsibilities;

- 19. Requests the Economic and Social Council to authorize the Working Group on Structural Adjustment to meet for two weeks well in advance of, and at least four weeks prior to, the fifty-eighth session of the Commission with the mandate to: (a) continue working on the elaboration of basic policy guidelines on structural adjustment programmes and economic, social and cultural rights which could serve as a basis for a continued dialogue between human rights bodies and international financial institutions, and (b) report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 20. Reiterates its request to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to pay particular attention to the problem of the debt burden of developing countries, in particular of the least developed countries, and especially the social impact of the measures arising from the foreign debt;
- 21. Requests the High Commissioner to take urgent action to strengthen the responsiveness of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in the area of economic, social and cultural rights;
- 22. *Decides* to continue the consideration of this matter at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

70th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 31 votes to 15, with 7 abstentions. See chap. X.]

2001/28. Adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 2000/9, of 17 April 2000, in which it decided to appoint, for a period of three years, a special rapporteur whose mandate would focus on adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, as well as resolution 2000/13, of 17 April 2000, on women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing,

Noting the work of the United Nations treaty bodies, in particular of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, in the promotion of the rights related to adequate housing,

Concerned that any deterioration in the general housing situation disproportionally affects the poor, as well as women and children, and members of groups requiring special protection,

- 1. Takes note of the report of the Special Rapporteur on adequate housing (E/CN.4/2001/51) and of relevant parts of the report of the Secretary-General on economic, social and cultural rights (E/CN.4/2001/49);
- 2. Encourages the Special Rapporteur, in accordance with his mandate, to bring the issue of adequate housing to the attention of relevant review processes of United Nations conferences and summits, notably the five-year review of the Habitat Agenda in June 2001, including, where possible, through contributing to and participating in these events;
- 3. Also encourages the Special Rapporteur to strengthen the integration of the rights relevant to his mandate into the Global Campaign for Secure Tenure launched by the United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (Habitat) and into other operational activities of the United Nations system, notably into processes and initiatives that are oriented towards poverty reduction, and to develop to this effect a dialogue with Governments, relevant United Nations bodies, in particular the Centre and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, specialized agencies, international organizations, non-governmental organizations and international financial institutions;
- 4. *Further encourages* the Special Rapporteur to cooperate, in accordance with his mandate, with other rapporteurs, representatives, experts, notably the independent expert on the question of human rights and extreme poverty, members and chairpersons of working groups of the Commission, and United Nations bodies, including human rights treaty bodies;
 - 5. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur, in the fulfilment of his mandate:
- (a) To give particular emphasis to practical solutions with regard to the implementation of the rights relevant to his mandate, on the basis of pertinent information, notably on best practices, including on domestic legal enforcement of these rights, from Governments, relevant United Nations agencies and non-governmental organizations;
 - (b) To facilitate the provision of technical assistance;
- 6. Also requests the Special Rapporteur, within the limits of his mandate, further to review the interrelatedness of adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living with other human rights;
- 7. *Further requests* the Special Rapporteur to submit a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 8. Requests the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to support cooperation between the Special Rapporteur and other rapporteurs, representatives, experts, members and chairpersons of working groups of the Commission and United Nations bodies, including human rights treaty bodies, that are relevant to the mandate of the Special Rapporteur;

- 9. Requests the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Centre to strengthen their cooperation and to consider developing a joint housing rights programme;
 - 10. *Calls upon* all States:
- (a) To give full effect to housing rights, including through domestic development policies at the appropriate level of government and with international assistance and cooperation, giving particular attention to the individuals, most often women and children, and communities living in extreme poverty, and to security of tenure;
- (b) To ensure the observance of all their legally binding national standards in the area of housing;
 - (c) To cooperate with the Special Rapporteur;
- (d) To submit to the Special Rapporteur information on different experiences, notably on best practices, in areas related to his mandate;
- (e) Without distinction of any kind, such as to race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status,
 - (i) To counter social exclusion and marginalization of people who suffer from discrimination on multiple grounds, in particular by ensuring non-discriminatory access to adequate housing for indigenous people and persons belonging to minorities;
 - (ii) To promote participation in decision-making processes, in particular at the local level, when developing an adequate standard of living and housing;
- 11. *Invites* the Centre and the Office of the High Commissioner to further explore possibilities to support the Special Rapporteur;
- 12. *Requests* the Secretary-General to provide the Special Rapporteur with the assistance necessary for the execution of his mandate.

70th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. X.]

2001/29. The right to education

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 1998/33 of 17 April 1998, by which it decided, *inter alia*, as part of its effort to impart a higher visibility to economic, social and cultural rights, to appoint, for a period of three years, a special rapporteur whose mandate would focus on the right to education,

Recalling also that everyone shall enjoy the human right to education, which is enshrined, *inter alia*, in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and the Convention on the Rights of the Child,

Recalling further the Convention against Discrimination in Education, adopted on 14 December 1960, by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, which prohibits any discrimination which has the purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing equality of treatment in education,

Welcoming the Dakar Framework for Action adopted at the World Education Forum held in Dakar in April 2000, and the goals agreed upon at its adoption,

Noting the United Nations Millennium Declaration in which it is resolved that children everywhere, boys and girls alike, will be able to complete a full course of primary schooling and that girls and boys will have equal access to all levels of education by 2015,

Affirming that the realization of the right to education, especially for girls, contributes to the eradication of poverty,

Welcoming the attention given to education in the preparatory process for the General Assembly special session on the achievement of the goals of the World Summit for Children and for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, to be held in 2001,

Deeply concerned that some one hundred and twenty million children, two thirds of whom are girls, have no access to education,

- 1. *Notes with interest* the report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to education (E/CN.4/2001/52) and the report of the Secretary-General on economic, social and cultural rights (E/CN.4/2001/49);
- 2. Also notes with interest the work carried out by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and the Committee on the Rights of the Child in the promotion of the right to education and their general comments, notably General Comment No. 11 (1999) on plans of action for primary education (art. 14 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights) and No. 13 (1999) on the Right to Education (art. 13 of the Covenant)

adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and General Comment No. 1 (2001) on the aims of education (art. 29, para. 1, of the Convention on the Rights of the Child) adopted by the Committee on the Rights of the Child;

3. *Calls upon* all States:

- (a) To give full effect to the right to education and to guarantee that this right is recognized and exercised without discrimination of any kind;
- (b) To take all appropriate measures to eliminate obstacles limiting access to education, notably by girls, including pregnant girls, children living in rural areas, children belonging to minority groups, indigenous children, migrant children, refugee children, internally displaced children, children affected by armed conflicts, children with disabilities, children with human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) and children deprived of their liberty;
- (c) To ensure progressively and on the basis of equal opportunity that primary education is compulsory, accessible and available free to all;
- (d) To adopt all necessary measures to close the gap between the school-leaving age and the minimum age for employment, including by raising the minimum age for employment and/or raising the school-leaving age when necessary, and to ensure access to free basic education and, wherever possible and appropriate, vocational training for all children liberated from the worst forms of child labour;
- (e) To adopt effective measures to encourage regular attendance at school and reduce school drop-out rates;
- (f) To support the implementation of plans and programmes of action to ensure quality education and improved enrolment and retention rates for boys and girls and the elimination of gender discrimination and gender stereotypes in educational curricula and materials, as well as in the process of education;
- (g) To submit information on best practices for the elimination of discrimination in access to education, in particular when requested by the Special Rapporteur;
- 4. *Invites* the Special Rapporteur to continue to work in accordance with her mandate and, in particular, to intensify her efforts to identify ways and means to overcome obstacles and difficulties in the realization of the right to education;
- 5. Encourages the Special Rapporteur to pursue her collaboration with the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the Committee on the Rights of the Child and her cooperation with the United Nations Children's Fund, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, the International Labour Organization and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and her dialogue with the World Bank;

- 6. Reaffirms the importance of developing further the regular dialogue between the United Nations Children's Fund and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and the Special Rapporteur, invites them to pursue that dialogue and reiterates its invitation to the United Nations Children's Fund and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization to submit to the Commission information pertaining to their activities in promoting primary education, with specific reference to women and children, particularly girls;
- 7. Requests all States to continue their cooperation with and to assist the Special Rapporteur in the performance of her tasks and duties and to consider favourably the requests for information and visits;
 - 8. Decides:
 - (a) To renew the mandate of the Special Rapporteur for a period of three years;
- (b) To consider the right to education at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item and to request the Special Rapporteur to submit a report to the Commission at that session;
- 9. *Requests* the Secretary-General to provide the Special Rapporteur with all the assistance necessary for the execution of the mandate;
- 10. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 19.]

70th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. X.]

2001/30. Question of the realization in all countries of the economic, social and cultural rights contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and study of special problems which the developing countries face in their efforts to achieve these human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the principles relating to economic, social and cultural rights enshrined in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights,

Recalling its previous resolutions on the realization of economic, social and cultural rights,

Taking note with interest of ongoing new efforts towards the realization of economic, social and cultural rights, and considering that to ensure the realization of economic, social and cultural rights and the removal of obstacles thereto at all levels, additional efforts should be examined.

Taking note with interest also of the report of the workshop organized on 5 and 6 February 2001 by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the International Commission of Jurists on the justiciability of economic, social and cultural rights, with particular reference to the draft optional protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (E/CN.4/2001/62/Add.2),

1. Takes note with interest of the report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of its resolution 2000/9 of 17 April 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/49), the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the draft optional protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (E/CN.4/2001/62 and Add.1), as well as all other relevant reports of the High Commissioner on economic, social and cultural rights and the activities of intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations in that regard;

2. *Notes with interest:*

- (a) The entry into force of the 1999 Convention concerning the prohibition and immediate action for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour (No. 182) of the International Labour Organization and of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women;
- (b) The work carried out by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, including the assistance given to States parties in fulfilling their obligations through its general comments, and notes the adoption in May 2000 of General Comment No. 14 (2000) on the right to the highest attainable standard of health (art. 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights) and the convening of days of general discussion, such as the one held on 27 November 2000 on the right of everyone to benefit from the protection of the moral and material interests resulting from any scientific, literary or artistic production of which he is the author (art. 15, para. 1 (c), of the Covenant);
- (c) The work of the Committee on the Rights of the Child in the promotion of the economic, social and cultural rights of children;
- (d) Efforts of the High Commissioner within the United Nations Development Group to promote economic, social and cultural rights;

(e) The elaboration of training programmes in the Office of the High Commissioner to develop in-house expertise in incorporating economic, social and cultural rights in technical cooperation projects, and encourages the Office to enhance the incorporation of economic, social and cultural rights in its technical cooperation programmes;

3. Welcomes:

- Ongoing efforts by the Economic and Social Council and the General Assembly towards a coordinated follow-up to relevant United Nations conferences and summits, notably the World Food Summit, held in Rome in November 1996, the second United Nations Conference on Human Settlements (Habitat II) held in Istanbul in June 1996, the World Summit for Social Development, held in Copenhagen in March 1995, the Fourth World Conference on Women, held in Beijing in September 1995, the International Conference on Population and Development, held in Cairo in September 1994, the World Conference on Education for All, held in Jomtien, Thailand, in March 1990 and the World Summit for Children, held in New York in September 1990, which should provide a framework for setting goals, outlining new approaches and developing supportive partnerships for the promotion and protection of all human rights, notably economic, social and cultural rights; their follow-up processes, such as the World Education Forum held in Dakar in April 2000, the special session of the Assembly on the implementation of the World Summit for Social Development held in June 2000, the special session of the Assembly on the implementation of the Beijing Declaration and Programme for Action adopted by the Fourth World Conference on Women, also held in 2000; as well as forthcoming events, such as the special session of the Assembly on the achievement of the goals of the World Summit for Children, the special session of the Assembly on the problem of the human immunodeficiency virus and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), the special session of the Assembly on the implementation of the second United Nations Conference on Human Settlements (Habitat II) and the Third United Nations Conference on the Least Developed Countries;
- (b) Regional initiatives to promote the further realization of economic, social and cultural rights;

4. *Reaffirms*:

- (a) That, in accordance with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the ideal of free human beings enjoying freedom from fear and want can be achieved only if conditions are created whereby everyone may enjoy his or her economic, social and cultural rights, as well as his or her civil and political rights;
- (b) The inextricable link between full respect for the rights contained in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the process of development, the central purpose of which is the realization of the potentialities of the human person with the effective participation of all members of society in relevant decision-making processes as agents and beneficiaries of development, as well as with a fair distribution of its benefits;

- (c) That all persons in all countries are entitled to the realization of their economic, social and cultural rights, which are indispensable to their dignity and the free development of their personality;
- (d) The universality, indivisibility, interdependence and interrelatedness of all human rights and fundamental freedoms and that promoting and protecting one category of rights should therefore never exempt or excuse States from the promotion and protection of other rights;
- (e) The importance of international cooperation in assisting Governments to fulfil their obligation to protect and promote all human rights, including economic, social and cultural rights;
- (f) That the realization of all human rights and fundamental freedoms, and particularly economic, social and cultural rights, is a dynamic process and that, as is evident in today's world, a great deal remains to be accomplished;
 - 5. *Calls upon* all States:
 - (a) To give full effect to economic, social and cultural rights;
- (b) To consider signing and ratifying, and the States parties to implement, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights;
- (c) To consider signing and ratifying the 1999 Convention concerning the prohibition and immediate action for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour, the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and the Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child, on the involvement of children in armed conflicts, and on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, and the States parties to implement them fully;
- (d) To guarantee that economic, social and cultural rights will be exercised without discrimination of any kind, and to address this issue during the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance to be held in Durban, South Africa, from 31 August to 7 September 2001;
- (e) To secure progressively, through national development policies and with international assistance and cooperation, full realization of economic, social and cultural rights, giving particular attention to the individuals, most often women and children, especially girls, and communities living in extreme poverty and therefore most vulnerable and disadvantaged;
- (f) To consider in this context, as appropriate, the desirability of drawing up national action plans identifying steps to improve the situation of human rights in general with specific benchmarks designed to give effect to minimum essential levels of enjoyment of economic, social and cultural rights;

- (g) To help alleviate the unsustainable external debt burden of countries that meet the criteria of the Heavily Indebted Poor Countries Initiative, which should further strengthen the efforts of the Governments of these countries to realize economic, social and cultural rights, inter alia through the development and implementation of programmes, as well as the prevention of the spread of the HIV/AIDS pandemic in Africa and the reconstruction of countries affected by natural disasters;
- (h) To promote the effective and wide participation of representatives of civil society in decision-making processes related to the promotion and protection of economic, social and cultural rights;
- (i) To ensure access to health facilities, goods and services on a non-discriminatory basis, especially for vulnerable and marginalized groups, and to ensure that national public health strategies address the health concerns of all;
- (*j*) To provide education and access to information concerning health problems in all communities, including methods of prevention and control;
- 6. *Calls upon* the States parties to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights:
- (a) To withdraw reservations incompatible with the object and purpose of the Covenant and to consider reviewing other reservations with a view to withdrawing them;
- (b) To promote a concerted national effort to ensure the participation of representatives of all sectors of civil society in the process of preparation of their periodic reports to the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and in the implementation of the recommendations of the Committee;
 - (c) To submit their reports to the Committee in a regular and timely manner;
- (d) To ensure that the Covenant is taken into account in all of their relevant national and international policy-making processes;
- 7. Recalls that international cooperation in solving international problems of an economic, social and cultural character and in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms for all is one of the purposes of the United Nations, and affirms that wider international cooperation would contribute to lasting progress in implementing economic, social and cultural rights;

8. Decides:

(a) To encourage the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights to continue its efforts towards the promotion, protection and full realization of the rights enshrined in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, at the national and international levels, notably by:

- (i) Enhancing its cooperation with United Nations specialized agencies, programmes and other bodies working on issues that bear upon the Covenant:
- (ii) Drafting further general comments to assist and promote the further implementation by States parties of the Covenant, and making the experience gained through the examination of States parties' reports available for the benefit of all States parties;
- (b) To encourage all United Nations specialized agencies and programmes, relevant special mechanisms of the Commission on Human Rights and other United Nations bodies, including human rights treaty bodies, whose activities bear upon economic, social and cultural rights to enhance their cooperation and increase coordination with the Committee in a manner that respects their distinctive mandates and promotes their policies, programmes and projects;
- (c) To appoint an independent expert to examine the question of a draft optional protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in the light, *inter alia*, of the report of the Committee to the Commission on a draft optional protocol for the consideration of communications in relation to the Covenant (E/1997/22-E/C.12/1996/6, annex IV) the comments made in that regard by States, intergovernmental organizations and non-governmental organizations, as well as the report of the workshop on the justiciability of economic, social and cultural rights, with particular reference to the draft optional protocol to the Covenant, and to submit a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session with a view to its consideration of possible follow-up and future actions, including the establishment of an open-ended working group of the Commission to examine the question of a draft optional protocol to the Covenant;
- (d) To encourage the High Commissioner to strengthen the research and analytical capacities of her Office in the field of economic, social and cultural rights and to share her expertise, *inter alia* through the holding of expert meetings;
- (e) To encourage the High Commissioner to continue to ensure better support for the Committee, in particular under the Programme of Action to strengthen the implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (E/1997/22-E/C.12/1996/6, annex VII) adopted by the Committee at its fifteenth session;
- (f) To encourage the High Commissioner to continue to provide or to facilitate practical support aimed at building capacities for the full realization of economic, social and cultural rights;
- (g) To support the efforts carried out by the High Commissioner to implement the proposed Programme of Action designed to enhance the ability of the Committee to assist interested Governments in their reporting obligations and its capacity to process and follow up the examination of States parties' reports and, accordingly, to request States parties to the Covenant to make voluntary financial contributions to ensure the adequate implementation of that Programme of Action;

9. *Requests* the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session a report on the implementation of the present resolution.

70th meeting 20 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. X.]

2001/31. Human rights and extreme poverty

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling that, in accordance with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights recognize that the ideal of free human beings enjoying freedom from fear and want can be achieved only if conditions are created whereby everyone may enjoy his or her economic, social and cultural rights, as well as his or her civil and political rights,

Recalling in particular that article 25 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights stipulates that everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for the health and well-being of himself and of his family, including food, clothing, housing and medical care and necessary social services, and the right to security in the event of unemployment, sickness, disability, widowhood, old age or other lack of livelihood in circumstances beyond his control,

Recalling also that the eradication of widespread poverty, including its most persistent forms, and the full enjoyment of economic, social and cultural rights and civil and political rights remain interrelated goals,

Deeply concerned that, fifty-three years after the adoption of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, extreme poverty continues to spread in all countries of the world, regardless of their economic, social and cultural situation, and that its extent and manifestations, such as hunger, disease, lack of adequate shelter, illiteracy and hopelessness are particularly severe in developing countries, while acknowledging the achievements made in many parts of the world,

Bearing in mind the relevant provisions of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23) adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights,

Recalling in particular that the World Conference reaffirmed that least developed countries committed to the process of democratization and economic reforms, many of which are in Africa, should be supported by the international community in order to succeed in their transition to democracy and economic development,

Bearing in mind the commitments reaffirmed in the United Nations Millennium Declaration, particularly to spare no effort to fight against extreme poverty,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 50/107 of 20 December 1995, in which the Assembly proclaimed the first United Nations Decade for the Eradication of Poverty (1997-2006), and noting the report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of the Decade (A/55/407),

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 53/146 of 9 December 1998, on human rights and extreme poverty, in which the Assembly recalled that the mandate of the independent expert on the question of human rights and extreme poverty should include continuing to take into account the efforts of the poorest people themselves and the conditions in which they could convey their experiences,

Recalling further the Declaration of the Microcredit Summit, held in Washington, D.C., in February 1997, which launched a global campaign to reach one hundred million of the world's poorest families, especially women, with credit for self-employment by the year 2005,

Stressing that, in the Copenhagen Declaration on Social Development and the Programme of Action of the World Summit for Social Development held in March 1995 (A/CONF.166/9, chap. I, resolution 1), Governments committed themselves to endeavouring to ensure that all men and women, especially those living in poverty, could exercise the rights, utilize the resources and share the responsibilities that would enable them to lead satisfying lives and to contribute to the well-being of their families, their communities and humankind and committed themselves to the goal of eradicating poverty throughout the world through national actions and international cooperation, as an ethical, social, political and economic imperative of humankind.

Recalling the report of the Secretary-General on women's real enjoyment of their human rights, in particular those relating to the elimination of poverty, economic development and economic resources (E/CN.4/1998/22-E/CN.6/1998/11),

Noting with satisfaction the progress report submitted by the independent expert in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/12 of 17 April 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/54 and Corr.1) and the conclusions contained therein, in particular concerning the importance of the knowledge of their rights by the poor themselves, the harnessing of their capacities to organize, training for the fight against poverty and the necessary general mobilization, as pillars of a global strategy against poverty,

Taking note of the report of the Expert Seminar on Human Rights and Extreme Poverty (E/CN.4/2001/54/Add.1 and Corr.1), organized by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/12, and its conclusions,

1. *Reaffirms* that:

(a) Extreme poverty and exclusion from society constitute a violation of human dignity and that urgent national and international action is therefore required to eliminate them;

- (b) The right to life includes within it existence in human dignity with the minimum necessities of life;
- (c) It is essential for States to foster participation by the poorest people in the decision-making process in the societies in which they live, in the realization of human rights and in efforts to combat extreme poverty and for people living in poverty and vulnerable groups to be empowered to organize themselves and to participate in all aspects of political, economic and social life, particularly the planning and implementation of policies that affect them, thus enabling them to become genuine partners in development;
- (d) The existence of widespread absolute poverty inhibits the full and effective enjoyment of human rights and renders democracy and popular participation fragile;
- (e) For peace and stability to endure, national action and international action and cooperation are required to promote a better life for all in larger freedom, a critical element of which is the eradication of poverty;
- (f) Special attention must be given to the plight of women and children, who often bear the greatest burden of extreme poverty;

2. *Recalls* that:

- (a) The Copenhagen Declaration on Social Development and the Programme of Action of the World Summit for Social Development, reaffirmed during the twenty-fourth special session of the General Assembly on the follow-up to the World Summit, held in Geneva in June 2000, provide the substantive framework for eradicating poverty by setting specific targets, drawing up plans and implementing programmes;
- (b) To ensure the protection of the rights of all individuals, non-discrimination towards the poorest and the full exercise of all human rights and fundamental freedoms, a better understanding is needed of what is endured by people living in poverty, including women and children, and that thought must be given to the subject, drawing on the experience and ideas of the poorest themselves and of those committed to working alongside them;
- (c) In its resolution 1997/11 of 3 April 1997, it requested the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to give high priority to the question of human rights and extreme poverty, to ensure better cooperation between the institutions and bodies involved, regularly to inform the Assembly of the evolution of the question and to submit specific information on this question at events such as the evaluation, at the halfway point in 2002 and the end-point in 2007, of the first United Nations Decade for the Eradication of Poverty;
- (d) In her report to the Assembly of 11 September 1998 on the mid-term evaluation of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/53/372, annex), the High Commissioner proposed that the Second and Third Committees of the General Assembly should work jointly to

implement the right to development by focusing on the elimination of poverty, with particular emphasis placed on basic security, which is necessary to enable individuals and families to enjoy fundamental rights and assume basic responsibilities;

3. Welcomes the increasing number of events associated with the celebration, on 17 October of each year, of the International Day for the Eradication of Poverty and the opportunity which these events provide to people and populations living in extreme poverty to make their voices heard;

4. Expresses its appreciation:

- (a) That an integrated approach is being followed by the United Nations system in addressing the question of extreme poverty, particularly through the adoption and the implementation of the United Nations action strategy for halving extreme poverty by 2015;
- (b) That the international financial institutions have developed new policies strengthening the human and social dimension of their action;
- (c) For the initiatives taken in many countries by national education authorities to raise awareness among all children and young people of the existence of extreme poverty and the urgent need for united action to enable the poorest people to regain their rights;
- (d) For the priority given by the independent expert to strengthening the means of expression of the poorest people and notes, in that respect, the exhaustive analysis carried out by the World Bank with the poorest people themselves, entitled *Voices of the Poor: Can Anyone Hear Us?*:
- (e) To the independent expert for sending questionnaires to Governments, national human rights institutions and non-governmental organizations to collect their views and experiences in the field of human rights and the eradication of extreme poverty;

5. *Calls upon:*

- (a) The General Assembly, specialized agencies, United Nations bodies and intergovernmental organizations to take into account the contradiction between the existence of situations of extreme poverty and exclusion from society, which must be overcome, and the duty to guarantee full enjoyment of human rights;
- (b) States and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations to continue to take into account, in the activities to be undertaken within the framework of the United Nations Decade for the Eradication of Poverty, the links between human rights and extreme poverty, as well as efforts to empower people living in poverty to participate in decision-making processes on policies that affect them;
- (c) The United Nations to strengthen poverty eradication as a priority throughout the United Nations system;

6. *Invites*:

- (a) The treaty bodies monitoring the application of human rights instruments, especially the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Committee on the Rights of the Child, the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women and the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, to take into account, when considering the reports of States parties, the question of extreme poverty and human rights;
- (b) States, international organizations and non-governmental organizations to submit to the Secretary-General, by the fifty-eighth session of the Commission, their views and comments on the recommendations contained in the report of the independent expert on extreme poverty (E/CN.4/2000/52);
- 7. *Takes note* of the conclusions of the Expert Seminar on Human Rights and Extreme Poverty organized by the High Commissioner in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/12 and:
- (a) Requests the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights to consider the need to develop, on the basis of the various relevant international texts, the ongoing work in other forums, the conclusions and recommendations of the Expert Seminar and any other relevant inputs, in particular those received from Governments, guiding principles on the implementation of existing human rights norms and standards in the context of the fight against extreme poverty and to report to the Commission at its fifty-ninth session;
- (b) Invites States, the United Nations specialized agencies, funds and programmes, the relevant functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the regional economic commissions and the international financial institutions to submit their views on this subject to the Sub-Commission;
- 8. *Decides* to consider this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

71st meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. X.]

2001/32. Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations and expressing in particular the need to achieve international cooperation in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction,

Recalling the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, as well as the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights in June 1993 (A/CONF.157/23),

Recalling also the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights,

Affirming that, while globalization offers great opportunities, at present its benefits are very unevenly shared and costs are unevenly distributed, and that developing countries face difficulties in responding to this central challenge,

Reaffirming the Declaration on the Right to Development adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 41/128 of 4 December 1986, and taking note of the conclusions of the Chairman of the Open-ended working group established to monitor and review progress made in the promotion and implementation of the right to development, which appear in the report of the Working Group (E/CN.4/2001/26, chap. II, sect. G) on its two sessions, the first held in September 2000 and the second in January, February and March 2001,

Recalling its resolution 1999/59 of 28 April 1999 and noting General Assembly resolution 55/102 of 4 December 2000,

Recognizing that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated and that the international community must treat human rights globally in a fair and equal manner, on the same footing and with the same emphasis,

Realizing that globalization affects all countries differently and makes them more susceptible to external developments, positive and negative, including in the field of human rights,

Realizing also that globalization is not merely an economic process but also has social, political, environmental, cultural and legal dimensions which have an impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights,

Recognizing that multilateral mechanisms have a unique role to play in meeting the challenges and opportunities presented by globalization and that the process of globalization must not be used to weaken or reinterpret the principles enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations, which continues to be the foundation for friendly relations among States, as well as for the creation of a more just and equitable international economic system,

Taking note of the Bangkok Declaration adopted at the tenth session of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (TD/390, Part I), which asserted that solidarity and a strong sense of moral responsibility must be the guiding light of national and international policy and that more inclusive, transparent and participatory institutional arrangements for international economic decision-making are required to ensure that the benefits of globalization are accessible to all on an equitable basis,

Deeply concerned at the inadequacy of measures to narrow the widening gap between the developed and the developing countries, which adversely affects the full enjoyment of human rights, particularly in the developing countries,

Also deeply concerned that international cooperation for development has been downplayed on the agenda of the international community, including the United Nations system,

Noting that human beings strive for a world respectful of cultures, identities and human rights and in that regard work to ensure that all activities, including those affected by globalization, are consistent with these aims,

- 1. *Recognizes* that, while globalization, by its impact on, *inter alia*, the role of the State, may affect human rights, the promotion and protection of all human rights is first and foremost the responsibility of the State;
- 2. Also recognizes that, in addition to States' separate responsibilities to their individual societies, they have a collective responsibility to uphold the principles of human dignity, equality and equity at the global level;
- 3. Reaffirms that efforts to make globalization fully inclusive and equitable must include policies and measures at the global level which correspond to the needs of the developing countries, formulated and implemented with their effective participation, and in this regard requests the international economic governance institutions to promote broad-based decision-making;
- 4. *Expresses its concern* that, while globalization holds out the promise of prosperity, it brings with it severe challenges for the developing countries and that the promise of prosperity has not touched the vast majority of the world's population, and affects the enjoyment of their economic, social and cultural rights;
- 5. *Emphasizes* that to fulfil the commitment made at the Millennium Summit to make globalization a positive force for all of the world's people would, *inter alia*, require narrowing the gap between rich and poor, both within and between all countries, and creating an enabling environment for the full enjoyment of human rights by all peoples and for the eradication of poverty;
- 6. *Stresses* that globalization has to be monitored and managed with a view to enhancing its positive impact and alleviating its negative consequences on the enjoyment of all human rights, both at the national and the international levels;
- 7. *Underlines*, therefore, the need for the treaty bodies, special rapporteurs/ representatives, independent experts and working groups of the Commission, within their mandates and where appropriate, to take into consideration in their reports the issue of the impact of globalization on the full enjoyment of all human rights;

- 8. *Takes note* of the preliminary report by the Special Rapporteurs of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/13) and encourages them to take into account the contents of the present resolution in finalizing their study on globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights for consideration by the Commission at its fifty-ninth session;
- 9. Requests the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, in cooperation with the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development to submit a comprehensive report entitled "Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of human rights" for consideration by the Commission, taking into account the provisions of the present resolution;
 - 10. *Decides* to consider this issue again at its fifty-eighth session.

71st meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 37 votes to 15, with 1 abstention. See chap. X.]

2001/33. Access to medication in the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights,

Reaffirming also that the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health is a human right,

Recalling further its resolution 1999/49 of 27 April 1999 and welcoming the report of the Secretary-General on the protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) (E/CN.4/2001/80),

Bearing in mind World Health Assembly resolution WHA53.14 entitled "HIV/AIDS: confronting the epidemic", adopted on 20 May 2000,

Acknowledging that prevention and comprehensive care and support, including treatment and access to medication for those infected and affected by pandemics such as HIV/AIDS, are inseparable elements of an effective response and must be integrated into a comprehensive approach to combat such pandemics,

Recalling the guidelines elaborated at the Second International Consultation on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights held in Geneva from 23 to 25 September 1996 (E/CN.4/1997/37, annex I), in particular guideline 6,

Taking note of General Comment No. 14 (2000) on the right to the highest attainable standard of health (art. 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights), adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights at its twenty-second session in May 2000,

Noting with great concern that, according to the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, the HIV/AIDS pandemic had claimed 21.8 million lives by the end of 2000,

Alarmed that, according to the same source, over 36 million people were infected with the HIV virus by the end of 2000,

Welcoming the recent initiatives by the Secretary-General and relevant United Nations agencies to make HIV/AIDS-related drugs more accessible to developing countries and noting that much more can be done in this regard,

Recognizing that the spread of HIV/AIDS can have a uniquely devastating impact on all sectors and levels of society and stressing that the HIV/AIDS pandemic, if unchecked, may pose a risk to stability and security, as stated in Security Council resolution 1308 (2000) of 17 July 2000,

Emphasizing, in view of the increasing challenges presented by pandemics such as HIV/AIDS, the need for intensified efforts to ensure universal respect for and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all, including by reducing vulnerability to pandemics such as HIV/AIDS and by preventing related discrimination and stigma,

- 1. *Recognizes* that access to medication in the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS is one fundamental element for achieving progressively the full realization of the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health;
- 2. *Calls upon* States to pursue policies, in accordance with applicable international law, including international agreements acceded to, which would promote:
- (a) The availability in sufficient quantities of pharmaceuticals and medical technologies used to treat pandemics such as HIV/AIDS or the most common opportunistic infections that accompany them;
- (b) The accessibility to all without discrimination, including the most vulnerable sectors of the population, of such pharmaceuticals or medical technologies and their affordability for all, including socially disadvantaged groups;
- (c) The assurance that pharmaceuticals or medical technologies used to treat pandemics such as HIV/AIDS or the most common opportunistic infections that accompany them, irrespective of their sources and countries of origin, are scientifically and medically appropriate and of good quality;

- 3. Also calls upon States, at the national level, on a non-discriminatory basis:
- (a) To refrain from taking measures which would deny or limit equal access for all persons to preventive, curative or palliative pharmaceuticals or medical technologies used to treat pandemics such as HIV/AIDS or the most common opportunistic infections that accompany them;
- (b) To adopt legislation or other measures, in accordance with applicable international law, including international agreements acceded to, to safeguard access to such preventive, curative or palliative pharmaceuticals or medical technologies from any limitations by third parties;
- (c) To adopt all appropriate positive measures to the maximum of the resources allocated for this purpose, to promote effective access to such preventive, curative or palliative pharmaceuticals or medical technologies;
- 4. Further calls upon States, at the international level, to take steps, individually and/or through international cooperation, in accordance with applicable international law, including international agreements acceded to, such as:
- (a) To facilitate, wherever possible, access in other countries to essential preventive, curative or palliative pharmaceuticals or medical technologies used to treat pandemics such as HIV/AIDS or the most common opportunistic infections that accompany them, as well as to extend the necessary cooperation, wherever possible, especially in times of emergency;
- (b) To ensure that their actions as members of international organizations take due account of the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health and that the application of international agreements is supportive of public health policies which promote broad access to safe, effective and affordable preventive, curative or palliative pharmaceuticals and medical technologies;
- 5. Calls upon the international community, the developed countries in particular, to continue to assist the developing countries in their fight against pandemics such as HIV/AIDS through financial and technical support as well as training of personnel;
- 6. *Invites* the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, when considering the human rights dimension of combating pandemics such as HIV/AIDS, to give attention to the issue of access to medication and invites States to include appropriate information thereon in the reports they submit to the Committee;
- 7. Requests the Secretary-General to solicit comments from Governments, United Nations organs, programmes and specialized agencies and international and non-governmental organizations on the steps they have taken to promote and implement, where applicable, the present resolution, as well as to report thereon to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;

8. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this matter at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item.

71st meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 52 votes to none with 1 abstention. See chap. X.]

2001/34. Women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action adopted in September 1995 by the Fourth World Conference on Women (A/CONF.177/20, chap. I), the Copenhagen Declaration on Social Development and the Programme of Action of the World Summit for Social Development held in March 1995 (A/CONF.166/9, chap. I, resolution 1), the Habitat Agenda adopted in June 1996 by the World Conference on Human Settlements (Habitat II) (A/CONF.165/14, chap. I, resolution 1, annex II), the report of the Ad Hoc Committee of the Whole of the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly (A/S-23/10/Rev.1) and the report of the Ad Hoc Committee of the Whole of the twenty-fourth special session of the Assembly (A/S-24/8/Rev.1),

Reaffirming the human right to be free from discrimination and the equal right of women and men to the enjoyment of all civil, cultural, economic, political and social rights as stipulated, inter alia, in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,

Recalling its resolution 2000/13 of 17 April 2000 and Commission on the Status of Women resolution 42/1 of 13 March 1998,

Recalling also resolutions 1997/19 of 27 August 1997, 1998/15 of 20 August 1998 and 1999/15 of 25 August 1999 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, formerly the Sub-Commission on the Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities.

Welcoming the findings of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, contained in her report entitled "Economic and social policy and its impact on violence against women" (E/CN.4/2000/68/Add.5) submitted at the previous to session of the Commission, that women's poverty, coupled with a lack of alternative housing options, makes it

difficult for women to leave violent family situations, and reaffirming that forced relocation and forced eviction from home and land have a disproportionately severe impact on women, and encouraging the Special Rapporteur to continue to take these findings into consideration in her future work.

Recognizing that laws, policies, customs and traditions that restrict women's equal access to credit and loans also prevent women from owning and inheriting land, property and housing and exclude women from participating fully in development processes, are discriminatory and may contribute to the feminization of poverty,

Recognizing also that the full and equal participation of women in all spheres of life is essential for the full and complete development of a country,

Stressing that the impact of gender-based discrimination and violence against women on women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing is acute, particularly during complex emergency situations, reconstruction and rehabilitation,

Convinced that international, regional and local trade, finance and investment policies should be designed in such a way that they do not increase gender inequality in terms of ownership of, access to and control over land and the rights to own property and to adequate housing and other productive resources and do not undermine women's capacity to acquire and retain these resources,

Mindful of the fact that elimination of discrimination against women requires consideration of women's specific socio-economic context,

- 1. Affirms that discrimination in law against women with respect to having access to, acquiring and securing land, property and housing, as well as financing for land, property and housing, constitutes a violation of women's human right to protection against discrimination;
- 2. Reaffirms women's right to an adequate standard of living, including adequate housing as enshrined in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights;
- 3. Also reaffirms the obligation of States to take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women by any person, organization or enterprise;
- 4. *Urges* Governments to comply fully with their international and regional obligations and commitments concerning land tenure and the equal rights of women to own property and to an adequate standard of living, including adequate housing;
- 5. Reaffirms Commission on the Status of Women resolution 42/1, which, inter alia, urged States to design and revise laws to ensure that women are accorded full and equal rights to own land and other property, and the right to adequate housing, including through the right to

inheritance, and to undertake administrative reforms and other necessary measures to give women the same right as men to credit, capital, appropriate technologies, access to markets and information:

- 6. Encourages Governments to support the transformation of customs and traditions that discriminate against women and deny women security of tenure and equal ownership of, access to and control over land and equal rights to own property and to adequate housing, to ensure the right of women to equal treatment in land and agrarian reform as well as in land resettlement schemes and in ownership of property and in adequate housing, and to take other measures to increase access to land and housing for women living in poverty, particularly female heads of household;
- 7. Also encourages Governments, specialized agencies and other organizations of the United Nations system, international agencies and non-governmental organizations to provide judges, lawyers, political and other public officials, community leaders and other concerned persons, as appropriate, with information and human rights education concerning women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing;
- 8. *Recommends* that Governments encourage financial lending institutions to ensure that their policies and practices do not discriminate against women;
- 9. Also recommends that international financial institutions, regional, national and local housing financing institutions and other credit facilities promote the participation of women and take into account their views to remove discriminatory policies and practices, giving special consideration to single women and households headed by women, and that these institutions evaluate and measure progress to this end;
- 10. *Invites* the Secretary-General, as Chairman of the Administrative Committee on Coordination, to encourage all organizations and bodies of the United Nations system, individually and collectively, in particular the United Nations Development Programme, the United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (Habitat) and the United Nations Development Fund for Women, to undertake further initiatives that promote women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing, and allocate further resources for studying and documenting the impact of complex emergency situations, particularly with respect to women's equal rights to own land, property and adequate housing;
- 11. *Invites* the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and other relevant international organizations, within their respective mandates, to address discrimination against women with respect to land, property and adequate housing in their technical cooperation programmes and field activities;

- 12. Encourages all human rights treaty bodies, in particular the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, special procedures and other human rights mechanisms of the Commission and the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights regularly and systematically to take a gender perspective into account in the implementation of their mandates, and to integrate the contents of the present resolution into their work, as appropriate;
- 13. *Encourages* the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights and the United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (Habitat) to take into account the contents of the present resolution in the development of the mandate of the United Nations housing rights programme;
- 14. *Requests* the Secretary-General to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the implementation of the present resolution;
- 15. *Decides* to consider the issue of women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda item entitled "Economic, social and cultural rights".

71st meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. X.]

2001/35. Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23), particularly on the question of the human rights to life, health and a sound environment for every individual,

Recalling its earlier resolutions on the subject and, in particular, its resolution 2000/72 of 26 April 2000, General Assembly resolution 46/126 of 17 December 1991 and Economic and Social Council decision 1995/288 of 25 July 1995,

Recalling also General Assembly resolutions 42/183 of 11 December 1987, 43/212 of 20 December 1988, 44/226 of 22 December 1989 and 45/13 of 7 November 1990,

Recalling further the existing international framework on the movement of toxic and hazardous substances and wastes, in particular the Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and Their Disposal, and the regional instruments and arrangements in this regard,

Affirming that the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes constitute a serious threat to the human rights to life and health of individuals, particularly in developing countries that do not have the technologies to process them,

Reaffirming that the international community must treat all human rights in a fair and equal manner, on the same footing and with the same emphasis,

Reaffirming also General Assembly resolution 50/174 of 22 December 1995 on strengthening of United Nations action in the field of human rights through the promotion of international cooperation and the importance of non-selectivity, impartiality and objectivity,

Mindful of the call by the World Conference on Human Rights on all States to adopt and vigorously implement existing conventions relating to the dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes and to cooperate in the prevention of illicit dumping,

Aware of the increasing rate of illicit movement and dumping by transnational corporations and other enterprises from industrialized countries of hazardous and other wastes in developing countries that do not have the national capacity to deal with them in an environmentally sound manner, which constitutes a serious threat to the human rights to life, good health and a sound environment for everyone,

Aware also that many developing countries do not have the national capacities and technologies to process such wastes in order to eradicate or diminish their adverse effects on the human rights to life and health,

- 1. *Takes note* of the report of the Special Rapporteur on the adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights (E/CN.4/2001/55 and Add.1);
- 2. Appreciates the efforts made by the Special Rapporteur in carrying out her mandate in the face of very limited financial resources;
- 3. Categorically condemns the illicit dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes in developing countries, which adversely affects the human rights to life and health of individuals in those countries;
- 4. *Reaffirms* that illicit traffic in and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes constitute a serious threat to the human rights to life, health and a sound environment for every individual;
- 5. Urges all Governments to take appropriate legislative and other measures, in line with their international obligations, to prevent the illegal international trafficking in toxic and hazardous products and wastes, the transfer of toxic and hazardous products and wastes through fraudulent waste-recycling programmes, and the transfer of polluting industries, industrial activities and technologies which generate hazardous wastes from developed to developing countries;

- 6. *Invites* the United Nations Environment Programme, the secretariat for the Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and Their Disposal, the Commission on Sustainable Development, the International Register of Potentially Toxic Chemicals, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the International Labour Organization, the World Health Organization and regional organizations to continue to intensify their coordination and international cooperation and technical assistance on environmentally sound management of toxic chemicals and hazardous wastes, including the question of their transboundary movement;
- 7. *Welcomes* the ongoing work of the secretariat for the Basel Convention and also welcomes the cooperation between the secretariat and:
- (a) The International Criminal Police Organization, in the monitoring and prevention of cases of illegal trafficking through the exchange of information;
- (b) The World Customs Organization, in the training of customs officers and the harmonization of classification systems for effective control at customs border posts;
- 8. Expresses its appreciation to the relevant United Nations bodies, in particular the United Nations Environment Programme and the secretariat for the Basel Convention, for the support extended to the Special Rapporteur and urges them and the international community to continue to give her the necessary support to enable her to discharge her mandate;
- 9. *Urges* the international community and the relevant United Nations bodies, in particular the United Nations Environment Programme and the secretariat for the Basel Convention, to continue to give appropriate support to the developing countries, upon their request, in their efforts to implement the provisions of existing international and regional instruments controlling the transboundary movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes in order to protect and promote the human rights to life and good health of all;
- 10. *Decides* to renew the mandate of the Special Rapporteur for a further period of three years;
- 11. *Urges* the Special Rapporteur to continue to undertake, in consultation with the relevant United Nations bodies and organizations and the secretariats of relevant international conventions, a global, multidisciplinary and comprehensive study of existing problems of and solutions to illicit traffic in and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes, in particular in developing countries, with a view to making concrete recommendations and proposals on adequate measures to control, reduce and eradicate these phenomena;
- 12. Reiterates its request to the Special Rapporteur to continue to consult all relevant United Nations bodies, organizations and secretariats, in particular the Chemicals Division of the United Nations Environment Programme, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and the secretariat for the Basel Convention, and to take duly into account the progress made in other forums and to identify loopholes;

- 13. *Invites* the Special Rapporteur, in accordance with her mandate, to include in her report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session comprehensive information on:
- (a) Persons killed, maimed or otherwise injured in developing countries through the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes;
- (b) The question of the impunity of the perpetrators of these heinous crimes, including racially motivated discriminatory practices, and to recommend measures to bring them to an end;
 - (c) The question of rehabilitation of and assistance to victims;
- (d) The scope of national legislation in relation to transboundary movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes;
- (e) The question of fraudulent waste-recycling programmes, the transfer of polluting industries, industrial activities and technologies from the developed to developing countries, ambiguities in international instruments that allow illegal movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes, and any gaps in the effectiveness of the international regulatory mechanisms;
- 14. *Encourages* the Special Rapporteur, in accordance with her mandate and with the support and assistance of the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, to continue to provide Governments with an appropriate opportunity to respond to allegations transmitted to her and reflected in her report, and to have their observations reflected in the report to the Commission;
- 15. Reiterates its call to the Secretary-General to continue to make all necessary resources available for the Special Rapporteur to carry out her mandate successfully and, in particular:
- (a) To provide her with adequate financial and human resources, including administrative support;
- (b) To provide her with the necessary specialized expertise to enable her to carry out her mandate fully;
- (c) To facilitate her consultations with specialized institutions and agencies, in particular the United Nations Environment Programme and the World Health Organization, with a view to improving the provision by such institutions and agencies of technical assistance to Governments which request it and appropriate assistance to victims;

16. *Decides* to continue consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item.

71st meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 38 votes to 15. See chap. X.]

2001/36. Strengthening of popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination as essential foundations of democracy

The Commission on Human Rights,

Noting General Assembly resolution 55/96 of 4 December 2000 and recalling its own resolution 2000/47 of 25 April 2000,

Reaffirming its commitment to the purposes and principles enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations,

Reaffirming also the commitment of all States to fulfil their obligations to promote universal respect for, and observance and protection of, all human rights and fundamental freedoms for all in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, other instruments relating to human rights, and international law,

Stressing that all peoples have the right of self-determination, by virtue of which they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development,

Recognizing that democracy, development and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms are interdependent and mutually reinforcing,

Recalling that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated and that the international community must treat human rights globally in a fair and equal manner, on the same footing and with the same emphasis,

Reaffirming the commitment made by Member States to strive for the full protection and promotion in all our States of civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights for all,

Considering the major changes taking place on the international scene and the aspirations of all peoples for an international order based on the principles enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations, including promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms for all and respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples, peace, democracy, justice, equality, rule of law, pluralism, development, better standards of living and solidarity,

Welcoming the commitment of all Member States, expressed in the United Nations Millennium Declaration, to work collectively for more inclusive political processes allowing genuine participation by all citizens in all countries,

Welcoming also the pledge of the international community at the World Conference on Human Rights, held at Vienna in June 1993, to support the strengthening and promotion of democracy, development and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout the world,

Recognizing that development can only be sustainable on a long-term basis if development policies are responsive to people's needs and ensure people's participation both in their design and implementation, while stressing the fact that meeting the basic human needs essential for survival is a sine qua non condition for an effective democracy,

Emphasizing that the persistence of extreme poverty inhibits the full and effective enjoyment of human rights and the participation of all citizens in the democratic processes in every society, and that the full participation of everyone in democratic societies fosters and enhances the struggle against poverty,

Recalling that accountable and transparent governance at the national and international levels is critical for the creation of an environment that facilitates the development of democratic, prosperous and peaceful societies,

Stressing the variety of forms, modalities and experiences of democratic societies, taking into account national and regional particularities, the various historical, cultural and religious backgrounds, and the diversity of economic, political, cultural and legal systems,

Recognizing that while all democracies share common features, differences between democratic societies should be neither feared nor repressed, but cherished as a precious asset of humanity,

Aware of the importance of fostering a diversity of social contributions in strengthening people's participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination, including the enhancement of non-governmental organizations, people's organizations, voluntary social organizations, trade unions, the private sector and other actors of civil society,

Recalling the commitment undertaken by States within the framework of the United Nations and other international organizations to work for the promotion of democracy and the rule of law,

1. Affirms that popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination are essential foundations of democracy;

- 2. *Reaffirms* that democracy is based on the freely expressed will of the people to determine their own political, economic, social and cultural systems and their full participation in all aspects of their lives, and that in order to achieve this, full popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination should be strengthened;
- 3. *Also reaffirms* that while all democracies share common features, there is no one universal model of democracy;
- 4. Affirms that the consolidation of democracy requires the promotion and protection of all human rights for everyone, both civil and political rights and economic, social and cultural rights, including the right to development as a universal and inalienable right and an integral part of fundamental human rights, as established in the Declaration on the Right to Development;
- 5. *Reaffirms* that democracy, development and respect for human rights are interdependent and mutually reinforcing;
- 6. *Stresses* that the consolidation of democracy requires that sustained economic growth and sustainable development of countries and communities foster the promotion and consolidation of democracies;
- 7. Declares that full popular participation is only feasible if societies have democratic political and electoral systems which guarantee to all their citizens the possibility both to take part in the government of their country, directly or through freely chosen representatives, and to have equal access to public service, without discrimination of any kind as to race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status;
- 8. *Reaffirms* that the will of the people shall be the basis of the authority of government and that this will shall be expressed in periodic and genuine elections which shall be by universal and equal suffrage and shall be held by secret vote or by equivalent free voting procedures;
- 9. Urges all States to foster a democracy that, inspired by the recognition of the inherent dignity and the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family, promotes people's welfare, rejecting all forms of discrimination and exclusion, facilitates development with equity and justice, and encourages the most comprehensive and full participation of their citizens in the decision-making process and in the debate over diverse issues affecting society;
- 10. Requests all States and the international community further to endeavour to promote effective measures to eradicate poverty and promote just, equitable and inclusive societies;

- 11. *Invites* all mechanisms of the Commission and the human rights treaty bodies to continue taking into account, in the discharge of their respective mandates, the question of strengthening popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination as the foundations of democracy;
- 12. Requests the Secretary-General and the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to bring the present resolution to the attention of Member States, the relevant United Nations organs and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations and to disseminate it on the widest possible basis;
- 13. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this issue at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item.

71st meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 28 votes to 4, with 21 abstentions. See chap. IX.]

2001/37. Human rights and terrorism

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Cooperation among States in Accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and the International Covenants on Human Rights,

Recalling the Declaration on the Occasion of the Fiftieth Anniversary of the United Nations, as well as the Declaration on Measures to Eliminate International Terrorism, adopted by the General Assembly at its fiftieth and forty-ninth sessions, respectively,

Recalling also the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23),

Recalling further General Assembly resolutions 48/122 of 20 December 1993, 49/185 of 23 December 1994, 50/186 of 22 December 1995 and 52/133 of 12 December 1997, as well as its own resolution 2000/30 of 20 April 2000,

Recalling General Assembly resolutions 54/164 of 17 December 1999, and 54/110 of 9 December 1999, in which it decided that the Ad Hoc Committee established by Assembly resolution 51/210 of 17 December 1996 should continue to elaborate a draft international convention for the suppression of acts of nuclear terrorism with a view to completing the instrument, should address means of further developing a comprehensive legal framework of conventions dealing with international terrorism, including considering the elaboration of a comprehensive convention on international terrorism, and should address the question of

convening a high-level conference under the auspices of the United Nations to formulate a joint organized response of the international community to terrorism in all its forms and manifestations,

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 54/109 of 9 December 1999, in which the Assembly adopted the International Convention for the Suppression of the Financing of Terrorism,

Taking note of decision 2000/115 of 18 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights,

Also taking note of General Assembly resolution 55/158 of 12 December 2000 in which the Assembly stressed the need to strengthen further international cooperation between States and between international organizations and agencies, regional organizations and arrangements and the United Nations in order to prevent, combat and eliminate terrorism in all its forms and manifestations, wherever and by whomever committed, in accordance with the principles of the Charter, international law and relevant international conventions,

Further taking note of the United Nations Millennium Declaration adopted by the General Assembly on 8 September 2000 at its fifty-fifth session,

Regretting that the negative impact of terrorism, in all its dimensions, on human rights continues to remain alarming, despite national and international efforts to combat it,

Convinced that terrorism, in all its forms and manifestations, wherever and by whomever committed, can never be justified in any instance, including as a means to promote and protect human rights,

Bearing in mind that the most essential and basic human right is the right to life,

Bearing in mind also that terrorism creates an environment that destroys the freedom from fear of the people,

Bearing in mind further that terrorism in many cases poses a severe challenge to democracy, civil society and the rule of law,

Profoundly deploring the large number of innocent persons, including women, children and the elderly, killed, massacred and maimed by terrorists in indiscriminate and random acts of violence and terror, which cannot be justified under any circumstances,

Alarmed in particular at the possibility that terrorist groups may exploit new technologies to facilitate acts of terrorism which may cause massive damage, including huge loss of human life,

Noting with great concern that many terrorist groups are connected with other criminal organizations engaged in the illegal traffic in arms and illicit drug trafficking at the national and international levels, as well as the consequent commission of serious crimes such as murder, extortion, kidnapping, assault, taking of hostages, robbery, money laundering and rape,

Emphasizing the need to intensify the fight against terrorism at the national level, to enhance effective international cooperation in combating terrorism in conformity with international law and to strengthen the role of the United Nations in this respect,

Reiterating that all States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms, and that everyone should strive to secure their universal and effective recognition and observance,

Recognizing the need to improve international cooperation on criminal matters and national measures so as to address impunity, which can contribute to the continued occurrence of terrorism,

Emphasizing the importance of Member States taking appropriate steps to deny safe haven to those who plan, finance or commit terrorist acts by ensuring their apprehension and prosecution or extradition,

Reaffirming that all measures to counter terrorism must be in strict conformity with international law, including international human rights standards,

Seriously concerned at the gross violations of human rights perpetrated by terrorist groups,

Taking note of the growing consciousness of the international community of the negative effects of terrorism in all its forms and manifestations on the full enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms and on the establishment of the rule of law and democratic freedoms as enshrined in the Charter and the International Covenants on Human Rights,

- 1. Reiterates its unequivocal condemnation of all acts, methods and practices of terrorism, regardless of their motivation, in all their forms and manifestations, wherever and by whomever committed, as acts aimed at the destruction of human rights, fundamental freedoms and democracy, threatening the territorial integrity and security of States, destabilizing legitimately constituted Governments, undermining pluralistic civil society and the rule of law and having adverse consequences for the economic and social development of the State;
- 2. *Condemns* the violations of the right to live free from fear and of the right to life, liberty and security;
 - 3. Expresses its solidarity with the victims of terrorism;
 - 4. *Condemns* incitement of ethnic hatred, violence and terrorism;

- 5. Urges States to fulfil their obligations under the Charter and other provisions of international law, in strict conformity with international law, including human rights standards, to prevent, combat and eliminate terrorism in all its forms and manifestations, wherever and by whomever committed, and calls upon States to strengthen, where appropriate, their legislation to combat terrorism in all its forms and manifestations;
- 6. *Urges* the international community to enhance cooperation at the regional and international levels in the fight against terrorism in all its forms and manifestations, in accordance with relevant international instruments, including those relating to human rights, with the aim of eradicating it;
- 7. Calls upon States, in particular within their respective national frameworks and in conformity with their international commitments in the field of human rights, to enhance their cooperation with a view to bringing terrorists to justice;
- 8. Also calls upon States to take appropriate measures, in conformity with the relevant provisions of national and international law, including international human rights standards, before granting refugee status, for the purpose of ensuring that an asylum-seeker has not participated in terrorist acts, including assassinations;
- 9. *Urges* all relevant human rights mechanisms and procedures, as appropriate, to address the consequences of the acts, methods and practices of terrorist groups in their forthcoming reports to the Commission;
- 10. Requests the Secretary-General to continue to collect information, including a compilation of studies and publications, on the implications of terrorism, as well as the effects of the fight against terrorism, on the full enjoyment of human rights from all relevant sources, including Governments, specialized agencies, intergovernmental organizations, non-governmental organizations and academic institutions, and to make it available to the concerned special rapporteurs, including the Special Rapporteur on terrorism and human rights of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, and all concerned working groups of the Commission for their consideration;
- 11. *Endorses* the Sub-Commission's request to the Secretary-General to give the Special Rapporteur all the assistance necessary, in order to hold consultations with the competent services and bodies of the United Nations system to complement her essential research and to collect all the needed and up-to-date information and data for the preparation of her progress report;
- 12. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur to give attention in her next report on human rights and terrorism to the questions raised in the present resolution;

13. *Decides* to remain seized of the matter at its fifty-eighth session.

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 33 votes to 14, with 6 abstentions. See chap, XI.]

2001/38. Hostage-taking

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which guarantees the right to life, liberty and security of person, freedom from torture or degrading treatment, freedom of movement and protection from arbitrary detention,

Recalling also the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23),

Taking into account the International Convention against the Taking of Hostages, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 34/146 of 17 December 1979, which also recognizes that everyone has the right to life, liberty and security of person and that the taking of hostages is an offence of grave concern to the international community, as well as the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of Crimes against Internationally Protected Persons, including Diplomatic Agents, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 3166 (XXVIII) of 14 December 1973,

Bearing in mind the relevant Security Council resolutions condemning all cases of hostage-taking,

Recalling its previous resolutions on the subject, including its most recent, resolution 2000/29 of 20 April 2000, in which it condemned the taking of any person as a hostage,

Concerned that, despite the efforts of the international community, acts of hostage-taking in different forms and manifestations, *inter alia*, those committed by terrorists and armed groups, continue to take place and have even increased in many regions of the world,

Appealing for the humanitarian action of humanitarian organizations, in particular of the International Committee of the Red Cross and its delegates, to be respected, in accordance with the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and the Additional Protocols thereto of 1977,

Recognizing that hostage-taking calls for resolute, firm and concerted efforts on the part of the international community in order, in strict conformity with international human rights standards, to bring such abhorrent practices to an end,

- 1. *Reaffirms* that hostage-taking, wherever and by whomever committed, is an illegal act aimed at the destruction of human rights and is, under any circumstances, unjustifiable, including as a means to promote and protect human rights;
- 2. *Condemns* all acts of hostage-taking, including through hijacking, anywhere in the world;
- 3. *Demands* that all hostages be released immediately and without any preconditions, and expresses its solidarity with the victims of hostage-taking;
- 4. *Calls upon* States to take all necessary measures, in accordance with relevant provisions of international law and international human rights standards, to prevent, combat and punish acts of hostage-taking, including by strengthening international cooperation in this field;
- 5. *Urges* all thematic special rapporteurs and working groups to continue to address, as appropriate, the consequences of hostage-taking in their forthcoming reports to the Commission;
 - 6. *Decides* to remain seized of this matter.

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/39. Independence and impartiality of the judiciary, jurors and assessors and the independence of lawyers

The Commission on Human Rights.

Guided by articles 7, 8, 10 and 11 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and articles 2, 14 and 26 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, and bearing in mind the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23), in particular Part I, paragraph 27, and Part II, paragraphs 88, 90 and 95, thereof,

Convinced that an independent and impartial judiciary and an independent legal profession are essential prerequisites for the protection of human rights and for ensuring that there is no discrimination in the administration of justice,

Recalling its resolution 1994/41 of 4 March 1994, in which it requested the Chairman of the Commission to appoint, for a period of three years, a special rapporteur on the independence and impartiality of the judiciary, jurors and assessors and the independence of lawyers, and its resolution 2000/42 of 20 April 2000, in which it decided to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur for a further period of three years,

Recalling also its resolution 1995/36 of 3 March 1995, in which it endorsed the decision of the Special Rapporteur to use, beginning in 1995, the short title "Special Rapporteur on the independence of judges and lawyers",

Recalling further General Assembly resolution 40/32 of 29 November 1985 and Assembly resolution 40/146 of 13 December 1985, in which the Assembly endorsed the Basic Principles on the Independence of the Judiciary, adopted by the Seventh United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 45/166 of 18 December 1990, in which the Assembly welcomed the Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers and the Guidelines on the Role of Prosecutors, adopted by the Eighth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, and invited Governments to respect them and to take them into account within the framework of their national legislation and practice,

Recalling also the recommendations adopted by the Ninth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders regarding, among other things, the invitation addressed to Member States to ensure the independence and impartiality of the judiciary and the proper functioning of prosecutorial and legal services in the field of penal justice and police affairs, taking into account the Basic Principles on the Independence of the Judiciary,

Recalling further the Statement of Principles on the Independence of the Judiciary, adopted in Beijing in August 1995 by the Sixth Conference of Chief Justices of Asia and the Pacific, and the Cairo Declaration, adopted in November 1995 by the Third Conference of Francophone Ministers of Justice,

Acknowledging the importance for the Special Rapporteur of being able to cooperate closely, in the framework of his mandate, with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in the field of advisory services and technical cooperation, which could contribute to guaranteeing the independence of judges and lawyers,

Recognizing the importance of the role of non-governmental organizations, bar associations and professional associations of judges in the defence of the principles of the independence of lawyers and judges,

Noting with concern the increasingly frequent attacks on their independence suffered by judges, lawyers and court officers, and aware of the close link between the weakening of safeguards for judges, lawyers and court officers and the frequency and gravity of violations of human rights,

1. *Takes note* of the report of the Special Rapporteur on the independence of judges and lawyers on the activities relating to his mandate (E/CN.4/2001/65 and Add.1-3);

- 2. Also takes note of the cooperative working methods that the Special Rapporteur has adopted to draw up his report and implement his mandate, as described in Commission resolution 1994/41;
- 3. *Welcomes* the numerous exchanges the Special Rapporteur has had with several intergovernmental and international organizations and United Nations bodies, and encourages him to continue along this path;
- 4. *Notes with appreciation* the determination of the Special Rapporteur to achieve as wide dissemination as possible of information about existing standards relating to the independence and impartiality of the judiciary and the independence of the legal profession in conjunction with the publications and promotional activities of the Office of the High Commissioner;
- 5. *Invites* the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to continue to provide technical assistance to train judges and lawyers and to associate the Special Rapporteur in the elaboration of a manual on the training of judges and lawyers in the field of human rights;
- 6. *Urges* all Governments to assist the Special Rapporteur in the discharge of his mandate and to transmit to him all the information requested;
- 7. Encourages Governments that face difficulties in guaranteeing the independence of judges and lawyers, or that are determined to take measures to implement these principles further, to consult and to consider the services of the Special Rapporteur, for instance by inviting him to their country if they deem it necessary;
- 8. Requests the Special Rapporteur to submit a report on the activities relating to his mandate to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session and decides to consider this question at that session;
- 9. *Requests* the Secretary-General, within the limits of the United Nations regular budget, to provide the Special Rapporteur with any assistance needed for the discharge of his mandate.

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/40. Question of arbitrary detention

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming articles 3, 9, 10 and 29, as well as other relevant provisions, of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Recalling articles 9, 10, 11 and 14 to 22 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,

Bearing in mind that, in accordance with its resolution 1991/42 of 5 March 1991, the task of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention is to investigate cases of detention imposed arbitrarily or otherwise inconsistently with the relevant international standards set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights or in the relevant international legal instruments accepted by the States concerned,

Reaffirming its resolution 2000/36 of 20 April 2000,

- 1. *Takes note* of:
- (a) The report of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention (E/CN.4/2001/14 and Add.1);
- (b) The work of the Working Group and underlines the positive initiatives it has taken to strengthen cooperation and dialogue with States and the establishment of cooperation with all those concerned by the cases submitted to it for consideration, in accordance with its mandate;
- (c) The importance that the Working Group attaches to coordination with other mechanisms of the Commission, with other competent United Nations bodies and with treaty bodies, as well as to the strengthening of the role of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in such coordination and encourages the Working Group to take all necessary measures to avoid duplication with those mechanisms, in particular regarding the treatment of the communications it receives and field visits;
- 2. Recalls the adoption by the Working Group of its Deliberation No. 5 (E/CN.4/2000/4, annex II), which relates to the situation of immigrants and asylum-seekers and guarantees concerning persons held in custody, with a view to ensuring better prevention;
- 3. Requests the Governments concerned to take account of the Working Group's views and, where necessary, to take appropriate steps to remedy the situation of persons arbitrarily deprived of their liberty and to inform the Working Group of the steps they have taken;
 - 4. *Encourages* the Governments concerned:
- (a) To implement the recommendations of the Working Group concerning persons mentioned in its report who have been detained for a number of years;
- (b) To take appropriate measures in order to ensure that their legislation in these fields is in conformity with the relevant international standards and the relevant international legal instruments applicable to the States concerned;

- (c) Not to extend states of emergency beyond what is strictly required by the situation, in accordance with the provisions of article 4 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, or to limit their effects;
- 5. *Encourages* all Governments to invite the Working Group to visit their countries so that it may carry out its mandate even more effectively;
- 6. Requests the Governments concerned to give the necessary attention to the "urgent appeals" addressed to them by the Working Group on a strictly humanitarian basis and without prejudging its possible final conclusions;
- 7. Expresses its profound thanks to the Governments which have extended their cooperation to the Working Group and responded to its requests for information, and invites all Governments concerned to demonstrate the same spirit of cooperation;
- 8. *Takes note with satisfaction* of the fact that the Working Group has been informed of the release of some of the individuals whose situation has been brought to its attention, while deploring the many cases which have not yet been resolved;
 - 9. *Notes* the concerns expressed by the Working Group in its report;
 - 10. *Requests* the Secretary-General:
- (a) To extend his assistance to Governments expressing the wish to receive it, and to the special rapporteurs and working groups, with a view to ensuring the promotion and observance of the guarantees relating to states of emergency that are laid down in the relevant international instruments;
- (b) To ensure that the Working Group receives all necessary assistance, particularly with regard to the staffing and resources needed to continue to discharge its mandate, especially in respect of field missions;
- 11. Requests the Working Group to submit to it, at its fifty-eighth session, a report on its activities and on the implementation of the present resolution and to include any suggestions and recommendations which would enable it to carry out its task in the best possible way and to continue its consultations to that end in the framework of its terms of reference;
- 12. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session under the relevant agenda item.

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/41. Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling all relevant resolutions of the General Assembly and the Commission, taking note in particular of Assembly resolutions 55/96 of 4 December 2000 and 55/43 of 27 November 2000, and recalling its own resolution 2000/47 of 25 April 2000,

Reaffirming its commitment to the process of democratization of States, and recognizing that democracy, development and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms are interdependent and mutually reinforcing, and that democracy is based on the freely expressed will of people to determine their own political, economic, social and cultural systems and their full participation in all aspects of their lives,

Reaffirming commitments undertaken by Member States for the promotion of democracy and the rule of law, within the framework of the United Nations and other international organizations,

Noting the initiatives taken by the countries which participated in the fourth International Conference of New or Restored Democracies, held in Cotonou, Benin, from 4 to 6 December 2000 and the Cotonou Declaration adopted there,

Noting also the ministerial conference entitled "Towards a Community of Democracies", hosted by the Government of Poland on 26 and 27 June 2000, and the Warsaw Declaration adopted by that meeting, the International Symposium on the Practices of Democracy, Rights and Freedoms in the French-speaking Community, held in Mali, from 1 to 3 November 2000, and the Organization of American States seminar on the role of regional and multilateral organizations in the promotion and defence of democracy held from 20 to 21 February 2001,

Recognizing the need continuously to promote respect for democratic values and principles, and to improve the functioning of democratic institutions and mechanisms,

Also recognizing and respecting the rich and diverse nature of the community of the world's democracies, which arises out of all the world's social, cultural and religious beliefs and traditions.

Noting the Human Development Report 2000 issued by the United Nations Development Programme, which illustrates the close link between democracy and good governance on the one hand, and economic development and poverty alleviation on the other hand,

Noting the report of the Secretary-General on support by the United Nations system of the efforts of Governments to promote and consolidate new or restored democracies (A/55/489),

- 1. *Invites* Member States to continue to foster and participate in a systematic dialogue on the building up of democratic societies and the factors of success and failure in the democratization processes, and notes recent conferences on democracy held since the fifty-sixth session of the Commission;
- 2. Welcomes steps taken in a number of countries to promote and consolidate the foundations of still-fragile democratic institutions and the restoration of democracy in a number of nations since the fifty-sixth session of the Commission;
- 3. *Reaffirms* that democracy, development and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms are interdependent and mutually reinforcing;
- 4. Also reaffirms that free and fair elections are an essential feature of democracy and must be part of a broader process that strengthens democratic principles, values, institutions, mechanisms and practices, which underpin formal democratic structures and the rule of law;
- 5. *Encourages* particular attention to be given to the recommendations of the Secretary-General that the United Nations should work to develop integrated democracy assistance programmes and common country strategies that are locally owned and involve a wide array of local actors;
- 6. *Also encourages* the development of broad-based democracy expertise drawn from all regions of the world;
- 7. Calls for information sharing and improved coordination in the United Nations system so as to facilitate the exchange of lessons learned and best practices in promoting and consolidating democracy;
- 8. *Invites* all Governments, relevant intergovernmental organizations and interested non-governmental organizations to continue and deepen debates aimed at identifying ways and means to promote and consolidate democracy;
- 9. Calls upon the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to build upon the work of the aforementioned initiatives and contributions from Member States, and to organize an expert seminar to examine the interdependence between democracy and human rights, to be funded by voluntary contributions, and to include observers from interested Governments, experts of the United Nations specialized agencies, funds and programmes, other relevant intergovernmental organizations and interested non-governmental organizations;
- 10. *Requests* the Office of the High Commissioner to report on the conclusions of the expert seminar to the Commission at its fifty-ninth session;

- 11. *Requests* the Secretary-General and the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to bring the present resolution to the attention of Member States, the competent United Nations organs and relevant intergovernmental and interested non-governmental organizations, and to disseminate it on the widest possible basis;
- 12. *Decides* to continue consideration of the matter at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 44 votes to none, with 9 abstentions. See chap. XI.]

2001/42. Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling that all States have pledged themselves, under the Charter of the United Nations, to promote and encourage universal respect for and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Recalling also, that this year marks the twentieth anniversary of the adoption of General Assembly resolution 36/55 of 25 November 1981, by which it proclaimed the Declaration on the Elimination of All Forms of Intolerance and of Discrimination Based on Religion or Belief,

Recalling further article 18 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, article 18 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and other relevant provisions,

Reaffirming the call of the World Conference on Human Rights upon all Governments to take all appropriate measures in compliance with their international obligations and with due regard to their respective legal systems to counter intolerance and related violence based on religion or belief, including practices of discrimination against women and the desecration of religious sites, recognizing that every individual has the right to freedom of thought, conscience, expression and religion,

Alarmed that serious instances of intolerance and discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief, including acts of violence, intimidation and coercion motivated by religious intolerance, occur in many parts of the world and threaten the enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Deeply concerned at the increase in violence and discrimination against religious minorities, including restrictive legislation and arbitrary application of legislation and other measures,

Gravely concerned at all attacks upon religious places, sites and shrines, and in particular at the recent deliberate destruction of relics and monuments in certain parts of the world,

Emphasizing that the right to freedom of thought, conscience, religion and belief is far-reaching and profound, and that it encompasses freedom of thought on all matters, personal conviction and the commitment to religion or belief, whether manifested individually or in community with others,

Taking note of the United Nations Millennium Declaration adopted by the General Assembly and of Assembly resolution 55/23 of 13 November 2000 on the United Nations Year of Dialogue among Civilizations, which recognize the valuable contribution that dialogue among civilizations can make to an improved awareness and understanding of the common values shared by all humankind,

Recalling Commission resolution 2000/33 of 20 April 2000 in which the title of the Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance was changed to Special Rapporteur on freedom of religion or belief,

- 1. *Welcomes* the report of the Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance (E/CN.4/2001/63);
- 2. *Condemns* all forms of intolerance and of discrimination based on religion or belief;
- 3. *Encourages* the efforts made by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to coordinate in the field of human rights the activities of relevant United Nations organs, bodies and mechanisms dealing with all forms of intolerance and of discrimination based on religion or belief;
 - 4. *Urges* States:
- (a) To ensure that their constitutional and legislative systems provide adequate and effective guarantees of freedom of thought, conscience, religion and belief to all without distinction, *inter alia* by the provision of effective remedies in cases where the right to freedom of religion or belief, including the right to change one's religion or belief, is violated;
- (b) To ensure, in particular, that no one within their jurisdiction is deprived of the right to life or the right to liberty and security of person because of religion or belief, or is subjected to torture or arbitrary arrest or detention on that account;
- (c) In conformity with international standards of human rights, to take all necessary action to combat hatred, intolerance and acts of violence, intimidation and coercion motivated by intolerance based on religion or belief, with particular regard to religious minorities, and to devote particular attention to practices which violate the human rights of women and discriminate against women;

- (d) To recognize the right of all persons to worship or assemble in connection with a religion or belief and to establish and maintain places for these purposes;
- (e) To exert utmost efforts, in accordance with their national legislation and in conformity with international human rights standards, to ensure that religious places, sites and shrines are fully respected and protected and to take additional measures in cases where they are vulnerable to desecration or destruction;
- (f) To ensure that all public officials, including members of law enforcement bodies, in the course of their official duties respect different religions and beliefs and do not discriminate on the grounds of religion or belief and to provide any necessary education and training;
- (g) To promote and encourage, through education and other means, understanding, tolerance and respect in all matters relating to freedom of religion or belief;
- 5. *Emphasizes* that, as underlined by the Human Rights Committee, restrictions on the freedom to manifest religion or belief are permitted only if limitations are prescribed by law, are necessary to protect public safety, order, health or morals, or the fundamental rights and freedoms of others, and are applied in a manner that does not vitiate the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion;
- 6. *Encourages* the continuing efforts of the Special Rapporteur to examine incidents and governmental actions in all parts of the world that are incompatible with the provisions of the Declaration on the Elimination of All Forms of Intolerance and of Discrimination Based on Religion or Belief, and to recommend remedial measures as appropriate;
- 7. *Stresses* the need for the Special Rapporteur to continue to apply a gender perspective, *inter alia* through the identification of gender-specific abuses, in the reporting process, including in information collection and in recommendations;
- 8. *Notes* that the Special Rapporteur has undertaken two separate studies on religious discrimination and racism as a valuable input to the preparatory process for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance to take place in Durban, South Africa, in 2001 and suggests that his recommendations on religious intolerance which have a bearing on the World Conference be considered during its preparatory process;
- 9. *Calls upon* all Governments to cooperate fully with the Special Rapporteur, to respond favourably to requests from the Special Rapporteur to visit their countries and to give serious consideration to inviting the Special Rapporteur to visit so as to enable him to fulfil his mandate even more effectively;
- 10. *Welcomes* the work of the Special Rapporteur and reiterates the need for him to be able to respond effectively to credible and reliable information that comes before him, and

invites him to continue to seek the views and comments of Governments concerned in the elaboration of his report, as well as to continue to carry out his work with discretion, objectivity and independence;

- 11. *Decides* to extend for three years the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance, with the new title of Special Rapporteur on freedom of religion or belief;
- 12. Recognizes that the exercise of tolerance and non-discrimination by all actors in society is necessary for the full realization of the aims of the Declaration and invites Governments, religious bodies and civil society, during the year marking the twentieth anniversary of the adoption of the Declaration, to undertake dialogue at all levels to promote greater tolerance, respect and understanding of freedom of religion and belief;
- 13. Welcomes the initiatives of Governments to collaborate with the Special Rapporteur, including the convening of the International Consultative Conference on School Education in relation to Freedom of Religion and Belief, Tolerance and Non-Discrimination to be held in Madrid in November 2001, and encourages the full participation of Governments, religious bodies, experts and non-governmental organizations in the conference;
- 14. Welcomes and encourages the continuing efforts of non-governmental organizations and religious bodies and groups to promote the implementation of the Declaration, to foster freedom of religion and belief and in highlighting cases of religious intolerance, discrimination and persecution;
- 15. Recommends that the United Nations and other actors, in their efforts to promote freedom of religion and belief, ensure the widest possible dissemination of the text of the Declaration, in as many different languages as possible, by United Nations information centres, as well as by other interested bodies;
 - 16. Decides to continue its consideration of measures to implement the Declaration;
- 17. *Requests* the Secretary-General to ensure that the Special Rapporteur receives the necessary resources to enable him fully to discharge his mandate;
- 18. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 19. *Decides* to consider the question of the elimination of all forms of religious intolerance at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/43. The incompatibility between democracy and racism

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Charter of the United Nations, the International Covenants on Human Rights and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination,

Recalling the commitment reached in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23) concerning the elimination of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance,

Recalling also its resolution 2000/40 of 20 April 2000,

Mindful of the responsibility of Governments to ensure such equality as is established in the relevant international and regional human rights instruments, *inter alia*, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination,

Reaffirming that acts of racial violence and discrimination do not constitute legitimate expressions of opinion, but rather are offences,

Remaining alarmed by the rise of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance in political circles, in the sphere of public opinion and in society at large,

Recognizing the fundamental role of education and other active policies in the promotion of tolerance and respect for others and in the construction of pluralistic and inclusive societies,

- 1. Remains convinced that political platforms and organizations based on racism, xenophobia or doctrines of racial superiority and related discrimination must be condemned as incompatible with democracy and transparent and accountable governance;
- 2. *Condemns* legislation and practices based on racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance as incompatible with democracy and transparent and accountable governance;
- 3. *Reaffirms* that racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance condoned by governmental policies violates human rights and may endanger friendly relations among peoples, cooperation among nations, international peace and security and the harmony of persons living side by side within one and the same State;
- 4. *Urges* States to reinforce their commitment to promote tolerance and to fight against racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance as a way to strengthen democracy and transparent and accountable governance;

- 5. *Invites* the mechanisms of the Commission and the treaty bodies, in particular the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, to continue to pay particular attention to violations of human rights stemming from the rise of racism and xenophobia in political circles and society at large, especially as regards their incompatibility with democracy;
- 6. *Takes note* of the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (E/CN.4/2001/60);
- 7. *Invites* the High Commissioner to submit an analytical report on the main trends and governmental policies regarding this subject, especially on the development of political parties with racist platforms, as well as actions to counter such trends, to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 8. *Decides* to continue consideration of the matter at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/44. Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 1992/43 of 3 March 1992, in which it established an open-ended working group to elaborate a draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, using as a basis for its discussions the draft text proposed by the Government of Costa Rica at the forty-seventh session of the Commission (E/CN.4/1991/66), and decided to consider the question at its forty-ninth session,

Recalling also the subsequent resolutions on the subject and in particular decision 2000/262 of 28 July 2000 of the Economic and Social Council, in which the Council authorized the working group to meet in order to continue its work,

Recalling further that the World Conference on Human Rights firmly declared that efforts to eradicate torture should, first and foremost, be concentrated on prevention and called for the early adoption of an optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, which is intended to establish a preventive system of regular visits to places of detention,

1. *Takes note* of the report of the Open-ended working group on a draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (E/CN.4/2001/67);

- 2. Requests the working group, in order to continue its work, to meet prior to the fifty-eighth session of the Commission for a period of two weeks, with a view to completing expeditiously a final and substantive text, and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 3. Requests the Secretary-General to transmit the report of the working group to all Governments, the specialized agencies, the chairpersons of the human rights treaty bodies and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, and to invite them to submit their comments to the working group;
- 4. *Also requests* the Secretary-General to invite Governments, the specialized agencies and relevant intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, as well as the Chairperson of the Committee against Torture and the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture, to participate if needed in the activities of the working group;
- 5. Further requests the Secretary-General to extend all necessary facilities to the working group for its meeting prior to the fifty-eighth session of the Commission;
- 6. *Encourages* the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the working group to conduct informal inter-sessional consultations with all interested parties in order to facilitate the completion of a consolidated text;
- 7. *Decides* to examine the report of the working group at its fifty-eighth session under the same sub-item;
- 8. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 24.]

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/45. Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which guarantees the right to life, liberty and security of person, and the relevant provisions of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,

Having regard to the legal framework of the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, including the provisions contained in Commission resolution 1992/72 of 5 March 1992 and General Assembly resolution 47/136 of 18 December 1992,

Mindful of General Assembly resolutions on the subject of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, of which the latest is resolution 55/111 of 4 December 2000, in which the Assembly requested the Special Rapporteur to submit to it at its fifty-seventh session an interim report on the situation worldwide in regard to extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and her recommendations for more effective action to combat that phenomenon,

Recalling Economic and Social Council resolution 1984/50 of 25 May 1984 and the Safeguards guaranteeing protection of the rights of those facing the death penalty, annexed thereto, and Council resolution 1989/64 of 24 May 1989 on their implementation, as well as the Declaration of Basic Principles of Justice for Victims of Crime and Abuse of Power, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 40/34 of 29 November 1985,

Recalling also Economic and Social Council resolution 1989/65 of 24 May 1989, in which the Council recommended the Principles on the Effective Prevention and Investigation of Extra-legal, Arbitrary and Summary Executions,

Deeply alarmed at the persistence, on a large scale, of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, in all parts of the world,

Dismayed that in a number of countries impunity, the negation of justice, continues to prevail and often remains the main cause of the continued occurrence of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions in those countries,

Acknowledging the historic significance of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9),

Welcoming the fact that a large number of States have already signed and/or ratified or acceded to the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court,

Convinced of the need for effective action to combat and to eliminate the abhorrent practice of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, which represent a flagrant violation of the fundamental right to life,

- 1. Strongly condemns once again all the extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions that continue to take place throughout the world;
- 2. *Demands* that all Governments ensure that the practice of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions is brought to an end and that they take effective action to combat and eliminate the phenomenon in all its forms;

- 3. *Notes* that impunity continues to be a major cause of the perpetuation of violations of human rights, including extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions;
- 4. *Calls upon* all States to consider ratifying or acceding to the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court;
- 5. Appreciates the work done by the Special Rapporteur in combating extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and takes note of her report (E/CN.4/2001/9 and Corr.1 and Add.1-2), including the attention given therein to, and the recommendations on, various aspects and situations of violations of the right to life by extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions;
- 6. Reiterates the obligation of all Governments to conduct exhaustive and impartial investigations into all suspected cases of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, to identify and bring to justice those responsible, while ensuring the right of every person to a fair and public hearing by a competent, independent and impartial tribunal established by law, to grant adequate compensation to the victims or their families and to adopt all necessary measures, including legal and judicial measures in order to bring an end to impunity, to prevent the recurrence of such executions;
- 7. Also reiterates the obligation of Governments to ensure the protection of the inherent right to life of all persons under their jurisdiction and calls upon Governments concerned to investigate promptly and thoroughly cases of killings committed in the name of passion or in the name of honour, all killings committed for any discriminatory reason, killings of persons for reasons related to their peaceful activities as human rights defenders or as journalists, and racially motivated violence leading to the death of the victim, as well as other cases where a person's right to life has been violated, all of which are being committed in various parts of the world, and to bring those responsible to justice before a competent, independent and impartial judiciary, and to ensure that such killings are neither condoned nor sanctioned by government officials or personnel;
- 8. Calls upon the Governments of all States in which the death penalty has not been abolished to comply with their obligations as assumed under relevant provisions of international human rights instruments, including in particular articles 6 and 14 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and article 37 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child, keeping in mind the safeguards and guarantees set out in Economic and Social Council resolutions 1984/50 and 1989/64;
- 9. Urges Governments to undertake all necessary and possible measures to prevent loss of life, in particular that of children, during situations of public demonstrations, internal and communal violence, civil unrest and public emergency or armed conflicts, and to ensure that the police and security forces receive thorough training in human rights matters, in particular with regard to restrictions on the use of force and firearms in the discharge of their functions;

- 10. *Stresses* the importance of States' taking effective measures to end impunity with regard to extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, *inter alia* through the adoption of preventive measures, and calls upon Governments to ensure that such measures are included in post-conflict peace-building efforts;
- 11. Encourages Governments, United Nations bodies and organs, the specialized agencies and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, as appropriate, to initiate, coordinate or support programmes designed to train and educate military forces, law enforcement officers and government officials, as well as members of United Nations peacekeeping or observer missions, on human rights and humanitarian law issues connected with their work, and appeals to the international community to support endeavours to that end;
- 12. Appeals to all Governments to ensure that all persons deprived of their liberty are treated with humanity and with respect for the inherent dignity of the human person and that conditions in places of detention conform to the Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners and, where applicable, to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and the Additional Protocols thereto of 1977 in relation to the treatment of prisoners in armed conflicts, as well as to other pertinent international instruments;
- 13. Expresses its appreciation to those Governments that have invited the Special Rapporteur to visit their countries, asks them to examine carefully the recommendations made by the Special Rapporteur, invites them to report to the Special Rapporteur on the actions taken on those recommendations and requests other Governments, including those mentioned in the report of the Special Rapporteur, to cooperate in a similar way;
- 14. Commends the important role the Special Rapporteur has played towards the elimination of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and encourages the Special Rapporteur to continue, within the framework of her mandate, to collect information from all concerned, to respond effectively to reliable information that comes before her, to follow up on communications and country visits and to seek the views and comments of Governments and to reflect them as appropriate in the elaboration of her reports;
 - 15. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur, in carrying out her mandate:
- (a) To continue to examine situations of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and to submit her findings on an annual basis, together with conclusions and recommendations, to the Commission, as well as such other reports as the Special Rapporteur deems necessary in order to keep the Commission informed about serious situations of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions that warrant its immediate attention;
- (b) To respond effectively to information which comes before her, in particular when an extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary execution is imminent or seriously threatened or when such an execution has occurred;
- (c) To enhance further her dialogue with Governments, as well as to follow up recommendations made in reports after visits to particular countries;

- (d) To continue to pay special attention to extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions of children and to allegations concerning violations of the right to life in the context of violence against participants in demonstrations and other peaceful public manifestations or against persons belonging to minorities;
- (e) To pay special attention to extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions where the victims are individuals carrying out peaceful activities in defence of human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- (f) To continue monitoring the implementation of existing international standards on safeguards and restrictions relating to the imposition of capital punishment, bearing in mind the comments made by the Human Rights Committee in its interpretation of article 6 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, as well as the Second Optional Protocol thereto;
 - (g) To apply a gender perspective in her work;
- 16. *Urges* the Special Rapporteur to draw to the attention of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights such situations of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary execution as are of particularly serious concern to her or where early action might prevent further deterioration;
- 17. *Welcomes* the cooperation established between the Special Rapporteur and other United Nations mechanisms and procedures relating to human rights and encourages the Special Rapporteur to continue efforts in this regard;
 - 18. *Strongly urges* all Governments:
- (a) To cooperate with and assist the Special Rapporteur so that her mandate may be carried out effectively, including, where appropriate, by issuing invitations to the Special Rapporteur when she so requests, in keeping with the usual terms of reference for missions by special rapporteurs of the Commission on Human Rights;
 - (b) To respond to the communications transmitted to them by the Special Rapporteur;
- 19. Expresses its concern that a number of Governments mentioned in the report of the Special Rapporteur have not replied to specific allegations and reports of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions transmitted to them by the Special Rapporteur;
- 20. Requests the Secretary-General to provide the Special Rapporteur with an adequate and stable level of human, financial and material resources in order to enable her to continue to carry out her mandate effectively, including through country visits;
- 21. Also requests the Secretary-General to continue to use his best endeavours in cases where the minimum standard of legal safeguards provided for in articles 6, 9, 14 and 15 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights appears not to be respected;

- 22. Further requests the Secretary-General to continue, in close collaboration with the High Commissioner, in conformity with the mandate of the High Commissioner established by the General Assembly in its resolution 48/141 of 20 December 1993, to ensure that personnel specialized in human rights and humanitarian law issues form part of United Nations missions, where appropriate, in order to deal with serious human rights violations, such as extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions;
 - 23. *Decides* to extend the mandate of the Special Rapporteur for three years;
- 24. Also decides to consider the question of extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions as a matter of priority at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item;
- 25. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 25.]

72nd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/46. Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 20 (XXXVI) of 29 February 1980, in which it decided to establish a working group consisting of five of its members, to serve as experts in their individual capacity, to examine questions relevant to enforced or involuntary disappearances, its resolution 1995/75 of 8 March 1995 on cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights organs, and its resolution 2000/37 of 20 April 2000,

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 47/133 of 18 December 1992, by which the Assembly adopted the Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance as a body of principles for all States, and Assembly resolution 55/103 of 4 December 2000,

Deeply concerned in particular by the increase in enforced or involuntary disappearances in various regions of the world and by the growing number of reports concerning harassment, ill-treatment and intimidation of witnesses of disappearances or relatives of persons who have disappeared,

Emphasizing that impunity is simultaneously one of the underlying causes of enforced disappearances and one of the major obstacles to the elucidation of cases thereof and that there is a need for effective measures to combat the problem of impunity,

Welcoming the fact that acts of enforced disappearance, as defined in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9), come within the jurisdiction of the Court as crimes against humanity,

- 1. *Takes note* of the report submitted by the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances (E/CN.4/2001/68) pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/37 and of the replies received by the secretariat on the draft international convention on the protection of all persons from enforced disappearance (E/CN.4/2001/69 and Add.1);
- 2. *Stresses* the importance of the work of the Working Group and encourages it, in the execution of its mandate:
- (a) To continue to promote communication between families of disappeared persons and the Governments concerned with a view to ensuring that sufficiently documented and clearly identified individual cases are investigated and to ascertain whether such information falls under its mandate and contains the required elements;
- (b) To continue to observe, in its humanitarian task, United Nations standards and practices regarding the handling of communications and the consideration of government replies;
- (c) To continue to consider the question of impunity in the light of the relevant provisions of the Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance and of the final reports submitted by the Special Rapporteur appointed by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights;
- (d) To continue to pay particular attention to cases of children subjected to enforced disappearance and children of disappeared persons and to cooperate closely with the Governments concerned in searching for and identifying these children;
- (e) To pay particular attention to cases transmitted to it that refer to ill-treatment, serious threatening or intimidation of witnesses of enforced or involuntary disappearances or relatives of disappeared persons;
- (f) To pay particular attention to cases of disappearance of persons working for the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms, wherever they occur, and to make appropriate recommendations for preventing such disappearances and improving the protection of such persons;
- (g) To continue to apply a gender perspective in its reporting process, including in information collection and the formulation of recommendations;
- (h) To provide appropriate assistance in the implementation by States of the Declaration and of the existing international rules;

- (i) To continue its deliberations on its working methods and to include these aspects in its report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- (*j*) To continue to formulate comments on the draft international convention on the protection of all persons from enforced disappearance (E/CN.4/Sub.2/1998/19, annex) transmitted by the Sub-Commission in its resolution 1998/25 of 26 August 1998;
- 3. Deplores the fact that some Governments have never provided substantive replies concerning the cases of enforced disappearances in their countries or acted on the recommendations concerning them made in the reports of the Working Group;
 - 4. *Urges* the Governments concerned:
- (a) To cooperate with the Working Group and help it to carry out its mandate effectively, in particular by inviting it freely to visit their countries;
- (b) To intensify their cooperation with the Working Group on any action taken pursuant to recommendations addressed to them by the Working Group;
- (c) To take steps to protect witnesses of enforced or involuntary disappearances and the lawyers and families of disappeared persons against any intimidation or ill-treatment to which they might be subjected;
- (d) That have long had many unresolved cases of disappearances, to continue their efforts to shed light on the fate of the individuals concerned and to set appropriate settlement machinery in train with the families of those individuals;
- (e) To make provision in their legal systems for machinery for victims of enforced or involuntary disappearances or their families to seek fair and adequate reparation;

5. *Reminds* Governments:

- (a) That all acts of enforced or involuntary disappearance are crimes punishable by appropriate penalties which should take due account of their extreme seriousness under penal law;
- (b) That they should ensure that their competent authorities proceed immediately to conduct impartial inquiries in all circumstances where there is reason to believe that an enforced disappearance has occurred in territory under their jurisdiction;
- (c) That, if such belief is borne out, all the perpetrators of enforced or involuntary disappearances must be prosecuted;
- (d) That impunity is simultaneously one of the underlying causes of enforced disappearances and one of the major obstacles to the elucidation of cases thereof;

6. *Expresses*:

- (a) Its thanks to the many Governments that have cooperated with the Working Group and replied to its requests for information, and to the Governments that have invited the Working Group to visit their countries, asks them to give all necessary attention to the Working Group's recommendations and invites them to inform the Working Group of any action they take on those recommendations;
- (b) Its satisfaction to the Governments that are investigating, or developing appropriate mechanisms to investigate, any cases of enforced disappearance which are brought to their attention, and encourages all the Governments concerned to expand their efforts in this area;
- 7. *Invites* States to take legislative, administrative, legal and other steps, including when a state of emergency has been declared, to take action at the national and regional levels and in cooperation with the United Nations, if appropriate through technical assistance, and to provide the Working Group with concrete information on the measures taken and the obstacles encountered in preventing enforced, involuntary or arbitrary disappearances and in giving effect to the principles set forth in the Declaration;
- 8. *Takes note* of the assistance provided to the Working Group by non-governmental organizations and their activities in support of the implementation of the Declaration and invites those organizations to continue their cooperation;
- 9. *Decides* to renew, for a three-year period, the mandate of the Working Group of five independent experts entrusted with the task of investigating enforced or involuntary disappearances;
- 10. *Requests* the Working Group to report on its activities to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 11. Requests the Chairperson of the fifty-seventh session of the Commission, after consultations with the Bureau and the regional groups, to appoint an independent expert to examine the existing international criminal and human rights framework for the protection of persons from enforced or involuntary disappearance, taking into account relevant legal instruments at the international and regional levels, intergovernmental arrangements on judicial cooperation, the draft international convention on the protection of all persons from enforced disappearance transmitted by the Sub-Commission in its resolution 1998/25, and also comments of States and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, with a view to identifying any gaps in order to ensure full protection from enforced or involuntary disappearance and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session and to the working group established under paragraph 12 of the present resolution at its first session;
- 12. *Decides* to establish, at its fifty-eighth session, an inter-sessional open-ended working group of the Commission, with the mandate to elaborate, in the light of the findings of the independent expert, a draft legally binding normative instrument for the protection of all

persons from enforced disappearance, taking into account, *inter alia*, the draft international convention on the protection of all persons from enforced disappearance transmitted by the Sub-Commission in its resolution 1998/25, for consideration and adoption by the General Assembly;

- 13. *Requests* the Secretary-General:
- (a) To ensure that the Working Group on Enforced Disappearances receives all the assistance and resources it requires to perform its function, including supporting the principles of the Declaration, carrying out and following up on missions and holding sessions in countries that are prepared to receive it;
- (b) To provide the resources needed to update the database on cases of enforced disappearance;
- (c) To keep the Working Group and the Commission regularly informed of the steps he takes for the wide dissemination and promotion of the Declaration;
- 14. *Decides* to consider this matter at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item;
- 15. *Recommends* to the Economic and Social Council the adoption of the following draft decision:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 26.]

73rd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XI.]

2001/47. The right to freedom of opinion and expression

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which affirms the right to freedom of opinion and expression,

Mindful of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, which reaffirms, in article 19, the right of everyone to hold opinions without interference, as well as the right to freedom of expression, including the freedom to seek, receive and impart information and ideas of all kinds, regardless of frontiers, either orally, in writing or in print, in the form of art or through any other media of their choice and noting that these rights and freedoms are among those which give meaning to the right to participate effectively in a free society,

Recalling the Principles on Freedom of Information Legislation (The Public's Right to Know) annexed to the previous report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression (E/CN.4/2000/63, annex II),

Mindful of the need to ensure that unjustified invocation of national security to restrict the right to freedom of expression and information does not take place,

Recalling the Johannesburg Principles on National Security, Freedom of Expression and Access to Information adopted by a group of experts meeting in South Africa on 1 October 1995 (E/CN.4/1996/39, annex),

Noting that restrictions on the exercise of the right to freedom of opinion and expression could indicate a deterioration in the protection, respect for and enjoyment of other human rights and freedoms,

Considering that the effective promotion and protection of the human rights of persons who exercise the right to freedom of opinion and expression are of fundamental importance to the safeguarding of human dignity,

Deeply concerned at numerous reports of detention, as well as discrimination, threats and acts of violence and harassment, including persecution and intimidation, against professionals in the field of information as well as other persons exercising their right to freedom of opinion and expression, including human rights defenders,

Reaffirming the need to raise awareness about all aspects of the interrelationship between the use and availability of new media of communication, including modern telecommunications technology, and the right to freedom of expression and information, and noting the efforts made in this regard in a number of international and regional forums, and mindful of provisions of relevant instruments,

Taking note of the joint statement on racism and the media issued by the Special Rapporteur on the right to freedom of opinion and expression of the Commission on Human Rights, the Special Rapporteur on Freedom of Expression of the Organization of American States and the Representative on Freedom of the Media of the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (A/CONF.189/PC.2/24, annex) as a contribution to the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance,

Deeply concerned that for women there exists a gap between the right to freedom of opinion and expression, the right to information and the effective enjoyment of those rights, and that this gap contributes to inadequate action by Governments in the integration of the human rights of women into the mainstream of their human rights activities,

Reaffirming the important role of women in the prevention and resolution of conflicts and in peace-building, stressing the importance of their equal participation and full involvement in all

efforts for the maintenance and promotion of peace and security, and recognizing that their contributions to these efforts are often constrained by the lack of full and effective enjoyment of their right to freedom of expression,

- 1. Reaffirms the rights contained in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;
- 2. Welcomes the report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to freedom of opinion and expression (E/CN.4/2001/64 and Add.1) and welcomes in particular his ongoing and increasing cooperation with other thematic and country-specific mechanisms and with other organizations;
- 3. Expresses its continuing concern at the extensive occurrence of detention, long-term detention and extrajudicial killing, persecution and harassment, including through the abuse of legal provisions on criminal libel, of threats and acts of violence and of discrimination directed at persons who exercise the right to freedom of opinion and expression, including the right to seek, receive and impart information, and the intrinsically linked rights to freedom of thought, conscience and religion, peaceful assembly and association and the right to take part in the conduct of public affairs, as well as at persons who seek to promote the rights affirmed in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and seek to educate others about them, or who defend those rights and freedoms, including legal professionals and others who represent persons exercising those rights;
- 4. Calls for further progress towards the release of persons detained for exercising the rights and freedoms referred to in paragraph 3 of the present resolution, bearing in mind that each individual is entitled to the full enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- 5. Expresses its concern at the number of cases in which the violations referred to in paragraph 3 of the present resolution are facilitated and aggravated by several factors such as abuse of states of emergency, exercise of the powers specific to states of emergency without formal declaration and too vague a definition of offences against State security;
- 6. Recalls that the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights states that the exercise of the right to freedom of expression carries with it special duties and responsibilities and may therefore be subject to certain restrictions as set out in article 19 of the Covenant, and encourages States to review their procedures and legislation to ensure that any limitations on the right to freedom of expression are only such as are provided by law and are necessary for the respect of the rights and reputations of others, or for the protection of national security or of public order (ordre public) or of public health or morals;
- 7. Also recalls that the primary responsibility for promoting and protecting the right to freedom of opinion and expression rests with the State, notes with concern increasing reports of actions, as described in the report of the Special Rapporteur, which are having a negative impact on the ability of individuals and groups fully to enjoy their right to freedom of expression;

- 8. Expresses its concern that high rates of illiteracy continue to exist in the world, and reaffirms that education is an integral component of the full and effective participation of persons in a free society, in particular for the full enjoyment of the right to freedom of opinion and expression, and that the eradication of illiteracy is very important to the achievement of these goals and to the development of the human person;
- 9. *Urges* Governments to implement effective measures to eliminate the atmosphere of fear which often prevents women who have been victims of violence, either in domestic or community settings or as a result of armed conflict, from communicating freely on their own behalf or through intermediaries;
- 10. Recognizes that effective participation depends on the ability to express oneself freely and the freedom to seek, receive and impart information and ideas of all kinds, and urges Governments to facilitate the effective participation of women in decision-making levels in national, regional and international institutions, including in mechanisms for the prevention, management and resolution of conflicts;
- 11. *Invites once again* the working groups, representatives and special rapporteurs of the Commission to pay attention, within the framework of their mandates, to the situation of persons detained, subjected to violence, ill-treated, intimidated or discriminated against for having exercised the right to freedom of opinion and expression as affirmed in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and other relevant human rights instruments;

12. *Appeals* to all States:

- (a) To ensure respect and support for the rights of all persons who exercise the right to freedom of opinion and expression, including the right to seek, receive and impart information regardless of frontiers, the rights to freedom of thought, conscience and religion, peaceful assembly and association and the right to take part in the conduct of public affairs, or who seek to promote and defend these rights and freedoms, and, where any persons have been detained, subjected to violence or threats of violence or to harassment, including persecution and intimidation, even after their release from detention, for exercising these rights as laid down in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and other relevant human rights instruments, to take the appropriate steps to ensure the immediate cessation of these acts and to create conditions under which these acts may be less liable to occur:
- (b) To ensure that persons seeking to exercise these rights and freedoms are not discriminated against, particularly in such areas as employment, housing and social services, and in this context to pay particular attention to the situation of women;
- (c) To create and permit an enabling environment in which training and professional development of the media can be organized in order to promote and protect the freedom of opinion and expression and can be carried out without fear of legal, criminal or administrative sanction by the State;

- (d) To cooperate fully with and assist the Special Rapporteur in the performance of his tasks and to provide all information necessary in order to permit him fully to carry out his mandate, including giving serious consideration to requests from the Special Rapporteur for in-country visits;
- 13. *Invites* States to submit to the Special Rapporteur comments on their programmes and policies with respect to access to information for the purposes of education on and prevention of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, and invites the Special Rapporteur, within the framework of his mandate, to consider these comments with a view to sharing best practices;
- 14. *Draws the attention* of Governments to the Principles on Freedom of Information Legislation (The Public's Right to Know), welcomes the submission of comments on these Principles by several Governments and invites other Governments to reflect upon them and to submit their comments to the Special Rapporteur;
- 15. *Urges* the Secretary-General to ensure that the practices of the United Nations system concerning access to information are consistent with Commission resolutions 1999/60 on public information and 1999/64 on human rights education, of 28 April 1999;
 - 16. *Invites* the Special Rapporteur, within the framework of his mandate:
- (a) To draw the attention of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to those situations and cases regarding freedom of opinion and expression which are of particularly serious concern to the Special Rapporteur, and encourages the High Commissioner, within her mandate, to take into account reports in this regard in the context of her activities to promote and protect human rights with a view to preventing the occurrence and recurrence of human rights violations;
- (b) In cooperation with the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, to continue to pay particular attention to the situation of women and the relationship between the effective promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression and incidents of discrimination based on sex, creating obstacles for women with regard to their right to seek, receive and impart information, to consider how these obstacles impede the ability of women to make informed choices in areas of particular importance to them, as well as in areas related to the general decision-making processes in the societies in which they live and to consider joint reports with the Special Rapporteur on violence against women;
- (c) With a view to promoting greater efficiency and effectiveness, as well as enhancing his access to the information necessary for him to fulfil his duties, to continue his efforts to cooperate with other special rapporteurs, special representatives, independent experts, working groups, other United Nations mechanisms and procedures in the field of human rights, specialized agencies, including the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, and regional intergovernmental organizations and their mechanisms and further to

develop and extend his network of relevant non-governmental organizations, particularly at the local level, with a view to ensuring that he has the full benefit of all pertinent information from such non-governmental organizations;

- (d) To consider approaches taken to access to information with a view to sharing best practices;
- (e) To continue to provide his views, when appropriate, on the advantages and challenges of new information technologies, including the Internet, for the exercise of the right to freedom of opinion and expression, including the right to seek, receive and impart information and the relevance of a wide diversity of sources;
- (f) To continue to seek the views and comments of the Governments and others concerned in the elaboration of his report, as well as to continue to carry out his work with discretion and independence;
- 17. *Stresses* the importance of a diversity of sources of information, including mass media, at all levels, and the importance of the free flow of information, as a way to promote full enjoyment of the freedom of opinion and expression;
- 18. Affirms the vital importance for the promotion and protection of the rights to freedom of opinion and expression of compliance by each State with the obligations established under the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, in particular article 4;
- 19. Looks forward to the Special Rapporteur's submission to the High Commissioner in response to the request contained in paragraph 13 (g) of resolution 2000/38, to be presented as an official document to the Preparatory Committee for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance at its second session as an effective contribution to the process, and encourages the Special Rapporteur to attend the World Conference in order fully to contribute to the proceedings arising from his mandate;
- 20. Expresses once again its concern at the inadequate resources, both human and material, provided to the Special Rapporteur, and accordingly reiterates its request to the Secretary-General to provide the assistance necessary to the Special Rapporteur to fulfil his mandate effectively, in particular by placing adequate human and material resources at his disposal;
- 21. Requests the Special Rapporteur to submit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session a report covering activities relating to his mandate, and decides to continue its consideration of this question at that session.

73rd meeting 23 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 44 to none, with 8 abstentions. See chap. XI.]

2001/48. Traffic in women and girls

The Commission on Human Rights,

Taking note of the United Nations Millennium Declaration, particularly the resolve expressed by heads of State and Government to intensify efforts to fight transnational organized crime in all its dimensions, including trafficking in human beings,

Recalling all previous resolutions on the problem of the traffic in women and girls adopted by the General Assembly and the Commission on Human Rights, as well as the Convention for the Suppression of the Traffic in Persons and of the Exploitation of the Prostitution of Others,

Reaffirming the provisions pertaining to the traffic in women and children adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights, the International Conference on Population and Development, the World Summit for Social Development, the Fourth World Conference on Women, the Ninth and Tenth United Nations Congresses on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly entitled "Women 2000: gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century" and the twenty-fourth special session of the General Assembly entitled "World Summit on Social Development and beyond: achieving social development for all in a globalizing world",

Stressing once again the urgent need to eliminate all forms of sexual violence and trafficking, including for prostitution, which both violate and impair or nullify the enjoyment by women and girls of their human rights and fundamental freedoms and are incompatible with the dignity and worth of the human person, through the adoption of effective measures nationally, regionally and internationally,

Welcoming the adoption by the General Assembly in its resolution 55/25 of 15 November 2000 of the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the Convention,

Welcoming also the adoption by the Assembly of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography,

Recognizing the importance of bilateral, subregional and regional cooperation mechanisms and initiatives to address the problem of trafficking in women and children, in particular girls, and taking note of the recently established Task Force on Trafficking in Human Beings of the Stability Pact for South-Eastern Europe, as well as the draft convention for preventing and combating trafficking in women and children for purposes of prostitution of the South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation and the Action Plan for the Asia-Pacific region of the Asian Regional Initiative against Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children,

Recognizing also that global efforts, including international cooperation and technical assistance programmes, to eradicate trafficking in persons, particularly women and children, demand strong political commitment by and the active cooperation of all Governments of countries of origin, transit and destination,

Stressing the need for a global approach to eradicate trafficking in women and children and the importance, in this regard, of systematic data collection and comprehensive studies, including on the *modus operandi* of trafficking syndicates,

Acknowledging the work done by intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations in compiling information on the scale and complexity of the problem of trafficking, in providing shelter for trafficked women and children, and in effecting their voluntary repatriation to their countries of origin,

Recognizing the need to address the impact of globalization on the problem of trafficking in women and children, in particular girls,

Seriously concerned at the increasing number of women and girl children from developing countries and from some economies in transition who are being trafficked to developed countries, as well as within and between regions and States, and acknowledging that the problem of trafficking also includes the victimizing of boys,

Gravely concerned at the increasing activities of transnational criminal organizations and others that profit from international trafficking in women and children without regard to dangerous and inhumane conditions and in flagrant violation of domestic laws and international standards.

Deeply concerned about the unabated use of new information technologies, including the Internet, for purposes of prostitution, child pornography, paedophilia and any other forms of sexual exploitation of children, trafficking in women as brides and sex tourism,

- 1. Takes note with appreciation of the report of the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/2001/72) on activities of United Nations bodies and other international organizations pertaining to the problem of trafficking in women and girls;
- 2. Takes note of the report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, notably on the issue of trafficking in women and girls (E/CN.4/2001/73/Add.2), and acknowledges the full cooperation and assistance extended to the Special Rapporteur by the Governments of countries visited, the actions being taken by these countries to address the problem as well as the political commitment expressed to eradicate trafficking;

- 3. *Invites* Governments as well as donor countries, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and international, regional and non-governmental organizations to consider the recommendations of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of trafficking, in particular on the need for greater allocation of resources and better coordination of programmes and activities in tackling this problem;
- 4. *Takes note* of the report of the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography (E/CN.4/2001/78 and Add.1-2);
- 5. *Invites* human rights treaty bodies, the special rapporteurs and subsidiary bodies of the Commission, the Office of the High Commissioner, other United Nations bodies and international organizations to continue to address within their mandates the problem of trafficking in women and girls, and to share their knowledge and best practices as widely as possible;
- 6. Urges Governments to take appropriate measures to address the root factors, including external factors, that encourage trafficking in women and children, in particular girls, for prostitution and other forms of commercialized sex, forced marriages and forced labour, so as to eliminate trafficking in women, including by strengthening existing legislation with a view to providing better protection of the rights of women and girls and to punishing perpetrators, through both criminal and civil measures;
- 7. *Invites* Governments to take steps to ensure for victims of trafficking the respect of all their human rights and fundamental freedoms, including taking steps to ensure all legislation related to combating trafficking is gender-sensitive and provides protection for the human rights of women and girls and against violations committed against women and girls;
- 8. Calls upon Governments to criminalize trafficking in women and children in all its forms and to condemn and penalize traffickers and intermediaries, while ensuring protection and assistance to the victims of trafficking with full respect for their human rights;
- 9. *Encourages* Governments to conclude bilateral, subregional, regional and international agreements to address the problem of trafficking in women and children, in particular girls;
- 10. *Urges* Governments to consider signing and ratifying the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and the protocols supplementing the Convention, particularly the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children;
- 11. Also urges Governments to consider signing and ratifying the Convention on the Rights of the Child, and the Optional Protocol thereto on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography and the 1999 Convention concerning the prohibition and immediate action for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour (No. 182) of the International Labour Organization;

- 12. *Invites* Governments to encourage Internet service providers to adopt or strengthen self-regulatory measures to promote the responsible use of the Internet with a view to eliminating trafficking in women and children, in particular girls;
- 13. *Encourages* Governments, in cooperation with non-governmental organizations, to undertake campaigns aimed at clarifying opportunities, limitations and rights in the event of migration so as to enable women to make informed decisions and to prevent them from becoming victims of trafficking;
- 14. Calls upon concerned Governments to allocate resources, as appropriate, to provide comprehensive programmes designed to heal and rehabilitate into society victims of trafficking, including through job training, legal assistance and health care and by taking measures to cooperate with non-governmental organizations to provide for the social, medical and psychological care of the victims;
- 15. Encourages Governments, intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, the human rights treaty bodies, the special rapporteurs, especially the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children and the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants, and subsidiary bodies of the Commission to participate in and contribute to the work of the twenty-sixth session of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery in 2001 that will focus on the issue of trafficking;
- 16. *Requests* the Secretary-General to provide the Commission, at its fifty-eighth session, with an update on the report on activities of United Nations bodies and other international organizations pertaining to the problem of trafficking in women and girls;
- 17. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session under the appropriate agenda item.

75th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XII.]

2001/49. Elimination of violence against women

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that discrimination on the basis of sex is contrary to the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and other international human rights instruments, and that its elimination is an integral part of efforts towards the elimination of violence against women.

Reaffirming the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23) and the Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 48/104 of 20 December 1993,

Recalling all its previous resolutions on the elimination of violence against women, in particular its resolution 1994/45 of 4 March 1994, in which it decided to appoint a special rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences,

Welcoming the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action adopted in September 1995 by the Fourth World Conference on Women (A/CONF.177/20, chap. I) and follow-up action such as the agreed conclusions adopted by the Commission on the Status of Women on violence against women, and welcoming also the outcome of the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly, entitled "Women 2000: gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century",

Welcoming the resolve expressed at the highest levels to combat all forms of violence against women, as contained in the United Nations Millennium Declaration,

Noting the Agenda for War-Affected Children adopted on 17 September 2000 at the International Conference on War-Affected Children and the Windhoek Declaration and the Namibia Plan of Action on Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective in Multidimensional Peace Support Operations (A/55/138-S/2000/693, annexes I and II),

Noting Security Council resolution 1325 (2000) of 31 October 2000 on women and peace and security,

Recalling the inclusion of gender-related crimes and crimes of sexual violence in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9), which affirms that rape, sexual slavery, enforced prostitution, forced pregnancy, enforced sterilization and other forms of sexual violence constitute, in defined circumstances, a crime against humanity and/or a war crime, and reiterating that acts of sexual violence in situations of armed conflict can constitute serious violations or grave breaches of international humanitarian law,

Reaffirming the responsibility of all States to put an end to impunity and prosecute those responsible for genocide, crimes against humanity and war crimes,

Deeply concerned that some groups of women, such as women belonging to minority groups, indigenous women, refugee women, migrant women, women living in rural or remote communities, destitute women, women in institutions or in detention, the girl child, women with disabilities, elderly women and women in situations of armed conflict, are especially targeted and vulnerable to violence,

1. Welcomes the work of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, and takes note with appreciation of her report (E/CN.4/2001/73 and Add.1-2);

- 2. Condemns all acts of gender-based violence against women and in this regard calls, in accordance with the Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women, for the elimination of all forms of gender-based violence in the family, within the general community and where perpetrated or condoned by the State, and emphasizes the duty of Governments to refrain from engaging in violence against women and to exercise due diligence to prevent, investigate and, in accordance with national legislation, punish acts of violence against women and to take appropriate and effective action concerning acts of violence against women, whether those acts are perpetrated by the State, by private persons or by armed groups or warring factions, and to provide access to just and effective remedies and specialized, including medical, assistance to victims:
- 3. Affirms that the term "violence against women" means any act of gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or psychological harm or suffering to women, including threats of such acts, coercion or arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or in private life, and including domestic violence, crimes committed in the name of honour, crimes committed in the name of passion, traditional practices harmful to women, including female genital mutilation, and forced marriages;
- 4. Also affirms that violence against women constitutes a violation of the rights and fundamental freedoms of women and impairs or nullifies their enjoyment of those rights and freedoms:
- 5. Strongly condemns physical, sexual and psychological violence occurring in the family, which encompasses, but is not limited to, battering, sexual abuse of female children in the household, dowry-related violence, marital rape, female infanticide, female genital mutilation and other traditional practices harmful to women, non-spousal violence and violence related to exploitation;
- 6. Reminds Governments that their obligations under the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women must be implemented fully with regard to violence against women, taking into account general recommendation 19 adopted by the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women at its eleventh session, reaffirms the commitment to accelerate the achievement of universal ratification of the Convention, and urges all States that have not yet ratified or acceded to the Convention to do so;
- 7. *Welcomes* the entry into force of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women on 22 December 2000;
- 8. *Urges* States parties to consider signing and ratifying the Optional Protocol to the Convention;
- 9. *Welcomes* the adoption by the General Assembly of the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, and urges Governments to consider signing and ratifying or acceding to the Protocol;

- 10. Stresses the conclusions and recommendations of the Special Rapporteur that States have an affirmative duty to promote and protect the human rights of women and must exercise due diligence to prevent all forms of violence against women, and calls upon States:
- (a) To apply international human rights norms and to ratify and implement fully international human rights instruments that relate to violence against women;
- (b) To condemn violence against women and not invoke custom, tradition or practices in the name of religion to avoid their obligations to eliminate such violence;
- (c) To enact and, where necessary, reinforce or amend penal, civil, labour and administrative sanctions in domestic legislation to punish and redress the wrongs done to women and girls subjected to any form of violence, whether in the home, the workplace, the community or society, in custody or in situations of armed conflict, to ensure that they conform with relevant international human rights instruments and humanitarian law, and to take action to investigate and punish persons who perpetrate acts of violence against women;
- (d) To support initiatives undertaken by women's organizations and non-governmental organizations on the elimination of violence against women, including awareness-raising campaigns, to establish and/or strengthen, at the national level, collaborative relationships with relevant non-governmental and community-based organizations, and with public and private sector institutions, aimed at the development and effective implementation of provisions and policies relating to violence against women, including in the area of support services to respond to the needs of women and girl survivors of violence and to assist them in their full recovery and reintegration into society;
- (e) To consider undertaking comprehensive, objective and easily accessible information campaigns about violence against women;
- (f) To create, improve or develop, as appropriate, and fund training programmes, taking into account, *inter alia*, sex-disaggregated data on the causes and effects of violence against women, for judicial, legal, medical, social, educational, police, correctional service, military, peacekeeping, humanitarian relief and immigration personnel, in order to avoid the abuse of power leading to violence against women and to sensitize such personnel to the nature of gender-based acts and threats of violence so that fair treatment of female victims can be ensured;
- (g) To sensitize all persons, men and women, to the causes and effects of violence against women and to highlight men's role in its prevention and elimination, to encourage and support men's initiatives to complement the efforts of women's organizations in this regard, and to encourage behavioural change by perpetrators of violence against women;
- 11. Condemns violence against women committed in situations of armed conflict, such as murder, rape, including systematic rape, sexual slavery and forced pregnancy, and calls for effective responses to these violations of international human rights and humanitarian law;

- 12. Welcomes efforts to eliminate impunity for violence against women in situations of armed conflict including by prosecuting gender-related crimes and crimes of sexual violence in the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia and the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda;
- 13. Also welcomes the inclusion of gender-related crimes in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court and the finalized draft text of the Elements of Crimes, and urges States to consider ratifying or acceding to the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court;
- 14. *Urges* the integration of a gender perspective in all future efforts to eliminate impunity;
- 15. *Urges* States to integrate a gender perspective into commissions of inquiry and commissions for achieving truth and reconciliation, and invites the Special Rapporteur to report, as appropriate, on these mechanisms;
- 16. Also urges States to provide gender-sensitive training to all actors, as appropriate, in peacekeeping missions in dealing with victims, particularly women and girls, of violence, including sexual violence, and in this regard acknowledges the important role of peace support operations personnel in eliminating violence against women, and calls upon States to promote, and relevant agencies of the United Nations system and regional organizations to ensure, implementation of the Ten Rules Code of Personal Conduct for Blue Helmets;
- 17. Further urges all States and the relevant organs, bodies and agencies of the United Nations system, and encourages regional organizations and humanitarian organizations, including the International Committee of the Red Cross, to ensure that a gender perspective is integrated into international humanitarian law awareness programmes;
- 18. Calls upon all parties to armed conflict to respect the civilian and humanitarian character of camps and settlements for refugees and internally displaced persons and to improve and strengthen the capacity of women affected by situations of armed conflict, including women refugees and displaced women, by, *inter alia*, involving them in the design and management of humanitarian activities so that they benefit from these activities on an equal basis with men;
- 19. *Urges* States to mainstream a gender perspective into national immigration and asylum policies, regulations and practices, as appropriate, in order to promote and protect the rights of all women, including the consideration of steps to recognize gender-related persecution and violence when assessing grounds for granting refugee status and asylum;
- 20. Urges Governments to include women in all peace, reconciliation and reconstruction activities and to ensure that all repatriation and resettlement programmes, as well as rehabilitation, reintegration and post-conflict reconstruction, address the special needs of women and take into account their specific, relevant experiences in formulating programmes;

- 21. *Stresses* the importance of mainstreaming a gender perspective into the preparations for and the work and the outcome of the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, and urges the inclusion of women in delegations to the Conference;
- 22. Encourages Governments and the United Nations system to ensure greater international cooperation in, and national attention to, acquiring data and developing indicators on the extent, nature and consequences of violence against women and girls, and on the impact and effectiveness of policies and programmes for combating this violence, and calls upon States to include in reports submitted in accordance with the provisions of relevant United Nations human rights instruments sex-disaggregated data and, whenever possible, information pertaining to violence against women and measures taken to implement the Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women and the Platform for Action adopted by the Fourth World Conference on Women;
- 23. Requests all Governments to cooperate with and assist the Special Rapporteur in the performance of her mandated tasks and duties, to supply all information requested and to respond to the Special Rapporteur's visits and communications;
- 24. Welcomes the efforts of the Special Rapporteur to seek information from Governments concerning specific cases of alleged violence in order to identify and investigate situations of violence against women, its causes and consequences, in particular, where appropriate, by sending joint urgent appeals and communications with other special rapporteurs;
- 25. *Invites* the Special Rapporteur to continue to cooperate with other special rapporteurs, special representatives, independent experts and chairpersons of the working groups of the special procedures of the Commission, including, where appropriate, undertaking joint missions and writing joint reports;
- 26. Requests special rapporteurs responsible for various human rights questions, United Nations organs and bodies, specialized agencies and intergovernmental organizations, and encourages human rights treaty bodies, to give consideration to violence against women within their respective mandates and to cooperate with and assist the Special Rapporteur in the performance of her mandated tasks and duties, and in particular to respond to her requests for information on violence against women, its causes and consequences;
- 27. Renews its request to the Secretary-General to continue to provide the Special Rapporteur with all necessary assistance, in particular the staff and resources required to perform all mandated functions, especially in carrying out and following up on missions undertaken either separately or jointly with other special rapporteurs and working groups, and adequate assistance for periodic consultations with the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women and all other treaty bodies;

- 28. *Requests* the Secretary-General to ensure that the reports of the Special Rapporteur are brought to the attention of the Commission on the Status of Women at its forty-sixth session, as well as to the attention of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women;
- 29. *Decides* to continue consideration of the question as a matter of high priority at its fifty-eighth session.

75th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XII.]

2001/50. Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that the equal rights of women and men are enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and other international human rights instruments,

Recalling all previous resolutions on this subject,

Recalling also that, in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 (A/CONF.157/23), the World Conference on Human Rights affirmed that the human rights of women and of the girl child are an inalienable, integral and indivisible part of universal human rights and called for action to integrate the equal status and human rights of women into the mainstream of United Nations system-wide activity,

Emphasizing that all entities of the United Nations system, as well as the major United Nations conferences and summits, including in the process of implementation of their outcome, should further mainstream a gender perspective at all levels, bearing in mind the need for integrated and coordinated follow-up,

Bearing in mind that the Fourth World Conference on Women, held in Beijing in September 1995, in its Platform for Action (A/CONF.177/20, chap. I, annex II), and the General Assembly, in the outcome document of its twenty-third special session, entitled "Women 2000: gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century", called upon all relevant organs, bodies and agencies of the United Nations system, all human rights bodies of the United Nations system, as well as the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, to give full, equal and sustained attention to the human rights of women in the exercise of their respective mandates,

Welcoming the entry into force of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women on 22 December 2000,

Emphasizing the pivotal role of the Commission on the Status of Women in promoting equality between women and men, and welcoming its agreed conclusions on the human rights of women and on the other critical areas of concern of the Platform for Action,

Acknowledging the need to integrate further the human rights of women and a gender perspective into all aspects of the work of the Commission on Human Rights and the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and all other subsidiary mechanisms,

Acknowledging also the need for a comprehensive and integrated approach to the promotion and protection of the human rights of women, which includes the integration of the human rights of women into the mainstream of United Nations activities system-wide,

Reaffirming the need to implement fully international humanitarian and human rights law in order to protect fully the human rights of women and girls,

Reaffirming also the important role that women's groups and non-governmental organizations play in promoting and protecting the human rights of women,

- 1. *Welcomes* the report of the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/2001/71);
- 2. *Emphasizes* that the goal of mainstreaming a gender perspective is to achieve gender equality and that this includes ensuring that all United Nations activities integrate the human rights of women;
- 3. Recognizes the importance of examining the intersection of multiple forms of discrimination, including their root causes, from a gender perspective, and their impact on women's advancement, in order to develop and implement strategies, policies and programmes aimed at the elimination of all forms of discrimination against women and to increase the role that women play in the design, implementation and monitoring of gender-sensitive anti-discrimination policies;
- 4. *Invites* the Economic and Social Council to give attention to the implementation of its agreed conclusions 1997/2 on mainstreaming the gender perspective into all policies and programmes of the United Nations system and 1998/2 related to the coordinated follow-up and implementation of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, in particular point II.B.3 on the equal status and human rights of women, *inter alia* through the conference reviews, in the promotion of an integrated and coordinated implementation of and follow-up to major United Nations conferences and summits in the economic, social and related fields;
- 5. Welcomes the resolution of the Commission on the Status of Women on mainstreaming the gender perspective into all policies and programmes in the United Nations system, adopted at its forty-fifth session, which, *inter alia*, requests the Economic and Social Council to devote a future coordination segment, by 2005, to the review and appraisal of the

system-wide implementation of agreed conclusions 1997/2 and to identify further strategies to accelerate the implementation of these policies and programmes, and, as part of this review and appraisal, to invite the functional commissions to report on progress made to implement the agreed conclusions in their work;

- 6. *Encourages* the continued commitment of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system, including through continued cooperation with the Special Adviser on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women;
- 7. Welcomes the continued cooperation between the Commission on the Status of Women and the Commission on Human Rights, including through joint bureau meetings and the participation of the Chair of the Commission on the Status of Women in the work of the Commission on Human Rights and, similarly, the participation of the Chair of the Commission on Human Rights in the sessions of the Commission on the Status of Women, and encourages the continuation of this reciprocal collaboration;
- Advancement of Women and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights aimed at mainstreaming the human rights of women and the report of the Secretary-General on the joint work plan for the year 2001 (E/CN.4/2001/70-E/CN.6/2001/3), and encourages the Secretary-General to ensure its implementation, to continue to elaborate this plan, reflecting all aspects of work under way and the lessons learned, to identify obstacles/impediments and areas for further collaboration and to make it available to the Commission on Human Rights at its fifty-eighth session and to the Commission on the Status of Women at its forty-sixth session;
- 9. Draws attention to the need to develop practical strategies to implement the recommendations contained in the report of the expert group meeting on the development of guidelines for the integration of a gender perspective into United Nations human rights activities and programmes (E/CN.4/1996/105, annex) and, in this regard, urges the full implementation of those recommendations and notes with interest the workshop on gender integration in the human rights system, organized jointly by the Office of the High Commissioner, the Division for the Advancement of Women and the United Nations Development Fund for Women and held from 26 to 28 May 1999;
- 10. Urges the relevant organs, bodies and agencies of the United Nations system, including all human rights bodies, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees to bear in mind, in the recruitment of staff, including for peacekeeping operations and humanitarian and human rights missions, the need for expertise in the enjoyment by women and girls of human rights;
- 11. *Emphasizes* the need for further activities in the United Nations system to strengthen expertise concerning the equal status and human rights of women through, *inter alia*,

the provision of training on the human rights of women and on gender mainstreaming, including through gender impact analysis, to all United Nations personnel and officials at Headquarters and in the field, especially in field operations;

- 12. *Stresses* the importance of mainstreaming a gender perspective into the preparations, work and the outcome of the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, which will take place in Durban, South Africa, from 31 August to 7 September 2001, and urges the inclusion of women in delegations to the Conference;
- 13. Recognizes that gender mainstreaming will strongly benefit from the enhanced and full participation of women, including at the higher levels of decision-making in the United Nations system, and in this regard strongly encourages Member States to promote gender balance by, inter alia, regularly nominating more women candidates for election to the human rights treaty bodies and for appointment to United Nations bodies, including international courts and tribunals, the specialized agencies and other organs, and calls upon all relevant actors to implement General Assembly resolution 55/69 of 4 December 2000 on improvement of the status of women in the United Nations system;
- 14. *Encourages* United Nations bodies and agencies to increase cooperation with other organizations in developing activities to address, within their respective mandates, violations of the human rights of women and to promote the full enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms by women, including by developing activities with other organizations;
- Commission on Human Rights and the Sub-Commission for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, and invites human rights treaty bodies, regularly and systematically to take a gender perspective into account in the implementation of their mandates and to include in their reports information on and qualitative analysis of human rights of women and girls, and encourages the strengthening of cooperation and coordination, welcomes in this regard the adoption by the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination of its general recommendation XXV on gender-related dimensions of racial discrimination at its fifty-sixth session in March 2000, and also welcomes General Comment No. 28 of the Human Rights Committee on equality of rights between men and women adopted at its sixty-eighth session in March 2000, and General Comment No. 14 (2000) on the right to the highest attainable standard of health (art. 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights) adopted by the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights in May 2000;
- 16. *Welcomes* the proposal to update the study on integrating a gender perspective into the work of the human rights treaty bodies (HRI/MC/1998/6);
- 17. *Recalls* the paper prepared for the meeting of special rapporteurs/representatives, independent experts and chairpersons of working groups of the special procedures of the Commission and of the advisory services programme held from 28 to 30 May 1996

(E/CN.4/1997/3, annex) and the description therein of gender-specific analysis and reporting as an examination of the effects of gender on the form which a human rights violation takes, the circumstances in which a particular violation occurs, the consequences for the victim and the availability and accessibility of remedies, and urges the implementation of the recommendations pertaining to working methods and reporting methodology, including sources of information and gender-specific analysis in conclusions and recommendations;

- 18. *Notes with appreciation* the request made by the Economic and Social Council in its agreed conclusions 1998/2 that the Commission make explicit the integration of a gender perspective when establishing or renewing human rights mandates;
- 19. *Urges* the use of gender-inclusive language in the formulation, interpretation and application of human rights instruments, as well as in reports, resolutions and/or decisions of the Commission, the Sub-Commission and the various human rights mechanisms, and requests the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to utilize gender-inclusive language in the preparation of all of its communications, reports and publications, and to work with the United Nations conference services to ensure gender-inclusive language and interpretation in the proceedings of the Office;
- 20. *Encourages* the efforts of the treaty bodies to monitor more effectively the human rights of women in their activities, bearing in mind the workshops on gender integration, and reaffirms that it is the responsibility of all treaty bodies, in their work, to integrate a gender perspective, bearing in mind also the need:
- (a) To develop gender-sensitive guidelines to be used in the review of reports of States parties;
- (b) To develop, as a matter of priority, a common strategy towards mainstreaming the human rights of women into their work, so that each body, within its mandate, monitors the human rights of women;
- (c) To incorporate a gender analysis and to exchange information regularly in the development of general comments and recommendations, with a view to the preparation of general comments which reflect a gender perspective;
- (d) To incorporate a gender perspective in concluding observations so that the concluding observations of each treaty body delineate the strengths and weaknesses of each State party insofar as enjoyment by women of the rights guaranteed by a particular treaty is concerned;
- 21. *Encourages* all entities charged with the promotion and protection of human rights, especially United Nations human rights bodies and mechanisms, to identify, collect and use sex-disaggregated data and gender-specific information in their activities and to apply gender analysis in monitoring and reporting;

- Welcomes the submission of reports by specialized agencies, at the invitation of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, on the implementation of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women in areas falling within the scope of their activities and the contribution of non-governmental organizations to the work of the Committee;
- 23. Encourages all entities of the United Nations system to pay systematic, increased and sustained attention to the recommendations of the Committee, in order to ensure that its concluding observations and general recommendations are better utilized in their respective work:
- 24. *Urges* all States that have not yet ratified or acceded to the Convention to do so, so that universal ratification of the Convention can be achieved as soon as possible, and urges all States parties that have not yet done so to consider signing, ratifying or acceding to the Optional Protocol to the Convention;
- 25. Urges States to limit the extent of any reservations to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, to formulate any such reservations as precisely and as narrowly as possible, to ensure that no reservations are incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention or otherwise incompatible with international treaty law and regularly to review them with a view to withdrawing them, and to withdraw reservations that are contrary to the object and purpose of the Convention or which are otherwise incompatible with international treaty law;
- 26. *Urges* States that have ratified or acceded to the Convention to take action to implement the Convention fully, *inter alia* through national legislation, policies and practice, and to take account of the recommendations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women in this regard;
- 27. Notes the first resolution on women and peace and security adopted by the Security Council, resolution 1325 (2000), which, *inter alia*, calls on actors involved, when negotiating and implementing peace agreements, to adopt a gender perspective, including, *inter alia*, measures that ensure the protection of and respect for the human rights of women and girls, particularly as they relate to the constitution, the electoral system, the police and the judiciary;
- 28. Welcomes the 1999 Inter-Agency Standing Committee policy statement for the integration of a gender perspective in humanitarian assistance, and encourages the Committee to evaluate its implementation and impact;
- 29. Also welcomes General Assembly resolution 55/71 of 4 December 2000, in which the Assembly, *inter alia*, encouraged the Economic and Social Council to request the regional commissions, within their respective mandates and resources, to build up a database, to be updated regularly, in which all programmes and projects carried out in their respective regions

by agencies or organizations of the United Nations system are listed, and to facilitate their dissemination, as well as the evaluation of their impact on the empowerment of women through the implementation of the Platform for Action adopted by the Fourth World Conference on Women;

- 30. *Requests* the Secretary-General to report, at its fifty-eighth session, on the implementation of the present resolution;
 - 31. *Decides* to integrate a gender perspective into all of its agenda items;
- 32. *Also decides* to continue its consideration of the question at its fifty-eighth session.

75th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XII.]

2001/51. The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolutions 1999/49 of 27 April 1999 and 1997/33 of 11 April 1997 and other relevant resolutions and decisions adopted by organizations of the United Nations system, as well as by other competent forums,

Welcoming the fact that the special session of the General Assembly on HIV/AIDS is scheduled to be held from 25 to 27 June 2001 and that the report of the Secretary-General for the session (A/55/779) addresses issues of human rights and HIV/AIDS,

Also welcoming the fact that many positive steps in implementing its previous resolutions have been taken, including the enactment of legislation in some countries to promote human rights in the context of HIV/AIDS and to prohibit discrimination against persons infected or presumed to be infected and members of vulnerable groups,

Encouraging the continuation of national, regional and international consultations in the field of HIV/AIDS and human rights,

Noting with concern that, according to estimates by the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) and the World Health Organization, in 2000 the number of people living with HIV increased to 36.1 million, the number of people newly infected with HIV was 5.3 million and the number of people who died from AIDS was 2.3 million,

Noting with particular concern that more than 95 per cent of all people infected with HIV live in the developing world, in conditions of poverty, underdevelopment, conflict and inadequate measures for the prevention, treatment and care of HIV/AIDS infection,

Noting the devastating impact of HIV/AIDS, including increased mortality and morbidity among the working-age population, losses in family income, greater numbers of orphans, the disproportionate burden borne by women at the personal, family and community levels and higher health and social costs,

Emphasizing, in view of the increasing challenges presented by HIV/AIDS, the need for intensified efforts to ensure universal respect for and observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms for all so as to reduce vulnerability to HIV/AIDS and to prevent HIV/AIDS-related discrimination and stigma,

Concerned that lack of full enjoyment of human rights by persons suffering from economic, social or legal disadvantage heightens the vulnerability of such persons to the risk of HIV infection and to its impact, if infected,

Also concerned that, in many countries, many people infected and affected by HIV, as well as those presumed to be infected, continue to be discriminated against in law, policy and practice,

Welcoming the significant role of UNAIDS in cooperation with relevant bodies of the United Nations system, in particular the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, and of national and international non-governmental organizations, in particular organizations of people living with HIV/AIDS, in promoting and protecting human rights in the context of HIV/AIDS, including fighting discrimination against people living with HIV/AIDS, and in the full range of prevention, treatment and care activities,

Reiterating that discrimination on the basis of HIV or AIDS status, actual or presumed, is prohibited by existing international human rights standards, and that the term "or other status" in non-discrimination provisions in international human rights texts should be interpreted to cover health status, including HIV/AIDS,

Welcoming the report of the Secretary-General on the protection of human rights in the context of HIV and AIDS (E/CN.4/2001/80), which provides an overview of action taken by Governments, specialized agencies and international and non-governmental organizations on the implementation of the Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights (E/CN.4/1997/37, annex I) and their dissemination, and which addresses issues of technical cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of HIV/AIDS,

1. *Invites* States, United Nations organs, programmes and specialized agencies and international and non-governmental organizations to continue to take all necessary steps to ensure the respect, protection and fulfilment of HIV-related human rights as contained in the Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights;

- 2. Invites States, United Nations organs, programmes and specialized agencies and international and non-governmental organizations to contribute to international cooperation in the context of HIV/AIDS-related human rights through, inter alia, working on advancing HIV/AIDS prevention and care programmes, including facilitating access to treatment and care in the context of HIV/AIDS, and through sharing knowledge, experiences and achievements concerning HIV-related issues;
- 3. Invites States to strengthen national mechanisms for protecting HIV/AIDS-related human rights and to take all necessary measures to eliminate stigmatization of and discrimination against those infected and affected by HIV/AIDS, especially for women, children and vulnerable groups, so that infected persons who reveal their HIV status, those presumed to be infected and other affected persons are protected from violence, stigmatization and other negative consequences;
- 4. *Invites* States, United Nations organs, programmes and specialized agencies and international and non-governmental organizations to assist developing countries, in particular the least developed countries and those in Africa, in their efforts to prevent the spread of the epidemic, alleviate and control the detrimental impact of HIV/AIDS on the human rights of their populations and care for those infected;
- 5. Urges States to ensure that their laws, policies and practices respect human rights in the context of HIV/AIDS, prohibit HIV/AIDS-related discrimination, promote effective programmes for the prevention of HIV/AIDS, including through education and awareness-raising campaigns and improved access to high-quality goods and services for preventing transmission of the virus, and promote effective programmes for the care and support of persons infected and affected by HIV, including through improved and equitable access to safe and effective medication for the treatment of HIV infection and HIV/AIDS-related illnesses;
- 6. Requests States to establish coordinated, participatory, gender-sensitive, transparent and accountable national policies and programmes for HIV/AIDS response and to translate national policies to district level and local action, involving in all phases of development and implementation non-governmental and community-based organizations and people living with HIV/AIDS;
- 7. Also requests States to develop and support services, including legal aid where appropriate, to educate people infected and affected by HIV/AIDS about their rights and to assist them in realizing their rights;
- 8. Further requests States to take all the necessary steps, including appropriate education, training and media programmes, to combat discrimination, prejudice and stigma, and to ensure the full enjoyment of civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights by people infected and affected by HIV/AIDS;

- 9. *Requests* States, in consultation with the relevant national professional bodies, to ensure that codes of professional conduct, responsibility and practice respect human rights and dignity in the context of HIV/AIDS, including access to care for people infected and affected by HIV/AIDS;
- 10. Also requests States, in consultation with relevant national bodies, including national human rights institutions, to develop and support appropriate mechanisms to monitor and enforce HIV/AIDS-related human rights;
- 11. *Invites* the human rights treaty bodies, when considering reports submitted by States parties, to give particular attention to HIV/AIDS-related rights and invites States to include appropriate HIV/AIDS-related information in the reports they submit to the relevant treaty bodies;
- 12. Requests all special representatives, special rapporteurs and working groups of the Commission, *inter alia*, the special rapporteurs on the right to education, on the promotion and protection of freedom of opinion and expression, on violence against women, its causes and consequences, and on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, to integrate the protection of HIV-related human rights within their respective mandates;
- 13. Requests the Secretary-General to invite the United Nations organs and programmes, as well as the specialized agencies and Member States, to integrate HIV-related human rights into their policies, programmes and activities, including those involving regional intergovernmental human rights and other bodies, and to involve non-governmental and community-based organizations in all phases of development and implementation, to help ensure a system-wide approach, stressing the coordinating and catalytic role of UNAIDS;
- 14. Also requests the Secretary-General to solicit comments from Governments, United Nations organs, programmes and specialized agencies and international and non-governmental organizations on the steps they have taken to promote and implement, where applicable, the Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights and the present resolution, and to submit, in consultation with interested parties, a progress report for consideration at its fifty-ninth session.

75th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIV.]

2001/52. Human rights of migrants

The Commission on Human Rights,

Considering that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights proclaims that all human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights and that everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedoms set out therein, without distinction of any kind, in particular as to race, colour or national origin,

Reaffirming that every State party to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights must ensure to all individuals within its territory and subject to its jurisdiction the rights recognized in the Covenant,

Reaffirming also that every State party to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights must undertake to guarantee the rights enunciated in that Covenant will be exercised without discrimination of any kind, including on the basis of national origin,

Reaffirming further the provisions concerning migrants adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights, the International Conference on Population and Development, the World Summit for Social Development and the Fourth World Conference on Women,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 40/144 of 13 December 1985, by which it approved the Declaration on the Human Rights of Individuals Who are not Nationals of the Country in which They Live,

Taking note of the large and increasing number of migrants in the world,

Deeply concerned at the manifestations of violence, racism, xenophobia and other forms of discrimination and inhuman and degrading treatment against migrants, especially women and children, in different parts of the world,

Noting the concern about the human rights of migrants expressed by the countries and regions of the world at the regional preparatory conferences for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance and reflected in the Political Statement and General Conclusions adopted in Strasbourg, France, in October 2000 by the European Conference against Racism (A/CONF.189/PC.2/6, chaps. I and II); in the Declaration and Plan of Action adopted in Santiago in December 2000 by the Regional Conference of the Americas (A/CONF.189/PC.2/7, chaps. I and IV); in the Declaration and Recommendations for a Programme of Action adopted in Dakar in January 2001 by the Regional Conference for Africa (A/CONF.189/PC.2/8, chap. I) and in the Declaration and Plan of Action adopted in Tehran in February 2001 by the Asian Preparatory Meeting (A/CONF.189/PC.2/9, chaps. I and V),

Bearing in mind the situation of vulnerability in which migrants frequently find themselves, owing, inter alia, to their absence from their State of origin and to the difficulties they encounter because of differences of language, custom and culture, as well as the economic and social difficulties and obstacles to the return of migrants who are undocumented or in an irregular situation to their States of origin,

Bearing in mind also the need for a focused and consistent approach towards migrants as a specific vulnerable group, particularly women and children migrants,

Recognizing the positive contributions that migrants frequently make, including through their eventual integration into their host society, and the efforts that some host countries undertake to integrate migrants,

Encouraged by the increasing interest of the international community in the effective and full protection of the human rights of all migrants, and underlining the need to make further efforts to ensure respect for the human rights and fundamental freedoms of all migrants,

Recalling with appreciation the recommendations by the Intergovernmental Working Group of Experts on the Human Rights of Migrants on strengthening the promotion, protection and implementation of the human rights of the persons belonging to this large vulnerable group,

Noting advisory opinion OC-16/99 of 1 October 1999 issued by the Inter-American Court of Human Rights regarding the right to information about consular assistance within the framework of the guarantees of due process of law, in the case of foreign nationals detained by the authorities of a receiving State,

Noting also the adoption by the General Assembly, in its resolution 55/25 of 15 November 2000, of the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and the Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air, supplementing the Convention,

Noting with appreciation the efforts made by some States to penalize the international trafficking and smuggling of migrants and to protect the victims of this illegal activity,

Bearing in mind the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants contained in its resolution 1999/44 of 27 April 1999,

Resolved to ensure respect for the human rights and fundamental freedoms of all migrants,

- 1. *Acknowledges* that the principles and standards embodied in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights apply to everyone, including migrants;
- 2. Requests States effectively to promote and protect the fundamental human rights of all migrants, in conformity with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the international instruments to which they are party, which may include the International Covenants on Human Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Convention on the Rights of the Child, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, and other relevant human rights instruments, norms and standards:
- 3. Welcomes the renewed commitment made in the United Nations Millennium Declaration to take measures to ensure respect for and protection of human rights of migrants, migrant workers and their families, to eliminate the increasing acts of racism and xenophobia in many societies and to promote greater harmony and tolerance in all societies;

- 4. *Also welcomes* the second report of the Special Rapporteur (E/CN.4/2001/83 and Add.1) submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/48 of 25 April 2000, especially regarding the work she has undertaken, and takes note of her observations and recommendations;
- 5. Encourages the Special Rapporteur to continue to examine ways and means of overcoming existing obstacles to the full and effective protection of the human rights of persons belonging to this large vulnerable group, including obstacles and difficulties for the return of migrants who are undocumented or in an irregular situation, in conformity with her mandate as contained in Commission on Human Rights resolution 1999/44;
- 6. Requests the Special Rapporteur, in carrying out her mandate and within the framework of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and all other international human rights instruments, to request, receive and exchange information on violations of the human rights of migrants, wherever they may occur, from Governments, treaty bodies, specialized agencies, special rapporteurs for various human rights questions and from intergovernmental organizations, other competent organizations of the United Nations system and non-governmental organizations, including migrants' organizations, and to respond effectively to such information;
 - 7. Requests all relevant mechanisms to cooperate with the Special Rapporteur;
- 8. Requests the Special Rapporteur, as part of her activities, to continue her programme of visits, which contribute to improving the protection afforded to the human rights of migrants and to the broad and full implementation of all the aspects of her mandate;
- 9. *Encourages* Governments to give serious consideration to inviting the Special Rapporteur to visit their countries so as to enable her to fulfil her mandate effectively, and notes with appreciation that some Governments have already invited her;
- 10. Requests all Governments to cooperate fully with the Special Rapporteur in the performance of the tasks and duties mandated, to furnish all information requested and to react promptly to her urgent appeals;
- 11. Welcomes the work of the Special Rapporteur linked to the preparatory work for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, within the framework of the objectives of the World Conference, and encourages her to continue to help to identify the main issues concerning migrants which the World Conference should address, taking into account the contributions of the regional preparatory conferences;
- 12. Requests the Special Rapporteur, in carrying out her mandate, to take into account bilateral and regional negotiations which aim at addressing, *inter alia*, the return and reinsertion of migrants who are undocumented or in an irregular situation;
- 13. *Strongly condemns* all forms of racial discrimination and xenophobia related to access to employment, vocational training, housing, schooling, health services and social

services, as well as services intended for use by the public, and welcomes the active role played by governmental and non-governmental organizations in combating racism and xenophobia and assisting individual victims of racist acts, including migrant victims;

- 14. Calls upon all States to consider reviewing and, where necessary, revising immigration policies with a view to eliminating all discriminatory policies and practices against migrants and to provide specialized training for government policy-making and law enforcement, migration and other concerned officials, thus underlining the importance of effective action to create conditions that foster greater harmony and tolerance within societies;
- 15. Reiterates the need for all States to protect fully the universally recognized human rights of migrants, especially those of women and children, regardless of their legal status, and to treat them humanely, particularly with regard to assistance and protection;
- 16. Reaffirms emphatically the duty of States to ensure full respect and observance of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, particularly with regard to the right of foreign nationals, regardless of their immigration status, to communicate with a consular official of their own State in the case of detention, and the obligation of the State in whose territory the detention occurs to inform the foreign national of that right;
- 17. *Reaffirms* the responsibility of Governments to safeguard and protect migrants against illegal or violent acts, in particular acts of racial discrimination and crimes perpetrated with racist or xenophobic motivation by individuals or groups, and urges them to reinforce measures in this regard;
- 18. *Urges* all States to adopt effective measures to put an end to the arbitrary arrest and detention of migrants, including by individuals or groups;
- 19. Encourages Member States that have not yet done so to enact domestic legislation and to take further effective measures to combat international trafficking and smuggling of migrants, which should take into account, in particular, trafficking and smuggling that endangers the lives of migrants or entails different forms of servitude or exploitation, such as any form of debt bondage, slavery and sexual exploitation or forced labour, and also encourages them to strengthen international cooperation to combat such trafficking and smuggling;
- 20. Calls upon States to protect all human rights of migrant children, particularly unaccompanied migrant children, ensuring that the best interests of the children are the paramount consideration, and encourages the relevant United Nations bodies, within the framework of their respective mandates, to pay special attention to the conditions of migrant children in all States and, where necessary, to put forward recommendations to strengthen their protection;
- 21. *Welcomes* the proclamation by the General Assembly, in its resolution 55/93 of 4 December 2000, of 18 December as International Migrants Day and the invitation to Member States and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations to observe it through,

inter alia, the dissemination of information on the human rights and fundamental freedoms of migrants and on their economic, social and cultural contributions to their host and home countries, the sharing of experience and the design of actions to ensure their protection;

- Welcomes also immigration programmes, adopted by some countries that allow migrants to integrate fully into the host countries, facilitate family reunification and promote a harmonious and tolerant environment, and encourages States to consider the possibility of adopting these types of programmes;
- 23. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur to submit a report on her activities to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 24. *Requests* the Secretary-General to give the Special Rapporteur all necessary human and financial assistance for the fulfilment of her mandate;
- 25. *Decides* to examine this question further, as a matter of priority, at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

75th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIV.]

2001/53. International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming once more the permanent validity of the principles and standards embodied in the principal instruments regarding the international protection of human rights, in particular the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and the Convention on the Rights of the Child,

Bearing in mind the principles and standards established within the framework of the International Labour Organization and the importance of the task carried out in connection with migrant workers and their families in other specialized agencies and in various United Nations bodies,

Reiterating that despite the existence of an already established body of principles and norms, there is a need to make further efforts to improve the situation and to guarantee respect for the human rights and dignity of all migrant workers and members of their families,

Concerned at the situation of migrant workers and members of their families and at the marked increase in migratory movements that has occurred, especially in certain parts of the world.

Underlining the importance of the creation and development of conditions to foster greater harmony and tolerance between migrant workers and the rest of the society of the State in which they reside, with the aim of eliminating the growing manifestations of racism and xenophobia perpetrated by individuals or groups against migrant workers in certain segments of many societies,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 45/158 of 18 December 1990, by which the Assembly adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, contained in the annex to the resolution,

Considering that the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23) urges all States to guarantee the protection of all migrant workers and their families and invites them to consider the possibility of signing and ratifying the Convention at the earliest possible time,

- 1. Expresses its deep concern at the growing manifestations of racism, xenophobia and other forms of discrimination and inhuman and degrading treatment directed against migrant workers in different parts of the world;
- 2. Urges countries of destination to review and adopt, as appropriate, measures to prevent the excessive use of force and to ensure that their police forces and competent migration authorities comply with the basic standards relating to the decent treatment of migrant workers and their families, *inter alia* through the organization of training courses on human rights;
- 3. *Takes note* of the report of the Secretary-General on the status of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (E/CN.4/2001/79);
- 4. *Welcomes* the fact that some Member States have signed or ratified the Convention or have acceded to it;
- 5. Calls upon all Member States, in view of the celebration of the tenth anniversary of the adoption of the Convention and of the forthcoming World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, to consider the possibility of signing and ratifying or acceding to the Convention as a matter of priority, expresses the hope that this international instrument will enter into force at an early date and notes that, pursuant to article 87 of the Convention, only four ratifications or accessions are still needed for it to enter into force:

- 6. Requests the Secretary-General to provide all facilities and assistance necessary for the active promotion of the Convention, through the World Public Information Campaign for Human Rights and the programme of advisory services in the field of human rights;
- 7. *Welcomes* the work of the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants in relation to the Convention and encourages her to persevere in this endeavour;
- 8. Welcomes also the increasing activities of the global campaign for entry into force of the Convention and invites organizations and agencies of the United Nations system, as well as intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, to continue and intensify their efforts with a view to disseminating information on the Convention and promoting an understanding thereof;
- 9. Requests the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session a report on the status of the Convention and on the efforts made by the Secretariat to promote the Convention and the protection of the rights of migrant workers;
- 10. *Decides* to include in the provisional agenda of its fifty-eighth session the item entitled "Specific groups and individuals: migrant workers".

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIV.]

2001/54. Internally displaced persons

The Commission on Human Rights,

Deeply disturbed by the alarmingly high numbers of internally displaced persons throughout the world who do not receive adequate protection and assistance, and conscious of the serious challenge this is creating for the international community,

Conscious of the human rights and humanitarian dimensions of the problem of internally displaced persons and the responsibilities this poses for States and the international community to explore methods and means better to address their specific protection and assistance needs,

Recalling the relevant norms of international human rights law, international humanitarian law and refugee law, and recognizing that the protection of internally displaced persons has been strengthened by identifying, reaffirming and consolidating specific standards for their protection, in particular through the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement (E/CN.4/1998/53/Add.2, annex),

Recalling also its previous relevant resolutions, in particular resolution 2000/53 of 25 April 2000, and General Assembly resolution 54/167 of 17 December 1999, as well as the

Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), regarding the need to develop global strategies to address the problem of internal displacement,

Noting the growing awareness of the international community of the issue of internally displaced persons worldwide and of the urgency of addressing the root causes of their displacement and of finding durable solutions, including voluntary return in safety and with dignity or local integration,

Noting with appreciation the work of the Representative of the Secretary-General in developing a normative framework, in particular the compilation and analysis of legal norms and the development of guiding principles; analysing institutional arrangements; undertaking dialogue with Governments; and issuing a series of reports on particular country situations together with proposals for remedial measures,

Welcoming the cooperation established between the Representative of the Secretary-General and the United Nations as well as other international and regional organizations, in particular the participation of the Representative in the work of the Inter-Agency Standing Committee and its subsidiary bodies, and encouraging further strengthening of this collaboration in order to promote better assistance, protection and development strategies for internally displaced persons,

- 1. Takes note with appreciation of the report of the Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons (E/CN.4/2001/5 and Add.1-5);
- 2. Expresses its appreciation to the Representative of the Secretary-General for the activities undertaken so far, despite the limited resources available to him, and for the catalytic role he continues to play to raise the level of consciousness about the plight of internally displaced persons;
- 3. Also expresses its appreciation to those Governments and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations which have provided assistance and protection to internally displaced persons and have supported the work of the Representative of the Secretary-General;
- 4. *Commends* the Representative of the Secretary-General for his efforts to promote a comprehensive strategy that focuses on prevention, as well as better protection, assistance and development for internally displaced persons;
- 5. Encourages the Representative of the Secretary-General, through continuous dialogue with Governments and all intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations concerned, to continue his analysis of the causes of internal displacement, the needs of those displaced, measures of prevention and ways to strengthen protection, assistance and solutions for the internally displaced, taking into account specific situations, and to include information thereon in his reports to the Commission and the General Assembly;

- 6. Welcomes the fact that the Representative of the Secretary-General has made use of the Guiding Principles in his dialogue with Governments and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, and requests him to continue his efforts in that regard;
- 7. Recalls the statement by the President of the Security Council of 13 January 2000 (S/PRST/2000/1), which emphasized that national authorities have the primary responsibility to provide protection and assistance to internally displaced persons within their jurisdiction;
- 8. Notes with appreciation that an increasing number of States, United Nations agencies, and regional and non-governmental organizations are making use of the Guiding Principles, encourages the further dissemination and application of the Guiding Principles, expresses its appreciation for the dissemination and promotion of the Guiding Principles at regional and other seminars on displacement, and encourages the Representative to continue to initiate or support such seminars in consultation with regional organizations, intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations and other relevant institutions, and to provide support for efforts to promote capacity-building and use of the Guiding Principles;
- 9. Welcomes the specific attention paid by the Representative of the Secretary-General to the special assistance, protection and development needs of internally displaced women and children and his commitment to pay more systematic and in-depth attention to women, children and other groups with specific needs among the internally displaced, and to the strategies for addressing such concerns;
- 10. *Thanks* Governments which have invited the Representative of the Secretary-General to visit their countries and encourages them to follow up on his recommendations and suggestions and to make available information on measures taken thereon;
- 11. Calls upon all Governments to facilitate the activities of the Representative of the Secretary-General, in particular those Governments with situations of internal displacement which have not yet extended invitations or responded positively to requests for information from the Representative;
- 12. Also calls upon Governments to provide protection and assistance, including reintegration and development assistance, to internally displaced persons, and to facilitate the efforts of relevant United Nations agencies and humanitarian organizations in these respects, including by further improving access to internally displaced persons;
- 13. *Stresses* the importance of appropriate follow-up to the recommendations of the Representative of the Secretary-General by Governments as well as by the relevant parts of the United Nations system in the Inter-Agency Standing Committee, including at the country level;
- 14. Also stresses the need to further strengthen inter-agency arrangements and the capacities of relevant United Nations agencies to meet the immense humanitarian challenge of internal displacement, and calls upon States to provide adequate resources for programmes to assist and protect internally displaced persons;

- 15. Encourages the Representative of the Secretary-General, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, the Emergency Relief Coordinator and the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, the United Nations Development Programme, the United Nations Children's Fund, the World Food Programme, the World Health Organization, the International Organization for Migration, the International Committee of the Red Cross and all other relevant humanitarian assistance and development organizations, including non-governmental organizations, further to enhance their collaboration and coordination;
- 16. Notes with appreciation the increased attention paid to internally displaced persons in the consolidated inter-agency appeals process and encourages further efforts to improve the integration of the protection and assistance needs of internally displaced persons in consolidated appeals;
- 17. *Welcomes* the establishment of the global internally displaced persons database, as advocated by the Representative of the Secretary-General, and encourages the members of the Inter-Agency Standing Committee and Governments to continue to collaborate on and support this effort, including by providing financial resources;
- 18. Also welcomes the initiatives undertaken by regional organizations, such as the Organization of African Unity, the Organization of American States and the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, to address the assistance, protection and development needs of internally displaced persons and encourages them and other regional organizations to strengthen their activities and their cooperation with the Representative of the Secretary-General;
- 19. Further welcomes the attention paid by relevant special rapporteurs, working groups, experts and treaty bodies to issues of internal displacement, and calls upon them to continue to seek information on situations which have already created or could create internal displacement and to include relevant information and recommendations thereon in their reports and make them available to the Representative of the Secretary-General;
- 20. Calls upon the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to develop projects, in cooperation with Governments, relevant international organizations and the Representative of the Secretary-General, to promote the human rights of internally displaced persons, as part of the programme of advisory services and technical cooperation, and to include in her report to the Commission information on their implementation;
- 21. *Decides* to extend the mandate of the Representative of the Secretary-General for a further three years;
- 22. Requests the Secretary-General to provide his Representative, from within existing resources, with all necessary assistance to carry out his mandate effectively, and encourages the Representative of the Secretary-General to continue to seek the contribution of States, relevant organizations and institutions in order to put the work of the Representative on a more stable basis;

- 23. *Requests* the Representative of the Secretary-General to continue to report on his activities to the General Assembly and to the Commission;
- 24. *Decides* to continue its consideration of the question of internal displacement at its fifty-eighth session;
- 25. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 29.]

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIV.]

2001/55. Rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 47/135 of 18 December 1992, as well as subsequent resolutions of the Assembly on the Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities, Commission resolution 1995/24 of 3 March 1995 and Economic and Social Council decision 1998/246 of 30 July 1998,

Considering that the promotion and protection of the rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities contribute to political and social stability and peace and enrich the cultural heritage of society as a whole,

Affirming that effective measures and the creation of favourable conditions for the promotion and protection of the rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities, ensuring effective non-discrimination and equality for all, as well as full and effective participation in matters affecting them, contribute to the prevention and peaceful solution of human rights problems and situations involving minorities,

Acknowledging that national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities contribute to the diversity of societies and that minority rights promote tolerance within societies, and recognizing that promoting a culture of tolerance through human rights education shall be advanced by all States,

Concerned at the growing frequency and severity of disputes and conflicts regarding minorities in many countries, and their often tragic consequences, and that persons belonging to minorities are particularly vulnerable to displacement through, *inter alia*, population transfers, refugee flows and forced relocation,

Concerned also at instances of victimization or marginalization of persons belonging to minorities in situations of political or economic instability,

Taking note of Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights resolution 2000/16 of 17 August 2000 on the rights of minorities and Sub-Commission decision 2000/109 of 17 August 2000,

Acknowledging that the United Nations has an increasingly important role to play regarding the protection of minorities by, *inter alia*, taking due account of and giving effect to the Declaration,

Noting with satisfaction the emphasis by the Working Group on Minorities on the participation of minority representatives in its work,

- 1. *Takes note* of the report of the Secretary-General on the rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities (E/CN.4/2001/81) and of the report of the Working Group on Minorities on its sixth session (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/27 and Corr.1), in particular the conclusions and recommendations contained therein;
- 2. Reaffirms the obligation of States to ensure that persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities may exercise fully and effectively all human rights and fundamental freedoms without any discrimination and in full equality before the law in accordance with the Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities;
- 3. *Urges* States and the international community to promote and protect the rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities, as set out in the Declaration, including through equal access to education and the facilitation of their participation in all aspects of the political, economic, social, religious and cultural life of society and in the economic progress and development of the country, and to apply a gender perspective while doing so;
- 4. *Calls upon* States to give special attention to the promotion and protection of the human rights of children, girls as well as boys, belonging to minorities;
- 5. *Urges* States to take, as appropriate, all the necessary constitutional, legislative, administrative and other measures to promote and give effect to the Declaration;
- 6. Recommends that the human rights treaty bodies, when considering reports submitted by States parties, give particular attention to the implementation of articles relating to the rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities;
- 7. *Calls upon* special representatives, special rapporteurs and working groups of the Commission to continue to give attention, within their respective mandates, to situations involving minorities;

- 8. *Calls upon* the Secretary-General to make available, at the request of Governments concerned, qualified expertise on minority issues, including the prevention and resolution of disputes, to assist in existing or potential situations involving minorities and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on concrete projects and activities in this regard;
- 9. *Calls upon* the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to continue to promote, within her mandate, the implementation of the Declaration and to engage in a dialogue with Governments concerned for that purpose;
- 10. *Invites* the High Commissioner to continue her efforts to improve the coordination and cooperation of United Nations programmes and agencies active in the field of the promotion and protection of the rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities, and invites the United Nations programmes and agencies to continue to give attention, within their respective mandates, to situations of minorities;
- 11. *Notes* the holding of the first regional workshop of the Working Group on Minorities on multiculturalism in Africa, in Arusha, United Republic of Tanzania, from 13 to 15 May 2000, and a second workshop on the same theme in Kidal, Mali, from 8 to 13 January 2001;
- 12. *Encourages* the Working Group, as requested by the Sub-Commission, within its mandate, to take due account of activities undertaken and reports prepared by intergovernmental regional organizations on human rights problems and situations involving minorities;
- 13. *Welcomes* the work of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on a manual containing an overview of relevant procedures and mechanisms of regional and international organizations;
- 14. *Requests* the Working Group to contribute to and participate in the preparations for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, focusing for this purpose on the relationship between the elimination of racial discrimination and the promotion and protection of the rights of persons belonging to minorities;
- 15. *Requests* the Secretary-General to provide the Working Group, from within existing resources, with all the necessary services and facilities to fulfil its mandate;
- 16. Calls upon States to facilitate the effective participation of representatives of non-governmental organizations and persons belonging to minorities in the work of the Working Group, and invites the High Commissioner to seek voluntary contributions in this regard;
- 17. Calls upon States, intergovernmental organizations, United Nations bodies and non-governmental organizations to participate actively in the work of the Working Group, including through written contributions;

- 18. *Requests* the High Commissioner to invite Governments and relevant intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations to submit their views on how best to protect the rights of persons belonging to minorities;
- 19. *Requests* the Secretary-General to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the implementation of the present resolution;
- 20. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIV.]

2001/56. Protection of migrants and their families

The Commission on Human Rights,

Considering that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that all human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights, and that every individual is entitled to equal protection against any discrimination in violation of the Declaration and against any incitement to such discrimination,

Bearing in mind the obligations undertaken by every State party to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and other international instruments on human rights,

Bearing also in mind the conclusions relating to the issue of migrants and their families adopted in the final documents of the World Conference on Human Rights, the World Summit for Social Development and other international conferences and summits organized under United Nations auspices,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 40/144 of 13 December 1985, in which the Assembly adopted the Declaration on the Human Rights of Individuals Who are not Nationals of the Country in which They Live, and Assembly resolution 45/158 of 18 December 1990, in which it adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families.

Taking note with deep concern of the persistent obstacles that prevent many migrants and their families from achieving the full enjoyment of their human rights, and bearing in mind that migrants are often victims of ill-treatment and of acts of discrimination, racism and xenophobia,

Taking note of the adoption by the General Assembly, in its resolution 55/25 of 15 November 2000, of the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and the Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air, supplementing the Convention,

Reaffirming the commitment, contained in Article 56 of the Charter of the United Nations, to take joint and separate action, placing proper emphasis on developing effective international cooperation for the realization of the purposes set out in Article 55 of the Charter, including universal respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms for all,

Emphasizing the responsibilities of all States, in conformity with the Charter, to develop and encourage respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms for all, without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Bearing in mind the importance of the participation of all countries involved in migration in international initiatives aimed at protecting the human rights of migrants and their families, and the essential role of international cooperation in addressing in an integral manner diverse issues related to migration,

Taking note of regional initiatives oriented to the protection and promotion of human rights of migrants and their families,

- 1. *Encourages* all States to consider in their immigration-regularization programmes the promotion and facilitation of the reunification of migrants and their families in an expeditious and effective manner and with due regard to applicable laws;
- 2. Encourages States of origin to promote and protect the human rights of those families of migrant workers which remain in the countries of origin, paying particular attention to children and adolescents whose parents have emigrated, and encourages international and non-governmental organizations to consider supporting States in this regard;
- 3. *Encourages* all Governments to remove unlawful obstacles that may prevent the safe, unrestricted and expeditious transfer of earnings, assets and pensions of migrants to their country of origin or to any other countries, in conformity with applicable legislation, and to consider, as appropriate, measures to solve other problems that may impede such transfers;
- 4. Requests all States, in conformity with national legislation, firmly to prosecute cases of violation of labour law with regard to migrant workers' conditions of work, including those related to, *inter alia*, their remuneration and the conditions of health and safety at work;
- 5. Requests Governments to adopt concrete measures in order to prevent the violation of the human rights of migrants while in transit, including in ports and airports and at borders and migration checkpoints, to train public officials who work in those facilities and in border areas to treat migrants and their families respectfully and in accordance with the law; and to prosecute, in conformity with applicable law, any act of violation of the human rights of

migrants and their families - *inter alia*, arbitrary detention, torture and violations of the right to life, including extrajudicial executions - during their transit from their country of origin to the country of destination and vice versa, including their transit through national borders;

- 6. Encourages States of origin and of destination of migrants to consider the adoption of bilateral or regional strategies aimed at protecting the human rights of migrants and their families, as a matter of priority and in conformity with the appropriate legislation, and to effectively combat international trafficking and smuggling of migrants and to protect migrants and their families from exploitation and intimidation by traffickers, smugglers and criminal organizations;
- 7. Calls upon all States to consider the possibility of signing, ratifying and acceding to, as a matter of priority, the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families;
- 8. *Decides* to consider this question further at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item.

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIV.]

2001/57. Human rights and indigenous issues

The Commission on Human Rights,

Bearing in mind that one of the purposes of the United Nations, as set forth in the Charter of the United Nations, is the achievement of international cooperation in solving international problems of an economic, social, cultural or humanitarian character and in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Considering that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights proclaims that all human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights, that all are entitled to equal protection against any discrimination and that everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedoms set forth in the Declaration, without distinction of any kind, such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, national origin, birth or other status,

Mindful of the relevant recommendations adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights, in particular those contained in Part I, paragraph 20, and Part II, paragraphs 28 to 32, of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 (A/CONF.157/23),

Recalling that the objective of the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People is the strengthening of international cooperation for the solution of the problems they face in areas such as human rights, the environment, development, education and health,

Noting with satisfaction the progress in some countries in the protection and promotion of the human rights of indigenous people,

Encouraged by the growing interest of the international community in the full and effective protection of the human rights of indigenous people,

Taking into account the mandate of the Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights to review developments pertaining to the promotion and protection of their human rights and fundamental freedoms, giving special attention to the evolution of standards concerning their rights,

Noting with satisfaction the decision of the Economic and Social Council to establish a Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues, as a subsidiary organ of the Council, with the mandate to discuss indigenous issues within the mandate of the Council relating to economic and social development, culture, the environment, education, health and human rights,

Taking into account the absence of a mechanism in the Commission with a specific mandate to protect and monitor the respect and enjoyment of the human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people,

Taking particularly into account the recommendation of the Sub-Commission that the Commission appoint a special rapporteur on the situation of human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people,

Recalling its decision 2000/105 of 25 April 2000, adopted without a vote, by which it was decided to postpone the consideration of the draft resolution on the subject (E/CN.4/2000/L.63),

Bearing in mind resolution 2000/22 of the Economic and Social Council of 28 July 2000, entitled "Establishment of a Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues",

Conscious of the situation of vulnerability in which indigenous people frequently find themselves and that in various situations they are unable to enjoy their inalienable human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Reaffirming the urgent need to recognize, promote and protect more effectively the human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people,

Determined to promote the enjoyment of their human rights and fundamental freedoms by indigenous people,

1. *Decides* to appoint, for a three-year period, a special rapporteur on the situation of human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people, with the following functions:

- (a) To gather, request, receive and exchange information and communications from all relevant sources, including Governments, indigenous people themselves and their communities and organizations, on violations of their human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- (b) To formulate recommendations and proposals on appropriate measures and activities to prevent and remedy violations of the human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people;
- (c) To work in close relation with other special rapporteurs, special representatives, working groups and independent experts of the Commission and of the Sub-Commission, taking into account the request of the Commission contained in its resolution 1993/30 of 5 March 1993;
- 2. *Invites* the Special Rapporteur to take into account a gender perspective while in carrying out her/his mandate, paying special attention to discrimination against indigenous women:
- 3. *Also invites* the Special Rapporteur to pay special attention to violations of the human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous children;
- 4. *Further invites* the Special Rapporteur, in carrying out his/her task, to take into account all the recommendations of the Working Group on Indigenous Populations and of the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues relevant to her/his mandate;
- 5. *Encourages* the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance to give special attention to discrimination against indigenous people and requests the Special Rapporteur to consider, in performing his/her work, the recommendations of the World Conference on matters concerning his/her mandate;
- 6. Also encourages the United Nations, including its specialized agencies, other regional intergovernmental organizations, Governments, independent experts, interested institutions, non-governmental organizations and, in particular, indigenous people to cooperate to the fullest extent possible with the Special Rapporteur in the fulfilment of his/her mandate;
- 7. Requests all Governments to cooperate fully with the Special Rapporteur in the performance of the tasks and duties mandated, to furnish all information requested and to react promptly to his/her urgent appeals;
- 8. *Encourages* all Governments to give serious consideration to the possibility of inviting the Special Rapporteur to visit their countries so as to enable him/her to fulfil the mandate effectively;
- 9. Requests the Chairperson of the Commission, following formal consultations with the Bureau and the regional groups through the regional coordinators, to appoint as Special Rapporteur an individual of recognized international standing and experience;

- 10. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur to submit annual reports on his/her activities to the Commission, starting at its fifty-eighth session;
- 11. *Requests* the Secretary-General and the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to provide all the necessary human, technical and financial assistance to the Special Rapporteur for the fulfilment of her/his mandate;
- 12. *Decides* to consider the follow-up to this question, as a matter of priority, at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item.

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XV.]

2001/58. Working group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration in accordance with paragraph 5 of General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994

The Commission on Human Rights,

Bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 47/75 of 14 December 1992 and Part II, paragraph 28, of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23),

Reaffirming its resolution 1995/32 of 3 March 1995, in which it established an open-ended inter-sessional working group with the sole purpose of elaborating a draft declaration, considering the draft contained in the annex to resolution 1994/45 of 26 August 1994 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, entitled "Draft United Nations declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples", for consideration and adoption by the General Assembly within the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People,

Reaffirming in particular that the invitation contained in that resolution was addressed to organizations of indigenous people seeking authorization to participate in the working group,

Recognizing that organizations of indigenous people have special knowledge and understanding of the current situation of the world's indigenous people and their human rights needs,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994, in which the Assembly encouraged the Commission to consider the draft declaration with the participation of representatives of indigenous people, on the basis of and in accordance with appropriate procedures to be determined by the Commission,

Welcoming the progress made in the process of drafting a declaration on the rights of indigenous people, and emphasizing the importance and special nature of such a draft declaration as an instrument specifically for promoting the rights of indigenous people,

Recalling the need for the working group to consider all aspects of the draft declaration, including its scope of application,

- 1. Takes note of the report of the working group (E/CN.4/2001/85) and welcomes the continuation and positive nature of the deliberations of the working group, particularly the measures taken to ensure effective input by organizations of indigenous people;
- 2. Expresses its appreciation of the work of the Economic and Social Council in considering applications from organizations of indigenous people to participate in the working group under the procedures set out in the annex to Commission resolution 1995/32;
- 3. Welcomes the decisions of the Council approving the participation of organizations of indigenous people in the work of the working group and urges the Council to process all pending applications as soon as possible, taking strictly into account the procedures set out in the annex to Commission resolution 1995/32;
- 4. *Recommends* that the working group meet for ten working days prior to the fifty-eighth session of the Commission, the cost of the meeting to be met from within existing resources;
- 5. *Invites* the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the working group and all interested parties to conduct broad informal inter-sessional consultations with a view to facilitating progress in drafting a declaration on the rights of indigenous people at the next session of the working group;
- 6. *Encourages* organizations of indigenous people that are not already registered to participate in the working group, and that wish to do so, to apply for authorization in accordance with the procedures set out in the annex to Commission resolution 1995/32;
- 7. *Requests* the working group to submit a progress report for consideration by the Commission at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda item entitled "Indigenous issues";
- 8. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 31.]

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XV.]

2001/59. Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its previous resolutions on the Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People, in particular resolution 1997/32 of 11 April 1997,

Recalling also Economic and Social Council resolution 1982/34 of 7 May 1982, in which the Council authorized the Sub-Commission to establish annually a working group on indigenous populations with the mandate to review developments pertaining to the promotion and protection of the human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people, giving special attention to the evolution of standards concerning the rights of indigenous people,

Affirming its recognition of the value and diversity of the cultures and forms of social organization of indigenous people and that the development of indigenous people within their countries will contribute to the socio-economic, cultural and environmental advancement of all the countries of the world.

Recalling that the goal of the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People is to strengthen international cooperation for the solution of problems faced by indigenous people in such areas as human rights, the environment, development, education and health, and that the theme of the Decade is "Indigenous people: partnership in action",

Recognizing the importance of consultation and cooperation with indigenous people in planning and implementing the programme of activities for the Decade, the need for adequate financial support from the international community, including support from within the United Nations and the specialized agencies, and the need for adequate coordination and communication channels,

Mindful of the decision by the General Assembly in its resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994 to observe the International Day of the World's Indigenous People on 9 August every year,

- I. REPORT OF THE WORKING GROUP ON INDIGENOUS POPULATIONS OF THE SUB-COMMISSION ON THE PROMOTION AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN RIGHTS
- 1. *Takes note* of the report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights (E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46) and of the report of the Working Group on its eighteenth session (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/24);

- 2. Urges the Working Group to continue its comprehensive review of developments and of the diverse situations and aspirations of the world's indigenous people, welcomes its proposal to highlight specific themes of the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People at its future sessions, noting that at its nineteenth session the Working Group will focus on the theme of "Indigenous peoples and their right to development, including their right to participate in development affecting them" and invites Governments, intergovernmental organizations and indigenous and non-governmental organizations to provide information and data on this theme to the Working Group at its nineteenth session;
- 3. Again invites the Working Group to take into account in its deliberations on developments pertaining to the promotion and protection of the human rights of indigenous people the work, within the framework of their respective mandates, of all thematic special rapporteurs, special representatives, independent experts, working groups and expert seminars as it pertains to the situation of indigenous people;
- 4. *Recommends* that the Economic and Social Council authorize the Working Group to meet for five working days prior to the fifty-third session of the Sub-Commission;
- 5. *Invites* the Working Group to continue its consideration of ways in which the expertise of indigenous people can contribute to the work of the Working Group, and encourages initiatives by Governments, organizations of indigenous people and non-governmental organizations to ensure the full participation of indigenous people in the activities related to the tasks of the Working Group;
 - 6. *Requests* the Secretary-General:
- (a) To provide adequate resources and assistance to the Working Group in the discharge of its tasks, including adequate dissemination of information about the activities of the Working Group to Governments, specialized agencies, non-governmental organizations and organizations of indigenous people, in order to encourage the widest possible participation in its work;
- (b) To transmit the reports of the Working Group to Governments, organizations of indigenous people and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, as soon as possible, for specific comments and suggestions;
- 7. Appeals to all Governments, organizations and individuals in a position to do so to consider contributing to the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Indigenous Populations;

II. INTERNATIONAL DECADE OF THE WORLD'S INDIGENOUS PEOPLE

8. *Takes note* of the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the implementation of the programme of activities for the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People (E/CN.4/2001/84);

- 9. *Invites* the Working Group on Indigenous Populations to continue its review of activities undertaken during the Decade and encourages Governments and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations to provide information on the implementation of the goals of the Decade, in accordance with paragraph 16 of the annex to General Assembly resolution 50/157 of 21 December 1995;
- 10. *Welcomes* the affirmation by the General Assembly that a major objective of the Decade is the adoption of a declaration on the rights of indigenous people;
- 11. Welcomes the decision by the Economic and Social Council, in its resolution 2000/22 of 28 July 2000, to establish a Permanent Forum for Indigenous Issues as a subsidiary organ of the Council, thereby fulfilling an important objective of the Decade, and encourages all parties concerned to engage in the necessary preparations for the early establishment of the Forum;
- 12. Requests the High Commissioner, in her capacity as Coordinator of the Decade, to submit an updated annual report reviewing activities within the United Nations system under the programme of activities for the Decade to the Commission on Human Rights at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda item entitled "Indigenous issues", in accordance with the request by the General Assembly to the Secretary-General;
- 13. *Notes* that, in her report, the High Commissioner, in her capacity as Coordinator of the Decade, reviews the implementation of the programme of activities of the Decade, takes note of the information contained therein about the activities of the United Nations system, including the specialized agencies, and other intergovernmental activities relating to indigenous people and urges all parties concerned to intensify their efforts to achieve the goals of the Decade;
- 14. *Emphasizes* the important role of international cooperation in promoting the goals and activities of the Decade and the rights, well-being and sustainable development of indigenous people;
- 15. Appeals to all Governments, organizations and individuals in a position to do so to support the Decade by contributing to the Voluntary Fund for the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People;
- 16. *Encourages* Governments, as appropriate, recognizing the importance of action at the national level for the implementation of the goals and activities of the Decade, to support the Decade, in consultation with indigenous people, by:
- (a) Preparing relevant programmes, plans and reports in relation to the Decade and establishing national committees or other mechanisms involving indigenous people to ensure that the objectives and activities of the Decade are planned and implemented on the basis of full partnership with indigenous people;

- (b) Seeking means of giving indigenous people greater responsibility for their own affairs and an effective voice in decisions on matters which affect them;
- (c) Identifying resources for activities designed to implement the goals of the Decade;
- 17. Appeals to intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations to support the Decade by identifying resources for activities designed to implement the goals of the Decade, in cooperation with indigenous people;
- 18. *Encourages* Governments to consider contributing, as appropriate, in support of the achievement of the goals of the Decade, to the Fund for the Development of Indigenous Peoples of Latin America and the Caribbean;
- 19. *Requests* the High Commissioner to ensure that the indigenous people's unit in the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights is adequately staffed and resourced to enable the activities of the Decade to be effectively implemented;
- 20. Recommends that the High Commissioner, when developing programmes within the framework of the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People and the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, give due regard to the development of human rights training for indigenous people;
- 21. *Encourages* the High Commissioner to cooperate with the Department of Public Information in preparing and disseminating information on the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People, taking due care to portray accurately the information regarding indigenous people;
- 22. *Invites* the United Nations financial and development institutions, operational programmes and specialized agencies, in accordance with the existing procedure of their governing bodies:
- (a) To give increased priority and resources to improving the conditions of indigenous people, with particular emphasis on the needs of these people in developing countries, including through the preparation of specific programmes of action for the implementation of the goals of the Decade, within their areas of competence;
- (b) To launch special projects, through appropriate channels and in collaboration with indigenous people, for strengthening their community-level initiatives, and to facilitate the exchange of information and expertise among indigenous people and other relevant experts;
- (c) To designate focal points or other mechanisms for coordination with the High Commissioner of activities relating to the Decade;

- 23. Recommends that the situation of indigenous people be taken into account in forthcoming United Nations conferences of relevance, including the special session of the General Assembly for the follow-up to the World Summit for Children, the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance and the World Summit on Sustainable Development;
- 24. Takes note of the decision of the Sub-Commission proposing an international conference to evaluate the Decade and suggests that this proposal be considered in the context of the review by the Economic and Social Council without prejudging any outcome, of all existing mechanisms, procedures and programmes within the United Nations concerning indigenous issues including the Working Group on Indigenous Populations, with a view to rationalizing activities, avoiding duplication and overlap and promoting effectiveness, that will take place once the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues has been established and has held its first annual session;
- 25. *Decides* to consider the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda item entitled "Indigenous issues".

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XV.]

2001/60. Work of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its previous relevant resolutions, in particular resolutions 1998/28 of 17 April 1998, 1999/81 of 28 April 1999 and 2000/83 of 26 April 2000, as well as the terms of reference of the Sub-Commission on Promotion and Protection of Human Rights (formerly, the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities) as set out in the relevant resolutions of the Commission on Human Rights, the Economic and Social Council, and the General Assembly,

Recalling also the report of the Inter-sessional open-ended working group on enhancing the effectiveness of the mechanisms of the Commission (E/CN.4/2000/112), and reaffirming Commission decision 2000/109 of 26 April 2000,

Taking note of:

- (a) The report of the Sub-Commission on its fifty-second session (E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46),
- (b) The report of the Chairperson of the Sub-Commission at its fifty-second session (E/CN.4/2001/86),

Bearing in mind the final working paper on the methods of work of the Sub-Commission (E/CN.4/Sub.2/1999/2), and the Guidelines for the application by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council and other decisions and practices relating thereto, annexed to Sub-Commission decision 1999/114 of 26 August 1999,

- 1. *Reaffirms* its recognition of the valuable contribution made by the Sub-Commission, as a subsidiary body of the Commission, to the human rights work of the United Nations over the past fifty-four years;
- 2. *Also reaffirms* that the Sub-Commission can best assist the Commission by providing it with:
 - (a) Independent expert studies carried out by its members or alternates;
 - (b) Recommendations based on, and after full consideration of, these studies;
 - (c) Studies, research and expert advice at the request of the Commission;
- 3. *Welcomes* the steps undertaken by the Sub-Commission to reform and improve its agenda for the fifty-third session;

4. *Reiterates*:

- (a) Its decision that the Sub-Commission should not adopt country-specific resolutions and, in negotiating and adopting thematic resolutions, should refrain from including references to specific countries;
- (b) That the Sub-Commission should continue to be able to debate country situations not being dealt with in the Commission, as well as urgent matters involving serious violations of human rights in any country, and that its discussions would be reflected in the summary records of its debates, which should continue to be forwarded to the Commission;
- 5. *Invites* the Sub-Commission, with reference to the request contained in Sub-Commission decision 2000/105 of 14 August 2000, to refer to paragraphs 51 to 53, in particular paragraph 52, of the report of the Inter-sessional open-ended working group on enhancing the effectiveness of the mechanisms of the Commission;
 - 6. *Recommends* that the Sub-Commission further improve its methods of work by:
- (a) Focusing on its primary role as an advisory body to the Commission, specifically when its advice is requested by the Commission;
- (b) Giving particular attention to the selection of studies specifically recommended by the Commission and at the same time, focusing on how and when the implementation of existing standards can be improved;

- (c) Respecting strictly the highest standards of impartiality and expertise, and avoiding acts which would affect confidence in the independence of its members;
- (d) Facilitating efficient and effective participation of non-governmental organizations;
- (e) Giving full consideration to studies and working papers by special rapporteurs and its members before sending them to the Commission;
- (f) Focusing strictly on questions relating to human rights in accordance with its mandate;
- (g) Avoiding duplication of its work with that being carried out by other competent bodies and mechanisms;
 - 7. *Invites* the Sub-Commission in particular:
- (a) To devote sufficient time at its fifty-third session, principally in closed session, to the discussion and adoption of its working methods and timetable, so as to avoid prolonged procedural debates in public meetings;
- (b) To reserve time to meet in closed session for the preliminary discussion of reports and working papers, for example by holding question-and-answer sessions;
- (c) To propose further measures to improve the functioning of the Sub-Commission, including the further streamlining of its agenda;
 - 8. *Requests* States:
- (a) When nominating and electing members and alternates to the Sub-Commission, to be conscious of the strong concern to ensure that the body is independent and is seen to be so;
- (b) When nominating and electing members and alternates to the Sub-Commission, to keep in mind the need for a balanced accommodation of the benefits of continuity and the importance of renewal;
- (c) When nominating candidates for the Sub-Commission, to submit nominations, if possible, at least two months prior to the beginning of the session at which they will be elected, so as to enable the members of the Commission thoroughly to assess the qualifications and the independence of the nominees;
- 9. *Invites* the Secretary-General to give support to the Sub-Commission, *inter alia* by making available documentation in a timely fashion before each session in the official languages of the United Nations and assisting the Sub-Commission with regard to requests for information from Governments and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, but to consider such requests only after they have been approved by the Commission;

- 10. Recommends that the Chairperson of the Sub-Commission or his/her representative attend the meeting of special rapporteurs/representatives, experts and chairpersons of working groups of the special procedures of the Commission and the meeting of chairpersons of treaty bodies, so as to facilitate coordination between the Sub-Commission and other relevant bodies and procedures of the United Nations, in accordance with their respective mandates;
- 11. *Invites* the Chairperson of the fifty-seventh session of the Commission to address the Sub-Commission at the opening meeting of its fifty-third session and to inform it about the present resolution and the debate that took place on this subject at the fifty-seventh session of the Commission under agenda item 16;
- 12. *Invites* the Chairperson of the fifty-third session of the Sub-Commission to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, including an assessment of how recent enhancements of the effectiveness of the Sub-Commission and of its mechanisms have worked in practice;
- 13. *Decides* to consider the issue of the work of the Sub-Commission again at its fifty-eighth session under the relevant agenda item.

76th meeting 24 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVI.]

2001/61. United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (1995-2004)

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Reaffirming article 26 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, in accordance with which education shall be directed to the full development of the human personality and to the strengthening of respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Recalling the provisions of other international human rights instruments, including article 13 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and article 29 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child, which reflect the aims of the aforementioned article,

Taking into account its resolution 1993/56 of 9 March 1993, in which the Commission recommended that knowledge of human rights, both in its theoretical dimension and in its practical application, should be established as a priority in education policies,

Believing that every woman, man and child, to realize their full human potential, must be made aware of all their human rights, civil, cultural, economic, political and social,

Believing also that human rights education constitutes an important vehicle for the elimination of gender-based discrimination and ensuring equal opportunities through the promotion and protection of the human rights of women,

Convinced that human rights education should involve more than the provision of information and should constitute a comprehensive lifelong process by which people at all levels of development and in all societies learn respect for the dignity of others and the means and methods of ensuring that respect in all societies,

Convinced also that human rights education and information contribute to a concept of development consistent with the dignity of women and men of all ages which takes into account particularly vulnerable segments of society such as children, youth, older persons, indigenous people, minorities, rural and urban poor, migrant workers, refugees, persons with human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome infection and disabled persons,

Recognizing the role of education in constructing a culture of peace, in particular the teaching of the practice of non-violence, which will promote the purposes and principles embodied in the Charter of the United Nations,

Bearing in mind that 2001 is the sixth year of the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education and the first year of the International Decade for a Culture of Peace and Non-Violence for the Children of the World, and that their harmonization will enhance the advancement of human rights,

Welcoming the holding of the expert seminar on human rights and peace organized by the University for Peace and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in Geneva on 8 and 9 December 2000 as part of the activities in celebration of Human Rights Day on 11 December 2000 and guided by the broad theme of "human rights education",

Bearing in mind the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), in particular Part II, paragraphs 78 to 82, thereof,

Recalling the responsibility of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to coordinate relevant United Nations education and public information programmes in the field of human rights,

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 49/184 of 23 December 1994, in which the Assembly proclaimed the ten-year period beginning on 1 January 1995 the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, welcomed the Plan of Action for the Decade (A/51/506/Add.1, appendix) and requested the High Commissioner to coordinate the implementation of the Plan of Action,

Noting General Assembly resolution 55/94 of 4 December 2000, in which the Assembly urged all Governments to contribute further to the implementation of the Plan of Action, in particular by encouraging the establishment, in accordance with national conditions, of broadly representative national committees for human rights education responsible for the development of comprehensive, effective and sustainable national plans of action for human rights education and information, taking into consideration the relevant guidelines developed by the Office of the High Commissioner,

Bearing in mind that, according to the Plan of Action, during the year 2000 a mid-term global evaluation of progress made towards the achievement of the objectives of the Decade was to be undertaken by the Office of the High Commissioner, in cooperation with all other principal actors of the Decade, and that the High Commissioner was to report to the General Assembly on the results of the evaluation,

Recalling that the Commission, in its resolution 2000/71 of 26 April 2000, requested the Secretary-General, through the High Commissioner, to submit to the Commission, at its fifty-seventh session the recommendations of the mid-term evaluation report,

- 1. Acknowledges with appreciation the process of the mid-term global evaluation of the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education undertaken from April to August 2000 by the Office of the High Commissioner, which included the launching of a worldwide survey, the organization of an on-line forum, the convening of an expert meeting and the preparation of the High Commissioner's mid-term global evaluation report (A/55/360);
- 2. Takes note with appreciation of the mid-term global evaluation report of the High Commissioner, which includes an analysis of available information on progress made in the first five years of the Decade at the national, regional and international levels and recommendations for action during the remaining years of the Decade;
- 3. *Invites* Governments and other Decade actors to consider disseminating widely the recommendations contained in the mid-term global evaluation report, which are annexed to the present resolution, and to take them into account in furthering their human rights education activities during the remaining years of the Decade;
- 4. *Invites* Governments and intergovernmental organizations to provide information, as appropriate, to the High Commissioner on steps taken to implement the recommendations of the mid-term global evaluation report;
- 5. Requests the High Commissioner to bring the recommendations of the mid-term global evaluation report and the present resolution to the attention of all members of the international community and of intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations

concerned with human rights education and public information, and to report to the Commission, at its fifty-eighth session, on progress made towards the implementation of the present resolution under the same agenda item.

77th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVII.]

ANNEX

Recommendations of the mid-term global evaluation of the progress made towards the achievement of the objectives of the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (1995-2004)*

- 1. The following main findings of the mid-term global evaluation provide the basis for the following recommendations:
- (a) **Obligations of States**. States Members of the United Nations have unanimously proclaimed the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, thereby making commitments relating to human rights education, as set out in General Assembly resolution 49/184 of 23 December 1994. Prior to the Decade, Member States had ratified human rights treaties which contained provisions on human rights education, thereby setting themselves treaty obligations with regard to education in general and human rights education in particular. The evaluation, however, reveals that effective national strategies for human rights education have very rarely been developed;
- (b) **United Nations system**. The United Nations system has yet to adopt a system-wide response to the Decade, even though the United Nations reforms currently under way call for a system-wide mainstreaming of human rights in all United Nations activities, from needs and country assessment to priority-setting, programming, monitoring and evaluation;
- (c) National and local actors. National and local actors have contributed greatly towards the achievement of the goals and objectives of the Decade. As indicated above, the Decade has been a catalyst in eliciting a response from Governments but the response has been uneven and clearly much more needs to be done. Both the United Nations and its Member States have repeatedly recognized the invaluable contribution of non-governmental organizations to human rights education. The present review reconfirms that non-governmental organizations are key actors in that field, and that the Decade is slowly but increasingly proving to be a catalyst and an umbrella for their efforts. There is a growing need, however, for increased collaboration and coordination between governmental and non-governmental actors in respect of their human rights education activities;
- (d) **Regional cooperation**. The importance of regional and sub-regional approaches is clearly reflected in the work of non-governmental actors at those levels. The present review, however, indicates that while there are well-established intergovernmental regional structures, both within and outside the United Nations, the potential of such structures to contribute to the realization of the goals of the Decade remains largely unfulfilled;
- (e) **Monitoring, implementation and evaluation**. Despite the considerable efforts of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, it is clear from the experience of the first five years of the Decade that monitoring and evaluation of the Decade need to be strengthened at all levels (international, regional, sub-regional, national and local) and by all actors (intergovernmental, governmental and non-governmental alike);

^{*} Taken from the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (A/55/360, chap. V, paras. 129-175).

(f) Resources. An enormous gap remains between the commitments and obligations made in connection with the Decade, the expectations raised, and the resources actually committed at every level. This gap must be filled as a matter of urgency, if the remaining years of the Decade are to leave a strong foundation of achievement for subsequent work which will truly meet the needs of all for human rights education. Sustainability of activities beyond the Decade is a crucial issue since, as the Decade itself clearly demonstrates, human rights education is indeed a lifelong process.

A. Overall recommendations

2. Overall recommendations directed at all principal actors and for implementation at all levels are set out below.

Human rights education: concepts and methods

- 3. Value-oriented human rights education alone is insufficient. Human rights education should make reference to human rights instruments and mechanisms of protection, and to procedures for ensuring accountability.
- 4. Creative participatory teaching methods that are relevant to peoples' lives should be used, and human rights should be introduced as a holistic framework.
- 5. Gender sensitivity should be emphasized in all educational activities.
- 6. An enabling environment for human rights educators (including the provision of information, training, facilities, equipment and protection from harassment) should be ensured.
- 7. Priority should be given to sustainable approaches (i.e., training of trainers, integration of human rights into all relevant training and educational curricula etc.).

Content of human rights education

- 8. Activities for human rights education should address the following issues:
 - (a) Economic, social and cultural rights;
 - (b) Good governance;
 - (c) Impunity, and international criminal tribunals to deal with crimes against humanity;
 - (d) Human rights defenders (and the related United Nations declaration), racism and discrimination.
- 9. The link between development and human rights should be stressed.
- 10. The universality and indivisibility of human rights should be emphasized.

Programmes on human rights education

- 11. Sufficient attention should be paid to ensure that the human rights education needs of children and young people, as well as of adults, are met.
- 12. Interaction among children and youth belonging to different ethnic communities should be promoted. Human rights education should be fostered within and outside school curricula.
- 13. Human rights education should be promoted in all educational initiatives aimed at adults.

- 14. Human rights education efforts aimed at the following targets should be increased:
 - (a) Local government officials, community leaders (both secular and religious);
 - (b) Legal and paralegal service providers;
 - (c) Rural populations and illiterate people;
 - (d) Women and girls;
- (e) Vulnerable groups, such as people with human immunodeficiency virus and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), people with disabilities, minorities and the elderly;
- (f) Non-state actors, such as multinational corporations, trade and financial organizations (World Trade Organization, World Bank, International Monetary Fund etc.).
- 15. The utilization of the Decade for Human Rights Education for mobilization and the establishment of partnerships should be increased.

Evaluation, research and monitoring

16. Evaluation and studies and research of long-term impact should be undertaken in order to better understand which approaches work best and why, and in order to elaborate evaluation criteria. Every project on human rights education should incorporate the development of indicators to evaluate qualitative impact.

Mass media and freedom of information

- 17. Mass media strategies that would effectively promote human rights should be developed. Such strategies might include the following elements:
 - (a) Media focus on human rights monitoring;
 - (b) Increasing the use of the media by non-governmental organizations;
 - (c) Training of media professionals on mechanisms for human rights protection;
 - (d) Involvement of the community of artists;
 - (e) Use by the media, when appropriate, of techniques of social marketing.
- 18. Law reform, policies and practices that improve access to information and strengthen mechanisms that facilitate the flow of information and freedom of the press and other media should be promoted and implemented more vigorously. Human rights education should focus on such law reform policies and practices.
- 19. The possibilities offered by new information technologies in furthering human rights education should be better exploited, and access to such technologies should be increased. Existing programmes supporting the on-line development of projects on human rights education should be strengthened and new programmes implemented.

Resources

- 20. Good practices for human rights education should be identified, compiled and disseminated.
- 21. Organizational capacity-building in human rights education should be fostered.
- 22. Funding for human rights education should be increased.

- 23. Research on issues related to human rights education should be enhanced in academic institutions and human rights institutes.
- 24. When appropriate, alliances with the business sector should be developed in support of human rights education.

B. National level

- 25. Governments should reaffirm the commitments and obligations that they have already made in respect of human rights education and accelerate their pace of implementation so as to realize significant achievements by the end of the Decade.
- 26. Governments should promote the development of national strategies for human rights education which are comprehensive (in terms of outreach), participatory (in terms of involvement of all relevant actors), effective (in terms of educational methodologies) and sustainable (over the long term). Such strategies could be embodied in a national plan of action for human rights education (the relevant United Nations guidelines provide guidance in this regard).
- 27. Human rights education should be included as a component of national development plans and of other relevant national plans of action (general plans of action on human rights or those relating to women, children, minorities, indigenous peoples, etc.).
- 28. All governmental and non-governmental actors should recognize, in a spirit of mutual respect, each other's potential and capacities in furthering human rights education. Partnerships should be established where cooperation (rather than co-option) is furthered. Maximum use should be made of existing programmes, materials and resources.
- 29. Systems for better coordination of effort and greater cooperation among the various governmental agencies should be developed.
- 30. Non-governmental organizations should develop and implement strategies to encourage Governments to fulfil their obligations to integrate human rights education into all forms and levels of education for children, youth and adults, and should monitor those strategies.
- 31. International resources and materials should be adapted to local linguistic and cultural contexts.

C. Regional level

- 32. Key regional human rights education organizations, institutions, agencies and networks should be supported (or, if necessary, established) to develop further the human rights education capacity within regions, including support for regional meetings, training of trainers, on-line networking and sharing of region-specific materials.
- 33. Region-specific programmes or coordination systems to maximize the participation of national entities (whether governmental or non-governmental) in programmes on human rights education should be developed. Such region-specific programmes can be linked to existing regional programmes supported by the United Nations.
- 34. Strategies should be developed for the wider distribution of materials on human rights education through regional networks.
- 35. Links should be established with regional mass media, social development and other groups to encourage the inclusion of human rights in their training programmes.
- Existing regional intergovernmental organizations should be encouraged to integrate human rights education into their programmes and to allocate additional resources in that regard within the framework of the Decade.

37. Work with regional, education-related intergovernmental organizations should be enhanced in order to promote human rights education.

D. International level

- 38. United Nations institutions should adopt a system-wide approach to the Decade. An effective coordination system should be developed and the role of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in such a system should be strengthened.
- 39. Effective human rights training should be undertaken for all United Nations staff.
- 40. Human rights education should be included in the agenda of the special session of the General Assembly on the follow-up to the World Summit for Children, to be held in 2001.
- 41. The Office of the High Commissioner, as requested by the General Assembly, should monitor the developments in human rights education that take place during the Decade. In this regard, Governments should provide adequate means to enable the Office to fulfil that role.
- 42. The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, through its network of national commissions, should play an active part in encouraging Governments to develop human rights curricula for formal education and to take steps to ensure that school environments are conducive to human rights education.
- 43. United Nations treaty bodies should emphasize the obligations of States parties with regard to human rights education by actively seeking detailed information during their review of the reports of State parties. Inadequacies in addressing priority target audiences should consistently be identified by treaty bodies as an area of concern. In addition, treaty bodies should perform a clearing-house role by sharing with Governments approaches and strategies that have proven successful elsewhere, and should keep the Office of the High Commissioner informed of major national developments in human rights education.
- 44. The capacity for human rights education of national presences of intergovernmental organizations (United Nations resident coordinators, field presences of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, United Nations information centres, national and local offices of United Nations agencies, etc.) should be strengthened so that they can provide technical support to national and local activities for human rights education.
- 45. Intergovernmental organizations should facilitate collaboration between governmental institutions and non-governmental organizations at the national level.
- 46. Educational materials developed by international organizations should be made easily accessible, distributed free of charge and translated into local languages.
- 47. The potential support and contribution to human rights education by non-State actors, including the business community, as well as development, trade and financial organizations, should be explored.

2001/62. Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that no one should be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, that such actions constitute a criminal attempt to destroy a fellow

human being physically and mentally, which can never be justified under any circumstances, by any ideology or by any overriding interest, and convinced that a society that tolerates torture can never claim to respect human rights,

Recalling that freedom from torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment is a non-derogable right and that the prohibition of torture is explicitly affirmed in article 5 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, article 7 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from Being Subjected to Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, as well as in the relevant provisions of other international human rights instruments such as the Convention on the Rights of the Child, the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, the Declaration on the Elimination of Violence against Women, the four Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of victims of war, and in the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court.

Recalling also the definition of torture contained in article 1 of the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment,

Appalled at the widespread occurrence of torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment,

Recalling all relevant resolutions of the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council and the Commission on Human Rights, in particular Assembly resolution 51/86 of 12 December 1996 and Commission resolution 2000/43 of 20 April 2000 and taking note of Assembly resolution 55/89 of 4 December 2000,

Mindful of the proclamation by the General Assembly, in its resolution 52/149 of 12 December 1997, of 26 June as United Nations International Day in Support of Victims of Torture,

Commending the persistent efforts by non-governmental organizations to combat torture and to alleviate the suffering of victims of torture,

Emphasizing the importance of Governments taking persistent action to prevent and combat torture and commending those Governments which cooperate with non-governmental organizations in this respect,

- 1. *Condemns* all forms of torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, which can never be justified under any circumstances whatsoever, and calls upon all Governments to implement fully the prohibition of torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment;
- 2. Also condemns all forms of torture, including through intimidation, as described in article 1 of the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment;

- 3. Condemns in particular any action or attempt by States or public officials to legalize or authorize torture under any circumstances, including through judicial decisions, and notes the work of the Special Rapporteur in this regard;
- 4. *Urges* all Governments to promote the speedy and full implementation of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), in particular Part II, section B.5, relating to freedom from torture, in which it is stated that States should abrogate legislation leading to impunity for those responsible for grave violations of human rights such as torture and prosecute such violations, thereby providing a firm basis for the rule of law;
- 5. *Reminds* Governments that corporal punishment, including of children, can amount to cruel, inhuman or degrading punishment or even to torture;
- 6. Stresses in particular that all allegations of torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment should be promptly and impartially examined by the competent national authority, that those who encourage, order, tolerate or perpetrate acts of torture must be held responsible and severely punished, including the officials in charge of the place of detention where the prohibited act is found to have taken place, and that national legal systems should ensure that the victims of such acts obtain redress and are awarded fair and adequate compensation and receive appropriate socio-medical rehabilitation;
- 7. Notes the Principles on the effective investigation and documentation of torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment annexed to Commission resolution 2000/43 and General Assembly resolution 55/89, and encourages Governments to reflect upon the Principles, as a useful tool in efforts to combat torture, and requests the Special Rapporteur, in the normal course of his work, to solicit views from Governments and non-governmental organizations;
- 8. *Calls upon* all Governments to take appropriate effective legislative, administrative, judicial or other measures to prevent and prohibit the production, trade, export and use of equipment which is specifically designed to inflict torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment;
- 9. *Requests* the Special Rapporteur to study the situation of trade and production in such equipment, its origin, destination and forms, with a view to finding the best ways to prohibit such trade and production and to combat its proliferation, and to report thereon to the Commission:
- 10. Reminds all States that prolonged incommunicado detention may facilitate the perpetration of torture and can in itself constitute a form of cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment, and urges all States to respect the safeguards concerning the liberty, security and the dignity of the person;

- 11. Calls upon all Governments, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and United Nations bodies and agencies, as well as relevant intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, to commemorate on 26 June the United Nations International Day in Support of Victims of Torture;
- 12. Takes note with appreciation of the report of the Secretary-General on the status of the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (E/CN.4/2001/58) and the ratifications and accessions to the Convention since the fifty-sixth session of the Commission;
 - 13. *Urges* all States to become parties to the Convention as a matter of priority;
- 14. *Encourages* States parties to consider limiting the extent of any reservations they lodge to the Convention, to formulate any reservations as precisely and narrowly as possible and to ensure that no reservation is incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention;
- 15. Also encourages States parties to review regularly any reservations made in respect of the provisions of the Convention with a view to withdrawing them;
- 16. *Invites* all States ratifying or acceding to the Convention and those States parties that have not yet done so to make the declaration provided for in articles 21 and 22 of the Convention and to avoid making, or consider the possibility of withdrawing, reservations to article 20;
- 17. *Urges* States parties to notify the Secretary-General of their acceptance of the amendments to articles 17 and 18 of the Convention as soon as possible;
- 18. Also urges all States parties to comply strictly with their obligations in accordance with article 19 of the Convention, including their reporting obligations, and, in particular, those States parties whose reports are long overdue to submit their reports forthwith, and invites States parties to incorporate a gender perspective and information concerning children and juveniles when submitting reports to the Committee against Torture;
- 19. *Stresses* that, under article 4 of the Convention, acts of torture must be made an offence under domestic criminal law and that acts of torture during armed conflict are considered a grave breach of the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, with the perpetrators liable to prosecution and punishment;
- 20. Emphasizes the obligation of States parties under article 10 of the Convention to ensure education and training for personnel who may be involved in the custody, interrogation or treatment of any individual subjected to any form of arrest, detention or imprisonment, and calls upon the High Commissioner, in conformity with her mandate established in General Assembly resolution 48/141 of 20 December 1993, to provide, at the request of Governments, advisory services in this regard, as well as technical assistance in the development, production and distribution of appropriate teaching material for this purpose;

- 21. *Stresses* that States must not punish personnel for not obeying orders to commit acts amounting to torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment;
- 22. *Welcomes* the report of the Committee against Torture on its twenty-third and twenty-fourth sessions (A/55/44);
- 23. Also welcomes the work of the Committee and its practice of formulating concluding observations after the consideration of reports, as well as its practice of carrying out inquiries into cases where there are indications of the systematic practice of torture within the jurisdiction of States parties;
- 24. *Urges* States parties to take fully into account, in implementing the provisions of the Convention, the conclusions and recommendations made by the Committee at the end of its consideration of their reports;
- 25. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to submit to the Commission an annual report on the status of the Convention;
- 26. Takes note of the report of the Special Rapporteur (E/CN.4/2001/66 and Add.1-2) and regrets the delay in the issuance of the report, and in this regard recalls the existing page limits for reports and the importance of compliance with the six-week rule for the availability of reports in the six official languages of the United Nations;
- 27. Also takes note of the letter of 11 April 2001 of the Special Rapporteur in which he requests a visit in view of resolution S-5/1 adopted by the Commission at its fifth special session on 19 October 2000, and urges him to undertake such a visit as soon as possible and without further delay, and also urges all parties involved to facilitate such a visit, which remains outstanding;
- 28. *Notes* the recommendations of the Special Rapporteur contained in his report, as well as the recommendations made in previous years, and encourages him to continue to include amongst his recommendations proposals on the prevention and investigation of torture, taking into account information received on training manuals and activities aimed at facilitating the practice of torture;
- 29. *Decides* to extend for three years the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture;
- 30. Approves the methods of work employed by the Special Rapporteur as set out in a previous report (E/CN.4/1997/7, annex), in particular with regard to urgent appeals, encourages him to continue to respond effectively to credible and reliable information that comes before him and invites him to continue to seek the views and comments of all concerned, including Governments, in the elaboration of his report;

- 31. *Invites* the Special Rapporteur to continue to consider questions concerning torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment directed against women and conditions conducive to such torture, to make appropriate recommendations concerning the prevention and redress of gender-specific forms of torture, including rape or any other form of sexual violence, and to exchange views with the Special Rapporteur on violence against women with a view to enhancing further their mutual cooperation;
- 32. Also invites the Special Rapporteur to continue to consider questions relating to the torture of children and conditions conducive to such torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment and to make appropriate recommendations concerning the prevention of such torture;
- 33. *Calls upon* all Governments to cooperate with and assist the Special Rapporteur in the performance of his task, to supply all necessary information requested by him and to react appropriately and expeditiously to his urgent appeals;
- 34. *Urges* those Governments that have not yet responded to communications transmitted to them by the Special Rapporteur to answer without further delay;
- 35. Calls upon all Governments to give serious consideration to the Special Rapporteur's requests to visit their countries and urges them to enter into a constructive dialogue with the Special Rapporteur with respect to the follow-up to his recommendations, so as to enable him to fulfil his mandate even more effectively;
- 36. Requests the Special Rapporteur to continue to consider inclusion of information in his report on the follow-up by Governments to his recommendations, visits and communications, including both improvements and problems encountered;
- 37. Considers it desirable that the Special Rapporteur continue to exchange views with the relevant human rights mechanisms and bodies, especially the Committee against Torture and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, in particular with a view to enhancing further their effectiveness and mutual cooperation, while avoiding unnecessary duplication with other special procedures, and that he pursue cooperation with relevant United Nations programmes, notably that on crime prevention and criminal justice;
- 38. *Invites* the Special Rapporteur to present an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session on the overall trends and developments with regard to his mandate and a full report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, including all replies sent by Governments that are received in any of the official languages of the United Nations as addenda;
- 39. *Takes note* of the reports of the Secretary-General on the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture (A/55/178 and E/CN.4/2001/59 and Corr.1 and Add.1);
- 40. Expresses its gratitude and appreciation to those Governments, organizations and individuals that have contributed to the Fund and encourages them to continue to do so;

- 41. *Stresses* the importance of the work of the Board of Trustees of the Fund and appeals to all Governments, organizations and individuals to contribute annually to the Fund and preferably by 1 March before the annual meeting of the Board of Trustees, if possible with a substantial increase in the contributions in order to take into consideration the ever-increasing requests for assistance;
- 42. *Stresses in particular* the increasing need for assistance to rehabilitation services for victims of torture and to small projects of humanitarian assistance to victims of torture;
- 43. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to include the Fund, on an annual basis, among the programmes for which funds are pledged at the United Nations Pledging Conference for Development Activities;
- 44. *Renews* its request to the Secretary-General to transmit to all Governments the appeals of the Commission for contributions to the Fund;
- 45. Calls upon the Board of Trustees of the Fund to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session and present an updated assessment of the global need for international funding of rehabilitation services for victims of torture and of lessons and best practices learned from the activities of the Fund;
- 46. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to keep the Commission informed of the operations of the Fund on an annual basis;
- 47. *Urges* States parties whose arrears pre-date the provision made by the Secretary-General for funding the Committee against Torture from the regular budget to fulfil their obligations forthwith;
- 48. *Requests* the Secretary-General to ensure, within the overall budgetary framework of the United Nations, the provision of an adequate and stable level of staffing, as well as the necessary technical facilities, for the United Nations bodies and mechanisms dealing with torture, in order to ensure their effective performance;
- 49. *Decides* to continue to consider these questions at its fifty-eighth session, as a matter of priority;
- 50. *Recommends* the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 33.]

77th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See Chap. XI.]

2001/63. Development of public information activities in the field of human rights, including the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming that activities to improve public knowledge in the field of human rights are essential to the fulfilment of the purposes and principles of the United Nations set out in Article 1, paragraph 3, of the Charter of the United Nations, and that carefully designed programmes of teaching, education and information are essential to the achievement of lasting respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 43/128 of 8 December 1988, by which the Assembly launched the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights, and other Assembly resolutions and its own resolutions on this subject,

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 49/184 of 23 December 1994, in which the Assembly proclaimed the ten-year period beginning on 1 January 1995 the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, 1995-2004, and its own resolutions on this subject,

Bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 926 (X) of 14 December 1955, in which the Assembly established the United Nations programme of advisory services in the field of human rights with a view to supporting, *inter alia*, national capacities for human rights education and public information,

Mindful of the fact that the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, according to her mandate as established by General Assembly resolution 48/141 of 20 December 1993, is responsible, *inter alia* for the provision of advisory services and technical cooperation at the request of States, as well as for the coordination of United Nations education and public information programmes in the field of human rights,

Recognizing the significant effect of United Nations initiatives on public information activities in the field of human rights, in particular those undertaken by the High Commissioner and by the Department of Public Information of the Secretariat,

Recognizing also the role of the Department of Public Information, in the context of the Joint United Nations Information Committee, in developing system-wide public information strategies on human rights,

Noting the valuable role that non-governmental organizations can play in this endeavour,

Believing that the World Campaign is a valuable complement to the activities of the United Nations aimed at the further promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms, and recalling the importance attached by the World Conference on Human Rights to strengthening the World Campaign,

Recognizing the increased efforts undertaken by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to disseminate human rights information through its Web site (http://www.unhchr.ch) and its publications and external relations programmes,

- 1. Takes note with appreciation of the report of the Secretary-General on the development of public information activities in the field of human rights, including the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights (E/CN.4/2001/92);
- 2. Expresses its appreciation for the measures taken by the Department of Public Information, in particular the United Nations information centres, and the Office of the High Commissioner to ensure the further production and effective dissemination of human rights information materials in regional and local languages, in close cooperation with regional, national and local organizations, as well as with Governments, in particular as a component of the technical assistance projects in the field of human rights;
- 3. Also expresses its appreciation for the close cooperation developed between the Office of the High Commissioner and the Department of Public Information in the realization of the multimedia information programmes in the field of human rights, including the development of information activities relevant to the preparatory work for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance and to the strengthening of the role of the mass media in the furtherance of human rights education and public information;
- 4. *Encourages* the Office of the High Commissioner to continue the development, within the framework of its programme of advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights, of human rights education and training materials, such as targeted training manuals for professional audiences and for human rights field monitors, given the close link and complementarity between human rights education and public information;
- 5. Also encourages the Office of the High Commissioner to establish guidelines on gender inclusivity in all the official languages of the United Nations, for use in the preparation of all its communications, reports and publications;
- 6. Further encourages the Office of the High Commissioner to make available in a timely fashion on its Web site United Nations documents and publications, as well as databases for the promotion of human rights, in the official languages of the United Nations, including through the establishment of hyperlinks to the United Nations central Web site, and in this regard notes the positive effect that the integration of the optical disk system with the United Nations central Web site will have in furthering the promotion of human rights by making all parliamentary documents of the United Nations system freely and publicly available in the official languages, and encourages the efforts of the Department of Public Information with respect to providing computer-accessible information on human rights;
- 7. *Urges* the Department of Public Information, in cooperation with the Office of the High Commissioner, to continue to utilize fully and effectively United Nations information

centres for the purpose of disseminating, within their designated areas of activity, basic information and reference materials on human rights and fundamental freedoms in the official languages of the United Nations and in the relevant national and local languages;

- 8. Also urges the Department of Public Information to produce, in cooperation with the Office of the High Commissioner, information material, in particular audio-visual material, on all aspects of human rights in connection with the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights, the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education and the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance;
- 9. Requests the Secretary-General to take advantage as much as possible of the collaboration of other international and regional intergovernmental organizations and of non-governmental organizations in the implementation of the World Campaign and in the activities relating to the Decade and the World Conference;
- 10. Calls upon Governments, in accordance with their national conditions, to accord priority, in particular among their parliamentary assemblies, to the dissemination in their relevant national and local languages of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other human rights instruments, human rights materials and training manuals, as well as reports of States parties under the human rights treaties, and to provide training, education and information in those languages on the practical ways in which national and international institutions and procedures may be utilized to ensure the effective implementation of those instruments;
- 11. *Urges* all Member States to develop a comprehensive, effective and sustainable national plan of action for human rights education and public information, as an integral part of a broad national plan of action for human rights and complementary to other national plans already defined, such as those relating to women, minorities and indigenous peoples, in accordance with the guidelines for national plans of action for human rights education (A/52/469/Add.1 and Corr.1) and the Plan of Action for the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (A/51/506/Add.1, appendix);
- 12. Encourages Governments to consider, within the national plans or other regional plans mentioned in paragraph 11 above, the establishment of public access to human rights resource and training centres capable of engaging in research, gender-sensitive training of trainers, the preparation, collection, translation and dissemination of human rights education and training materials, the organization of courses, conferences, workshops and public information campaigns and assistance in the implementation of internationally sponsored technical cooperation projects for human rights education and public information;
- 13. Also encourages Governments, where such national public access to human rights resource and training centres already exists, to strengthen their capacity to support human rights education and public information programmes at the international, regional, national and local levels, *inter alia* through on-line services, such as educational portals and long-distance training tools;

- 14. *Encourages* the Office of the High Commissioner, through its programme of advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights, and other international and regional intergovernmental organizations to give priority to and continue to support, *inter alia*, national capacities for human rights education and public information;
- 15. *Encourages* Governments to contribute to the further development of the Web site of the Office of the High Commissioner, in particular with respect to the dissemination of human rights education materials and tools, and to continue and expand the publications and external relations programmes of the Office;
- 16. Encourages Governments, regional organizations and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations to explore the potential support and contribution to human rights education and public information by all relevant partners, including the private sector, development, trade and financial institutions and the media, and to seek their cooperation in the development of human rights education and public information strategies;
- 17. Calls upon the Department of Public Information and all relevant United Nations agencies and bodies further to develop mass media strategies for an effective promotion of human rights, as recommended in the report of the High Commissioner on the mid-term global evaluation of the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (A/55/360);
- 18. *Requests* the Secretary-General to make available adequate resources from within the regular budget of the United Nations in order to allow the Office of the High Commissioner and the Department of Public Information to implement fully their respective programmes;
- 19. Also requests the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission, at its fifty-ninth session, a report on public information activities, with special emphasis on activities relating to the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights and to the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance and its follow-up:
- 20. Decides to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-ninth session under the same agenda item, in connection with the question of the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, 1995-2004.

77th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVII.]

2001/64. Human rights defenders

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 53/144 of 9 December 1998 by which the Assembly adopted by consensus the Declaration on the Right and Responsibility of Individuals, Groups and Organs of Society to Promote and Protect Universally Recognized Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, annexed to that resolution,

Reiterating the importance of this Declaration and its promotion and implementation,

Emphasizing the important role that individuals, non-governmental organizations and groups play in the promotion and protection of human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Recalling its resolution 2000/61 of 26 April 2000,

Noting with deep concern that, in many countries, persons and organizations engaged in promoting and defending human rights and fundamental freedoms are facing threats, harassment and insecurity as a result of those activities,

Welcoming the appointment by the Secretary-General of a special representative to report on the situation of human rights defenders in all parts of the world and on possible means to enhance their protection in full compliance with the Declaration,

Noting with deep concern the considerable number of communications received by the Special Representative that, together with the reports submitted by some of the special procedure mechanisms, indicate the serious nature of the risks faced by human rights defenders,

Welcoming the cooperation between the Special Representative and other special procedures of the Commission,

Recalling that the primary responsibility for promoting and protecting human rights rests with the State, and noting with deep concern that the activities of non-State actors pose a major threat to the security of human rights defenders,

Emphasizing the need for strong and effective measures for the protection of human rights defenders,

- 1. Calls upon all States to promote and give full effect to the Declaration;
- 2. Welcomes the report of the Special Representative (E/CN.4/2001/94);
- 3. *Urges* all Governments to cooperate with and assist the Special Representative in the performance of her tasks and to furnish all information requested;
- 4. Requests all concerned United Nations agencies and organizations within their mandates to provide all possible assistance and support to the Special Representative in the implementation of her programme of activities;
- 5. *Calls upon* all States to take all necessary measures to ensure the protection of human rights defenders;

6. *Decides* to consider this question at its fifty-eighth session, under the same agenda item.

77th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVII.]

2001/65. Promotion of a democratic and equitable international order

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 2000/62 of 26 April 2000, and noting General Assembly resolution 55/107 of 4 December 2000,

Reaffirming the commitment of all States to fulfil their obligations to promote universal respect for, and observance and protection of, all human rights and fundamental freedoms for all in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, other instruments relating to human rights, and international law,

Affirming that the enhancement of international cooperation for the promotion and protection of all human rights should continue to be carried out in full conformity with the purposes and principles of the Charter and international law, as set forth in Articles 1 and 2 of the Charter, and *inter alia*, with full respect for sovereignty, territorial integrity, political independence, the non-use of force or the threat of force in international relations and non-intervention in matters that are essentially within the domestic jurisdiction of any State,

Recalling the Preamble to the Charter, in particular the determination to reaffirm faith in fundamental human rights, in the dignity and worth of the human person, and in the equal rights of men and women and of nations large and small,

Reaffirming that everyone is entitled to a social and international order in which the rights and freedoms set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights can be fully realized,

Reaffirming also the determination expressed in the Preamble to the Charter to save succeeding generations from the scourge of war, to establish conditions under which justice and respect for obligations arising from treaties and other sources of international law can be maintained, to promote social progress and better standards of life in larger freedom, to practise tolerance and good neighbourliness and to employ international machinery for the promotion of the economic and social advancement of all peoples,

Considering the major changes taking place on the international scene and the aspirations of all peoples for an international order based on the principles enshrined in the Charter,

including promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms for all and respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples, peace, democracy, justice, equality, the rule of law, pluralism, development, better standards of living and solidarity,

Considering also that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights proclaims that all human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights and that everyone is entitled to all the rights and freedoms set out therein, without distinction of any kind, such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status,

Reaffirming that democracy, development and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms are interdependent and mutually reinforcing, and that democracy is based on the freely expressed will of the people to determine their own political, economic, social and cultural systems and their full participation in all aspects of their lives,

Emphasizing that democracy is not only a political concept but also has economic and social dimensions,

Recognizing that democracy, respect for all human rights, including the right to development, transparent and accountable governance and administration in all sectors of society, and effective participation by civil society are an essential part of the necessary foundations for the realization of social and people-centred sustainable development,

Underlining that it is an imperative for the international community to ensure that globalization becomes a positive force for all the world's people, and that only through broad and sustained efforts, based upon common humanity in all its diversity, can globalization be made fully inclusive and equitable,

Stressing that efforts to make globalization fully inclusive and equitable must include policies and measures at the global level that correspond to the needs of developing countries and economies in transition and are formulated and implemented with their effective participation,

Resolved, at the beginning of a new century and millennium, to take all measures within its power to secure a democratic and equitable international order,

- 1. Affirms that everyone is entitled to a democratic and equitable international order;
- 2. Also affirms that a democratic and equitable international order fosters the full realization of all human rights for all;
- 3. *Further affirms* that a democratic and equitable international order requires, *inter alia*, the realization of the following:

- (a) The right of all peoples to self-determination, by virtue of which they can freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development;
- (b) The right of peoples and nations to permanent sovereignty over their natural wealth and resources;
 - (c) The right of every human person and all peoples to development;
 - (d) The right of all peoples to peace;
- (e) The promotion of an international economic order based on equal participation in the decision-making process, interdependence, mutual interest, solidarity and cooperation among all States;
- (f) Solidarity, as a fundamental value by virtue of which global challenges must be managed in a way that distributes the costs and burdens fairly in accordance with basic principles of equity and social justice, ensuring that those who suffer or who benefit least receive help from those who benefit most;
- (g) The promotion and consolidation of transparent, democratic, just and accountable international institutions in all areas of cooperation, in particular through the implementation of the principles of full and equal participation in their respective decision-making mechanisms;
- (h) The principle of equitable regional and gender-balanced representation in the composition of the staff of the United Nations system;
- (i) The promotion of a free, just, effective and balanced international information and communication order, based on international cooperation for the establishment of a new equilibrium and greater reciprocity in the international flow of information, in particular, correcting the inequalities in the flow of information to and from developing countries;
- (*j*) Respect for cultural diversity and the cultural rights of all, since this enhances cultural pluralism, contributes to a wider exchange of knowledge and understanding of cultural backgrounds, advances the application and enjoyment of universally accepted human rights across the world and fosters stable, friendly relations among peoples and nations worldwide;
 - (k) The entitlement of every person and all peoples to a healthy environment;
- (*l*) The promotion of equitable access to benefits from the international distribution of wealth through enhanced international cooperation, in particular in economic, commercial and financial international relations:
 - (m) The enjoyment by everyone of ownership of the common heritage of mankind;

- 4. *Stresses* the importance of preserving the rich and diverse nature of the international community of nations and peoples, as well as respect for national and regional particularities and various historical, cultural and religious backgrounds in the enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights;
- 5. Also stresses that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated and that the international community must treat human rights globally in a fair and equal manner, on the same footing and with the same emphasis, and reaffirms that while the significance of national and regional particularities and various historical, cultural and religious backgrounds must be borne in mind, it is the duty of States, regardless of their political, economic and cultural systems, to promote and protect all human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- 6. Reaffirms that all States should promote the establishment, maintenance and strengthening of international peace and security and, to that end, should do their utmost to achieve general and complete disarmament under effective international control, as well as to ensure that the resources released by effective disarmament measures are used for comprehensive development, in particular that of the developing countries;
- 7. Recalls the proclamation by the General Assembly of its determination to work urgently for the establishment of an international economic order based on equity, sovereign equality, interdependence, common interest and cooperation among all States, irrespective of their economic and social systems, which shall correct inequalities and redress existing injustices, make it possible to eliminate the widening gap between the developed and the developing countries, and ensure steadily accelerating economic and social development and peace and justice for present and future generations;
- 8. Reaffirms that the international community should devise ways and means to remove current obstacles and meet the challenges to the full realization of all human rights and to prevent the continuation of human rights violations resulting therefrom throughout the world;
- 9. *Urges* States to continue their efforts, through enhanced international cooperation, towards the promotion of a democratic and equitable international order;
- 10. Requests the human rights treaty bodies, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the mechanisms of the Commission and the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights to pay due attention, within their respective mandates, to the present resolution and to make contributions towards its implementation;
- 11. Calls upon the Office of the High Commissioner to build upon the issue of the promotion of a democratic and equitable international order and to take into account the present resolution when convening any seminar, workshop, or any other activity in relation to the issue of democracy;

- 12. *Requests* the Secretary-General to bring the present resolution to the attention of Member States, United Nations organs, bodies and components, intergovernmental organizations, in particular the Bretton Woods institutions, and non-governmental organizations and to disseminate it on the widest possible basis;
- 13. *Decides* to continue consideration of the matter at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

77th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 32 votes to 16, with 4 abstentions. See chap. XVII.]

2001/66. Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the principles of the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, as well as other relevant international instruments on human rights,

Recalling the adoption by the General Assembly of resolution 96 (I) of 11 December 1946, which declares genocide to be a crime under international law, contrary to the spirit and aims of the United Nations,

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 53/43 of 2 December 1998 on the fiftieth anniversary of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide,

Recalling further its resolutions 1998/10 of 3 April 1998 on the fiftieth anniversary of the Convention and 1999/67 of 28 April 1999, on the Convention,

Noting that the General Assembly, in adopting the Universal Declaration of Human Rights on 10 December 1948, recognized the inherent dignity and the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family as the foundation of freedom, justice and peace in the world,

Noting also the significance of the adoption on 17 July 1998 of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9),

Noting further the Convention on the Non-Applicability of Statutory Limitations to War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity of 26 November 1968,

Mindful of the suffering caused by genocide to mankind and that the danger of the repetition of genocide has not completely disappeared,

Convinced that the Commission will continue its contribution to and efforts in preventing situations in which the crime of genocide could be committed,

- 1. *Reaffirms* the significance of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide as an effective international instrument for the punishment of the crime of genocide;
- 2. Expresses its appreciation to all States that have ratified or acceded to the Convention;
- 3. *Invites* States that have not yet ratified or acceded to the Convention to do so and subsequently to enact the necessary legislation to give effect to the provisions of the Convention;
- 4. *Invites* the Secretariat and relevant organs and agencies of the United Nations system, within their respective mandates, to disseminate widely the Convention, with a view to ensuring its universality and full and comprehensive implementation;
- 5. Calls upon all Member States to continue to give serious consideration to the matter of the prevention and punishment of the crime of genocide;
 - 6. *Decides* to examine the issue at its fifty-ninth session.

77th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVII.]

2001/67. Enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Bearing in mind that among the purposes of the United Nations are those of developing friendly relations among nations based on respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples and taking other appropriate measures to strengthen universal peace, as well as achieving international cooperation in solving international problems of an economic, social, cultural or humanitarian character and in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Recalling its resolution 2000/70 of 26 April 2000 on the enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights and General Assembly resolution 54/181 of 17 December 1999, as well as Assembly resolution 54/113 of 10 December 1999 on the United Nations Year of Dialogue among Civilizations,

Reaffirming its commitment to promoting and enhancing genuine international cooperation in the field of human rights among Member States, as set forth in the Charter of the United Nations, in particular Article 1, paragraph 3, as well as relevant provisions of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted by the World Conference on Human Rights on 25 June 1993 (A/CONF.157/23),

Emphasizing that the enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights is essential for the full achievement of the purposes of the United Nations, including the effective promotion and protection of all human rights,

Reaffirming that dialogue among religions, cultures and civilizations, including in the field of human rights, could contribute greatly to the enhancement of international cooperation in this field,

Emphasizing the need for further progress in the promotion and encouragement of respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms through, in particular, international cooperation,

Underlining that mutual understanding, dialogue, cooperation, transparency and confidence-building are important elements in all the activities for the promotion and protection of human rights,

Recalling Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights resolution 2000/22 of 18 August 2000, concerning the promotion of dialogue on human rights issues, adopted by the Sub-Commission at its fifty-second session, and noting that the Sub-Commission will give further consideration to the question of a dialogue among civilizations at its fifty-third session,

- 1. *Reaffirms* that it is one of the purposes of the United Nations and the responsibility of all Member States to promote, protect and encourage respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms through, *inter alia*, international cooperation;
- 2. Considers that international cooperation in this field, in conformity with the purposes and principles set out in the Charter of the United Nations and international law, should make an effective and practical contribution to the urgent task of preventing violations of human rights and of fundamental freedoms for all;
- 3. *Reaffirms* that the promotion, protection and full realization of all human rights and fundamental freedoms should be guided by the principles of universality, non-selectivity, objectivity and transparency, in a manner consistent with the purposes and principles of the Charter;

- 4. Calls upon Member States, specialized agencies and intergovernmental organizations to continue to carry out a constructive dialogue and consultations for the enhancement of understanding and the promotion and the protection of all human rights and fundamental freedoms, and encourages non-governmental organizations to contribute actively to this endeavour;
- 5. *Invites* States and relevant United Nations human rights mechanisms and procedures to continue to pay attention to the importance of mutual cooperation, understanding and dialogue in ensuring the promotion and protection of all human rights;
- 6. Welcomes the decision of the General Assembly to proclaim the year 2001 the United Nations Year of Dialogue among Civilizations, reaffirms that dialogue among cultures and civilizations facilitates the promotion of a culture of tolerance and respect for diversity and notes in this respect the holding of the Asian Conference on Dialogue among Civilizations on 17 February 2001 in Tehran, as well as the first meeting of the group of eminent persons on a dialogue among civilizations, held in Vienna in December 2000.
- 7. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this question, as a matter of priority, at its fifty-eighth session.

78th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVII.]

2001/68. The question of the death penalty

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling article 3 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which affirms the right of everyone to life, article 6 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and articles 6 and 37 (a) of the Convention on the Rights of the Child,

Recalling also General Assembly resolutions 2857 (XXVI) of 20 December 1971 and 32/61 of 8 December 1977 on capital punishment, as well as resolution 44/128 of 15 December 1989, in which the Assembly adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession the Second Optional Protocol to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, aiming at the abolition of the death penalty,

Recalling further Economic and Social Council resolutions 1574 (L) of 20 May 1971, 1745 (LIV) of 16 May 1973, 1930 (LVIII) of 6 May 1975, 1984/50 of 25 May 1984, 1985/33 of 29 May 1985, 1989/64 of 24 May 1989, 1990/29 of 24 May 1990, 1990/51 of 24 July 1990 and 1996/15 of 23 July 1996,

Recalling its resolutions 1998/8 of 3 April 1998, 1999/61 of 28 April 1999 and 2000/65 of 26 April 2000, in which it expressed its conviction that abolition of the death penalty contributes to the enhancement of human dignity and to the progressive development of human rights,

Welcoming the exclusion of capital punishment from the penalties that the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia, the International Tribunal for Rwanda and the International Criminal Court are authorized to impose,

Also welcoming the abolition of the death penalty which has taken place in some States since the Commission's last session, and in particular in those States that have abolished the death penalty for all crimes,

Commending the States that have recently acceded to the Second Optional Protocol to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,

Welcoming the recent signatures of the Second Optional Protocol by some States,

Welcoming the fact that many countries, while still keeping the death penalty in their penal legislation, are applying a moratorium on executions,

Referring to the report of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions (E/CN.4/2001/9 and Corr.1), with respect to the Safeguards guaranteeing protection of the rights of those facing the death penalty, set out in the annex to Economic and Social Council resolution 1984/50,

Deeply concerned that several countries impose the death penalty in disregard of the limitations provided for in the Covenant and the Convention on the Rights of the Child,

Concerned that several countries, in imposing the death penalty, do not take into account the Safeguards guaranteeing protection of the rights of those facing the death penalty,

- 1. Welcomes the sixth quinquennial report of the Secretary-General on capital punishment and implementation of the Safeguards guaranteeing protection of the rights of those facing the death penalty, submitted in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolution 1995/57 of 28 July 1995 (E/2000/3) and looks forward to receiving the yearly supplement on changes in law and practice concerning the death penalty worldwide as requested in Commission resolution 2000/65;
- 2. Also welcomes resolution 2000/17 of 17 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights;
- 3. *Calls upon* all States parties to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights that have not yet done so to consider acceding to or ratifying the Second Optional Protocol to the Covenant, aiming at the abolition of the death penalty;

- 4. *Urges* all States that still maintain the death penalty:
- (a) To comply fully with their obligations under the Covenant and the Convention on the Rights of the Child, notably not to impose the death penalty for any but the most serious crimes and only pursuant to a final judgement rendered by an independent and impartial competent court, not to impose it for crimes committed by persons below eighteen years of age, to exclude pregnant women from capital punishment and to ensure the right to a fair trial and the right to seek pardon or commutation of sentence;
- (b) To ensure that the notion of "most serious crimes" does not go beyond intentional crimes with lethal or extremely grave consequences and that the death penalty is not imposed for non-violent financial crimes or for non-violent religious practice or expression of conscience;
- (c) Not to enter any new reservations under article 6 of the Covenant which may be contrary to the object and the purpose of the Covenant and to withdraw any such existing reservations, given that article 6 of the Covenant enshrines the minimum rules for the protection of the right to life and the generally accepted standards in this area;
- (d) To observe the Safeguards guaranteeing protection of the rights of those facing the death penalty and to comply fully with their international obligations, in particular with those under the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations;
- (e) Not to impose the death penalty on a person suffering from any form of mental disorder or to execute any such person;
- (f) Not to execute any person as long as any related legal procedure, at the international or at the national level, is pending;
 - 5. *Calls upon* all States that still maintain the death penalty:
- (a) Progressively to restrict the number of offences for which the death penalty may be imposed;
- (b) To establish a moratorium on executions, with a view to completely abolishing the death penalty;
- (c) To make available to the public information with regard to the imposition of the death penalty;
- 6. Requests States that have received a request for extradition on a capital charge to reserve explicitly the right to refuse extradition in the absence of effective assurances from relevant authorities of the requesting State that capital punishment will not be carried out;
- 7. Requests the Secretary-General to continue to submit to the Commission, at its fifty-eighth session, in consultation with Governments, specialized agencies and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, a yearly supplement on changes in law

and practice concerning the death penalty worldwide to his quinquennial report on capital punishment and implementation of the Safeguards guaranteeing protection of the rights of those facing the death penalty, paying special attention to the imposition of the death penalty against persons younger than eighteen years of age at the time of the offence;

8. *Decides* to continue consideration of the matter at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

78th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 27 votes to 18, with 7 abstentions. See chap. XVII.]

2001/69. Promotion of the right of peoples to peace

The Commission on Human Rights,

Bearing in mind the fundamental principles of international law set forth in the Charter of the United Nations,

Reaffirming the importance of ensuring respect for the principles of sovereignty, territorial integrity and political independence of States and non-intervention in matters which are essentially within the domestic jurisdiction of any State in accordance with the Charter and international law,

Reaffirming also that all peoples have the right to self-determination, by virtue of which they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development,

Reaffirming further that the subjection of peoples to alien subjugation, domination and exploitation constitutes a denial of fundamental rights, is contrary to the Charter and is an impediment to the promotion of world peace and cooperation,

Recalling the fact that everyone is entitled to a social and international order in which the rights and freedoms set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights can be fully realized,

Reaffirming that there is a close relationship between disarmament and development and that progress in the field of disarmament would considerably promote progress in the field of development and that resources released through disarmament measures should be devoted to the economic and social development and well-being of all peoples and, in particular, those of the developing countries,

Recalling Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights resolution 1996/16 of 29 August 1996,

Alarmed by the threat to the very survival of mankind posed by the existence of nuclear weapons and the continuing arms race, and recalling the devastation inflicted by all wars,

Convinced that life without war serves as the primary international prerequisite for the material well-being, development and progress of countries, and for the full implementation of the rights and fundamental human freedoms proclaimed by the United Nations,

- 1. *Reaffirms* the solemn proclamation that the peoples of our planet have a sacred right to peace;
- 2. Solemnly declares that the preservation of the right of peoples to peace and the promotion of its implementation constitute a fundamental obligation of each State;
- 3. *Emphasizes* that ensuring the exercise of the right of peoples to peace demands that the policies of States be directed towards the elimination of the threat of war, particularly nuclear war, the renunciation of the use of force in international relations and the settlement of international disputes by peaceful means on the basis of the Charter of the United Nations;
- 4. Affirms that all States should promote the establishment, maintenance and strengthening of international peace and security and, to that end, should do their utmost to achieve general and complete disarmament under effective international control, as well as to ensure that the resources released by effective disarmament measures are used for comprehensive development, in particular that of the developing countries;
- 5. *Urges* all States to refrain from using weapons with indiscriminate effects on human health, the environment and economic and social well-being;
- 6. Expresses concern at the real danger of the weaponization of outer space, and the risk of the global arms race gaining new momentum;
- 7. *Urges* all States to refrain from taking measures which encourage the resurgence of a new arms race, bearing in mind all the resulting predictable consequences for global peace and security, for development and for the full realization of all human rights;
- 8. *Decides* to continue considering the issue at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

78th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 29 votes to 16, with 7 abstentions. See chap. XVII.]

2001/70. Impunity

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenants on Human Rights and other relevant human rights instruments, and the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action,

Recalling all previous resolutions and decisions of the Commission and the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights on impunity, as well as Part II.E, paragraph 91, of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23),

Recalling also the universality, interdependence and indivisibility of all human rights, civil, cultural, economic, political and social,

Noting all previous United Nations reports on the issue of impunity,

Taking note of the report of the Secretary-General on impunity (E/CN.4/2001/88 and Corr.1),

Taking note also of Sub-Commission resolution 2000/24 of 18 August 2000 on the role of universal and extraterritorial competence in preventive action against impunity,

Recognizing the importance of combating impunity for all human rights violations that constitute crimes,

Recognizing the establishment of the International Criminal Court as an important contribution to ending the culture of impunity, and recalling the report of the Secretary-General entitled, "We the peoples: the role of the United Nations in the twenty-first century" (A/54/2000) acknowledging this contribution,

Acknowledging the work of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia and the International Tribunal for Rwanda,

Welcoming the fact that a large number of States have already signed and/or ratified the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9),

Welcoming also, as measures in the fight against impunity and in promoting accountability, the initiatives to establish special judicial mechanisms currently under consideration in a few countries in cooperation with the United Nations in accordance with international standards of justice, fairness and due process of law, with international support,

Convinced that the practice and expectation of impunity for violations of international human rights or humanitarian law encourage such violations and are among the fundamental obstacles to the observance of international human rights and humanitarian law and the full implementation of international human rights and humanitarian law instruments,

Convinced also that exposing violations of human rights, holding their perpetrators, including their accomplices, accountable, obtaining justice for their victims, as well as preserving historical records of such violations and restoring the dignity of victims through acknowledgement and commemoration of their suffering, will guide future societies and are integral to the promotion and implementation of all human rights and fundamental freedoms and to the prevention of future violations,

Recognizing that accountability of perpetrators, including their accomplices, of grave human rights violations is one of the central elements of any effective remedy for victims of human rights violations and a key factor in ensuring a fair and equitable justice system and, ultimately, reconciliation and stability within a State,

Welcoming the establishment, by a number of States where serious human rights violations have occurred in the past, of mechanisms to expose such violations, including commissions of inquiry or commissions for achieving truth and reconciliation,

Conscious that the phenomenon of impunity affects all spheres of society,

Convinced of the need for Governments to combat impunity by addressing past or ongoing violations, taking measures aimed at preventing their recurrence,

- 1. *Emphasizes* the importance of combating impunity to the prevention of violations of international human rights and humanitarian law and urges States to give necessary attention to the question of impunity for violations of international human rights and humanitarian law, including those perpetrated against women and children, and to take appropriate measures to address this important issue;
- 2. *Emphasizes* the importance of taking all necessary and possible steps to hold accountable perpetrators, including their accomplices, of violations of international human rights and humanitarian law, and urges States to take action in accordance with due process of law;
- 3. *Welcomes* in this context the progress made in the fight against impunity, including the recognition of the principle of complementarity in the Rome Statute;
- 4. *Acknowledges* the historic significance of the adoption of the Rome Statute and calls upon all States to consider ratifying or acceding to it;
- 5. *Calls upon* States to continue to participate actively with the Preparatory Commission for the International Criminal Court;
- 6. Calls upon States and the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to consider providing to States, upon their request, concrete and practical assistance and cooperation in seeking to achieve the goals set out in the present resolution;

- 7. Calls upon States to continue to support the work of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia and the International Tribunal for Rwanda and consider ways to support the initiatives to establish special judicial mechanisms currently under consideration in a few countries in cooperation with the United Nations;
- 8. Recognizes that, for the victims of human rights violations, public knowledge of their suffering and the truth about the perpetrators, including their accomplices, of these violations are essential steps towards rehabilitation and reconciliation, and urges States to intensify their efforts to provide victims of human rights violations with a fair and equitable process through which these violations can be investigated and made public and to encourage victims to participate in such a process;
- 9. Welcomes in this regard the publication in some States of the reports of commissions of truth and reconciliation established by those countries to address human rights violations that have occurred there in the past and encourages other States where serious human rights violations have occurred in the past to establish appropriate mechanisms to expose such violations;
- 10. Requests the Secretary-General to seek the views of Governments, and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations on the issue of the possible appointment of an independent expert charged with examining all aspects of the issue of impunity of perpetrators of human rights violations, with a view to a decision on this matter at the fifty-eighth session of the Commission;
- 11. Also requests the Secretary-General again to invite States to provide information on any legislative, administrative or other steps they have taken to combat impunity for human rights violations in their territory and to provide information on remedies available to the victims of such violations;
- 12. *Further requests* the Secretary-General to collect the information and comments received pursuant to the present resolution and to submit a report thereon to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- 13. *Invites* the special rapporteurs and other mechanisms of the Commission to continue to give due consideration to the issue of impunity in the discharge of their mandates;
- 14. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this matter at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda item entitled "Promotion and protection of human rights".

78th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 39 votes to none, with 13 abstentions. See chap. XVII.]

2001/71. Human rights and bioethics

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling that, according to the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, recognition of the inherent dignity and of the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family is the foundation of freedom, justice and peace in the world,

Recalling also the ideal of free human beings enjoying freedom from fear and want, as recognized by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenants on Human Rights,

Seeking to preserve the dignity and integrity of the human being,

Recalling the right of everyone, as recognized by the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, to enjoy the benefits of scientific progress and its applications,

Convinced, in accordance with the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, of the benefits to be derived from the encouragement and development of international contacts and cooperation in the scientific field,

Recalling the provisions of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, whereby no one shall be subjected without his free consent to medical or scientific experimentation,

Recalling also the Principles of Medical Ethics concerning the role of health personnel, particularly physicians, in the protection of prisoners and detainees against torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment, adopted by the General Assembly in its resolution 37/194 of 18 December 1982,

Emphasizing that, under the Convention on the Rights of the Child, States parties are obliged to protect children against any form of violence,

Aware that the rapid development of the life sciences opens up tremendous prospects for the improvement of the health of individuals and mankind as a whole, but also that certain practices may pose dangers to the integrity and dignity of the individual,

Seeking therefore to ensure that scientific progress benefits individuals and develops in a manner respectful of fundamental human rights,

Referring to the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights adopted on 11 November 1997 by the General Conference of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and to General Assembly resolution 53/152 of 9 December 1998 endorsing the Declaration,

Referring also to resolution 29 C/17 on implementation of the Declaration adopted by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, and recalling that in accordance with that resolution member States are urged to keep the Director-General regularly informed of all measures they have taken to implement the principles set forth in the Declaration,

Recalling that article 1 of the Declaration states the principle that the human genome underlies the fundamental unity of all members of the human family, as well as the recognition of their inherent dignity and diversity,

Recalling also that article 10 of the Declaration affirms that no research or research applications concerning the human genome, in particular in the fields of biology, genetics and medicine, should prevail over respect for the human rights, fundamental freedoms and human dignity of individuals or, where applicable, of groups of people,

Recalling further the decision taken on 7 May 1998 whereby the Executive Board of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization established the International Bioethics Committee, with the functions of reflecting on the ethical and legal issues raised by research in the life sciences, making recommendations to the General Conference and giving advice concerning the follow-up to the Declaration by identifying practices that could be contrary to human dignity,

Recalling its resolutions 1991/45 of 5 March 1991, 1993/91 of 10 March 1993, 1997/71 of 16 April 1997 and 1999/63 of 28 April 1999,

Referring to the United Nations Millennium Declaration which affirms the resolve to ensure free access to information on the human genome sequence,

Referring also to resolution 1997/42 of 28 August 1997 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights regarding this question,

Recalling the adoption by the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe, on 4 April 1997, of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine,

Convinced of the need to develop a life sciences ethic at the national and international levels, and recognizing the need to develop international rules and cooperation in order to ensure that mankind as a whole benefits from the use of the life sciences and to prevent them from being used for any purpose other than the good of mankind,

- 1. Takes note of the report of the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/2001/93 and Add.1);
- 2. Expresses its appreciation to the Governments that have responded to the request for information formulated by the Commission in its resolution 1999/63 and invites the Governments which have not yet responded to do so;

- 3. Reaffirms the importance of receiving answers from the organizations and specialized agencies of the United Nations and invites the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, the World Health Organization, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the other United Nations bodies and specialized agencies concerned to report to the Secretary-General on the activities conducted in their respective areas to ensure that the principles set forth in the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights are taken into account;
- 4. *Invites* the Secretary-General to draw up proposals, on the basis of these contributions and for consideration by the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session, concerning ways to ensure proper coordination of activities and thinking on bioethics throughout the United Nations system and to consider establishing a working group of independent experts from, *inter alia*, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, the World Health Organization and the World Intellectual Property Organization, which would reflect, in particular, on the possible follow-up to the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights and report to the Secretary-General within a period to be determined by him;
- 5. *Invites* the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to pay all due attention to this question within her area of competence;
- 6. Draws the attention of Governments to the importance of research on the human genome and its applications for the improvement of the health of individuals and mankind as a whole, to the need to safeguard the rights of the individual and his/her dignity, as well as his/her identity and unity, and to the need to protect the confidentiality of genetic data concerning a named person;
- 7. *Invites* Governments to consider establishing independent, multidisciplinary and pluralist committees of ethics to assess, notably in conjunction with the International Bioethics Committee of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, the ethical, social and human questions raised by the biomedical research undergone by human beings and, in particular, research relating to the human genome and its applications, and also invites them to inform the Secretary-General of the establishment of any such bodies, with a view to promoting exchanges of experience between such institutions;
- 8. *Requests again* the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights to consider what contribution it can make to the reflections of the International Bioethics Committee on the follow-up to the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights and to report on this matter to the Commission at its fifty-ninth session;
- 9. *Requests* the Secretary-General to submit a report based on these contributions for consideration by the Commission at its fifty-ninth session.

78th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVII.]

2001/72. The role of good governance in the promotion of human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Universal Declaration of Human Rights as a common standard of achievement of all peoples and all nations applying to every individual and every organ of society, and also the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23), which affirmed that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated,

Recognizing the importance of a conducive environment, at both the national and the international levels, for the full enjoyment of all human rights,

Emphasizing that the strengthening of good governance at the national level, including through the building of effective and accountable institutions for promoting growth and sustainable human development, is a continuous process for all Governments regardless of the level of development of the countries concerned,

Noting the growing recognition of the importance of good governance in the promotion of human rights, and in particular in the United Nations Millennium Declaration adopted by the General Assembly at the Millennium Summit of the United Nations, which brought together heads of State and Government,

Noting also that good governance practices necessarily vary according to the particular circumstances and needs of different societies, and that the responsibility for determining and implementing such practices, based on transparency and accountability, and for creating and maintaining an enabling environment conducive to the enjoyment of all human rights at the national level, rests with the State concerned,

Affirming the need for enhanced cooperation at the international level between States and through the United Nations system, to ensure that States needing external inputs in order to improve good governance activities have access, if and when required, to the necessary information and resources,

Recognizing the need for a closer examination of the role of good governance for the promotion of human rights and the relationship between good governance practices and the promotion and protection of all human rights in all countries,

- 1. *Recognizes* that transparent, responsible, accountable and participatory government, responsive to the needs and aspirations of the people, is the foundation on which good governance rests, and that such a foundation is a sine qua non for the promotion of human rights, including the right to development;
- 2. *Emphasizes*, in this context, the need to promote partnership approaches to international development cooperation and to ensure that prescriptive approaches to good governance do not impede such cooperation;

- 3. Welcomes the provision by States of practical examples of activities that have been effective in strengthening good governance practices for the promotion of human rights at the national level, including activities in the context of development cooperation between States, for inclusion in a compilation of indicative ideas and practices that could be consulted by the interested States when required, in response to the invitation of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights issued pursuant to paragraph 3 of Commission resolution 2000/64 of 26 April 2000, and requests the High Commissioner to reiterate this invitation to States and to extend it to United Nations and other relevant international bodies;
- 4. *Invites* the High Commissioner, where appropriate and relevant, to draw on her work on the material provided in response to the invitations issued pursuant to paragraph 3 of the present resolution and paragraph 3 of resolution 2000/64 and to inform the Commission of the utility of the material in this respect;
- 5. Decides to continue consideration of the question of the role of good governance in the promotion of human rights at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

78th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVII.]

2001/73. Human rights and international solidarity

The Commission on Human Rights,

Underlining that the processes of promoting and protecting human rights should be conducted in conformity with the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations and international law,

Reaffirming that democracy, development and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms are interdependent and mutually reinforcing,

Recalling that at the World Conference on Human Rights, held in June 1993, States pledged to cooperate with each other in ensuring development and eliminating obstacles to development, and stressed that the international community should promote an effective international cooperation for the realization of the right to development and the elimination of obstacles to development,

Reaffirming that article 4 of the Declaration on the Right to Development states that sustained action is required to promote more rapid development of developing countries and, as a complement to the efforts of developing countries, effective international cooperation is essential in providing these countries with appropriate means and facilities to foster their comprehensive development,

Taking into account that article 2 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights states that each State party to the Covenant undertakes to take steps, individually and through international assistance and cooperation, especially economic and technical, to the maximum of its available resources, with a view to achieving progressively the full realization of the rights recognized in the Covenant by all appropriate means, including particularly the adoption of legislative measures,

Expressing concern at the fact that the immense potentialities for benefit resulting from the process of globalization and economic interdependence have not reached all countries, communities and individuals, and at the increasing marginalization from their benefits of several countries, particularly the least developed and the African countries,

Recognizing the need for new and additional resources to finance the development programmes of developing countries,

Reaffirming the crucial importance of increasing the resources allocated for official development assistance, and recalling the pledge of the industrialized countries to allocate 0.7 per cent of their gross domestic product for official development assistance,

Recognizing that the attention paid to the importance of international solidarity as a vital component of the efforts of developing countries towards the realization of the right to development of their peoples and the promotion of the full enjoyment of economic, social and cultural rights by everyone has been insufficient,

- 1. *Reaffirms* the interdependence between the concepts of democracy, development, and respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms;
- 2. Welcomes the recognition set forth in the declaration adopted by the heads of State and Government at the Millennium Summit of the fundamental value of solidarity to international relations in the twenty-first century, in stating that global challenges must be managed in a way that distributes costs and burdens fairly, in accordance with basic principles of equity and social justice, and that those who suffer, or who benefit least, deserve help from those who benefit most;
- 3. *Urges* the international community to consider urgently ways and means to promote and consolidate international assistance to developing countries in their endeavours for development and for the promotion of conditions that make possible the full realization of all human rights;
- 4. *Decides* to continue its examination of this issue at the fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

78th meeting 25 April 2001

[Adopted by a roll-call vote of 36 votes to 16. See chap. XVII.]

2001/74. Abduction of children from northern Uganda

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the principles set out in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Convention for the Suppression of the Traffic in Persons and of the Exploitation of the Prostitution of Others, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,

Recalling the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), which expressed concern about violations of human rights during armed conflicts affecting the civilian population, especially women, children, the elderly and the disabled,

Recalling also the obligation of States parties to respect and strictly observe international humanitarian law in accordance with the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 for the protection of war victims of war, the Additional Protocols thereto of 1977 and other relevant principles of international law,

Welcoming the adoption by the General Assembly, in its resolution 54/263 of 25 May 2000, of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict, which will serve to strengthen international instruments that protect war-affected children,

Recalling its resolution 2000/60 of 26 April 2000 in which the Commission requested the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to undertake an assessment of the situation of the abduction of children from northern Uganda on the ground in the affected areas,

Noting the report of the Secretary-General on children and armed conflict (A/55/163-S/2000/712) submitted to the General Assembly and the Security Council, and the findings and recommendations presented in the report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children (A/55/442),

Deeply concerned at the continuing abduction, torture, detention, rape, enslavement and forced recruitment of children from northern Uganda,

- 1. *Takes note* of the additional report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/2001/76);
- 2. Condemns in the strongest terms the Lord's Resistance Army for the continued abduction, torture, killing, rape, enslavement and forcible recruitment of children in northern Uganda;

- 3. *Demands* the immediate cessation of all abductions and attacks on civilian populations, in particular women and children, in northern Uganda by the Lord's Resistance Army;
- 4. *Calls* for the immediate and unconditional release and safe return of all abducted children currently held by the Lord's Resistance Army;
- 5. *Calls upon* the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture, established by the General Assembly in its resolution 36/151 of 16 December 1981, to continue to provide assistance to the victims and their families suffering from the effects of torture inflicted by the Lord's Resistance Army;
- 6. *Urges* Member States, international organizations, humanitarian bodies and all other concerned parties with any influence on the Lord's Resistance Army to exert all possible pressure on it to release, immediately and unconditionally, all children abducted from northern Uganda;
- 7. *Urges* all parties supporting the continuation of abductions and detentions of children by the Lord's Resistance Army to cease immediately all assistance to and collaboration with the rebel Army;
- 8. *Welcomes* the bilateral agreement between the Sudan and Uganda signed by the Presidents of the two countries at Nairobi on 8 December 1999;
- 9. *Also welcomes* the return of some of the abducted children and calls for more efforts to be exerted to release the remaining children held in captivity by the rebels;
- 10. Expresses its appreciation of the commitment made by the Governments of the Sudan and Uganda to make a special effort to locate persons, especially children, who have been abducted in the past and to return them to their families;
- 11. Notes the recent efforts exerted by the Governments of the Sudan and Uganda, complemented by those of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children, the United Nations Children's Fund and intergovernmental organizations, which resulted in the identification and reunification of more of those children with their families;
- 12. Takes note with appreciation of the statement of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights of 19 April 2001 in which she presented the preliminary findings of the team which was sent by her Office to carry out an assessment of the situation on the ground in the affected areas;
- 13. *Underscores* the gravity of the matter and urges the United Nations and the international community to continue concerted efforts aimed at improving the situation concerning the abduction of children and meeting the needs of the victims;

14. *Decides* to continue its consideration of the question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIII.]

2001/75. Rights of the child

The Commission on Human Rights,

Bearing in mind the Convention on the Rights of the Child, emphasizing that its provisions and other relevant human rights instruments must constitute the standard in the promotion and protection of the rights of the child, and reaffirming that the best interests of the child shall be the primary consideration in all actions concerning children,

Welcoming the developments in recent years in international legal standards, especially the adoption of the Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict and on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, the 1999 Convention concerning the prohibition and immediate action for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour (No. 182) of the International Labour Organization, and the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, acknowledging the historic significance of the establishment of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9), and noting with interest the entry into force of the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women,

Reaffirming the consensus reached in the relevant resolutions of the fifty-sixth session of the Commission and the fifty-fifth session of the General Assembly, as well as in all previous resolutions on this subject,

Reaffirming also the fundamental principle set forth in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23) and in the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, adopted in September 1995 by the Fourth World Conference on Women (A/CONF.177/20, chap. I) that the human rights of women and girls are an inalienable, integral and indivisible part of universal human rights, and underlining the need for further mainstreaming the rights of the child as well as a gender perspective in all policies and programmes relating to children,

Reaffirming further the World Declaration on the Survival, Protection and Development of Children and the Plan of Action for the Implementation of the World Declaration for the Survival, Protection and Development of the Child in the 1990s adopted in September 1990 by the World Summit for Children (A/45/625, annex) and the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, which, *inter alia*, state that national and international mechanisms and programmes

for the safeguard and protection of children, in particular those in especially difficult circumstances, should be strengthened, including through effective measures to combat exploitation and abuse of children, female infanticide, harmful child labour and the immediate elimination of its worst forms, sale of children and organs, child prostitution and child pornography, as well as other forms of sexual abuse, and which reaffirm that all human rights and fundamental freedoms are universal,

Welcoming the role of the Committee on the Rights of the Child in examining the progress made by States parties in implementing the obligations undertaken in the Convention on the Rights of the Child, and in providing recommendations to States parties on its implementation and, in cooperation with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, in enhancing awareness of the principles and provisions of the Convention,

Profoundly concerned that the situation of children in many parts of the world remains critical as a result of the persistence of poverty, inadequate social and economic conditions in an increasingly globalized world economy, pandemics, in particular the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), natural disasters, armed conflicts, displacement, exploitation, illiteracy, hunger, intolerance, discrimination, disability and inadequate legal protection, and convinced that urgent and effective national and international action is called for,

Alarmed by the reality of daily violations of children's rights, including the right to life, to physical security and to freedom from arbitrary detention, torture and any form of exploitation, as well as economic, social and cultural rights, as laid out in relevant international instruments,

Supporting the preparatory process for the special session of the General Assembly to be convened in September 2001 to follow up the World Summit for Children and encouraging States to participate actively therein in order to promote an effective review of progress made, as well as the identification of obstacles affecting the full implementation of the outcome of the World Summit, as a reaffirmation of their commitment to the rights of the child, and encouraging the establishment of forward-looking strategies, taking into account a strong child rights approach,

Welcoming the integration of child-related issues into the preparations for and the outcome of the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance to be held in September 2001,

Stressing the importance of taking into account a child rights approach in the preparations for the special session of the General Assembly on HIV/AIDS to be convened in June 2001 and the need for a concerted approach for children affected or infected by the pandemic, including those orphaned as a result of the HIV/AIDS pandemic, focusing in particular on the worst-hit regions in Africa, and to give importance to the treatment, care and support of children infected by HIV/AIDS,

Welcoming the reports of the Secretary-General on the status of the Convention on the Rights of the Child (E/CN.4/2001/74), of the Special Rapporteur on the right to education (E/CN.4/2001/52), of the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography (E/CN.4/2001/78 and Add.1-2), of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children to the General Assembly at its fifty-fifth session (A/55/442) and to the Commission at its fifty-seventh session (E/CN.4/2001/76), and the report of the Secretary-General on children and armed conflict (A/55/163-S/2000/712),

Reaffirming that the family is the fundamental group of society and the natural environment for the growth and well-being of children, and recognizing that children should grow up in a family environment and social atmosphere of peace, respect, happiness, love and understanding,

Concerned at the number of illegal adoptions, of children growing up without parents and of child victims of family and social violence, neglect and abuse,

Mindful of the commitments made by heads of State and Government and the targets identified in the United Nations Millennium Declaration pertaining to the realization, promotion and protection of the rights of the child,

Recognizing that partnership between Governments, international organizations, and relevant bodies and organizations of the United Nations system, in particular the United Nations Children's Fund, and all actors of civil society, in particular non-governmental organizations, as well as the private sector, is important to realize the rights of the child,

Welcoming the International Decade for a Culture of Peace and Non-Violence for the Children of the World (2001-2010) and the Declaration and Programme of Action on a Culture of Peace, which serve as the basis for the International Decade,

Welcoming also the convening of the Second World Congress against Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in Yokohama, Japan, in December 2001, and the regional consultation meetings,

I. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CONVENTION ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

1. Urges once again the States that have not yet done so to consider signing and ratifying or acceding to the Convention on the Rights of the Child as a matter of priority, with a view to reaching the goal of universal adherence, and to consider signing and ratifying the Optional Protocols on the involvement of children in armed conflict and on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography as a matter of priority so that they can enter into force as soon as possible, bearing in mind the convening of the special session of the General Assembly to follow up the World Summit for Children in September 2001;

- 2. Reiterates its concern at the great number of reservations to the Convention, and urges States parties to withdraw reservations incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention and to consider reviewing other reservations with a view to withdrawing them;
- 3. Calls upon States parties to implement the Convention fully and to ensure that the rights set forth in the Convention are respected without discrimination of any kind, that the best interests of the child are a primary consideration in all actions concerning children, to recognize the child's inherent right to life and that the child's survival and development is ensured to the maximum extent possible, and that the child is able to express his/her views freely in all opinions on matters affecting him/her and that these views are listened to and given due weight in accordance with his/her age and maturity;
- 4. *Urges* States parties to take all appropriate measures for the implementation of the rights recognized in the Convention, bearing in mind article 4 of the Convention, by strengthening relevant governmental structures for children, including, where appropriate, ministers in charge of child issues and independent commissioners for the rights of the child;
 - 5. *Calls upon* States parties:
- (a) To accept, as a matter of priority, the amendment to article 43, paragraph 2, of the Convention regarding the extension of the Committee on the Rights of the Child from ten to eighteen members;
- (b) To ensure that the members are of high moral standing and recognized competence in the field covered by the Convention, serving in their personal capacity, consideration being given to equitable geographical distribution, as well as to the principal legal systems;
- (c) To comply in a timely manner with their reporting obligations under the Convention, in accordance with the guidelines elaborated by the Committee, as well as to take into account the recommendations made by the Committee in the implementation of the provisions of the Convention and to strengthen their cooperation with the Committee;
- 6. Requests the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, United Nations mechanisms, all relevant organs of the United Nations system, in particular special representatives, special rapporteurs and working groups regularly and systematically to include a child rights perspective in the fulfilment of their mandates, and calls upon States to cooperate closely with them;
- 7. Reaffirms the importance of ensuring adequate and systematic training in the rights of the child for law enforcement and other professions whose work has an impact on children, as well as coordination between various governmental bodies;
- 8. *Calls upon* all States to put an end to impunity, where applicable, for all crimes, including where children are victims, in particular those of genocide, crimes against humanity and war crimes, and to bring perpetrators of such crimes to justice;

- 9. Calls upon all States and relevant actors concerned to continue to cooperate with the special rapporteurs and special representatives of the United Nations system in the implementation of their mandates, requests the Secretary-General to provide them with appropriate staff and facilities from the United Nations regular budget, when this is in accordance with their respective mandates, invites States to continue to make voluntary contributions where appropriate, and urges all relevant parts of the United Nations system to provide them with comprehensive reporting to make the full discharge of the mandate possible;
- 10. *Decides*, with regard to the Committee, to request the Secretary-General to ensure the provision of appropriate staff and facilities from the United Nations regular budget for the effective and expeditious performance of the functions of the Committee, and invites the Committee to continue to enhance its constructive dialogue with the States parties and its transparent and effective functioning;

II. PROTECTION AND PROMOTION OF THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD

Identity, family relations and birth registration

Reaffirming paragraph 15 of its resolution 2000/85 of 27 April 2000,

- 11. *Calls upon* all States:
- (a) To continue to intensify efforts to ensure the registration of all children immediately after birth, including by the consideration of simplified, expeditious and effective procedures;
- (b) To undertake to respect the right of the child to preserve his or her identity, including nationality, name and family relations as recognized by law without unlawful interference and, where a child is illegally deprived of some or all of the elements of his or her identity, to provide appropriate assistance and protection with a view to re-establishing speedily his or her identity;
- (c) To ensure as far as possible the right of the child to know and be cared for by his or her parents, and to ensure that a child shall not be separated from his or her parents against their will, except when the competent authorities, subject to judicial review, determine, in accordance with applicable law and procedures, that such separation is necessary for the best interests of the child, in conformity with article 9 of the Convention;

Health

Reaffirming paragraphs 16 to 19 of its resolution 2000/85,

12. Calls upon all States to take all appropriate measures to develop sustainable health systems and social services and to ensure access to such systems and services without discrimination, and to pay particular attention to adequate food and nutrition to prevent disease and malnutrition, to prenatal and post-natal health care, to special needs of adolescents, to

reproductive and sexual health and to threats from substance abuse and violence, and calls upon all States parties to take all necessary measures to ensure the right of all children, without discrimination, to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of health in accordance with article 24 of the Convention;

13. Also calls upon all States to give support and rehabilitation to children and their families affected by HIV/AIDS, to involve children and their caregivers, as well as the private sector, to ensure the effective prevention of HIV infections through correct information and access to affordable, voluntary and confidential care, treatment and testing, giving due importance to the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of the virus;

Education

Reaffirming paragraphs 20 and 21 of its resolution 2000/85,

- 14. *Calls upon* all States:
- (a) To recognize the right to education on the basis of equal opportunity by making primary education free and compulsory to all and ensuring that all children, including girls, children in need of special protection and indigenous children and children belonging to minorities, have access without discrimination to education of good quality, as well as making secondary education generally available and accessible to all, and in particular by the progressive introduction of free education, bearing in mind that affirmative action contributes to achieving equal opportunity and combating exclusion, and that the education of the child is carried out and that States parties develop and implement programmes for the education of the child in accordance with articles 28 and 29 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child;
- (b) To take all appropriate measures to prevent racism and discriminatory and xenophobic attitudes and behaviour, through education, keeping in mind the important role that children play in changing these practices;
- (c) To ensure that children, from an early age, benefit from education and from participation in activities which develop respect for human rights and emphasize the practice of non-violence with the aim of instilling in them the values and goals of a culture of peace;
- 15. Reaffirms the Dakar Framework for Action adopted by the World Education Forum in April 2000 and calls for its full implementation, and in this regard invites the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization to continue to implement its mandated role in coordinating Education for All partners and maintaining their collaborative momentum;
- 16. *Notes with interest* the recent adoption by the Committee on the Rights of the Child of General Comment No. 1 (2001) on the aims of education (art. 29, para. 1, of the Convention), as well as the adoption of general comments as a means of cooperating with States parties in the implementation of the Convention;

Freedom from violence

Reaffirming paragraphs 22 to 24 of its resolution 2000/85,

- 17. Notes with appreciation the initiative of the Committee on the Rights of the Child on State violence against children, welcomes the upcoming general discussion in September 2001 on the theme of violence suffered by children in schools and within the family, and welcomes the recommendation by the Committee that the Secretary-General should be requested, through the General Assembly, to conduct an in-depth study on the issue of violence against children, *inter alia* the different types of violent treatment of which children are victims, to identify their causes, the extent of such violence and its impact on children, and to put forward recommendations for action, including effective remedies and preventive and rehabilitation measures;
- 18. Calls upon all States to take all appropriate national, bilateral and multilateral measures to prevent all forms of violence against children and to protect them from torture and other forms of violence, physical violence including domestic violence, child abuse, mental and sexual violence, abuse by the police and other law enforcement authorities or by employees in juvenile detention centres, orphanages, childcare institutions and others, as well as violence in the street and in schools;
- 19. Also calls upon all States to investigate and submit cases of torture and other forms of violence against children to the competent authorities for the purpose of prosecution and to impose appropriate disciplinary or penal sanctions against those responsible for such practices;

III. NON-DISCRIMINATION

20. Calls upon all States in which ethnic, religious or linguistic minorities or persons of indigenous origin exist not to deny to a child belonging to such a minority or who is indigenous the right, in community with other members of his or her group, to enjoy his or her own culture, to profess and practise his or her own religion, or to use his or her own language;

The girl child

Reaffirming paragraphs 26 to 28 of its resolution 2000/85,

- 21. *Calls upon* all States to take all necessary measures, including legal reforms where appropriate:
- (a) To ensure the full and equal enjoyment by girls of all human rights and fundamental freedoms, to take effective actions against violations of those rights and freedoms and to base programmes and policies for the girl child on the rights of the child;
- (b) To eliminate all forms of discrimination against girls, including all forms of violence, harmful traditional or customary practices, including female genital mutilation, the root

causes of son preference, marriages without free and full consent of the intending spouses and early marriages, by enacting and enforcing legislation and, where appropriate, formulating comprehensive, multidisciplinary and coordinated national plans, programmes or strategies protecting girls;

Children with disabilities

Reaffirming paragraph 29 of its resolution 2000/85,

22. Calls upon all States to take all necessary measures to ensure the full and equal enjoyment of all human rights and fundamental freedoms by children with disabilities and, where necessary, to develop and enforce legislation against their discrimination to ensure dignity, promote self-reliance and facilitate the child's active participation in the community, including adequate and effective access to education of good quality for children with disabilities and their parents, taking into account the situation of children with disabilities living in poverty;

Migrant children

Reaffirming paragraph 30 of its resolution 2000/85,

- 23. Calls upon all States to ensure, as appropriate, school access to migrant children, especially those who are unaccompanied, as well as access to the highest attainable standard of social services, particularly access to and provision of health care;
 - IV. PROTECTION AND PROMOTION OF THE RIGHTS OF CHILDREN IN PARTICULARLY DIFFICULT SITUATIONS

Children working and/or living on the street

Reaffirming paragraph 31 of its resolution 2000/85,

24. Calls upon all States to prevent arbitrary and summary executions, torture, all kinds of violence against and exploitation of children working and/or living on the street and other violations of their rights, and to bring the perpetrators to justice, to adopt and implement policies for the protection, rehabilitation and reintegration of these children, and to adopt economic and social solutions to address the problems of children working and/or living on the street:

Refugee and internally displaced children

Reaffirming paragraph 32 of its resolution 2000/85,

25. Calls upon all States to protect refugee children, unaccompanied children seeking asylum and internally displaced children, who are particularly exposed to risks in connection with armed conflict, such as recruitment, sexual violence and exploitation, to pay particular

attention to programmes for voluntary repatriation, and wherever possible, local integration and resettlement, to give priority to family tracing and reunification, and, where appropriate, to cooperate with international humanitarian and refugee organizations;

Child labour

Reaffirming paragraphs 33 and 34 of its resolution 2000/85,

- 26. Calls upon all States to translate into concrete action their commitment to the progressive and effective elimination of child labour that is likely to be hazardous or to interfere with the child's education, or to be harmful to the child's health or physical, mental, spiritual, moral or social development, and to the immediate elimination of the worst forms of child labour, to promote education as a key strategy in this regard, including the creation of vocational training and apprenticeship programmes and the integration of working children into the formal education system, as well as to examine and devise economic policies, where necessary, in cooperation with the international community, that address factors contributing to these forms of child labour;
- 27. Calls upon all States that have not yet done so to consider ratifying the 1999 Convention concerning the prohibition and immediate action for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour (No. 182) of the International Labour Organization;

Children alleged to have or recognized as having infringed penal law

Reaffirming paragraphs 35 and 36 (a) and (d) of its resolution 2000/85,

- 28. *Calls upon*:
- (a) The Governments of all States, in particular States in which the death penalty has not been abolished, to comply with their obligations as assumed under relevant provisions of international human rights instruments, including in particular articles 37 and 40 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and articles 6 and 14 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, keeping in mind the safeguards guaranteeing protection of the rights of those facing the death penalty and guarantees set out in Economic and Social Council resolutions 1984/50 of 25 May 1984 and 1989/64 of 24 May 1989;
- (b) All States to take appropriate steps to ensure compliance with the principle that depriving children of their liberty should be used only as a measure of last resort and for the shortest appropriate period of time, in particular before trial, and to ensure that, if they are arrested, detained or imprisoned, children are separated from adults, to the greatest extent feasible, unless it is considered in their best interest not to do so, and also to take appropriate steps to ensure that no child in detention is sentenced to forced labour or deprived of access to and provision of health-care services, hygiene and environmental sanitation, education and basic instruction, taking into consideration the special needs of children with disabilities in detention, in accordance with their obligations under the Convention on the Rights of the Child;

V. PREVENTION AND ERADICATION OF THE SALE OF CHILDREN, CHILD PROSTITUTION AND CHILD PORNOGRAPHY

Reaffirming paragraphs 37 to 42 of its resolution 2000/85,

29. *Calls upon* all States:

- (a) To take all appropriate national, bilateral and multilateral measures, *inter alia* to develop national laws, policies, programmes and practices and to collect comprehensive and disaggregated gender-specific data, to facilitate the participation of child victims of sexual exploitation in the development of strategies and to ensure the effective implementation of relevant international instruments concerning the prevention and the combat of trafficking and sale of children for any purpose or in any form, including the transfer of the organs of the child for profit, child prostitution and child pornography, and encourages all actors of civil society, the private sector and the media to cooperate in efforts to this end;
- (b) To increase cooperation at all levels to prevent and dismantle networks trafficking in children:
- (c) To criminalize and effectively penalize all forms of sexual exploitation and sexual abuse of children, including within the family or for commercial purposes, child pornography and child prostitution, child sex tourism and the use of the Internet for these purposes, while ensuring that, in the treatment by the criminal justice system of children who are victims, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration, and to take effective measures to ensure prosecution of offenders, whether local or foreign, by the competent national authorities, either in the offender's country of origin or in the country of destination, in accordance with due process of law;
- (d) To combat the existence of a market that encourages such criminal practices against children, including through preventive and enforcement measures targeting customers or individuals who sexually exploit or sexually abuse children;
- 30. *Decides* to renew the mandate of the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography for a further three years, and requests the Special Rapporteur to submit a report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;

VI. PROTECTION OF CHILDREN AFFECTED BY ARMED CONFLICT

Reaffirming paragraphs 43 to 56 of its resolution 2000/85,

31. *Notes* the importance of the third debate held by the Security Council, on 26 July 2000, on children and armed conflict and the undertaking by the Council to give special attention to the protection, welfare and rights of children when taking action aimed at maintaining peace and security, and reaffirms the essential role of the General Assembly and the Economic and Social Council for the promotion and protection of the rights and welfare of children;

- 32. Notes with appreciation the Agenda for War-Affected Children adopted by the International Conference on War-Affected Children, held in Winnipeg, Canada, in September 2000, and efforts by regional organizations, in particular the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, the European Union, the Economic Community of West African States, the Organization of American States and the Organization of African Unity, to include prominently the rights and protection of children affected by armed conflict in their policies and programmes;
- 33. *Notes* the adoption of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9), in particular the inclusion therein, as a war crime, of conscripting or enlisting children under the age of fifteen years or using them to participate actively in hostilities in both international and non-international armed conflicts;

34. *Calls upon* States:

- (a) To end the use of children as soldiers contrary to obligations assumed under the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict and other relevant international human rights instruments;
- (b) When ratifying the Optional Protocol, to raise the minimum age for voluntary recruitment of persons into their national armed forces from that set out in article 38, paragraph 3, of the Convention, bearing in mind that under the Convention persons under eighteen years of age are entitled to special protection, and to adopt safeguards to ensure that such recruitment is not forced or coerced;
- (c) To ensure that children are not forcibly or compulsorily recruited into their armed forces:
- (d) To take all feasible measures to prevent recruitment and use of children by armed groups, as distinct from the armed forces of a State, including the adoption of legal measures necessary to prohibit and criminalize such practices;

35. Calls upon:

- (a) All States and other parties to armed conflict to respect fully international humanitarian law and, in this regard, calls upon States parties to respect fully the provisions of the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949 and the Additional Protocols thereto of 1977;
- (b) All States and relevant United Nation bodies and agencies and regional organizations to integrate the rights of the child into all activities in conflict and post-conflict situations and to facilitate the participation of children in the development of strategies in this regard, making sure that there are opportunities for children's voices to be heard;
- (c) All States and relevant United Nations bodies to continue to support national and international mine action efforts, including through financial contributions, mine awareness programmes, mine clearance, victim assistance and child-centred rehabilitation, taking note of

the Convention on the Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling, Production and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and on Their Destruction, and welcomes the positive effects on children of concrete legislative and other measures with respect to anti-personnel mines, and also taking note of the Protocol on Prohibitions or Restrictions on the Use of Mines, Booby Traps and Other Devices (Amended Protocol II) to the Convention on Prohibitions or Restrictions on the Use of Certain Conventional Weapons Which May Be Deemed to Be Excessively Injurious or to Have Indiscriminate Effects, and the implementation of these instruments by those States that become parties to them;

36. Recommends that, whenever sanctions are imposed in the context of armed conflict, their impact on children be assessed and monitored and, to the extent that there are humanitarian exemptions, they be child-focused and formulated with clear guidelines for their application, in order to address possible adverse effects of the sanctions, and reaffirms the recommendations of the General Assembly and the International Conference of the Red Cross and the Red Crescent:

VII. RECOVERY AND SOCIAL REINTEGRATION

Reaffirming paragraph 57 of its resolution 2000/85,

37. Encourages States to cooperate, including through bilateral and multilateral technical cooperation and financial assistance, in the implementation of their obligations under the Convention on the Rights of the Child, including in the prevention of any activity contrary to the rights of the child and in the rehabilitation and social integration of the victims, such assistance and cooperation to be undertaken in consultation among concerned States and other relevant international organizations;

VIII.

- 38. Decides:
- (a) To request the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session a report on the rights of the child, with information on the status of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and on the problems addressed in the present resolution;
- (b) To continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIII.]

2001/76. Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies

The Commission on Human Rights,

Reaffirming the importance of the goal of universal ratification of the United Nations human rights instruments,

Welcoming the significant increase in the number of ratifications of United Nations human rights instruments, which has especially contributed to their universality,

Reiterating the importance of the effective functioning of treaty bodies established pursuant to United Nations human rights instruments for the full and effective implementation of such instruments,

Recalling that, with regard to the election of the members of the human rights treaty bodies, the Commission has already recognized the importance of giving consideration to equitable geographical distribution and gender balance of membership and to the representation of the principal legal systems, and of bearing in mind that the members shall be elected and serve in their personal capacity and shall be of high moral character, acknowledged impartiality and recognized competence in the field of human rights,

Recalling also that the Commission has already encouraged States parties to United Nations human rights treaties, individually and through meetings of States parties, to consider how to give better effect, *inter alia*, to the principle of equitable geographical distribution of the membership of treaty bodies,

Expressing concern at the clear regional imbalance in the current composition of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies, with the exception of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, which is already applying a quota system in the distribution of its seats by regional groups,

Noting in particular that the current status quo tends to be particularly detrimental for the election of experts from some regional groups,

Convinced that the goal of equitable geographical distribution of the membership of human rights treaty bodies is perfectly compatible and can be fully realized and achieved in harmony with the need to ensure gender balance and the representation of the principal legal systems in those bodies and the high moral character, acknowledged impartiality and recognized competence in the field of human rights of their members,

1. Decides to recommend that the General Assembly encourage States parties to the United Nations human rights instruments to establish quota distribution systems by geographical region for the election of the members of the treaty bodies;

- 2. *Recommends* the introduction of flexible procedures when establishing the quotas for each geographical region in each treaty body, encompassing the following criteria:
- (a) Each of the five regional groups established by the General Assembly must be assigned a quota of the membership of each treaty body equivalent to the proportion of the total number of States parties to the instrument that it represents;
- (b) There must be provision for periodic revisions that reflect the relative changes in the geographical distribution of States parties;
- (c) Automatic periodic revisions should be envisaged in order to avoid amending the text of the instrument when the quotas are revised;
- 3. Stresses that the process needed to achieve the goal of equitable geographical distribution of the membership of human rights treaty bodies can contribute to raising awareness of the importance of gender balance, to the representation of the principal legal systems, and to the principle that the members of the treaty bodies shall be elected and serve in their personal capacity and shall be of high moral character, acknowledged impartiality and recognized competence in the field of human rights;
- 4. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 35 votes to 15, with 2 abstentions. See chap. XVIII.]

2001/77. Regional cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 2000/74 of 26 April 2000,

Reiterating that one of the purposes of the United Nations is to achieve international cooperation in solving international problems of an economic, social, cultural or humanitarian character, and in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Reaffirming that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated, that the international community must treat human rights globally in a fair and equal manner, on the same footing and with the same emphasis, and that, while the significance of

national and regional particularities and various historical, cultural and religious backgrounds must be borne in mind, it is the duty of States, regardless of their political, economic and cultural systems, to promote and protect all human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Stressing that regional cooperation can play an important role in promoting universal respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Recognizing the importance of an inclusive, step-by-step, practical and building-block approach towards enhancing regional cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in accordance with the pace and priorities to be set by the Governments of the Asian and Pacific region by consensus,

Recognizing also the importance of human rights education in both formal and non-formal contexts and the significant role the media can play in the promotion and protection of human rights,

Recognizing further the valuable contribution that independent national institutions, intergovernmental organizations and non-governmental organizations can make in the field of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region,

Welcoming the convening of the ninth Workshop on Regional Cooperation for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights in the Asian-Pacific Region, held in Bangkok from 28 February to 2 March 2001,

- 1. *Welcomes* the report of the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/2001/98) and the progress achieved in the implementation of Commission resolution 2000/74;
- 2. Stresses the importance of the linkages and mutually reinforcing aspects of all four areas of the Framework of Regional Technical Cooperation Programme in Asia and the Pacific (E/CN.4/1998/50, annex II) adopted at the sixth Workshop on Regional Cooperation for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights in the Asian-Pacific Region, held in Tehran from 28 February to 2 March 1998, namely human rights education, national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights, national plans of action for the promotion and protection of human rights and the strengthening of national human rights capacities, and strategies for the realization of the right to development and economic, social and cultural rights;
- 3. Also stresses that developing and strengthening national capacities for the promotion and protection of human rights in accordance with national conditions provides the strongest foundation for effective and enduring regional cooperation in the field of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region;
- 4. *Commends* the contribution of the Government of Thailand, as the host of the ninth Workshop, to the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region;

- 5. *Endorses* the conclusions of the ninth Workshop on the next steps to be taken to facilitate the process of regional cooperation in the Asian and Pacific region;
- 6. Welcomes the in-depth discussions held during the ninth Workshop reviewing developments in the Asian and Pacific region over the past year in the four priority areas under the Framework of Regional Technical Cooperation Programme in Asia and the Pacific;
- 7. Also welcomes the greater and valuable sharing of concrete national experiences at the ninth Workshop on the implementation of all four areas of the Framework of Regional Technical Cooperation Programme in Asia and the Pacific;
- 8. *Takes note* of the contribution of independent national institutions, intergovernmental organizations and representatives of non-governmental organizations to the ninth Workshop and the initiative by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to hold a consultation of non-governmental actors one day prior to the official opening of the ninth workshop;
- 9. Also takes note of the diversity of views expressed at the ninth Workshop on possible regional or subregional modalities of cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region as part of an inclusive, step-by-step, practical and building-blocks approach, as well as of the evaluation undertaken on the implementation of the Framework of Regional Technical Cooperation Programme in Asia and the Pacific;
- 10. Takes note with interest of the interactive discussions held during the inter-sessional workshops on the role of national human rights institutions in advancing the international human rights of women (Fiji, May 2000), human rights for parliamentarians (Mongolia, August 2000) and national institutions and economic, social and cultural rights (Philippines, November 2000);
- 11. *Takes note* of the discussions at the ninth Workshop and at the regional inter-sessional workshops on, *inter alia*, all the obstacles to the effective realization of economic, social and cultural rights and the right to development and the need for international cooperation to support the efforts of countries to overcome them;
- 12. Also takes note of the views exchanged at the ninth Workshop that national plans of action, human rights education and national institutions are important instruments for combating racism and related forms of discrimination, and that the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance should consider ways in which these instruments can better address such issues, with particular attention paid to all vulnerable groups in society;
- 13. *Encourages* all States in the region to take concrete steps at the national level in connection with the implementation of the Framework of Regional Technical Cooperation Programme in Asia and the Pacific and to ensure that regional workshops undertaken within the

Framework are accompanied by concrete and sustainable subregional and national activities, as well as training and awareness programmes for government officials and key professional groups concerned such as the police, prison officials, educators, judges, lawyers and parliamentarians;

- 14. Welcomes the establishment of independent national institutions in countries of the Asian and Pacific region and their important contribution to the process of regional cooperation, *inter alia* through the work of the Asia-Pacific Forum of National Human Rights Institutions, and notes the discussions at the relevant workshop in this regard;
- 15. Also welcomes the efforts of the Office of the High Commissioner in developing partnerships for the implementation of its activities under the Framework of Regional Technical Cooperation Programme in Asia and the Pacific to enhance national capacities for the promotion and protection of human rights in the region;
- 16. Encourages all Governments in the Asian and Pacific region to consider making use of the facilities offered by the United Nations, under the programme of advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights, to further strengthen national human rights capacities, and in this regard calls upon the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to continue to give adequate attention to the programme;
- 17. Requests the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session a report containing the conclusions of the tenth Workshop on Regional Cooperation for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights in the Asian-Pacific Region and information on the progress achieved in the implementation of the present resolution;
- 18. *Decides* to continue its consideration of the question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVIII.]

2001/78. Composition of the staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling that, in its report to the Special Commission of the Economic and Social Council (E/CN.4/1988/85 and Corr.1), the Commission reaffirmed that the paramount consideration for employing staff at every level was the need for the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity and was convinced that this objective was compatible with the principle of equitable geographical distribution and took into account Article 101, paragraph 3, of the Charter of the United Nations,

Recalling also Part II, paragraphs 11 and 17, of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action (A/CONF.157/23), in which the World Conference on Human Rights requested the Secretary-General and the General Assembly to provide sufficient human, financial and other resources to the Centre for Human Rights to enable it effectively, efficiently and expeditiously to carry out its activities, while recognizing the necessity for restructuring United Nations human rights machinery, in accordance with its real needs,

Reaffirming the significance of national and regional particularities and various historical, cultural and religious backgrounds, as well as of different political, economic and legal systems,

Taking into account the need to pay particular attention to the recruitment of personnel for the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights from developing countries, thus improving the present staff composition, based on a more equitable geographical distribution,

Noting with concern that the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/73 of 26 April 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/100) concerning the geographical composition and the functions of the Office staff clearly reflects that one region is unequivocally over-represented in the staff composition and that the imbalance has worsened (see annexes to the present resolution),

Expressing again its concern over the under-representation of the developing countries on the staff of the Office of the High Commissioner, particularly bearing in mind the criteria of equitable geographical distribution,

- 1. *Takes note* of the report of the High Commissioner on the composition of the staff of the Office of the High Commissioner;
- 2. Reiterates its support of the statement of the High Commissioner to the Third Committee at the fifty-second session of the General Assembly, in which she expressed her willingness to ensure a good geographical balance and a sense of bringing together North and South in a joint commitment to human rights, in the process of filling key senior positions in the Office;
- 3. *Reaffirms* that Article 101, paragraph 3, of the Charter of the United Nations should guide the Secretary-General in his policy for recruiting the staff of the Organization, mindful of the criteria of equitable geographical distribution;
- 4. *Also reaffirms* General Assembly resolutions 49/222 A and B of 23 December 1994 and 20 July 1995, 51/226 of 3 April 1997 and 53/221 of 7 April 1999 on human resources management;
- 5. Further reaffirms section IX, paragraph 8, of General Assembly resolution 53/221, on human resources management, which reiterates the request to the Secretary-General to increase further his efforts to improve the composition of the Secretariat by ensuring a wide and equitable geographical distribution of staff in all departments;

- 6. Considers that it is necessary, in the process of restructuring the Office of the High Commissioner, to take urgent, concrete and immediate action to change the currently prevailing geographical distribution of staff of the Office in favour of a more equitable distribution of posts, in accordance with Article 101 of the Charter, particularly by recruiting personnel from developing countries, including to key posts, and in this regard invites the High Commissioner to consider the establishment of a task force within her Office with the mandate to work in cooperation with relevant components of the United Nations Secretariat in the recruitment and training of qualified personnel from developing countries for the staff of the Office of the High Commissioner;
- 7. Requests the Secretary-General to take the necessary measures to ensure that particular attention is paid to recruiting personnel from developing countries, in particular from unrepresented Member States, for the existing vacancies and for additional posts in the Office of the High Commissioner to ensure an equitable geographical distribution, giving particular priority in this regard to recruitment for high-level and Professional posts and to the recruitment of women;
- 8. Requests once again the Secretary-General, in signing agreements with countries as a result of which Junior Professional Officers are provided to the Office of the High Commissioner, to urge those countries to ensure the allocation of additional financial resources to guarantee that personnel from developing countries are able to work as Junior Professional Officers, with a view to conforming with the principle of equitable geographical distribution; furthermore, a permanent mechanism must be established, by virtue of which every Junior Professional Officer from a donor country who joins the Office will be matched by another Junior Professional Officer from a developing country;
- 9. *Emphasizes* the importance of openly advertising all posts, including ad hoc appointments for field operations, including the dissemination of detailed job descriptions among all States prior to the filling of those posts;
- 10. *Requests* the High Commissioner to ensure that Junior Professional Officers are not given sensitive political assignments where their impartiality may be questioned;
- 11. *Reaffirms* the importance of ensuring universality, objectivity and non-selectivity in the consideration of human rights issues, and requests the High Commissioner to continue to ensure that the fulfilment of her mandate and that of the Office is guided by these principles;
- 12. *Stresses* that the staff of the Office of the High Commissioner need to maintain their neutrality and fully respect the independence of the work of all mechanisms of the Commission and the treaty bodies, while providing support to their functioning;
- 13. *Requests* the High Commissioner to submit a comprehensive report on the implementation of the present resolution to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, which should include:

- (a) The composition of the staff of the Office, organized by the five United Nations regional groups established by the General Assembly (African States, Asian States, Latin American and Caribbean States, Western European and Other States and Eastern European States) and reflecting, *inter alia*, grade, nationality and gender, including with regard to non-regular staff;
 - (b) Measures adopted to improve the current situation and their results;
 - (c) Recommendations to improve the current situation;
- 14. *Draws the attention* of the General Assembly to the present resolution in the context of the consideration of the agenda item on human resources management;
- 15. *Decides* to consider this matter under the same agenda item at its fifty-eighth session.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted by a roll-call vote of 33 votes to 16, with 3 abstentions. See chap. XVIII.]

ANNEX I

Staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

Geographical distribution (number of posts)

Regional groups	Posts subject to geographical distribution		Posts not subject to geographical distribution		Total	
	2000	2001	2000	2001	2000	2001
African States	11	10	25	21	36	31
Asian States	15	13	1	6	16	19
Latin American and Caribbean States	8	9	8	10	16	19
Eastern European States	5	5	1	6	6	11
Western European and Other States*	36	41	61	69	97	110
Total	75	78	96	112	171	190

^{*} Includes Switzerland and Israel.

ANNEX II

Staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

Geographical distribution (in percentage)

	Posts subject to		Posts not subject to			
Regional groups	geographical distribution		geographical distribution		Total	
	2000	2001	2000	2001	2000	2001
African States	15	13	26	19	21	16
Asian States	20	17	1	5	9	10
Latin American and Caribbean States	11	11	8	9	9	10
Eastern European States	6	6	1	5	34	6
Western European and Other	48	53	6364	62	5657	58
States*						

^{*} Includes Switzerland and Israel.

2001/79. Regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling its resolution 1993/51 of 9 March 1993 and its subsequent resolutions concerning regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights,

Recalling also General Assembly resolution 32/127 of 16 December 1977 and its subsequent resolutions in this regard,

Bearing in mind the relevant resolutions of the Commission concerning advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights, including its most recent on that subject, resolution 2000/80 of 26 April 2000,

Bearing also in mind the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), which reiterates, inter alia, the need to consider the possibility of establishing regional and subregional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights where they do not already exist,

Recalling that the World Conference recommended that more resources should be made available for the strengthening of regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights under the programme of technical cooperation in the field of human rights of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights,

Reaffirming that regional arrangements play an important role in promoting and protecting human rights and should reinforce universal human rights standards, as contained in international human rights instruments, and their protection,

Noting the progress achieved so far in the promotion and protection of human rights at the regional level under the auspices of the United Nations, the specialized agencies and the regional intergovernmental organizations,

Considering that cooperation between the United Nations and regional arrangements in the field of human rights continues to be both substantive and supportive and that possibilities exist for increased cooperation,

- 1. *Takes note with satisfaction* of the report of the Secretary-General on regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights (E/CN.4/2001/97);
- 2. Welcomes the continuing cooperation and assistance of the Office of the High Commissioner in the further strengthening of the existing regional arrangements and regional machinery for the promotion and protection of human rights, in particular through technical cooperation which is aimed at national capacity-building, public information and education, with a view to exchanging information and experience in the field of human rights;
- 3. Also welcomes, in that respect, the close cooperation of the Office of the High Commissioner in the organization of regional and subregional training courses and workshops in the field of human rights, high-level governmental expert meetings and regional conferences of national human rights institutions, aimed at creating greater understanding in the regions of issues concerning the promotion and protection of human rights, improving procedures and examining the various systems for the promotion and protection of universally accepted human rights standards, and identifying obstacles to ratification of the principal international human rights treaties and strategies to overcome them;
- 4. *Recognizes*, therefore, that progress in promoting and protecting all human rights depends primarily on efforts made at the national and local levels and that the regional approach should imply intensive cooperation and coordination with all partners involved, while bearing in mind the importance of international cooperation;
- 5. Stresses the importance of the programme of technical cooperation in the field of human rights, renews its appeal to all Governments to consider making use of the possibilities offered by the United Nations, under this programme, of organizing information or training courses at the national level for government personnel on the application of international human rights standards and the experience of relevant international bodies, and notes with satisfaction, in that respect, the establishment of technical cooperation projects with Governments of all regions;
- 6. Welcomes the growing exchanges between the United Nations and the bodies created by the United Nations in accordance with the treaties dealing with human rights, on the one hand, and regional intergovernmental organizations, such as the Council of Europe, the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights and the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights, on the other;

- 7. Also welcomes the appointment by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights of four human rights personalities to serve as regional advisers, who will play a significant role in the promotion of human rights and human rights advocacy through the design of strategies and the development of partnerships for human rights, facilitate coordination of human rights technical cooperation in the region and assist regional cooperation at large, for example among national institutions, parliamentary human rights bodies, bar associations and non-governmental organizations;
- 8. *Recalls* in this regard the positive experience of the regional presence in southern Africa, which will serve as guidance in the development of the regional approach of the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights;
- 9. *Notes with interest* the programme for Africa of the Office of the High Commissioner and the objective of strengthening cooperation between the Office and the Organization of African Unity with a view to reviewing, on a regular basis, needs in the area of human rights in the various subregions;
- 10. Also notes with interest the greater and valuable sharing of concrete national experiences at the ninth Workshop on Regional Cooperation for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights in the Asia-Pacific Region held in Bangkok from 28 February to 2 March 2001 on the implementation of the Framework of Regional Technical Cooperation Programme in Asia and the Pacific, adopted at the sixth Workshop, held in Tehran from 28 February to 2 March 1998, which contributes to the promotion and protection of human rights in the region;
- 11. Further notes with interest the Quito Framework for Technical Cooperation in the Field of Human Rights as a basis for the regional strategy of the Office of the High Commissioner, aimed at strengthening national capacities for the promotion of human rights in Latin America and the Caribbean, and in this regard welcomes the establishment in Mexico City in November 2000 of a regional network of national institutions;
- 12. Welcomes the continued cooperation between the Office of the High Commissioner and regional organizations in Europe and Central Asia, in particular the development, as a priority, of a regional approach to preventing trafficking in persons;
- 13. *Invites* States in areas in which regional arrangements in the field of human rights do not yet exist to consider concluding agreements with a view to establishing, within their respective regions, suitable regional machinery for the promotion and protection of human rights;
- 14. Requests the Secretary-General, as foreseen in programme 19 (Human rights) of the medium-term plan for the period 1998-2001, to continue to strengthen exchanges between the United Nations and regional intergovernmental organizations dealing with human rights and to make available adequate resources from within the regular budget of technical cooperation to the activities of the Office of the High Commissioner to promote regional arrangements;

- 15. Requests the Office of the High Commissioner to continue to pay special attention to the most appropriate ways of assisting, at their request, countries of the various regions under the programme of technical cooperation and to make, where necessary, relevant recommendations:
- 16. *Invites* the Secretary-General, in the report he will present to the General Assembly at its fifty-seventh session, to provide information about the progress made since the adoption of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action on reinforcing the exchange of information and extending collaboration between the organs of the United Nations dealing with human rights and regional organizations in the field of the promotion and protection of human rights;
- 17. Requests the Secretary-General to submit to the Commission at its fifty-ninth session a report on the state of regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights, to formulate concrete proposals and recommendations on ways and means to strengthen cooperation between United Nations and regional arrangements in the field of human rights and to include therein the results of action taken in pursuance of the present resolution;
 - 18. *Decides* to consider this question further at its fifty-ninth session.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVIII.]

2001/80. National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling the relevant resolutions of the General Assembly, notably resolution 48/134 of 20 December 1993, and its own resolutions concerning national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights,

Welcoming the rapidly growing interest worldwide in the creation and strengthening of independent, pluralistic national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights,

Convinced of the important role such national institutions play in promoting and protecting human rights and fundamental freedoms and in developing and enhancing public awareness of those rights and freedoms,

Recognizing that it is the prerogative of each State to choose, for the establishment of a national institution, the legal framework that is best suited to its particular needs and circumstances to ensure that human rights are promoted and protected at the national level in accordance with international human rights standards,

Recalling the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), in which was reaffirmed the important and constructive role played by national human rights institutions and their role in remedying human rights violations and in the dissemination of human rights information and education concerning human rights,

Taking note of the Programme of Action (see A/CONF.157/NI/6) adopted by national institutions meeting in Vienna from 14 to 16 June 1993 during the World Conference on Human Rights, in which it was recommended that United Nations activities and programmes should be reinforced to meet the requests for assistance from States wishing to establish or strengthen their national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights,

Welcoming the strengthening of international cooperation among national human rights institutions, including through the International Coordinating Committee of National Institutions,

Welcoming also the strengthening in all regions of regional cooperation among national human rights institutions and between national human rights institutions and other regional human rights forums, and noting in this regard the establishment, in November 2000, of the network of national human rights institutions of the Americas,

Noting the importance of appropriate participation by national institutions in United Nations meetings dealing with human rights,

- 1. *Reaffirms* the importance of the development of effective, independent, pluralistic national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights in conformity with the Principles relating to the status of national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights, annexed to General Assembly resolution 48/134;
- 2. *Encourages* States to establish or, where they already exist, to strengthen such institutions, as outlined in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action;
- 3. Recognizes that national institutions have a potentially crucial role to play in promoting and ensuring the indivisibility and interdependence of all human rights and calls upon all States to ensure that all human rights are appropriately reflected in the mandate of their national human rights institutions when established;
- 4. *Welcomes* the decisions of a growing number of States to establish, or to consider establishing, such institutions, including the trend towards their establishment in developed countries;
- 5. Takes note with satisfaction of the efforts of those States that have provided their national institutions with more autonomy and independence, including through giving them an investigative role or enhancing such a role, and encourages other Governments to consider taking similar steps;

- 6. Recognizes the important and constructive role that individuals, groups and organs of society can play for the better promotion and protection of human rights and encourages efforts by national institutions to establish partnerships and increase cooperation with civil society;
- 7. Welcomes the practice of national institutions which conform with the Principles relating to the status of national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights of participating in an appropriate manner in their own right in meetings of the Commission on Human Rights and its subsidiary bodies;
- 8. Also welcomes the continuation of the practice of national institutions convening regional meetings in some regions and its initiation in others, and encourages national institutions in cooperation with the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to organize similar events with Governments and non-governmental organizations in their own regions;
- 9. Affirms the important role of national human rights institutions, in cooperation with other mechanisms for the promotion and protection of human rights, in combating racial and related forms of discrimination and in the protection and promotion of the human rights of women and the rights of particularly vulnerable groups, including children and people with disabilities, and in this context:
- (a) Welcomes the participation of national institutions in preparations for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance at the national, regional and global levels and urges them to participate actively in the Conference itself;
- (b) Welcomes the participation by national institutions in the five-year review of the implementation of the Platform for Action adopted in September 1995 at the Fourth World Conference on Women;
- (c) Encourages the involvement of national institutions in preparations at the national, regional and global levels for the special session of the General Assembly for follow-up to the World Summit for Children;
- 10. *Reaffirms* the role of national institutions, where they exist, as appropriate agencies, *inter alia*, for the dissemination of human rights materials and other public information activities during the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, 1995-2004;
- 11. *Commends* the High Commissioner for the priority accorded to the establishment and strengthening of national human rights institutions, including through technical cooperation, and calls upon her Office to continue to strengthen its coordinating role in this field and allocate the resources necessary for this work;

- 12. *Expresses its appreciation* to those Governments that have contributed additional resources for the purpose of the establishment and strengthening of national human rights institutions;
- 13. Welcomes the important role of the International Coordinating Committee of National Institutions, in close cooperation with the Office of the High Commissioner, in assessing conformity with the Principles relating to the status of national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights and in assisting Governments and national institutions, when requested, to follow up on relevant resolutions and recommendations concerning the strengthening of national institutions;
- 14. *Requests* the Secretary-General to continue to provide, from within existing resources, the necessary assistance for holding meetings of the International Coordinating Committee during the sessions of the Commission, under the auspices of, and in cooperation with, the Office of the High Commissioner;
- 15. Also requests the Secretary-General to continue to provide, from within existing resources and from the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Technical Cooperation in the Field of Human Rights, the necessary assistance for international and regional meetings of national institutions;
- 16. *Further requests* the Secretary-General to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the implementation of the present resolution;
 - 17. Decides to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XVIII.]

2001/81. Assistance to Somalia in the field of human rights

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights and other relevant human rights instruments,

Recalling its resolution 2000/81 of 26 April 2000,

Bearing in mind the statement by the President of the Security Council on the situation in Somalia of 11 January 2001 (S/PRST/2001/1), the report of the Secretary-General on the situation in Somalia (S/2000/1211), Security Council resolution 1265 (1999)

of 17 December 1999 on the protection of civilians in armed conflict, the report of the Secretary-General on protection for humanitarian assistance to refugees and others in conflict situations (S/1998/883) and General Assembly resolution 54/192 of 17 December 1999 entitled "Safety and security of humanitarian personnel and protection of United Nations personnel",

Recalling Security Council resolution 751 (1992) of 24 April 1992 on the situation in Somalia,

Recognizing that the people of Somalia have the principal responsibility for their national reconciliation process and that they are the ones to decide freely on their political, economic and social systems,

Noting with appreciation the efforts made in favour of peace by the United Nations, the Organization of African Unity, the League of Arab States, the European Union, the Organization of the Islamic Conference, the Movement of Non-Aligned Countries, the member countries of the Intergovernmental Authority on Development and the Intergovernmental Authority Partners' Forum,

Expressing satisfaction that the people of the northern regions of Somalia, despite all difficulties, continue to enjoy relative peace and stability, as well as the provision of basic services,

Considering that the people of Somalia should not be abandoned by the international community and that human rights should be placed on the agenda of talks regarding the future of Somalia,

Commending the initiative taken by the President of the Republic of Djibouti to promote peace and national reconciliation in Somalia by convening the Somalia National Peace Conference, held in Arta, Djibouti, which has led to the establishment of the transitional national government and the Transitional National Assembly, and noting with appreciation the impetus provided to the national reconciliation process by the Intergovernmental Authority on Development,

Commending the work done by Somali civil society groups and non-governmental organizations, including humanitarian organizations, in the humanitarian field in their efforts to promote and protect human rights,

Noting with concern that some parties in Somalia, including the self-administering areas of "Somaliland" and "Puntland" and some armed movements, have not participated so far in the national reconciliation process based on the Somalia National Peace Conference,

Noting also with concern that the humanitarian and security situation remains fragile in several parts of Somalia, including Mogadishu,

Recognizing the massive challenges facing Somalia with respect to immediate assistance as well as reconstruction and development,

Underlining that the peace process in Somalia must continue and be completed through dialogue and not by resorting to the use of force,

Acknowledging the note by the Secretariat on the situation of human rights in Somalia (E/CN.4/2001/105),

1. Welcomes:

- (a) The establishment of the Transitional National Government and the Transitional National Assembly as an outcome of the Somalia National Peace Conference, which constitutes a major achievement in the country's peace process;
- (b) The support given by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights through the appointment of the human rights officer for Somalia based in Nairobi in the framework of the office of the United Nations Resident Humanitarian Coordinator for Somalia and expresses the hope that he will be able to continue to give meaningful assistance to the Somali people through the fulfilment of his mandate;
- (c) The integration by a number of United Nations agencies of human rights issues in their programmes;
- (d) The invitation by the Security Council to the Secretary-General to prepare a proposal for a peace-building mission in Somalia when the security situation allows it and to put in place a trust fund for its realization;
- 2. *Underlines* the need for human rights to be an integral part of a future United Nations peace-building mission in Somalia;
- 3. Expresses the hope that the transitional national Government and the Transitional National Assembly will contribute to the restoration of the State, to the preservation of national unity and to the territorial integrity of the country through the process of national reconciliation;
- 4. Expresses deep concern at reported cases of rape, arbitrary and summary executions, torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment and violence, in particular against women and children, and at the absence of an effective judicial system, essential to ensure the right to a fair trial in accordance with international standards, and takes note of the need for appropriate investigation throughout Somalia in order to bring perpetrators to justice;

5. *Condemns*:

(a) The ongoing widespread violations and abuses of human rights and humanitarian law, in particular against minorities, women and children, as well as the forced displacement of civilians;

- (b) All violations of international humanitarian law, including the forced or compulsory recruitment of children for use in armed conflict and the use of these children in armed conflict by the militias;
- (c) All acts of violence such as hostage-taking, abduction and murder, particularly of humanitarian relief workers and of United Nations agency personnel, particularly the recent abduction in Mogadishu of United Nations personnel and non-governmental organization humanitarian relief workers by militia belonging to armed movements;
- 6. *Strongly urges* the transitional national Government, the Transitional National Assembly, and all parties and administrations of Somalia:
- (a) To create the environment that would bring into the reconciliation process those that did not participate in the Somalia National Peace Conference, with the objective of widening and deepening the process of national reconciliation;
- (b) To respect human rights and international humanitarian standards as set out in international instruments, in particular those pertaining to internal armed conflicts;
- (c) To support the re-establishment of the rule of law throughout the country, in particular by applying internationally accepted criminal justice standards;
- (d) To protect and facilitate the work of United Nations personnel, humanitarian relief workers and representatives of non-governmental organizations and of the international media, and to guarantee all persons involved in humanitarian action, freedom of movement throughout the country and safe and unhindered access to civilians in need of protection and humanitarian assistance;

7. *Calls upon*:

- (a) The transitional national Government and the Transitional National Assembly to continue, in a spirit of constructive dialogue, the process of engaging all groups in the country, including the north-eastern and north-western self-administering areas ("Somaliland" and "Puntland"), with a view to completing the process of national reconciliation and preparing for the installation of permanent governance arrangements through the democratic process;
- (b) The authorities of the self-administering areas of "Somaliland" and "Puntland" to establish constructive relations with the institutions which are emerging from the Arta peace process;
- (c) All groups, in particular armed movements, to support and participate in the demobilization efforts undertaken by the transitional national Government and the Transitional National Assembly;
- (d) All States to refrain from any military intervention in the internal situation in Somalia and to abide by the arms embargo;

- (e) Subregional, regional and international organizations and concerned countries to continue to intensify the coordinated efforts aimed at facilitating the national reconciliation process in Somalia, aware of the fact that the peaceful coexistence of all parties and groups is an important foundation for the respect of human rights;
- (f) Individual donor countries, international organizations and non-governmental organizations further to incorporate human rights principles and objectives in the humanitarian and development work they carry out in Somalia and to cooperate with the future independent expert;
- (g) The international community to continue to provide increased assistance in response to the United Nations appeals for relief, rehabilitation and reconstruction efforts in all regions of Somalia, including those aimed at the strengthening of civil society, encouraging governance and the re-establishment of the rule of law, and to support the activities of the Office of the High Commissioner concerning Somalia;
- (h) All States having information about violations of the provisions of Security Council resolution 733 (1992) of 23 January 1992 concerning a mandatory arms embargo against Somalia to provide this information to the Committee on Somalia of the Security Council created pursuant to resolution 751 (1992) with a view to supporting the work of the Committee;
- (i) The United Nations, its Member States and specialized agencies, non-governmental organizations and the Bretton Woods institutions to assist the transitional national Government, the Transitional National Assembly and the regions which have established peace and stability through self-administration in addressing the massive challenges facing Somalia with respect to reconstruction and development and the immediate need for urgent assistance, particularly in the area of human rights, demobilization (with special attention to combating the human immunodeficiency virus and the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) and other communicable diseases), disarmament and rehabilitation of basic infrastructure;
- 8. *Commends* the work carried out by the former independent expert and calls upon the Secretary-General to appoint a new independent expert;
- 9. *Invites* Governments and organizations in a position to do so to respond positively to requests by the Secretary-General for assistance in the implementation of the present resolution;
- 10. Requests the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to provide for the translation of the present resolution, accompanied by an appropriate background explanatory note, into the Somali language and for its wide dissemination within the country through the human rights officer for Somalia based in Nairobi;

11. *Decides*:

- (a) To extend the mandate of an independent expert on the situation of human rights in Somalia for a further year and requests the future independent expert to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;
- (b) To request the Secretary-General to continue to provide the future independent expert also with all necessary assistance in carrying out his/her mandate and to provide adequate resources, from within existing overall United Nations resources, to fund the activities of the independent expert and the High Commissioner in providing advisory services and technical assistance;
- (c) To continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item.

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIX.]

2001/82. Situation of human rights in Cambodia

The Commission on Human Rights,

Guided by the purposes and principles embodied in the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International Covenants on Human Rights,

Recalling the Agreement on a Comprehensive Political Settlement of the Cambodia Conflict, signed in Paris on 23 October 1991, including Part III thereof, relating to human rights,

Bearing in mind its resolution 2000/79 of 26 April 2000, General Assembly resolution 55/95 of 4 December 2000 and previous relevant resolutions,

Recognizing that the tragic history of Cambodia requires special measures to assure the protection of the human rights of all people in Cambodia and the non-return to the policies and practices of the past, as stipulated in the Agreement signed in Paris on 23 October 1991,

Desiring that the international community continue to respond positively to assist efforts to investigate the tragic history of Cambodia, including responsibility for past international crimes, such as acts of genocide and crimes against humanity during the regime of Democratic Kampuchea from 1975 to 1979,

Bearing in mind the request in June 1997 by the Cambodian authorities for assistance in responding to past serious violations of Cambodian and international law, the letter dated 15 March 1999 from the Secretary-General to the President of the General Assembly and the President of the Security Council (A/53/850-S/1999/231) and the report of the Group of

Experts appointed by the Secretary-General annexed thereto, and the discussions held between the Government of Cambodia and the United Nations Secretariat on standards and procedures for bringing to justice the Khmer Rouge leaders most responsible for the most serious violations of human rights in the years 1975-1979,

Recognizing the legitimate concern of the Government and people of Cambodia in the pursuit of internationally accepted principles of justice and of national reconciliation,

Recognizing also that accountability of individual perpetrators of grave human rights violations is one of the central elements of any effective remedy for victims of human rights violations and a key factor in ensuring a fair and equitable justice system and, ultimately, reconciliation and stability within a State,

Welcoming the continuing role of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in the promotion and protection of human rights in Cambodia,

I. SUPPORT OF AND COOPERATION WITH THE UNITED NATIONS

- 1. Requests the Secretary-General, through his Special Representative for human rights in Cambodia, in collaboration with the office in Cambodia of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, to assist the Government of Cambodia in ensuring the protection of the human rights of all people in Cambodia and to ensure adequate resources for the continued functioning of the operational presence in Cambodia of the Office of the High Commissioner and to enable the Special Representative to continue to fulfil his tasks expeditiously;
- 2. Welcomes the report of the Secretary-General on the role and achievements of the Office of the High Commissioner in assisting the Government and people of Cambodia in the promotion and protection of human rights (E/CN.4/2001/102);
- 3. Also welcomes the report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for human rights in Cambodia (E/CN.4/2001/103), commends the Government of Cambodia for its openness and spirit of cooperation during the visits of the Special Representative and encourages the Government to continue its cooperation at all levels of government, and supports the Special Representative's appeal to increase international assistance to Cambodia and to continue working towards the reduction of poverty;
- 4. Requests the Government of Cambodia and the Office of the High Commissioner to sign without further delay the memorandum of understanding for the extension of the agreement for the implementation of the mandate of the office in Cambodia of the High Commissioner after March 2000, notes with regret the delays thus far encountered in the process, and encourages the Government of Cambodia to continue to cooperate with the office;
- 5. Notes with appreciation the use by the Secretary-General of the United Nations Trust Fund for a Human Rights Education Programme in Cambodia to finance the programme of activities of the office in Cambodia of the High Commissioner, as defined in resolutions of the

General Assembly and the Commission, and invites Governments, intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, foundations and individuals to consider contributing to the Trust Fund;

II. ADMINISTRATIVE, LEGISLATIVE AND JUDICIAL REFORM

- 6. Notes with concern the continued problems related to the rule of law and the functioning of the judiciary, inter alia, through corruption, including interference by the executive with the independence of the judiciary, welcomes the Government's continued commitment to reform the judiciary, commends its current efforts to prepare the laws and codes that are essential components of the basic legal framework, and urges the Government to continue to take the necessary measures to promote the independence and impartiality of the Supreme Council of the Magistracy and the judicial system as a whole;
- 7. Urges the Government of Cambodia to continue to take the necessary measures to develop an independent, impartial and effective judicial system, including through the early adoption of the draft statute on magistrates, a penal code, a code on criminal procedures, a new civil code and a code of civil procedure, the reform of the administration of justice and enhancing the training of judges and lawyers, and appeals to the international community to assist the Government to this end;
- 8. *Welcomes* the adoption of the Governance Action Plan by the Government of Cambodia, encourages its early implementation, and appeals to the international community to assist the Government in its efforts to implement the Plan;
- 9. Expresses serious concern about the continuing situation of impunity in Cambodia, recognizes the commitment and efforts of the Government of Cambodia to respond to this problem, calls upon the Government of Cambodia to take further measures, as a matter of critical priority, to investigate urgently and prosecute, in accordance with due process of law and international human rights standards, all those who have perpetrated serious crimes, including violations of human rights, and encourages the international community to provide means, such as technical assistance or expertise, to help the Government meet its own commitments to bring perpetrators to justice more effectively;
- 10. Notes with interest the efforts by the Government of Cambodia with regard to the review and the stated commitment to the downsizing of the police and the military, welcomes the adoption of the White Paper on National Defence, encourages the Government to implement it and to continue carrying out effective reform, including continued downsizing, aimed at professional and impartial police and military forces, and invites the international community to continue to assist the Government to this end;
- 11. Welcomes the enactment of the Law on the Administration of the Communes/Sangkat and the Law on the Election of the Communes/Sangkat Council, recognizes and stresses the importance of independent and transparent functioning of the

National Election Committee, urges the Government of Cambodia to conduct free and fair communal elections, which are scheduled for 3 February 2002, and encourages the international community to assist the Government to this end;

12. Notes with serious concern the prison conditions in Cambodia, notes with interest some important efforts to improve the prison system, recommends the continuation of international assistance to improve the material conditions of detention, and calls upon the Government of Cambodia to take further measures to improve prison conditions, especially with regard to solving the problem of overcrowding, providing the minimum standard of food and health care and meeting the special needs of women and children, including through strengthening of the coordinating role of the Prison Health Department with the Ministry of Health, provincial authorities and non-governmental organizations working in this field;

III. HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS AND VIOLENCE

- 13. Expresses grave concern about the continued violations of human rights, including torture, excessive pre-trial detention, violation of labour rights and forced evictions, as well as the apparent lack of protection from mob killings as described in the report of the Special Representative, and notes some progress made by the Government of Cambodia in addressing these issues;
- 14. Notes with concern the continued reports of violence and intimidation related to political activity as described in the report of the Special Representative, welcomes the investigations by the Cambodian authorities into some cases of violence and urges the Government to undertake further investigations, in line with its stated commitments, and to take appropriate measures to prevent violence and intimidation related to political activity in the future, particularly in the run-up to the communal elections;
- 15. *Urges* an end to racial violence against and vilification of ethnic minorities, including the ethnic Vietnamese, and also urges the Government of Cambodia to take all steps to prevent such violence, as well as to meet its obligations as a party to the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, *inter alia* by seeking technical assistance;

IV. THE KHMER ROUGE TRIBUNAL

16. Reaffirms that the most serious human rights violations in Cambodia in recent history have been committed by the Khmer Rouge, welcomes the final collapse of the Khmer Rouge, which has paved the way for the restoration of peace, stability and national reconciliation in Cambodia and the investigation and prosecution of the leaders of the Khmer Rouge, and notes with interest the steps taken by the Government of Cambodia in bringing to justice the Khmer Rouge leaders most responsible for the most serious violations of human rights;

17. Welcomes the progress towards the adoption by the Parliament of a draft law on the establishment of extraordinary chambers in the courts of Cambodia for the prosecution of crimes committed during the period of Democratic Kampuchea, urges the Government of Cambodia to complete the remaining necessary procedures without delay to enable the extraordinary chambers to be established and start functioning, appeals strongly to the Government to ensure that the Khmer Rouge leaders are brought to account in accordance with international standards of justice, fairness and due process of law, encourages the Government to continue to cooperate with the United Nations on this issue, and welcomes the efforts of the Secretariat and the international community in assisting the Government to this end;

V. LABOUR RIGHTS, AND PROTECTION OF WOMEN AND CHILDREN

- 18. *Welcomes* the creation of an inter-ministerial commission to receive labour complaints and the steps taken by the Government of Cambodia to establish a labour monitoring team, and notes with interest the training programmes on the Cambodian Labour Code and labour rights for government labour inspectors;
- 19. Also welcomes the progress made under the five-year action plan by the Government of Cambodia, in particular by the Ministry of Women's and Veterans' Affairs, to improve the status of women, and urges the Government of Cambodia to continue to take appropriate measures to eliminate all forms of discrimination against women, to combat violence against women in all its forms, *inter alia*, trafficking and sexual exploitation, and to take all steps to meet its obligations as a party to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, including by seeking technical assistance;
- 20. Requests the Government of Cambodia to continue to address the problems of trafficking and sexual exploitation of children, to improve their health conditions and access to education, to provide and promote free and accessible birth registration and to establish an adequate juvenile justice system, commends the efforts of the Cambodian National Council for Children in preparing a workshop to follow up the concluding observations of the Committee on the Rights of the Child, and invites the international community to continue to assist the Government to this end;
- 21. Notes with serious concern the problem of child labour in its worst forms, calls upon the Government of Cambodia to ensure adequate health and safety conditions for children and to outlaw, in particular, the worst forms of child labour, invites the International Labour Organization to continue to extend the necessary assistance in this regard, and encourages the Government of Cambodia to consider ratifying the 1999 Convention concerning the prohibition and immediate action for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour (No. 182) of the International Labour Organization;

VI. ENHANCEMENT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

22. Recognizes the importance of human rights education and training in Cambodia, commends the efforts of the Government of Cambodia, the Office of the High Commissioner

and civil society in this field, encourages further strengthening and wider dissemination of these programmes, and invites the international community to continue to assist these efforts;

- 23. Commends the vital and valuable role played by non-governmental organizations in Cambodia, inter alia in the development of civil society, and encourages the Government of Cambodia to ensure the protection of those human rights organizations and their members and to continue to work closely and cooperatively with non-governmental organizations in efforts to strengthen and uphold human rights in Cambodia, particularly in the run-up to the communal elections;
- 24. *Notes with interest* the activities undertaken by the governmental Cambodian Human Rights Committee, the National Assembly Commission on Human Rights and Reception of Complaints and the Senate Commission on Human Rights and Reception of Complaints, and stresses the importance of further promoting trust in those institutions;
- 25. Encourages the Government of Cambodia in its efforts for the establishment of an independent national mechanism for the promotion and protection of human rights, which should be based on the Principles relating to the status of national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights, known as the Paris Principles, working in close cooperation with civil society, and requests the Office of the High Commissioner to continue to provide advice and technical assistance in these efforts;
- 26. Requests the Government of Cambodia to follow up the recommendations made by the international human rights treaty bodies regarding the reports submitted by the Government of Cambodia, calls upon the Government to meet its reporting obligations under all international human rights instruments to which Cambodia is a party, and requests the office in Cambodia of the High Commissioner to continue to provide assistance in this regard;

VII. LANDMINES AND SMALL ARMS

- 27. Expresses grave concern at the devastating consequences and destabilizing effects of the use of anti-personnel landmines on Cambodian society, encourages the Government of Cambodia to continue its support and efforts for the removal of those mines and for victim assistance and mine awareness programmes, and commends donor countries and other actors of the international community for their contributions and assistance to mine action;
- 28. Expresses concern about the large number of small arms in society, commends the efforts of the Government of Cambodia, with the cooperation of the international community, to control their spread and reduce their number in society, and encourages the Government to cooperate in regional initiatives and United Nations efforts to reduce the circulation of illicit small arms;

VIII. CONCLUSION

29. *Requests* the Secretary-General to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on the role and achievements of the Office of the High Commissioner

in assisting the Government and the people of Cambodia in the promotion and protection of human rights and on the recommendations made by the Special Representative on matters within his mandate;

30. Decides to continue its consideration of the situation of human rights in Cambodia at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda item entitled "Advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights".

79th meeting 25 April 2001 [Adopted without a vote. See chap. XIX.]

B. Decisions

2001/101. Organization of work

At its 2nd meeting, on 20 March 2001, the Commission on Human Rights decided, without a vote, to invite the following persons to participate in its meetings:

- (a) In connection with item 5: Mr. E. Bernales Ballesteros, Special Rapporteur on the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination;
- (b) In connection with item 6: Mr. M. Glèlè-Ahanhanzo, Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance;
- (c) In connection with item 6: Ms. C. Braslavsky, Sheikh S. Ben Sheikh, Mr. D. Peccoud, Mr. A. Ridgeway, Ms. N. Sadik and Archbishop D. Tutu, panelists in the special debate on tolerance and respect;
- (d) In connection with item 7: Mr. M.-S. Dembri, Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Open-ended working group established to monitor and review progress made in the promotion and implementation of the right to development;
- (e) In connection with item 7: Mr. A. Sengupta, independent expert on the right to development;
- (f) In connection with item 8: Mr. J. Dugard, Mr. R. Falk and Mr. K. Hossain, members of the Human Rights Inquiry Commission established pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution S-5/1 of 19 October 2000;
- (g) In connection with item 8: Mr. G. Giacomelli, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied by Israel since 1967;
- (h) In connection with item 9: Mr. G. Gallón, Special Representative of the Commission to monitor the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea;
- (*i*) In connection with item 9: Mr. M. Copithorne, Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran;
- (*j*) In connection with item 9: Mr. J. Dienstbier, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro);
- (k) In connection with item 9: Mr. G. Baum, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Sudan;

- (*l*) In connection with item 9: Mr. R. Garretón, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo;
- (m) In connection with item 9: Mr. K. Hossain, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan;
- (n) In connection with item 9: Mr. P. S. Pinheiro, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Myanmar;
- (*o*) In connection with item 9: Mr. M. Moussalli, Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Rwanda;
- (p) In connection with item 9: Ms. M.-T. Kéita-Bocoum, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Burundi;
- (q) In connection with item 9: Mr. A. Mavrommatis, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Iraq;
- (r) In connection with item 9 (b): Mr. F. Yimer, Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group on Communications of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights; representatives of States in respect of which situations were being considered under item 9 (b);
- (s) In connection with item 10: Mr. F. Cheru, independent expert on the effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights;
- (t) In connection with item 10: Mr. J. Ziegler, Special Rapporteur on the right to food;
- (u) In connection with item 10: Ms. F. Z. Ouhachi-Vesely, Special Rapporteur on the adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights;
- (v) In connection with item 10: Mr. M. Kothari, Special Rapporteur on adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living and on the right to non-discrimination;
- (w) In connection with item 10: Ms. A.-M. Lizin, independent expert on the question of human rights and extreme poverty;
- (x) In connection with item 10: Ms. K. Tomasevski, Special Rapporteur on the right to education;
- (y) In connection with item 11 (a): Mr. K. Sibal, Chairperson of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention;

- (z) In connection with item 11 (a): Sir Nigel S. Rodley, Special Rapporteur on the question of torture;
- (aa) In connection with item 11 (a): Ms. E. Odio Benito, Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Open-ended working group on a draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment;
- (bb) In connection with item 11 (a) and (b): Mr. I. Tosevski, Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances and member of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture;
- (cc) In connection with item 11 (b): Ms. A. Jahangir, Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions;
- (*dd*) In connection with item 11 (*c*): Mr. A. Hussain, Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression;
- (ee) In connection with item 11 (d): Mr. P. Cumaraswamy, Special Rapporteur on the independence of judges and lawyers;
- (ff) In connection with item 11 (e): Mr. A. Amor, Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance;
- (gg) In connection with item 12: Ms. D. Simonovic, Chairperson of the Commission on the Status of Women;
- (*hh*) In connection with item 12 (*a*): Ms. R. Coomaraswamy, Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences;
- (ii) In connection with item 13: Ms. O. Calcetas-Santos, Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography;
- (*jj*) In connection with item 13: Mr. O.A. Otunnu, Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children;
- (kk) In connection with item 14 (a): Ms. G. Rodríguez Pizarro, Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants;
- (11) In connection with item 14 (c): Mr. F.M. Deng, Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons;
- (*mm*) In connection with item 14 (*d*): Swami Agnivesh, Chairperson of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund on Contemporary Forms of Slavery;
- (nn) In connection with item 15: Mr. L.E. Chavez, Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group on a draft United Nations declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples;

- (*oo*) In connection with item 15: Ms. V. Tauli-Corpuz, Chairperson of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Indigenous Populations;
- (pp) In connection with item 15: Mr. M. Dodson, Chairperson of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People;
- (qq) In connection with item 16: Ms. I.A. Motoc, Chairperson of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights at its fifty-second session;
- (rr) In connection with item 17 (b): Ms. H. Jilani, Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the situation of human rights defenders;
- (ss) In connection with item 19: Mr. P. Leuprecht, Special Representative of the Secretary-General for human rights in Cambodia;
- (tt) In connection with item 19: Ms. L.I. Takla, Chairperson of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Technical Cooperation in the Field of Human Rights;
- (*uu*) In connection with item 19: Mr. A. Dieng, independent expert on the situation of human rights in Haiti.

[See chap. III.]

2001/102. Question of human rights in Cyprus

At its 69th meeting, on 20 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights decided, without a vote, to retain on its agenda sub-item (a), entitled "Question of human rights in Cyprus", of the item entitled "Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world" and to give it due priority at its fifty-eighth session, it being understood that action required by previous resolutions of the Commission on the subject would continue to remain operative, including the request to the Secretary-General to submit a report to the Commission regarding their implementation.

[See chap. IX.]

2001/103. The Social Forum

At its 71st meeting, on 23 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/6 of 17 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, decided, without a vote, to authorize the Sub-Commission to hold a forum on economic, social and cultural rights, to be known as the Social Forum, with the participation of members of the Sub-Commission during its fifty-third session, taking into consideration equitable geographical representation and expertise in the field.

[See chap. X.]

2001/104. Promotion of the realization of the right to drinking water and sanitation

At its 71st meeting, on 23 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/8 of 17 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, decided, without a vote, to request the Sub-Commission to review at its fifty-third session the terms of reference for the proposed study on the relationship between the enjoyment of economic, social and cultural rights and the promotion of the realization of the right to drinking water supply and sanitation, and also to review the level of United Nations support requested for such a study.

[See chap. X.]

2001/105. Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms

At its 72nd meeting, on 23 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, recalling the requests contained in paragraphs 2 and 3 of its resolution 2000/41 of 20 April 2000 and taking into account the note by the secretariat (E/CN.4/2001/61) in that regard, decided, without a vote, to request the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to hold a consultative meeting in Geneva for all interested Governments, intergovernmental organizations and non-governmental organizations in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council, using available resources, with a view to finalizing the "Basic principles and guidelines on the right to a remedy and reparation for victims of violations of international human rights and humanitarian law" annexed to the final report of the independent expert on the right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms (E/CN.4/2000/62), on the basis of the comments submitted, and to transmit to the Commission for consideration at its fifty-eighth session the final outcome of the consultative meeting.

The Commission also decided to consider this matter at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda sub-item entitled "Independence of the judiciary, administration of justice, impunity".

[See chap. XI.]

2001/106. Creation of a pre-sessional working group on the administration of justice of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

At its 75th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/5 of 17 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, decided to authorize the Sub-Commission to convene a working group on the administration of justice during its fifty-third session.

[See chap. XI.]

2001/107. Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child

At its 75th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/10 of 17 August 2000, of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, decided, without a vote, to approve the decision contained in that resolution and recommended to the Economic and Social Council the following draft decision for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 41.]

[See chap. XII.]

2001/108. Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices

At its 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/13 of 17 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, decided, without a vote, to approve the request contained in that resolution and recommended to the Economic and Social Council the following draft decision for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 42.]

[See chap. XIV.]

2001/109. Report of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

At its 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/19 of 18 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, decided, without a vote, to approve the decision contained in that resolution and recommended to the Economic and Social Council the following draft decision for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 43.]

[See chap. XIV.]

2001/110. Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

At its 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/14 of 17 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and of paragraph 216 of the report of the Working Group on Indigenous Populations on its eighteenth session (E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/24), decided, without a vote, to recommend that the Economic and Social Council authorize the former Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group, Ms. Erica-Irene Daes, to continue to participate in all meetings in preparation for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance and in the World Conference itself, and to authorize the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the eighteenth session of the Working Group, Mr. Miguel Alfonso Martínez, to participate in the World Conference.

[See chap. XV.]

2001/111. Science and the environment

At its 77th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, noting the forthcoming World Summit on Sustainable Development, to be held in Johannesburg, South Africa, in September 2002, recalling its resolutions 1993/90 of 10 March 1993, 1994/65 of 9 March 1994 and 1995/14 of 24 February 1995 and bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 55/199 of 20 December 2000 on the ten-year review of progress achieved in the implementation of the outcome of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, held at Rio de Janeiro in June 1992, decided, without a vote, to invite the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and the Executive Director of the United Nations Environment Programme to consider taking into account their respective approved work programmes and budgets, the organization of a joint seminar, to be funded through voluntary contributions, to review and assess progress achieved since the Conference in promoting and protecting human rights in relation to environmental questions and in the framework of Agenda 21 (A/CONF.151/26/Rev.1, Vol. 1 and Corr.1, resolution 1, annex II), in collaboration with the concerned international institutions and agencies and taking into account the views of concerned States, and to consider this question at its fifty-eighth session under sub-item (d), "Science and environment", of the agenda item entitled "Promotion and protection of human rights".

[See chap. XVII.]

2001/112. Fundamental standards of humanity

At its 77th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, recalling its resolution 2000/69 of 26 April 2000 and taking note of the report of the Secretary-General on fundamental standards of humanity (E/CN.4/2001/91), decided, without a vote, to consider the question of fundamental standards of humanity at its fifty-eighth session and to request the Secretary-General, in consultation with the International Committee of the Red Cross, to submit a further report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, covering relevant developments.

[See chap. XVII.]

2001/113. Reservations to human rights treaties

At its 78th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/26 of 18 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, and bearing in mind its decision 2000/108 of 26 April 2000, decided, without a vote, to request the Sub-Commission to reconsider its request in the light of the work under way by the International Law Commission.

[See chap. XVII.]

2001/114. Observance of the human rights and fundamental freedoms contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights by States which are not parties to the International Covenants on Human Rights

At its 78th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking note of resolution 2000/23 of 18 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights concerning the request for the convening of a seminar on this subject, decided, without a vote, that the Sub-Commission should reconsider its request in the light of the developments in its work.

[See chap. XVII.]

2001/115. Human rights and human responsibilities

At its 78th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, recalling paragraph 2 of its resolution 2000/63 of 26 April 2000 and taking note of decision 2000/111

of 18 August 2000 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, decided, by a roll-call vote of 34 votes to 14, with 4 abstentions, to recommend to the Economic and Social Council the following draft decision for adoption:

[For the text, see chap. I, draft decision 46.]

[See chap. XVII.]

2001/116. Postponement of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91 and the proposed amendments thereto (E/CN.4/2001/L.104)

At its 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights decided, without a vote, to postpone consideration of the draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91 entitled "Human rights and thematic procedures" and the proposed amendments thereto (E/CN.4/2001/L.104) until its fifty-eighth session.

[See chap. XVIII.]

2001/117. Dates of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights

At its 80th meeting, on 27 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, recalling decision 1994/297 of 29 July 1994 of the Economic and Social Council, and taking account of Council decision 1997/291 of 22 July 1997, decided, without a vote, that the fifty-eighth session of the Commission would be held from 18 March to 26 April 2002.

[See chap. III.]

2001/118. Organization of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights

At its 80th meeting, on 27 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, taking into account its heavy schedule of work, as well as the need to give adequate consideration to all the items on its agenda, and recalling that in previous years the Economic and Social Council had approved the Commission's requests for additional meetings for its thirty-seventh to fifty-seventh sessions, decided, without a vote:

(a) To recommend to the Council that it authorize, if possible from within existing financial resources, 35 fully serviced additional meetings, including summary records, in accordance with rules 29 and 31 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, for the Commission's fifty-eighth session;

(b) To request the Chairperson of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission to make every effort to organize the work of the session within the times normally allotted, so that the additional meetings that the Council might authorize would be utilized only if they proved to be absolutely necessary.

[See chap. III.]

2001/119. Question of resources for the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

At its 80th meeting, on 27 April 2001, the Commission on Human Rights, recalling its resolutions 1998/83 of 24 April 1998, 1999/54 of 27 April 1999 and 2000/1 of 7 April 2000, and wishing to associate itself with the strong message delivered by numerous dignitaries at its fifty-seventh session that adequate budgetary resources are a necessary prerequisite if the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights is to carry out its responsibilities and mandates as established by Member States, decided, without a vote, to renew its appeal to the Economic and Social Council and the General Assembly that additional resources be allocated to the Office in order to ensure that it receives the necessary financial, material and personnel resources commensurate with its increasing tasks.

[See chap. III.]

III. Organization of the work of the session

A. Opening and duration of the session

- 1. The Commission on Human Rights held its fifty-seventh session at the United Nations Office at Geneva from 19 March to 27 April 2001. It held 80 meetings (see E/CN.4/2001/SR.1-80) during the session.^a
- 2. The session was opened by Mr. Shambhu Ram Simkhada, Chairperson of the Commission at its fifty-sixth session, who made a statement.
- 3. At the 1st meeting, on 19 March 2001, Ms. Mary Robinson, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, made a statement.

B. Attendance

4. The session was attended by representatives of States members of the Commission, by observers for other States Members of the United Nations, by observers for non-member States and Palestine and by representatives of the specialized agencies, regional intergovernmental organizations, other entities, national human rights organizations and non-governmental organizations. An attendance list is given in annex II to the present report.

C. Election of officers

5. At its 1st meeting, the Commission elected the following officers by acclamation:

Chairperson: Mr. Leandro Despouy (Argentina)

Vice-Chairpersons: Ms. Najat Al-Hajjaji (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya)

Ms. Anda-Cristina Filip (Romania)

Mr. Álvaro de Mendonça e Moura (Portugal)

Rapporteur: Mr. Imtiaz Hussain (Pakistan)

D. Agenda

6. Also at its 1st meeting, the Commission had before it the provisional agenda of the fifty-seventh session (E/CN.4/2001/1 and Add.1 and Add.1/Corr.1), drawn up, in accordance with rule 5 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, on the basis of the provisional agenda considered by the Commission at its fifty-sixth session in accordance with paragraph 3 of Economic and Social Council resolution 1894 (LVII) of 1 August 1974.

^a Summary records of each of the meetings are subject to correction. They are considered final with the issuance of a consolidated corrigendum (E/CN.4/2001/SR.1-80/Corrigendum).

7. The agenda was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see annex I to the present report.

E. Organization of work

- 8. At its 2nd meeting, on 20 March 2001, the Commission considered the organization of its work.
- 9. For the documents of the fifty-seventh session issued under agenda item 3, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V to the present report.
- 10. Also at its 2nd meeting, on the recommendation of its officers, the Commission decided to invite a number of experts, special rapporteurs, special representatives, chairpersons-rapporteurs of working groups and other persons to participate in the meetings at which their reports were to be considered.
- 11. The decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/101.
- 12. At the same meeting, the Commission approved the timetable for the consideration of agenda items as proposed by its officers.
- 13. At its 2nd and subsequent meetings, the Commission accepted the recommendations of its officers regarding the conduct of business.

Speaking time and other arrangements

- 14. With regard to speaking time and arrangements, it was agreed that members of the Commission should be entitled to one statement of 10 minutes or two statements of 5 minutes per agenda item and all observers (Governments, intergovernmental organizations, specialized agencies and non-governmental organizations) to one statement of 5 minutes per item.
- 15. It was also agreed that each non-governmental organization should be entitled to not more than six statements per session. With regard to joint statements by non-governmental organizations, the following timing was proposed: 1 or 2 non-governmental organizations: 5 minutes; 3 to 5 non-governmental organizations: 7 minutes; 6 to 10 non-governmental organizations: 10 minutes; more than 10 non-governmental organizations: 12 minutes.
- 16. It was also agreed that under the agenda items concerning economic, social and cultural rights (item 10) and civil and political rights (item 11), two additional minutes might be given, at the discretion of the Chairperson, for oral statements by States members of the Commission and all observers, including non-governmental organizations.
- 17. It was further agreed that non-governmental organizations making joint statements might request to speak prior to non-governmental organizations speaking individually. In view of the limitation of six statements per non-governmental organization per session, participation by a

non-governmental organization in a joint statement would count as one third of a normal statement. When a non-governmental organization which had participated in a joint statement opted, in addition, to speak individually under the same agenda item, that would count as one third of a normal statement within the limit of six to which each non-governmental organization was entitled and such a statement should not exceed $2\frac{1}{2}$ minutes (i.e. one half of the time normally allotted). All non-governmental organizations participating in joint statements should be duly accredited as participants at the session concerned.

"Concerned countries"

18. The Commission also agreed that members of the Commission and observer States that were the subject of specific Commission reports or which were considered by the officers to be "concerned countries" would be given an additional5 minutes over and above their normal speaking time under the relevant item.

Special procedures

19. Concerning statements by special rapporteurs/representatives/independent experts/chairpersons of working groups, it was agreed that they would be entitled to an introductory (initial) statement of 10 minutes, plus 2 additional minutes for each mission undertaken by thematic rapporteurs, and 5 minutes for their concluding remarks if they so requested. All special rapporteurs/representatives/independent experts/chairpersons of working groups were requested to be present in the conference room when their reports were being discussed and, to the extent possible, to be present throughout the consideration of the relevant agenda item(s). It was also agreed that question-and-answer sessions or briefings might be organized for special rapporteurs/representatives/independent experts/chairpersons of working groups (to be held parallel to the plenary or during the lunch hour).

Guest speakers

20. It was agreed that guest speakers (dignitaries) should limit their statements to 15 minutes, with the possibility for the Chairperson to add, at his discretion, up to 5 additional minutes.

Rights of reply

21. It was agreed that rights of reply would be limited to two replies, of 3 minutes for the first and 2 minutes for the second. All rights of reply might be exercised at the end of each meeting, at the end of the day (6 p.m.) or at the end of the general debate on any particular item.

National institutions

22. Concerning national human rights commissions (institutions) or coordinating committees of such commissions, it was agreed that they might only take the floor under the relevant agenda item (item 18 (b)) and make one statement of up to 7 minutes from special seats reserved for them. It was also agreed that copies of oral statements made by representatives of national

institutions might be circulated in the conference room during the consideration of agenda item 18 (b) and that, if requested, information or reports received from national institutions on their regional meetings might be circulated as documents of the Commission.

Introduction of draft resolutions

23. It was also agreed that the introduction of draft resolutions by one of the sponsors should be limited to up to 5 minutes.

List of speakers

24. It was agreed that the list of speakers should be opened at the beginning of the session for all participants for inscription under all agenda items. Speakers should be inscribed on three separate lists: for members, for observers and for non-governmental organizations, and should always speak in that order. It was also agreed that delegations which inscribed themselves on the list of speakers should take the floor when their turn came. Changing places on the list of speakers would only be possible through a mutually agreed change ("switch") with another interested delegation belonging to the same category of participants, i.e. members, observer Governments, or non-governmental organizations. Non-governmental organizations inscribed on the list of speakers whose representatives were absent when their turn came to take the floor would not be allowed to take the floor under the agenda item in question. The closure of the list of speakers on any particular item(s) should be announced by the Chairperson in good time.

Draft resolutions and decisions

25. With regard to draft resolutions and decisions, it was agreed that they should be submitted, with due respect for editorial and other requirements, at least three working days before the date on which they were scheduled to be put to a vote. It was also agreed that the deadline for submission of draft resolutions be set by the Chairperson in consultation with the officers and announced in good time. Only in very exceptional cases would deadlines for the submission of draft resolutions be extended.

Quorum

26. Concerning the quorum, it was agreed that the Commission would normally dispense with the requirement of a quorum, except for meetings at which a vote was taken.

Points of order

27. With regard to points of order, the Commission agreed to continue to apply the ruling made by the Chairperson of its fifty-fifth session giving the observer for Palestine the right to raise points of order "relating to Palestinian and Middle East issues", provided that the right to raise such a point of order did not include the right to challenge a decision by the presiding officer. The right to raise points of order was also extended to representatives of States Members of the United Nations not members of the Commission on Human Rights but participating in its

work in an observer capacity. The Commission also accepted the recommendation of its officers to continue to apply the ruling made by the Chairperson of its fifty-fourth session that recourse to points of order as a means of interrupting guest speakers would not be allowed.

Draft proposals emanating from the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

28. It was also agreed that all draft proposals emanating from the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights should be considered under the relevant agenda items of the Commission.

Written statements submitted by non-governmental organizations

29. With regard to the written statements submitted by non-governmental organizations, it was agreed that all such statements submitted in sufficient time before the session should be circulated in the three working languages. Those statements which were not submitted on time might initially be circulated in their original language(s) only. They would be translated into the other working languages as soon as technically feasible, in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolution 1996/31 of 25 July 1996.

Agenda items 3 and 4

30. With regard to agenda item 3, entitled "Organization of the work of the session", and item 4, entitled "Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and follow-up to the World Conference on Human Rights", it was agreed that those items should remain open throughout the session.

Accreditation

- 31. With regard to national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights, the practice of the Commission was confirmed according to which the representatives of such institutions were accredited by the secretariat as observers for the entire session of the Commission or less, on the basis of letters received from their respective institutions. The representatives of such institutions would be given the floor under agenda item 18 (*b*) irrespective of whether their particular institutions had been accredited by the Credentials Committee of the International Coordinating Committee on National Institutions as having fulfilled the elements spelled out in the "Paris Principles", welcomed by General Assembly resolution 48/134 of 2 December 1993.
- 32. With regard to the accreditation of non-governmental organizations, the practice has been confirmed that, pursuant to the Economic and Social Council resolution 1996/31, it is up to the non-governmental organizations themselves to designate authorized representatives to participate as observers in public meetings of the Commission on Human Rights.
- 33. The practice of so-called "multiple representation", when several non-governmental organizations are represented in the Commission by the same person, has also been confirmed.

Other rules

- 34. It was confirmed that non-governmental organizations were not permitted to distribute documents, pamphlets or any other material in the conference room. All serious violations of that rule would be brought to the attention of the officers of the Commission.
- 35. The Commission accepted the recommendation of its officers that the Chairperson might, in cases where he deemed it appropriate, call on the members of the Commission and all participants in its work to ensure that the work was carried out in an orderly manner and in conditions of mutual respect.
- 36. In the general debate on agenda item 3, statements were made by members of the Commission and observers. For a list of speakers, see annex III.

Situation of human rights in Colombia

- 37. At the 59th meeting, on 17 April 2001, Ms. Mary Robinson, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, introduced her report on the situation of human rights in Colombia (E/CN.4/2001/15).
- 38. At the same meeting, statements were made by members of the Commission and non-governmental organizations. The list of speakers appears in annex III to the present report.
- 39. At the 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Chairperson, on behalf of the Commission, made a statement concerning the situation of human rights in Colombia. For the text, see paragraph 54 below.

Question of resources for the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

- 40. At the 80th meeting, on 27 April 2001, the Chairperson orally proposed a draft decision concerning the question of resources for the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights.
- 41. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text of the decision as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/119.

F. Meetings, resolutions and documentation

- 42. As indicated in paragraph 1 above, the Commission held 80 fully serviced meetings, including 27 additional meetings, authorized by Economic and Social Council decision 1996/295 of 24 July 1996.
- 43. The resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session are contained in chapter II of the present report. Draft decisions for action by the Economic and Social Council are set out in chapter I. For a list of resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V to the present report.

- 44. Annex III contains a list of speakers in the general debate on agenda items 3 to 20.
- 45. Annex IV contains a statement regarding the administrative and programme budget implications of resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session.
- 46. Annex VI contains a list of documents issued for the fifty-seventh session of the Commission.

G. Visits

- 47. During its fifty-seventh session, the Commission heard statements by the following guest speakers:
- (a) At the 2nd meeting, on 20 March 2001: Ms. Željka Antunović, Deputy Prime Minister of Croatia; Mr. Paskal Milo, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Albania; Mr. Mohamed Auajjar, Minister for Human Rights of Morocco, in connection with whose statement a statement in exercise of the right of reply was made by the representative of Algeria, followed by a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply made by the observer for Morocco; Mr. Jorge Castañeda, Secretary of Foreign Relations of Mexico; Mr. Datuk Seri Syed Hamid Albar, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Malaysia; Ms. Anna Lindh, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Sweden (on behalf of the European Union; Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement); Mr. Oulai Siene, Minister of Justice and Public Liberty of Côte d'Ivoire;
- (b) At the 3rd meeting, on 20 March 2001: Mr. Jaime Gama, Minister of State and for Foreign Affairs of Portugal;
- (c) At the 4th meeting, on 21 March 2001: Mr. Serguei A. Ordzhonikidze, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Russian Federation; Mr. Ruud Lubbers, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees; Mr. Ignac Golob, State Secretary at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Slovenia; Mr. Michael Melchior, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of Israel, in connection with whose statement statements in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply were made by the observers for Lebanon and Palestine, followed by a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply by the observer for Israel; Ms. Kaori Maruya, Parliamentary Secretary for Foreign Affairs of Japan;
- (d) At the 5th meeting, on 21 March 2001: Ms. N. C. Dlamini-Zuma, Minister for Foreign Affairs of South Africa; Mr. Louis Michel, Deputy Prime Minister and Minister for Foreign Affairs of Belgium; Mr. Bonaventure Chibamba Mutale, Attorney-General of Zambia; Mr. Amos Wako, Attorney-General of Kenya;
- (e) At the 6th meeting, on 22 March 2001: Mr. Martin Palouš, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Czech Republic; Mr. Oskaras Jusys, Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs of Lithuania; Mr. Igor Rogov, Minister of Justice of Kazakhstan; Mr. Josep Piqué, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Spain; Mr. John Battle, Minister of State at the Foreign and Commonwealth Office of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. At the 7th meeting, on the

same day, a statement in exercise of the right of reply was made by the representative of China, and a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply was made by the observer for Zimbabwe in connection with the statement made by Mr. John Battle; Ms. Grazyna Bernatowicz, Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs of Poland; Mr. Lubomír Fogas, Vice-Prime Minister of Slovakia;

- (f) At the 7th meeting, on 22 March 2001: Mr. Sule Lamido, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Nigeria;
- (g) At the 9th meeting, on 23 March 2001: Mr. Nguyen Tam Chien, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of Viet Nam; Mr. Guillermo Valles, Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs of Uruguay;
- (h) At the 10th meeting, on 23 March 2001: Ms. Shahida Jamil, Minister of Law, Justice and Human Rights of Pakistan, in connection with whose statement a statement in exercise of the right of reply was made by the representative of India, followed by a statement in exercise of the right of reply by the representative of Pakistan;
- (*i*) At the 14th meeting, on 27 March 2001: Mr. Agbéyomé Messan Kodjo, Prime Minister of Togo; Ms. Benita Ferrero-Waldner, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Austria; Mr. Joschka Fischer, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Germany, in connection with whose statement a statement in exercise of the right of reply was made at the 15th meeting, the same day, by the representative of China; Mr. Felipe Pérez Roque, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Cuba. In connection with the last statement, at the 15th meeting, on the same day, a statement in exercise of the right of reply was made by the representative of the United States of America, followed by a statement in exercise of the right of reply by the representative of Cuba; Mr. Diego García-Sayán Larrabure, Minister of Justice of Peru; Mr. Gustavo Bell Lemus, Vice-President of Colombia;
- (*j*) At the 15th meeting, on 27 March 2001: Mr. A. Abdullah, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Afghanistan;
- (k) At the 19th meeting, on 28 March 2001: Mr. Georges Chicoti, Vice-Minister for Foreign Affairs of Angola; Mr. Michalis Attalides, Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Cyprus, in connection with whose statement a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply was made by the observer for Turkey, followed by a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply by the observer for Cyprus;
- (*l*) At the 21st meeting, on 29 March 2001: Mr. Thorbjørn Jagland, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Norway; Mr. Milovan Blagojevič, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of Bosnia and Herzegovina; Mr. Abdurrahman Shalgem, Secretary of the General People's Committee for Foreign Liaisons and International Cooperation of the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, in connection with whose statement a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply was made by the observer for Israel; Ms. Lydie Polfer, Vice-Prime Minister and Minister for Foreign Affairs of Luxembourg;

- (*m*) At the 22nd meeting, on 29 March 2001: Mr. Pierre-Henri Imbert, Director-General of Human Rights of the Council of Europe; Mr. Eugène Nindorera, Minister of Human Rights, Institutional Reforms and Relations with the National Assembly of Burundi;
- (n) At the 25th meeting, on 30 March 2001: Mr. Moritz Leuenberger, President of the Swiss Confederation; Mr. Kofi Annan, Secretary-General of the United Nations; Mr. Jacques Chirac, President of the French Republic; Mr. Vojislav Kostunica, President of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia; Mr. Joseph Kabila, President of the Democratic Republic of the Congo; Mr. Mircea Geoana, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Romania; Mr. Nabeel Shaath, Minister of Planning and International Cooperation in the Palestinian National Authority; Mr. János Martonyi, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Hungary; Mr. Jean de Dieu Mucyo, Minister of Justice and Institutional Relations of Rwanda;
- (o) At the 28th meeting, on 2 April 2001: Mr. Surakiart Sathirathai, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Thailand; Mr. Ali Mohamed Al-Anisi, Chairperson of the Presidential Office, Vice-President of the Supreme National Committee for Human Rights of Yemen; Mr. Ali Mohamed Osman Yassin, Minister of Justice of the Sudan; Mr. Abdelouahed Belkziz, Secretary-General of the Organization of the Islamic Conference, in connection with whose statement a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply was made by the observer for Israel;
- (p) At the 32nd meeting, on 3 April 2001: Mr. Friis A. Petersen, Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark;
- (q) At the 36th meeting, on 4 April 2001: Mr. Rodolphe Adada, Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Democratic Republic of the Congo;
- (r) At the 39th meeting, on 5 April 2001: Mr. Vladimir Kalamanov, Special Representative of the President of the Russian Federation for human and civil rights and freedoms in the Republic of Chechnya;
- (s) At the 40th meeting, on 5 April 2001: Mr. Ugo Intini, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of Italy; Mr. Jozias van Aartsen, Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands;
- (t) At the 42nd meeting, on 6 April 2001: Mr. Cándido Muatetema Rivas, Prime Minister of Equatorial Guinea;
- (*u*) At the 44th meeting, on 9 April 2001: Mr. Joseph Philippe Antonio, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Haiti;
- (v) At the 47th meeting, on 10 April 2001: Mr. Boris Trajkovski, President of The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia. At the 48th meeting, on the same day, a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply was made by the observer for Albania in connection with the statement made by Mr. Trajkovski; Mr. Víctor Hugo Godoy, Secretary of State for Human Rights of Guatemala;

- (w) At the 50th meeting, on 11 April 2001: Mr. Peter Piot, Executive Director of the Joint United Nations Programme on human immunodeficiency virus and the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (UNAIDS);
- (x) At the 54th meeting, on 12 April 2001: Mr. Said Al-Sahaf, Minister for Foreign Affairs of Iraq. At the 55th meeting, on the same day, statements in exercise of the right of reply were made by the representatives of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America in connection with the statement made by Mr. Al-Sahaf, followed by a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply by the observer for Iraq;
- (y) At the 59th meeting, on 17 April 2001: Mr. Tatoul Markarian, Deputy Minister for Foreign Affairs of Armenia, in connection with whose statement a statement in exercise of the equivalent of the right of reply was made by the observer for Azerbaijan, followed by a statement in exercise of the same right by the observer for Armenia;
- (z) At the 64th meeting, on 19 April 2001: Ms. Jeannette Dethoua, High Commissioner for Human Rights of the Central African Republic.

H. Organization of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission

- 48. At the 80th meeting, on 27 April 2001, the Chairperson orally proposed a draft decision concerning the dates of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission.
- 49. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/117.
- 50. At the same meeting, the Chairperson orally proposed a draft decision concerning the organization of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission (additional meetings).
- 51. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/118.

I. Concluding remarks

- 52. At the 80th meeting, concluding remarks were made by the following speakers:
 - (a) Ms. Mary Robinson, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights;
- (b) Mr. Leandro Despouy, Chairperson of the fifty-seventh session of the Commission;
 - (c) The representative of Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States);
 - (d) The representative of Algeria (on behalf of the Group of Arab States);
 - (e) The representative of India (on behalf of the Group of Asian States);

- (f) The representative of Latvia (on behalf of the Group of Eastern European States);
- (g) The representative of Mexico (on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States);
- (h) The representative of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (on behalf of the Group of Western European and Other States).
- 53. Concluding remarks were also made by the representatives of the Russian Federation and the United States of America.

Chairperson's statement

54. During the consideration of agenda item 3, the Chairperson made a statement, the text of which reads as follows:

"Situation of human rights in Colombia

- "1. The Commission on Human Rights takes note of the willingness of the Government of Colombia to allow the office in Colombia of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to carry out its mandate and conduct its activities without any impediments. The Commission also notes the obstacles which the office has experienced in maintaining a fluid and effective dialogue with the Government on a constant and uniform basis, as well as the commitment of the Government to intensify this dialogue and work together with the office, granting it all the necessary security guarantees. The Commission urges the Government to further strengthen its efforts actively to cooperate with the office to realize the full potential of its mandate. It welcomes the analytical report of the High Commissioner on the situation of human rights in Colombia (E/CN.4/2001/15) and takes note of a document containing the observations of the Government of Colombia on that report (E/CN.4/2001/139).
- "2. The Commission firmly supports the agreement between the Government of Colombia and the High Commissioner to extend the mandate of the permanent office in Bogotá until April 2002. The Commission continues to consider that the office, which is mandated to promote and protect human rights and observe violations of human rights in the country, as well as to assist the Colombian authorities in developing policies and programmes, plays a vital role in the work against ongoing violations of human rights and international humanitarian law in Colombia. The Commission reaffirms its belief that a wider presence of the office is of utmost importance in this work and encourages the opening of field offices in Colombia.
- "3. Though progress in certain areas is to be acknowledged, the Commission strongly believes that the Government of Colombia has to take further and more effective measures to follow up and fully implement the recommendations of the office. The Commission urges the Government to undertake decisive steps to ensure the fulfilment of these recommendations. The Commission believes that further

cooperation with United Nations human rights mechanisms continues to be a valuable support in the Government's efforts to promote and protect human rights in the country.

- "4. The Commission expresses its strong support for the peace process in Colombia and notes progress in the negotiations with the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Columbia (FARC) and the National Liberation Army (ELN). The Commission further expresses its support for the efforts made to turn the peace process into a State policy. The Commission welcomes the parties' decision to involve the international community more directly in the negotiations and greatly encourages further efforts to ensure the active involvement of the civil society in the peace process. The Commission reiterates its deep concern about the lack of a permanent ceasefire and about the grave and persistent abuses of international humanitarian law, mainly by "paramilitaries" (also known as "self-defence groups" or "autodefensas") and guerrillas, which obstruct progress in the peace process. It calls upon all parties to respect international humanitarian law and, in particular, to protect the civilian population.
- "5. Considering that respect for human rights and the observance of international humanitarian law plays a key role in the process towards a sustainable peace, the Commission calls on the parties to the conflict to reach, as a priority, a comprehensive human rights and humanitarian agreement, faithfully reflecting all provisions of applicable law, including an independent mechanism of verification, as well as to address the question of how victims of the violations of human rights and international humanitarian law can be acknowledged. The Commission notes that the Government of Colombia, through its Office of the High Commissioner for Peace, has stated that it is willing to discuss specific terms of the proposal for such an agreement with the office in Colombia of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in order to make an independent evaluation of its relevance, timing and effectiveness, in the context of the dialogue with the insurgent groups.
- "6. The Commission strongly deplores the persistence of serious and frequent violations of human rights and of international humanitarian law. In particular, it condemns in unequivocal terms the serious, massive and systematic abuses and grave breaches of international humanitarian law perpetrated by paramilitary and guerrilla groups. The Commission is deeply concerned that these violations and abuses have led to a further deterioration of the human rights and humanitarian situation in Colombia. It further condemns all attacks on objects serving a medical purpose, including threats directed at medical personnel, control of health facilities and attacks on ambulance vehicles.
- "7. The Commission also strongly deplores the persistence of impunity in Colombia, especially in regard to human rights violations, and the alleged links between military and paramilitaries, which are a fundamental obstacle to the observance and implementation of human rights and international humanitarian law in the country. In this context, the Commission on Human Rights notes the Standing Inter-sectoral Commission for the Coordination and Follow-up of National Human Rights and

International Humanitarian Law Policy as well as the Presidential Programme for the Promotion, Respect and Guarantee of Human Rights and of the Application of International Humanitarian Law. The Commission calls upon the Government of Colombia to effectively follow up these initiatives in order to define and implement actions aimed at resolving the serious situation of impunity.

- "8. The Commission notes Law No. 589 criminalizing forced disappearances, genocide, forced displacement and torture, as well as the Presidential Order of August 2000 instructing all the military tribunals to comply fully with the Constitutional Court ruling regarding the exclusion of their jurisdiction over conduct related to genocide, torture and enforced disappearances and other related violations of human rights. In this context, the Commission underlines that it is important that cases of violation of human rights or infringements of international humanitarian law are tried by civilian courts and that the provisions of the new Military Code and the new Ordinary Criminal Code are interpreted and applied in conformity with the relevant international standards and with the clear criteria established by the decisions of the Colombian Constitutional Court. The Commission urges the Government of Colombia to take further effective measures to address the problem of impunity and takes note of the expressed will of the Government to ratify the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court (A/CONF.183/9).
- "9. The Commission takes note of improvements in the human rights performance of the armed forces but remains concerned at continued reports of human rights violations attributed to the armed and security forces. While the Commission notes the legal mechanisms which have led to the dismissal of military personnel in a discretionary manner, it urges the Government of Colombia to further ensure that the members of State forces against whom credible allegations exist are suspended, whilst speedy investigations are undertaken in order to bring those responsible to civilian justice.
- "10. The Commission strongly condemns all acts of terrorism and all breaches of international humanitarian law committed by the guerrilla groups, particularly killings and attacks on the civilian population. In this context the Commission also strongly condemns continued systematic kidnapping, especially abhorrent when directed at children. It remains deeply concerned at the continued use of child soldiers and anti-personnel landmines, as well as other non-conventional explosive devices, by the guerrillas. The Commission condemns the continued mass abductions and destruction of power lines by the ELN. It also condemns the killing of civilians, even in the demilitarized zone created as the legitimate scene for the negotiations, as well as the continuing kidnapping by the FARC. The Commission calls upon the guerrilla groups to respect international humanitarian law and to engage effectively in serious and concrete peace talks with the Government of Colombia and to agree upon a comprehensive human rights and humanitarian agreement in order to pave the way to a complete ceasefire and as a first step towards a peace agreement.
- "11. The Commission remains deeply concerned about the continuing grave abuses of human rights and breaches of international humanitarian law committed by the

paramilitary groups, including murder and massacres. It is also deeply concerned at reports involving members of State forces who collaborate with paramilitary groups and consent to or acquiesce in criminal acts such as killings of civilians. The Commission urges the Government of Colombia to take more effective steps to combat and suppress paramilitary groups and to step up actions against the economic networks which support them, as well as to intensify political, administrative, judicial and other appropriate measures with respect to official bodies, members of the armed forces and individuals suspected of supporting paramilitary groups. In this context, the Commission in particular urges the Government of Colombia to take prompt and effective measures after receiving "early warnings" in order to save lives and prevent crimes from being committed. The Commission is encouraged by the creation of a National Coordination Centre set up to coordinate all State activities to combat the paramilitaries in all their forms and calls upon the Government of Colombia to make sure that these and other related measures are effectively implemented and to ensure that those responsible are brought to civilian justice.

- "12. The Commission takes note of the announcement of the six-point plan put forward by the Government of Colombia in January 2001 to tackle paramilitary groups. Concrete action is now required. The Commission will closely monitor the plan's implementation by the Colombian authorities.
- "13. The Commission welcomes the signature by the Government of Colombia of the two Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict and on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, as well as the ratification of the Convention on the Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling, Production and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and on Their Destruction (2000), and encourages the Government to ratify the two Optional Protocols and implement them as soon as possible. The Commission also encourages the Government of Colombia to recognize the competence of the committees established under articles 21 and 22 of the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and under article 14 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, as well as to ratify the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women.
- "14. The Commission welcomes the invitation by the Government of Colombia to the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances and that it will invite the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression and the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the situation of human rights defenders to visit the country this year. The Commission looks forward to their reports.
- "15. The Commission strongly condemns the persistent and dramatically increasing attacks against human rights defenders, as well as trade unionists, persons working within the justice system, journalists, academics, students, professors and others exercising their freedom of expression, thus closing legitimate channels for democratic

participation. The Commission acknowledges that the Government of Colombia has taken measures to address the problem, such as the Special Protection Programme for Witnesses and Threatened Persons under the Ministry of the Interior. However, the Commission remains seriously concerned about the slow pace of judicial investigations into crimes against human rights defenders and about the limitations of administrative, security and financial resources to protect those social and human rights defenders who find themselves at risk. In this context, the Commission welcomes the Government's determination to continue its close cooperation with the Special Representative of the Director-General of the International Labour Organization for cooperation with Colombia

- "16. The Commission urges the Government of Colombia promptly to take all the necessary measures to implement effectively programme and policies, with the support of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, including to make further progress in the implementation of a national action plan, to tackle impunity and, in particular, to address concerns related to the safety of groups in need of special protection, such as human rights defenders and trade unionists.
- "17. The Commission strongly condemns all threats, attacks and killings of candidates in local elections and others involved in peaceful political activities by guerrillas and paramilitary groups. It calls upon all parties to respect those exercising their political rights. The Commission notes with appreciation the significant institutional effort of the Colombian State and Government in successfully holding local elections in October 2000, which proves once again the unfailing commitment to adhere to democratic rule.
- "18. The Commission notes with concern the concluding observations (CRC/C/15/Add.137) of the Committee on the Rights of the Child stating, *inter alia*, that the general climate of violence in Colombia is not only negatively affecting the implementation of the Convention of the Rights of the Child but has also led to systematic violations of the rights of the child. It welcomes the prohibition of recruitment of children under the age of 18 into the armed forces. The Commission firmly condemns the forcible recruitment of a large number of children into paramilitary and guerrilla groups. The Commission encourages the Government of Colombia to follow up on the recommendations made by the Committee.
- "19. The Commission deplores attacks against indigenous and Afro-Colombian communities and exhorts all actors to respect the special cultural status of minorities. It calls upon the Government of Colombia to take urgent effective steps for the improvement of the legal and physical protection of the affected groups and to develop and implement programmes that effectively address the specific needs of these exposed communities in accordance with the recommendations of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination.
- "20. The Commission takes note of the acknowledgement by the Government of Colombia of its responsibility to address the situation of the internally displaced and of the progress made in creating the relevant legal and institutional frameworks. The

Commission, however, remains deeply concerned about the deterioration of the situation of internally displaced persons in Colombia and the increase in their numbers. The Commission calls upon the Government of Colombia to urgently and effectively implement additional strategies, based on the recommendations made by the Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons after the follow-up mission to Colombia in 1999, designed to protect internally displaced persons, in particular children, and to ensure their safe return. In this regard it encourages further cooperation and coordination between the Colombian authorities, international bodies, especially Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and the International Committee of the Red Cross, and non-governmental organizations. It encourages the Government of Colombia to continue to seek effective means to eradicate the causes of displacement, assuring further concrete results, including bringing those responsible for causing displacement to justice. The Commission calls upon the Government of Colombia to implement preventive measures, including an effective system of early warning.

- "21. The Commission is also concerned over the poor prison conditions and at reports of abuses of the detainees' human rights and requests the office in Colombia of the High Commissioner for Human Rights to follow this situation with a view to providing advice and cooperation to the Colombian authorities. The Commission welcomes the visits carried out by international humanitarian organizations and emphasizes the importance of allowing them access to all detainees. It encourages the Government of Colombia to proceed with the reform of the *Código penitenciario y carcelario* (penitentiaries and jails code). It calls upon the Government to adopt measures to fulfil international standards regarding prisoners and to protect the human rights of all detainees.
- "22. The Commission requests the High Commissioner to submit to it at its next session a detailed report containing an analysis by the office in Colombia of the situation of human rights in Colombia in accordance with the agreement between the Government of Colombia and the Office of the High Commissioner on the operation of the permanent office in Bogotá."

IV. Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and follow-up to the World Conference on Human Rights

- 55. The Commission considered agenda item 4 at its 3rd meeting, on 20 March, and at its 4th and 5th meetings, on 21 March 2001.²
- 56. For the documents issued under agenda item 4, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V to the present report.
- 57. At the 3rd meeting, on 20 March 2001, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Ms. Mary Robinson, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/16).
- 58. In the general debate on agenda item 4, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

² See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

V. The right of peoples to self-determination and its application to peoples under colonial or alien domination or foreign occupation

- 59. The Commission considered agenda item 5 at its 5th meeting, on 21 March, at its 6th to 8th meetings, on 22 March, and at its 43rd meeting, on 6 April 2001.³
- 60. For the documents issued under agenda item 5, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V to the present report.
- 61. At the 6th meeting, on 22 March 2001, Mr. Enrique Bernales Ballesteros, Special Rapporteur on the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/19). At the 8th meeting, on 22 March, the Special Rapporteur made his concluding remarks.
- 62. In the general debate on agenda item 5, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Question of Western Sahara

- 63. At the 43rd meeting, on 6 April 2001, the Chairperson introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.3.
- 64. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/1.
- 65. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of her delegation's position.

Situation in occupied Palestine

- 66. Also at the 43rd meeting, the representative of Saudi Arabia introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.4, sponsored by Algeria, Bahrain, Bangladesh, China, Cuba, Egypt, Indonesia, Jordan, Kuwait, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritania, Morocco, Niger, Oman, Pakistan, Palestine, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, the Sudan, the Syrian Arab Republic, Tunisia, the United Arab Emirates and Yemen. Lebanon, Turkey and Viet Nam subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 67. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the observers for Israel and Palestine.
- 68. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Guatemala and the United States of America.

_

³ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

69. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 48 votes to 2, with 2 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Qatar,

Republic of Korea, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Guatemala, United States of America.

Abstaining: Canada, Romania.

70. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of the States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission – France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement) and Canada.

71. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/2.

The use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination

- 72. Also at the 43rd meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.5, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Cameroon, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Egypt, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gabon, Ghana, Iraq, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Nigeria, the Republic of the Congo, the Sudan, Swaziland, the Syrian Arab Republic, Togo, Tunisia, the United Republic of Tanzania, Viet Nam and Yemen. Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Equatorial Guinea, India and the Russian Federation subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 73. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁴ of the draft resolution.

⁴ Annex IV contains the estimated administrative and programme budget implications of Commission resolutions and decisions.

74. At the request of the representative of Belgium, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 35 votes to 11, with 6 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, Germany, Japan, Latvia, Norway,

Poland, Romania, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: France, Italy, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Spain.

75. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of Belgium (on behalf of the States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission – France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement).

76. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/3.

VI. Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of discrimination

- 77. The Commission considered agenda item 6 at its 8th meeting, on 22 March, at its 9th and 10th meetings, on 23 March, at its 11th to 13th meetings, on 26 March, at its 14th and 15th meetings, on 27 March, and at its 61st meeting, on 18 April 2001.⁵
- 78. For the documents issued under agenda item 6, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V to the present report.
- 79. At the 8th meeting, on 22 March 2001, a statement was read out by a member of the secretariat on behalf of Mr. Maurice Glèlè-Ahanhanzo, Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, in connection with the Special Rapporteur's report (E/CN.4/2001/21 and Corr.1).
- 80. In the general debate on agenda item 6, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Special debate on tolerance and respect

- 81. At its 11th to 13th meetings, on 26 March 2001, the Commission held a special debate on tolerance and respect.
- 82. The special debate was opened by Mr. Leandro Despouy, Chairperson of the Commission at its fifty-seventh session, who made a statement.
- 83. Ms. Mary Robinson, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, made a statement.
- 84. The debate was introduced by a panel of six key speakers:
 - (a) Archbishop Desmond Tutu, South Africa;
 - (b) Senator Aden Ridgeway, member of Parliament, Australia;
 - (c) Sheikh Sahib Ben Sheikh, Mufti of Marseille, France;
 - (d) Ms. Nafis Sadik, Under-Secretary-General and Special Adviser to the Secretary-General;
 - (e) Mr. Dominique Peccoud, Special Adviser at the Bureau for External Relations and Partnerships of the International Labour Organization;

⁵ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

- (f) Ms. Cecilia Braslavsky, Director of the International Bureau of Education of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization at Geneva.
- 85. During the special debate, statements were also made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.
- 86. In an interactive dialogue, the panel of speakers made remarks and responded to statements made.
- 87. At the end of the special debate, concluding remarks were made by the Chairperson of the Commission.

Combating defamation of religions as a means to promote human rights, social harmony and religious and cultural diversity

- 88. At the 61st meeting, on 18 April 2001, the representative of Pakistan introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.7/Rev.1, sponsored by Pakistan (on behalf of the States Members of the United Nations that are members of the Organization of the Islamic Conference).
- 89. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), Canada (also on behalf of Norway), India and the Russian Federation.
- 90. At the request of the representative of Belgium, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 28 votes to 15, with 9 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Cuba, Ecuador, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar,

Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Syrian Arab Republic,

Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Burundi, Guatemala, India, Liberia, Nigeria, Republic of Korea,

South Africa, Swaziland, Zambia.

91. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/4.

Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance

92. Also at the 61st meeting, the representative of Kenya introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.9, sponsored by Austria, Belgium, China, Cuba, Denmark, Finland, France,

Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States), Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Australia, Brazil, Canada, Costa Rica, the Czech Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Georgia, India, Indonesia, Israel, Japan, Liechtenstein, Mexico, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Norway, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia, Switzerland, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Turkey, Uruguay and Venezuela subsequently joined the sponsors.

93. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/5.

VII. The right to development

- 94. The Commission considered agenda item 7 at its 15th to 17th meetings, on 27 March, and at its 62nd meeting, on 18 April 2001.
- 95. For the documents issued under agenda item 7, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 96. At the 15th meeting, on 27 March 2001, the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Open-ended working group established to monitor and review progress made in the promotion and implementation of the right to development, Mr. Mohamed-Salah Dembri, introduced the report of the working group on its first and second sessions (E/CN.4/2001/26).
- 97. At the same meeting, the independent expert on the right to development, Mr. Arjun Sengupta, made a statement.
- 98. In the general debate on agenda item 7, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

The right to development

- 99. At the 62nd meeting, on 18 April 2001, the representative of South Africa introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.15, sponsored by Mexico and South Africa (on behalf of the States Members of the United Nations that are members of the Movement of Non-Aligned Countries and China). Brazil, Burundi, Colombia, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Haiti, Nicaragua and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 100. Paragraphs 1, 10, 21 and 22 of the draft resolution were orally revised by the representative of South Africa.
- 101. A statement in connection with the draft resolution, as orally revised, was made by the representative of Belgium (on behalf of the European Union).
- 102. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁷ of the draft resolution.
- 103. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Canada, Japan, Norway, the Republic of Korea, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America.

⁶ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

⁷ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

104. The representative of Canada proposed that a separate vote be held to delete paragraph 10 of the draft resolution. At the request of the representative of South Africa, a roll-call vote was taken on the proposal of the representative of Canada, which was rejected by 45 votes to 4, with 4 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Canada, Japan, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Against: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Portugal, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Abstaining: Norway, Poland, Republic of Korea, Romania.

105. The representative of Canada proposed that a separate vote be held to delete paragraph 21 of the draft resolution. At the request of the representative of South Africa, a roll-call vote was taken on the proposal of the representative of Canada, which was rejected by 43 votes to 6, with 4 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Canada, Germany, Japan, Poland, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Against: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the

Congo, Ecuador, France, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius,

Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Portugal, Qatar,

Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Abstaining: Latvia, Norway, Republic of Korea, Romania.

106. The representative of Canada proposed that a separate vote be held to delete paragraph 22 of the draft resolution. At the request of the representative of South Africa, a roll-call vote was taken on the proposal of the representative of Canada, which was rejected by 44 votes to 5, with 4 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Canada, Japan, Poland, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Against: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Portugal, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Abstaining: Latvia, Norway, Republic of Korea, Romania.

107. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.15 as a whole, as orally revised, which was adopted by 48 votes to 2, with 3 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Romania, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand,

Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Japan, United States of America.

Abstaining: Canada, Republic of Korea, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland.

108. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/9.

VIII. Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine

- 109. The Commission considered agenda item 8 at its 19th to 22nd meetings, on 28 and 29 March, and at its 61st meeting, on 18 April 2001.8
- 110. For the documents issued under agenda item 8, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 111. At the 19th meeting, on 28 March 2001, a statement was read out by a member of the secretariat on behalf of Mr. Giorgio Giacomelli, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied by Israel since 1967, in connection with his report (E/CN.4/2001/30).
- 112. At the same meeting, the report of the Human Rights Inquiry Commission established pursuant to Commission resolution S-5/1 of 19 October 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/121) was introduced by Mr. John Dugard and Mr. Kamal Hossain, Chairperson and member of the Inquiry Commission, respectively. At the 22nd meeting, on 29 March 2001, Mr. Richard Falk, also a member of the Inquiry Commission, made concluding remarks on its behalf.
- 113. Also at the 19th meeting, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Ms. Mary Robinson, introduced her report on her visit to the occupied Palestinian territories, Israel, Egypt and Jordan from 8 to 16 November 2000 (E/CN.4/2001/114).
- 114. In the general debate on item 8, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Human rights in the occupied Syrian Golan

- 115. At its 61st meeting, on 18 April 2001, the representative of the Syrian Arab Republic introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.6, sponsored by Algeria, Bahrain, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Egypt, Indonesia, Jordan, Kuwait, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Oman, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, the Sudan, the Syrian Arab Republic, the United Arab Emirates and Yemen. Bangladesh, Lebanon, Mauritania, Morocco and Tunisia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 116. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representative of the Syrian Arab Republic and the observer for Israel.
- 117. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of China and Guatemala.

o

⁸ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

118. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 29 votes to 2, with 21 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Burundi, China, Colombia, Cuba, Ecuador, India,

Indonesia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius,

Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Republic of Korea,

Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Guatemala, United States of America.

Abstaining: Belgium, Brazil, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, France

Germany, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland, Uruguay.

119. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement).

120. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/6.

Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine

- 121. Also at its 61st meeting, the representative of Algeria introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.30, sponsored by Algeria, Bahrain, China, Cuba, Egypt, Equatorial Guinea, Gabon, Indonesia, Jordan, Kuwait, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Mauritania, Morocco, Niger, Oman, Pakistan, Palestine, Qatar, Rwanda, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, the United Arab Emirates, Viet Nam and Yemen. Bangladesh, Madagascar, South Africa and Sudan subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 122. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Indonesia, Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States), Malaysia and Pakistan, and the observers for Israel and Palestine.
- 123. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁹ of the draft resolution.
- 124. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Guatemala and the United States of America.

_

⁹ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

125. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 28 votes to 2, with 22 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Brazil, China, Colombia, Cuba, India, Indonesia, Kenya,

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Guatemala, United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Belgium, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica,

Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Liberia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay.

126. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement), India and Japan.

127. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/7.

Israeli settlements in the occupied Arab territories

- 128. At its 61st meeting, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.31, sponsored by Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Egypt, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Jordan, Liechtenstein, Malta, Morocco, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Portugal, San Marino, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Spain, the Sudan, Sweden, Switzerland, Tunisia, Turkey and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Algeria, Ecuador, Indonesia, Japan, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malaysia, Pakistan, Qatar and Slovakia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 129. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the observers for Israel and Palestine.
- 130. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 50 votes to 1, with 1 abstention. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, China,

Colombia, Cuba, Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala,

India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia,

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Qatar,

Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal,

South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: United States of America.

Abstaining: Costa Rica.

131. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/8.

IX. Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world, including:

- (a) Question of human rights in Cyprus;
- (b) Procedure established in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolutions 1503 (XLVIII) and 2000/3
- 132. The Commission considered agenda item 9 and sub-item (*a*) at its 22nd to 24th meetings, on 29 March, at its 26th meeting, on 30 March, at its 28th to 31st meetings, on 2 April, at its 39th meeting, on 5 April, at its 43rd meeting, on 6 April, at its 44th meeting, on 9 April, at its 62nd and 63rd meetings, on 18 April, and at its 68th to 70th meetings, on 20 April 2001. Item 9 (*b*) was considered by the Commission in closed session (see paras. 235-238 below).
- 133. For the documents issued under agenda item 9, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 134. At the 22nd meeting, on 29 March 2001, the following special rapporteurs introduced their reports:
- (a) The Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan, Mr. Kamal Hossain (E/CN.4/2001/43 and Add.1);
- (b) The Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Sudan, Mr. Gerhart Baum (E/CN.4/2001/48).
- 135. At the 23rd meeting, the same day, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Ms. Mary Robinson, introduced her report on the situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation (E/CN.4/2001/36).
- 136. Also at the 23rd meeting:
- (a) The Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran, Mr. Maurice Copithorne, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/39);
- (*b*) The Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro), Mr. Jiri Dienstbier, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/47 and Add.1);
- (c) The Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Burundi, Ms. Marie-Thérèse Kéita-Bocoum, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/44);

.

¹⁰ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

- (*d*) The Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Rwanda, Mr. Michel Moussalli, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/45 and Add.1 and Add.1/Corr.1);
- (e) The Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Iraq, Mr. Andreas Mavrommatis, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/42).
- 137. At the 28th meeting, on 2 April 2001, the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Mr. Roberto Garretón, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/40 and Add.1). At the 29th meeting, on the same day, the Special Rapporteur made his concluding remarks.
- 138. Also at the 29th meeting, the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea, Mr. Gustavo Gallón, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/38).
- 139. At the 39th meeting, on 5 April 2001, Mr. Sergio Vieira de Mello, Special Representative of the Secretary-General and Transitional Administrator for East Timor, made a statement.
- 140. At the 43rd meeting, on 6 April 2001, Mr. Paulo Sérgio Pinheiro, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Myanmar, made a statement.
- 141. In the general debate on agenda item 9, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel

- 142. At the 62nd meeting, on 18 April 2001, the representative of Saudi Arabia introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.2/Rev.1, sponsored by Algeria, Bahrain, Cuba, Egypt, Indonesia, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Morocco, Oman, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, Viet Nam and Yemen. The Syrian Arab Republic and the United Arab Emirates subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 143. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the observers for Israel and Lebanon.
- 144. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement), the Republic of Korea and the United States of America.
- 145. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 33 votes to 1, with 19 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba,

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa,

Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: United States of America.

Abstaining: Belgium, Cameroon, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany,

Guatemala, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Liberia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Spain, United Kingdom

of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

146. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/10.

Situation of human rights in China

147. Also at the 62nd meeting, the representative of the United States of America introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.13, sponsored by the United States of America. The draft resolution read as follows:

"Situation of human rights in China

"The Commission on Human Rights,

"Reaffirming that all Member States have an obligation to promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms as stated in the Charter of the United Nations and as elaborated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and other human rights instruments to which they are a party,

"Mindful that China is a party to the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention on the Rights of the Child, and the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and its Protocol,

"Recognizing the significant transformation that Chinese society has undergone since the introduction of the reform policies, including the reduction of government interference in the everyday lives of most citizens, and the successful efforts of the Government of China in economic development and in reducing the numbers of Chinese living in extreme poverty, thus enhancing the enjoyment of economic and social rights,

"Taking note of the report of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions (E/CN.4/2001/9 and Corr.1 and Add.1 and 2), the report of the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture (E/CN.4/2001/66 and Add.1 and 2),

the report of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances (E/CN.4/2001/68) and the associated note by the secretariat on the subject (E/CN.4/2001/69 and Add.1), and the report of and the opinions adopted by the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention (E/CN.4/2001/14 and Add.1),

"1. Welcomes:

- "(a) The readiness of the Government of China to exchange information on human rights issues and engage in various cooperative activities in the area of human rights;
- "(b) Continued efforts to increase the transparency of the judicial system and respect for the rule of law;
- "(c) China's continued expressed intent to proceed promptly with ratification of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;
- "(d) Continuing efforts at poverty alleviation and economic development that have improved economic and social rights for many Chinese citizens;

"2. Expresses its concern:

- "(a) At continuing reports of failure to protect internationally recognized human rights and fundamental freedoms in China and, in particular, at severe restrictions on the rights of citizens to the freedoms of assembly, association, expression, conscience and religion, and due legal process and a fair trial, as well as at reports of harsh sentences for some seeking to exercise their rights;
- "(b) At increased restrictions on the exercise of cultural, linguistic, religious and other fundamental freedoms of Tibetans and others;
- "(c) At the continuing arrests and harsh sentencing during the past year of members of the China Democracy Party and others who sought to exercise their internationally recognized rights of association, expression and participation in political life;
- "(*d*) At the severe measures taken to restrict the peaceful activities of Buddhists, Muslims, Christians and others who sought to exercise their internationally recognized rights of freedom of religion or belief or conscience and of peaceful assembly;
- "(e) At the increasingly severe measures taken against adherents of movements such as Falun Gong who, in pursuing non-violent activities, sought to exercise their internationally recognized rights of freedom of conscience, belief and peaceful assembly;

- "3. *Calls upon* the Government of China:
- "(a) To ensure the observance of all human rights, including workers' rights, in accordance with its obligations under the human rights conventions to which it is a party and as a member of the International Labour Organization, and to ratify in the near future the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights;
- "(b) To take further measures to improve the impartial administration of justice and the rule of law;
- "(c) To accelerate efforts to reform, with a view to rapid elimination, the re-education through labour system and forced labour;
- "(d) To release political prisoners, including persons imprisoned for the non-violent expression of their political, religious or social views;
- "(e) To permit the peaceful activities of Buddhists, Muslims, Christians and others who seek to exercise their internationally recognized rights of freedom of religion or belief or conscience and of peaceful assembly;
- "(f) To preserve and protect the distinct cultural, ethnic, linguistic and religious identity of Tibetans and others;
- "(g) To develop, with countries or regional groupings that seek them, productive bilateral dialogues and related technical assistance programmes, with the involvement of relevant experts, with a view to reaching further positive developments before the next session of the Commission;
- "(h) To cooperate with all thematic special rapporteurs and working groups of the Commission and to give consideration to their recommendations;
- "4. Decides to continue its consideration of the situation of human rights in China at its fifty-eighth session."
- 148. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of China.
- 149. Under rule 65, paragraph 2, of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the representative of China moved that the Commission take no decision on the draft resolution
- 150. Statements in connection with that motion were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia and Poland aligned themselves with the statement), Cuba, Indonesia, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Pakistan, the Russian Federation, the Syrian Arab Republic and the United States of America.

- 151. A statement in explanation of vote before the vote on the motion was made by the representative of Canada.
- 152. At the request of the representative of China, a roll-call vote was taken on the motion, which was carried by 23 votes to 17, with 12 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Cuba, India, Indonesia, Kenya,

Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Syrian Arab Republic,

Thailand, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, France, Germany,

Guatemala, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania,

Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Mauritius, Mexico, Peru,

Republic of Korea, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Uruguay.

153. At the 63rd meeting, on 18 April 2001, a statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of Algeria.

Cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies

- 154. At the 63rd meeting, the observer for Hungary introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.14, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada, Finland, Georgia, Haiti, Hungary, Iceland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, the Republic of Korea, Romania, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Cameroon, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Equatorial Guinea, France, Germany, Guatemala, Honduras, Ireland, Liechtenstein, Nepal, Portugal, Sweden, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Turkey and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 155. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/11.

Situation of human rights in parts of South-Eastern Europe

156. At the same meeting, the representative of the United States of America introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.17, sponsored by Albania, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Kenya, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Australia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, France, Japan, New Zealand, Norway, Pakistan, Switzerland and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 157. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the observer for Yugoslavia.
- 158. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications¹¹ of the draft resolution.
- 159. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of China and the Russian Federation.
- 160. At the request of the representative of the Russian Federation, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 41 votes to none, with 11 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Canada, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Romania, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, United States of America, Venezuela.

Against: None.

Abstaining: Cameroon, China, Cuba, India, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar,

Nigeria, Russian Federation, Syrian Arab Republic, Viet Nam, Zambia.

161. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/12.

Situation of human rights in Afghanistan

- 162. Also at the 63rd meeting, the Chairperson introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.18.
- 163. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representative of Pakistan and the observer for Afghanistan.
- 164. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications¹² of the draft resolution.
- 165. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/13.

_

¹¹ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

¹² Ibid.

Situation of human rights in Iraq

- 166. At the same meeting, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.19, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Kuwait, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Bulgaria, Italy and Japan subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 167. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the observers for Iraq and Kuwait.
- 168. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications¹³ of the draft resolution.
- 169. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Algeria, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, the Russian Federation and Thailand.
- 170. At the request of the representatives of the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya and the Russian Federation, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 30 votes to 3, with 19 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Japan,

Latvia, Mauritius, Mexico, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal,

Republic of Korea, Romania, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain,

Swaziland, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

Uruguay, United States of America.

Against: Algeria, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Nigeria.

Abstaining: Burundi, Cameroon, China, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo,

India, Indonesia, Kenya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Niger, Pakistan, Qatar,

Russian Federation, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

- 171. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Indonesia, Pakistan, Qatar and the Syrian Arab Republic.
- 172. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/14.

13	Ibid.			

Situation of human rights in Myanmar

- 173. Also at the 63rd meeting, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.20, sponsored by Albania, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Italy, Liechtenstein, the Republic of Korea and the United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 174. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representative of the United States of America and the observer for Myanmar.
- 175. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications¹⁴ of the draft resolution.
- 176. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/15.

Situation of human rights in Cuba

- 177. At the same meeting, the representative of the Czech Republic introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.21, sponsored by Albania, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Israel, Latvia, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Nicaragua, Poland, Slovenia, Sweden, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Australia, Canada, Finland, Japan, Slovakia and Switzerland subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 178. The representative of the Czech Republic orally revised the draft resolution by replacing the eighth preambular paragraph of the draft resolution by a new text.
- 179. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Algeria, Belgium (on behalf of the European Union), China, Costa Rica, Cuba and the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya.
- 180. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of the Russian Federation, Thailand and Venezuela.
- 181. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution as orally revised, which was adopted by 22 votes to 20, with 10 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

14	Ibid.		

In favour: Argentina, Belgium, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, Czech Republic,

France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Madagascar, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, United States of America.

Against: Algeria, Burundi, China, Cuba, India, Indonesia, Liberia, Libyan Arab

Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Russian Federation,

Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Abstaining: Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Kenya, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Peru,

Senegal, Thailand.

182. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Argentina, Mexico, Romania and Uruguay.

- 183. At the 70th meeting, on 20 April 2001, statements were made by the representatives of Costa Rica and Cuba.
- 184. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/16.

Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran

- 185. At the 68th meeting, on 20 April 2001, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.22, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. The Czech Republic, New Zealand and Slovenia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 186. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Algeria, China, Cuba, Indonesia, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Pakistan (on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic Conference) and Thailand, and the observer for the Islamic Republic of Iran.
- 187. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications¹⁵ of the draft resolution.
- 188. A statement in explanation of vote before the vote was made by the representative of Venezuela.

15	Ibid.		

189. At the request of the representative of Pakistan, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 21 votes to 17, with 15 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Belgium, Canada, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Ecuador, France,

Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Mauritius, Mexico, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain

and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Against: Algeria, China, Cuba, India, Indonesia, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Malaysia, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia,

Senegal, Syrian Arab Republic, Venezuela, Viet Nam.

Abstaining: Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Colombia, Democratic Republic of

the Congo, Kenya, Madagascar, Niger, Republic of Korea, South Africa,

Swaziland, Thailand, Uruguay, Zambia.

190. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Brazil, Japan and Mexico.

191. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/17.

Situation of human rights in the Sudan

- 192. Also at the 68th meeting, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.25, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Albania, Japan and New Zealand subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 193. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representative of Pakistan (on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic Conference) and the observer for the Sudan.
- 194. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications¹⁶ of the draft resolution.
- 195. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of China, Norway, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya and the United States of America.

16	Ibid			

The representative of the United States of America requested a vote. At the request of the representative of China, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 28 votes to none, with 25 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Japan,

Latvia, Mauritius, Mexico, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal,

Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, South Africa, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela

Against: None.

Abstaining: Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Cuba, Democratic Republic of

> the Congo, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United States

of America, Viet Nam, Zambia.

197. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/18.

Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo

- 198. At the same meeting, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.26, sponsored by Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Australia, Japan, Turkey and the United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.
- The observer for Sweden orally revised the draft resolution by adding a new preambular paragraph after the last preambular paragraph and a new paragraph 2 (b) (viii). Paragraphs 2 (b) (i) and (iv) and 4 (i) of the draft resolution were also revised.
- 200. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Burundi, the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Kenya.
- In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications¹⁷ of the draft resolution.
- The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/19.

¹⁷ Ibid.

Situation of human rights in East Timor

- 203. At the 68th meeting, the Chairperson, on behalf of the Commission, made a statement concerning the situation of human rights in East Timor. For the text, see paragraph 239 below.
- After the adoption of the Chairperson's statement, at the 70th meeting, on 20 April 2001, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

Situation of human rights in Sierra Leone

- At the 69th meeting, on 20 April 2001, the representative of Canada introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.27, sponsored by Albania, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Germany, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Kenya, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Sierra Leone, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Finland, France, Greece, Japan and Poland subsequently joined the sponsors.
- The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, 206. section A, resolution 2001/20.

Situation of human rights in Burundi

- Also at the 69th meeting, the representative of Kenya introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.28, sponsored by Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States). The United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 208. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of Burundi.
- In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications ¹⁸ of the draft resolution.
- 210. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/21.

Situation in Equatorial Guinea and assistance in the field of human rights

At the same meeting, the representative of Kenya introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.29, sponsored by Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States). The United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.

8	Ibid.		

- Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives 212. of Algeria, Belgium (on behalf of the European Union), Cuba, Guatemala, Kenya, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Mexico and Portugal and the observer for Equatorial Guinea.
- 213. At the proposal of the Chairperson, paragraph 1 of the draft resolution was orally amended.
- In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the 214. Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications ¹⁹ of the draft resolution.
- The draft resolution, as orally amended, was adopted without a vote. For the text 215. as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/22.

Situation of human rights in Rwanda

- At the 69th meeting, the representative of Kenya introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.32, sponsored by Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States).
- The representative of Canada introduced proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.58) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.32, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. New Zealand and Switzerland subsequently joined the sponsors of the proposed amendments. The proposed amendments read as follows:
 - After the third preambular paragraph, insert three new preambular paragraphs, which read as follows:

"Reaffirming that the promotion and protection of human rights and equal opportunities for the participation of all political parties are necessary for sustaining the process of national reconstruction and reconciliation in Rwanda,

"Taking into account the regional dimension of the human rights issues in the Great Lakes region, while underlining the primary responsibilities of States for the promotion and protection of human rights,

"Concerned at the human rights situation in neighbouring regions and reminding the Government of Rwanda of its responsibility and accountability for upholding respect for human rights by their own forces as well as by the armed forces under their control,"

After paragraph 2, insert five new paragraphs, which read as follows, renumbering subsequent paragraphs accordingly:

¹⁹ Ibid.

- "3. *Reaffirms* that all persons who committed or authorized acts of genocide or other grave violations of human rights and international humanitarian law are individually responsible and accountable for those violations;
- "4. *Expresses concern* that most of the perpetrators of the genocide and other gross violations of human rights continue to evade justice;
- "5. Reiterates its request that all States cooperate fully with the Government of Rwanda and the International Tribunal for Rwanda in ensuring that all those responsible for the crime of genocide, crimes against humanity and other grave violations of human rights are brought to justice in accordance with international principles of due process, and expresses its appreciation to the States which have already cooperated in prosecutions and in implementing the relevant Security Council resolution in this regard;
- "6. Notes the indications of improvement in the human rights situation in Rwanda since the previous session of the Commission, expresses concern at continued violations of human rights and international humanitarian law and urges the Government of Rwanda to continue to investigate and prosecute such violations;
- "7. *Emphasizes* that the promotion and protection of human rights for all are essential for achieving stability and security in the Great Lakes region;"
- "3. After the former paragraph 3 (renumbered as 8), add three new paragraphs, which read as follows, renumbering the subsequent paragraphs accordingly:
 - "9. Notes that the Government of Rwanda is regrouping scattered rural populations in the country, including in the north-west, urges the Government to respect human rights principles and not to use any elements of coercion in the implementation of the resettlement programme, deplores the fact that these sites are still lacking basic infrastructure and services and that a number of former internally displaced persons still have no adequate shelter, and urges renewed efforts in responding to these needs;
 - "10. Reiterates its concern at the conditions of detention in many communal detention centres and some prisons in Rwanda, calls upon the Government of Rwanda to continue in its efforts to ensure that persons in detention are treated in a manner which respects their human rights and basic human needs, deplores the appalling conditions prevailing in the *cachots* and emphasizes the necessity of allocating a specific budget to the *cachots*, and again urges the international community to assist the Government of Rwanda to meet the basic human needs of all prisoners, whether in prisons or in *cachots*, commends the work of the World Food Programme and the International Committee of the Red Cross in this regard and urges them to review their plans to terminate their food assistance programmes;

- "11. Encourages the continuing efforts of the Government of Rwanda to reduce the prison population by releasing minors, elderly prisoners, prisoners suffering from terminal illness and suspects with incomplete files who were detained for their alleged involvement in genocide and other abuses of human rights, urges the Government of Rwanda to accelerate these efforts and reaffirms the urgent need to complete a dossier for every detainee with a view to identifying those who should be released immediately, early or conditionally, while expressing concern at the high number of detainees still awaiting trial;"
- "4. Replace the former paragraph 5 with the following text:

"Commends the Special Representative for his work, decides to extend his mandate for a further year, requests him to report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session, in accordance with his mandate, and requests the High Commissioner to provide him with such financial assistance as he may require;"

"5. Replace the text of the former paragraph 6 with the following text:

"Decides to consider the question of the situation of human rights in Rwanda at its fifty-eighth session under the same agenda item;"

"6. After former paragraph 6 insert a new paragraph, the text of which will read as follows:

"Recommends the following draft decision to the Economic and Social Council for adoption:

"The Economic and Social Council, taking note of Commission on Human Rights resolution 2001/... of ... April 2001, endorses the Commission's decision to extend for a further year the mandate of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Rwanda, to make recommendations on the situation of human rights in Rwanda, to facilitate the effective and independent functioning of the National Human Rights Commission and to make recommendations on situations in which technical assistance to the Government of Rwanda in the field of human rights may be appropriate."

- 218. The representative of Canada proposed to consider among the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.58) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.32 only part of paragraph 2 (concerning the new paragraph 6 of the draft resolution) and paragraphs 4 to 6, and to revise paragraph 5.
- 219. Statements in connection with the proposed amendments were made by the representatives of Algeria, Belgium (on behalf of the European Union), Canada, China, Cuba, Kenya and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

220. The representative of Pakistan made a procedural proposal, according to which document E/CN.4/2001/L.58 should be considered as new proposals, not amendments to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.32. At the request of the representative of Canada, a roll-call vote was taken on the proposal of the representative of Pakistan, which was carried by 30 votes to 22, with 1 abstention. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Cuba, Democratic

Republic of the Congo, Guatemala, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Costa Rica, Czech Republic,

Ecuador, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland, Uruguay, United States of America, Venezuela.

Abstaining: India.

221. Statements in connection with draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.32 were made by the representatives of Algeria, Burundi, Canada, Guatemala and Mexico, and the observer for Rwanda.

- 222. A statement in explanation of vote before the vote was made by the representative of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland).
- 223. At the request of the representative of Canada, a roll-call vote was taken on draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.32, which was adopted by 28 votes to 16, with 9 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba,

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Guatemala, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Mauritius, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan,

Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Argentina, Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy,

Japan, Latvia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania,

Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

Abstaining: Brazil, Ecuador, India, Malaysia, Mexico, Peru, Uruguay, United States

of America, Venezuela.

224. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/23.

Situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation

- 225. At the 70th meeting, on 20 April 2001, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.24, sponsored by Canada, Iceland, Liechtenstein, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden and Switzerland. Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Turkey, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 226. The observer for Sweden orally revised the draft resolution by adding a new preambular paragraph after the thirteenth preambular paragraph.
- 227. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Pakistan and the Russian Federation.
- 228. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²⁰ of the draft resolution.
- 229. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Algeria, China, Cuba, India and the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya.
- 230. At the request of the representative of the Russian Federation, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution as orally revised, which was adopted by 22 votes to 12, with 19 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy,

Latvia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Norway, Pakistan, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Romania, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Spain, United Kingdom of

Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Against: Burundi, China, Cuba, India, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Madagascar, Nigeria, Russian Federation, Venezuela, Viet Nam.

Abstaining: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Cameroon, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Peru, Republic of Korea, Senegal, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic,

Thailand, Uruguay, Zambia.

- 231. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Indonesia, the Syrian Arab Republic and Venezuela.
- 232. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/24.

²⁰ Ihid

(a) Question of human rights in Cyprus

- 233. At the 69th meeting, on 20 April 2001, the Chairperson introduced a draft decision on the question of human rights in Cyprus.
- 234. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/102.

(b) Procedure established in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolutions 1503 (XLVIII) and 2000/3

- 235. The Commission considered agenda item 9 (*b*) in two separate closed sessions pursuant to paragraph 7 of Economic and Social Council resolution 2000/3 of 16 June 2000 at its 18th, 20th (closed part) and 27th meetings, on 28 March and 30 March 2001. It had before it for consideration the situation of human rights in Maldives, the Republic of the Congo, Togo and Uganda, as publicly announced by the Chairperson. The Chairperson also announced that the Commission had decided to discontinue consideration of the situation of human rights in Maldives, the Republic of the Congo and Uganda.
- 236. The Chairperson reminded the members of the Commission that, in conformity with paragraph 9 of Economic and Social Council resolution 2000/3, they should not make any reference in public debate to the confidential decisions taken under that resolution or to any confidential material relating thereto.
- 237. The Chairperson also stated publicly, at the request of the Working Group on Situations, that the Working Group had noted that there had been no replies from several of the Governments concerned when the Working Group on Communications of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights took its decisions in August 2000. The Working Group on Situations, therefore, wished to underline the importance of Governments replying at all stages of the procedure established pursuant to resolution 1503 (XLVIII) of the Economic and Social Council, namely to the Working Group on Communications, the Working Group on Situations and the Commission on Human Rights, and considered the timely submission of replies to be essential to its functioning and effectiveness.
- 238. In accordance with rule 21 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, and after consultations with the regional groups, the Chairperson would designate five members of the Commission to serve in their personal capacity on the Working Group on Situations, which would meet prior to the fifty-eighth session of the Commission in 2002.

Chairperson's statement

239. During consideration of agenda item 9, the Chairperson made one statement, the text of which reads as follows:

"Situation of human rights in East Timor

"The Commission recalls the Chairperson's statements on the situation in East Timor issued at previous sessions, in particular the statement adopted at its fifty-sixth session (see E/2000/23-E/CN.4/2000/167 and Corr.1, chap. IX, para. 213), and takes note of the report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to the General Assembly at its fifty-fifth session (A/55/36), the report of the High Commissioner to the Commission at its fifty-seventh session (E/CN.4/2001/37 and Corr.1), the report of the Secretary-General to the Security Council of 16 January 2001 (S/2001/42) and the letter dated 18 February 2000 from the President of the Security Council addressed to the Secretary-General (S/2000/137).

"The Commission acknowledges relevant Security Council and other United Nations resolutions.

"The Commission welcomes the encouraging improvements of the judicial system in East Timor and the first measures that have been taken against suspects accused of crimes against humanity and other serious crimes committed during the violence in 1999 and strongly supports continuation of these investigations. It emphasizes the importance of continuing international assistance to the strengthening of the justice system in East Timor. The Commission emphasizes the importance of the ongoing reconciliation process and the full promotion and protection of human rights, including freedom of religion, aimed at ensuring future social and political stability in East Timor. The Commission welcomes the forthcoming establishment of a truth, reception and reconciliation commission.

"The Commission recalls the commitment of the Government of Indonesia to ensure that the violations of human rights and humanitarian law committed during the violence in 1999 are accounted for and welcomes in this context the concrete steps already taken by the Government of Indonesia, including the efforts by the Attorney-General of Indonesia to investigate fully the violations of human rights and international and humanitarian law perpetrated in East Timor in the period leading up to and immediately following the popular consultation held in August 1999. The Commission notes with appreciation the decision adopted on 21 March 2001 by the Parliament of Indonesia pursuant to Law No. 26/2000 proposing that the Government set up an ad hoc human rights court in order to bring to justice those suspected of committing such violations. Accordingly, the Commission urges the Government of Indonesia to establish the proposed ad hoc human rights court without delay, and to bring to justice those responsible for violations of human rights and humanitarian law abuses in East Timor.

"The Commission will continue to monitor developments closely and in the light thereof consider whether further action would be required. The Commission welcomes the cooperation between the Government of Indonesia and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights with a view to enhancing the capacity of the judicial system and, in particular, the functioning of the ad hoc human rights courts in full respect of international human rights standards.

"The Commission recalls the commitment by the Government of Indonesia to cooperate with the Office of the High Commissioner, as affirmed in the memorandum of understanding signed by the United Nations Transitional Administration in East Timor and the Government of Indonesia. It reiterates the need for enhanced bilateral cooperation between the Transitional Administration and the Government of Indonesia as foreseen in the memorandum of understanding signed by the parties, and stresses the importance that the spirit of the agreement be followed and implemented fully as foreseen.

"The Commission recalls Security Council resolution 1319 (2000) of 8 September 2000 condemning the brutal murders last September of three international staff members of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees in Atambua, West Timor, as well as attacks on the United Nations presence in East Timor. The Commission expects that the ongoing trials of the suspects in Indonesia will be conducted in conformity with international standards of justice and fairness.

"The Commission urges the Government of Indonesia, while acknowledging the efforts already made by the Government of Indonesia, to continue, without further delay, to fulfil its responsibility to disarm and disband the militia, to restore security in the refugee camps in West Timor and to take measures to ensure that the refugees can make a free and informed choice whether to return to East Timor or resettle in Indonesia. The Commission, concerned at the large numbers of East Timorese refugees still in camps in West Timor, encourages the Government of Indonesia to strengthen its endeavours to resolve this problem in accordance with Security Council resolutions 1319 (2000) and 1338 (2001) of 31 January 2001. It urges the Government of Indonesia to ensure full and secure humanitarian access to the refugee camps. It notes the practical arrangements made on an ad hoc basis by the United Nations Transitional Administration in East Timor, the International Organization for Migration and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees in support of the Indonesian efforts on repatriation and stresses the need to enhance the level of cooperation between the Government of Indonesia and those international organizations. In this regard the Commission welcomes the announcement of a joint visit to the refugee camps in West Timor to be undertaken by the Transitional Administration, the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and the International Organization for Migration, together with the Indonesian Armed Forces. All efforts should be made to complete the refugee repatriation programme in full accordance with international standards, including the need for an impartial and transparent process of registration of refugees in order to enable the refugees to register to vote in the East Timor general elections to be held on 30 August 2001.

"The Commission recalls the importance of a speedy resolution of this question for the laying of a strong foundation for future relations and peaceful coexistence between East Timor and Indonesia. Reconciliation and justice lie at the heart of the many issues facing East Timor during the transition period and beyond. The Commission calls for continued international support before and after independence of East Timor.

"The Commission decides to keep these matters under consideration and requests the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to submit an interim report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to report to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session."

X. Economic, social and cultural rights

- 240. The Commission considered agenda item 10 at its 31st to 36th meetings, from 2 to 4 April, at its 70th meeting, on 20 April, and at its 71st meeting, on 23 April 2001.²¹
- 241. For the documents issued under agenda item 10, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 242. At the 32nd meeting, on 3 April 2001:
- (a) The Special Rapporteur on the right to education, Ms. Katarina Tomasevski, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/52);
- (b) The Special Rapporteur on the adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights, Ms. Fatma Zohra Ouhachi-Vesely, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/55 and Add.1). At the 36th the meeting, on 4 April 2001, the Special Rapporteur made her concluding remarks;
- (c) The Special Rapporteur on the right to food, Mr. Jean Ziegler, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/53). At the 35th meeting, on 4 April 2001, the Special Rapporteur made his concluding remarks;
- (d) The independent expert on the effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, in particular economic, social and cultural rights, Mr. Fantu Cheru, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/56). At the 36th meeting, the independent expert made his concluding remarks;
- (e) The Special Rapporteur on adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, Mr. Miloon Kothari, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/51). At the 36th meeting, the Special Rapporteur made his concluding remarks.
- 243. At the 33rd meeting, on 3 April 2001, the independent expert on human rights and extreme poverty, Ms. Anne-Marie Lizin, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/54 and Corr.1 and Add.1 and Add.1/Corr.1). At the 35th meeting, the independent expert made her concluding remarks.
- 244. In the general debate on agenda item 10, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

The right to food

245. At the 70th meeting, on 20 April 2001, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.12, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Bangladesh, Belarus, Belgium,

²¹ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

Bhutan, Botswana, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Costa Rica, Côte d'Ivoire, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Gabon, Ghana, Guatemala, Guinea, Haiti, Honduras, India, Indonesia, Iraq, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Kenya, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mexico, Mongolia, Nepal, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, the Philippines, Portugal, the Republic of the Congo, the Russian Federation, Rwanda, Senegal, South Africa, Sri Lanka, the Sudan, Swaziland, the Syrian Arab Republic, Togo, Tunisia, Turkey, the United Republic of Tanzania, Viet Nam, Yemen and Zambia. Colombia, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Malaysia, Nicaragua, Norway, Spain, Slovenia, Switzerland and Thailand subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 246. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²² of the draft resolution.
- 247. A statement in explanation of vote before the vote was made by the representative of the United States of America.
- 248. The representative of the United States of America requested a vote. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 52 votes to 1, with no abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour:

Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Zambia.

Against: United States of America.

Abstaining: None.

249. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/25.

²² See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

Human rights and unilateral coercive measures

- 250. Also at the 70th meeting, the representative of South Africa introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.16, sponsored by South Africa (on behalf of the States Members of the United Nations that are members of the Movement of Non-Aligned Countries and China). Armenia and Costa Rica subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 251. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 37 votes to 8, with 8 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador,

Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru,

Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Canada, Germany, Japan, Latvia, Norway, Poland, United Kingdom of

Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Belgium, Czech Republic, France, Italy, Portugal, Republic of Korea,

Romania, Spain.

252. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/26.

Effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights

- 253. At the same meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.33, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Bangladesh, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Côte d'Ivoire, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, Equatorial Guinea, Ethiopia, Ghana, Haiti, Indonesia, Iraq, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Madagascar, Mauritania, Nigeria, Pakistan, the Philippines, the Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, Senegal, the Sudan, Swaziland, the Syrian Arab Republic, Togo, Tunisia, Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania, Uruguay, Viet Nam, Yemen and Zambia. Kenya, Malaysia and Myanmar subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 254. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement) and Japan.

255. At the request of the representative of Belgium, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 31 votes to 15, with 7 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Costa Rica, Cuba,

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa,

Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan,

Latvia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of

Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Colombia, Guatemala, Mexico, Qatar, Republic of Korea,

Saudi Arabia.

256. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/27.

Adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living

- 257. At the 70th meeting, the representative of Germany introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.39, sponsored by Belgium, Bulgaria, Finland, France, Germany, Guatemala, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, Portugal, Romania, South Africa, Spain and Switzerland. Albania, Cameroon, Costa Rica, Denmark, Ecuador, Georgia, Kenya, Nicaragua, Poland, Senegal, Slovenia, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Tunisia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 258. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of the United States of America.
- 259. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²³ of the draft resolution.
- 260. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/28.

The right to education

261. Also at the 70th meeting, the representative of Portugal introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.41, sponsored by Angola, Australia, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Burundi, Canada, Croatia, Denmark, Estonia, Ethiopia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, India, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Madagascar, Mexico, Norway, Pakistan, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Senegal, Slovakia,

_

²³ Ibid.

Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland and Thailand. Albania, Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Costa Rica, Cyprus, Ecuador, Georgia, Guatemala, Israel, Japan, Kenya, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Mauritius, Mongolia, Morocco, Panama, the Russian Federation, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Tunisia and Viet Nam subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 262. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²⁴ of the draft resolution.
- 263. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/29.

Question of the realization in all countries of the economic, social and cultural rights contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and study of special problems which the developing countries face in their efforts to achieve these human rights

- 264. At the same meeting, the representative of Portugal introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.42, sponsored by Angola, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Madagascar, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, Paraguay, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain and Switzerland. Albania, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Chile, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Ecuador, Guatemala, Malta, Mongolia, Morocco, Nicaragua, Panama, the Russian Federation, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Tunisia and Ukraine subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 265. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Cuba, Portugal and the United States of America.
- 266. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²⁵ of the draft resolution.
- 267. The representative of the United States of America requested a separate vote on paragraph 8 (c) of the draft resolution. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on this paragraph, which was retained by 44 votes to 2, with 7 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

²⁴ Ibid.

²⁵ Ibid.

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Saudi Arabia, United States of America.

Abstaining: China, India, Indonesia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Pakistan,

Qatar.

268. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote on paragraph 8 (c) were made by the representatives of the India and Japan.

269. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/30.

Human rights and extreme poverty

- 270. At the 71st meeting, on 23 April 2001, the representative of France introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.45, sponsored by Algeria, Belarus, Belgium, Bhutan, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada, China, Denmark, El Salvador, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, Morocco, Nepal, Niger, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, San Marino, Senegal, Slovakia, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Switzerland, Thailand, Togo, Tunisia, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam and Zambia. Argentina, Australia, Burundi, Cameroon, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, the Dominican Republic, Georgia, India, Indonesia, Japan, Kenya, Madagascar, Nicaragua, Norway, the Republic of Korea, Slovenia, Sweden and Ukraine subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 271. The representative of France orally revised the draft resolution by deleting paragraph 1 (f).
- 272. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/31.

Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights

273. Also at the 71st meeting, the representative of Pakistan introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.48, sponsored by Algeria, Bangladesh, Bhutan, China, Cuba, Egypt, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Pakistan, the Sudan and Viet Nam. Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Ecuador, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Kenya, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Mauritius, Myanmar, Nepal, Nigeria, the Philippines, South Africa, Sri Lanka, the Syrian Arab Republic, Togo and Zambia subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 274. The representative of Pakistan orally revised the draft resolution by deleting paragraphs 9 and 11.
- 275. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement), Canada and the United States of America.
- 276. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, as orally revised, which was adopted by 37 votes to 15, with 1 abstention. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru,

Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Republic of Korea.

277. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/32.

Access to medication in the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS

- 278. At the 71st meeting, the representative of Brazil introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.50, sponsored by Angola, Azerbaijan, Botswana, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Costa Rica, Cuba, Egypt, El Salvador, Gabon, Ghana, Guatemala, Honduras, Kenya, Mexico, Nicaragua, Paraguay, Peru, South Africa, Swaziland, Togo, Turkey, Uruguay and Viet Nam. Algeria, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Chile, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, France, Georgia, Greece, India, Indonesia, Ireland, Italy, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mozambique, the Netherlands, Niger, Norway, Pakistan, Panama, Poland, Portugal, Spain, Thailand, Venezuela and Zambia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 279. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the

Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement), Italy and Norway.

- 280. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Nigeria, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America.
- 281. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 52 votes to none, with 1 abstention. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, China,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam,

Zambia.

Against: None.

Abstaining: United States of America.

282. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/33.

Women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing

283. Also at the 71st meeting, the representative of Mexico introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.53, sponsored by Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Canada, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Côte d'Ivoire, Cuba, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Finland, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Italy, Japan, Liberia, Madagascar, Mexico, Morocco, New Zealand, Norway, Pakistan, Panama, Peru, Portugal, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Republic of Tanzania, Uruguay, Venezuela and Zambia. Algeria, Austria, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Georgia, Greece, Ireland, Kenya, Luxembourg, Mauritius, the Netherlands, Sweden, Togo and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland subsequently joined the sponsors.

284. The representative of the United States of America introduced the proposed amendment (E/CN.4/2001/L.68) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.53, sponsored by the United States of America. The proposed amendment, which was subsequently withdrawn by the representative of the United States of America, consisted of replacing paragraph 5 of the draft resolution with the following:

"Reaffirms Commission on the Status of Women resolution 42/1, which, inter alia, urged States to design and revise laws to ensure that women are accorded full and equal rights to own land and other property, including through the right to inheritance, and to undertake administrative reforms and other necessary measures to give women the same right as men to credit, capital, appropriate technologies, access to markets and information;"

- 285. Statements in connection with the proposed amendment were made by the representatives of Mexico and the United States of America.
- 286. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement) and Mexico.
- 287. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on paragraph 5 of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.53, which was retained by 49 votes to 1, with 3 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour:

Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: United States of America.

Abstaining: Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syrian Arab Republic.

288. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/34.

Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights

- At the same meeting, the representative of Kenya introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.54, sponsored by Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States). Costa Rica, Ecuador, Nicaragua and Panama subsequently joined the sponsors.
- In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the 290. Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²⁶ of the draft resolution.
- Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement) and Japan.
- At the request of the representative of Belgium, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 38 votes to 15. The voting was as follows:

Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, *In favour*:

Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan,

Latvia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of

Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: None.

293. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/35.

The Social Forum

At the 71st meeting, the representative of Norway introduced draft decision E/CN.4/2001/L.37, sponsored by Norway.

295. The representative of Norway orally revised the draft decision.

²⁶ Ibid.

- 296. Statements in connection with the draft decision, as orally revised, were made by the representatives of India, Kenya, Nigeria and Norway.
- 297. The draft decision, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/103.
- 298. In view of the adoption of decision 2001/103, the Commission took no action on draft decision 2, recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

Promotion of the realization of the right to drinking water and sanitation

- 299. At the same meeting, the representative of Norway introduced draft decision E/CN.4/2001/L.43, sponsored by Norway.
- 300. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/104.
- 301. In view of the adoption of decision 2001/104, the Commission took no action on draft decision 3, recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

XI. Civil and political rights, including the questions of:

- (a) Torture and detention;
- (b) Disappearances and summary executions;
- (c) Freedom of expression;
- (d) Independence of the judiciary, administration of justice, impunity;
- (e) Religious intolerance;
- (f) States of emergency;
- (g) Conscientious objection to military service.
- 302. The Commission considered agenda item 11 at its 36th to 43rd meetings, from 4 to 6 April, at its 44th meeting, on 9 April, at its 50th meeting, on 11 April, at its 71st to 73rd meetings, on 23 April, at its 75th meeting, on 24 April, and at its 77th meeting, on 25 April 2001. 27
- 303. For the documents issued under agenda item 11, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 304. At the 36th meeting, on 4 April 2001:
- (a) The Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention, Mr. Kapil Sibal, introduced the report of the Working Group (E/CN.4/2001/14 and Add.1);
- (b) The Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, Ms. Asma Jahangir, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/9 and Corr.1 and Add.1-2);
- (c) The Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression, Mr. Abid Hussain, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/64 and Add.1);
- (*d*) Mr. Ivan Tosevski, in his capacity as a member of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture, presented the updated information of the Board (E/CN.4/2001/59 and Corr.1 and Add.1);

²⁷ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

- (e) A statement was read out by a member of the secretariat on behalf of Ms. Elizabeth Odio Benito, Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Open-ended working group on a draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment on its ninth session, in connection with the working group's report (E/CN.4/2001/67).
- 305. At the 39th meeting, on 5 April 2001:
- (a) The Special Rapporteur on the independence of judges and lawyers, Mr. Param Cumaraswamy, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/65 and Add.1-3);
- (*b*) The Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances, Mr. Ivan Tosevski, introduced the report of the Working Group (E/CN.4/2001/68);
- (c) The Special Rapporteur on the question of torture, Sir Nigel S. Rodley, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/66 and Add.1). At the 43rd meeting, on 6 April 2001, the Special Rapporteur made his concluding remarks.
- 306. At the 44th meeting, on 9 April 2001, the Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance, Mr. Abdelfattah Amor, presented his report (E/CN.4/2001/63). At the same meeting, the Special Rapporteur made his concluding remarks.
- 307. At the 50th meeting, on 11 April 2001, the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture, Sir Nigel S. Rodley, introduced his report on a mission (E/CN.4/2001/66/Add.2).
- 308. In the general debate on agenda item 11, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Strengthening of popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination as essential foundations of democracy

- 309. At the 71st meeting, on 23 April 2001, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.8/Rev.1, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Cameroon, China, Cuba, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Dominican Republic, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ghana, Haiti, Iraq, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Mauritania, Republic of the Congo, the Sudan, the Syrian Arab Republic, Togo, Uganda, the United Republic of Tanzania and Viet Nam. Burundi, Kenya, Qatar, Rwanda, Swaziland and Yemen subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 310. The representative of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement) introduced proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.94) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.8/Rev.1, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark,

Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal, Romania, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Japan, Poland and the United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 311. Statements in connection with the proposed amendments were made by the representatives of Belgium, Cuba and India.
- 312. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on a proposed sub-amendment of Cuba to replace the word "Reaffirming" by the word "Noting" in paragraph 1 of the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.94) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.8/Rev.1. The sub-amendment proposed by Cuba was carried by 24 votes to 17, with 12 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Cuba, Democratic

Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Russian Federation, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic,

Viet Nam.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy,

Japan, Latvia, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania,

Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Brazil, Costa Rica, India, Indonesia, Mauritius, Saudi Arabia,

Senegal, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela, Zambia.

313. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote on the draft resolution, as amended, were made by the representatives of Algeria, Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement) and Canada.

314. At the request of the representative of Belgium, a roll-call vote was taken on draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.8/Rev.1, as amended, which was adopted by 28 votes to 4, with 21 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Cuba, Democratic Republic of

the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria,

Pakistan, Qatar, Russian Federation, Senegal, Swaziland, Syrian

Arab Republic, Thailand, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Germany, Japan, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Czech Republic, France, Guatemala, Italy, Latvia, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Spain,

Uruguay.

315. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of India.

316. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/36.

Human rights and terrorism

317. At the 72nd meeting, on 23 April 2001, the representative of Algeria introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.34, sponsored by Afghanistan, Algeria, Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Belarus, Cameroon, Colombia, Côte d'Ivoire, Cuba, Egypt, El Salvador, Georgia, India, Pakistan, Peru, the Republic of the Congo, the Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka, Togo, Turkey, Uganda and Yemen. Brazil, Burundi, China, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Ethiopia, Guatemala, Lebanon, Nigeria, Oman, Qatar and Senegal subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 318. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of the Russian Federation.
- 319. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Argentina, Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement), Norway, the Syrian Arab Republic and the United States of America.
- 320. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 33 votes to 14, with 6 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba,

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Guatemala, India, Indonesia,

Kenya, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia,

Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar,

Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Swaziland, Thailand,

Uruguay, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Japan, Republic of Korea, South Africa, Syrian Arab Republic,

Venezuela.

321. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/37.

Hostage-taking

- 322. Also at the 72nd meeting, the representative of the Russian Federation introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.35, sponsored by Algeria, Armenia, Australia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, China, Costa Rica, Cuba, Cyprus, Ecuador, El Salvador, Georgia, Greece, India, Nepal, Peru, the Philippines, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, the Russian Federation, Spain, Sri Lanka, Turkey, Uruguay and Venezuela. Colombia, Mauritius, Nicaragua, Pakistan and the Republic of Moldova subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 323. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/38.

Independence and impartiality of the judiciary, jurors and assessors and the independence of lawyers

- 324. At the same meeting, the observer for Hungary introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.38, sponsored by Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada, the Czech Republic, Denmark, El Salvador, Finland, Georgia, Germany, Haiti, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Mexico, Nepal, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and Turkey. Algeria, Cameroon, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Greece, Guatemala, Honduras, India, Japan, Madagascar, Nigeria, South Africa, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 325. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/39.

Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms

- 326. At the 72nd meeting, the observer for Chile introduced draft decision E/CN.4/2001/L.40, sponsored by Argentina, Brazil, Chile and Uruguay. Costa Rica, the Republic of Korea and South Africa subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 327. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²⁸ of the draft decision.
- 328. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/105.

²⁸ See footnote 4 (chap.V, para. 73).

Question of arbitrary detention

- 329. Also at the 72nd meeting, the representative of France introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.44, sponsored by Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Uruguay. Albania, Argentina, Austria, Belarus, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, the Czech Republic, Ecuador, Georgia, Greece, Ireland, Liechtenstein, Morocco, Norway, the Republic of Moldova, Romania, Senegal, South Africa, Sweden and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 330. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of Algeria.
- 331. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/40.

Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy

- 332. At the same meeting, the representative of Romania introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.46, sponsored by Albania, Belgium, Canada, Chile, Croatia, Denmark, El Salvador, Estonia, France, Georgia, Germany, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, Mexico, New Zealand, Niger, Norway, Peru, the Philippines, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Argentina, Australia, Austria, Brazil, Bulgaria, Burundi, Cameroon, Colombia, Ecuador, Finland, Greece, Guatemala, Israel, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Luxembourg, Mongolia, Nepal, the Netherlands, Nicaragua, Nigeria, Senegal, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Togo, Tunisia, Turkey and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 333. The seventh preambular paragraph of the draft resolution was orally revised by the representative of Romania.
- 334. The representative of Cuba withdrew the proposed amendment (E/CN.4/2001/L.66) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.46, sponsored by Cuba. The proposed amendment consisted of inserting a new paragraph after the second preambular paragraph, to read as follows:
 - "Reaffirming also that the subjection of peoples to alien subjugation, domination and exploitation constitutes a denial of fundamental rights, is contrary to the Charter of the United Nations and is an impediment to the promotion of world peace and cooperation, and is therefore incompatible with democracy,".
- 335. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Algeria, Cuba, Malaysia and Romania.
- 336. Statements in explanation of vote before the separate vote on the fifth preambular paragraph were made by the representatives of Algeria, China and Malaysia.

337. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on the fifth preambular paragraph of the draft resolution. The paragraph was retained, by 37 votes to 8, with 8 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

United States of America, Venezuela.

Against: Algeria, China, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Libyan Arab

Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Abstaining: Indonesia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia,

Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic.

338. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote on the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Algeria, China, Cuba, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya and Pakistan.

339. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, as revised, which was adopted by 44 votes to none, with 9 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

United States of America, Venezuela, Zambia.

Against: None.

Abstaining: China, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Viet Nam.

340. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of India.

341. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/41.

Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance

- 342. At the 72nd meeting, the observer for Ireland introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.49, sponsored by Afghanistan, Argentina, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Ecuador, El Salvador, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Haiti, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, Tunisia, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Venezuela. Albania, Algeria, India, Israel, Mauritius, Nicaragua, Panama, the Philippines, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the United States of America and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 343. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications²⁹ of the draft resolution.
- 344. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/42.

The incompatibility between democracy and racism

- 345. Also at the 72nd meeting, the representative of Brazil introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.51, sponsored by Albania, Algeria, Argentina, Azerbaijan, Botswana, Brazil, Chile, China, Costa Rica, Cuba, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Israel, Italy, Latvia, Mexico, Nepal, Nicaragua, Niger, Paraguay, Peru, Poland, Romania, Senegal, Spain, Sri Lanka, Turkey, the United States of America, Uruguay and Venezuela. Bosnia and Herzegovina, Burundi, Canada, Colombia, Croatia, Georgia, India, Kenya, Mongolia, Morocco, Pakistan, Panama, the Russian Federation, Thailand, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Togo and Tunisia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 346. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/43.

Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment

347. At the same meeting, the representative of Costa Rica introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.52, sponsored by Albania, Argentina, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Ecuador, El Salvador, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Honduras, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Paraguay, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, the Russian Federation, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia,

²⁹ Ibid.

Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the United States of America, Uruguay and Venezuela. Australia, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, Nepal, Panama, Senegal and South Africa subsequently joined the sponsors.

348. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/44.

Extrajudicial, summary and arbitrary executions

- 349. At the 72nd meeting, the observer for Finland introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.55, sponsored by Albania, Angola, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, El Salvador, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Uganda, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay and Venezuela. Bosnia and Herzegovina, Cameroon, Ecuador, Guatemala, Haiti, Madagascar, Morocco, Panama, the Republic of Moldova, South Africa, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and Ukraine subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 350. Paragraphs 7, 8 and 14 of the draft resolution were orally revised by the observer for Finland.
- 351. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications³⁰ of the draft resolution.
- 352. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Latvia and the Russian Federation.
- 353. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/45.
- 354. At the 77th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

The right to freedom of opinion and expression

355. At the 73rd meeting, on 23 April 2001, the representative of Canada introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.56, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Botswana, Canada, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, El Salvador, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Switzerland, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Argentina, Belarus, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Colombia,

_

³⁰ Ibid.

Costa Rica, Côte d'Ivoire, Croatia, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, France, Georgia, Greece, Guatemala, Hungary, India, Israel, Madagascar, Morocco, Nepal, Nicaragua, the Republic of Korea, San Marino, Sweden, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Turkey and Venezuela subsequently joined the sponsors. The United States of America withdrew as a sponsor.

- 356. The representative of Canada orally revised the draft resolution by deleting the eleventh preambular paragraph.
- 357. The representative of Cuba introduced proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.67) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.56, sponsored by Cuba. This proposal of amendments consisted of adding two paragraphs to the draft resolution.
- 358. The representative of Cuba revised the proposed amendments by deleting the second of the proposed paragraphs, which read as follows:

"Regrets the high and increasing level of ownership and control of the mass media by a few individuals and small groups of private interests at the global level and in certain countries, and in this regard recognizes that the persistence and aggravation of this phenomenon creates a serious challenge to the full enjoyment of freedom of opinion and expression by everyone;".

- 359. The representative of Cuba proposed that the first paragraph of the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.67) be inserted as a new paragraph 18 of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.56.
- 360. The representative of Canada proposed to replace this paragraph by the following text:

"Affirms the vital importance for the promotion and protection of the rights to freedom of opinion and expression of compliance by each State with their obligation as assumed under the Convention on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, including article 4 thereof."

- 361. The representative of Cuba further proposed to amend the above paragraph by replacing the words "their obligations as assumed" by the words "the obligations established", and to replace the word "including" with the words "in particular".
- 362. Statements in connection with draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.56 and the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.67) were made by the representatives of Algeria, Canada, Cuba and the Russian Federation.
- 363. An extensive procedural debate took place in connection with the draft resolution and the proposed amendments thereto.
- 364. The representative of Cuba proposed a roll-call vote on the third, fourth and tenth preambular paragraphs and paragraphs 2, 14 and 16 (a) of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.56. The paragraphs were retained by 42 votes to 3, with 7 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Cameroon, Canada, Colombia, *In favour:*

Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador,

France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Peru,

Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, United States of America,

Venezuela, Zambia.

Against: China, Cuba, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya.

Burundi, Kenya, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syrian Arab Republic, Abstaining:

Viet Nam.

Statements in explanation of vote before the vote on the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Algeria and Japan.

366. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, as orally modified. The draft resolution was adopted by 44 votes to none, with 8 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, *In favour:*

Colombia, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Italy, Latvia, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

United States of America, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: None.

Abstaining: China, Cuba, Japan, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Qatar, Saudi Arabia,

Syrian Arab Republic.

367. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/47.

Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances

368. Also at the 73rd meeting, the representative of France introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.57, sponsored by Argentina, Chile, Cuba, France, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Spain, Switzerland and Uruguay. Albania, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Costa Rica, Cyprus, Denmark, Ecuador, Finland, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Italy, Latvia, Madagascar, Morocco, the Netherlands, Nicaragua, Norway, the

Republic of Korea, Romania, Senegal, Slovenia, South Africa, Sweden, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Venezuela subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 369. The representative of France orally revised the draft resolution by replacing paragraphs 11 and 12 by new texts.
- 370. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Argentina, Canada, Cuba, France, India, Japan, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Mexico (on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States), South Africa, the United States of America and Uruguay.
- 371. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications³¹ of the draft resolution.
- 372. A statement in explanation of vote before the vote was made by the representative of Canada.
- 373. The representative of the United States of America proposed to delete new paragraph 12 of the draft resolution. At the request of the representative of Mexico, a roll-call vote was taken on the proposal of the representative of the United States of America, which was rejected by 34 votes to 4, with 15 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: India, Japan, Malaysia, the United States of America.

Against: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Latvia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mexico, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania,

Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Zambia.

Abstaining: Algeria, Canada, China, Indonesia, Kenya, Liberia, Libyan

Arab Jamahiriya, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia,

Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Viet Nam.

374. The representative of the United States of America proposed to delete, in the new paragraph 11 of the draft resolution, the words "and to the first session of the working group established under paragraph 12 of the present resolution". At the request of the representative of Mexico, a roll-call vote was taken on the proposal of the representative of the United States of America, which was rejected by 37 votes to 5, with 11 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

³¹ Ibid.

In favour: Canada, India, Japan, Kenya, United States of America.

Against: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Latvia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain,

Swaziland, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland, Uruguay, Venezuela, Zambia.

Abstaining: Algeria, China, Indonesia, Liberia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia,

Nigeria, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syrian Arab Republic, Viet Nam.

375. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of India, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya and Pakistan.

376. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/46.

Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment

- 377. At the 75th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the observer for Denmark introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47, sponsored by Albania, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Canada, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Ecuador, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Kenya, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malta, Mexico, Mongolia, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Angola, Belarus, Brazil, Chile, Estonia, Mauritius, Morocco, Panama and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia subsequently joined the sponsors. The United States of America withdrew as a sponsor.
- 378. The representative of Pakistan introduced proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.62) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47, sponsored by Pakistan (on behalf of State members of the Organization of the Islamic Conference).
- 379. Paragraph 1 of the proposed amendments was orally revised by the representative of Pakistan.
- 380. At the same meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.65) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47, sponsored by Cuba.

- 381. An extensive procedural debate took place in connection with draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47 and the proposed amendments thereto (E/CN.4/2001/L.62 and E/CN.4/2001/L.65). Statements were made by the representatives of Algeria, Canada, Colombia, Cuba, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, France, Germany, Pakistan, Peru and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
- 382. At the proposal of the Chairperson, the Commission decided to postpone consideration of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47 and the proposed amendments thereto (E/CN.4/2001/L.62 and E/CN.4/2001/L.65).
- 383. At the 77th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission resumed consideration of the draft resolution and the proposed amendments thereto.
- 384. The observer for Denmark introduced the text agreed upon to revise paragraphs 3, 8 and 27 of the draft resolution
- 385. The representative of Pakistan withdrew the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.62) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47, which read as follows:
 - "1. Amend paragraph 3 to read as follows:
 - "Condemns in particular any action or attempt by States or public officials to legalize or authorize torture under any circumstances, in any territory under their jurisdiction, including occupied territories, *inter alia*, through judicial decisions;".
 - "2. In paragraph 8, insert the words 'production and trade' after the word 'use'.
 - "3. In paragraph 9, replace the words 'Special Rapporteur' with the word 'Sub-Commission'.
 - "4. Replace paragraph 27 with the following text:
 - "27. Expresses its deep disappointment that the Special Rapporteur did not fulfil his mandate contained in its resolution S-5/1 of 19 October 2000 adopted by the Commission at its special session on Palestine, and urges him to visit the occupied Palestinian territories in compliance with this resolution without further delay;".
- 386. The representative of Cuba withdrew paragraph 2 of the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.65) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47, which read as follows:

- "2. Amend paragraph 8 to read as follows:
 - "8. *Calls upon* all Governments to take effective legislative, administrative, judicial and other measures to prohibit the production, trade, export and use of equipment which is specifically designed to inflict torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment;".
- 387. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications³² of the draft resolution.
- 388. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on paragraph 1 of the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.65) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47, which was rejected by 25 votes to 14, with 13 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, China, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kenya,

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Pakistan Qatar, Swaziland,

Syrian Arab Republic, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Cameroon, Canada, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Czech Republic, France, Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Mexico, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania,

South Africa, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and

Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Burundi, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Niger,

Nigeria, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Thailand, Uruguay.

389. Statements in connection with the draft resolution, as orally revised, were made by the representatives of Algeria, Cuba, Latvia, Pakistan and the United States of America.

390. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on his delegation's proposal to delete paragraph 27 of the draft resolution, as orally revised, which was rejected by 48 votes to 2, with 2 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Guatemala, United States of America.

Against: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Cameroon, Canada, China,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Romania,

Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain,

_

³² Ibid.

Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia

Abstaining: Burundi, Democratic Republic of the Congo.

- 391. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Algeria, Belgium, Canada, Cuba and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
- 392. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on the Cuban delegation's proposal to delete paragraph 30 of the draft resolution, which was rejected by 29 votes to 2, with 21 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Cuba, Syrian Arab Republic.

Against: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, France,

Germany, Guatemala, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea,

Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Spain,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States

of America.

Abstaining: Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Democratic Republic of

the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Swaziland, Thailand, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

393. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Costa Rica, Japan and the United States of America.

394. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/62.

Creation of a pre-sessional working group on the administration of justice

- 395. At the 75th meeting, the Commission considered draft decision 1 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).
- 396. The representative of Norway introduced the proposed amendment (E/CN.4/2001/L.36) to draft decision 1 of the Sub-Commission, sponsored by Norway.
- 397. The draft decision, as amended, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/106.
- 398. After the adoption of the decision, the representative of Cuba made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

XII. Integration of the human rights of women and the gender perspective:

(a) Violence against women

- 399. The Commission considered agenda item 12 at its 44th to 46th meetings, on 9 April, at its 47th and 48th meetings, on 10 April, and at its 75th meeting, on 24 April 2001.³³
- 400. For the documents issued under agenda item 12, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V to the present report.
- 401. At the 44th meeting, on 9 April 2001:
- (a) The Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, Ms. Radhika Coomaraswamy, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/73 and Add.1-2);
- (b) A statement was read out by a member of the secretariat on behalf of Ms. Angela King, Assistant Secretary-General and Special Adviser to the Secretary-General on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women;
- (c) The Chairperson of the Commission on the Status of Women, Ms. Dubravka Simonovic, made a statement;
- (d) The Chairperson of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, Ms. Charlotte Abaka, made a statement.
- 402. In the general debate on agenda item 12, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Traffic in women and girls

403. At the 75th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the observer for the Philippines introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.59, sponsored by Afghanistan, Albania, Angola, Argentina, Austria, Bangladesh, Belarus, Belgium, Bhutan, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Botswana, Bulgaria, Burundi, Cameroon, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Finland, Gabon, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Guatemala, Haiti, Iceland, India, Indonesia, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Kenya, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mexico, Nepal, Nigeria, Norway, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, the Philippines, Poland, the Republic of Korea, Romania, Rwanda, San Marino, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Swaziland, Thailand, Togo, Turkey, Uganda, Ukraine, the United Republic of Tanzania, Uruguay and Viet Nam. Algeria, Azerbaijan, Cambodia,

³³ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

Canada, Cuba, France, Georgia, Japan, Morocco, Nicaragua, Portugal, Switzerland, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the United States of America and Zambia subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 404. Paragraph 14 of the draft resolution was orally revised by the observer for the Philippines.
- 405. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/48.

Elimination of violence against women

- 406. Also at the 75th meeting, the representative of Canada introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.60, sponsored by Afghanistan, Albania, Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, Chile, Côte d'Ivoire, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Haiti, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, New Zealand, Norway, the Philippines, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Sweden and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Angola, Argentina, Austria, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cyprus, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Ethiopia, France, Georgia, Greece, Guatemala, Israel, Italy, Kenya, Latvia, Liberia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mongolia, the Netherlands, Peru, the Republic of Moldova, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Senegal, Switzerland, Tunisia, Turkey, the United Republic of Tanzania, Uruguay, Venezuela and Zambia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 407. The seventh preambular paragraph of the draft resolution was orally revised by the representative of Canada.
- 408. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Algeria, the Russian Federation and the United States of America.
- 409. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/49.

Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system

410. At the same meeting, the observer for Chile introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.61, sponsored by Albania, Australia, Bulgaria, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Croatia, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Finland, Greece, Guatemala, Iceland, Israel, Italy, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Panama, Peru, Portugal, Romania, Senegal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, Tunisia, Uruguay and Venezuela. Argentina, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Brazil, Cameroon, Cyprus, France, Georgia, Germany, Ireland, Luxembourg, Malaysia, Mauritius, Nicaragua, the Philippines, the Republic of Korea, the Republic of Moldova, Slovenia, South Africa, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 411. The observer for Chile orally revised the draft resolution by revising paragraph 27 and by inserting a new paragraph after paragraph 28.
- 412. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/50.

Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child

- 413. At the 75th meeting, the Commission considered draft decision 4 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).
- 414. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications³⁴ of the draft decision.
- 415. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/107.

³⁴ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

XIII. Rights of the child

- 416. The Commission considered agenda item 13 at its 49th meeting, on 10 April, at its 50th to 52nd meetings, on 11 April, at its 65th meeting, on 19 April, at its 75th meeting, on 24 April, and at its 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001. 35
- 417. For the documents issued under agenda item 13, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 418. At the 49th meeting, on 10 April 2001:
- (a) The Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children, Mr. Olara A. Otunnu, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/76);
- (b) The Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, Ms. Ofelia Calcetas-Santos, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/78 and Add.1-2). At the same meeting, the Special Rapporteur made her concluding remarks.
- 419. At the 65th meeting, on 19 April 2001, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Ms. Mary Robinson, made a statement on the implementation of Commission resolution 2000/60 entitled "Abduction of children from northern Uganda".
- 420. In the general debate on agenda item 13, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Abduction of children from northern Uganda

- 421. At the 75th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the observer for Uganda introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.89, sponsored by Burundi, Kenya, Uganda and the United Republic of Tanzania.
- 422. The observer for Uganda orally revised the draft resolution by deleting paragraph 12.
- 423. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Burundi, the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Kenya.
- 424. At the request of the representative of Kenya, the Chairperson proposed to postpone consideration of the draft resolution.
- 425. At the 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the Commission resumed consideration of the draft resolution.

³⁵ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

- 426. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of the Democratic Republic of the Congo and Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States).
- 427. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/74.
- 428. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

Rights of the child

- 429. Also at the 79th meeting, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union and the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.98, sponsored by Albania, Argentina, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Burundi, Cameroon, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Estonia, Ethiopia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Netherlands, Nicaragua, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Paraguay, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Togo, Turkey, Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam and Zambia. Angola, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Ghana, Haiti, India, Madagascar, Mauritius, Nepal, New Zealand, the Philippines, the Russian Federation, Rwanda, Saudi Arabia and Tunisia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 430. Paragraph 1 of the draft resolution was orally revised by the observer for Sweden.
- 431. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Cuba and Uruguay.
- 432. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications³⁶ of the draft resolution.
- 433. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/75.
- 434. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

³⁶ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

XIV. Specific groups and individuals:

- (a) Migrant workers;
- (b) Minorities;
- (c) Mass exoduses and displaced persons;
- (d) Other vulnerable groups and individuals
- 435. The Commission considered agenda item 14 at its 53rd meeting, on 11 April, at its 54th to 57th meetings, on 12 April, and at its 75th and 76th meetings, on 24 April 2001.³⁷
- 436. For the documents issued under agenda item 14, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 437. At the 53rd meeting, on 11 April 2001:
- (a) A statement was read out by a member of the secretariat on behalf of Ms. Gabriela Rodríguez Pizarro, Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants, in connection with the Special Rapporteur's report (E/CN.4/2001/83 and Add.1);
- (b) A statement was read out by a member of the secretariat on behalf of Swami Agnivesh, Chairperson of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Trust Fund on Contemporary Forms of Slavery, in connection with the report of the Secretary-General on the Fund (E/CN.4/2001/82 and Add.1).
- 438. At the 54th meeting, on 12 April 2001, the Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons, Mr. Francis M. Deng, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/5 and Add.1-5).
- 439. In the general debate on agenda item 14, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)

440. At the 75th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the representative of Poland introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.69, sponsored by Angola, Australia, Belarus, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, Denmark, Ecuador, Estonia, Ethiopia, Finland, Georgia, Germany, Guatemala, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Mozambique, the Netherlands, Norway, Peru,

_

³⁷ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para.1).

the Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia. Austria, El Salvador, France, Ghana, Greece, Iceland, Israel, Kenya, Nicaragua, the Russian Federation, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Togo, Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the United States of America and Zambia subsequently joined the sponsors.

441. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/51.

Human rights of migrants

- 442. Also at the 75th meeting, the representative of Mexico introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.70, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Argentina, Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Belarus, Bolivia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Brazil, Cape Verde, Colombia, Costa Rica, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, India, Liberia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mexico, Morocco, Nicaragua, Pakistan, Peru, the Philippines, Portugal, the Republic of the Congo, Senegal, Sri Lanka, Swaziland, Tunisia, Turkey and Uruguay. Chile, Cuba, Indonesia and Yemen subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 443. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/52.
- 444. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of Japan made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families

- 445. At the 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the representative of Mexico introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.71, sponsored by Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Cape Verde, Colombia, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Guatemala, Haiti, Mexico, Morocco, Peru, the Philippines, Portugal, the Republic of the Congo, Senegal, Sri Lanka, Tunisia and Turkey. Cuba, Pakistan and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 446. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/53.

Internally displaced persons

447. Also at the 76th meeting, the observer for Austria introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.74, sponsored by Afghanistan, Albania, Angola, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Azerbaijan, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Canada, Costa Rica, Cyprus, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, Finland, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand and the United States of America. Argentina, Colombia, Ecuador,

Ethiopia, France, Guatemala, Japan, Mauritius, Peru, the Republic of Korea, Romania, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 448. The observer for Austria orally revised the draft resolution by deleting the fifth preambular paragraph and by inserting a new paragraph paragraph 6, with the content of the former fifth preambular paragraph.
- 449. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications³⁸ of the draft resolution.
- 450. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/54.

Rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities

- 451. At the same meeting, the observer for Austria introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.75, sponsored by Afghanistan, Albania, Australia, Austria, Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Cameroon, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Ethiopia, Finland, Guatemala, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia, Slovenia, Sri Lanka, Sweden, Switzerland and Thailand. Ecuador, Georgia, Mauritius, Peru, the Republic of Korea, the Russian Federation, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the United States of America, Ukraine and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 452. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/55.
- 453. In view of the adoption of resolution 2001/55, the Commission took no action on draft decision 13 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

Protection of migrants and their families

- 454. At the 76th meeting, the representative of Ecuador introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.90, sponsored by Argentina, Ecuador, Haiti and Peru. Algeria, Bolivia, Chile, Cuba, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Guatemala, Senegal and South Africa subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 455. Paragraphs 5 and 7 of the draft resolution were orally revised by the representative of Ecuador.

³⁸ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

- 456. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/56.
- 457. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of India made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices

- 458. Also at the 76th meeting, the Commission considered draft decision 5 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).
- 459. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/108.

Report of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

- 460. Also at the same meeting, the Commission considered draft decision 10 recommended by the Sub-Commission for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).
- 461. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/109.

XV. Indigenous issues

- 462. The Commission considered agenda item 15 at its 57th meeting, on 12 April, at its 58th meeting, on 17 April, and at its 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001.³⁹
- 463. For the documents issued under agenda item 15, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V to the present report.
- 464. At the 57th meeting, on 12 April 2001, the Chairperson-Rapporteur of the Working Group on a draft United Nations declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples, Mr. Luis Enrique Chávez, introduced the report of the Working Group (E/CN.4/2001/85).
- 465. At the same meeting, Ms. Tove S. Petersen, in her capacity as a member of both the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Indigenous Populations and of the Advisory Group of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People, made statements on behalf of the Chairpersons of the two Funds.
- 466. In the general debate on agenda item 15, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Human rights and indigenous issues

- 467. At the 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the representative of Mexico (also on behalf of Guatemala) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.63, sponsored by Armenia, Belgium, Costa Rica, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Italy, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, Panama, Peru, Romania, Rwanda, South Africa, Spain, Sweden and Switzerland. Algeria, Argentina, Burundi, Cameroon, Cyprus, France, Luxembourg and Portugal subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 468. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Canada (also on behalf of New Zealand) and the Russian Federation.
- 469. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁴⁰ of the draft resolution.
- 470. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/57.

³⁹ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

⁴⁰ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

471. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of India made a statement in explanation of the position of States members of the Group of Asian States that are members of the Commission (China, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Pakistan, Qatar, the Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand and Viet Nam). The representative of the United States of America also made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People

- 472. Also at the 76th meeting, the observer for New Zealand introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.73, sponsored by Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Denmark, Ecuador, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Guatemala, Iceland, Ireland, Mexico, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, the Russian Federation, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Australia, Cyprus, Latvia and Ukraine subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 473. Paragraph 24 of the draft resolution was orally revised by the observer for New Zealand.
- 474. Statements in connection with the draft resolution were made by the representative of Cuba and the observer for New Zealand.
- 475. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/59.
- 476. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.
- 477. In view of the adoption of resolution 2001/59, the Commission took no action on draft decisions 6 and 8 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

Working Group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration in accordance with paragraph 5 of General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994

- 478. At the same meeting, the representative of Canada introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.76, sponsored by Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Greece, Guatemala, Mexico, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, South Africa, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Albania, Australia, Cyprus, Ecuador, Latvia, Spain and the United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 479. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/58.

480. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

- 481. At the 76th meeting, the Commission considered draft decision 7 recommended by the Sub-Commission for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).
- 482. A statement in connection with the draft decision was made by the representative of Peru.
- 483. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/110.

XVI. Report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights:

- (a) Report and draft decisions;
- (b) Election of members
- 484. The Commission considered agenda item 16 at its 58th meeting, on 17 April, and at its 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001. 41
- 485. For the documents issued under agenda item 16, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 486. At the 58th meeting, on 17 April 2001, the Chairperson of the fifty-second session of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights, Ms. Iulia Antoanella Motoc, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/86). At the same meeting, the Chairperson of the Sub-Commission made her concluding remarks.
- 487. In the general debate on agenda item 16, statements were made by members of the Commission and non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Work of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights

- 488. At the 76th meeting, on 24 April 2001, the observer for Luxembourg introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.100, sponsored by Albania, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, Guatemala, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Switzerland and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Bulgaria, France, Georgia, Greece, Japan, Monaco, Portugal, Sweden, the Russian Federation and Ukraine subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 489. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁴² of the draft resolution.
- 490. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/60.

⁴¹ See footnote 1 (chap. III, para. 1).

⁴² See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

XVII. Promotion and protection of human rights:

- (a) Status of the International Covenants on Human Rights;
- (b) Human rights defenders;
- (c) Information and education;
- (d) Science and environment
- 491. The Commission considered agenda item 17 at its 60th meeting, on 17 April, at its 64th and 65th meetings, on 19 April, and at its 77th and 78th meetings, on 25 April 2001. 43
- 492. For the documents issued under agenda item 17, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 493. At the 60th meeting, on 17 April 2001, the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on human rights defenders, Ms. Hina Jilani, introduced her report (E/CN.4/2001/94).
- 494. In the general debate on agenda item 17, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (1995-2004)

- 495. At the 77th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the representative of Costa Rica introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.72, sponsored by Chile, Costa Rica, Honduras, Spain, Tunisia, Uruguay. Algeria, Australia, Austria, Belarus, Cameroon, Canada, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Japan, Mexico, Nicaragua, Norway, Peru, the Philippines, Portugal, the Republic of Moldova, Senegal, Slovakia, Ukraine and Venezuela subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 496. The representative of Costa Rica orally revised the draft resolution by inserting a new preambular paragraph after the ninth preambular paragraph and revising paragraphs 3 to 5.
- 497. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/61.

_

⁴³ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

Science and environment

- 498. Also at the 77th meeting, the representative of South Africa introduced draft decision E/CN.4/2001/L.79.
- 499. The representative of South Africa orally revised the draft decision.
- 500. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁴⁴ of the draft decision.
- 501. The draft decision, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/111.

Fiftieth anniversary of the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and the global consultations on international protection

502. At the same meeting, the Commission considered draft decision E/CN.4/2001/L.80, which was introduced then subsequently withdrawn by the Chairperson. The draft decision read as follows:

"The Commission on Human Rights, taking note of the fiftieth anniversary of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees, one of the first human rights treaties, encourages States that have not yet adhered to the Convention and its 1967 Protocol to do so, and at the same time welcomes the global consultations on international protection launched by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and appeals to States to participate actively in order to consolidate further the international refugee protection regime and achieve full and effective implementation of the Convention and its Protocol."

Development of public information activities in the field of human rights, including the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights

503. At the 77th meeting, the representative of Italy introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.82, sponsored by Argentina, Australia, Austria, Canada, Costa Rica, Croatia, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Luxembourg, Malta, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, the Russian Federation, San Marino, Senegal, Slovenia, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand, Tunisia, the United States of America and Venezuela. Albania, Algeria, Cameroon, Georgia, the Republic of Moldova, Romania, South Africa and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia subsequently joined the sponsors.

504. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/63.

_

⁴⁴ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

Human rights defenders

- 505. Also at the 77th meeting, the representative of Norway introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.83, sponsored by Albania, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Botswana, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Canada, Central African Republic, Costa Rica, Croatia, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Ecuador, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Guatemala, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malta, Mauritius, Mexico, Monaco, Morocco, Nepal, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, San Marino, Senegal, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the United States of America and Venezuela. Belarus, Japan, Pakistan, Panama, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Tunisia, Turkey, Ukraine and Uruguay subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 506. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of Pakistan.
- 507. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/64.
- 508. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of the Syrian Arab Republic made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

Fundamental standards of humanity

- 509. At the same meeting, the representative of Norway introduced draft decision E/CN.4/2001/L.85, sponsored by Albania, Argentina, Austria, Bulgaria, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, Denmark, Ecuador, Finland, Germany, Iceland, Ireland, Mexico, Norway, Portugal, Senegal, South Africa, Sweden and Switzerland. Georgia, Madagascar and Ukraine subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 510. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/112.

Promotion of a democratic and equitable international order

- 511. At the 77th meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.86, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Burundi, China, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, the Dominican Republic, Egypt, Eritrea, Ghana, Haiti, Iraq, Kenya, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritania, Nigeria, Pakistan, the Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, the Sudan, Swaziland, the Syrian Arab Republic, Togo, the United Republic of Tanzania and Viet Nam. Yemen subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 512. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Algeria and Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of

the Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement).

513. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 32 votes to 16, with 4 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba,

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Guatemala, Peru, Uruguay.

514. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/65.

Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide

- 515. Also at the 77th meeting, the observer for Armenia introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.92, sponsored by Angola, Argentina, Armenia, Belarus, Brazil, Bulgaria, Burundi, Côte d'Ivoire, Croatia, Cyprus, Guatemala, Israel, Kenya, Mexico and Rwanda. Cameroon, Colombia, Ecuador, Ethiopia, Georgia, Peru and Ukraine subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 516. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of Algeria.
- 517. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/66.
- 518. After the adoption of the resolution, the representative of the United States of America made a statement in explanation of his delegation's position.

Enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights

519. At the 78th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the representative of South Africa introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.78, sponsored by South Africa (on behalf of the States Members of the United Nations that are members of the Movement of Non-Aligned Countries and China).

520. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/67.

The question of the death penalty

- Also at the 78th meeting, the observer for Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.93, sponsored by Albania, Angola, Argentina, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Estonia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Haiti, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxemburg, Malta, Mauritius, Mexico, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Norway, Panama, Paraguay, Poland, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay and Venezuela. Cambodia, Monaco, the Republic of Moldova and the Russian Federation subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 522. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of India.
- 523. At the request of the representative of India, a roll-call vote was taken on paragraphs 4 (*f*), 5 (*b*) and 6 of the draft resolution. These paragraphs were retained, by 26 votes to 18, with 7 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Italy, Latvia, Mauritius, Mexico, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, South Africa, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela.

Against: Algeria, China, Cuba, India, Indonesia, Japan, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Malaysia, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United States of America,

Viet Nam.

Abstaining: Burundi, Cameroon, Guatemala, Kenya, Madagascar, Senegal, Zambia.

- 524. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote on the draft resolution were made by the representatives of Algeria, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Thailand and the United States of America.
- 525. At the request of the representative of the United States of America, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution as a whole, which was adopted by 27 votes to 18, with 7 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Costa Rica,

Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, France, Germany, Italy, Latvia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Norway, Peru, Poland,

Portugal, Romania, Russian Federation, South Africa, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela.

Against: Algeria, Burundi, China, Indonesia, Japan, Kenya, Libyan Arab

Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Nigeria, Pakistan, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United States

of America, Viet Nam.

Abstaining: Cameroon, Cuba, Guatemala, India, Madagascar, Senegal, Zambia.

526. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of Saudi Arabia (also on behalf of Algeria, Burundi, China, Indonesia, Japan, Kenya, Liberia, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Nigeria, Qatar, Swaziland, the Syrian Arab Republic and Thailand).

- 527. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/68.
- 528. In view of the adoption of resolution 2001/68, the Commission took no action on draft decision 9, recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

Promotion of the right of peoples to peace

- 529. At the 78th meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.95, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Burundi, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ghana, Haiti, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, the Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, the Sudan and Togo. Kenya, Madagascar, Panama, Tunisia and Yemen subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 530. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement), Canada (also on behalf of Norway) and the United States of America.

531. At the request of the representative of Belgium, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 29 votes to 16, with 7 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Burundi, China, Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of

the Congo, Ecuador, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian

Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: Argentina, Brazil, Cameroon, Colombia, Guatemala, India, Senegal.

532. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of India.

533. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/69.

Reservations to human rights treaties

- 534. At the same meeting, the representative of India introduced draft decision E/CN.4/2001/L.103, sponsored by India (on behalf of the Group of Asian States).
- 535. The draft decision was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/113.
- 536. In view of the adoption of decision 2001/113, the Commission took no action on draft decision 12 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

Observance of the human rights and fundamental freedoms contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights by States which are not parties to the International Covenants on Human Rights

- 537. At the 78th meeting, the representative of Saudi Arabia orally proposed a new draft decision replacing draft decision 11 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).
- 538. The draft decision proposed by the representative of Saudi Arabia was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/114.
- 539. In view of the adoption of decision 2001/114, the Commission took no action on draft decision 11 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

540. After the adoption of the decision the representatives of Belgium, France, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland made statements in explanation of their delegations' positions.

Impunity

- 541. Also at the 78th meeting, the representative of Canada introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.77/Rev.1, sponsored by Albania, Australia, Austria, Cameroon, Canada, Chile, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Guatemala, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, New Zealand, the Republic of Korea, Slovenia, Spain, Switzerland, Uganda and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Angola, Armenia, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Ethiopia, Georgia, Greece, Haiti, Hungary, Latvia, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, South Africa, Sweden and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 542. The representative of Canada orally revised the eleventh preambular paragraph and paragraph 7 of the draft resolution.
- 543. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Algeria, China, Cuba and India.
- 544. At the request of the representative of China, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 39 votes to none, with 13 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada,

Colombia, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Guatemala, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Madagascar, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Peru, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Spain, Swaziland,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Zambia.

Against: None.

Abstaining: China, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, India, Libyan Arab

Jamahiriya, Malaysia, Pakistan, Qatar, Russian Federation, Syrian Arab

Republic, Thailand, United States of America, Viet Nam.

545. Statements in explanation of vote after the vote were made by the representatives of Colombia, Norway and the United States of America.

546. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/70.

Human rights and bioethics

- 547. At the same meeting, the representative of France introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.87, sponsored by Bangladesh, Belgium, Cuba, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, France, Germany, Monaco, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, Slovenia, South Africa and Spain. Algeria, Burundi, Cameroon, Costa Rica, Georgia, Greece, Israel, the Republic of the Congo and Sweden subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 548. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/71.

The role of good governance in the promotion of human rights

- 549. At the 78th meeting, the representative of South Africa introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.88, sponsored by Albania, Australia, Belgium, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Canada, Chile, Croatia, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, Ecuador, Finland, Georgia, Germany, Guatemala, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Japan, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Senegal, Singapore, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Azerbaijan, Cameroon, Costa Rica, Cyprus, Ghana, Morocco, the Netherlands and San Marino subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 550. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/72.
- 551. After the adoption of the resolution, the representatives of Algeria and India made statements in explanation of their delegations' positions.

Human rights and international solidarity

- 552. Also at the 78th meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.96, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, the Central African Republic, China, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Ghana, Haiti, Iraq, Mauritania, the Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, the Sudan and Togo. India, Kenya, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Tunisia and Yemen subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 553. The representative of Cuba orally revised the draft resolution by deleting paragraphs 4 to 6.
- 554. A statement in connection with the draft resolution was made by the representative of Japan.
- 555. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the

Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement), Canada (also on behalf of Norway) and France.

556. At the request of the representative of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, as orally revised, which was adopted by 36 votes to 16. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya,

Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru,

Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela,

Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: None.

557. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

558. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/73.

Human rights and human responsibilities

559. At the same meeting, the Commission considered draft decision 14 recommended by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights for adoption by the Commission (see E/CN.4/2001/2-E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46, chap. I).

- 560. A statement in connection with the draft decision was made by the representative of Cuba.
- 561. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁴⁵ of the draft decision.
- 562. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Algeria, Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the

⁴⁵ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

Commission - France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission - the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania - aligned themselves with the statement) and Cuba.

563. At the request of the representative of Belgium, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft decision, which was adopted by 34 votes to 14, with 4 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Cuba,

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand,

Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan,

Latvia, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Costa Rica, Guatemala, Norway, Republic of Korea.

564. A statement in explanation of vote after the vote was made by the representative of Costa Rica.

565. For the text of the decision as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/115.

XVIII. Effective functioning of human rights mechanisms:

- (a) Treaty bodies;
- (b) National institutions and regional arrangements;
- (c) Adaptation and strengthening of the United Nations machinery for human rights
- 566. The Commission considered agenda item 18 at its 65th to 67th meetings, on 19 April, and at its 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001. 46
- 567. For the documents issued under agenda item 18, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 568. In the general debate on agenda item 18, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers, representatives of national institutions and of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies

- 569. At the 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.64, sponsored by Algeria, Angola, Bangladesh, Belarus, Cameroon, China, Côte d'Ivoire, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Haiti, Iraq, the Islamic Republic of Iran, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Mauritania, Mexico, the Republic of the Congo, the Russian Federation, Sri Lanka, the Sudan, Swaziland, the Syrian Arab Republic, Togo, the United Republic of Tanzania, Viet Nam and Yemen. The Dominican Republic and Tunisia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 570. A statement in explanation of vote before the vote was made by the representative of Canada (also on behalf of Norway).
- 571. At the request of the representative of Canada, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, which was adopted by 35 votes to 15, with 2 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar,

Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

⁴⁶ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Spain, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America.

Abstaining: Brazil, Republic of Korea.

572. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/76.

Regional cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region

- 573. Also at the 79th meeting, the representative of Thailand introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.84, sponsored by Australia, Bangladesh, Bhutan, China, India, Indonesia, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Japan, Mongolia, Nepal, New Zealand, Norway, Pakistan, the Philippines, the Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka and Thailand. Cyprus subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 574. The representative of Thailand orally revised paragraphs 12 and 13 of the draft resolution.
- 575. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/77.

Human rights and thematic procedures

576. At the same meeting, the representative of the Czech Republic introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91, sponsored by Albania, Australia, Bulgaria, Canada, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Lithuania, Malta, Mexico, New Zealand, Romania, Slovakia, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Belarus, Georgia, Guatemala, the Republic of Korea, Sweden and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia subsequently joined the sponsors. The draft resolution read as follows:

"Human rights and thematic procedures

"The Commission on Human Rights,

"Considering that thematic procedures established by the Commission with regard to the consideration of questions related to the promotion and protection of all human rights, being a major achievement and representing an essential element of the United Nations efforts to promote and protect internationally recognized human rights, have an important role among its human rights monitoring mechanisms,

"Emphasizing the importance of the impartiality, objectivity and independence of the thematic procedures as well as the need for due attention to violations of all human rights wherever they may occur, "Noting with satisfaction that an increasing number of Governments have developed a working relationship with the thematic procedures, in particular in the form of invitations to visit, responses to requests for information and implementation of recommendations, and that numerous non-governmental organizations have also developed a working relationship with the thematic procedures,

"Welcoming the fact that a number of Governments have announced that they will always accept requests to visit from thematic procedures and inviting other Governments to consider doing the same,

"Recalling General Assembly resolution 53/144 of 9 December 1998 by which the General Assembly adopted the Declaration on the Right and Responsibility of Individuals, Groups and Organs of Society to Promote and Protect Universally Recognized Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, and recalling its own resolution 2000/61 of 26 April 2000 on the implementation of the Declaration,

"Emphasizing the obligation of all Governments not to subject individuals, organizations or groups of persons who have provided information to the special procedures to adverse treatment as a result of such action,

"Recalling the applicability of the provisions of the Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations to the work of the experts of the special procedures system in the exercise of their functions,

"Recalling also all its resolutions on human rights and thematic procedures,

"Recalling further:

- "(a) Recommendations concerning thematic procedures contained in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action adopted in June 1993 by the World Conference on Human Rights (A/CONF.157/23), which called for the strengthening of special procedures;
- "(b) The Secretary-General's programme for United Nations reform (A/51/950 and Add.1-7), which calls for mainstreaming human rights in United Nations activities;
- "(c) The report of the Inter-sessional open-ended working group on enhancing the effectiveness of the mechanisms of the Commission (Commission decision 2000/109, annex),

"Mindful of the request of the Secretary-General to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to review the human rights machinery and develop recommendations on possible ways to streamline and rationalize it, with a view to strengthening, inter alia, the special procedures, "Welcoming the organization by the High Commissioner of annual meetings of the holders of mandates, as recommended by the World Conference on Human Rights, and the efforts to coordinate activities among various mandates in the areas of urgent actions, missions to the field and relevant meetings and consultations, so as to enhance the effectiveness of their respective mandates, taking into account the need to avoid unnecessary duplication and overlapping,

"Noting that some human rights violations are specific to or primarily directed against women, and that the identification and reporting of these violations demand specific awareness and sensitivity,

"Noting also that children and members of other vulnerable groups are frequently subject to abuses of their human rights and deserve specific attention when reporting on violations of human rights,

- "1. *Commends* those Governments that have invited the thematic special rapporteurs, representatives, experts or working groups to visit their countries and developed other forms of intensive cooperation with the thematic procedures;
- "2. *Encourages* all Governments to cooperate with the Commission through the pertinent thematic procedures by:
- "(a) Responding without undue delay to requests for information made to them through the thematic procedures, so that the procedures may carry out their mandates effectively;
- "(b) Considering inviting thematic special rapporteurs, representatives, experts and working groups to visit their countries;
- "(c) Considering follow-up visits with a view to the effective implementation of recommendations by the thematic procedures concerned;
- "3. *Invites* the Governments concerned to study carefully the recommendations addressed to them under thematic procedures and to keep the relevant mechanisms informed without undue delay on the progress made towards their implementation;
- "4. *Invites* non-governmental organizations to continue and to strengthen their cooperation with thematic procedures and to ensure that the material provided is as detailed, concise and accurate as possible and falls under the mandate of these procedures;
- "5. *Requests* the thematic special rapporteurs, representatives, experts and working groups:
- "(a) To make recommendations for the prevention of human rights violations within their respective mandates;

- "(b) To follow closely and reflect in their reports progress made by Governments in the investigations carried out within their respective mandates;
- "(c) To continue close cooperation with relevant treaty bodies and country rapporteurs;
- "(d) To focus the limited resources in ways that best advance the fulfilment of their mandates:
 - "(e) To provide concise and focused reports within their respective mandates;
- "(f) To include in their reports information provided by Governments on follow-up action, as well as their own observations thereon, including in regard to both problems and improvements, as appropriate;
- "(g) To include regularly in their reports gender-disaggregated data and to address the characteristics and practice of human rights violations under their mandates that are specifically or primarily directed against women, or to which women are particularly vulnerable, in order to ensure the effective protection of their human rights;
- "(h) To address also in their reports the characteristics and practice of human rights violations under their mandates that are specifically or primarily directed against children, or to which children are particularly vulnerable, in order to ensure the effective protection of their human rights, and, if possible, to include also age-disaggregated data;
- "6. Also requests the thematic special rapporteurs, representatives, experts and working groups to include in their reports comments on problems of responsiveness and the result of analyses, as appropriate, in order to carry out their mandates even more effectively, and to include also in their reports suggestions as to areas where Governments might request relevant assistance through the programme of advisory services administered by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights;
- "7. Requests the Secretary-General, taking note of the recommendations of the meetings of the special rapporteurs and representatives, experts and chairpersons of working groups of the special procedures of the Commission and of the advisory services programme, and also of the joint meeting of chairpersons of treaty bodies, to convene further such periodic meetings in order to enable participants to continue to exchange views, cooperate and coordinate more closely within their respective mandates and make recommendations to that effect so as to enhance the overall effectiveness of the thematic procedures;
- "8. *Encourages* the High Commissioner, including in the follow-up to the five-year review of the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action, to further strengthen cooperation among the thematic special rapporteurs and representatives, experts, members and chairpersons of working groups of the Commission and other relevant United Nations bodies, including the human rights treaty bodies, with a view to

promoting greater efficiency and effectiveness through better coordination of the various bodies, mechanisms and procedures, taking into account the need to avoid unnecessary duplication and overlapping of their mandates and tasks;

- "9. Suggests that the special rapporteurs and representatives, experts and working groups of the special procedures of the Commission, acting within their mandates, consider how they can also promote public awareness about human rights and about the particular situation of individuals, groups and organs of society who promote and protect human rights and fundamental freedoms;
 - "10. Requests the Secretary-General:
- "(a) To issue annually and sufficiently early, in close collaboration with the thematic special rapporteurs, representatives, experts and working groups, their conclusions and recommendations, so as to enable further discussion of their implementation at subsequent sessions of the Commission;
- "(b) To present annually a list of all persons currently mandated to carry out the thematic and country procedures, including their country of origin, in an annex to the annotations to the provisional agenda of each session of the Commission;
- "11. Also requests the Secretary-General, in implementing the United Nations budget for the current biennium, to ensure the availability of such resources as are necessary for the Office of the High Commissioner to support the effective implementation of all thematic mandates, including any additional tasks entrusted to the thematic special rapporteurs, representatives, experts and working groups by the appropriate United Nations organs;
- "12. *Decides* to continue its consideration of this question at its fifty-ninth session."
- 577. Also at the 79th meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.104) to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91, sponsored by Cuba. The proposed amendments read as follows:
 - "1. Insert a new preambular paragraph after the present ninth preambular paragraph, with the following wording:
 - "Recalling further Commission resolution S-5/1 of 19 October 2000,".
 - "2. Insert a new preambular paragraph after the present tenth preambular paragraph with the following wording:
 - "Deeply concerned that the level of attention which the reports of the special thematic mechanisms receive at Commission sessions is inadequate, and convinced that Commission's debates on those reports should have a more interactive character than at present,".

- "3. Insert a new paragraph after paragraph 3, with the following wording:
 - "4. *Deeply regrets* that for various reasons none of the mandate holders of the special thematic procedures who were requested to undertake missions to the occupied Palestinian territories by its resolution S-5/1, carried out the Commission's request;".
- "4. Add, at the end of the present paragraph 10, a new paragraph which would read as follows:
 - "(c) To prepare the list of suitable individuals to hold mandates in the Commission's network of thematic special procedures referred to in paragraph 6 of the report of the Inter-sessional open-ended working group on enhancing the effectiveness of the mechanisms of the Commission (Commission decision 2000/109, annex), and to submit the list to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session;".
- "5. Substitute the words 'fifty-eighth' for the words 'fifty-ninth' in the present paragraph 12.
- "6. Add a new paragraph after the present paragraph 12, with the following wording:
- "13. *Decides* to undertake a thorough and objective review of all mandates within the Commission's network of thematic special procedures at its fifty-ninth session, in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 13 of the report of the Working Group."
- 578. A statement in connection with the draft resolution and the proposed amendments was made by the representative of Cuba.
- 579. At the request of the representative of the Czech Republic, the Commission decided to postpone consideration of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91 and the proposed amendments (E/CN.4/2001/L.104) until its next session.
- 580. The decision was adopted without a vote. For the text of the decision as adopted, see chapter II, section B, decision 2001/116.

Composition of the staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

581. At the 79th meeting, the representative of Cuba introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.97, sponsored by Afghanistan, Algeria, Angola, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Belarus, Bhutan, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Cuba, the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Ghana, Haiti, Honduras, India, Indonesia, Iraq, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Kenya, Liberia, the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Mauritania, Mexico, Nepal, Niger, Nigeria, Oman, Pakistan, Panama, Peru, the Philippines, Qatar, the Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka, the Sudan, Swaziland, Togo, Tunisia, Turkey, Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam and Yemen. Colombia, the

Dominican Republic, Lebanon, Madagascar, Malaysia, Myanmar, Nicaragua, the Syrian Arab Republic, Uganda, the United Arab Emirates and Zambia subsequently joined the sponsors.

- 582. The representative of Cuba orally revised the draft resolution by deleting paragraph 6.
- 583. Statements in explanation of vote before the vote were made by the representatives of Belgium (on behalf of States members of the European Union that are members of the Commission France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; the associated countries that are members of the Commission the Czech Republic, Latvia, Poland and Romania aligned themselves with the statement), Norway (also on behalf of Canada) and the United States of America.
- 584. The representative of Belgium requested a separate vote on paragraphs 7 and 14. At the request of the representative of Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on those paragraphs. The paragraphs were retained, by 33 votes to 16, with 3 abstentions,. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Uruguay,

Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: Guatemala, Russian Federation, Senegal.

585. At the request of the representatives of Belgium and Cuba, a roll-call vote was taken on the draft resolution, as orally revised, which was adopted by 34 votes to 16, with 2 abstentions. The voting was as follows:

In favour: Algeria, Argentina, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, China, Colombia,

Costa Rica, Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Pakistan, Peru, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, South Africa, Swaziland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand,

Uruguay, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia.

Against: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, Latvia,

Norway, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Spain,

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,

United States of America.

Abstaining: Guatemala, Russian Federation.

586. For the text of the resolution as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/78.

Regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights

- 587. Also at the 79th meeting, the representative of Belgium introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.99, sponsored by Albania, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Honduras, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Monaco, Morocco, Mozambique, New Zealand, Norway, the Philippines, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, Senegal, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Thailand, the United States of America and Venezuela. Georgia, Malta, Mauritius, Mongolia, Panama, the Republic of Moldova and The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 588. The sixth preambular paragraph and paragraphs 4 and 10 of the draft resolution were orally revised by the representative of Belgium.
- 589. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/79.

National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights

- 590. At the same meeting, the observer for Australia introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.102, sponsored by Afghanistan, Albania, Australia, Austria, Bangladesh, Belarus, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, Croatia, Denmark, France, Greece, Iceland, Indonesia, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Latvia, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Mexico, New Zealand, Niger, Norway, Peru, the Philippines, Poland, Portugal, the Republic of Korea, Romania, Slovakia, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Thailand and Tunisia. Angola, Argentina, Armenia, Colombia, Cyprus, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Georgia, Germany, Guatemala, India, Mauritius, Morocco, Rwanda, Senegal, Slovenia, Sweden, The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Togo, Turkey, Uganda, Ukraine, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the United States of America and Venezuela subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 591. The observer for Australia orally revised the draft resolution by revising the eighth preambular paragraph and paragraphs 4 and 8, and by inserting a new paragraph 3.
- 592. The draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/80.

XIX. Advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights

- 593. The Commission considered agenda item 19 at its 74th meeting, on 24 April, and at its 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001.⁴⁷
- 594. For the documents issued under agenda item 19, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 595. At the 74th meeting, on 24 April 2001:
- (a) Mr. Peter Leuprecht, Special Representative of the Secretary-General for human rights in Cambodia, introduced his report (E/CN.4/2001/103);
- (b) A statement was read out by a member of the secretariat on behalf of Mr. Adama Dieng, independent expert on the situation of human rights in Haiti, in connection with the independent expert's report (E/CN.4/2001/106);
- (c) Ms. Leila I. Takla, Chairperson of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Technical Cooperation in the Field of Human Rights, made a statement.
- 596. In the general debate on agenda item 19, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

Assistance to Somalia in the field of human rights

- 597. At the 79th meeting, on 25 April 2001, the representative of Italy introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.81, sponsored by Australia, Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Canada, Costa Rica, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Kenya, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, Malta, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Romania, San Marino, South Africa, Spain, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the United States of America. Mauritius subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 598. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁴⁸ of the draft resolution.
- 599. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/81.

⁴⁷ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

⁴⁸ See footnote 4 above (chap. V, para. 73).

Situation of human rights in Cambodia

- 600. Also at the 79th meeting, the representative of Japan introduced draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.101, sponsored by Australia, Belgium, Canada, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Liechtenstein, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. Austria, France, Greece and the United States of America subsequently joined the sponsors.
- 601. In accordance with rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the attention of the Commission was drawn to the estimated administrative and programme budget implications⁴⁹ of the draft resolution.
- 602. The draft resolution was adopted without a vote. For the text as adopted, see chapter II, section A, resolution 2001/82.

Technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti

603. At the 79th meeting, the Chairperson, on behalf of the Commission, made a statement concerning technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti. (For the text, see below, paragraph 604.)

Chairperson's statement

604. During the consideration of agenda item 19, the Chairperson made a statement, the text of which reads as follows:

"Technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti

"The Commission welcomes the visit of the Minister for Foreign Affairs of Haiti to this body and takes note of his recognition that, while there has been some progress on human rights in Haiti, problems persist with regard to the administration of justice, impunity, prolonged detention and prison conditions.

"The Commission also takes note of the request by the Government of Haiti for assistance in addressing these issues and in improving human rights, and pledges to give this request serious consideration, while recognizing that primary responsibility remains with the Haitians.

"The Commission encourages the Government of Haiti and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights to consider seriously undertaking a programme of technical cooperation and assistance, particularly for capacity-building in, *inter alia*, State institutions, the Office of the Ombudsman, the Judges School, the administration of justice and civil society. Such a programme might include an Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights office in Haiti at some point in the future.

_

⁴⁹ Ibid.

"The Commission calls upon the Government of Haiti to consider ratifying the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and the Optional Protocols to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights.

"The Commission expresses deep concern that a political impasse in Haiti remains unresolved and stems originally from a flawed method for counting first-round results and other electoral controversies that compromised the May 2000 legislative elections. It deeply regrets that mediation efforts have not succeeded in achieving a fruitful dialogue.

"The Commission notes that the November 2000 presidential and partial legislative elections adhered to constitutional process and relevant electoral laws, but regrets that those elections did not benefit from the full participation of Haiti's diverse political actors and civil society. It welcomes commitments made by the Government of Haiti to rectify the problems associated with the May 2000 legislative elections and other electoral and political issues, and urges negotiation towards a national accord.

"The Commission welcomes and encourages the mediation efforts of the Organization of American States, the Caribbean Community and members of Haitian civil society to bring about dialogue and reconciliation among Haiti's political forces. It calls on the Government of Haiti and all political parties to participate actively and constructively in those efforts with a view to an agreed outcome in the national interest.

"The Commission welcomes the judicial effort to hold the Raboteau and Carrefour-Feuilles trials in a fair and transparent manner, bringing to justice the perpetrators of extrajudicial killings and demonstrating the potential for improving respect for the rule of law and combating impunity.

"The Commission calls upon the Government of Haiti to investigate thoroughly politically motivated crimes, including the assassination of journalist Jean Dominique, to prosecute accused perpetrators of such crimes in accordance with Haitian law, to institute legal proceedings against perpetrators of human rights violations identified by the National Commission for Truth and Justice, and to ensure the neutrality of the police.

"The Commission on Human Rights encourages the Government of Haiti to take vigorous action to eliminate human rights violations, including illegal arrest and detention, to improve prison conditions, to ensure due process and, in this regard, to strengthen the Office of the Ombudsman.

"The Commission condemns acts of violence, in particular politically motivated violence, encourages all the political parties and all concerned to refrain from making inflammatory remarks, calls on members of popular organizations to cease intimidation and harassment of political activists and urges the government authorities to protect all Haitian citizens and their constitutional rights to assemble peacefully and express their political opinions.

"The Commission, noting that the United Nations International Civilian Support Mission in Haiti ended its mandate in February, observes an ongoing need in Haiti to promote and protect all human rights and to reinforce the institutional effectiveness of the police and judiciary, and invites the international community to assist Haiti in these efforts.

"The Commission also expresses concern over Haiti's *restaveks*, children who are placed in domestic service, sometimes against their will and in deplorable conditions, and encourages the efforts of the Government of Haiti supported by the United Nations Children's Fund, the International Labour Organization and other entities working to improve the situation. The Commission encourages the Government of Haiti to promote the rights of children, in particular their right to education. The Commission also expresses concern about the difficult socio-economic situation in Haiti, which continues to exact a heavy toll on the lives of the Haitian people.

"The Commission takes note of the report of the former independent expert on the situation of human rights in Haiti (E/CN.4/2001/106) of 30 January 2001 and requests a new independent expert to report to the General Assembly at its fifty-sixth session and to the Commission at its fifty-eighth session on developments in the situation of human rights and technical cooperation for human rights in Haiti. The Commission decides to continue its consideration of the situation of human rights in Haiti at its fifty-eighth session under the agenda item entitled 'Advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights'."

XX. Rationalization of the work of the Commission

- 605. The Commission considered agenda item 20 at its 74th and 75th meetings, on 24 April 2001. ⁵⁰
- 606. For the documents issued under agenda item 20, see annex VI to the present report. For a list of all resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission and Chairperson's statements, by agenda item, see annex V.
- 607. In the general debate on agenda item 20, statements were made by members of the Commission, observers and representatives of non-governmental organizations. For a detailed list of speakers, see annex III to the present report.

⁵⁰ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

XXI. (a) Draft provisional agenda for the fifty-eighth session of the Commission

- 608. The Commission considered agenda item 21 at its 80th meeting, on 27 April 2001.⁵¹
- 609. In accordance with the provisions of paragraph 3 of Economic and Social Council resolution 1894 (LVII), of 1 August 1974, the Commission had before it a note from the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/2001/L.1), containing a draft provisional agenda for the fifty-eighth session of the Commission and indicating the documents to be submitted under each agenda item and the legislative authority for their preparation and consideration.
- 610. The Commission took note of the draft agenda for its fifty-eighth session, which reads as follows:
 - 1. Election of officers.
 - 2. Adoption of the agenda.
 - 3. *Organization of the work of the session.*

Legislative authority: relevant resolutions and decisions of the General Assembly, the Economic and Social Council and the Commission.

Documentation:

Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights containing an analysis of the situation of human rights in Colombia (statement agreed on by consensus by the Commission, made by the Chairperson on 25 April 2001).

4. Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and follow-up to the World Conference on Human Rights.

Legislative authority: General Assembly resolution 48/141; Commission resolutions 1997/69 and 2001/50.

Documentation:

Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (General Assembly resolution 48/141, para. 5; Commission resolution 1997/69, para. 14).

5. The right of peoples to self-determination and its application to peoples under colonial or alien domination or foreign occupation.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2001/2, 2001/3 and 2001/50.

⁵¹ See footnote 1 above (chap. III, para. 1).

Documentation:

- (a) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2001/2 on the situation in occupied Palestine (para. 2);
- (b) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination (resolution 2001/3, para. 16).
- 6. Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of discrimination.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2001/4, 2001/5 and 2001/50.

Documentation:

- (a) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the implementation of resolution 2001/4 (para. 7);
- (b) Report of the Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance (resolution 2001/5, para. 36);
- (c) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2001/5 (para. 70).
- 7. The right to development.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2001/9 and 2001/50.

Documentation:

Report of the Working Group on the Right to Development (resolution 2001/9, para. 24).

8. Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 1993/2, 2001/6, 2001/7, 2001/8 and 2001/50.

- (a) Report of the Special Rapporteur (resolutions 1993/2 A, para. 4 and 2001/7, para. 14);
- (b) Reports of the Secretary-General (resolutions 2001/6, para. 6 and 2001/7, para. 15);

- (c) List of United Nations reports issued between sessions of the Commission that deal with the conditions in which the citizens of the Palestinian and other occupied Arab territories are living under the Israeli occupation (resolution 2001/7, para. 16).
- 9. Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world, including:
 - (a) Question of human rights in Cyprus;
 - (b) Procedure established in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolutions 1503 (XLVIII) and 2000/3.

Legislative authority: Economic and Social Council resolutions 1503 (XLVIII), 1990/41 and 2000/3; Commission resolutions 8 (XXIII), 2001/10, 2001/11, 2001/12, 2001/13, 2001/14, 2001/15, 2001/16, 2001/17, 2001/18, 2001/19, 2001/20, 2001/21, 2001/22, 2001/24 and 2001/50 and decision 2001/102.

- (a) Report of the Working Group on Situations (Economic and Social Council resolution 1990/41);
- (b) Report of the Secretary-General on the human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel (Commission resolution 2001/10, para. 5 (b));
- (c) Report of the Secretary-General on reprisals against persons cooperating with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies (Commission resolution 2001/11, para. 6);
- (d) Report of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Bosnia and Herzegovina and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Commission resolution 2001/12, para. 41);
- (e) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan (Commission resolution 2001/13, para. 20 (a));
- (f) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Iraq (Commission resolution 2001/14, para. 5 (a));
- (g) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Myanmar (Commission resolution 2001/15, para. 7 (a));
- (h) Report of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran (Commission resolution 2001/17, para. 17);

- (*i*) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Sudan (Commission resolution 2001/18, para. 8 (*a*));
- (j) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (Commission resolution 2001/19, para. 5 (a));
- (k) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo and of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions and a member of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances on a joint mission to investigate all massacres carried out on the territory of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (Commission resolution 2001/19, para. 5 (b));
- (*l*) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the human rights situation in Sierra Leone (Commission resolution 2001/20, para 11 (*f*));
- (*m*) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Burundi (Commission resolution 2001/21, para. 34);
- (n) Report of the Special Representative of the Commission on the situation of human rights in Equatorial Guinea (Commission resolution 2001/22, para. 8);
- (o) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation (Commission resolution 2001/24, para. 20);
- (p) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the situation of human rights in East Timor (statement agreed on by consensus by the Commission, made by the Chairperson on 20 April 2001);
- (q) Report of the Secretary-General on the question of human rights in Cyprus (Commission decision 2001/102).
- 10. Economic, social and cultural rights.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2000/12, 2001/25, 2001/26, 2001/27, 2001/28, 2001/29, 2001/30, 2001/31, 2001/32, 2001/33, 2001/34, 2001/35 and 2001/50.

- (a) Report of the independent expert on the question of human rights and extreme poverty (resolution 2000/12, para. 7 (f));
- (b) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to food (resolution 2001/25, para. 16);
- (c) Report of the Secretary-General on the implications and negative effects of unilateral coercive measures (resolution 2001/26, para. 11 (b));
- (d) Analytical report of the independent expert on the effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, in particular, economic, social and cultural rights (resolution 2001/27, para. 10);
- (e) Report of the Open-ended working group established to elaborate policy guidelines on structural adjustment programmes and economic, social and cultural rights (resolution 2001/27, para. 19);
- (f) Report of the Special Rapporteur on adequate housing (resolution 2001/28, para. 7);
- (g) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to education (resolution 2001/29, para. 8 (b));
- (h) Report of the independent expert on the question of a draft optional protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (resolution 2001/30, para. 8 (c));
- (i) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2001/30 (para. 9);
- (*j*) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of human rights (resolution 2001/32, para. 9);
- (k) Report of the Secretary-General on access to medication in the context of pandemics, such as HIV/AIDS (resolution 2001/33, para. 7);
- (l) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2001/34 (para. 14);
- (*m*) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights (resolution 2001/35, paras. 13 and 14).

- 11. Civil and political rights, including the questions of:
 - (a) Torture and detention;
 - (b) Disappearances and summary executions;
 - (c) Freedom of expression;
 - (d) Independence of the judiciary, administration of justice, impunity;
 - (e) Religious intolerance;
 - (f) States of emergency;
 - (g) Conscientious objection to military service.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2000/32, 2000/34, 2000/39, 2001/36, 2001/37, 2001/38, 2001/39, 2001/40, 2001/41, 2001/42, 2001/43, 2001/44, 2001/45, 2001/46, 2001/47, 2001/50 and 2001/62 and decision 2001/105.

- (a) Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on human rights and forensic science (resolution 2000/32, para. 8);
- (b) Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on conscientious objection to military service (resolution 2000/34, para. 2);
- (c) Reports of the Secretary-General on human rights in the administration of justice (resolution 2000/39, paras. 20 and 21);
- (d) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the independence of judges and lawyers (resolution 2001/39, para. 8);
- (e) Report of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention (resolution 2001/40, para. 11);
- (f) Report of the Special Rapporteur on freedom of religion or belief (resolution 2001/42, para. 18);
- (g) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the main trends and governmental policies regarding the incompatibility between democracy and racism (resolution 2001/43, para. 7);

- (h) Report of the Open-ended working group on a draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (resolution 2001/44, para. 2);
- (i) Report of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions (resolution 2001/45, paras. 14 and 15 (a));
- (*j*) Report of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances (resolution 2001/46, para. 10);
- (k) Report of the independent expert appointed to examine the existing international criminal and human rights framework for the protection of persons from enforced or involuntary disappearance (resolution 2001/46, para. 11);
- (*l*) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression (resolution 2001/47, para. 21);
- (*m*) Annual report of the Secretary-General on the status of the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (resolution 2001/62, para. 25);
- (n) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture (resolution 2001/62, para. 38);
- (*o*) Report of the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture (resolution 2001/62, para. 45);
- (p) Annual report of the Secretary-General on the operations of the United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture (resolution 2001/62, para. 46);
- (q) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the final outcome of the consultative meeting on the basic principles and guidelines on the right to a remedy and reparation for victims of violations of international human rights and humanitarian law (decision 2001/105).
- 12. *Integration of the human rights of women and a gender perspective:*
 - (a) Violence against women.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 1997/44, 2001/48, 2001/49 and 2001/50.

Documentation:

- (a) Report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences (resolution 1997/44, para. 14);
- (b) Update on the report of the Secretary-General on activities of United Nations bodies and other international organizations pertaining to the problem of trafficking in women and girls (resolution 2001/48, para. 16);
- (c) Joint work plan of the Division for the Advancement of Women and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (resolution 2001/50, para. 8);
- (*d*) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2001/50 (para. 30).

13. Rights of the child.

Legislative authority: General Assembly resolution 51/77; Commission resolutions 1992/74, 2001/50, 2001/74 and 2001/75.

- (a) Annual report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children (General Assembly resolution 51/77, para. 37);
- (b) Report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights on the state of implementation of the Programme of Action for the Prevention of the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography (Commission resolution 1992/74, sect. I, para. 8);
- (c) Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the issue of the abduction of children from northern Uganda (Commission resolution 2001/74);
- (d) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography (Commission resolution 2001/75, para. 30);
- (e) Report of the Secretary-General (Commission resolution 2001/75, para. 38 (a)).

- 14. Specific groups and individuals:
 - (a) Migrant workers;
 - (b) Minorities;
 - (c) Mass exoduses and displaced persons;
 - (d) Other vulnerable groups and individuals.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2000/50, 2000/51, 2000/54, 2001/50, 2001/52, 2001/53, 2001/54, 2001/55 and 2001/56.

Documentation:

- (a) Report of the United High Commissioner for Human Rights on the implementation of resolution 2000/50 (para. 4);
- (b) Report of the Secretary-General on the problem of violence against women migrant workers (resolution 2000/54, para. 7);
- (c) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants (resolution 2001/52, para. 23);
- (d) Report of the Secretary-General on the status of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families (resolution 2001/53, para. 9);
- (e) Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons (resolution 2001/54, para. 23);
- (f) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2001/55 on the rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities (paras. 8 and 19).

15. *Indigenous issues*.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2001/50, 2001/57, 2001/58 and 2001/59.

Documentation:

(a) Annual report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people (resolution 2001/57, para. 10);

- (b) Progress report of the Working Group on a draft United Nations declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples (resolution 2001/58, para. 7);
- (c) Updated annual report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People (resolution 2001/59, para. 12).
- 16. Report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights:
 - (a) Report and draft decisions;
 - (b) Election of members.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2001/50 and 2001/60.

Documentation:

Report of the Sub-Commission on its fifty-third session.

- 17. Promotion and protection of human rights:
 - (a) Status of the International Covenants on Human Rights;
 - (b) Human rights defenders;
 - (c) Information and education;
 - (d) Science and the environment.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2000/61, 2000/67, 2001/50, 2001/61, 2001/64, 2001/65, 2001/67, 2001/68, 2001/69, 2001/70, 2001/72 and 2001/73, and decisions 2001/111, 2001/112 and 2001/115.

- (a) Annual report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on human rights defenders (resolution 2000/61, para. 6);
- (b) Report of the Secretary-General on the status of the International Covenants on Human Rights (resolution 2000/67, para. 24);
- (c) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the implementation of resolution 2001/61 on the United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (para. 5);

- (d) Yearly supplement on changes in law and practice concerning the death penalty worldwide to the Secretary-General's quinquennial report on capital punishment (resolution 2001/68, para. 7);
- (e) Report of the Secretary-General on the issue of impunity (resolution 2001/70, para. 12);
- (f) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the role of good governance in the promotion of human rights (resolution 2001/72, para. 4);
- (g) Report of the Secretary-General on fundamental standards of humanity (decision 2001/112);
- (h) Preliminary report by an expert of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights on the issue of human rights and human responsibilities (decision 2001/115).
- 18. *Effective functioning of human rights mechanisms:*
 - (a) Treaty bodies;
 - (b) National institutions and regional arrangements;
 - (c) Adaptation and strengthening of the United Nations machinery for human rights.

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2000/75, 2000/77, 2000/86, 2001/50, 2001/76, 2001/77, 2001/78 and 2001/80, and decision 2001/116.

- (a) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2000/75 (para. 23);
- (b) Report of the Secretary-General on the protection of United Nations personnel (resolution 2000/77, paras. 10 and 11);
- (c) Report of the Secretary-General containing conclusions and recommendations of special procedures (resolution 2000/86, para. 10 (a));
- (d) Report of the Secretary-General on regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region (resolution 2001/77, para. 17);

- (e) Comprehensive report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the implementation of resolution 2001/78 on the composition of the staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (para. 13);
- (f) Report of the Secretary-General on the implementation of resolution 2001/80 on national institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights (para. 16).
- 19. *Advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights.*

Legislative authority: Commission resolutions 2000/80, 2001/50, 2001/81 and 2001/82.

Documentation:

- (a) Analytical report of the Secretary-General on advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights (resolution 2000/80, para. 15 (c));
- (b) Report of the independent expert on the situation of human rights in Somalia (resolution 2001/81, para. 11 (a));
- (c) Report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the situation of human rights in Cambodia (resolution 2001/82);
- (d) Report of the Secretary-General on the situation of human rights in Cambodia (resolution 2001/82, para. 29);
- (e) Report of the independent expert on the situation of human rights in Haiti (statement agreed on by consensus by the Commission, made by the Chairperson on 25 April 2001).
- 20. Rationalization of the work of the Commission.

Legislative authority: Commission decision 2000/109.

- 21. (a) Draft provisional agenda for the fifty-ninth session of the Commission
 - (b) Report to the Economic and Social Council on the fifty-eighth session of the Commission.

Legislative authority: Economic and Social Council resolution 1894 (LVII); rule 38 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Council.

Documentation:

Note by the Secretary-General containing the draft provisional agenda for the fifty-ninth session of the Commission, together with information concerning documentation relating thereto.

(b) Report of the Commission to the Economic and Social Council on its fifty-seventh session

611. At its 80th meeting, on 27 April 2001, the Commission considered the draft report on the work of its fifty-seventh session. The draft report, as contained in documents E/CN.4/2001/L.10 and Add.1-17 and E/CN.4/2001/L.11 and Add.1-8, was adopted *ad referendum*, and the Commission decided to entrust the Rapporteur with its finalization.

ANNEXES

Annex I

Agenda

- 1. Election of officers.
- 2. Adoption of the agenda.
- 3. Organization of the work of the session.
- 4. Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and follow-up to the World Conference on Human Rights.
- 5. The right of peoples to self-determination and its application to peoples under colonial or alien domination or foreign occupation.
- 6. Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of discrimination.
- 7. The right to development.
- 8. Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine.
- 9. Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world, including:
 - (a) Question of human rights in Cyprus;
 - (b) Procedure established in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolutions 1503 (XLVIII) and 2000/3.
- 10. Economic, social and cultural rights.
- 11. Civil and political rights, including the questions of:
 - (a) Torture and detention;
 - (b) Disappearances and summary executions;
 - (c) Freedom of expression;

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

(<i>d</i>)	Independence of the judiciary, administration of justice, impunity;			
(e)	Religious intolerance;			
(f)	States of emergency;			
(g)	Conscientious objection to military service.			
Integration of the human rights of women and the gender perspective:				
(a)	Violence against women.			
Rights of the child.				
Specific groups and individuals:				
(a)	Migrant workers;			
(<i>b</i>)	Minorities;			
(c)	Mass exoduses and displaced persons;			
(<i>d</i>)	Other vulnerable groups and individuals.			
Indigenous issues.				
Report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights:				
(a)	Report and draft decisions;			
(<i>b</i>)	Election of members.			
Promotion and protection of human rights:				
(a)	Status of the International Covenants on Human Rights;			
(<i>b</i>)	Human rights defenders;			
(c)	Information and education;			
(<i>d</i>)	Science and environment.			

- 18. Effective functioning of human rights mechanisms:
 - (a) Treaty bodies;
 - (b) National institutions and regional arrangements;
 - (c) Adaptation and strengthening of the United Nations machinery for human rights.
- 19. Advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights.
- 20. Rationalization of the work of the Commission.
- 21. (a) Draft provisional agenda for the fifty-eighth session of the Commission;
 - (b) Report to the Economic and Social Council on the fifty-seventh session of the Commission.

ANNEX II

Attendance

Members

Algeria

- Mr. Mohamed-Salah Dembri*, Mr. Lakehal Benkelai, Mr. Mohamed El Amine Bencherif,
- Mr. Hocine Sahraoui, Mr. Nor-Eddine Benfreha, Mr. Kheireddine Ramoul,
- Mr. Chems-Eddine Zelaci, Ms Nassima Baghli, Mme Sadjia Benmati, Ms Nadia Lamrani,
- Mr. Ismail Hallab, Mr. Ahmed Hamed-Abdelouahab, Ms. Samira Hadj Djilani,
- Ms. Anissa Bouabdallah, Mr. Brahim Lakrouf, Ms. Lila Haddad

Argentina

- Mr. Leandro Despouy*, Mr. Horacio Solari*, Ms. Norma Nascimbene de Dumont**,
- Mr. Hernan Plorutti**, Mr. Sergio Cerda, Mr. Eduardo Varela, Mr. Daniel Plaza,
- Ms. Soledad Figueroa, Ms. Florencia Zagayo, Ms. Graciela Matilde Romano,
- Ms. María Teresa Baravalle

Belgium

- Mr. Jean-Marie Noirfalisse*, Mr. Leopold Merckx**, Mr. Jean-Claude Couvreur,
- Mr. Guy Rayee, Mr. Philippe Nayer, Mr. Karl Van Den Bossche, Ms. Birgit Stevens,
- Mr. Michiel Maertens, Ms. Nathalie Rondeux, Mr. Jonathan Willems,
- Ms. Véronique Dethier, Ms. Sandrine Martins

Brazil

- Mr. Celso Luiz Nunes Amorim*, Ms. Celina Maria Assumpção Do Valle Pereira**,
- Mr. Marco Antônio Diniz Brandão, Mr. Frederico S. Duque Estrada Meyer,
- Mr. Antônio Carlos Do Nascimento Pedro, Mr. Olynthîo Vieira, Mr. Jorge Geraldo Kadri,
- Mr. Fernando Apparício Da Silva, Mr. Alexandre Peña Ghisleni,
- Mr. Maximiliano Barbosa Fraga, Mr. Marcos V. Pinta Gama, Ms. Renata Pelizon,
- Mr. Paulo Morais Santa Rosa

Burundi

Mr. Eugène Nindorera*, Mr. Adolphe Nahayo**,

Ms. Epiphanie Kabushemeye-Ntamwana

^{*} Representative.

^{**} Alternate.

Cameroon

- Mr. Augustin Kontchou Kouomegni*, Mr. François-Xavier Ngoubeyou**,
- Ms. Odette Melono, Mr. Samuel Mvondo Ayolo, Ms. Mahouve,
- Mr. Charles Tantoh Chebo, Ms. Chantal Mfoula, Mr. Jean Marie Djounkeng,
- Mr. René Njila, Mr. Kouam Tekam, Mr. Godwe Mandandi

Canada

- Ms. Marie Gervais-Vidricaire*, Ms. Adèle Dion**, Ms. Kerry Buck**, Mr. Wayne Lord,
- Ms. Deborah Chatsis, Ms. Caterina Ventura, Ms. Kirsten Ruecker, Ms. Susan Steffen,
- Mr. Alain Tellier, Mr. John von Kaufmann, Ms. Béatrice Maille, Ms. Anna Kapellas,
- Ms. Dorise Nina, Mr. Anthony Advokaat, Ms. Tasleem Juma, Ms. Christian Deslauriers,
- Mr. Deepak Obhrai, Mr. Antoine Dubé, Ms. Judy Sgro, Ms. Jean Augustine,
- Mr Steve Hibbard

China

- Mr. Qiao Zonghuai*, Mr. Li Dongsheng*, Mr. Li Baodong**, Mr. Shen Yongxiang**,
- Mr. Liu Xinsheng**, Mr. La Yifan**, Mr. Jiang Wei, Mr. Guo Weimin, Mr. Wang Shijie,
- Mr. Yu Chengping, Mr. Ren Yisheng, Mr. Mei Yuncai, Ms. Qi Xiaoxia, Mr. Tian Lixiao,
- Mr. Hong Tao, Mr. Liu Fuchen, Ms. Yang Yi, Mr. Cong Jun, Mr. Sun Xiaobo,
- Mr. Shen Bo, Ms. Li Xiaomei, Mr. Zhang Chaoqing, Mr. Xiu Shouguan,
- Ms. Han Li, Ms. Sheng Lijun

Colombia

- Mr. Gustavo Bell Lemus*, Mr. Camilo Reyes Rodríguez**, Ms. Fulvia Elvira Benavides,
- Mr. Luis Gerardo Guzmán Valencia, Mr. Miguel Camilo Ruiz Blanco,
- Ms. Ana María Prieto Abad, Ms. María Elvira Posada Corrales

Costa Rica

- Ms. Nora Ruiz de Angulo*, Mr. Sergio Corella**, Mr. Edgar Ugalde,
- Mr. Christian Guillermet, Mr. Alejandro Solano, Mr. Carlos Angulo-Ruiz

Cuba

- Mr. Carlos Amat Forés*, Mr. Juan Antonio Fernández Palacios**,
- Mr. Iván Mora Godoy**, Mr. Rodolfo Reyes Rodríguez, Ms. Mercedes de Armas García,
- Mr. Antonio Alonso Menéndez, Mr. Jorge Ferrer Rodríguez,
- Ms. Anayansi Rodríguez Camejo, Mr. Alejandro Castillo Santana,
- Mr. Mario Dorta Rivas, Mr. Miguel Alfonso Martínez

Czech Republic

- Mr. Martin Palous*, Mr. Miroslav Somol**, Mr. Alexander Slabý**, Mr. Ivan Busniak,
- Ms. Olga Cechurová, Ms. Simona Drahonovská, Mr. Karel Hejc, Mr. Lubomír Hladík,
- Mr. Petr Hladík, Mr. Petr Kopriva, Mr. Tomás Lonícek, Mr. Lukás Machon,
- Mr. Eduard Metela, Mr. Ivan Pintér, Ms. Pavla Procházková, Ms. Ivana Schellongová,
- Ms. Veronika Stromsíková, Ms. Markéta Sarbochová, Ms. Markéta Suranová,
- Ms. Jana Treybalová, Mr. Petr Buriánek, Ms. Libuse Paukertová

Democratic Republic of the Congo

- Mr. Kakez Ekir Nkaz Azama*, Mr. Benoit-Christian Kambinga Sele,
- Mr. Mavungu Mvumbi, Mr. Santini Kapumu, Mr. Zénon Mukongo Ngay,
- Mr. Bope Bushabu, Mr. Sébastien Mutomb Mujing, Mr. Jacques Masangu,
- Mr. Thomas Kanga, Mr. Albert Kisonga, Mr. Onokoko Taduni, Mr. Ahuka Tshinga,
- Mr. Matumona Mavambu, Mr. Kapung Yav, Mr. Henri Nsuana, Mr. Bobot Shelo,
- Mr. Luanga Faustin, Mr. Feza Gygy, Ms. Marie-Jeanne Kon-A-Musans,
- Mr. Emmanuelli Kahaya Mwehu, Mr. Fidèle Sambassi

Ecuador

- Mr. Roberto Betancourt-Ruales*, Mr. Alfonso López-Araujo,
- Mr. Rafael Paredes-Proano, Mr. José Valencia, Mr. Juan Carlos Castrillón,
- Ms. Fátima Ponce-Valencia, Mr. Cristian Espinosa C.

France

- Mr. Philippe Petit*, Mr. Jean-Marc Rochereau De La Sablière, Mr. Patrick Henault,
- Mr. Jean Felix-Paganon, Mr. Jérôme Bonnafont, Mr. Serge Telle,
- Ms. Danielle Jourdain-Menninger, Mr. Harold Valentin, Ms. Hélène Le Gal,
- Mr. François Saint-Paul, Ms. Françoise Gaspard, Ms. Brigitte Collet,
- Ms. Michelle Dubrocard, Ms. Hélène Duchène, Mr. Hervé Magro,
- Ms. Michèle Weil-Guthmann, Mr. Hugues Moret, Mr. Didier Le Bret,
- Ms. Marine De Carne, Mr. Jean-Marc Séré-Charlet, Mr. Pierre Boussaroque,
- Mr. Emmanuel Pitron, Ms. Nathalie Soumy, Mr. Jean-Philippe Charlemagne,
- Mr. Jean-Yves Defay, Mr. Jefferson Mouzas, Mr. Khalil Bello

Germany

- Mr. Walter Lewalter*, Mr. Klaus Metscher**, Mr. Peter Rothen**, Mr. Gerd Poppe,
- Mr. Michael Gerdts, Ms. Brita Wagener, Mr. Klaus Botzet, Mr. Christian Much,
- Ms. Martina Metz, Mr. Robert Dieter, Mr. Stefan Duppel, Mr. Peter Felten,
- Mr. Helmut Kulitz, Mr. Ronald Münch, Mr. Ralph Tarraf, Mr. Thomas Bittner,
- Ms. Martina Niemeyer, Ms. Rut Ley, Mr. Marian Niestedt, Ms. Ulrike Prauser,
- Ms. Verena Ruppert, Ms. Katja Schemmann, Ms. Julia Schmidt, Ms. Sabine Strobl,
- Mr. Clemens Grünwald, Ms. Dorothea Wenzel

Guatemala

- Mr. Antonio Arenales Forno*, Mr. Víctor Hugo Godoy**, Mr. Iván Espinoza Farfan,
- Ms. Carla Rodríguez Mancía, Ms.. Aracely Phefunchal Arriaza,
- Ms. Sulmi Barrios Monzón, Ms. Stephanie Hochstetter Skinner-Klee,
- Mr. Carlos Arroyave Prera, Mr. Otto Marroquin Guerra,
- Mr. Carlos Esteban Larios Ochaita, Mr. Víctor Manuel Rivera Wotke

India

- Ms. Savitri Kunadi*, Mr. T.C.A. Rangachari, Mr. Sharat Sabharwal, Mr. A. Gopinathan,
- Mr. R.N. Prasad, Mr. A.K. Bhattacharjee, Mr. Sharad Kumar, Mr. Kumar Tuhin,
- Mr. Sanjeev Kumar Singla, Mr. Satish Chandra, Mr. Arvind Gupta

Indonesia

- Mr. N. Hassan Wirajuda*, Mr. Nugroho Wisnumurti**, Mr. Sudjadnan Parnohadiningrat,
- Mr. Harry Purwanto, Mr. Adhi Santika, Mr. Dicky Komar, Mr. Sumarwoto Sh. Mpa,
- Mr. Kamarullah Halim, Mr. Abdurachman Mattalitti, Mr. Susanto Sutovo,
- Mr. Sumarwoto, Ms. Lucia H. Rustam, Mr. I. Gusti A. Wesaka Puja,
- Mr. Primanto Hedrasmoro, Mr. Muhammad Anshor, Mr. Yovial B. Chaniago

Italy

- Mr. Andrea Negrotto Cambiaso*, Mr. Claudio Moreno*, Mr. Giulio Cesare
- Vinci Gigliucci**, Mr. Massimo Leggeri**, Mr. Giuseppe Calvetta,
- Mr. Alberto Ceccarelli, Ms. Tosca Barucco, Mr. Luigi de Chiara, M. Claudio Scorretti,
- Mr. Pietro Prosperi, Ms. Luisa Giacomini, Ms. Raffaella Ciccone,
- Ms. Sabrina Sbroiavacca, Ms. Patrizia Sebastiano, Mr. Luigi Citarella,
- Mr. Donato Attubato, Ms. Chiara Ingrao, Mr. Antonio Papisca, Mr. Claudio Canetri,
- Ms. Cristiana Scoppa, Mr. Marco Mascia, Ms. Chiara Cardoletti, Ms. Angela Melchiorre

Japan

- Mr. Koichi Haraguchi*, Mr. Makoto Katsura**, Mr. Toshiyuki Taga**,
- Mr. Masaru Watanabe**, Mr. Akira Chiba, Mr. Tadashi Fujiwara, Mr. Takeshi Seto,
- Mr. Jiro Usui, Mr. Hajime Kishimori, Ms. Yuki Sakai, Mr. Kenju Murakami,
- Ms. Rumi Yabuki, Mr. Kohei Nakamura, Ms. Junko Yamashita, Mr. Atsushi Yonezawa,
- Ms. Rie Shiomoto, Ms. Ritsuko Ohashi, Ms. Naoko Maeda, Mr. Derek Seklecki

Kenya

Mr. Amos Wako*, Ms. J. Kosgei**, Ms. Amina C. Mohamed**, Mr. Julius K. Kandie,

Mr. P.R.O. Owade, Mr. Michael A. O. Oyugi, Ms. Njeri Mwangi, Mr. A.K. Chepsiror,

Mr. Salim Mohamed Salim, Mr. Joseph N. Busiega, Ms. J.M. Tabu Irina,

Ms. Juliet M. Gicheru, Mr. Moses L. Emurugat, Ms. Maureen J. Tagi,

Ms. Mary Kalindaga, Ms. Moselli G. Yamile, Ms. Beatrice Wamutitu,

Mr. Ambeyi Ligabo, Mr. John Gichinga, Mr. Norman Brooks

Latvia

Mr. Janis Karklins*, Ms. Dace Dobraja, Mr. Raimonds Jansons, Ms. Dace Batna, Ms. Kristine Ostrovska, Mr. Martins Pavelsons

Liberia

Mr. L. Korboi Johnson*, Mr. Henry D. Williamson, Ms. Bendu Scott, Ms. Adjowa A. Barchue

Libyan Arab Jamahiriya

Mr. Abdurrahman Mohamed Shalgam*, Ms. Najat Al-Hajjaji**, Mr. Ramadan Barg,

Mr. Musbah Allafi, Mr. Mahmud Abuseif, Ms. Zakia Sahli, Ms. Nazik M. Shawish,

Ms. Najuuan El Houni

Madagascar

M. Maxime Zafera*, Mme Clarah Andrianjaka, Mme Honorine Rahantanirina,

M. Allaouidine Koraiche, M. Ernest Tata

Malaysia

Mr. Datuk Seri Syed Hamid Albar*, Mr. Dato Hsu King Bee*, Ms. Hussain Rajmah**,

Mr. Hamzah Hasnudin**, Mr. Man Azlan**, Ms. Syed Abdullah Sharifah Fuziah**,

Mr. Ahmad Ayatillah**, Mr. Mohamed Johar Ahmad Jazri**,

Mr. Abdul Rahman Adenan**, Mr. Zainal Abidin Raja Nushirwan**, Mr. Raja Zaib Shah

Raja Reza**, Mr. Mohmed Ibrahim Ikram**, Ms. Abdul Aziz Astanah**,

Mr. Ayob Norazman**, Ms. Mokhtar Nor Fauzah**, Mr. Amin Azman**

Mauritius

Mr. Jaynarain Meetoo*, Ms. Usha Dwarka-Canabady, Mr. Ravindranath Sawmy,

Ms. Shiu Ching Young Kim Fat, Mr. Haman Kumar Bhunjoo

Mexico

- Ms. Mariclaire Acosta*, Ms. Perla Carvalho**, Mr. Juan José Gómez Camacho,
- Mr. Arturo Hernández Basave, Ms. Alicia Elena Pérez Duarte y Noroña,
- Mr. Alejandro Negrín Muñoz, Ms. Yanerit Morgan Sotomayor,
- Mr. Enrique Ochoa Martínez, Ms. Karla Ornelas Loera

Niger

Mr. Adamou Seydou*

Nigeria

- Mr. Sule Lamido*, Mr. O.D. Obande, Mr. O.P. Oparah, Mr. S.A. Adekanye,
- Mr. Hamzat Maccido, Mr. A.D. Sodangi, Ms. J. Gana, Ms. Rita Abebe,
- Ms. Christie Mbonu, Mr. Dele Cole, Mr. T.D. Hart, Mr. P.I. Ayewoh, Mr. C.A. Osah,
- Mr. A. Hassan, Mr. F. O. Idigbe, Mr. H. O. Sulaiman, Mr. K. V. Ateb,
- Mr. Hkeen Baba Ahmed, Mr. P.O. Okunromade, Mr. O. Aderele,
- Mr. Olusegun Akinsanya, Ms. T.O. Iroche, Mr. G.B. Bristol, Ms. Oby. Okwuonu,
- Ms. A. Akpema, Mr. A. Farohunbi, Mr. Sola Enikanolaiye, Mr. V.A. Adeleke

Norway

- Mr. Sverre Bergh Johansen*, Mr. Petter Wille**, Mr. Roald Naess**,
- Mr. Martin Bjorndal**, Ms. Kari Joraandstad, Ms. Susan Hill Oppegaard,
- Mr. Jan Helgesen, Mr. Svein Ole Saether, Mr. Lars Sigurd Valvatne,
- Ms. Ingrid Mollestad Sylow, Ms. Kristin Hafseld Jorgensen, Mr. Ole Johnny Selstad,
- Ms. Hanne Sorgjerd, Ms. Ylva Bie, Ms. Guri Solberg, Ms. Leni Stenseth,
- Mr. Trygve Bendiksby, Ms. Unni Ramboell, Mr. Teis Daniel Kjelling

Pakistan

- Mr. Syed Sharifuddin Pirzada*, Mr. Barrister Shahida Jamil**, Ms. Attiya Inayatullah**,
- Mr. S.K. Tressler**, Mr. Munir Akram**, Mr. Imtiaz Hussain, Ms. Tehmina Janjua,
- Ms. Iffat Imran Gardezi, Mr. Raja Aamir Naseem Khan, Mr. M. Syrus Qazi,
- Mr. Zahid H. Bukhari, Ms. Mumtaz Zahra Baloch,
- Mr. Farrukh Iqbal Khan, Mr. Muhammad Mukhtar, Mr. Shabbir Ahmad,
- Mr. Shabbir Hussain, Mr. M. Waseem Khan, Mr. Muhammad Tufail

Peru

- Mr. Diego García-Sayán Larrabure*, Mr. Hernán Couturier Mariategui**,
- Mr. Jorge Voto-Bernales**, Mr. Luis Quesada Inchaustegui,
- Mr. Luis Enrique Chávez Basagoitia, Mr. Gonzalo Guillén Beker,
- Mr. Juan Pablo Vegas Torres

Poland

- Ms. Grazyna Bernatowicz*, Mr. Krzysztof Jakubowski*, Mr. Zbigniew Romaszewski,
- Mr. Andrzej Potocki, Mr. Roman Wieruszewski, Mr. Stanislaw Cieniuch,
- Ms. Anna Grupinska, Mr. Roman Kuzniar, Mr. Jacek Bylica, Mr. Tomasz Knothe,
- Mr. Marek Madej, Ms. Krystyna Zurek, Ms. Mariola Chojnacka, Ms. Irena Kowalska,
- Ms. Beata Ziorkiewicz, Mr. Arkadiusz Nowak, Ms. Agnieszka Wyznikiewicz,
- Mr. Andrzej Soltan, Mr. Andrzej Sados, Mr. Jerzy Baurski, Mr. Jan Natkanski,
- Ms. Zofia Romazewska

Portugal

- Mr. Alvaro Mendoça Moura*, Mr. José Pereira Gomes**, Mr. Luís Faro Ramos,
- Ms. Luísa Pais, Ms. Cristina Moniz, Mr. Francisco Saraiva, Ms. Catarina Albuquerque,
- Ms. Raquel Tavares, Ms. Ana Cristina Branco, Mr. Pedro Alves,
- Ms. Patricia Galvao Telles, Ms. Dalila Pinto, Ms. María do Rosário Cabrita

Qatar

- Mr. Fahad Awaida Al-Thani*, Mr. Abdulla Hussein Jaber, Mr. Mohammad Ali Al-Malki,
- Mr. Mohamed Fraish Al-Adawi, Mr. Jassim Nasser Al-Thani,
- Mr. Khalid Bin Jassim Al-Thani, Mr. Maisra Khalifa, Mr. Fadil El Tahir

Republic of Korea

- Mr. Eui-Yong Chung*, Mr. Byung-Se Yun**, Mr. Gil-Sou Shin, Mr. Young-Sam Ma,
- Mr. Byoung-Joo Oh, Mr. Kang-Il Hu, Mr. Nak-Young Oh,
- Mr. Sang-Wook Hahm, Ms. Hoona Kim, Mr. Seung-Pyo Hong, Mr. Kyung-Seo Park

Romania

- Ms. Anda-Cristina Filip*, Ms. Victoria Popescu, Mr. Petru Dumitriu,
- Mr. Ioan Maxim, Mr. Anton Pacuretu, Mr. Florin Ciolacu, Ms. Adina Stoleru

Russian Federation

- Mr. Boris Tsepov*, Mr. Vasily Sidorov**, Mr. Oleg Malguinov**, Mr. Anatoly Antonov,
- Mr. Yuri Boichenko, Mr. Andrei Nikiforov, Mr. Yuri Ivanov, Mr. Serguei Tolkalin,
- Mr. Vladimir Parshikov, Mr. Alexei Rogov, Mr. Victor Meshkov, Mr. Vladimir Zheglov,
- Mr. Albert Sitnikov, Mr. Grigory Lukiyantsev, Mr. Vladimir Dolgoborodov,
- Mr. Vasily Kuleshov, Ms. Yulia Gusynina, Ms. Natalia Zolotova, Ms. Elena Makeeva,
- Ms. Anastasia Otroshevskaya, Ms. Yulia Mikhailova, Ms. Anna Vaganova,
- Mr. Vladislav Ermakov, Mr. Vladimir Kartashkin, Mr. Oleg Kutafin,
- Mr. Evgueni Shultsev, Mr. Vladimir Kalamanov, Mr. Victor Rodionov

Saudi Arabia

- Mr. Abdul Wahab Attar*, Mr. Nayer M. Mosalli, Mr. Mohammed I. Al Agail,
- Mr. Abdullah Al Sheikh, Mr. Torki Al Madi, Mr. Mehanna Aba Alkhail,
- Mr. Khalid Al Angari, Mr. Abdul Rahman Al Rassi, Mr. Ibrahim Al-Naser,
- Mr. Eassa Al-Shamekh

Senegal

- Mr. Cheikh Tidiane Gadio*, Ms. Absa Claude Diallo, Mr. Paul Badji,
- Mr. Oumar Demba, Mr. Oumar Diouf, Mr. Ibou Ndiaye, Mr. Doudou Ndir,
- Mr. Diégane Sambe Thioune, Mr. Mankeur Ndiaye, Mr. Momar Gueye,
- Mr. Falou Samb, Mr. Iba Mar Oulare, Mr. Doudou Diankon, Ms. Fatou Alamine Lo,
- Mr. El Hadj Malick Sow, Mr. Malick Thierno Sow, Mr. André Basse, Mr. Ousmane Seye,
- Ms. Paulette Diouf Ndong

South Africa

- Ms. N. C. Dlamini-Zuma*, Mr. A. S. Minty, Mr. R. Mamoepa, Ms. D. Moerane-Khoza,
- Mr. S. Nene, Ms. Z. Lali, Mr. K.P. Brennan, Mr. S. George, Mr. L.L. Ndimeni,
- Ms. T. Grobbelaar, Mr. P. Montwedi, Mr. A.M. Mpeiwa, Ms. N. Makupula,
- Mr. H. Alfeld, Ms. F. Hoosen, Ms. N. Shope

Spain

- Mr. Joaquín Pérez-Villanueva y Tovar*, Mr. José Manuel López-Barrón y Labra**,
- Mr. Juan Zurita Salvador**, Ms. Rosa María Martínez de Codes,
- Mr. Eduardo de Quesada y Fernández de la Puente, Mr. Iñigo de Palacio España,
- Mr. Javier Aparicio, Ms. Cristina Díaz Fernández Gil, Mr. Víctor Hugo Portillo Angulo,
- Ms. María Noguerol Alvarez, Mr. Emilio de Miguel Calabia

Swaziland

Mr. Clifford S. Mamba*, Ms. Nonhlanhla P. Mlangeni*

Syrian Arab Republic

- Mr. Taher Al-Hussami*, Mr. Suleiman Sarra, Mr. Faycal Khabbaz-Hamoui,
- Mr. Ibrahim Ibrahim, Ms. Souheila Abbas, Mr. Ahmad Al Hariri

Thailand

- Mr. Surakiart Sathirathai*, Mr. Virasakdi Futrakul*, Ms. Laxanachantorn Laohaphan*,
- Ms. Asha Dvitiyananda**, Mr. Pravit Chaimongkol**, Mr. Ruengdej Mahasaranond**,
- Ms. Kanchana Patarachoke**, Ms. Phantipha Iamsudha**,
- Mr. Apirat Sugondhabhirom**, Ms. Arunrung Phothong**,
- Ms. Uchanya Wichayachakorn**, Mr. Supark Prongthura**,
- Mr. Nikorndej Balankura**, Mr. Rakjit Mormongkol, Mr. Pradap Pibulsonggram,
- Mr. Bansarn Bunnag, Mr. Sek Wannamethee

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

- Ms. Audrey Glover*, Ms. Barbara Woodward**, Mr. Kevin Lyne**, Mr. Paul Bentall,
- Mr. Jolyon Welsh, Ms. Helen Brooks, Ms. Susan McCrory, Mr. Babu Rahman,
- Ms. Andrea Hopkins, Mr. Willian Hopkinson, Mr. Charles Moore, Ms. Winefride Bolton,
- Ms. Yvonne Chapman, Ms Lucy Foster, Mr. Stuart Templar, Mr. Adam Wurr,
- Ms. Elizabeth March, Ms. Kay Stokoe

United States of America

- Ms. Shirin Tahir-Kheli*, Mr. George E. Moose**, Ms. Cheryl Sim**,
- Ms. Ellen Sauerbrey, Mr. David Schwarz, Ms. Nina Shea, Mr. Sichan Siv,
- Mr. James B. Foley, Mr. Michael Parmly, Mr. Richard Aker, Ms. Veomayoury Baccam,
- Mr. Michael Dennis, Mr. Robert Gribbin, Ms. Christina Gross, Mr. John Davis Hamill,
- Mr. Simon Henshaw, Ms. Pamela Holmes, Ms. Karen Johnson, Mr. Howard Lange,
- Mr. Richard Marshall, Mr. Michael McCamman, Mr. T. Michael Peay,
- Ms. Barbara A. Perrault, Ms. Maria Pica, Mr. Steven Solomon,
- Mr. Timothy M. Richardson, Mr. Mark Templeton, Mr. Steven Wagenseil,
- Mr. Michael Williams, Mr. Mark Lagon, Ms. Janet L. Mayland, Ms. Ileana Ros-Lehtinen,
- Mr. Lincoln Díaz-Balart, Mr. Mauricio Tamargo, Ms. Yleem Poblete,
- Mr. Curtis W. Kamman

Uruguay

- Mr. Guillermo Valles*, Mr. Carlos Pérez del Castillo**, Ms. Silvia Izquierdo,
- Mr. Carlos Sgarbi, Ms. Pamela Vivas, Mr. Federico Perazza, Mr. Fernando Lugris

Venezuela

- Mr. Werner Corrales Leal*, Mr. Víctor Rodríguez Cedeño*,
- Mr. Alfredo Michelena Rodríguez, Ms. Madai Hernández, Mr. William Santana,
- Mr. Vladimir González Villaparedes, Mr. Ishbak Madai Hernández, Mr. Zulay Ramírez,
- Ms. Zenaida Urbano-Taylor, Ms. Adriana Colina, Ms. Elizabeth Hernández,
- Mr. Ricardo Salas

Viet Nam

- Mr. Nguyen Tam Chien*, Mr. Nguyen Quy Binh*, Ms. Dinh Thi Minh Huyen*,
- Mr. Nguyen Van Ngoc*, Mr. Dao Tam Chau**, Mr. Duong Chi Dung*, Mr. Dinh The Cong**, Ms. Hoang Bich Lien**, Ms. Nguyen Thi Thanh Ha**,
- Ms. Pham Thi Kim Anh**, Mr. Vo Van Tuyen**, Ms. Nguyen Thu Quynh**

Zambia

Mr. B.C. Mutale*, Mr. B. Bowa**, Ms. I.B. Fundafunda, Mr. E.M. Katongo, Ms. E. Sinjela, Ms. M. Mapani, Mr. Palan Mulonda, Ms. M. Vibratti, Mr. S. Jere, Mr. L.P. Chibesakunda, Mr. J. Sakulanda, Mr. Enock Mulembe

States Members of the United Nations represented by observers

Afghanistan Ethiopia Netherlands Albania Finland New Zealand Andorra Gabon Nicaragua Oman Angola Georgia Armenia Ghana Panama Australia Greece Paraguay Guinea **Philippines** Austria

Azerbaijan Haiti Republic of Moldova Bahrain Honduras Republic of the Congo

Bangladesh Hungary Rwanda Belarus Iceland San Marino Iran (Islamic Republic of) Belize Sierra Leone Iraq Bhutan Singapore Bolivia Ireland Slovakia Israel Slovenia Bosnia and Herzegovina Jamaica Somalia Botswana Brunei Darussalam Jordan Sri Lanka Kazakhstan Bulgaria Sudan Cambodia Kuwait Sweden

Cape Verde Lao People's Democratic The former Yugoslav
Central African Republic Republic Republic Republic

ChileLebanonTogoCôte d'IvoireLesothoTunisiaCroatiaLiechtensteinTurkeyCyprusLithuaniaUgandaDemocratic People'sLuxembourgUkraine

Republic of Korea Malta United Arab Emirates

Denmark Mauritania United Republic of Tanzania

Dominican Republic Monaco Yemen
Egypt Mongolia Yugoslavia
El Salvador Morocco Zimbabwe

Equatorial Guinea Mozambique Eritrea Myanmar Estonia Nepal

Non-member States represented by observers

Holy See Switzerland

Other observers

Palestine

United Nations

Department of Public Information Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS Office for the Coordination of **Humanitarian Affairs** Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (Habitat) United Nations Children's Fund United Nations Conference on Trade and Development United Nations Development Fund for Women

United Nations Research Institute for Social Development United Nations Institute for Disarmament Research United Nations Economic Commission for Europe United Nations Non-Governmental Liaison Service United Nations Environment Programme United Nations Population Fund University for Peace World Food Programme

Specialized agencies and related organizations

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations International Labour Office International Monetary Fund

United Nations Educational, Scientific and

Cultural Organization

United Nations Relief and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near East

World Bank

World Health Organization

World Intellectual Property Organization

Intergovernmental organizations

Council of Europe European Union International Organization for Migration League of Arab States

International Organization of la Francophonie Organization of African Unity Organization of American States Organization of the Islamic Conference

Other entities

International Committee of the Red Cross International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies

Order of Malta

Non-governmental organizations

General consultative status

Al-Khoei Foundation Asian Legal Resource Centre

Brahma Kumaris World Spiritual

University

Commission of the Churches on

International Affairs of the

World Council of Churches

Colombian Confederation of

Non-Governmental Organizations

Europe-Third World Centre

Franciscans International

International Alliance of Women -

Equal Rights, Equal Responsibilities

International Association

for Religious Freedom

International Confederation of

Free Trade Unions

International Council of Voluntary

Agencies

International Council of Women

International Institute for

Non-Aligned Studies

International Movement

ATD Fourth World

International Save the Children

Alliance

Special consultative status

Aboriginal and Torres Strait **Islander Commission**

African Commission of Health and

Human Rights Promoters

African Peace Network

Afro-Asian People's Solidarity

Organization

Agir ensemble pour les droits

de l'homme

AIDS Information Switzerland

Al-Haq, Law in the Service of Man

All-China Women's Federation

International Youth and Student Movement for the United Nations

Legion of Goodwill

Liberal International (World Liberal Union)

Médecins du monde - International

Muslim World League

Pacific Concerns Resource Centre, Inc.

Soroptimist International

Transnational Radical Party

United Nations Association of China

Women's Federation for World Peace

International

Women's International Democratic

Federation

World Association of Girl Guides

and Girl Scouts

World Blind Union

World Confederation of Labour

World Federation of Democratic Youth

World Federation of Trade Unions

World Federation of United Nations

Associations

World Muslim Congress

World Veterans Federation

Zonta International

American Association of Jurists American Jewish Committee

Amnesty International

Andean Commission of Jurists

Anti-Racism Information Service

Anti-Slavery International

Arab Lawyers Union

Arab Organization for Human Rights

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Association for the Advancement of

Psychological Understanding of

Human Nature

Association for the Prevention of Torture Association of Interbalkan Women's Cooperation Societies Association tunisienne des droits de l'enfant ATLAS - Association tunisienne pour l'auto-développement et la solidarité Australian Council for Overseas Aid Baha'i International Community Cairo Institute for Human Rights **Studies** Canadian Council of Churches Canadian Human Rights Foundation Canadian Voice of Women for Peace Catholics for a Free Choice Catholic Institute for International Relations Center for Economic and Social Rights Center for Justice and International Law Center for Women's Global Leadership Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions Centro de Estudios Europeos Centro de Estudios sobre la Juventud Change China Disabled Persons' Federation China Society for Human Rights Studies Christian Aid Christian Democratic International Coalition Against Trafficking in Women Colombian Commission of Jurists Comité d'action pour les droits de l'enfant et de la femme Communities Forestry and Social **Development Organization** Conscience and Peace Tax International Conference of European Churches Consortium for Street Children, The Coordinating Board of Jewish Organizations Coordination française pour le lobby européen des femmes Coordination immigrés du sud du monde CISM Veneto December Twelfth Movement

International Secretariat

Defence for Children International Earthjustice Legal Defense Fund European Women's Lobby Fédération des associations pour la défense et la promotion des droits de l'homme Federation of Cuban Women Femmes actives au foyer Femmes Africa Solidarité France libertés: Fondation Danielle Mitterrand Fraternité Notre Dame, Inc. Freedom House Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers) General Arab Women Federation General Conference of the Seventh-Day Adventists Geneva International Peace Research Institute Group for International Solidarity **Habitat International Coalition** Himalayan Research and Cultural Foundation Human Rights Advocates, Inc. **Human Rights Internet** Human Rights Watch Inclusion International (International League of Societies for Persons with Mental Handicap) Indian Council of Education Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru" Indigenous World Association Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children Interfaith International International Alert **International Association Against Torture** International Association for the Defence of Religious Liberty **International Association** of Democratic Lawyers International Association of Jewish Lawyers and Jurists **International Catholic Migration** Commission

International Commission of Jurists International Council of Jewish Women International Federation of ACAT (Action of Christians for the Abolition of Torture) International Federation of Human Rights Leagues International Federation of **Journalists** International Federation of Social Workers International Federation of University International Federation of Women in Legal Careers International Federation of Women Lawyers **International Federation Terre** des Hommes International Fellowship of Reconciliation International Helsinki Federation for Human Rights International Human Rights Law Group International Indian Treaty Council International Islamic Federation of Student Organizations International League for Human Rights International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples International Movement for Fraternal Union Among Races and Peoples International Movement of Apostolate in the Independent Social Milieus International Organization for the Development of Freedom of Education International Organization for the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination International Organization of Indigenous Resource Development International Rehabilitation Council for Torture Victims International Romani Union International Service for Human Rights International Union of Socialist Youth

International Work Group for **Indigenous Affairs International Young Catholic Students** Inuit Circumpolar Conference Islamic African Relief Agency Islamic Women's Institute of Latin American Federation of Associations of Relatives of Disappeared Detainees Latin American Human Rights Association Law Association for Asia and the Pacific Lutheran World Federation Marangopoulos Foundation For **Human Rights** Movimiento Cubano por la Paz y la Soberanía de los Pueblos National Union of Jurists of Cuba, The Netherlands Organization for the **International Development** Cooperation New Human Rights New Humanity North-South XXI Norwegian Refugee Council Organisation tunisienne de l'education et de la famille Organization for Defending Victims of Violence Organization for the Solidarity of the Peoples of Africa, Asia and Latin America Palestinian Centre for Human Rights Pax Christi International, International Catholic Peace Movement Pax Romana (International Catholic Movement for Intellectual and Cultural Affairs and International Movement of Catholic Students) Penal Reform International Permanent Assembly for Human Rights Prison Fellowship International

Reporters without Borders - International

Rights and Democracy

Robert F. Kennedy Memorial Rural Reconstruction Nepal Salvation Army Simon Wiesenthal Center, Inc. Socialist International Women Society for Threatened Peoples South Asia Human Rights **Documentation Centre** Union internationale des avocats Union nationale de la femme tunisienne Union of Arab Jurists of Global Ministries United Towns Agency for North-South Cooperation War Resisters' International Women Against Rape Association and Freedom Women's Sports Foundation World Alliance of Young Men's

Susila Dharma International Association, United Methodist Church - General Board Women in Law and Development in Africa Women's Human Rights International Women's International League for Peace World Alliance of Reformed Churches Christian Associations World Association of Community Radio Broadcasters World Evangelical Fellowship World Federation for Mental Health World Federation of Methodist and Uniting Church Women World Federation of the Deaf World Information Clearing Centre World Jewish Congress World Movement of Mothers World Organization Against Torture World Organization of Former Pupils of Catholic Education World Student Christian Federation World Union of Catholic Women's Organizations

World Vision International World Young Women's Christian Association Worldview International Foundation Young Doctors without Frontiers Tunisia

Roster

All For Reparations and Emancipation Aliran Kesedaran Negara -National Consciousness Movement Article 19 - The International Centre Against Censorship Asia Pacific Forum on Women, Law and Development Asian Buddhists Conference for Peace Asian Cultural Forum on Development Asociación Kunas Unidos por Napguana Association for World Education Association of World Citizens European Union of Public Relations FIAN-Foodfirst Information and Action Network Free Youth Association of Bucharest Grand Council of the Crees (Eenou Astchee) Indian Council of South America International Association of Educators for World Peace International Baccalaureate Organization

International Council of **AIDS Service Organizations** International Educational Development, Inc. International Federation for the

Protection of the Rights of Ethnic, Religious, Linguistic and Other Minorities International Federation of Free

Journalists International Federation of Rural

Catholic Adult Movements

International Human Rights Association of American Minorities

International Institute for Peace International Movement Against All Forms of Discrimination and Racism International Peace Bureau International PEN International Police Association Liberation Minority Rights Group International Movement Against Racism and for Friendship Among Peoples Saami Council Servas International Soka Gakkai International Third World Movement Against the Exploitation of Women United Nations Association in Canada United Nations Association of Great Britain and Northern Ireland United Nations Association of Sweden World Association for the School as an Instrument of Peace World Christian Life Community World Federation of Workers in Food, Tobacco and Hotel Industries World Islamic Call Society World Medical Association World Peace Council

World Union for Progressive Judaism

Annex III

General debate

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
3	2 nd	Member: India (on behalf of the Group of Asian States)
Organization of the work of the session	3 rd	Members: China, Cuba, Indonesia (also on behalf of Algeria, Bangladesh, Bhutan, China, Cuba, Egypt, India, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Malaysia, Myanmar, Nepal, Pakistan, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Sudan and Viet Nam), Pakistan (on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic Conference)
	4 th	Observers (right of reply): Armenia, Azerbaijan, Cyprus, Turkey
	5 th	Observer (right of reply): Turkey
	14 th	Member: Belgium (on behalf of the European Union)
	59 th	Members (on the situation of human rights in Colombia): Canada, Colombia Observer: Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement) Non-governmental organizations: Agir ensemble pour les droits de l'homme, Amnesty International, Centre for Justice and International Law, Colombian Commission of Jurists, International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, International Federation of Human Rights Leagues (also on behalf of 4 non-governmental organizations), International Federation Terre des Hommes, International Service for Human Rights, Latin American Federation of Associations of Relatives of Disappeared Detainees, Latin American Human Rights Association (also on behalf of Asociación Kunas Unidos por Napguana, Indigenous World Association and International Organisation for the Development of Freedom of Education), Robert F. Kennedy Memorial, World Federation of Trade Unions

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Report of the United Nations High	3 rd	Members: China, Thailand Non-governmental organization: World Union for Progressive Judaism
Commissioner for Human Rights and follow-up to the World Conference on Human Rights	4 th	Members: Cuba, India, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Malaysia (also on behalf of Algeria, Bangladesh, Bhutan, China, Cuba, Egypt, India, Indonesia, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Myanmar, Nepal, Pakistan, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Viet Nam), Pakistan (on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic Conference), Saudi Arabia, United States of America Observer: Egypt
	5 th	Observers: Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Palestine Observers (right of reply): Israel, Palestine
5	5 th	Member: Syrian Arab Republic
The right of peoples to self-determination and its application to peoples under colonial or alien domination or foreign occupation	6 th	Members: Algeria, China, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Pakistan (on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic Conference), Saudi Arabia Observers (right of reply): Israel, Palestine
	7 th	Members: Algeria, Cuba, Qatar Observers: Armenia, Azerbaijan, Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Kuwait, Liechtenstein, Mauritania, Yemen, Palestine Observers (right of reply): Morocco, Panama Non-governmental organizations: Afro-Asian Peoples' Solidarity Organization, American Association of Jurists, European Union of Public Relations, Fédération des associations pour la défense et la promotion des droits de l'homme, International Human Rights Association of American Minorities, International Institute for Peace, International Organization for the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, World Jewish Congress (also on behalf of International Association of Jewish Lawyers and Jurists), World Union for Progressive Judaism
	8 th	Members (right of reply): India, Pakistan Observer (right of reply): Morocco Non-governmental organizations: Cairo Institute for Human Rights Studies, Indigenous World Association, International Educational Development, Inc., International Indian Treaty Council, International Islamic Federation of Student Organizations, International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, Muslim World League, Pax Romana, World Federation of Democratic Youth, World Muslim Congress

	ı
(<u>,</u>
(=
(<u>تر</u>

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
6 Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of discrimination	8 th	Members: China, Czech Republic, Latvia, Madagascar, Mexico (on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States), Norway, Senegal, Uruguay Observers: Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement) Other observer: International Committee of the Red Cross
	9 th	Members: Algeria, Argentina, Cameroon, Indonesia, Mexico, Pakistan, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, United States of America
	10 th	Members: Costa Rica, Cuba, India, Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States), Poland, Qatar, Saudi Arabia Observers: Austria, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Egypt, Eritrea, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Jordan, Kuwait, San Marino, Sri Lanka, Turkey, Holy See, Switzerland Other observers: International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), World Bank
	13 th	Observers: Belarus, Côte d'Ivoire Other observer: International Labour Organization Non-governmental organizations: Association for World Education, Brahma Kumaris World Spiritual University (also on behalf of 4 non-governmental organizations), Interfaith International, International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, International Association Against Torture, International Organization for the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, International Save the Children Alliance, Lutheran World Federation (also on behalf of Asian Legal Resource Centre), Simon Wiesenthal Center, Inc., South Asia Human Rights Documentation Centre, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom (also on behalf of 10 non-governmental organizations), World Federation of United Nations Associations, World Union for Progressive Judaism
	14 th	Non-governmental organizations: Afro-Asian Peoples' Solidarity Organization, Cairo Institute for Human Rights Studies, International Institute for Peace, Movement Against Racism and for Friendship among Peoples, North-South XXI, Pax Romana, Robert F. Kennedy Memorial, Transnational Radical Party

ı	
ر	1
$\stackrel{\frown}{1}$	\leq
i	

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
6 Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and all forms of discrimination (concluded)	15 th	Non-governmental organizations: Himalayan Research and Cultural Foundation, Indian Council of Education, Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru", Indigenous World Association, International Educational Development, Inc., International Human Rights Association of American Minorities, International Indian Treaty Council, International Young Catholic Students, Minority Rights Group International, World Federation for Mental Health (also on behalf of Women's Sports Foundation)
Special debate on tolerance and respect	11 th	Members: Germany, India, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Russian Federation, United States of America, Uruguay Observers: Bahrain, Egypt (on behalf of the League of Arab States), Ireland, Israel, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union) Non-governmental organizations: International Association Against Torture (also on behalf of December Twelfth Movement International Secretariat), United Methodist Church X General Board of Global Ministries (also on behalf of World Federation of Methodist and Uniting Church Women), World Federation for Mental Health (also on behalf of the African Commission of Health and Human Rights Promoters, Interfaith International, Women's Sports Foundation)
	12 th	Members: Argentina, Canada, Costa Rica, India, Kenya, Mexico, Pakistan, Portugal, Spain, Thailand, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America Observers: Albania, Iran (Islamic Republic of), New Zealand, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union), Turkey Non-governmental organizations: International Catholic Migration Commission, International Federation of University Women (also on behalf of 4 non-governmental organizations), Organization for Defending Victims of Violence, World Federation of United Nations Associations
	13 th	Non-governmental organizations: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission, Association for World Education, Association of World Citizens, Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru", International Save the Children Alliance, Pax Romana (also on behalf of International Young Catholic Students), Simon Wiesenthal Center, Inc.
7 The right to development	15 th	Members: Cuba, Kenya (on behalf of the Group of African States), Mexico (on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States), Senegal, Syrian Arab Republic Observers: Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement) Observer (right of reply): Philippines

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
7 The right to development (concluded)	16 th	Members: Algeria, Brazil, China, Costa Rica, Ecuador, India, Indonesia, Japan, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mexico, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Qatar, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Thailand, United States of America, Uruguay
	17 th	Members: Latvia, Pakistan Observers: Albania, Belarus, Bolivia, Chile, Egypt, Ethiopia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Kuwait, Nicaragua, Paraguay, Tunisia, Yemen Observer (right of reply): Paraguay Other observer: World Bank Non-governmental organizations: American Association of Jurists, Centro de Estudios Europeos, Centro de Estudios sobre la Juventud, Europe-Third World Centre, European Union of Public Relations, Franciscans International, Himalayan Research and Cultural Foundation, International Association Against Torture (also on behalf of December Twelfth Movement International Secretariat), International Federation of Rural Adult Catholic Movements, International Human Rights Association of American Minorities, International Indian Treaty Council, International Institute for Peace, International Islamic Federation of Student Organizations, Liberation, Minority Rights Group International, Women's International Democratic Federation, World Federation of Democratic Youth (also on behalf of Europe-Third World Centre), World Federation of Trade Unions
8 Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine	19 th	Members: Cuba, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Senegal, Syrian Arab Republic, United States of America Observers: Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement), Palestine Observer (right of reply): Palestine
	20 th	Members: Algeria, Canada, China, Indonesia, Malaysia (on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic Conference), Niger, Norway, Pakistan, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia Observers: Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Kuwait, Lebanon, Mauritania, Morocco, Oman, Yemen, Switzerland Observers (right of reply): Israel, Palestine

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
8 Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine (concluded)	21 st	Observers: Bangladesh, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Sudan, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates Observers (right of reply): Israel, Lebanon Other observer: League of Arab States Non-governmental organizations: Al-Haq, Law in the Service of Man, American Jewish Committee, Amnesty International, Commission of the Churches on International Affairs of the World Council of Churches, Fédération des associations pour la défense et la promotion des droits de l'homme, Human Rights Watch, International Organization for the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, International Save the Children Alliance, Organization for Defending Victims of Violence, Pax Christi International, World Organization Against Torture (also on behalf of Pax Romana), World Young Women's Christian Association
	22 nd	Non-governmental organizations: Arab Organization for Human Rights, Cairo Institute for Human Rights Studies, Center for Economic and Social Rights, Defence for Children International, Europe - Third World Centre, International Association Against Torture, International Commission of Jurists, International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, International Islamic Federation of Student Organizations, Médecins du monde - International, North-South XXI, Muslim World League, Organization for the Solidarity of the Peoples of Asia, Africa and Latin America (also on behalf of 4 non-governmental organizations), Palestinian Centre for Human Rights, Society for Threatened Peoples, Women's International Democratic Federation, World Muslim Congress, World Union for Progressive Judaism
9	22 nd	Observers: Afghanistan, Sudan
Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world	23 rd	Members: Algeria, Japan, Republic of Korea, Russian Federation Members (right of reply): Pakistan, Spain Observers: Croatia, Rwanda, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia aligned themselves with the statement) Observers (right of reply): Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Haiti

- 1
5
0
7
1

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world (continued)	24 th	Observers: Albania, Bahrain, Belarus, Egypt, Iraq, Nicaragua Observer (right of reply): Republic of the Congo Non-governmental organizations: American Association of Jurists, American Jewish Committee, Amnesty International, Article 19 - International Centre Against Censorship, Asian Legal Resource Centre, Baha'i International Community, Canadian Voice of Women for Peace (also on behalf of 4 non-governmental organizations), Catholic Institute for International Relations, European Union of Public Relations, Human Rights Watch, International Association Against Torture (also on behalf of December Twelfth Movement International Secretariat), International Educational Development, Inc., International Federation of ACAT, International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, International Federation of Rural Adult Catholic Movements, International Institute for Peace, International League for Human Rights, International Organization for the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, International Peace Bureau, International PEN, Organization for Defending Victims of Violence, World Organization Against Torture
	26 th	Members: Argentina, Canada, China, Norway, Poland, Syrian Arab Republic, United States of America Members (right of reply): Algeria, Cameroon, Cuba, Kenya, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America Observers: Australia, Cyprus, Greece, Kuwait, Lebanon, New Zealand, Yugoslavia Observers (right of reply): Afghanistan, Cyprus, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Greece, Haiti, Iraq, Kuwait, Mozambique, Turkey, United Republic of Tanzania
	28 th	Members: Cuba, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Indonesia, Pakistan (on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic Conference), Russian Federation Members (right of reply): Burundi, Saudi Arabia Observers (right of reply): Albania, Angola, Sudan

- 1	
Ų	ı
\subseteq	
∞	,

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Question of the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world (concluded)	29 th	Members: India, Kenya, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia Member (right of reply): Democratic Republic of the Congo Observers: Azerbaijan, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Paraguay, Uganda Observers (right of reply): Armenia, Azerbaijan, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Iraq, Turkey, Uganda Non-governmental organizations: Agir ensemble pour les droits de l'homme, Arab Organization for Human Rights, Centro de Estudios sobre la Juventud, International Union of Socialist Youth, Marangopoulos Foundation for Human Rights, Movimiento Cubano por la Paz y la Soberanía de los Pueblos, New Humanity, Organization for the Solidarity of the Peoples of Asia, Africa and Latin America, Rural Reconstruction Nepal
	30 th	Non-governmental organizations: African Commission of Health and Human Rights Promoters, Afro-Asian People's Solidarity Organization, Centro de Estudios Europeos, Commission of the Churches on International Affairs of the World Council of Churches, Europe-Third World Centre, Fédération des associations pour la défense et la promotion des droits de l'homme, Federation of Cuban Women, Franciscans International, Freedom House, Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru", International Association for the Defence of Religious Liberty, International Association of Democratic Lawyers, International Association for Religious Freedom, International Commission of Jurists, International Federation of Women Lawyers, International Fellowship of Reconciliation, International Human Rights Association of American Minorities, International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, Liberation, Médecins du monde - International, National Union of Jurists of Cuba, Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation, North-South XXI, Norwegian Refugee Council, Pax Romana, Robert F. Kennedy Memorial, South Asia Human Rights Documentation Centre, Third World Movement against the Exploitation of Women, Women's International Democratic Federation, Worldview International Foundation
	31 st	Members (right of reply): Cuba, India, Italy, Malaysia, Pakistan, Swaziland Observers (right of reply): Ethiopia, Iran (Islamic Republic of) Non-governmental organizations: Association tunisienne des droits de l'enfant, Center for Justice and International Law, Interfaith International, International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, International Movement against All Forms of Discrimination and Racism, Movement against Racism and for Friendship among Peoples, New Human Rights, Transnational Radical Party, World Alliance of Reformed Churches, World Federation of Democratic Youth, World Muslim Congress
	44 th	Observer: Myanmar

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
10 Economic, social and cultural rights	31 st	Members: Brazil, China, Nigeria, Norway, Senegal, Swaziland Observers: Chile, El Salvador, Sri Lanka, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement) Other observers: International Committee of the Red Cross, United Nations Environment Programme, World Bank
	32 nd	Members: Algeria, Costa Rica, Cuba, Japan, Madagascar, Mexico, Republic of Korea, Viet Nam, Zambia
	33 rd	Members: Cameroon, India, Malaysia, Pakistan Observers: Belarus, Cyprus, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Egypt, Honduras, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Netherlands, Nicaragua, Holy See, Switzerland Observers (right of reply): Cyprus, Turkey Other observers: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (Habitat), World Bank, World Food Programme, World Health Organization Non-governmental organizations: General Arab Women Federation (also on behalf of 7 non-governmental organizations), Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru" (also on behalf of Movimiento Cubano por la Paz y la Soberanía de los Pueblos and the Organization for the Solidarity of the Peoples of Asia, Africa and Latin America), North-South XXI (also on behalf of Al-Haq, Law in the Service of Man)
	34 th	Non-governmental organizations: American Association of Jurists, Andean Commission of Jurists, Asian Legal Resource Centre, Center for Economic and Social Rights, Earthjustice Legal Defense Fund (also on behalf of World Federation of Workers in Food, Tobacco and Hotel Industries), European Union of Public Relations, Federation of Cuban Women, Himalayan Research and Cultural Foundation, Indian Council of Education, International Alliance of Women – Equal Rights, Equal Responsibilities, International Baccalaureate Organization, International Commission of Jurists, International Educational Development, Inc., International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, International Federation of Rural Adult Catholic Movements, International Federation Terre des Hommes, International Human Rights Association of American Minorities, International Institute for Non-Aligned Studies, International Institute for Peace, International Movement ATD Fourth World, International Save the Children Alliance, International Union of Socialist Youth, Organization for Defending Victims of Violence, Pax Christi International, Rural Reconstruction Nepal, Transnational Radical Party, Women's International Democratic Federation, World Federation of United Nations Associations, World Organization Against Torture

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Economic, social and cultural rights (concluded)	35 th	Non-governmental organizations: Afro-Asian People's Solidarity Organization, Association of World Citizens, ATLAS - Association tunisienne pour l'auto-développement et la solidarité, Catholic Institute for International Relations, Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions, Centro de Estudios Europeos, Centro de Estudios sobre la Juventud, Colombian Commission of Jurists, Europe-Third World Centre, Fraternité Notre-Dame, Human Rights Advocates International, International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, International Federation for the Protection of the Rights of Ethnic, Religious, Linguistic and Other Minorities, International Fellowship of Reconciliation, International Indian Treaty Council, International Islamic Federation of Student Organizations, International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, International Movement for Fraternal Union among Races and Peoples, International Movement of Apostolate in the Independent Social Milieus, International Organization for the Development of Freedom of Education, Liberation, Lutheran World Federation, Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation, Pax Romana, Robert F. Kennedy Memorial, Society for Threatened Peoples, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom, World Federation of Democratic Youth, World Federation of Trade Unions
11 Civil and political rights,	36 th	Members: Brazil, Norway, Romania, Senegal, United States of America Members (right of reply): Costa Rica, Russian Federation Observers: Albania, Nepal, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement) Observers (right of reply): Angola, Bahrain, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Iraq
	37 th	Members: Algeria, Argentina, Ecuador, Indonesia, Japan, Kenya, Latvia, Poland Observers: Angola, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Chile, Croatia, Cyprus, Denmark, Egypt, Equatorial Guinea, Georgia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Ireland, Lithuania, Netherlands, Nicaragua, Paraguay, Turkey, Holy See, Switzerland Observers (right of reply): Cyprus, Turkey

	ı	
(ر	1
۲	_	
۲	_	

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
11 Civil and political rights, (continued)	38 th	Member (right of reply): Thailand Observer (right of reply): Greece Non-governmental organizations: Agir ensemble pour les droits de l'homme, American Association of Jurists, Amnesty International, Arab Organization for Human Rights, Article 19 - The International Centre against Censorship, Asian Cultural Forum on Development, Asian Legal Resource Centre, Association of World Citizens, Association for the Prevention of Torture, Association for World Education, Baha'i International Community, European Union of Public Relations, Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers), Human Rights Watch, International Educational Development, International Federation of ACAT, International Human Rights Association of American Minorities, International League for Human Rights, International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, International PEN, International Rehabilitation Council for Torture Victims, Reporters without Borders International, War Resisters International, World Islamic Call Society, World Organization against Torture, World Union for Progressive Judaism
	39 th	Members: Mexico (also on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States), Peru, Republic of Korea Member (right of reply): Viet Nam Observers: Azerbaijan, Belarus, Paraguay (on behalf of the Southern Common Market, Bolivia and Chile aligned themselves with the statement), Slovakia
	40 th	Members: Algeria, China, Costa Rica, Cuba, India, Pakistan, Russian Federation, Viet Nam Member (right of reply): Burundi Observers: Côte d'Ivoire, Sri Lanka Observers (right of reply): Albania, Egypt, Iran (Islamic Republic of) Non-governmental organizations: Freedom House, International Union of Socialist Youth, Latin American Federation of Associations of Relatives of Disappeared Detainees, National Union of Jurists of Cuba, Women's International Democratic Federation

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Civil and political rights, (continued)	41 st	Observer (right of reply): Ukraine Non-governmental organizations: Andean Commission of Jurists, Arab Lawyers Union, Australian Council for Overseas Aid, Centro de Estudios Europeos, Colombian Commission of Jurists, Conscience and Peace Tax International, France libertés - Fondation Danielle Mitterrand, Human Rights Advocates, Inc., International Association for Religious Freedom, International Association of Democratic Lawyers, International Commission of Jurists, International Federation of Journalists, International Fellowship of Reconciliation, International Islamic Federation of Student Organisations, Movement against Racism and for Friendship among Peoples, Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation, Organization for Defending Victims of Violence, Pax Christi International, Robert F. Kennedy Memorial, South Asia Human Rights Documentation Centre, Third World Movement against the Exploitation of Women, Transnational Radical Party
	42 nd	Members (right of reply): Colombia, Malaysia Observer (right of reply): Lao People's Democratic Republic Non-governmental organizations: Al-Khoei Foundation, Aliran Kesedaran Negara - National Consciousness Movement, Anti-Slavery International, Catholic Institute for International Relations, Commission of the Churches on International Affairs of the World Council of Churches, Himalayan Research and Cultural Foundation, Human Rights Internet, Indian Council of South America, International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, International Institute for Peace, International Movement for Fraternal Union among Races and Peoples, International Peace Bureau, Liberation, North-South XXI, Organization for the Solidarity of the Peoples of Asia, Africa and Latin America, Rural Reconstruction Nepal, Society for Threatened Peoples, World Federation of Democratic Youth, World Federation of Trade Unions, World Peace Council, Worldview International Foundation, Young Doctors without Frontiers Tunisia
	43 rd	Members (right of reply): Algeria, Senegal Observers (right of reply): Iraq, Morocco, Tunisia, United Republic of Tanzania Non-governmental organizations: African Commission of Health and Human Rights Promoters, Afro-Asian People's Solidarity Organization, All China Women's Federation, Centro de Estudios sobre la Juventud, China Disabled Person's Federation, China Society for Human Rights, Franciscans International, International Indian Treaty Council, International Youth and Student Movement for the United Nations, New Human Rights, United Nations Association of China, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom, World Muslim Congress

	ı
(Ŋ
	7

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Civil and political rights,	44 th	Member: Spain Observers: Bangladesh, Turkey
(concluded)	50 th	Member: Brazil
12 Integration of the human rights of	44 th	Member: India Observers: Bangladesh, Nepal
women	45 th	Members: Argentina, Canada, China, Cuba, Germany, Indonesia, Japan, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Norway, Pakistan, Russian Federation, Senegal, Syrian Arab Republic, United States of America, Viet Nam Observers: El Salvador (on behalf of the Group of Central American States and in its capacity as President pro tempore of the Central American Integration System), Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement) Observer (right of reply): Iran (Islamic Republic of)
	46 th	Members: Algeria, Malaysia, Mexico, Nigeria, Republic of Korea, Zambia Members (right of reply): Japan, Republic of Korea Observers: Albania, Angola, Belarus, Chile, Croatia, Cyprus, Democratic Peoples' Republic of Korea, Egypt, Honduras, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, New Zealand, Philippines, Sudan, United Republic of Tanzania, Yemen, Switzerland Observer (right of reply): Democratic Peoples' Republic of Korea Other observers: International Committee of the Red Cross, United Nations Population Fund, World Bank, World Health Organization

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Integration of the human rights of women (concluded)	47 th	Non-governmental organizations: All China Women's Federation, American Jewish Committee, Andean Commission of Jurists, Asian Cultural Forum on Development (also on behalf of Aliran Kesedaran Negara - National Consciousness Movement and Rural Reconstruction Nepal), Asian Legal Resource Centre, Coalition against Trafficking in Women, Colombian Commission of Jurists, Femmes Africa Solidarité, Himalayan Research and Cultural Foundation, Human Rights Watch, Inter-African Committee on Traditional Practices Affecting the Health of Women and Children, International Federation of University Women (also on behalf of 14 non-governmental organizations), International Federation of Women in Legal Careers (also on behalf of International Federation of Women Lawyers), International Institute for Non-Aligned Studies, International Movement against All Forms of Discrimination and Racism (also on behalf of Anti-Slavery International), International Union of Socialist Youth, Women Against Rape, World Federation of Trade Unions, World Muslim Congress, World Organization against Torture
	48 th	Member (right of reply): Iran (Islamic Republic of), Morocco, Yemen Non-governmental organizations: Asia Pacific Forum on Women, Law and Development, Australian Council for Overseas Aid, Catholics for a Free Choice, Centre for Women's Global Leadership, China Society for Human Rights, European Women's Lobby, Human Rights Advocates, Inc., Indian Council of Education, Interfaith International, International Association of Democratic Lawyers, International Commission of Jurists, International Human Rights Law Group, International League for Human Rights, Islamic African Relief Agency, Liberation, Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation, Society for Threatened Peoples, Third World Movement against the Exploitation of Women, Union nationale de la femme tunisienne, United Nations Association of China, Women's Human Rights International Association, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom
13 Rights of the child	49 th	Members: Algeria, Cuba, Japan, Latvia, Madagascar, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Poland, Qatar, Romania, Russian Federation, Senegal, Syrian Arab Republic Observers: Morocco, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement)
	50 th	Members: Argentina, China, Costa Rica, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Mexico (on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States), Pakistan, Republic of Korea, Saudi Arabia, Thailand, Venezuela, Viet Nam

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Rights of the child (concluded)	51 st	Members (right of reply): China, Japan, Republic of Korea Observers: Afghanistan, Albania, Australia, Bahrain, Belarus, Croatia, Cyprus, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Egypt, El Salvador, Ghana, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Iraq, Israel, Jordan, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Paraguay, Slovenia, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Togo, Tunisia, Turkey, Switzerland Observer (right of reply): Democratic People's Republic of Korea Other observers: International Committee of the Red Cross, International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, International Labour Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, World Health Organization
	52 nd	Members (right of reply): South Africa, United States of America Observers (right of reply): Ethiopia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Mauritania Non-governmental organizations: All China Women's Federation (also on behalf of China Society for Human Rights and United Nations Association of China), Arab Organization for Human Rights, Asia Pacific Forum on Women, Law and Development, Consortium for Street Children, Defence for Children International, Femmes Africa Solidarité, Franciscans International (also on behalf of 5 non-governmental organizations), Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers), Himalayan Research and Cultural Foundation, Human Rights Advocates, Inc., Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru", Interfaith International, International Association for the Defence of Religious Liberty, International Association of Democratic Lawyers (also on behalf of General Arab Women Federation, Union of Arab Jurists and World Movement of Mothers), International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, International Council of Jewish Women, International Federation Terre des hommes, International Human Rights Law Group, International Save the Children Alliance, International Union of Socialist Youth, International Young Catholic Students, Islamic African Relief Agency, Movimiento Cubano por la Paz y la Soberanía de los Pueblos (also on behalf of Federation of Cuban Women), New Human Rights, North-South XXI (also on behalf of Al-Haq, Law in the Service of Man), Permanent Assembly for Human Rights, Society for Threatened Peoples, World Federation of Democratic Youth (also on behalf of Group for International Solidarity and Liberation), World Federation of United Nations Associations, World Muslim Congress, World Organization Against Torture, Worldview International Foundation
	65 th	Observers: Sudan, Uganda

-1	
U	h
\vdash	
0	

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
14 Specific groups and individuals	53 rd	Members: Algeria, Canada, Costa Rica, Romania, Senegal, South Africa Observers: Albania, Austria, Azerbaijan, Croatia, Cyprus, Finland, Ireland, Morocco, Singapore, Slovakia, Sri Lanka, Turkey, Switzerland Other observers: International Committee of the Red Cross, International Labour Organization, International Organization for Migration Observers (right of reply): Cyprus, Turkey
	54 th	Members: Cameroon, China, Cuba, Mexico (also on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States), Pakistan, Peru, Poland, United States of America, Zambia Observers: Angola, Armenia, Georgia Observers (right of reply): Armenia, Sudan, Turkey
	55 th	Members: Argentina, Ecuador, India, Norway, Russian Federation Member (right of reply): Latvia Observers: Belarus, Bulgaria, Nicaragua Other observer: United Nations Children's Fund Non-governmental organizations: American Association of Jurists, Association for World Education, Association of World Citizens, China Disabled Persons Federation (also on behalf of All China Women's Federation and United Nations Association of China), Human Rights Advocates Inc., International Association for Religious Freedom, International Catholic Migration Commission, International Movement against All Forms of Discrimination and Racism, Latin American Federation of Associations of Relatives of Disappeared Detainees, Minority Rights Group International, Movement against Racism and for Friendship among Peoples, Movimiento Cubano por la Paz y la Soberanía de los Pueblos, Norwegian Refugee Council, Robert F. Kennedy Memorial, Rural Reconstruction Nepal, Transnational Radical Party, World Union for Progressive Judaism, World Young Women's Christian Association (also on behalf of Pax Christi International and World Union of Catholic Women's Organizations)

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
14 Specific groups and individuals (concluded)	56 th	Non-governmental organizations: AIDS Information Switzerland, Aliran Kesedaran Negara - National Consciousness Movement, All for Reparations and Emancipation, Anti-Slavery International, Asian Buddhists Conference for Peace, Asian Legal Resource Centre, Australian Council for Overseas Aid, Canadian Council of Churches, Catholic Institute for International Relations, China Society for Human Rights, Colombian Commission of Jurists, Comité d'action pour les droits de l'enfant et de la femme, Fédération des associations pour la défense et la promotion des droits de l'homme, France libertés: Fondation Danielle Mitterrand, Franciscans International, General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists, Group for International Solidarity, Indian Council of Education, International Federation for the Protection of the Rights of Ethnic, Religious, Linguistic and Other Minorities, International Federation of Free Journalists, International Helsinki Federation for Human Rights, International Romani Union, International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs, Islamic Women's Institute of Iran, Latin American Human Rights Association, Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation, Organization for the Solidarity of the Peoples of Asia, Africa and Latin America, Pax Romana, South Asia Human Rights Documentation Centre, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom, World Federation of Democratic Youth, World Federation of Trade Unions, Worldview International Foundation
	57 th	Members (right of reply): Russian Federation, Thailand Non-governmental organizations: African Commission of Health and Human Rights Promoters, Médecins du monde - International
15 Indigenous issues	57 th	Observers: Cyprus, Estonia, Switzerland Other observer: World Bank Non-governmental organizations: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission, Asian Buddhists Conference for Peace, Asociación Kunas Unidos por Napguana, Brahma Kumaris World Spiritual University (also on behalf of World Federation of United Nations Associations), Franciscans International, Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers), Group for International Solidarity, Indian Council of South America, Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru" (also on behalf of Movimiento Cubano por la Paz y la Soberanía de los Pueblos and Organization for the Solidarity of the Peoples of Asia, Africa and Latin America), Indigenous World Association, Interfaith International, International Federation of Rural Adult Catholic Movements, International Indian Treaty Council, International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, Inuit Circumpolar Conference, Latin American Human Rights Association, Netherlands Organization for International Development Cooperation, Saami Council

1	
U	h
\vdash	
0	C

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker	
Indigenous issues (concluded)	58 th	Members: Argentina, Canada, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico, Peru, South Africa Observers: Australia, Chile, Denmark (on behalf of the Nordic countries), El Salvador (on behalf of the Group of Central American States and in its capacity as President pro tempore of the Central American Integration System), New Zealand, Nicaragua Other observer: World Health Organization	
16 Report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	58 th	Members: China, Cuba, Nigeria Non-governmental organizations: Human Rights Watch (also on behalf of Amnesty International, international Commission of Jurists and International Federation of Human Rights Leagues), Permanent Assembly for Human Rights	
17 Promotion and protection of human rights	60 th	Members: Cuba, India, Italy, Japan, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Norway (also on behalf of the Nordic countries), Pakistan, Republic of Korea, Senegal, South Africa, United States of America, Zambia Observers: Albania, Austria, El Salvador (on behalf of the Group of Central American States), Iraq, Netherlands, San Marino, Singapore, Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement), Switzerland Observer (right of reply): Belarus Other observers: University for Peace, World Health Organization Non-governmental organization: International Rehabilitation Council for Torture Victims (also on behalf of Association for the Prevention of Torture)	

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
Promotion and protection of human rights (concluded)	64 th	Member: Costa Rica Member (right of reply): Democratic Republic of the Congo Observers: Chile, Kuwait, Nicaragua Non-governmental organizations: Agir ensemble pour les droits de l'homme, Aliran Kesedaran Negara - National Consciousness Movement, Amnesty International, Association for World Education, Colombian Commission of Jurists, Earthjustice Legal Defense Fund, International Educational Development, Inc., International League for Human Rights, International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples (also on behalf of Fédération des associations pour la défense et la promotion des droits de l'homme, International Association of Democratic Lawyers and Movement Against Racism and for Friendship among Peoples), International Organisation for the Development of Education (also on behalf of Soka Gakkai International and International Movement Against All Forms of Discrimination and Racism), Latin American Federation of Associations of Relatives of Disappeared Detainees, Pax Christi International, Pax Romana (also on behalf of International Federation of Rural Adult Catholic Movements), Reporters without Borders International, Soka Gakkai International, Transnational Radical Party, Women's Federation for World Peace, World Alliance of Reformed Churches, World Federation of United Nations Associations, World Organization Against Torture (also on behalf of International Federation of Human Rights Leagues)
	65 th	Member: Nigeria Member (right of reply): Malaysia Observers (right of reply): Albania, Belarus Non-governmental organizations: Afro-Asian People's Solidarity Organization, Interfaith International, International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, International Human Rights Law Group, International Islamic Federation of Student Organizations, International Service for Human Rights, International Young Catholic Students, Liberal International (World Liberal Union), Marangopoulos Foundation for Human Rights, Médecins du monde - International, Organisation tunisienne de l'education et de la famille, Rural Reconstruction Nepal, War Resisters International, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom
18 Effective functioning of human rights mechanisms	65 th	National institutions: Asia Pacific Forum of National Human Rights Institutions, Association des Ombudsmans et Médiateurs de la Francophonie, Danish Centre for Human Rights, Human Rights Commission (Togo), International Coordination Committee of National Institutions, National Commission on Human Rights and Freedoms (Cameroon)

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
18 Effective functioning of human rights mechanisms (concluded)	66 th	Members: Madagascar, Poland, Senegal Member (right of reply): United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland National institutions: Canadian Human Rights Commission, Comisión Nacional de Derechos Humanos (Mexico), Commission nationale consultative des droits de l'homme (France), Commission on Human Rights (Philippines), Commission on Human Rights and Administrative Justice (Ghana), Conseil consultatif des droits de l'homme du Royaume du Maroc, Consultative Council - Human Rights Committee (Bahrain), Defensor del Pueblo (Argentina), Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (Australia), Human Rights Commission (Malaysia), Human Rights Commission (New Zealand), Human Rights Commission (Uganda), Human Rights Ombudsman of Bosnia and Herzegovina, Indonesian National Commission on Human Rights, Malawi Human Rights Commission, National Committee on Human Rights (Italy), National Human Rights Commission (India), National Human Rights Commission (Nigeria), Northern Ireland Human Rights Commission, South African Human Rights Commission
	67 th	Members: China, Italy, Pakistan, Russian Federation, South Africa Observers: Cyprus, Liechtenstein, New Zealand (Australia, Canada and Chile aligned themselves with the statement), Slovenia, Sri Lanka, Sudan, Ukraine Non-governmental organizations: Aliran Kesedaran Negara - National Consciousness Movement, Association for World Education, Asian Legal Resource Centre, Center for Economic and Social Rights (also on behalf of 10 other non-governmental organizations), Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers) (also on behalf of 4 other non-governmental organizations), Human Rights Watch, International Human Rights Law Group, International Movement Against All Forms of Discrimination and Racism (also on behalf of Minority Rights Group International, International Save the Children Alliance and Women's International League for Peace and Freedom), South Asia Human Rights Documentation Centre
19 Advisory services and technical cooperation in the field of human rights	74 th	Members: India, Kenya, Madagascar, Uruguay Observers: Cambodia, Croatia, El Salvador (on behalf of the Group of Central American States), Haiti, Paraguay (on behalf of the Southern Common Market, Bolivia and Chile aligned themselves with the statement), Sweden (on behalf of the European Union, Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey aligned themselves with the statement) Other observers: International Committee of the Red Cross, International Organization of la Francophonie Non-governmental organizations: Aliran Kesedaran Negara - National Consciousness Movement, International Movement for Fraternal Union among Races and Peoples

Agenda item ^a	Meeting number	Speaker
20 Rationalization of the work of the Commission	74 th	Member: Pakistan Non-governmental organizations: Association of World Education (also on behalf of Association of World Citizens), Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru", International Association of Democratic Lawyers
	75 th	Member: Cuba

^a The titles of the agenda items have been abbreviated where appropriate.

Annex IV

Administrative and programme budget implications of resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session

- 1. At its fifty-seventh session, the Commission on Human Rights adopted 82 resolutions and 19 decisions.
- 2. A number of resolutions and decisions relate to mandates that do not involve substantive costs or for which provisions have been made in the programme budget for the biennium 2000-2001.
- 3. Before taking a decision on those resolutions and decisions involving programme budget implications, in accordance with regulation 13.1 of the United Nations Financial Regulations and Rules and rule 28 of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the Commission was informed through oral statements of the estimated costs relating to implementation of the requests contained in the resolutions and decisions.
- 4. The resolutions and decisions of the Commission which were subject to oral statements concerned activities of a perennial nature. Provisions have already been included in the programme budget for the biennium 2000-2001 and in the proposed programme budget for the biennium 2002-2003 for activities of this nature. Hence, no additional appropriations would be required as a result of the adoption of these resolutions and decisions.

Annex V

Resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission on Human Rights and statements made by the Chairperson on behalf of the Commission at its fifty-seventh session

A. Resolutions and decisions adopted by the Commission

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
			AGENDA ITEM 3: ORGANIZATION OF THE WORK OF THE SESSION		
	decision	2001/101	Organization of work	without a vote	8-11
	decision	2001/117	Dates of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights	without a vote	48-49
	decision	2001/118	Organization of the work of the fifty-eighth session of the Commission on Human Rights	without a vote	50-51
	decision	2001/119	Question of resources for the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights	without a vote	40-41
			AGENDA ITEM 4: REPORT OF THE UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS AND FOLLOW-UP TO THE WORLD CONFERENCE ON HUMAN RIGHTS		
			AGENDA ITEM 5: THE RIGHT OF PEOPLES TO SELF-DETERMINATION AND ITS APPLICATION TO PEOPLES UNDER COLONIAL OR ALIEN DOMINATION OR FOREIGN OCCUPATION		
L.3	resolution	2001/1	Question of Western Sahara	without a vote	63-65
L.4	resolution	2001/2	Situation in occupied Palestine	roll-call vote (48/2/2)	66-71
L.5	resolution	2001/3	The use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination	roll-call vote (35/11/6)	72-76

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
			AGENDA ITEM 6: RACISM, RACIAL DISCRIMINATION, XENOPHOBIA AND ALL FORMS OF DISCRIMINATION		
L.7/Rev.1	resolution	2001/4	Combating defamation of religions as a means to promote human rights, social harmony and religious and cultural diversity	roll-call vote (28/15/9)	88-91
L.9	resolution	2001/5	Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance	without a vote	92-93
			AGENDA ITEM 7: THE RIGHT TO DEVELOPMENT		
L.15	resolution	2001/9	The right to development	roll-call vote (48/2/3)	99-108
			AGENDA ITEM 8: QUESTION OF THE VIOLATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS IN THE OCCUPIED ARAB TERRITORIES, INCLUDING PALESTINE		
L.6	resolution	2001/6	Human rights in the occupied Syrian Golan	roll-call vote (29/2/21)	115-120
L.30	resolution	2001/7	Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine	roll-call vote (28/2/22)	121-127
L.31	resolution	2001/8	Israeli settlements in the occupied Arab territories	roll-call vote (50/1/1)	128-131
			AGENDA ITEM 9: QUESTION OF THE VIOLATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS AND FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS IN ANY PART OF THE WORLD,		
L.2/Rev.1	resolution	2001/10	Human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel	roll-call vote (33/1/19)	142-146
L.14	resolution	2001/11	Cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies	without a vote	154-155
L.17	resolution	2001/12	Situation of human rights in parts of South-Eastern Europe	roll-call vote (41/0/11)	156-161
L.18	resolution	2001/13	Situation of human rights in Afghanistan	without a vote	162-165

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
L.19	resolution	2001/14	Situation of human rights in Iraq	roll-call vote (30/3/19)	166-172
L.20	resolution	2001/15	Situation of human rights in Myanmar	without a vote	173-176
L.21	resolution	2001/16	Situation of human rights in Cuba	roll-call vote (22/20/10)	177-184
L.22	resolution	2001/17	Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran	roll-call vote (21/17/15)	185-191
L.25	resolution	2001/18	Situation of human rights in the Sudan	roll-call vote (28/0/25)	192-197
L.26	resolution	2001/19	Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo	without a vote	198-202
L.27	resolution	2001/20	Situation of human rights in Sierra Leone	without a vote	205-206
L.28	resolution	2001/21	Situation of human rights in Burundi	without a vote	207-210
L.29	resolution	2001/22	Situation in Equatorial Guinea and assistance in the field of human rights	without a vote	211-215
L.32	resolution	2001/23	Situation of human rights in Rwanda	roll-call vote (28/16/9)	216-224
L.24	resolution	2001/24	Situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation	roll-call vote (22/12/19)	225-232
	decision	2001/102	Question of human rights in Cyprus	without a vote	233-234
			AGENDA ITEM 10: ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND CULTURAL RIGHTS		
L.12	resolution	2001/25	The right to food	roll-call vote (52/1/0)	245-249

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
L.16	resolution	2001/26	Human rights and unilateral coercive measures	roll-call vote (37/8/8)	250-252
L.33	resolution	2001/27	Effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights	roll-call vote (31/15/7)	253-256
L.39	resolution	2001/28	Adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living	without a vote	257-260
L.41	resolution	2001/29	The right to education	without a vote	261-263
L.42	resolution	2001/30	Question of the realization in all countries of the economic, social and cultural rights contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and study of special problems which the developing countries face in their efforts to achieve these rights	without a vote	264-269
L.45	resolution	2001/31	Human rights and extreme poverty	without a vote	270-272
L.48	resolution	2001/32	Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights	roll-call vote (37/15/1)	273-277
L.50	resolution	2001/33	Access to medication in the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS	roll-call vote (52/0/1	278-282
L.53	resolution	2001/34	Women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing	without a vote	283-288
L.54	resolution	2001/35	Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights	roll-call vote (38/15/0)	289-293
L.37	decision	2001/103	The Social Forum	without a vote	294-298
L.43	decision	2001/104	Promotion of the realization of the right to drinking water and sanitation	without a vote	299-301

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
			AGENDA ITEM 11: CIVIL AND POLITICAL RIGHTS		
L.8/Rev.1	resolution	2001/36	Strengthening of popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination as essential foundations of democracy	roll-call vote (28/4/21)	309-316
L.34	resolution	2001/37	Human rights and terrorism	roll-call vote (33/14/6)	317-321
L.35	resolution	2001/38	Hostage-taking	without a vote	322-323
L.38	resolution	2001/39	Independence and impartiality of the judiciary, jurors and assessors and the independence of lawyers	without a vote	324-325
L.44	resolution	2001/40	Question of arbitrary detention	without a vote	329-331
L.46	resolution	2001/41	Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy	roll-call vote (44/0/9)	332-341
L.49	resolution	2001/42	Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance	without a vote	342-344
L.51	resolution	2001/43	The incompatibility between democracy and racism	without a vote	345-346
L.52	resolution	2001/44	Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment	without a vote	347-348
L.55	resolution	2001/45	Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions	without a vote	349-354
L.57	resolution	2001/46	Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances	without a vote	368-376
L.56	resolution	2001/47	The right to freedom of opinion and expression	roll-call vote (44/0/8)	355-367
L.47	resolution	2001/62	Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment	without a vote	377-394

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
L.40	decision	2001/105	Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms	without a vote	326-328
	decision	2001/106	Creation of a pre-sessional working group on the administration of justice of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	without a vote	395-398
			AGENDA ITEM 12: INTEGRATION OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS OF WOMEN		
L.59	resolution	2001/48	Traffic in women and girls	without a vote	403-405
L.60	resolution	2001/49	Elimination of violence against women	without a vote	406-409
L.61	resolution	2001/50	Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system	without a vote	410-412
	decision	2001/107	Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child	without a vote	413-415
			AGENDA ITEM 13: RIGHTS OF THE CHILD		
L.89	resolution	2001/74	Abduction of children from northern Uganda	without a vote	421-428
L.98	resolution	2001/75	Rights of the child	without a vote	429-434
			AGENDA ITEM 14: SPECIFIC GROUPS AND INDIVIDUALS		
L.69	resolution	2001/51	The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)	without a vote	440-441
L.70	resolution	2001/52	Human rights of migrants	without a vote	442-444
L.71	resolution	2001/53	International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families	without a vote	445-446
L.74	resolution	2001/54	Internally displaced persons	without a vote	447-450
L.75	resolution	2001/55	Rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities	without a vote	451-453

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
L.90	resolution	2001/56	Protection of migrants and their families	without a vote	454-457
	decision	2001/108	Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices	without a vote	458-459
	decision	2001/109	Report of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	without a vote	460-461
			AGENDA ITEM 15: INDIGENOUS ISSUES		
L.63	resolution	2001/57	Human rights and indigenous issues	without a vote	467-471
L.76	resolution	2001/58	Working Group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration in accordance with paragraph 5 of General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994	without a vote	478-480
L.73	resolution	2001/59	Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People	without a vote	472-477
	decision	2001/110	Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	without a vote	481-483
			AGENDA ITEM 16: REPORT OF THE SUB-COMMISSION ON THE PROMOTION AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN RIGHTS		
L.100	resolution	2001/60	Work of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights	without a vote	488-490
			AGENDA ITEM 17: PROMOTION AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN RIGHTS		
L.72	resolution	2001/61	United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (1995-2004)	without a vote	495-497
L.82	resolution	2001/63	Development of public information activities in the field of human rights, including the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights	without a vote	503-504
L.83	resolution	2001/64	Human rights defenders	without a vote	505-508

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
L.86	resolution	2001/65	Promotion of a democratic and equitable international order	roll-call vote (32/16/4)	511-514
L.92	resolution	2001/66	Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide	without a vote	515-518
L.78	resolution	2001/67	Enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights	without a vote	519-520
L.93	resolution	2001/68	The question of the death penalty	roll-call vote (27/18/7)	521-528
L.95	resolution	2001/69	Promotion of the right of peoples to peace	roll-call vote (29/16/7)	529-533
L.77/Rev.1	resolution	2001/70	Impunity	roll-call vote (39/0/13	541-546
L.87	resolution	2001/71	Human rights and bioethics	without a vote	547-548
L.88	resolution	2001/72	The role of good governance in the promotion of human rights	without a vote	549-551
L.96	resolution	2001/73	Human rights and international solidarity	roll-call vote (36/16/0)	552-558
L.79	decision	2001/111	Science and the environment	without a vote	498-501
L.85	decision	2001/112	Fundamental standards of humanity	without a vote	509-510
L.103	decision	2001/113	Reservations to human rights treaties	without a vote	534-536
	decision	2001/114	Observance of the human rights and fundamental freedoms contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights by States which are not parties to the International Covenants on Human Rights	without a vote	537-540
	decision	2001/115	Human Rights and human responsibilities	roll-call vote (34/14/4)	559-565

Document E/CN.4/2001/	Action taken	No.	Title ^a	Method of adoption ^b	Paragraphs of report
			AGENDA ITEM 18: EFFECTIVE FUNCTIONING OF HUMAN RIGHTS MECHANISMS		
L.64	resolution	2001/76	Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies	roll-call vote (35/15/2)	569-572
L.84	resolution	2001/77	Regional cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region	without a vote	573-575
L.97	resolution	2001/78	Composition of the staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights	roll-call vote (34/16/2)	581-586
L.99	resolution	2001/79	Regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights	without a vote	587-589
L.102	resolution	2001/80	National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights	without a vote	590-592
	decision	2001/116	Postponement of consideration of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91 [entitled "Human rights and thematic procedures"] and the proposed amendments thereto (E/CN.4/2001/L.104)	without a vote	576-580
			AGENDA ITEM 19: ADVISORY SERVICES AND TECHNICAL COOPERATION IN THE FIELD OF HUMAN RIGHTS		
L.81	resolution	2001/81	Assistance to Somalia in the field of human rights	without a vote	597-599
L.101	resolution	2001/82	Situation of human rights in Cambodia	without a vote	600-602
			AGENDA ITEM 20: RATIONALIZATION OF THE WORK OF THE COMMISSION		

B. Statements made by the Chairperson on behalf of the Commission

Agenda item	Subject	Date	Paragraphs of report
3	Situation of human rights in Colombia	25 April 2001	54
9	Situation of human rights in East Timor	20 April 2001	239
19	Technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti	25 April 2001	604

^a The titles of agenda items have been abbreviated, where appropriate.

^b In the case of a vote, the figures in brackets represent: votes in favour/votes against/abstentions.

Annex VI

List of documents issued for the fifty-seventh session of the Commission

Documents issued in the general series

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/1	2	Provisional agenda: note by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/1/Add.1 and Corr.1	2	Annotations to the provisional agenda prepared by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/2- E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/46	16	Report of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights on its fifty-second session
E/CN.4/2001/3	8	Letter dated 16 May 2000 from the Permanent Observer of Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/4	11	Letter dated 26 May 2000 from the Permanent Representative of Tunisia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/5	14 (c)	Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons, Mr. Francis M. Deng, submitted pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution 2000/53
E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.1	14 (c)	: profiles in displacement: Forced relocation in Burundi
E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.2	14 (c)	·
E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.3	14 (c)	: profiles in displacement: Armenia
E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.4	14 (c)	: profiles in displacement: Georgia
E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.5	14 (<i>c</i>)	: profiles in displacement: Angola
E/CN.4/2001/6	4 and 18	Note by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/7	8	Letter dated 23 May 2000 from the Permanent Observer of Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/8	10	Letter dated 22 June 2000 from the Permanent Representative of Bangladesh to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/9 and Corr.1	11 (<i>b</i>)	Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions: report of the Special Rapporteur, Ms. Asma Jahangir, submitted pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution 2000/31
E/CN.4/2001/9/Add.1	11 <i>(b)</i>	Report of the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions, Ms. Asma Jahangir, submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/31: summary of cases transmitted to Governments and replies received
E/CN.4/2001/9/Add.2	11 (<i>b</i>)	: mission to Nepal
E/CN.4/2001/10	10 and 11 (c)	Letter dated 8 August 2000 from the Chargé d'affaires of the Permanent Mission of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/11	11	Note verbale dated 4 August 2000 from the Permanent Mission of Thailand to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/12	3	Statistics relating to the fifty-sixth session of the Commission on Human Rights: note by the secretariat

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/13	18	Note verbale dated 19 September 2000 from the Permanent Mission of the Czech Republic to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/14	11 (a)	Report of the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention
E/CN.4/2001/14/Add.1	11 (a)	Opinions adopted by the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention
E/CN.4/2001/15	3	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the human rights situation in Colombia
E/CN.4/2001/16	4	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights submitted pursuant to General Assembly resolution 48/141
E/CN.4/2001/17	5	Situation in occupied Palestine: report by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/18	5	Note by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/19	5	Report on the question of the use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination, submitted by Mr. Enrique Bernales Ballesteros, Special Rapporteur, pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/3
E/CN.4/2001/20	6	Report of the Secretary-General submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/14
E/CN.4/2001/21 and Corr.1	6	Report by Mr. Maurice Glèlè-Ahanhanzo, Special Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance, submitted pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution 2000/14

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/22	6	Comments submitted by the International Labour Office
E/CN.4/2001/23		[Symbol not used]
E/CN.4/2001/24	7	Report of the Secretary-General submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/5
E/CN.4/2001/25	7	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/5
E/CN.4/2001/26	7	Report of the Open-ended working group established to monitor and review progress made in the promotion and implementation of the right to development
E/CN.4/2001/27	8	Report by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/28	8	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/29	8	Note by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/30	8	Update to the mission report on Israel's violations of human rights in the Palestinian territories occupied since 1967, submitted by Mr. Giorgio Giacomelli, Special Rapporteur, to the Commission at its fifth special session
E/CN.4/2001/31	9 (a)	Report of the Secretary-General submitted pursuant to Commission decision 2000/103
E/CN.4/2001/32	9	Human rights situation in southern Lebanon and western Bekaa: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/33	9	Report of the Secretary-General on the situation of human rights in Myanmar, submitted pursuant to General Assembly resolution 55/112
E/CN.4/2001/34	9	Cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies: report of the Secretary-General submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/22

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/35	9	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights pursuant to Commission on Human Rights resolution 2000/24: situation of human rights in Sierra Leone
E/CN.4/2001/36	9	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation
E/CN.4/2001/37 and Corr.1	9	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the situation of human rights in East Timor
E/CN.4/2001/38	9	Report on the human rights situation in Equatorial Guinea submitted by the Special Representative of the Commission, Mr. Gustavo Gallón, pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/19
E/CN.4/2001/39	9	Report on the situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran, prepared by the Special Representative of the Commission, Mr. Maurice Danby Copithorne, pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/28
E/CN.4/2001/40	9	Report on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, submitted by the Special Rapporteur, Mr. Roberto Garretón, in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/15
E/CN.4/2001/40/Add.1	9	Report on the mission carried out by Mr. Roberto Garretón, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, from 11 to 21 March 2001
E/CN.4/2001/41	9	Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the Congo: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/42	9	Report of the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Iraq, Mr. Andreas Mavrommatis

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/43 and Add.1	9	Report on the situation of human rights in Afghanistan submitted by Mr. Kamal Hossain, Special Rapporteur, in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/18
E/CN.4/2001/44	9	Report on the situation of human rights in Burundi submitted by the Special Rapporteur, Ms. Marie-Thérèse A. Kéita-Bocoum, pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/20
E/CN.4/2001/45	9	Situation of human rights in Rwanda: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/45/Add.1 and Corr.1	9	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/46		[Symbol not used]
E/CN.4/2001/47 and Add.1	9	Situation of human rights in the former Yugoslavia: report of Mr. Jiri Dienstbier, Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights in Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Republic of Croatia and the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (Serbia and Montenegro)
E/CN.4/2001/48	9	Situation of human rights in the Sudan: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/49	10	Report of the Secretary-General submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/9
E/CN.4/2001/50	10	Human rights and unilateral coercive measures: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/51	10	Report of the Special Rapporteur on adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living, and on the right to non-discrimination, Mr. Miloon Kothari, submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/9

Symbol	Agenda item	\ <u></u>
E/CN.4/2001/52	10	Annual report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to education, Ms. Katarina Tomasevski, submitted in accordance with Commission on Human Rights resolution 2000/9
E/CN.4/2001/53	10	Report by the Special Rapporteur on the right to food, Mr. Jean Ziegler, submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/10
E/CN.4/2001/54 and Corr.1	10	Human rights and extreme poverty: report submitted by Ms. Anne-Marie Lizin, independent expert, pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/12
E/CN.4/2001/54/Add.1 and Corr.1	10	Report of the Expert Seminar on Human Rights and Extreme Poverty
E/CN.4/2001/55 and Add.1	10	Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights: report submitted by the Special Rapporteur, Ms. Fatma-Zohra Ouhachi-Vesely
E/CN.4/2001/56	10	The Highly Indebted Poor Countries Initiative: a human rights assessment of the Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers: report submitted by Mr. Fantu Cheru, independent expert on the effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights
E/CN.4/2001/57	10	Open-ended working group established to elaborate policy guidelines on structural adjustment programmes and economic, social and cultural rights: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/58	11 (a)	Status of the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/59 and Corr.1 and Add.1	11 (a)	United Nations Voluntary Fund for Victims of Torture: report of the Secretary-General

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/60	11	The incompatibility of racism with democracy: report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/61	11 (<i>d</i>)	The right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms: note by the secretariat
E.CN.4/2001/62 and Add.1	10	Draft optional protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/62/Add.2	10	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the workshop on the justiciability of economic, social and cultural rights, with particular reference to the draft optional protocol to the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights
E/CN.4/2001/63	11 (e)	Report submitted by Mr. Abdelfattah Amor, Special Rapporteur on religious intolerance, in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/33
E/CN.4/2001/64	11 (c)	Report of the Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of the right to freedom of opinion and expression, Mr. Abid Hussain, submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/38
E/CN.4/2001/64/Add.1	11 (c)	: mission to Albania
E/CN.4/2001/65	11 (<i>d</i>)	Report of the Special Rapporteur on the independence of judges and lawyers, Mr. Dato' Param Cumaraswamy, submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/42
E/CN.4/2001/65/Add.1	11 (<i>d</i>)	: mission to Belarus
E/CN.4/2001/65/Add.2	11 (<i>d</i>)	: mission to South Africa
E/CN.4/2001/65/Add.3	11 (<i>d</i>)	: mission to the Slovak Republic

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/66	11 (a)	Report of the Special Rapporteur on the question of torture, Sir Nigel S. Rodley, submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/43
E/CN.4/2001/66/Add.1	11 (a)	: visit to Azerbaijan
E/CN.4/2001/66/Add.2	11 (a)	: visit to Brazil
E/CN.4/2001/67	11 (a)	Report of the Open-ended working group on a draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment on its ninth session
E/CN.4/2001/68	11 (<i>b</i>)	Report of the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances
E/CN.4/2001/69 and Add.1	11 <i>(b)</i>	Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/70- E/CN.6/2001/3	12	Joint work plan of the Office of the Special Adviser on Gender Issues and Advancement of Women, the Division for the Advancement of Women and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/71	12	Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/72 and Corr.1	12	Traffic in women and girls: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/73	12 (a)	Report of the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences, Ms. Radhika Coomaraswamy, submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/45: violence against women perpetrated and/or condoned by the State during times of armed conflict (1997-2000)
E/CN.4/2001/73/Add.1	12 (a)	: communications to and from Governments

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/73/Add.2	12 (a)	imission to Bangladesh, Nepal and India on the issue of trafficking of women and girls (28 October-15 November 2000)
E/CN.4/2001/74	13	Status of the Convention on the Rights of the Child: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/75	13	Abduction of children from northern Uganda: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/76	13	Additional report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the impact of armed conflict on children, Mr. Olara A. Otunnu, submitted in accordance with General Assembly resolution 55/79
E/CN.4/2001/77	13	Programme of Action for the Elimination of the Exploitation of Child Labour: note by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/78	13	Report of the Special Rapporteur on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, Ms. Ofelia Calcetas-Santos
E/CN.4/2001/78/Add.1	13	: report on the mission on the issue of commercial sexual exploitation of children to the Kingdom of Morocco (28 February-3 March 2000)
E/CN.4/2001/78/Add.2	13	: mission to the Russian Federation
E/CN.4/2001/79	14 <i>(a)</i>	Status of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families and efforts made by the Secretariat to promote the Convention: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/80	14 (<i>d</i>)	The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS): report of the Secretary-General

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/81	14 (b)	Rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/82	14 (<i>d</i>)	United Nations Voluntary Trust Fund on Contemporary Forms of Slavery: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/82/Add.1	14 (<i>d</i>)	: recommendations adopted by the Board of Trustees of the United Nations Voluntary Trust Fund on Contemporary Forms of Slavery at its sixth session
E/CN.4/2001/83	14 (a)	Report submitted by the Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants, Ms. Gabriela Rodríguez Pizarro, pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/48
E/CN.4/2001/83/Add.1	14 (a)	Report prepared by Ms. Gabriela Rodríguez Pizarro, Special Rapporteur on the human rights of migrants, submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 1999/44: visit to Canada
E/CN.4/2001/84	15	Implementation of the programme of activities for the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People: report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/85	15	Report of the Working Group on a draft United Nations declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples established in accordance with Commission resolution 1999/32
E/CN.4/2001/86	16	Report of Ms. Iulia-Antoanella Motoc, Chairperson of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights at its fifty-second session, submitted in accordance with Commission decision 2000/106
E/CN.4/2001/87	17 (a)	Report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/88 and Corr.1	17	Impunity: report of the Secretary-General

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/89 and Corr.1	17	Question of the death penalty: note by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/90	17 (c)	United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education, 1995-2004: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/91	17	Fundamental standards of humanity: report of the Secretary-General submitted pursuant to Commission resolution 2000/69
E/CN.4/2001/92	17 (c)	Public information activities in the field of human rights including the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/93 and Add.1	17 (<i>d</i>)	Human rights and bioethics: report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/94	17 (b)	Report submitted by Ms. Hina Jilani, Special Representative of the Secretary-General on human rights defenders, in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/61
E/CN.4/2001/95	17	The enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights: report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 1999/68
E/CN.4/2001/96	17	Note submitted by Mr. Miguel Alfonso Martínez, expert appointed by the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights to undertake the study requested by the Commission in resolution 2000/63 on human rights and human responsibilities
E/CN.4/2001/97	18 (b)	Regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights: report of the Secretary-General prepared in accordance with paragraph 14 of Commission on Human Rights resolution 1999/71

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/98	18 (b)	Regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region: report of the Secretary-General submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/74
E/CN.4/2001/99	18 (b)	National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights: report of the Secretary-General submitted in accordance with resolution 2000/76
E/CN.4/2001/100	18 (c)	Composition of the staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights: report of the United Nations High Commissioner on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/101	18	Human rights and thematic procedures: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/102	19	Role and achievements of the Office of the United Nations High Commisioner for Human Rights in assisting the Government and people of Cambodia in the promotion and protection of human rights: report of the Secretary-General submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/79
E/CN.4/2001/103	19	Situation of human rights in Cambodia: report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Human Rights in Cambodia, Mr. Peter Leuprecht, submitted in accordance with Commission resolution 2000/79
E/CN.4/2001/104	19	Report of the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/105	19	The situation of human rights in Somalia: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/106	19	Situation of human rights in Haiti: report prepared by Mr. Adama Dieng, independent expert, in accordance with paragraph 21 of Commission resolution 2000/78

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/107	9	Letter dated 2 November 2000 from the Permanent Representative of Azerbaijan to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the secretariat of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/108	8	Note verbale dated 15 September 2000 from the Permanent Delegation of the League of Arab States to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/109	8	Letter dated 2 October 2000 from the Permanent Observer for Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/110	8	Letter dated 4 October 2000 from the Permanent Observer for Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/111	8	Letter dated 10 October 2000 from the Permanent Observer for Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/112	8	Letter dated 12 October 2000 from the Permanent Observer for Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/113	8	Note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/114	4 and 8	Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on her visit to the occupied Palestinian territories, Israel, Egypt and Jordan (8-16 November 2000)
E/CN.4/2001/115	20	Letter dated 10 July 2000 from the Permanent Representative of the Netherlands to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/116	11 <i>(a)</i>	Note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/117	17	The role of good governance in the promotion of human rights: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/118	8	Letters dated 23 November and 13 December 2000 from the Permanent Observer for Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/119	9	Situation of human rights in Iraq: note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/120	17	Towards a culture of peace: note by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/121	8	Report of the Human Rights Inquiry Commission established pursuant to Commission resolution S-5/1 of 19 October 2000
E/CN.4/2001/122	9	Note verbale dated 15 December 2000 from the Permanent Mission of Iraq to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/123	10	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/124	9	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/125	17	Note by the secretariat
E/CN.4/2001/126- E/CN.6/2001/6	12 (a)	Report of the United Nations Development Fund for Women on the elimination of violence against women: note by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/127	9	Note verbale dated 15 December 2000 from the Permanent Mission of Iraq to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/128	9	Letter dated 20 December 2000 from the Permanent Representative of Armenia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/129	9 (a)	Letter dated 2 January 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Cyprus to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/130	8	Letter dated 8 January 2001 from the Permanent Observer for Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/131	9	Letter dated 19 January 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Azerbaijan to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the secretariat of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/132	9	Note verbale dated 13 February 2001 from the Permanent Mission of Iraq to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/133	4 and 8	Letter dated 21 February 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Israel to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/134- E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/3	9	Note by the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights transmitting the report of the International Commission of Inquiry for Togo
E/CN.4/2001/134/Add.1 -E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/3/ Add.1	9	Letter dated 22 January 2001 from the Prime Minister of Togo addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/134/Add.2 -E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/3/ Add.2	9	Letter dated 6 February 2001 from the Deputy Secretary-General of Amnesty International, addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/134/Add.3 -E/CN.4/Sub.2/2001/3/ Add.3	9	Letter dated 9 March 2001 from the Deputy Secretary-General of Amnesty International addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/135	9	Letter dated 26 February 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Azerbaijan to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the secretariat of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/136	8	Letter dated 27 February 2001 from the Permanent Observer of Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2000/137 and Corr.1	11 <i>(a)</i>	Letter dated 9 February 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Turkey to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/138	11 (c)	Letter dated 14 March 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Albania to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/139	3	Letter dated 16 March 2001 from the Vice-President of Colombia addressed to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights through the Director of the office in Colombia
E/CN.4/2001/140	9	Note verbale dated 9 March 2001 from the Permanent Mission of Myanmar to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the secretariat of the Commission on Human Rights

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/141	14 (a)	Note verbale dated 14 March 2001 from the Permanent Mission of Canada to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/142	8	Letter dated 15 March 2001 from the Permanent Observer of Palestine to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/143	20	Report by the Chairperson of the seventh annual meeting of special rapporteurs/representatives/ experts and chairpersons of working groups of the Commission, Ms. Katarina Tomasevski, submitted pursuant to paragraph 11 of the annex to Commission decision 2000/109
E/CN.4/2001/144	9	Letter dated 26 March 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Armenia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/145	8	Letter dated 23 March 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Egypt to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/146	6	Letter dated 26 March 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Latvia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/147	12 (a)	Letter dated 28 March 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Georgia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/148	10	The right to food: report on the Third Expert Consultation on the Right to Food

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/149	6, 9 and 11	Letter dated 30 March 2001 from the Permanent Representative of China to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/150	9	Letter dated 26 March 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Kuwait to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/151	13	Letter dated 2 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Viet Nam to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/152	5 and 9	Letter dated 9 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Malaysia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/153	11 (<i>b</i>)	Letter dated 6 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Singapore to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/154	9	Note verbale dated 5 April 2001 from the Permanent Mission of Israel to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the secretariat of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/155	9	Letter dated 9 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Armenia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/156	5 and 9	Letter dated 17 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of India to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission for Human Rights

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/157	14 (<i>d</i>)	The protection of human rights in the context of HIV/AIDS: paper submitted by the International Labour Organization
E/CN.4/2001/158	18	Letter dated April 2001 from the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs of the Dominican Republic addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/159	18 (b)	Note verbale dated 18 April 2001 from the Permanent Mission of the Islamic Republic of Iran to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the secretariat of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/160	19	Letter dated 24 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Ethiopia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/161 and Corr.1	17 (a)	Letter dated 27 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Saudi Arabia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/162	6	Note by the Chairperson of the Commission
E/CN.4/2001/163	9 and 11 <i>(b)</i>	Letter dated 24 April 2001 from the Minister Counsellor, Chargé d'affaires a.i. of the Permanent Mission of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/164	11 (a)	Note verbale dated 26 April 2001 from the Permanent Mission of Brazil to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/165	9 (a)	Letter dated 18 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of Turkey to the United Nations Office at Geneva addressed to the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/166	8	Letter dated 27 April 2001 from the Permanent Representative of the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya addressed to the Chairperson of the Commission on Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/SR.1-80 ^a and E/CN.4/2001/SR.1- 80/Corrigendum		Summary records of meetings held by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session, and corrigendum

^a Summary records of the closed meetings (18th, 20th (second part) and 27th) were issued in restricted distribution.

Documents issued in the limited series

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.1	21 <i>(a)</i>	Note by the Secretary-General
E/CN.4/2001/L.2/Rev.1	9	Human rights situation of the Lebanese detainees in Israel: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.3	5	Question of Western Sahara: draft resolution submitted by the Chairperson
E/CN.4/2001/L.4	5	Situation in occupied Palestine: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.5	5	The use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.6	8	Human rights in the occupied Syrian Golan: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.7/Rev.1	6	Combating defamation of religions as a means to promote human rights, social harmony and religious and cultural diversity: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.8/Rev.1	11	Strengthening of popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination as essential foundations of democracy: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.9	6	Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2000/L.10 and Add.1-17	21 <i>(b)</i>	Draft report of the Commission on its fifty-seventh session
E/CN.4/2000/L.11 and Add.1-8	21 <i>(b)</i>	Idem

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.12	10	The right to food: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.13	9	Situation of human rights in China: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.14	9	Cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.15	7	The right to development: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.16	10	Human rights and unilateral coercive measures: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.17	9	Situation of human rights in parts of South-Eastern Europe: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.18	9	Situation of human rights in Afghanistan: draft resolution submitted by the Chairperson
E/CN.4/2001/L.19	9	Situation of human rights in Iraq: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.20	9	Situation of human rights in Myanmar: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.21	9	Situation of human rights in Cuba: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.22	9	Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.23		[Symbol not used]
E/CN.4/2001/L.24	9	Situation in the Republic of Chechnya of the Russian Federation: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.25	9	Situation of human rights in the Sudan: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.26	9	Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of Congo: draft resolution

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.27	9	Situation of human rights in Sierra Leone: draft resolution
E/CN4/2001/L.28	9	Situation of human rights in Burundi: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.29	9	Situation in Equatorial Guinea and assistance in the field of human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.30	8	Question of the violation of human rights in the occupied Arab territories, including Palestine: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.31	8	Israeli settlements in the occupied Arab territories: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.32	9	Situation of human rights in Rwanda: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.33	10	Effects of structural adjustment policies and foreign debt on the full enjoyment of all human rights, particularly economic, social and cultural rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.34	11	Human rights and terrorism: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.35	11	Hostage-taking: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.36	11	Amendment to draft decision 1 of the Sub- Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/L.37	10	Amendment to draft decision 2 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/L.38	11	Independence and impartiality of the judiciary, jurors and assessors and the independence of lawyers: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.39	10	Adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living: draft resolution

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.40	11	Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation for victims of grave violations of human rights and fundamental freedoms: draft decision
E/CN.4/2001/L.41	10	The right to education: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.42	10	Question of the realization in all countries of the economic, social and cultural rights contained in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, and study of special problems which the developing countries face in their efforts to achieve these human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.43	10	Amendment to draft decision 3 of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights
E/CN.4/2001/L.44	11	Question of arbitrary detention: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.45	10	Human rights and extreme poverty: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.46	11	Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.47	11 (a)	Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.48	10	Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.49	11 <i>(e)</i>	Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.50	10	Access to medication in the contex of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.51	11	The incompatibility between democracy and racism: draft resolution

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.52	11 (a)	Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.53	10	Women's equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.54	10	Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.55	11 (<i>b</i>)	Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.56	11	The right to freedom of opinion and expression: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.57	11	Question of enforced or involuntary disappearances: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.58	9	Amendments to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.32
E/CN.4/2001/L.59	12	Traffic in women and girls: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.60	12	Elimination of violence against women: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.61	12	Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.62	11	Amendments to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47
E/CN.4/2001/L.63	15	Human rights and indigenous issues: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.64	18	Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights treaty bodies: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.65	11	Amendments to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.47

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.66	11	Amendment to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.46
E/CN.4/2001/L.67	11	Amendments to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.56
E/CN.4/2001/L.68	10	Amendment to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.53
E/CN.4/2001/L.69	14	The protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS): draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.70	14 (a)	Human rights of migrants: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.71	14 <i>(a)</i>	International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.72	17	United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (1995-2004): draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.73	15	Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.74	14 <i>(c)</i>	Internally displaced persons: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.75	14 (<i>b</i>)	Rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.76	15	Working group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration in accordance with paragraph 5 of General Assembly resolution 49/214 of 23 December 1994: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.77/Rev.1	17	Impunity: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.78	17	Enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.79	17	Science and the environment: draft decision

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.80	17	Fiftieth anniversary of the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and the global consultations on international protection: draft decision submitted by the Chairperson
E/CN.4/2001/L.81	19	Assistance to Somalia in the field of human rights
E/CN.4/2001/L.82	17	Development of public information activities in the field of human rights, including the World Public Information Campaign on Human Rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.83	17 (b)	Human rights defenders: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.84	18 <i>(b)</i>	Regional cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.85	17	Fundamental standards of humanity: draft decision
E/CN.4/2001/L.86	17	Promotion of a democratic and equitable international order: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.87	17	Human rights and bioethics: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.88	17	The role of good governance in the promotion of human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.89	13	Abduction of children from northern Uganda: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.90	14 (a)	Protection of migrants and their families: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.91	18	Human rights and thematic procedures: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.92	17 (a)	Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.93	17	The question of the death penalty: draft resolution

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/L.94	11	Amendments to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.8/Rev.1
E/CN.4/2001/L.95	17	Promotion of the right of peoples to peace: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.96	17	Human rights and international solidarity: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.97	18	Composition of the staff of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.98	13	Right of the child: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.99	18 <i>(b)</i>	Regional arrangements for the promotion and protection of human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.100	16	Work of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.101	19	Situation of human rights in Cambodia: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.102	18 (<i>b</i>)	National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights: draft resolution
E/CN.4/2001/L.103	17	Reservations to human rights treaties: draft decision
E/CN.4/2001/L.104	18	Amendments to draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/1	10	Written statement submitted by the Commission of the Churches on International Affairs of the World Council of Churches, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/2	11 <i>(e)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/3	7	Written statement submitted by the Transnational Radical Party, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/4	10	Written statement submitted by the World Alliance of Reformed Churches, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/5	6	Written statement submitted by the Catholic Women's League Australia, Inc, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/6	7	Written statement submitted by the International Federation of Rural Adult Catholic Movements, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/7	8	Written statement submitted by Pax Christi International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/8	9	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/9 and 10	5	Written statements submitted by North South XXI, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/11	6	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/12	7	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/13	9	Idem

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/14 and 15	10	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/16	11 <i>(a)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/17	18	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/18	8	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/19	14 <i>(c)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/20	14 <i>(d)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/21	18 (c)	Joint written statement submitted by Amnesty International, the Association for the Prevention of Torture, the Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers), Human Rights Watch, the International Commission of Jurists, the International Federation of ACAT and the International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, non-governmental organizations in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/22	13	Written statement submitted by Friends World Committee for Consultation (Quakers), a non- governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN4/2001/NGO/23	11 <i>(f)</i>	Written statement submitted by North South XXI, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/24	12	Written statement submitted by the International League for Human Rights, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/25	12 (a)	Written statement submitted by the Coalition Against Trafficking in Women, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/26	10	Written statement submitted by the International Movement of Apostolate in the Independent Milieus, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/27	4	Written statement submitted by Human Rights Watch, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/28	6	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/29	9	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/30	10	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/31	11	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/32	12 (a)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/33	13	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/34	14	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/35	17 (<i>a</i>) and (<i>b</i>)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/36	19	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/37	12 (a)	Written statement submitted by the Centre for Reproductive Law and Policy a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/38	6	Written statement submitted by New Humanity, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/39	14 <i>(d)</i>	Written statement submitted by Inclusion International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/40	5	Written statement submitted by the International Indian Treaty Council, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/41	6	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/42	7	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/43	13	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/44	15	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/45	17 (<i>b</i>) and (<i>d</i>)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/46	12 (a)	Written statement submitted by European Women's Lobby, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/47	11 <i>(e)</i>	Written statement submitted by the Association of World Citizens, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/48	14 <i>(d)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/49	11 (a) and (f)	Written statement submitted by Association for World Education a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/50	11 <i>(d)</i> and <i>(e)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/51	9	Written statement submitted by International Educational Development, Inc., a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/52	11 <i>(a)</i>	Written statement submitted by Inclusion International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/53	8	Written statement submitted by the World Federation of Democratic Youth, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/54	15	Written statement submitted by the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/55	17 (b)	Written statement submitted by the Union internationale des avocats, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/56	12	Written statement submitted by the Federation of Cuban Women, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/57	6	Written statement submitted by the Robert F. Kennedy Memorial, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/58	6, 10 and 14 (<i>d</i>)	Written statement submitted by the International Council of AIDS Service Organizations, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/59	15	Written statement submitted by Shimin Gaikou Centre (Citizens Diplomatic Centre for the Rights of Indigenous People), a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/60	10	Written statement submitted by Canadian Voice of Women for Peace, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/61 and 62	6	Written statements submitted by Asian Legal Resource Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/63	10	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/64	11 <i>(a)</i>	Idem

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/65 and 66	11 <i>(b)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/67	11 <i>(c)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/68 to 70	11 <i>(d)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/71	11 <i>(e)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/72	12 (a)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/73	6	Written statement submitted by the Organization for Defending Victims of Violence, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/74	8	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/75	9	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/76	11 <i>(c)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/77	12	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/78	13	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/79	14 <i>(b)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/80	10	Written statement submitted by the European Federation of Road Traffic Victims, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/81	9	Written statement submitted by the Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru", a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/82	10	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/83	7 and 15	Idem

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/84	14 <i>(b)</i>	Written statement submitted by All For Reparations and Emancipation, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/85	9	Written statement submitted by Liberation, a non- governmental organization on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/86 to 89	9	Written statements submitted by the International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/90	11 <i>(d)</i>	Item
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/91	11 (e)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/92 and 93	11 (a)	Written statements submitted by the Romanian Independent Society of Human Rights, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/94	11 (d)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/95	12 (a)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/96	13	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/97	17	Written statement submitted by the International Union of Latin Notariat, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/98	11	Written statement submitted by the International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/99	11 (<i>d</i>)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/100	15	Idem

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/101	11 <i>(g)</i>	Written statement submitted by Conscience and Peace Tax International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/102	18 (b)	Written statement submitted by the Romanian Independent Society of Human Rights, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/103	10	Joint written statement submitted by the Europe- Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and the American Association of Jurists, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/104	10	Joint written statement submitted by the Europe- Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and by the American Association of Jurists and the Fédération des associations de défense et de promotion des droits de l'homme, non- governmental organizations in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/105	10	Joint written statement submitted by the Europe- Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and by the American Association of Jurists, the Fédération des associations de défense et de promotion des droits de l'homme and the International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, non- governmental organizations in special consultative status

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/106	10	Joint written statement submitted by the Europe-Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and by the American Association of Jurists, the Fédération des associations de défense et de promotion des droits de l'homme, the Commision for the Defense of Human Rights in Central America and the International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, non-governmental organizations in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/107	14 (c)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/108	10	Written statement submitted by the Asian Legal Resource Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/109	10	Written statement submitted by Human Rights Advocates, Inc., a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/110	11 (<i>d</i>)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/111	14 (a)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/112	16	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/113	12 (a)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/114	9	Written statement submitted by the International Indian Treaty Council, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/115	11	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/116	11 (c)	Written statement submitted by the Andean Commission of Jurists, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/117	5	Written statement submitted by the American Association of Jurists and the Fédération des associations de défense et de promotion des droits de l'homme, non-governmental organizations in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/118	8	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/119	14 <i>(a)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/120	13	Written statement submitted by Human Rights Advocates, Inc., a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/121 to 124	9	Written statements submitted by Rights and Democracy, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/125	10	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/126	15	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/127	12 (a)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/128	18 (c)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/129	9	Written statement submitted by the Norwegian Refugee Council, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/130	14 (c)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/131	10	Written statement submitted by Pax Christi International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/132	11 <i>(a)</i>	Written statement submitted by the Arab Organization for Human Rights, a non- governmental organization in special consultative status

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/133	11 <i>(a)</i>	Written statement submitted by Pax Christi International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/134	11 <i>(b)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/135	11 <i>(c)</i>	Written statement submitted by Reporters without Borders - International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/136	9	Written statement submitted by the Colombian Commission of Jurists, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/137 to 145	11 <i>(c)</i>	Written statements submitted by Reporters without Borders - International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001NGO/146	5	Written statement submitted by the International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/147	7	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/148	10	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/149	8	Written statement submitted by the Islamic Women's Institute of Iran, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/150	11 (<i>c</i>)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/151	12	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/152	13	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/153	9	Joint written statement submitted by the World Federation of Democratic Youth, a non-governmental organization in general status, and Interfaith International, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status

Agenda item	
10	Written statement submitted by FIAN - Foodfirst Information and Action Network, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
6	Written statement submitted by the Movement against Racism and for Friendship among Peoples, a non-governmental organization on the Roster
9	Written statements submitted by the International Federation of Human Rights Leagues, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
10	Idem
11	Idem
17 (b)	Joint written statement submitted by the International Federation of Human Rights Leagues and the World Organization against Torture, non- governmental organizations in special consultative status
17	Idem
6	Written statement submitted by Fraternité Notre Dame, Inc., a non-governemental organization in special consultative status
5	Written statement submitted by the Society for Threatened Peoples, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
6	Idem
7	Idem
10	Idem
11 <i>(a)</i>	Idem
11 <i>(e)</i>	Idem
	item 10 6 9 10 11 17 (b) 17 6 5 6 7 10 11 (a)

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/169	12 <i>(a)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/170	13	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/171	14 <i>(b)</i>	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/172	15	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/173	17 (b)	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/174	5	Written statement submitted by International Alert, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/175	7	Written statement submitted by the Movimiento Cubano por la Paz y la Soberanía de los Pueblos, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/176	9	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/177	14	Idem
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/178	13	Written statement submitted by the Comité d'action pour les droits de l'enfant et de la femme, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/179	17 (<i>d</i>)	Written statement submitted by the Women's International League for Peace and Freedom, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/180	9	Written statement submitted by the International Federation of ACAT, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/181	11 <i>(a)</i>	Idem

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/182	11	Joint written statement submitted by Europe-Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and the International Rehabilitation Council for Torture Victims and the World Organization against Torture, non-governmental organizations in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/183 and 184	9	Joint written statements submitted by Europe-Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and the American Association of Jurists, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/185	9	Joint written statement submitted by Europe-Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and Women in Law and Development in Africa, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/186	9 and 10	Joint written statement submitted by Europe-Third World Centre, a non-governmental organization in general consultative status, and the American Association of Jurists, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/187	5	Written statement submitted by the International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/188	13	Written statement submitted by the Consortium for Street Children, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/189	6	Written statement submitted by AIDS Information Switzerland, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status

Symbol	Agenda item	
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/190	8	Written statement submitted by the International Federation of Human Rights Leagues and the Palestinian Centre for Human Rights, non-governmental organizations in special consultative status
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/191	9	Joint written statement submitted by the International Association for Religious Freedom, the World Federation of Trade Unions, Zonta International, non-governmental organizations in general consultative status, Agir ensemble pour les droits de l'homme, the Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions, the Indian Movement "Tupaj Amaru", the International Council of Jewish Women, the International League for the Rights and Liberation of Peoples, the International Association for the Defence of Religious Liberty, New Human Rights, North South XXI, Pax Romana, Women against Rape, the Women's International League for Peace and Freedom, the World Organization against Torture, non-governmental organizations in special consultative status, Aliran Kesedaran Negara - National Consciousness Movement, the Associación Kunas Unidos por Napguana, the International Federation of Rural Adult Catholic Movement, the International Institute for Peace and the Movement against Racism and for Friendship among Peoples, non-governmental organizations on the Roster
E/CN.4/2001/NGO/192	19	Written statement submitted by International Young Catholic Students, a non-governmental organization in special consultative status

Index of topics considered by the Commission at its fifty-seventh session

Topic	P
Administration of justice (Pre-sessional working group on the administration of justice of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights) (decision 2001/106)	3
Afghanistan (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/13)	
Bioethics (Human rights and) (resolution 2001/71)	2
Burundi (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/21)	1
Cambodia (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/82)	3
Chairperson's statements:	
- Situation of human rights in Colombia (25 April 2001)	3
- Situation of human rights in East Timor (20 April 2001)	۷
- Technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti (25 April 2001)	4
Chechnya, Russian Federation (Situation in the Republic of) (resolution 2001/24)	1
Children:	
- Abduction of children from northern Uganda (resolution 2001/74)	3
- Rights of the child (resolution 2001/75)	3
- Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child (decision 2001/107)	3
- Traffic in women and girls (resolution 2001/48)	2
Coercive measures (Human rights and unilateral) (resolution 2001/26)	1
Colombia (Situation of human rights in) (Chairperson's statement of 25 April 2001)	3
Compensation (Right to restitution, compensation and rehabilitation) (decision 2001/105)	3

Topic	Page
Congo (Situation of human rights in the Democratic Republic of the) (resolution 2001/19)	114
Cooperation:	
- Cooperation with representatives of United Nations human rights bodies (resolution 2001/11)	75
- Enhancement of international cooperation in the field of human rights (resolution 2001/67)	285
- Regional cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights in the Asian and Pacific region (resolution 2001/77)	316
Cuba (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/16)	101
Cyprus (Question of human rights in) (decision 2001/102)	344
Death penalty (The question of the) (resolution 2001/68)	287
Defenders (Human rights) (resolution 2001/64)	278
Democracy:	
- Continuing dialogue on measures to promote and consolidate democracy (resolution 2001/41)	192
- Incompatibility between democracy and racism, The (resolution 2001/43)	198
- Strengthening of popular participation, equity, social justice and non-discrimination as essential foundations of democracy (resolution 2001/36)	179
Detention (Question of arbitrary) (resolution 2001/40)	189
Development (The right to) (resolution 2001/9)	68
Disappearances (Question of enforced or involuntary) (resolution 2001/46)	205
Displaced persons (Internally) (resolution 2001/54)	240
Drinking water (Promotion of the realization of the right to drinking water and sanitation) (decision 2001/104)	345

Topic	Page
East Timor (Situation of human rights in) (Chairperson's statement of 20 April 2001)	400
Economic, social and cultural rights (Question of the realization in all countries of the) (resolution 2001/30)	156
Education:	
- Right to education, The (resolution 2001/29)	154
- United Nations Decade for Human Rights Education (1995-2004) (resolution 2001/61)	261
Equatorial Guinea (Situation in) (resolution 2001/22)	132
Executions (Extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary) (resolution 2001/45)	200
Food (The right to) (resolution 2001/25)	141
Genocide (Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of) (resolution 2001/66)	284
Globalization and its impact on the full enjoyment of all human rights (resolution 2001/32)	166
Golan (Human rights in the occupied Syrian) (resolution 2001/6)	60
Governance (The role of good) (resolution 2001/72)	298
Haiti (Technical cooperation and the situation of human rights in Haiti) (Chairperson's statement of 25 April 2001)	464
HIV/AIDS:	
- Access to medication in the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS (resolution 2001/33)	169
- Protection of human rights in the context of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), The (resolution 2001/51)	230
Hostage-taking (resolution 2001/38)	186
Housing (Adequate housing as a component of the right to an adequate standard of living) (resolution 2001/28)	151

Торіс
Impunity (resolution 2001/70)
Indigenous issues:
- Human rights and indigenous issues (resolution 2001/57)
- Working Group of the Commission on Human Rights to elaborate a draft declaration (resolution 2001/58)
- Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights (decision 2001/110)
 Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights and the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People (resolution 2001/59)
International order (Promotion of a democratic and equitable) (resolution 2001/65)
International solidarity (Human rights and) (resolution 2001/73)
Iran (Situation of human rights in the Islamic Republic of) (resolution 2001/17)
Iraq (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/14)
Israeli settlements in the occupied Arab territories (resolution 2001/8)
Judiciary (Independence and impartiality of the) (resolution 2001/39)
Lebanese detainees in Israel (Human rights situation of the) (resolution 2001/10)
Medication (Access to medication in the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS) (resolution 2001/33)
Mercenaries (The use of) (resolution 2001/3)
Migrants:
- Human rights of migrants (resolution 2001/52)
- Protection of migrants and their families (resolution 2001/56)

Topic	Page
Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All) (resolution 2001/53)	238
Minorities (Rights of persons belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic) (resolution 2001/55)	244
Myanmar (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/15)	95
National institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights (resolution 2001/80)	326
Observance of human rights and fundamental freedoms (decision 2001/114)	348
Occupied Arab territories (Question of the violation of human rights in the) (resolution 2001/7)	62
Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights:	
- Composition of the staff of the (resolution 2001/78)	319
- Question of resources for the (decision 2001/119)	350
Opinion and expression (The right to freedom of) (resolution 2001/47)	209
Organization of work (decisions 2001/101, 2001/117 and 2001/118)	341
Palestine (Situation in occupied) (resolution 2001/2)	43
Peace (Promotion of the right of peoples to) (resolution 2001/69)	290
Poverty (Human rights and extreme) (resolution 2001/31)	162
Promotion and protection of human rights (Regional arrangements for the) (resolution 2001/79)	323
Public information activities in the field of human rights (Development of) (resolution 2001/63)	275
Racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and related intolerance (resolution 2001/5)	49
Religion:	
- Elimination of all forms of religious intolerance (resolution 2001/42)	194

Торіс
- Defamation of religions (resolution 2001/4)
Reservations to human rights treaties (decision 2001/113)
Resources of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (Question of) (decision 2001/119)
Responsibilities (Human rights and human) (decision 2001/115)
Right to development (resolution 2001/9)
Right to food (resolution 2001/25)
Rwanda (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/23)
Science and the environment (decision 2001/111)
Self-determination (Use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to) (resolution 2001/3)
Sierra Leone (Situation of human rights in) (resolution 2001/20)
Slavery:
- Report of the Working Group on Contemporary Forms of Slavery of the Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights (decision 2001/109)
- Systematic rape, sexual slavery and slavery-like practices (decision 2001/108)
Social Forum (decision 2001/103)
Somalia (Assistance to) (resolution 2001/81)
South-Eastern Europe (Situation of human rights in parts of) (resolution 2001/12)
Standards of humanity (Fundamental) (decision 2001/112)
Structural adjustment (Effects of) (resolution 2001/27)
Sub-Commission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights (Work of the) (resolution 2001/60)

Topic	Page
Sudan (Situation of human rights in the) (resolution 2001/18)	106
Terrorism (Human rights and) (resolution 2001/37)	182
Thematic procedures (Postponement of consideration of draft resolution E/CN.4/2001/L.91 and the proposed amendments thereto (E/CN.4/2001/L.104)) (decision 2001/116)	349
Torture:	
- Draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment (resolution 2001/44)	199
- Torture and other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment (resolution 2001/62)	268
Toxic waste (Adverse effects of the illicit movement and dumping of toxic and dangerous products and wastes on the enjoyment of human rights) (resolution 2001/35)	175
Traffic in women and girls (resolution 2001/48)	215
Treaty bodies (Equitable geographical distribution of the membership of the human rights) (resolution 2001/76)	315
Uganda (Abduction of children from northern) (resolution 2001/74)	301
Western Sahara (Question of) (resolution 2001/1)	41
Women:	
- Elimination of violence against women (resolution 2001/49)	218
- Equal ownership of, access to and control over land and the equal rights to own property and to adequate housing (resolution 2001/34)	172
- Integrating the human rights of women throughout the United Nations system (resolution 2001/50)	224
- Traditional practices affecting the health of women and the girl child (decision 2001/107)	346
- Traffic in women and girls (resolution 2001/48)	215
